Public Document Pack

EXECUTIVE BOARD
Meeting to be held REMOTELY on
Wednesday, 16th December, 2020 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
J Blake (Chair)
R Charlwood
D Coupar
J Lewis
L Mulherin
J Pryor
M Rafique
F Venner

A Carter

S Golton

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting,
please click on the ‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the
meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will
become available at the commencement of the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=102&MId=9979

Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Governance Services
0113 37 88664
Produced on Recycled Paper

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS
The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:
9.0
9.1

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers,
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2

Confidential information means
(a)
information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which
forbid its public disclosure or
(b)
information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another
Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights
rules.

10.0
10. 1

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information
would be disclosed provided:
(a)
the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the
proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b)
that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.
(c)
that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

10.2

In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will
also be excluded.

10.3

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to
any condition):
1
Information relating to any individual
2
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information).
4
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officerholders under the authority.
5
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.
6
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under any enactment
7
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

B

AGENDA

Item
No
K=Key
Decision
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which officers
have identified as containing exempt information
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local
Government Act 1972, and where officers
consider that the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the officers
recommendation in respect of the above
information.

3

If the recommendation is accepted, to formally
pass the following resolution:RESOLVED – That, in accordance with
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the
public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of those parts of the agenda
designated as exempt on the grounds that it is
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that
if members of the press and public were present
there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information.

3

Item
No
K=Key
Decision
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5

MINUTES

11 28

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the
meetings held on 18th and 24th November 2020.
INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND CULTURE
6

PROPOSED BUDGET FOR 2021/22 AND
PROVISIONAL BUDGETS FOR 2022/23 AND
2023/24
To consider the report of the Chief Officer
(Financial Services) presenting the proposed
budget for 2021/22, which subject to Executive
Board’s approval, will be submitted to the
respective Scrutiny Boards for their consideration
and review, with the outcome of their deliberations
being reported to Executive Board on the 10th
February 2021, with the proposals also being
made available to other stakeholders as part of a
wider and continuing process of engagement and
consultation.

D

29 154

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

UPDATE ON CORONAVIRUS (COVID19)
PANDEMIC – RESPONSE AND RECOVERY
PLAN

7

-

To consider the report of the Chief Executive
providing an update on the actions of the Leeds
Health and Social Care system and Leeds City
Council, working with broader partners, in
response to and facilitating the recovery from the
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
(Report to follow)
UPDATE ON LEEDS CITY COUNCIL'S
PREPARATIONS FOR THE UK'S EXIT FROM
THE EUROPEAN UNION

8

-

To consider the report of the Chief Executive which
provides an update on the current stage of Brexit
negotiations during the Transition Period, and the
preparations that Leeds City Council continues to
make for the UK’s exit from the European Union.
(Report to follow)

9

K

Chapel
Allerton

LEASE AGREEMENT FOR LEEDS MEDIA
CENTRE
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development that seeks approval in principle of a
15 year, full repairing and insuring lease of the
Leeds Media Centre to Unity Property Services Ltd
on a peppercorn rent basis. The report also seeks
to delegate to the Director of City Development the
responsibility of agreeing the final terms of the new
lease and associated grant agreement, at less than
best consideration, subject to any final issues that
may arise.

E

155 174

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

RESOURCES

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2020/21 –
PERIOD 7

10

175 212

To consider the report of the Chief Officer
(Financial Services) which sets out the Council’s
projected financial health position for 2020/21 as at
Month 7 of the financial year.

11

K

Little London
and
Woodhouse

10.4(3)
(Appendix
1 only)

ARENA DEVELOPMENT PLOTS, CLAYPIT
LANE, LEEDS
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development seeking approval to the provisional
terms of a land exchange to facilitate the creation
of a single larger development plot, which can be
brought forward for a potential future
complementary use to the Arena.
(Please note that Appendix 1 to this report is
designated as being exempt from publication under
the provisions of Access to Information Procedure
Rule 10.4 (3))

F

213 228

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

CLIMATE CHANGE, TRANSPORT AND
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
12

13

K

Adel and
Wharfedale;
Alwoodley;
Ardsley and
Robin Hood;
Calverley and
Farsley; Cross
Gates and
Whinmoor;
Farnley and
Wortley;
Guiseley and
Rawdon;
Horsforth;
Kippax and
Methley;
Morley North;
Morley South;
Otley and
Yeadon;
Pudsey;
Rothwell;
Temple
Newsam

LEEDS SITE ALLOCATIONS PLAN CONSULTATION ON AMENDMENTS TO 37
POLICIES FOLLOWING A HIGH COURT ORDER

Morley North;
Morley South

MORLEY TOWN DEAL

229 572

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development that informs Executive Board of the
work undertaken since the High Court Judgment
relating to the Site Allocations Plan statutory
challenge, and the requirements for the remittal of
the SAP to the Secretary of State. The report also
sets out indicative timescales. On this basis, the
report seeks approval to commence consultation
on the proposed Main Modifications to the SAP.

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development setting out the work that has been
undertaken to develop an ambitious and visionary
bid to the Towns Fund to support a programme of
capital regeneration projects in Morley. The report
summarises the contents of the Draft Town
Investment Plan, a bid document which is intended
to be submitted to Government in January 2021,
which has been informed through substantial
public engagement and consultation.

G

573 610

Item
No
K=Key
Decision
14

K

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

CONNECTING LEEDS TRANSPORT STRATEGY
- DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION

611 678

To consider the report of the Director of City
Development which presents the draft Connecting
Leeds Transport Strategy, ahead of the public
consultation and engagement exercise to be
undertaken in early 2021.

15

WHITE ROSE FOREST STRATEGY FOR LEEDS

K

To consider the report of the Director of Resources
and Housing that sets out proposals on how the
Council can lead an ambitious initiative to increase
tree planting throughout the district to capture and
store carbon. This will be through tree planting on
Council owned land and enabling and assisting
partners and the wider community to plant trees on
other land throughout the area.

679 750

LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT
16

K

EUROPEAN STRUCTURAL INVESTMENT FUND
(ESIF) PROGRAMME 2014 - 2020: ENHANCED
LOCAL FLEXIBILITY FOR THE
UNEMPLOYMENT PROGRAMME
To consider the report of the Director of City
Development which seeks authorisation to enter
into a formal contract with the Department for Work
and Pensions as part of the Enhanced Local
Flexibilities for the Unemployed Programme. In
addition, the report seeks authorisation to approve
total expenditure of £6m and commit £3m
maximum of Council match-funding to deliver the
programme.

H

751 762

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

17

Burmantofts
and Richmond
Hill; Kirkstall

K

Item Not
Open

Page
No

BUSINESS CASE FOR THE REBUILDING OF
THE VINE

763 774

To consider the report of the Director of Children and
Families which outlines the proposal to create new
purpose-built premises to expand and re-house The
Vine educational centre for young people with complex
special educational needs aged 19-25.

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES
LEEDS PRACTICE MODEL: PROGRESS AND
NEXT STEPS

18

775 784

To consider the report of the Director of Children and
Families which looks to increase awareness and
understanding of the Leeds Practice Model and its role
in improving the quality and reach of restorative
evidenced based practices within the Children and
Families directorate and the wider children’s
partnership, to demonstrate the positive impacts and
effectiveness of this work and to share an outline
proposal for the wider implementation of the model
which will feed into the Children and Families Early
Help service review.

COMMUNITIES
19

Rothwell

10.4(3)
(Appendix
3 only)

DISPOSAL OF LAND LOCATED ON
WINDLESFORD GREEN, OFF HOLMSLEY
LANE, ROTHWELL, FOR EXTRA CARE
HOUSING DELIVERY AND FINAL TERMS OF
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
To consider the joint report of the Director of Adults and
Health and the Director of City Development which
seeks approval to dispose of a Council owned site on
Windlesford Green in Rothwell to facilitate the
development of new Extra Care Housing in support of
the ‘Better Lives’ Programme.
(Please note that Appendix 3 to this report is
designated as being exempt from publication under the
provisions of Access to Information Procedure Rule
10.4(3))

I

785 806

Item
No
K=Key
Decision

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification
of the main speakers and their role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those
points must be complete.
Webcasting
Please note – the publically accessible parts of this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or
part of the meeting is to be filmed.

J

Agenda Item 5
EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 18TH NOVEMBER, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor J Blake in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, R Charlwood,
D Coupar, S Golton, J Lewis, L Mulherin,
J Pryor, M Rafique and F Venner

70

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information
so designated as follows:(A)

71

That appendices 2 and 3 to the report entitled, ‘Accelerated Capital
Receipts and Estate Rationalisation’, referred to in Minute No. 78 be
designated as being exempt from publication in accordance with
paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act
1972 and considered in private on the grounds that they contain
information relating to the financial and business affairs of the Council.
It is considered that the release of such information would, or would be
likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in relation to other
similar transactions. It is considered that the public interest in
maintaining the exemption from publication outweighs the public
interest in disclosing this information at this point in time.

Late Items
Agenda Item 6 – Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Month 6
Prior to the meeting, Board Members were in receipt of an addendum which
supplemented the submitted report and which included updated information,
and as a result, a set of revised recommendations for the Board to
consider. (Minute No. 74 refers).
Agenda Item 18 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan’.
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 11

However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally
published on 10th November 2020. (Minute No. 86 refers).
72

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting.

73

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 21st October
2020 be approved as a correct record.
RESOURCES

74

Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Month 6
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which set out the
Council’s projected financial health position for 2020/21 as at Month 6 of the
financial year. The report projected a gap of £30.5m, following the receipt of
an additional £20.5m funding from the government.
Prior to the meeting, Board Members received an addendum to the submitted
report, which provided updated information regarding how the Council
intended to resolve the estimated 2020/21 budget gap due to the impact of
COVID-19. The addendum highlighted the decision to utilise reserves to
manage the financial position in 2020/21 and deliver a balanced budget. The
Council, as a consequence, had withdrawn the application to Government for
a capitalisation directive, with the addendum presenting the Board with a
revised set of recommendations as a result.
Members welcomed the updated information which had been provided,
acknowledged the significant work which had been undertaken throughout the
pandemic to get the Council to the current position, and thanked all those
involved for their efforts. It was also noted that, as referenced elsewhere on
the agenda, work would continue with regard to the management of 2021/22
budget and beyond.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information on
the reserves being used to deliver a balanced budget, specifically the planned
application of an earmarked reserve of £25.65m, and the financial implications
of that for the Council moving forward.
Also, in response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further details on
the levels of inflation which were being experienced in terms of external
residential placement costs and independent foster agency costs, with
clarification being provided on the reasons for those increased costs and how
such matters were being taken into consideration and managed as part of the
directorate’s budget strategy for the current year and moving forward. As part
of this discussion, it was emphasised that similar to Leeds, other Local
Authorities were experiencing costs pressures regarding external residential
and independent foster agency placements.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 12

Responding to a Member’s specific enquiry regarding the projected interest
payments on the Council’s debts for the current financial year, and regarding
the levels of projected inflationary pressures in the medium term, officers
undertook to provide the Member in question with this information.
Whilst the separate tranches of Government funding received were
welcomed, emphasis was placed upon the difficulties which continued to be
experienced in managing the Council’s financial position. With that in mind,
Members considered the principle of sending correspondence to the Treasury
on a cross-party basis about the losses in Council Tax and Business Rates
income that the Council has incurred. In considering this matter, Councillor A
Carter advised that whilst he agreed with the principle of approaching the
Treasury on this, the Conservative Group would make their own
representations.
In taking into consideration the contents of the submitted report together with
the addendum and the revised recommendations within it, it was
RESOLVED –
(a)
That in noting the comments of Councillor A Carter, as outlined above,
appropriate correspondence to the Treasury be drafted up on a crossparty basis for relevant Members’ consideration regarding the losses in
Council Tax and Business Rates income that the Council has incurred;
(b)

That the projected financial position of the Authority as at Month 6 of
the financial year, together with the projected impact of COVID-19 on
that position, be noted;

(c)

That it be noted that the position reported does not reflect the potential
effects of any further local or national lockdown arrangements not yet
introduced, which could impact on the financial projections as detailed
in the report;

(d)

That it be noted that for 2020/21 the Authority has withdrawn its
application for a capitalisation directive to Government, with it also
being noted that full details of how the Council will achieve a balanced
budget will be incorporated into the Month 7 Financial Health
monitoring report which is to be received by Executive Board in
December 2020.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
75

Capital Programme 2020/21 – 2024/25 Quarter 2 Update
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which provided an
update upon the Council’s Capital Programme position as at quarter 2 of the
financial year. The report also sought some specific approvals with regard to
funding injections.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 13

Responding to a specific Member’s enquiry regarding the extent to which the
Council’s Capital Programme had increased by between 2014/15 and the
current financial year, and the extent to which that increase was being paid for
by borrowing, officers undertook to provide the Member in question with that
detail following the meeting.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the latest position, as at quarter 2 of the financial year on the
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) capital
programmes, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted;
(b)

That the net increase in the General Fund and HRA capital programme
2020-2025 of £143.0m since the capital programme setting in February
2020, be noted, with it also being noted that these injections do not
increase the Council’s borrowing requirement and are listed within
Appendix B to the submitted report;

(c)

That it be noted that the borrowing required to fund the capital
programme in 2020-21 has reduced by £77.9m since the capital
programme setting in February 2020, mainly by delaying schemes that
require borrowing. With it also being noted that the capital programme
remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2020-21, and
that further work is underway through regular capital programme
reviews to ensure that future debt increases are limited;

(d)

That the following £9.55m of grants and contributions injections into the
capital programme be approved, as set out below and as detailed
within Appendix B to the submitted report:
 £3.55m Funding swaps as part of the Capital Programme Review;
 £2.747m School Condition Allocation additional grant from
government;
 £1.928m HRA Right to Buy receipts for council housing growth;
 £0.51m WYCA Transport Challenge Funding Grant A64 York
Road;
 £0.41m WYCA grant for junction improvements Fink Hill;
 £0.2m S106 Traffic Management 20/21 Programmes;
 £0.16m WYCA grant for City Connect Schemes;
 £0.043m Other smaller schemes.

(e)

That it be noted that the decision to inject funding, as detailed at
resolution (d) (above), will be implemented by the Chief Officer
Financial Services;

(f)

That the review of capital programme pressures from 2021/22 onwards
and the prioritisation of proposals for consultation and inclusion in
February 2021, as presented to September 2020 Executive Board, be
noted.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 14

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
76

Treasury Management Strategy Update 2020/21
The Chief Officer, Financial Services submitted a report which presented a
review and update of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy
2020/2021.
RESOLVED – That the update on the Treasury Management borrowing and
investment strategy for 2020/21, as detailed within the submitted report, be
noted.
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)

77

Revenue Budget Update 2021/22 and Budget Savings Proposals
Further to Minute No. 68, 21st October 2020, the Chief Officer (Financial
Services) submitted a report which presented the actions which were
underway and proposed to address the financial gap for 2021/22, which was
currently estimated at £118.8m. The report also presented a series of savings
proposals to contribute towards the Council achieving a balanced budget for
2021/22 and, where appropriate, sought agreement to begin meaningful
consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the public as required.
In considering the range of proposals within the submitted report and the
ongoing service reviews taking place, a Member specifically emphasised the
key role played by Neighbourhood Networks, and also the importance of
services in communities, such as the provision of bowling greens.
The transparency of the approach being taken by the submission of reports to
the Board for consideration was highlighted, whilst a Member noted what they
deemed to be the varying approaches to this process being taken by the
different directorates.
In conclusion, it was noted that further detail regarding the level of Local
Government funding for next financial year was awaited ahead of the
Chancellor’s Comprehensive Spending Review announcement, which was
due later this month, and that available details would be provided to the Board
in December.
RESOLVED (a)
That the Council’s financial position for 2021/22, as outlined in the
submitted report, be noted, with it also being noted that further savings
are required to deliver a balanced budget position;
(b)

That the ‘Business as Usual’ savings, as detailed within the submitted
report be noted, with it also being noted that decisions to give effect to
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 15

them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in
accordance with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions);
(c)

That the recommendations in the ‘Service Review’ proposals, as
detailed at Appendix 2b to the submitted report, be agreed, and that
agreement be given to the associated consultation commencing. The
Board also notes that decisions to give effect to such matters shall be
taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, following the
consultation period, in accordance with the Officer delegation scheme
(Executive functions) save where the Leader, relevant portfolio holder
or Director considers that the matter should be referred to Executive
Board for consideration.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, both Councillors A
Carter and Golton required it to be recorded that they respectively abstained
from voting on the decisions referred to within this minute)
78

Accelerated Capital Receipts and Estate Rationalisation
Further to Minute No. 69, 21st October 2020, the Director of City Development
submitted a report regarding the Council’s approach towards Estate
Rationalisation and generating Capital Receipts. The submitted report
provided more details of the proposed next tranche of accelerated disposal
properties which were targeting February 2021 auction dates, as well as
properties being considered for release as part of phase 1 of the Core Office
Review, and other vacant or void properties under review.
As part of the introduction to the report, the Board was made aware of
correspondence which had been received relating to some of the proposals
detailed.
A Member highlighted the importance of ensuring that local Ward Councillors
were briefed and consulted at an early stage as part of any proposals
regarding property disposal. In response, it was undertaken that further liaison
would be had with the Member in question about the timing of Ward
Councillor consultation, especially in instances where proposals were not yet
in the public domain.
Regarding the proposal in the submitted report on the disposal of four
industrial units at Logic Leeds, in considering this specific proposal, a Member
highlighted how in terms of the Council’s overall approach to such matters,
the correct balance needed to be struck between keeping and disposing of
properties with an income stream, in order to maximise the benefit for the
Council. Discussion was also had around a specific tenant which rented
premises at the Logic Leeds site.
Following consideration of Appendices 2 and 3 to the submitted report
designated as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access
to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which were considered in private at
the conclusion of the public part of the meeting, it was
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 16

RESOLVED –
(a)
That the accelerated disposal of property, as set out in Table 3.1 of the
submitted report, which have already been agreed as part of the
Capital Receipt Programme, be supported;
(b)

That agreement be given to progress the disposal of four industrial
units at Logic Leeds from the Council’s investment portfolio following
the completion of the final letting, with the details, as set out in exempt
Appendix 2 to the submitted report, being noted. Also, that subject to
the value of the offers received and subject to both Councillors Carter
and Golton being briefed on such matters prior to any final decision
being taken, agreement be given for the final decision to sell to be
delegated to the Director of City Development in consultation with the
Executive Member for Resources;

(c)

That the recent work undertaken by Kirkstall Valley Development Trust
at Abbey Mills, be noted, and that agreement be given to the property
being disposed of by formal tender;

(d)

That the progression of work to vacate and release those properties set
out in exempt Appendix 3 to the submitted report, which are included
within phase 1 of the Core Office Review, be supported;

(e)

That it be noted that the proposed disposal of properties, as set out in
exempt appendix 3 to the submitted report, will be the subject of future
reports seeking approval for disposal;

(f)

That it be noted that the disposal of properties and identifying the
strategic approach towards the Council’s estate is the responsibility of
the Director for City Development.

CLIMATE CHANGE, TRANSPORT AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
79

Redevelopment of City Square - Design Brief
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval of
the City Square Design Brief, as developed with the Royal Institute of British
Architects (RIBA) to support the design competition.
In response to a Member’s enquiry, it was noted that public engagement on
the concept design of the scheme would be undertaken prior to the stage at
which a planning application would be considered. Also, in response to an
enquiry, the Board received further detail on the funding which was in place to
deliver the feasibility work for the scheme.
Also in response to a Member’s enquiries regarding the timing of this
development, when considering the uncertain financial position of the Council,
the Board was provided with information regarding the pivotal role that this
scheme would play in the delivery of a number of the Council’s key strategies
and priorities.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 17

RESOLVED –
(a)
That the textual content of Design Brief developed with the Royal
Institute of British Architects (RIBA) to support the design competition,
as detailed at appendix B to the submitted report, be approved;
(b)

That approval of the fully designed brief (ie. layout design and photos)
be delegated to the Director of City Development;

(c)

That it be noted that the outcome of the design competition will be
presented to Executive Board for consideration and endorsement in
June 2021.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, both Councillors A
Carter and Golton required it to be recorded that they respectively abstained
from voting on the decisions referred to within this minute)
80

Connecting Leeds Update and Financial Consolidation
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining the progress
which had been made on ‘Connecting Leeds’, Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme (LPTIP) since it started in April 2017 and which
included an update on the first 18 months of construction during 2019/20 and
2020/21. The report also presented details of the restated ‘Connecting Leeds’
programme and its financial consolidation for Members’ consideration.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was advised that with regard to
timescales, the Department for Transport had confirmed that provided
schemes were in contract by the end of March 2021, funding would continue
to be made available.
Members discussed and received further information regarding the extent to
which schemes were being reviewed and evaluated in light of the Coronavirus
pandemic, and also with regard to each scheme’s potential impact upon the
retail sector. It was acknowledged that further consideration should be given
to the latter although it was noted the assurance processes for this current
programme of works was completed or nearing completion in most cases. It
was also noted the schemes being delivered as part of this programme would
offer improved transport options.
Responding to a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board was provided with an
update on, and subsequently considered the current position regarding the
discussions which were taking place between the Council and the Combined
Authority on a matter relating to the A647 cycle way between Leeds and
Bradford.
A Member raised their concerns regarding the overall progress being made by
the Connecting Leeds initiative and the programming and delivery of schemes
within it. In response, the Board was provided with further detail on the work
that continued to be undertaken as part of the programme and the significant
level of schemes which had been or were being delivered.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 18

RESOLVED –
(a)
That the continued progress and affordability of the ‘Connecting Leeds’
programme (Bus Infrastructure, Rail and Bus Delivery), be noted,
which looks to continue to ensure the realisation of the outcomes set
out in the strategic outline business case to the Department for
Transport;
(b)

That in taking account all of the additional external funding
contributions secured since the last update report which now totals
£33.82m, the financial consolidation and restated programme, as set
out in section 4.4 of the submitted report, including funding movements
between packages, be noted and agreed;

(c)

That it be noted that the Chief Officer for Highways and Transportation
is responsible for this matter, and also, that a further update will be
provided in Spring 2021.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, both Councillors A
Carter and Golton required it to be recorded that they respectively abstained
from voting on the decisions referred to within this minute)
LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT
81

Exclusions and Elective Home Education – Annual Update Report
Further to Minute No. 72, 18th September 2019, the Director of Children and
Families submitted a report which presented the annual update on data and
trends regarding Elective Home Education (EHE) and permanent exclusion
for 2019/20 from the Local Authority’s direct reporting processes, and to
provide the Department for Education (DfE) verified fixed term exclusion data
for 2018/19.
Members acknowledged the ongoing inquiry being undertaken by the Scrutiny
Board (Children and Families) into such matters.
Also, responding to a Member’s enquiry, clarification was provided that with
regard to primary fixed term exclusions, Leeds had moved from Band A to
Band B.
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:
(a)
The information contained within the submitted report;
(b)

The recommendations in the Timpson Review (as detailed in Appendix
1 to the submitted report) as outlined in the previous Executive Board
report of September 2019;

(c)

That the issues raised by the Children’s Commissioner in her report:
“Skipping School: Invisible Children - How children disappear from
England’s schools” have not yet led to any significant change in
legislation;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 19

82

(d)

The response of teams to changes in policy and protocol during the
Covid-19 pandemic and the trends currently emerging within the new
academic year 2020/21;

(e)

That the Children and Families directorate has produced an annual
report on the issue of exclusions and elective home education and will
continue to provide an updated annual report;

(f)

That the remit for monitoring exclusions and elective home education
falls under the responsibility of the Head of Learning Inclusion within
Children and Families directorate.

Equality Improvement Priorities Progress Report 2019 – 2020
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report that
presented the annual progress made against the Council’s Equality
Improvement Priorities for 2018 – 2022. The report also outlined the reviewed,
amended and completed Equality Improvement priorities.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information
regarding the work being undertaken in relation to the support provided to
younger people with a disability, with an undertaking that further detail could
be provided to the Member in question outside of the meeting, if required.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Equality Improvement Priorities Annual Report 2019 – 2020,
as submitted, be approved;
(b)

That agreement be given to sign off the completed priorities for 2019 –
2020, as detailed within the submitted report;

(c)

That the new and amended priorities for 2020 – 2021, as detailed
within the submitted report, be approved;

(d)

That the proposed approach for the development of new Strategic
Equality Improvement Priorities for 2021 – 2025, be approved;

(e)

That a further report be submitted to the Board in July 2021;

(f)

That it be noted that the Director of Communities and Environment is
responsible for the implementation of decisions made by Executive
Board in respect of the submitted report.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS
83

The National Flu Immunisation Programme 2020 to 2021
The Director of Public Health submitted a report that provided an update on
the key actions being taken in Leeds on the National Flu Immunisation
Programme 2020 to 2021. In addition, the report also outlined the changes in
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 20

the programme from previous years and detailed the progress made on the
development of the Leeds Seasonal Flu Vaccination Plan.
Members highlighted the crucial importance of ensuring that uptake levels for
the Coronavirus vaccination were maximised, when it became available. Also,
again with regard to the Coronavirus vaccination, Members highlighted the
vital importance of clear messaging on such matters and wherever possible,
the correction of any misinformation within communities.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the content of the National Influenza Immunisation Programme
2020 to 2021, in particular the expanded cohort, as appended to the
submitted report., be noted;
(b)

That the Leeds Seasonal Flu Vaccination Plan, as appended to the
submitted report, be noted, and that its recommendations, specifically
in relation to ensuring equality of uptake amongst all key target groups
and targeted support in areas of deprivation and in order to tackle
health inequalities, be supported;

(c)

That agreement be given for an update on immunisation uptake in
Leeds, in light of COVID-19, to be provided, with it being noted that the
updated figures will be available in May 2021;

(d)

That it be noted that the Acting Chief Officer for Health Protection and
Sexual Health will take the lead on such matters.

ENVIRONMENT AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES
84

Replacement depot and operational centre for Environmental Services
Further to Minute No. 6, 21st June 2017, the Director of Communities and
Environment submitted a report which provided an update on the
development of proposals regarding the provision of primary office and depot
facilities for Environmental Services and local office accommodation and
accessible facilities for other Council departments. The report also sought
approval of the necessary injection into the capital programme, together with
the necessary approvals regarding the related ‘Authority to Spend’ and
incurring of expenditure for the proposed project.
Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the report and received
further information regarding the timeframe for the delivery of the scheme.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That authorisation be given to £5.066m of prudential borrowing funding
to be injected into capital scheme number 32782/000/000, which will be
fully funded from associated savings identified from with the
Environmental and Fleet Services revenue budgets; with it being noted
that this project will help realise efficiencies, saving and capital receipts
in excess of the cost of borrowing for the revised full scheme cost;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 21

(b)

That approval be given to the ‘Authority to Spend’ and to the incurring
of expenditure of £9.076m from capital scheme number 32782/000/000
for the construction work and associated fees for the construction of
the new facilities;

(c)

That it be noted that the appointment of a contractor will only occur
once the implications of the COVID-19 restrictions have been lifted and
the risks relating to the programme and costs have been resolved to
the satisfaction of Legal and Procurement Officers;

(d)

That it be noted that the Director of Communities and Environment will
be responsible for the delivery of the project, and that the necessary
authorisation be provided to enable the Director to enter into all other
agreements required to deliver this project efficiently.

COMMUNITIES
85

The 'Keep it Local' Principles and Network
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report which
invited endorsement of the ‘Keep it Local’ principles and support for the
Council’s participation in a new ‘Keep it Local’ network of Local Authorities.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the ‘Keep it Local’ principles, as detailed within the submitted
report, be endorsed, and that the Council’s membership of the ‘Keep it
Local’ Network, be supported;
(b)

That it be noted that the Executive Member for Communities is the
‘Keep it Local’ Champion and that the Director for Communities and
Environment is the officer champion, with it also being noted that the
Chief Officer Communities is the responsible officer for the
implementation of such matters.

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND CULTURE
86

Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 64, 21st October 2020, the Chief Executive submitted a
report which provided an update on the continued Coronavirus (COVID-19)
work being undertaken across the city including the recovery approach,
outbreak management, and current issues and risks. The report also noted
that the city’s multi-agency command and control arrangements continued to
be used alongside the Response and Recovery plan with the aim of mitigating
the effects of the pandemic on those in the city, especially the most
vulnerable, and to help to continue to prepare for the longer term stages of
recovery planning.
By way of introduction to the report and in response to a Member’s enquiry,
the Board received an update on the role of the Council and the co-ordinated
approach it was taking with partner agencies to continue to deliver a broad
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 22

range of services and actions across a range of key areas. Further
information regarding the Government funding received to resource such
actions was also provided. The importance of a localised approach being
taken in key areas was highlighted, with it being noted that the Council would
continue to work closely with Government and fully utilise the funding it
received.
It was also noted that work continued with Government in order to gain further
clarity upon the processes for coming out of the current lockdown, whilst it
was acknowledged that we had reached a pivotal point given the progress
which was being made in developing a vaccine. With this in mind, it was
emphasised that the effective delivery of the vaccine would be key, when it
became available.
As part of the wider discussion on such matters, Members highlighted the
need for the communication of clear messaging across the city to continue
with regard to the ongoing restrictions, whilst the importance of the
discretionary grant funding scheme for businesses and the delivery of the selfisolation support scheme were also highlighted.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the national changes effective from 5th November 2020 when the
country entered a second lockdown, and the impacts from this upon
Council services, as outlined within the submitted report, be noted;

87

(b)

That the extensive work being undertaken across the partnerships to
control the spread of the virus and to support vulnerable people and
businesses, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted;

(c)

That agreement be given for the key issues of: service delivery change;
local contact tracing; vaccine rollout; mass testing where appropriate;
harm minimisation for the elderly and vulnerable; business support
schemes; self-isolation compliance and support; preparing for the end
of the university term; and targeted communications, to continue to be
progressed;

(d)

That the concurrent pressures on the system, which include winter
pressures on the health and care system, flood risk and extreme
weather, local government finance and capacity concerns and
uncertainty around exit from the EU, be noted;

(e)

That in respect of the financial implications for the Council arising from
the Coronavirus pandemic, the contents of the submitted report be
used as context when the Board considers the more detailed finance
based reports, as presented elsewhere on the agenda.

Update on Leeds City Council's preparations for the UK's exit from the
European Union
Further to Minute No. 62, 21st October 2020, the Chief Executive submitted a
report which provided an update on the current stage of Brexit negotiations
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 23

during the Transition Period, and the preparations that Leeds City Council
continued to make for the UK’s exit from the European Union.
By way of an introduction to the report, the Board received an update on a
number of the actions being taken by the Council in this area, including the
liaison with representatives from business sectors, ongoing work with regard
to the EU settlement scheme, the provision of information to communities
across the city and the co-ordination work being undertaken with the NHS.
RESOLVED – That the current national position, and the Council’s next steps
to prepare the Council and the city for the UK’s exit from the EU, as detailed
within the submitted report, be noted.

DATE OF PUBLICATION:
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

FRIDAY, 20TH NOVEMBER 2020
5.00 P.M. ON FRIDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER
2020

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December 2020

Page 24

EXECUTIVE BOARD
TUESDAY, 24TH NOVEMBER, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor J Blake in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, R Charlwood,
D Coupar, S Golton, J Lewis, L Mulherin,
J Pryor, M Rafique and F Venner

88

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information designated as being exempt from publication
considered at the meeting.

89

Late Items
Agenda Item 5 – Devolution Deal for West Yorkshire: Consent to Draft Order
Prior to the meeting, Board Members were in receipt of supplementary
information to the submitted report in the form of a substantive covering report
and its appendices. These documents were submitted for the Board’s
consideration as part of agenda item 5 (Devolution Deal for West Yorkshire:
Consent to Draft Order). (Minute No. 91 refers).

90

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting.
INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND CULTURE

91

Devolution Deal for West Yorkshire - Consent to Draft Order
Further to Minute No. 31, 1st September 2020, the Chief Executive submitted
an initial report supplemented with a substantive report and appendices which
provided an update on the latest stage of the process to implement the West
Yorkshire Devolution Deal as agreed between the region and Government in
March 2020. Also, the reports provided details on the final stages of the
process and sought the Board’s in principle consent to the draft Order, as
submitted, which would establish a Mayoral Combined Authority for West
Yorkshire together with other associated changes. The reports also noted that
the four other West Yorkshire Councils together with the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) were also being asked to provide their
respective consent through their own decision making processes.
As referenced above, prior to the meeting Board Members were in receipt of
supplementary information to the submitted report in the form of a substantive
covering report and appendices for their consideration as part of this item.
As part of the introduction to this item, the Chair outlined the next steps in the
process, highlighting that should all constituent Councils and the Combined
Authority consent to the draft Order, the Secretary of State was scheduled to
lay the Order before Parliament in December 2020.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2020

Page 25

Board Members’ attention was drawn to the two areas where the draft Order
differed from the ‘minded to’ devolution deal previously considered.
Specifically this was regarding the Strategic Infrastructure Tariff and the
Spatial Development Strategy, with it being highlighted that the Council had
made additional representations to the Secretary of State in relation to the
latter, following a resolution of full Council at its Special Meeting on 1st
September 2020. Members discussed and noted that both of these had been
removed from the draft Order, with specific reference being made to the
ongoing national planning reforms that were underway through the Planning
White Paper. The second area to change was in respect of Highways powers,
specifically regarding the roads that constitute the Key Roads Network (KRN)
and the greater flexibility that the draft Order afforded in terms of agreeing the
KRN.
Also, the Chief Executive explained that the Joint Committee on Statutory
Instruments was currently considering the draft Order, and may make minor
technical amendments, with the Board being assured that such amendments
would not change the content or substance of the Order. However, it was
noted that this was why the Board was being asked to provide in principle
consent to the Order today and delegate final approval, as detailed within the
submitted report.
In noting that a special meeting of full Council had been scheduled for 26th
November 2020 to consider the resolutions made by Executive Board today,
Members discussed the ordering of these special meetings, and how such
matters were being considered by the other West Yorkshire Authorities.
The Board welcomed the initial gain share funding arrangements for the
financial year 2020/21.
Members briefly considered the overall arrangements for devolution and the
relationship between Government and the Mayoral Combined Authority
moving forward. The Board also highlighted the ongoing dialogue which would
continue regarding the broader principles of devolution, which were outside of
the specific matters being considered by the Board today.
Responding to a Member’s comments and enquiries regarding the scrutiny
arrangements which would be in place as part of the devolution deal in
relation to the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Board was provided with
further information, with it being noted that should the Home Office’s ongoing
review into such matters recommend changes to current processes, then they
would be applicable to the devolved arrangements moving forward.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted initial report together with the
substantive report and its appendices, be noted;
(b)

That in principle consent to the draft Order, to establish a Mayoral
Combined Authority and associated changes as set out in the ‘minded
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2020

Page 26

to’ devolution deal, as attached at Appendix 2 to the submitted report,
be confirmed;
(c)

That the necessary authority be delegated to the Managing Director of
the Combined Authority, in consultation with the Leader and Chief
Executive of each constituent Council and the Chair of the Combined
Authority, to finalise and consent to the final draft of the Order, further
to any technical issues which may arise;

(d)

That the updated timetable, as set out in Appendix 1 to the submitted
report, together with the next steps, which are subject to consent being
given to the Order by the constituent Councils and the Combined
Authority, be noted, with it also being noted that the Secretary of State
will lay the Order in Parliament in December 2020;

(e)

That it be noted that amendments to the Constitution which are
necessary to reflect the inauguration of the Mayoral Combined
Authority will be made in accordance with Article 15, as necessary and
appropriate;

(f)

That approval be given for all decisions taken by Executive Board from
the submitted reports, as resolved above, be exempted from the Call In
process on the grounds of urgency, for the reasons as set out in
paragraph 4.5.2 of the submitted report.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (f) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
sections 4.5.2 of the submitted report)

DATE OF PUBLICATION:

THURSDAY, 26TH NOVEMBER 2020

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

NOT APPLICABLE

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2020

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Report of the Chief Officer – Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16th December 2020
Subject: Proposed Budget for 2021/22 and Provisional Budgets for 2022/23
and 2023/24
Are specific electoral wards affected?

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of ward(s):

Recommendations 16.1 and 16.5 are eligible for call in; 16.2, 16.3
and 16.4 are not eligible.
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?
If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues
•

The purpose of this report is to both set out the Council’s proposed budget
for 2021/22 and to note the provisional budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24.

•

Following on from reports considered by this Board at its September,
October and November meetings, this report also presents a series of
proposals to contribute to the council achieving a balanced budget for
2021/22 and, where appropriate, seeks to begin meaningful consultation
with staff, trade unions, service users and the public as required. These
include a set of organisation design proposals to realign some services
differently within the current directorate structure, aimed at: maximising
capacity and avoiding duplication; supporting more collaborative working;
driving a more digital approach with increased automation and self-service
functionality where appropriate; whilst also delivering financial savings.
(Further information is provided at Appendix 4 with a supporting report at
Annexe 4.2.)

Page 29

•

These budget proposals support the Council’s Best City/Best Council
ambitions, policies and priorities aimed at tackling poverty and reducing
inequalities as set out in the Best Council Plan.

•

These budget proposals are set within the context of the 2021/22 – 2025/26
Medium Term Financial Strategy, which was approved by the Executive
Board on the 24th September 2020, and which continues the journey that
commenced in 2019 whereby the Council’s revenue budget becomes more
financially robust, resilient and sustainable by moving away from the use of
one-off sources of funding such as capital receipts and reserves to fund
recurring expenditure.

•

The Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the Spending Review 2020 on
25th November 2020. Contrary to previous announcements about this
Spending Review, it is for one year only, covering 2021/22. Whilst the
Spending Review came later than hoped, our assumptions that there would
be little change to general funding allocations seem to be correct. However,
within these funding announcements some sources of funding are changed.
Our assumption had been that Adult Social Care funding would be £10.1m
roll forward grant and an additional £6.5m of funding in 2021/22. This has
been replaced by new funding of £4.1m and the ability to raise an Adult
Social Care precept through Council Tax of £9.9m, thus increasing the
amount of local funding used to fund Adult Social Care. There have also
been some one-off funding allocations specific to the current economic
situation due to COVID-19. We await further detail at the provisional
Settlement expected mid-December. The consequence of a one year
spending review is the uncertainty of future funding for Local Government
which makes financial planning difficult. The next step of the Government’s
budget setting process will be the provisional Settlement, expected in in
mid-December.

•

The current financial climate for local government continues to present
significant risks to the Council’s priorities and ambitions and this report has
been prepared against a background of uncertainty with regard to the
Government’s spending plans from April 2022. The Council continues to
make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services and
to avoid large scale compulsory redundancies. It is clear from the size of
the estimated budget gap for the period 2021/22 to 2025/26, detailed in the
Medium Term Financial Strategy report received at Executive Board in
September 2020, that the position continues to be extremely challenging,
especially when account is taken of the ongoing financial impact of COVID.
It will therefore be increasingly difficult to maintain current levels of service
provision without significant changes in the way the Council operates.

•

The forecast position for the financial period to March 2024, as referenced
in this report, recognises the requirement to make the Council’s budget
more financially resilient and sustainable whilst providing increased
resources to support demand led services within the Council.

Page 30

•

•

The headlines from the 2021/22 proposed budget when compared to the
2020/21 budget, are as follows:
•

An increase in the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) of £0.2m
(0.1%)

•

Spending Review 2020 announced a core council tax increase of
1.99% and an option to increase the Adult Social Care precept of
2.99%. Despite these increases, we project a reduction in local funding
of £1.9m following a reduction in the council tax base, mainly due to the
increased cost of Local Council Tax Support, and the deficit from
2020/21 that will have to be funded in 2021/22.

•

Business rates has gone down due to a contraction of the tax base in
2020/21, a projected increase in empty rates and the requirement for
bad debt provisions in 2021/22, a lack of growth in 2021/22, and a
persistent increase in small business rates relief. Taken together with
the deficit from 2020/21 that will have to funded in 2021/22, the net
impact of business rates retention on the 2021/22 general fund is
£28.7m.

•

Resources receivable from SFA, council tax and business rates have
decreased due to the impact that COVID-19 has had on growth in
those bases. Pay, price and demand pressures mean that the Council
will need to deliver £94.5m of savings by March 2022. This position
includes a contribution of £1.9m to General Reserves as part of
measures to ensure the Council’s longer term financial sustainability.

•

To date this gap has been addressed through directorate and corporate
savings of £66.7m, £20.1m from asset sales and £2.4m through
Treasury Management savings. In terms of achieving a balanced
position for the 2021/22 budget, a further £5.3m of proposals will be
brought to February’s Executive Board, along with the Council’s Budget
Report.

•

A decrease in the Council’s net revenue budget of £106.1m to
£419.6m. However, during 2020/21 Government announced additional
grant funding for local authorities in response to the impact of COVID19 on council tax and business rates. Grant of £83.2m will be carried
forward into 2021/22 to part-fund the deficit position on the Collection
Fund, reducing the financial impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22
budget. Taking account of this additional grant, the resulting
comparison with the 2020/21 budget would be an adjusted net revenue
budget reduction of £22.9m.

As set out at Table 13 of this report, the Medium Term Financial Strategy
received by this Board in September identified an estimated budget gap of
£118.8m. Since that report, there has been a net increase in assumed
funding of £11.1m and a net reduction in budget pressures of £16.5m, both
largely as a result of measures announced by Government at Spending

Page 31

Review 2020. The September position also included £3.3m of savings
previously agreed and reported as part of the 2020/21 budget process.
Together these summarise the movement from the gap reported in
September to the £94.5m of savings the Council is now required to deliver
by March 2022.
•

As referenced above, the Council Tax section of this proposed budget
includes a 3% increase in the Adult Social Care precept, in line with the
Spending Review 2020 announcements. Should this proposed increase be
reduced below the anticipated precept amount, any shortfall will require
identification of proposals to balance this reduction. This could include
using one-off funding from the Adults and Health reserve.

•

In respect of the Housing Revenue Account, the return to the Government’s
formula of annual rent increases being no greater then CPI+1% from April
2020 will see rents for all tenants increase by 1.5% in 2021/22 whilst
garage rental rates will increase by RPI of 1.1%.

•

The North and West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool, of which Leeds City
Council is a member, concludes on the 31st March 2021. After the one year
Spending Round announced on 4th September 2019, it became clear that
75% Business Rates Retention nationally would be delayed; we currently
await further information as to when this will be introduced. As such, pools
returned to 50% retention in 2020/21, and we expect will continue under
these rules for at least another year. Leeds City Council have submitted an
application on behalf of the following authorities to form a pool operating
under the national 50% scheme in 2021/22: Bradford, Calderdale,
Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Wakefield, and York. The advantage of forming
a business rate pool is the retention of levy payments within the region that
would otherwise have to be made to Central Government. This proposed
budget report recognises that Leeds City Council will be required to make a
levy payment in 2021/22 to either the new Leeds City Region Business
Rates Pool or to Government, depending on the outcome of this
application.

•

From 1st April 2013 to 31st March 2018 Leeds City Council charged a 50%
council tax premium on empty dwellings unoccupied for more than two
years. The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 permitted councils to increase this premium
incrementally from 1st April 2019. In January 2019 Full Council agreed to
increase the long term empty premium from 50% to 100%. In January 2020
Full Council agreed to increase the long term empty premium for properties
that have been empty for at least five years to 200% from 1st April 2020.
The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty
Dwellings) Act 2018 also permits councils to raise the premium to 300% for
dwellings that have been empty for at least 10 years from 1st April 2021.
The proposal to implement this additional premium will be decided by Full
Council in January 2021. In addition to this, the decisions made to date do
not provide for any exclusions or any scope for discretion in this matter.
Recommendations have been made that certain exclusions should apply

Page 32

and that Leeds City Council officers should be able to exercise their
discretion for both the historic increases and also the potential increase of
300%. Should this be approved a policy will be prepared to identify the
appropriate exclusions. The estimated Council Tax base used for the
proposed budget does not currently assume either of these proposals,
though we project them to have minimal net financial impact.
•

In the Autumn Budget 2018 the Chancellor announced new business rates
reliefs for small retail businesses with a rateable value of less than £51,000,
who were to receive a one third reduction in their business rates liability for
the two years 2019/20 and 2020/21. In the following Autumn Budget 2019
the Chancellor announced that he was going to increase the reduction for
these small retailers from 33.3% to 50% and the Council’s final budget for
2020/21 reflected this increase. However on 24th March 2020, following the
announcement of the first coronavirus lockdown this scheme was
superceded by 100% relief for all retail, leisure and childcare
establishments, with no upper limit on individual properties’ rateable value
or State Aid caps. The 100% relief will last until 31st March 2021. These
proposed budget proposals assume that in 2021/22 the 100% unlimited
relief scheme will cease and be replaced by the previous 50% scheme for
small retailers only, that local newspaper offices will continue to receive a
£1,500 reduction for a further year and public lavatories will, by statute,
receive 100% business rates relief. Local authorities will be compensated in
full by Government for any resultant loss of income.

•

In the Spring Budget 2017 the Chancellor announced a four year funding
scheme for billing authorities to offer discretionary relief to businesses most
impacted by the 2017 Business Rates Revaluation. Billing authorities were
obliged to design their own local discount schemes, with Executive Board
approving the proposed scheme for Leeds in June 2017. 2020/21 was the
final year in which funding was be made available, with the Council able to
distribute just under £0.05m in reliefs to businesses and the full cost being
met by Government grant. These proposals reflect the fact that the Council
will no longer be able to offer businesses further reliefs relating to the
adverse effects of the 2017 Revaluation in the city.

•

COVID-19 has fundamentally affected the way the Council works. Whilst
the impact of COVID-19 has been to reduce the level of resources available
to the Council it has also provided the opportunity to consider how its
business and services should operate in the future and this is reflected in a
number of the budget savings proposals that have been received at
Executive Board.

•

As referenced above, the Medium Term Financial Strategy received at
Executive Board in September identified an estimated budget gap of
£118.8m. In response to this financial position the Council established a
‘Financial Challenge’ programme of service reviews to identify savings that
would contribute towards closing the estimated 2021/22 gap. In September,
October and November this Board received budget savings proposals
reports which reduced the estimated budget gap down to £60.6m.

Page 33

•

In terms of achieving a balanced position for the 2021/22 budget proposals,
a further £5.3m of proposals will be brought to February’s Executive Board,
along with the Council’s Budget Report.

2. Best Council Plan Implications
•

The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its
ambitions, outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local
Authority. The City ambitions as set out in the Best Council Plan are that
the Council, working in partnership, will continue to tackle poverty and
inequalities through a combination of strengthening the economy and doing
this in a way that is compassionate and caring. Three pillars underpin this
vision and these are inclusive growth, health and wellbeing and the climate
change emergency which aims to embed sustainability across the Council’s
decision making. The Authority’s internal “Best Council” focus remains on
becoming a more efficient, enterprising and healthy organisation.

•

The Best Council Plan can only be delivered through a sound
understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability
which enables decisions to be made that balance the resource implications
of the Council’s policies against financial constraints. This is the primary
purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy which then provides the
framework for the determination of Council’s annual revenue budget for
which the initial proposals for 2021/22 are contained in this report.

3. Resource Implications
•

The financial position as set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy
which was received at September’s Executive Board identified an estimated
budget gap of £166.3m for the period 2020/21 – 2025/26. Of this estimated
gap £163.3m related to 2021/22- 2023/24. This reported position took
account of the estimated level of resources available to the Council whilst at
the same time reflecting the ongoing impact of COVID-19. In addition it
reflected the requirement to make the Council’s revenue budget more
financially resilient and sustainable over the medium term whilst at the
same time recognising increased demand pressures for the services that
we deliver.

•

Within the Medium Term Financial Strategy a gap of £118.8m was identified
for 2021/22 and budget savings proposals to address this position and
ultimately to deliver a balanced budget position are contained within this
proposed budget report.

•

The provisional budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 have been updated and
the estimated budget gaps are £55.7m and £32.4m for the respective
years.

Page 34

Recommendations
•

With regard to the savings proposals presented at Appendix 4, Executive
Board is requested to:
o

Note the financial position for 2021/22 outlined in this paper and that
further savings are required to deliver a balanced budget position;

o

Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect
to them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in
accordance with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions);

o

Agree the recommendations in the ‘Service Review’ proposals at
Annexe 4.2 and that consultation commences. And to note that
decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant Director
or Chief Officer, following the consultation period, in accordance with
the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions) save where the
Leader, relevant portfolio holder or Director considers that the matter
should be referred to Executive Board for consideration.

•

Executive Board is asked to agree to consultation on the proposed budget
for 2021/22. This includes the proposed increases in core Council Tax and
the Adult Social Care precept. Further to this, that these budget proposal
are submitted to Scrutiny and for wider consultation with stakeholders.

•

Executive Board is asked to note the provisional budget position for
2022/23 and 2023/24 and to note that savings proposals to address the
updated estimated budget gaps of £55.7m and £32.4m for 2022/23 and
2023/24 respectively will be reported to future meetings of this Board.

•

Executive Board is asked to note that the proposal to approve the
implementation of an additional Council Tax premium on any dwelling
where the empty period is at least ten years, from 200% to 300% premium,
will be considered by Full Council in January 2021.

•

Executive Board is recommended to approve that, should the application to
form a new Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool be successful, Leeds
City Council becomes a member of the proposed Pool and acts as lead
authority for it. The establishment of this new Pool will be dependent upon
none of the other proposed member authorities choosing to withdraw within
the statutory period after designation.

Page 35

1.

Purpose of report

1.1

This report details the proposed budget for 2021/22, set within the context
of the Medium Term Financial Strategy approved by Executive Board in
September 2020, the Spending Review 2020, and proposed budget
savings reports, received at Executive Board in September, October and
November, that contribute towards bridging the estimated budget gap for
2021/22.

1.2

Subject to the approval of the Executive Board, this proposed budget for
2021/22 will be submitted to the respective Scrutiny Boards for their
consideration and review, with the outcome of their deliberations to be
reported to the planned meeting of this board on the 10th February 2021.
These budget proposals will also be made available to other stakeholders
as part of a wider and continuing process of engagement and consultation.

1.3

This report also provides an update on the provisional budgets for 2022/23
and 2023/24 and the Executive Board are asked to note these revised
positions.

1.4

In accordance with the Council’s budget and policy framework, decisions as
to the Council’s budget are reserved to Full Council. As such, the
recommendations in paragraphs 16.2 to 16.4 are not subject to call-in as
the budget is a matter that will ultimately be determined by Full Council.

1.5

However the recommendations in paragraph 16.1, regarding new savings
proposals and paragraph 16.5, regarding the Council’s participation in the
2021/22 50% Business Rates Pool are decisions of the Executive Board
and as such are subject to call-in.

2.

The national context and Spending Review 2020

2.1.

The socio-economic conditions and the policy drivers that shape our
Medium Term Financial Strategy and the proposed budget have clearly
been affected by COVID-19 which continues to have a major impact at all
levels, international, national and local. It has also severely impacted the
Council’s operating environment both in terms of the demand for services
and our financial framework.

2.2.

COVID-19 has fundamentally affected the way in which the Council works.
Elements of this change which relate directly to crisis response will, in time,
revert largely back to normal. However, an event of this magnitude
undoubtedly means the Council will need to consider closely how its
business and services should operate in the future. Measures introduced
nationally to combat the virus have had direct and indirect negative impacts
on Council finances which will need to be managed over future years.
There remains potential longstanding impact on Council income if
behaviour, working practices and spending patterns in the city continue to
change and this will need to be monitored and managed moving forward.

Page 36

2.3.

Beyond the pressures of COVID-19, the economic context in which public
spending must be considered continues to be dominated by the debate
concerning the impact of Britain exiting the EU with or without a trade deal
and the strength and resilience of the national economy. On 31st January
2020 the UK left the EU, and at the end of December 2020 the transition
period will come to an end. While throughout this time Leeds has been
preparing to take advantage of the opportunities the EU exit presents, it is
important to recognise the potential impact the loss of European Structural
and Investment Funds (ESIF) could have. The Government has previously
committed to introduce the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) from 2021
to replace ESIF, but full details about the fund and how it will operate have
not yet been published. On trade, we await the outcome of ongoing
negotiations about the future UK/EU relationship as the transition period
comes to an end in December 2020. There continues to be significant
uncertainty about the shape of any trade agreement which may be
reached, and the potential for an exit on World Trade Organisation (WTO)
terms remains possible. The Council has been closely monitoring
developments over recent years, ensuring it is as prepared as possible to
respond to all potential exit scenarios. This places Leeds in a strong
position to grasp any opportunities presented by EU exit, but it will not be
possible to anticipate what all impacts of the final exit terms may be.
Therefore the Council will need to remain ready to respond in an agile way
as the situation develops.

2.4.

As a part of the Comprehensive Spending Review process the Government
asks for representations to inform policy development and these
representations should contain policy suggestions which should explain the
desired outcome, policy rationale, costs, benefits and deliverability of
proposals. The outcome of the Comprehensive Spending Review was due
to be incorporated into the Chancellor’s Autumn budget speech, setting out
the Government’s spending plans for the forthcoming three financial years.
However, this multi-year review was postponed due to the Coronavirus
pandemic. We anticipate that any multi-year review in the future will need to
take into account the nature of Brexit and set out further plans for long-term
reform.

2.5.

As such, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Rishi Sunak, delivered his most
recent Budget statement on Wednesday 11th March 2020 and announced
the results of the Government’s Spending Review on 25th November. This
covered the financial year 2021/22 only.

2.6.

The headline announcements in the Spending Review 2020 are as follows:
•

Local government’s Core Spending Power (CSP) will increase by
£2.1bn (4.5%) in 2021/22. We await further details at the Provisional
Settlement.

•

2% increase in “core” Council Tax plus a further 3% increase in the
Adult Social Care precept. The impact on the Leeds budget is an
increase of £6.5m for the core increase, plus £9.8m for the ASC
precept. This is further discussed at paragraph 4.6.

Page 37

•

Additional £300m social care grant funding: The Leeds share of this
could be in the region of £4.2m. In addition to this there will be a roll
forward of the 2020/21 £1bn social care grant, the Leeds share of
which is included in the proposed budget assumptions.

•

£200m for indexation: for Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and the
effect of cap compensation on business rates income and baselines,
included in the proposed budget for Leeds’ business rates.

•

£3bn additional funding for COVID-19 pressures to include:

•

o

£670m to fund additional council tax support claimants. We await
further details at the provisional settlement before identifying the
Leeds share of this.

o

£762m to fund 75% of “irrecoverable loss of council tax and
business rates revenues in 2020-21”. The Leeds share of this is
expected to be approximately £9.7m in each of the following
years: 2021/22, 2022/23, 2023/24. This is included in these
budget proposals.

o

£1.55bn for additional expenditure pressures. The Leeds share
of this could be in the region of £24.3m and is expected to be
used to offset additional pressures. Further information will be
received at the Provisional Settlement.

o

Sales, fees and charges (SFC) compensation scheme will be
extended into the first 3 months of 2021/22. We expect this to be
net neutral to the Authority.

Public sector pay “pause”, however public sector workers earning
less than £24,000 to receive a minimum £250 increase. It is projected
that this would make an additional £3.4m of funding available for
Leeds City Council. This is included in these proposals.

As referenced above, we expect further detail and local authority
allocations at the Provisional Local Government Settlement in midDecember.
2.7.

As such this proposed budget is based on the announcements made during
the Spring 2020 Budget, subsequent Government announcements relating
to future years funding, and assumptions made following the publication of
the Spending Review 2020.

2.8.

At the time of the Spending Review 2020, the Office for Budget
Responsibility (OBR) also published its independent economic and fiscal
forecasts. Due to the huge uncertainty surrounding the course of the
pandemic and the impact on the economy and public finances, the OBR
have forecast three scenarios; the Central forecast, Upside and Downside.
All three assume a smooth transition to a free-trade agreement with the EU.
The following statistical forecasts are based on the Central forecast:

Page 38

•

Following the first wave of infections the UK experienced slow
economic recovery. The latest resurgence of infections prompted the
re-imposition of a national lockdown. In the UK economy GDP is set
to fall by 11% in 2020.

•

The OBR then predicts that the economy will recover by 5.5% in
2021, 6.6% in 2022 and 2.3% in 2023. By 2025 the economy is
predicted to remain 3% smaller than previously expected.

•

Public sector net borrowing is set to rise to £393.5bn in 2020/21.
Borrowing is then projected to fall fairly quickly to £164.2bn in
2021/22 and £104.6bn in 2022/23, then levelling off at around this
level in subsequent years until the end of this Parliament.

•

In 2020/21 Public Sector Current Expenditure (PSCE) is projected to
rise sharply to £1,028.9bn, this includes £83.4bn on virus-related
income support schemes. In the following years it is forecast to
reduce to £892.8bn in 2021/22 and £863.8bn in 2022/23.

2.9.

Average earnings grew by 2.9% in 2019. Projected growth falls to 1.2% in
2020, but is then expected to rise by 2.1% in 2021, 2.0% in 2022 and 2.4%
in 2023.

2.10.

CPI inflation is projected to fall from 1.8% last year to 0.8% in 2020. It is
then forecast to rise slightly to 1.2% and 1.6% respectively in 2021 and
2022.

2.11.

As referenced above, these forecasts were based on there being a smooth
transition to a free-trade agreement with the EU in the new year, and the
OBR has previously stated that “a disorderly [Brexit] could have severe
short-term implications for the economy, the exchange rate, asset prices
and the public finances” 1. It is within this economic context that the
proposed budget for 2021/22 needs to be considered.

2.12.

The latest Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) were released in
September 2019 following the previous 2015 update. The IMD is the official
measure of relative deprivation in England and ranks each Lower Super
Output Area (LSOA: a small area with a population of around 1,500 people)
from the most deprived (1) to least deprived (32,844). The ranking is based
on 39 separate indicators organised across seven distinct domains of
deprivation, which are combined and weighted to calculate the overall IMD.
With a range of resources and analysis on the IMD publicly available on the
Leeds Observatory here, key headlines for Leeds include:
•

1

24% of Leeds’ LSOAs fall within the most deprived 10% nationally,
compared with 22% in 2015 which highlights some increase in
relative deprivation.

OBR, Economic and Fiscal Outlook – October 2018, p7, para 1.12

Page 39

•

Leeds ranks 33 out of 317 (where 1 is most deprived and 317 is least
deprived) local authorities when looking at proportions of LSOAs in
the most deprived 10% nationally.

•

The most deprived areas are concentrated in the inner east and inner
south of the city.

•

12 LSOAs in Leeds have been ranked in the most deprived 1%
nationally compared to 16 in 2015.

2.13.

In December 2017, the Government launched its Fair Funding Review of
Local Government finance, to refresh the methodology on which local
authority needs and resources are assessed and levels of government
funding are determined. Government previously indicated that Spending
Review 2020, which was expected in the Autumn, would allocate funding to
local government for the three year period 2021/22 – 2023/24. The Fair
Funding Review and Business Rates Retention Reform were initially then
intended to follow on from this three year settlement. However, in addition
to the delay to the anticipated three-year settlement, Government has since
announced that the Business Rates Revaluation, which would have
revalued every business property in the country, will now not take place
until 2023/24. Such a Revaluation requires significant further adjustments
to be made to the Business Rates Retention Scheme and this, in
conjunction with the disruption caused by the ongoing Coronavirus crisis,
leads to the assumptions reflected in this report that the new Fair Funding
formula and reform to Business Rates Retention will now also be delayed
until the Revaluation is completed in April 2023.

2.14.

In the context of budget setting and financial planning the increase in
relative deprivation shown in the IMD 2019 is significant as deprivation will
be reflected to a greater or lesser extent in the Fair Funding formula being
developed. Consultation regarding the new funding formula and the extent
to which deprivation will be reflected is ongoing. These budget proposals
do not currently assume any impact of the increase in relative deprivation
as sufficient detail is not yet known.

2.15.

At a local and regional level 2021 is likely to see some major changes.
Following the agreement of a devolution deal for West Yorkshire in March
2020, the region is expected to hold its first mayoral election in May 2021.
Devolution will result in a new working relationship between the Council,
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) and a new elected mayor,
alongside significant levels of additional funding for the region to match its
ambition. Funding will in the first instance be devolved to WYCA, but the
Council may need to think differently about the way in which services are
organised, funded and delivered as regional collaboration continues to be
strengthened over the coming years.

Page 40

3.

Developing the 2021/22 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy
with the Best Council Plan.

3.1.

Between the 2010/11 and 2020/21 budgets, the Council’s core funding from
Government has reduced by around £263m. Additionally the Council has
faced significant demand-led cost pressures, especially within Adult Social
Care and Children’s Services. To date, the Council has responded
successfully to the challenge since 2010 through a combination of
stimulating good economic growth, creatively managing demand for
services, increasing traded and commercial income, growing council tax
from new properties and a significant programme of organisational
efficiencies, including reducing staffing levels since 2010/11 by over 2,300
FTEs.

3.2.

Through targeting resources into preventative services the Council has
ensured that the implications of demand and demographic pressures that
have resulted in significant cost pressures in other local authorities have
been contained within Leeds. This is reflected in service areas such as the
number of people registered in Temporary Accommodation where Leeds
benchmarks favourably against most Core Cities and our Regional and
Statistical neighbours.

3.3.

The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its
ambitions, outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and for the Local
Authority. The “Best City” and “Best Council” ambitions set the strategic
context for the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26 which
was approved at September’s Executive Board. The Best Council Plan can
only be delivered through a sound understanding of the organisation’s
longer term financial sustainability which enables decisions to be made that
balance the resource implications of policies against financial constraints.
To enable the achievement of the Council’s ambitions the Council has
developed its Medium Term Financial Strategy to cover five years to direct
the resources of the Council to the priorities identified in the Best Council
Plan and it is within this financial framework that the annual budget is
developed.

3.4.

Inevitably, managing the £263m reduction in Government funding,
combined with increasing cost pressures, has meant that the Council has
had to make some difficult decisions around the level and quality of
services that it delivers.

3.5.

Looking ahead, and as detailed in the Council’s Medium Term Financial
Strategy, the Council is facing an estimated budget gap of £166.3m for the
period up to and including 2025/26 and of this gap £118.76m relates to
2021/22. The financial challenge now facing the Council is to manage these
pressures alongside the significant impact brought upon by the current
COVID-19 situation. The needs of the communities serviced by Leeds City
Council have already increased and will continue to do so, and the various
funding streams that support local government are effected by the longer
term economic scarring as a result of the virus.

Page 41

3.6.

In recognition of the financial challenge the Council has embarked on a
programme of service reviews which, combined with business as usual
savings, contribute towards closing the estimated revenue budget gap and
enable the Authority to present a balanced budget position in 2021/22. As
detailed in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, it is becoming
increasingly difficult over the coming years to identify further financial
savings without significant changes in what the Council does and how it
does it. This impacts upon the delivery of the Council’s ambitions as
detailed in the Best Council plan and will have significant implications for
directly provided services and those commissioned by the Local Authority,
impacting upon staff, partners and service users. In order to deliver the
Council’s ambitions of tackling poverty and reducing inequalities,
consideration may have to be given to stopping, delivering differently or
charging for those services that are no longer affordable and are a lesser
priority than others. This will be achieved through a continuing process of
policy and service reviews across the Council’s functions and ongoing
consultation and engagement.

4.

Estimating the Net Revenue Budget for 2021/22

4.1.

Settlement Funding Assessment – increase of £0.2m

4.1.1.

Settlement Funding Assessment is essentially the aggregate of core
government grant and business rate baseline funding for a local authority.

4.1.2.

The current financial year, 2020/21, is a one-year settlement period. During
2020/21 councils expected to be notified of a three-year Spending Review
covering 2021/22-2023/24. However, due to increased pressures caused
by the Covid-19 crisis, a one-year Spending Review was announced on
25th November 2020, with a multi-year Spending Review anticipated in the
future.

4.1.3.

Table 1 below sets out the Council’s estimated Settlement Funding
Assessment for 2021/22, which is based on an assessment of what the
Council may expect to receive from the Spending Review 2020. This
represents a small increase of £0.2m compared to 2020/21 which is
equivalent to a 0.1% increase. This reflects the annual increase in the CPI
in September 2020 which has been applied to the Revenue Support Grant
(RSG), but is not applied to the Business Rates Baseline. The total,
national, change in SFA between 2020/21 and 2021/22 will not be known
until the publication of the Provisional Financial Settlement but, based on
the above assumption, it is estimated to be in the order of a £8.9m increase
across England.

Page 42

Table 1 – Settlement Funding Assessment

Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates Baseline Funding
Settlement Funding Assessment

4.1.4.

2020/21
£m
28.2
158.4
186.6

2021/22
£m
28.4
158.4
186.8

Change
£m
%
0.2
0.0
0.2

0.1

The business rates element of the Settlement Funding Assessment is
determined by taking the 2020/21 baseline business rates amount and
uplifting it by the same percentage increase as the small business rates
multiplier, which the Government announced would be frozen in 2021/22.
This is then reduced by the tariff the authority has to pay to Government
because it is assessed as collecting more business rates than it requires for
its spending needs, known as its baseline funding level. The tariff is also
increased by the increase in the multiplier from its 2020/21 amount. Local
authorities will receive full compensation for the freezing of the business
rates baseline and the tariff in 2021/22.
Table 2 - Breakdown of the Settlement Funding Assessment

4.1.5.

In addition to general grant, there are a number of other funding streams
that make up the Settlement Funding Assessment. It is currently assumed
that these will roll forward at 2020/21 levels. If necessary this assumption
will be updated following publication of the Provisional Financial Settlement.
These funding streams include early intervention, homelessness
prevention, lead local flood authorities and learning disability & health
reform funding.

4.2.

Business Rate Retention

4.2.1.

Leeds has the most diverse of all the UK’s main employment centres and
has seen the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any UK city in
recent years. Yet this apparent growth in the economy has not translated
into business rate growth; in fact the income from business rates available

Page 43

to the Council declined from 2015/16 to 2017/18, only returning to 2014/15
levels in 2018/19 with the introduction of the 100% retention pilot. The
effect of the present coronavirus crisis has reversed this growth again with
in-year income levels from the Business Rates Retention Scheme (i.e.
excluding the exceptional effect of the Collection Fund deficit from 2020/21)
expected to decline back below 2015/16 levels in 2021/22 and not to
recover to budgeted 2020/21 levels until 2023/24.
4.2.2.

The total projected rateable value of businesses in Leeds is £912.3m which
would generate gross business rates income of £455.2m. It is not projected
that there will be any business rates growth in 2021/22. As shown in Table
3, the impact of a range of business rate reliefs (see paragraph 4.3 below)
and statutory adjustments reduces this to a net income figure of £336.7m.

4.2.3.

Under the projected 50% Business Rates Retention (BRR) scheme, Leeds
City Council’s share of this income is £165.0m (49%). The Authority then
pays a tariff of £14.4m to Government because Leeds is assessed to
generate more business rates income than it needs.

4.2.4.

Leeds must also meet its share of the business rates deficit created in
2020/21, which totals £109.0m. The unusually large deficit from 2020/21
comprises of a number of components. The first is the part of the deficit
generated by the unprecedented level of reliefs introduced by the
Government as a response to the COVID-19 lockdown for which the
Council receives full compensation (see paragraph 5.4.7 below). The
Council will hold the funding it receives in excess of expectations in the
2020/21 budget in its General Fund reserves to meet this part of the deficit
in 2021/22. The second part of the deficit are losses generated by other
issues arising from the coronavirus crisis, such as delayed development
leading to a reduction in the tax base in the city, an increased demand for
Empty Rate Relief and increased levels of bad debt. Initially the
Government announced they would require billing authorities to spread the
cost of this part of the deficit, or, as termed in law, ‘the exceptional balance’
over three years and Regulations have been made defining what can costs
can be spread. The exceptional balance in Leeds is projected to be
£26.69m and it is therefore possible to credit an adjustment of £17.79m to
the calculation of income available to the proposed budget. This leaves net
income of £59.5m which contributes to the Council’s net revenue budget.

4.2.5.

Subsequently, at the Spending Review 2020, the Government announced
that ‘irrecoverable losses’ caused by shortfalls in business rates and
council tax income, which have to be met from council’s budgets in 2021/22
and subsequent years, would be compensated for at 75%. As yet there is
no definition of irrecoverable losses. It is assumed in this proposed budget
that the ‘exceptional balance’ will be classed as irrecoverable losses and
the compensation will be spread over three years also. As a result it is
estimated Leeds will receive a general fund grant of £6.67m in 2021/22,
however, as a general fund grant, this compensation will not affect Leeds’
net revenue budget. The total estimated compensation that Leeds will

Page 44

receive over the three years that the exceptional balance will have to be
paid back to the collection fund is estimated to be £20.0m.
Table 3 – Rateable Value in Leeds and Business Rates Income Generated
Rateable Value in Leeds projected to 31 March 2021
multiplied by business rates multiplier
Gross business rates based on projected rateable value
Estimated Growth
equals gross business rates to be collected in Leeds

£
912.27
0.499
455.22
0.00
455.22

Mandatory Reliefs
Discretionary Reliefs
Transitional Adjustments (year 4)
equals net business rates paid by ratepayers

-78.89
-9.37
0.00
366.96

Bad debts and appeals
Cost of collection
Projected Enterprise Zone and renewable energy projects yield
Transitional Adjustments repaid to Government
equals non-domestic rating income in Leeds

-26.34
-1.26
-2.66
0.00
336.69

Leeds City Council (49%)
West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%)
Central Government (50%)

164.98
3.37
168.35

Leeds City Council's tariff from Local Government Finance Settlement
Leeds City Council's share of deficit from 2020-21
Adjustment for spreading the 'exceptional deficit' over 3 years
Leeds City Council 's 2021-22 income from business rates

-14.36
-108.96
17.79
59.45

less: -

less adjustments for: -

Split into shares: -

less deductions from operation of business rates retention scheme: -

4.2.6.

As shown above, business rates income is shared between local and
central government. Under the 50% Business Rates Retention scheme
local authorities experiencing business rates growth are able to retain 49%
of that growth locally, but also bear 49% of the risk if business rates fall or
fail to keep pace with inflation, although a safety-net mechanism is in place
to limit losses in year.

4.2.7.

In particular, BRR exposes local authorities to risk from reductions in
rateable values. The system allows appeals if ratepayers think rateable
values have been wrongly assessed or that local circumstances have
changed. One major issue is that successful appeals are usually backdated
to the start of the relevant valuation list, which means that for every £1 of
rateable value lost on the 2010 list growth of £6 would be necessary to fund
the cost. At the end of October 2020 there were around 800 outstanding
appeals against the 2010 ratings list in Leeds.

4.2.8.

Until the beginning of 2020/21 and the introduction of nationwide
restrictions across the UK, the 2017 ratings list was proving to be less
susceptible to challenge than the previous 2010 list. The 2010 list was
based on rental values in 2008, just before the ‘financial & economic crisis’
but came into effect after that crisis, when property values had greatly

Page 45

reduced. Appeals submitted against the new 2017 list can only be
backdated to 1st April 2017, and, together with the impact of the new
‘check, challenge, appeal’ appeals process, which was also introduced on
1st April 2017, had appeared to reduce business rate appeals and volatility
going forward. However, following the introduction of national restrictions in
response to the coronavirus crisis, the number of checks submitted to the
Valuation Office Agency, the first stage in the new appeals system, rose
from an average of 150 per month to, during the months of May, June and
July 2020, over 1,000 per month. The check stage has strict deadlines and
most of these checks were determined without a reduction to rateable
value, however a significant number (357 by the end of October 2020) have
returned to the system as challenges, the second stage of the new appeals
process, and cite the first day of the lockdown as the date from which they
seek a reduction. It is unclear how successful these challenges will be. It is
also too early in the process to ascertain whether these challenges will
eventually become appeals, before the Valuation Tribunal the final stage of
the appeals process.
4.2.9.

Since 2013/14 the total amount repaid by way of business rate appeals is
£168.9m, at a cost to the Council’s general fund of £88.4m. The provision
for business rate appeals within the collection fund has been reviewed and
recalculated to recognise new appeals and the settlement of existing
appeals, and the 2021/22 proposed budget provides for an additional
£5.5m contribution from the general fund to fund this provision.

4.3.

Small Business Rates Relief and other mandatory reliefs

4.3.1.

From April 2017, Government increased the rateable value threshold for
small businesses from £6,000 to £12,000 and the threshold above which
businesses pay the higher national business rates multiplier from £18,000
to £51,000. As a result an additional 3,300 small businesses in Leeds
immediately paid no business rates at all. Even before the introduction of
100% relief for businesses across the leisure, retail and childcare sectors,
in total almost 12,600, about 30%, of business properties in Leeds paid no
business rates in 2020/21. Of these businesses just over 9,600 receive
100% Small Business Rates Relief. Whilst Small Business Rates Relief and
other threshold changes reduce the business rates income available to
Leeds, the Authority recovers 69.1% of the cost of the relief through
Government grant. A fixed grant of £0.8m is paid by the Government for the
changes to the multiplier threshold and a further £8.7m is recovered
through the ratepayers in more valuable properties who still pay rates
based on the higher business rates multiplier. The overall proportion any
individual authority recovers depends on the mix of large and small
businesses in that area.

4.3.2.

Unlike Small Business Rates Relief, in 2021/22 Leeds will bear 49% of the
cost of other mandatory business rate reliefs such as mandatory charity
relief and empty rate relief, but has no control over entitlement and no
powers to deal with their use in business rates avoidance. Costs of
mandatory reliefs have increased significantly since the introduction of

Page 46

BRR, further reducing Leeds’s retained business rates income: in real
terms mandatory charity relief alone has increased by almost 30%, from
approximately £22.6m in 2012/13 to a projected £28.2m in 2020/21 costing
the Council an estimated £2.7m more in lost income under 49% retention in
2020/21.
4.3.3.

In the Autumn Budget 2018 the Chancellor announced new business rates
reliefs for small retail businesses, particularly focussing on the High Street.
Eligible businesses with a rateable value of less than £51,000 were to
receive a reduction in their liability for business rates of a third in 2019/20
and 2020/21. However in the Autumn Budget 2019 the Chancellor
announced that small retail businesses would see this relief increased from
one third to one half of their business rates liability in 2020/21 and Leeds
City Council prepared its Budget accordingly. After the Council’s 2020/21
Budget was adopted and following the announcement of the national
lockdown in response to the COVID-19 outbreak in the UK in March 2020,
it was announced that all leisure, retail and childcare businesses would
receive 100% relief against their business rates. It is assumed in these
proposals that the expanded 100% reliefs will not be continued into
2021/22, although the 50% relief for retail establishments with a rateable
value of less than £51,000 will continue into 2021/22 and Local Authorities
will be fully compensated for the cost. It is also assumed that local
newspaper offices will continue to receive a £1,500 reduction for a further
year and that public lavatories will receive a new statutory 100% relief
against business rates. Local authorities receive a government grant to
compensate them for any resultant loss of income. The Government has
stated in the 2020 Spending Review that it was considering the future of
business rates reliefs and how they could be used to ‘best meet the
evolving challenges presented by COVID-19’ and would outline plans in the
New Year.

4.4.

Business Rate Retention and the Proposed Budget

4.4.1.

In terms of the proposals in this proposed budget, it is estimated that the
local share of business rates funding in 2021/22 will be £165.0m, as set out
in Table 3 above. As per Table 4 below, the proposed budget recognises
business rate decline below the baseline of £7.81m, a decrease of £18.69m
from the 2020/21 budget. This is a significant decline in the city’s locally
generated revenue below the baseline (4.7%) largely caused by the
COVID-19. The elements of this decline are set out in paragraphs below.
Table 4 – Business Rates, Estimated Growth/(Decline) to the Baseline

Business rates local share
Less: business rates baseline
Growth above baseline

2020/21 2021/22 Change
£m
£m
£m
183.66 164.98 (18.69)
172.79 172.79
0.00
10.87
(7.81) (18.69)

Page 47

4.4.2.

Table 5 sets out the main changes in business rates income that results in
this £18.7m decline in growth above the baseline. The single largest
element (£-10.8m) is the decline in the tax base that has occurred since the
2020/21 budget caused mainly by the postponement or cancelling of
development in the city which normally replaces buildings that are taken out
of rating. An increase in the requirement for provisions for bad debt (£4.5m)
in 2021/22 is also assumed in anticipation of the financial difficulties
businesses will have in the wake of the public health crisis. It is expected
that this cost will gradually improve in the subsequent four years back to
more normal levels. An increase in demand for Empty Rate Relief (£3.6m)
is also assumed as buildings become empty more often during an
economic crisis. It is also expected that this cost will improve in the
subsequent four years. Since the 2020/21 budget an increase in
applications for Small Business Rates Relief (£1.3m) has also been noted
as this relief was a condition for certain kinds of support for businesses
during the national restrictions. As universal reliefs were offered to
businesses in 2020/21 the Council saw a reduction in demand for other
specific reliefs that explain most of the other changes in the tax base
(£1.5m) that marginally net off the changes in growth above baseline
between the budgets of 2020/21 and 2021/22.

4.4.3.

It is not expected that the tax base will start to grow again until 2022/23,
when it is hoped development will start again slowly and increase in pace
slowly during the subsequent three years returning to almost normal levels
in 2025/26.
Table 5 – Changes in Growth above the baseline between the 2020/21 and 2021/22
Budgets and subsequently
2021/22
Leeds share of growth above the baseline
Growth above baseline assumed previous year (£m)
Adjustment due to introduction of 75% retention
Reduction in current taxbase in 2020/21 (£m)
Change in cost of bad debt provisions (£m)
Change in cost of empty rate relief (£m)
Change in cost of Small Business Rates Relief (£m)
In-year growth of business rates yield (£m)
Other changes in the tax base (£m)
Growth above baseline assumed current year (£m)

4.4.4.

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative Indicative
74%
49%
49%
74%
74%

10.9
0.0
-10.8
-4.5
-3.6
-1.3
0.0
1.5
-7.8

-7.8
0.0
0.0
1.1
-0.7
0.0
0.6
-0.1
-6.8

-6.8
-3.5
0.0
1.7
2.5
0.0
1.9
-0.2
-4.4

-4.4
0.0
0.0
1.8
1.2
0.0
2.9
-0.1
1.4

The £165.0m local share of business rates funding is then reduced by a
£14.4m tariff payment and £109.0m deficit on the collection fund to reduce
the funding available to the Council to £41.7m. However the Government
has instructed local authorities that the portion of the deficit that has been
created by factors other than the reliefs provided by Government to
businesses in the retail, leisure and childcare sectors must be spread over
three years. Therefore a credit of £17.8m is assumed to be applied to the
2021/22 budget to give the £59.4m estimated business rates funding
shown in Table 6 below.

Page 48

1.4
0.0
0.0
1.8
0.9
0.0
4.0
0.0
8.1

4.4.5.

Comparing the £59.4m of business rates funding against the £158.4m
business rates baseline (Government’s assessment of what it expects a
local authority to collect before any local growth is taken into account)
produces a deficit of £99.0m which is a £104.3m net deterioration against
the budgeted surplus in the 2020/21 financial year. This is a dramatic
deterioration compared to the 2020/21 budget, however contained within
this £104.6m is a net increase of £79.9m in reliefs provided to businesses
covered by the Government’s financial assistance to the retail, leisure and
childcare sectors, for which the Council received compensation in 2020/21.
Once this is netted off against a loss of £4.3m in reduced compensation for
historic capping of the Small Business Rates multiplier, it is proposed a
reserve of £75.6m be created from the additional funding to help meet the
cost of the deficit brought forward to 2021/22. Applying this reserve to the
General Fund means that the net impact of business rates retention on the
General Fund in 2021/22 will be a reduction in income of £28.7m.
Table 6 – Business Rates Retention 2020/21 & 2021/22

Business rates baseline (including tariff)

2020/21 2021/22
£m
£m
158.4
158.4

Projected growth above the baseline to March
8.3
Estimated growth in the year
2.5
Total estimated growth
10.9
Estimated provision for appeals
(5.9)
Additional cost of transitional arrangements and provision for bad debts
0.4
Expanded Retail, Leisure and Childcare Reliefs
Decline in taxbase/increase in Empty Rate Relief and SBRR
(5.5)
Estimated total year-end Collection Fund deficit (Leeds Share)
Adjustment for spreading of deficit over 3 years
Estimated Business Rates Funding
163.8
Increase/(reduction) against the Business Rates baseline
5.3
Business Rates Retention - Impact on General Fund Income
Application of the reserve of the additional funding for 2020/21 reliefs
Net impact of Business Rates Retention on the 2021/22 General Fund

4.4.6.

(7.8)
0.0
(7.8)
(5.5)
(9.2)
(79.9)
(14.4)
(109.0)
17.8
59.4
(99.0)
(104.3)
75.6
(28.7)

In 2020/21 the Council is a member of the North & West Yorkshire
Business Rates Pool, with 50% business rates retention. The Council has
submitted an application on behalf of Leeds City Region Authorities to form
a 50% retention Business Rates Pool in 2021/22, with a view to retaining
levy payments in the region that would otherwise be paid to central
government. Leeds City Council expect to hear whether this application is
successful at the provisional Local Government Financial Settlement.
Paragraph 4.5 of this proposed budget report gives more detail on 50%
retention and pooling in the region.

Page 49

4.5.

Leeds City Region application to pool 50% Business Rate Retention

4.5.1.

In December 2019, Government announced that a joint North and West
Yorkshire Business Rates Pool application to pool 50% Business Rates
Retention in 2020/21 had been successful. The North and West Yorkshire
Pool (NWY Pool) was established on the 1st April 2020.

4.5.2.

North and West Yorkshire had previously successfully applied to pilot 75%
Business Rates Retention in 2019/20. This was for one year only and
during the announcement of the Spending Review 2019, the Chancellor of
the Exchequer clarified that the introduction of 75% Business Rates
Retention nationally would be delayed by a year to 2021/22. We now
assume this will be delayed further to 2023/24.

4.5.3.

Following this announcement authorities in North and West Yorkshire
decided to remain in a pooling relationship (albeit with one less member)
and have continued to work together in 2020/21. However, the onset of the
current Covid-19 has significantly affected the business rates of the Pool
members and the decision has been taken to revoke this Pool from 31st
March 2021.

4.5.4.

Following discussions within Leeds City Region authorities, the following
have agreed to submit an application for a business rates pool in 2021/22:
Bradford, Calderdale, Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Wakefield and York. Due
to the legislation surrounding the designation of business rates pools, this
process included requesting the revocation of the existing 2020/21 North
and West Yorkshire Pool and the designation of a new Leeds City Region
Pool for 2021/22. This application was submitted on the 22nd October 2020
and we expect to be informed as to whether it has been successful at the
provisional financial settlement.

4.5.5.

Under the 50% scheme the advantage of forming a business rate pool will
only be the retention of levy payments within the region that would
otherwise have to be made to central government. Whilst this is
significantly below the financial gain from 75% retention, we estimate the
gains to the region would be around £4.8 million if such a pool was granted.
Leeds City Council’s financial commitment would be in the region of £2.1m,
whether as a levy to the Pool or to Central Government. This proposed
budget recognises that Leeds City Council will be required to make a levy
payment in 2021/22.

4.5.6.

The application itself is not binding. Any member of the proposed pilot Pool
will still be able to withdraw during the statutory 28 day window after
Government designates the new pilot Pool, as set out in the Local
Government Finance Act 2012. It must be noted however that, should any
member withdraw, not only would the pilot Pool be revoked but there would
be no opportunity to fall back on existing pooling arrangements.

4.5.7.

This report asks Executive Board to agree that, should the application for a
business rates pool at 50% retention be successful, Leeds should become

Page 50

a member of this new Business Rates Pool and should act as lead authority
for it. Notwithstanding this decision, the continuation of the Pool will be
dependent upon none of the other member authorities choosing to
withdraw within the statutory period after designation.
4.6.

Council Tax

4.6.1.

The 2020/21 budget was supported by a 3.99% increase in the level of
council tax, 2% of which was attributable to the adult social care precept.
Leeds council tax remains the 2nd lowest of the English core cities and midpoint of the West Yorkshire districts, as detailed in Table 7.

4.6.2.

Government provided funding for the on-going effect of previous council tax
freezes up to 2015/16. The Council accepted council tax freeze grant for
the years 2011/12 to 2013/14. As a result government funding of £9.4m
was built into the Council’s 2015/16 Settlement Funding Assessment, which
persists into the projected 2021/22 Settlement Funding Assessment, as
shown in Table 2 above.
Table 7 – 2020/21 Council Tax Levels (Figures include Police and Fire Precepts)

Core Cities

Band D
£:p

West
Yorkshire
Districts

Nottingham

2,118.99

Kirklees

1,831.95

Bristol

2,061.03

Calderdale

1,810.51

Liverpool

2,027.27

Leeds

1,711.15

Newcastle

1,929.24

Wakefield

1,701.82

Sheffield

1,826.47

Bradford

1,690.01

Manchester

1,724.71

Leeds

1,711.15

Birmingham

1,660.31

Band D
£:p

4.6.3.

The 2021/22 proposed budget recognises a projected loss of £8.2m (5,676
band D equivalent properties) due to both reductions in tax-base growth
during the 2020/21 financial year and an increase in the number of Council
Tax Support claimants. It also recognises a significant increase in the
deficit on the collection fund of £10.0m. The £10.0m is made up of a
budgeted £1.6m collection fund deficit in 2020/21 increasing to an
estimated deficit on the collection fund of £11.5m in 2021/22. The £11.5m
estimated deficit on the collection fund being the 2020/21 projected deficit
of £19.5m, partly offset by the adjustment spreading this over three years
£8.0m.

4.6.4.

Under section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, from 1st
April 2013 to 31st March 2019 Leeds City Council charged a 50% council
tax premium on empty dwellings that have been unoccupied for more than

Page 51

two years. The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, which received Royal Assent on 1st
November 2018, permitted councils to increase this premium on dwellings
unoccupied for more than two years to 100% from 1st April 2019 and 200%
from 1st April 2020 where the Act permitted that from this date the
maximum premium is 200% in respect of any dwelling where the empty
period is at least 5 years. Leeds City Council have previously agreed to
increase the empty homes premium to 100% in 2019 for properties
unoccupied for 2 years or more and 200% in 2020 for properties
unoccupied for 5 years or more. Additionally, from 2021 the maximum
premium is 300% in respect of any dwelling where the empty period is at
least 10 years.
4.6.5.

A final decision on whether to implement the third year of this additional
premium, specifically, to charge a 300% premium on any dwelling where
the empty period is at least 10 years, will be made by Full Council as part of
their decision on the Council Tax base in January 2021. In addition to this,
the decisions made to date do not provide for any exclusions or any scope
for discretion in this matter. Proposals have been made that certain
exclusions should apply and that Leeds City Council officers should be able
to exercise their discretion both for both the historic EHP increases and
also the potential increase of 300%. A policy will be prepared to ensure
consistency of approach. The estimated Council Tax base used for these
initial budget proposals does not currently assume either of these of these
future proposals. Together, we assess the financial implications of the two
proposals to be minimal.

4.6.6.

Following an increase in 2019/20 Government maintained the limit of
council tax increases at up to but not including 4% in 2020/21, above which
a Local Authority must seek approval through a local referendum. This
included the Adult Social Care precept increase. Whilst the referendum
ceiling for 2021/22 has yet to be formally published, the Chancellor
announced at the Spending Review 2020 that the core increase would be
up to 2%. This is reflected in the proposed budget. It is therefore assumed
that core council tax is increased by 1.99%, although a final decision on this
matter will be taken by Full Council.

4.6.7.

The Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21 included an Adult
Social Care (ASC) precept of 2% on top of the core principle. At the
Spending Review 2020 the Chancellor also announced that authorities
would be able to increase their ASC precept by up to 3%. In respect of the
proposed budget for 2021/22, the proposal is that there will be an increase
of 2.99%. However, as discussed at paragraph 4.7 below, other options for
the ASC precept increase have been explored. As with the core increase, a
final decision on this will be taken by Full Council.

4.6.8.

The impact of the proposed core and ASC increases on the Leeds share of
the Council Tax charge by band is as shown at Table 8. The Leeds Council
Tax charge will be presented to the Full Council for approval in February
2021.

Page 52

Table 8 – Proposed 2021/22 Leeds Council Tax

BAND
A
£ p

BAND
B

BAND
C

£ p

£ p

BAND
D

BAND
E

£ p

£ p

BAND
F
£ p

BAND
G

BAND
H

£ p

£ p

1014.19 1183.23 1352.26 1521.29 1859.35 2197.42 2535.48 3042.58

4.6.9.

Table 9 sets out the estimated total council tax income in 2021/22;
recognising the £8.2m estimated decrease in the council tax base, a
general £6.5m increase in the council tax rate, and a £9.8m increase due to
the ASC precept. Table 9 also recognises the additional £19.5m estimated
deficit on the collection fund part-offset by an £8.0m adjustment to spread
the Council Tax deficit over three years.
Table 9 – Estimated Council Tax Income in 2021/22

Previous year council tax funding

2020/21

2021/22

Baseline

Forecast

£m

£m

316.8

333.7

Change in tax base - increase / (decrease)

4.4

(8.2)

Increase in council tax level

6.4

6.5

Adult Social Care precept

6.4

9.8

334.1

341.8

Council Tax Funding before surplus/(deficit)
Surplus/(Deficit) 2018/19

(1.1)

Surplus/(Deficit) 2019/20

(1.6)

Surplus/(Deficit) 2020/21

(1.6)
(19.5)

Council Tax Adjustment for spreading over three years

Change in collection fund contribution - increase/(decrease)
Total - Council Tax Funding

(0.4)

(10.0)

333.7

331.8
(1.9)

Decrease from previous year

4.6.10.

8.0

In 2020/21 the Government awarded a Hardship Fund to Billing Authorities
on the basis of their share of the national caseload of working age Local
Council Tax Support (LCTS) claimants, to support authorities to reduce the
council tax burden for those in receipt of LCTS. The Council received
£8.9m in April 2020, paid as Section 31 grant, which will be held in reserves
and used to meet the element of the Council Tax deficit carried forward into
2021/22 which relates to Council tax income losses arising from reducing

Page 53

the amount of Council Tax payable by LCTS recipients in 2020/21. Some of
this funding is applicable to the amounts precepted by the Police and Fire
Authorities. The Leeds share of this income is £7.6m.
4.6.11.

Applying the value of this Hardship Fund to the projected deficit of £19.5m
reduces this deficit to £11.9m. As with Business Rates, Government are
allowing Billing Authorities to spread the deficit amount carried forward to
2021/22 over three years. This proposed budget reflects these
adjustments.

4.6.12.

Spending Review 2020 includes £762m to fund 75% of “irrecoverable loss
of council tax and business rates revenues in 2020-21”. It is assumed in
this proposed budget this will be paid to the Council over the same three
years that the deficit on the collection fund has to be repaid. The Leeds
Council Tax element of that is forecast to be £3.0m per year, making a total
estimated amount of funding over the 3 years £9.0m. This funding will be
receivable in Section 31 grants and will not impact the Collection Fund. It
will, instead, be an adjustment to the General Fund. It is estimated this will
leave £8.5m unfunded in 2021/22 which will need to be met from the
2021/22 budget.

4.6.13.

In total the level of Council Tax receivable by the Council in 2021/22 will
decrease by £1.9m when compared to that receivable in 2020/21.

4.6.14.

The Settlement Funding Assessment includes an element to compensate
parish and town councils for losses to their council tax bases arising as a
result of local council tax support (LCTS). As this amount is not separately
identifiable it is proposed, as in previous years, that LCTS grant should be
pro-rated in line with the assumptions for Leeds’s overall change in the
Settlement Funding Assessment, an increase of 0.1% for 2021/22 from
£65.7k to £65.8k.

4.7.

Adult Social Care Precept

4.7.1.

At the Spending Review 2020, the Chancellor announced that authorities
could increase the Adult Social Care precept by up to 3%. Further
clarification from MHCLG confirms that this ASC precept increase could be
spread over two years, 20201/22 and 2022/23, should authorities wish to
do so.

4.7.2.

The proposed budget for 2021/22 includes the Adult Social Care precept at
2.99% in 2021/22 with no increase anticipated in the following year.

4.7.3.

However, the impact of spreading the increase across two years is
explored in Table 10 below. Any move away from utilising the full 2.99% in
2021/22 would lead to a budget gap in 2021/22. Should this become the
proposal, the Authority would use the Adults and Health reserve to rebalance the Council’s position in 2021/22 and further savings would have to
be investigated to replace this one-off use of reserves. Full Council will
formally approve any such increase for Leeds in February 2021.

Page 54

4.7.4.

A proposal to reduce the 2021/22 ASC precept and introduce a balancing
increase in the following year, would reduce 2021/22 income streams as
shown in Table 10 below. In 2022/23 income streams would improve to
approximately the same levels that would be achieved if the full increase
was applied in year 2021/22.

4.7.5.

Table 10 also shows the impact of no ASC precept in either 2021/22 or
2022/23. As shown on the table, this would lead to a shortfall of around
£9.8m. Further to this, as no balancing ASC precept increase is included in
2022/23, the contribution of Council Tax to the Net Revenue Charge
continues to be eroded, by over £10m.

4.7.6.

As noted above, the proposed budget includes an Adult Social Care
precept increase of 2.99%, rounded to 3%. As outlined at Table 10, a move
to reduce this proposed increase in 2021/22 would lead to a shortfall in the
proposed budget position. Whilst the shortfall could be balanced through
the use of the Adults and Health reserve, it should be noted that this would
be a one-off use of reserves, thus reducing the amount of available reserve
in future years.
Table 10 – Impact of change to existing proposal to increase ASC precept by 3.0%

Contribution of Council Tax to Net Revenue Charge
based on:

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

Variance to
2021/22
budget
proposals*
£m

Full 3% precept applied in 2021/22
(as proposed in 2021/22 budget proposals)

331.82

358.06

0.00

Precept applied 2% in 2021/22 and 1% in 2022/23

328.55

358.11

3.27

Precept applied 1.5% in 2021/22 and 1.5% in 2022/23

326.93

358.15

4.89

Precept applied 1% in 2021/22 and 2% in 2022/23

325.28

358.11

6.54

No ASC precept applied in 2021/22 or in 2022/23

322.02

347.73

9.79

* Variance to be funded from A&H reserve

4.8.

The Net Revenue Budget 2021/22

4.8.1.

After taking into account the anticipated changes to the Settlement Funding
Assessment, business rates and council tax, the Council’s overall net
revenue budget is anticipated to decrease by £106.1m or 20.2% from
£525.7m to £419.6m, as detailed in Table 11 below and at Appendix 1. This
includes significant increases in the business rates and Council tax deficits,
£103.4m and £17.9m respectively, and also recognises the new
government legislation allowing local authorities to spread the 2020/21
deficits in these areas over three years.

Page 55

Table 11 – Estimated Net Revenue Budget 2021/22 compared to the 2020/21 Net
Revenue Budget
2020/21
£m
28.2
158.4
186.6

Revenue Support Grant
Business Rates Baseline
Settlement Funding Assessment
Business Rates Growth

10.9

(7.8)

(18.7)

Business Rates Deficit

(5.5)

(109.0)

(103.4)

0.0
335.3

17.8
343.4

17.8
8.1

(1.6)

(19.5)

(17.9)

0.0
525.7

8.0
419.6

8.0
(106.1)

Business Rates Adjustment for spreading over three years
Council Tax (incl. Adult Social Care Precept)
Council Tax Deficit
Council Tax Adjustment for spreading over three years
Net Revenue Budget

4.8.2.

2021/22
Change
£m
£m
28.4
0.2
158.4
0.0
186.8
0.2

Table 12 analyses this £106.1m estimated decrease in the net revenue
budget between the Settlement Funding Assessment and locally
determined funding sources.
Table 12 – Decrease in the Funding Envelope

Funding Envelope

4.8.3.

2021/22
£m

Government Funding
Settlement Funding Assessment

0.16

Sub-total Government Funding

0.16

Locally Determined Funding
Council Tax (incl tax base growth)
Business Rates
Sub-total Locally Determined Funding

(1.90)
(104.33)
(106.22)

Increase/(decrease) in the Net Revenue Budget

(106.07)

The estimated decrease in the net revenue budget is largely offset by an
increase in section 31 grants that will be received in the general fund. Due
to the current COVID-19 situation, local authorities have noted decreases in
both council tax and business rates income collected, and forecast further
losses by year end. In Leeds we project this will lead to a deficit on the
collection fund of £128.5m for council tax and business rates together.
During 2020/21 Government announced a series of support grants for local
authorities, specifically for business rates and council tax we will receive
£83.2m in year, which will be taken forward into 2021/22 to part-fund the
deficit position on the collection fund and reduce the impact of this on the
net revenue budget. This is further referenced at paragraph 5.5.10.

Page 56

5.

The Proposed Budget 2021/22

5.1.

This section provides an overview of the changes in funding, primarily
specific grants (paragraph 5.5), and cost increases (paragraphs 6.1 to 6.21)
which the Council is facing in 2021/22 and concludes with savings
proposals (paragraphs 7.1 to 7.9) which contribute towards balancing the
2021/22 budget to the estimated available resources. Table 13 provides a
high level of summary of these changes.

5.2.

There are four categories of savings shown in Table 13:
• existing savings which are the later year effects of proposals already
agreed, already included in the September Medium Term Financial
Strategy,
• further savings identified by directorates which have already been
agreed by Executive Board at its meetings in September, October
and November 2020 and approved for consultation,
• additional directorate savings proposals included in this report and
therefore not yet approved for consultation, and
• further savings identified corporately.
Changes since the Medium Term Financial Strategy

5.3.

Table 13 also shows the movement between the estimated budget gap of
£118.8m for 2021/22 reported in the Medium Term Financial Strategy and
the proposed budget position for 2021/22 contained in this report. Whilst
Sections 5 to 7 below provide detail regarding the proposed budget
position, any significant changes from the position shown in the MTFS are
also referenced.

5.4.

Each category of savings is discussed separately at paragraph 7 of this
report. It is important to note that some of these savings proposals will
impact on the funding assumptions and cost increases discussed in
paragraphs 5 and 6. To preserve the scale of the savings identified these
have not been netted off against any related funding changes or cost
pressures in this report. They will, however be netted off appropriately in
the final Budget report presented to this Board in February 2021. Where
this treatment has a significant impact on the figures discussed in
paragraphs 5 and 6 this has been explained in the narrative.

Page 57

Table 13 Summary of Changes in Funding, Cost Increases and Savings Proposals in
the proposed Budget 2021/22 and comparison with the position at the Medium Term
Financial Strategy

MTFS
£m
116.2
9.0
3.0
(88.5)
(16.7)
2.7
(0.8)
24.9

Changes
since
MTFS
£m
(10.1)
1.9
13.5
5.3
(11.8)
0.0
(9.9)
(11.1)

Proposed
Budget
21/22
£m
106.1
10.9
16.5
(83.2)
(28.5)
2.7
(10.7)
13.8

10.1
11.4
6.3
17.3
52.1
97.2

(6.8)
0.1
0.5
(8.1)
(2.1)
(16.5)

3.3
11.5
6.8
9.1
49.9
80.7

122.1

(27.6)

94.5

Existing Actions to Reduce the Budget Gap

£m

£m

£m

Business As Usual
Service Delivery
Workforce
Service Delivery/Workforce
Total Existing Savings

(2.6)
(0.0)
(0.5)
(0.2)
(3.3)

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

(2.6)
(0.0)
(0.5)
(0.2)
(3.3)

Gap Remaining After Existing Savings

118.8

(27.6)

91.1

0.0
0.0

(43.5)
(14.7)

(43.5)
(14.7)

0.0
0.0
0.0

(2.9)
(0.2)
(61.3)

(2.9)
(0.2)
(61.3)

118.8

(88.9)

29.8

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

(20.1)
(2.4)
(2.1)
(24.5)

(20.1)
(2.4)
(2.1)
(24.5)

118.8

(113.5)

5.3

Funding
Reduction in Net Revenue Charge
Change in contribution to/(from) General Reserve
Change in contribution to/(from) Earmarked Reserves
COVID-19 Grants
Increases in Other Specific Grant
Fall Out of Other Specific Grant
Other Non-Collection Fund Business Rates Movements
Pressures
Pay Inflation
General Inflation
New ELI scheme
COVID
Other incl. Debt
Total Funding and Cost Pressures

Additional Directorate Savings 2020
September - November 2020
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
December 2020
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
Total Additional Savings
Gap Remaining After Additional Directorate Savings
Additional Corporate Savings 2020
Business As Usual - Asset Sales
Business As Usual - Treasury Management Savings
Service Reviews - Organisational Change
Total Additional Savings
Gap Remaining After Additional Corporate Savings

Page 58

5.5.

Decreases/(Increases) in Funding

5.5.1.

Changes in both the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) of (£0.2m
increase) and local funding (£106.2m reduction), a net reduction of
£106.1m, are detailed in sections 4.1.3, 4.4.5 and 4.6.9 respectively.

5.5.2.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Adults and Health (£4.2m). The final
2020/21 Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed Government’s
intention to protect all social care grants that had been receivable in
2019/20, with an additional injection of £1 billion of new Social Care grant
funding in 2020/21 for adults and children’s services. Leeds received
£14.0m of this, using £7.5m within Adult Social Care and the balance within
Children’s Social Care. The roll forward of these grants was confirmed in
the 2020 Spending review.

5.5.3.

In addition the Spending review announced additional Social Care funding
of £300m nationally, of which we estimate a Leeds allocation of £4.2m.
Further, as discussed at paragraph 4.6.7, the Spending Review confirmed
that authorities will be permitted to raise an Adult Social Care precept in
2021/22. This continues the trend in recent years whereby social care
provision is increasingly funded by local taxation. The Spending Review
indicated that in the longer term the Government is committed to
sustainable improvement of the adult social care system, and will bring
forward proposals next year.

5.5.4.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Children and Families Directorate
(£0.0m). As discussed at paragraph 5.4.2, the final 2020/21 Local
Government Finance Settlement confirmed the Government’s intention to
protect all social care grants receivable in 2019/20, with an additional
injection of £1 billion of new Social Care grant funding. Of the £14m
received by Leeds, £6.5m was used within Children’s Social Care and the
remainder in Adult Social Care. The proposed budget assumes
continuation of all existing Children’s Social Care grants, including the new
2020/21 Social Care grant allocation, the School Improvement Monitoring
and Brokerage Grant and the Troubled Families Programme: Earned
Autonomy grant. If the assumed levels of grant funding are not realised, the
directorate will be required to reduce their expenditure budget accordingly.
No increase in grant funding is assumed.

5.5.5.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Communities and Environment
£0.2m. The Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support Administration
Subsidy grants are anticipated to continue to reduce by £0.2m in 2021/22
and by a further £1.3m over the life of the Medium Term Financial Strategy,
reflecting the continuing reductions in the national quantum of funding
allocated to Local Authorities. This is an indicative assessment at this
stage as the final allocations for 2021/22 will not be made until late
2020/early 2021. No other grant funding changes are assumed.

Page 59

5.5.6.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – New Homes Bonus £2.5m
Government introduced the New Homes Bonus in 2011 to encourage
housing growth: initially councils received grant for six years for each net
additional property added to the tax base each year. This grant is funded by
top slicing Revenue Support Grant. In 2016/17 Government made some
changes, including gradually reducing the number of years ‘legacy
payments’ are receivable from six to four years and imposing a 0.4%
growth baseline on new allocations before any Bonus is paid. In the
Technical Consultation for the 2020/21 Local Government Finance
Settlement, published in September 2019, the Government proposed that
new allocations earned in 2019/20 and paid in 2020/21 would be paid in the
first year but not for the following three years as would normally be the case
and that there would be a consultation on the future of New Homes Bonus
in the Summer of 2020. Leeds accounts for the receipt of this grant in the
year in which the housing growth has taken place and therefore it was
expected that in 2020/21 the element earned in 2019/20 would drop out,
along with the element earned in 2016/17 which comes to the end of its
legacy payments. It was also expected that no new allocation for 2020/21
could be earned in that year and the Council budgeted accordingly.
However in the Spending Review 2020 the Government announced that a
new allocation could be earned for 2020/21, although like 2019/20 this
would not give rise to any further legacy payments. It has been estimated
that this will result in a £2.2m surplus for New Homes Bonus in 2020/21.
The Government also confirmed that the Government is seeking to abolish
the scheme and will consult on its replacement in the summer of 2021. The
uncertainty around the future of any new scheme carries the potential that
the Council could experience a £2.2m deficit in 2021/22 and therefore it is
proposed that the surplus from 2020/21 be held in reserve to meet any
shortfall in 2021/22.

5.5.7.

Specific Grant Funding Changes –COVID-19 Grant (£24.3m). At
Spending Review 2020, Government announced £1.55bn of funding for
additional COVID related expenditure pressures in 2021/22. The Leeds
share of this is estimated to be in the region of £24.3m and is expected to
be used to offset additional expenditure pressures as they occur. Further
information will be received at the provisional settlement.

5.5.8.

Specific Grant Funding Changes – Collection Fund COVID-19 Grants
(£83.2m). Section 31 grant funding of £75.6m will be held in a reserve by
the Council and carried forward to be applied to the Business Rates deficit
in 2021/22. Likewise, Council Tax Hardship Grant funding of £7.6m will be
held in reserves and used to meet the element of the Council Tax deficit
carried forward into 2021/22 which relates to Council tax income losses
arising from reducing the amount of Council Tax payable by LCTS
recipients in 2020/21, as discussed at paragraph 4.6.10. It has been
assumed that these are both one-off grants.

Page 60

5.5.9.

Other Non-Collection Fund Business Rates and Council Tax
Movements – (£10.7m)
Section 31 grants are allocated to local authorities to compensate them for
changes made by Government to the business rates system. An authority’s
allocation depends on the level of business rates yield in that authority’s
area, the extent to which it awards certain reliefs mandated by Government
and its share of any losses resulting from these. In 2020/21 the
Government introduced 100% relief from business rates for businesses in
the retail, leisure and childcare sectors.
This proposed budget assumes this will not continue into 2021/22 and there
will be a return to 50% business rates relief for small retail businesses with
a rateable value of less than £51,000, as was assumed at the time of the
2020/21 budget. It is also assumed that the £1,500 relief for local
newspapers will continue into 2021/22. Consequently it is assumed that
local authorities will receive full compensation in the form of section 31
grant for the cost incurred in providing these reliefs. It is also assumed that
the Government will continue to compensate local authorities for the loss of
retained business rate income they have experienced because of historic
caps applied to Small Business Rates Multiplier and that the multiplier will
be frozen at the 2020/21 rate in 2021/22. It is estimated therefore that in
total section 31 grants will increase by £1.0m in 2021/22 compared to the
2020/21 budget.

5.5.10.

In addition to these movements in section 31 grants the Council will have to
pay a levy on any growth in the total of retained business rates income and
section 31 income either to the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool or
to the Government. Current estimates are that the Council will have to pay
a levy payment of £2.1m in 2021/22, a reduction of £0.09m due to lower
levels of estimated growth, although this assumes there will be an
adjustment to the levy calculation for the ‘gains’ to the authority of
spreading the unfunded deficit over three years. It is uncertain whether this
adjustment will have to be made.

5.5.11.

At the Spending Review 2020 the Chancellor announced that £762m was
to be used to provide support to local authorities for ‘irrecoverable losses’ in
business rates and council tax income experienced in 2020/21 that
authorities would have to repay to the collection fund in 2021/22 and
subsequent years. There was, however, no definition of ‘irrecoverable
losses’, which will not be fully clarified until the 2021/22 Provisional
Financial Settlement. The proposed budget includes an assumption that the
Government will therefore provide a grant to fund 75% of the deficit
generated in 2020/21 that is not funded through other sources such as the
funding for COVID-19 reliefs and the council tax hardship funding. It is
assumed that the Government will also spread this funding over the three
years that this portion of the deficit on the collection fund has to be repaid.
Current forecasts indicate that Leeds can expect £29.0m over the three
years 2021/22 to 2023/24, with £9.7m being received in 2021/22, including
£6.7m for the unfunded deficit generated by business rates in 2020/21 (see

Page 61

section 4.2.5 above) and £3.0m for the unfunded council tax deficit (see
section 4.6.12 above).
5.6.

Changes in contributions to/(from) the General Reserve – the
movement of £10.9m in the use of the General Reserve reflects the fallout
of the £9m contribution from the Reserve to the Revenue Budget in
2020/21 and a planned contribution of £1.9m to the reserve.

5.7.

Changes in contributions to/(from) Earmarked Reserves – the £16.5m
change in the use of earmarked reserves largely reflects increased General
Fund pressures as a consequence of the fallout of contributions from
reserves in earlier years including use of Adults & Health reserves to
support Post-16 provision (£2.0m), use of Better Care Fund reserves
(£0.5m) and use of other Adults and Health reserves (£1.1m) which
included their use to fund National Living Wage increases. There is also
fallout of use of Wellbeing Reserve (£0.2m), Waste Management Reserve
(£0.4m) and contributions from general balances (£0.5m) and use of
contributions from the reserve to fund Schools PFI payments (£0.25m).
These increased pressures are netted down by further use of the Invest to
Save reserve to fund the Channel Shift programme in Revenues & Benefits
(£0.05m), £0.2m in respect of Schools premature retirement costs and
£2.2m fallout of the increased budget required in 2020/21 to contribute to
the Insurance Reserve.

5.8.

As detailed in paragraph 5.4.7 the Council estimates an allocation of
£24.3m from the new COVID expenditure grant announced at Spending
Review 2020. £8.1m of this allocation has been applied to estimated
spending pressures identified in this proposed budget. The remaining
£16.1m will be held in reserves and applied to any pressures arising which
exceed this initial estimate. Further, the Spending Review indicated that
overall additional Social Care Funding would be £2.7m lower than assumed
in the Medium Term Strategy. Whilst this will be confirmed at the
Provisional Settlement, the Provisional Budget assumes a release of
(£2.7m) from Adults and Health reserves to fund this gap.

5.9.

Use of Section 106 balances – Section 106 agreements (based on that
section of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act) are private
agreements made between local authorities and developers and can be
attached to a planning permission. Through this mechanism contributions
can be sought for costs associated with providing community and social
infrastructure, the need for which has arisen as a consequence of a new
development taking place. Subject to satisfying any legal requirements
contained in the agreement, e.g. clawback, Section 106 balances have
been used to support the revenue budget. The 2021/22 provisional budget
provides for fall out of previous use of £0.5m of balances, included in the
overall £16.5m movement in Earmarked Reserves.

Page 62

6.

Projected Cost Increases

6.1.

Table 14 below summarises the projected cost increases in the 2021/22
proposed budget.
Table 14 Cost Increases 2021/22

6.2.

Pay Inflation - the proposed budget allows for £4.4m of pay inflation in
2021/22. This reflects the announcement of a public sector pay freeze by
Government at Spending Review 2020. The increase provides for two
elements: £3.4m for the 0.75% in year pay increase in 2020/21 which had
not been provided for in the 2020/21 base budget and 1.0m to provide a
minimum pay increase of £250 in 2021/22 for all staff earning less than
£24,000 as announced at the Spending Review. The details of this
measure have not yet been published so the budget provided is subject to
review, however the minimum £250 increase provides for a minimum pay
rate of £9.56 in 2021/22, 6p above the recently announced Real Living
Wage rate of £9.50. This pay inflation figure does not reflect the salary
savings arising as a consequence of the new ELI scheme – these savings
are captured in the Savings Proposals at section 7 of this report and
detailed at Appendix 2.

6.3.

Employers Local Government Pensions Contributions - The most
recent actuarial valuation took place in November 2019 and this showed
that the West Yorkshire Pension Fund is in a surplus position. As a result of
this position, the Council was notified that the employer’s contribution would
reduce from 16.2% to 15.9% from the 1st April 2020 and remain
unchanged for three years. The Medium Term Financial Strategy reflected

Page 63

concerns that the current COVID-19 pandemic may impact the Pension
Fund adversely both by affecting return on investments and by changing
the profile of membership of the Fund, assuming a short term increase in
the employer’s contribution to 16.1% in 2021/22, falling to 16% in 2022/23
and returning to 15.9% in 2023/24. However, at the time of writing these
concerns have not yet materialised so the additional costs resulting from
this assumed increase have been reversed, and no increase is shown in
the proposed budget. We will have an updated position from the Pension
Fund prior to the Executive Board meeting in February 2021.
6.4.

The fall out of capitalised pension costs associated with staff who have
left the Council under the Early Leaver’s Initiative (ELI) to date will save an
estimated £1.1m in 2021/22.

6.5.

The Council relaunched its ELI scheme and a range of other voluntary
options to reduce the wage bill in July 2020. It is assumed that all affected
staff will exit the authority on or before 31st March 2020. As such any
associated severance costs will be met in 2020/21. However, provision of
£6.8m has been made in 2021/22 to meet the pension strain costs
associated with those staff leaving on an early retirement basis. The
associated salary savings are captured in the savings proposals at Section
7 of this report and detailed at Appendix 2.

6.6.

National Living Wage for commissioned services and the Ethical Care
Charter - in respect of services commissioned from external providers by
both Adults and Health, and Children and Families directorates, provision of
£6.9m has been included in this proposed budget. This is consistent with
the national minimum wage assumptions for 2021/22. Elements of the
Ethical Care Charter, particularly in respect of better terms and conditions
including improved rates of pay for care staff, were implemented in 2019/20
and the provision required in 2021/22 continues to consolidate this position.
Section 7 of this report references a range of directorate savings proposals,
detailed at Appendix 2, which includes a proposal to reduce this provision
in respect of the Ethical Care Charter by £0.7m, already supported by this
Board. The directorate saving is not recognised in this section of the report
to avoid any double-counting. The net position will be presented in the
Budget Report to be received by this Board in February 2021.

6.7.

The increased costs associated both with paying our staff the Real Living
Wage and ensuring that the services we commission pay their staff the
national minimum wage has been resourced by the Council without the
receipt of any additional funding from the Government.

6.8.

The proposed budget allows for net price inflation of £3.5m. It provides
inflation where there is a contractual commitment but anticipates that the
majority of other spending budgets are cash limited. An inflationary uplift on
fees and charges is assumed where they can be borne by the market.
Specific energy increases for gas and electricity of £1.1m have been
incorporated into these proposals: work continues to estimate the impact of

Page 64

planned asset rationalisation and new ways of working on energy budgets
and any changes will be incorporated into the final Budget report.
6.9.

The initial budget proposals recognise the increasing demography and
consequential demand pressures for services in Adults and Health and
Children and Families. Within Adults and Health, the population growth
forecast assumes a steady increase from 2019 in the number of people
aged 85-89 between 2020 and 2025. These increases of 2.8%, 2.7%,
1.8%, 2.6% and 1.3% respectively result in additional costs for domiciliary
care and care home placements. In addition, the Medium Term Financial
Strategy reflects the anticipated impact of increasing cash personal
budgets through to 2025. The Learning Disability demography is expected
to grow by 2.3% (based on ONS data) over the period. It should be noted
that the high cost increase in this area of service is primarily a combination
of increasingly complex (and costly) packages for those entering adult care,
as well as meeting the costs of the increasing need for existing clients
whose packages may last a lifetime. A sum of £7.2m has been built into
this proposed budget for 2021/22 to deal with this demand and
demographic growth.

6.10.

Children and Families continues to face demographic and demand
pressures reflecting relatively high birth rates (particularly within the most
deprived clusters within the city), increasing inward migration into the city
(particularly from BME groups from outside the UK), the increasing
population of children & young people with special and very complex
needs, greater awareness of the risks of child sexual exploitation, growing
expectations of families and carers in terms of services offered and
changes in Government legislation, including ‘staying put’ arrangements
that enable young people to remain with their carers up to the age of 21.
Consequently, the proposed budget for 2021/22 provides £2.2m for the
projected growth in the 0-19 year old population and the impact that this will
have on both the Children Looked After budget and transport costs.

6.11.

Based on demand pressures due to assumed housing growth, provision
of £0.2m has been made for the increased disposal costs of waste to the
Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility (RERF).

6.12.

The proposed budget includes £0.5m for a number of income variations.
Specifically £0.3m provides for a reduction in car parking income resulting
from a reduction in car parking spaces in the city centre; a reduction of
£0.15m reflects a shortfall in Apprentice Levy income and court fee income
is projected to fall by £0.05m as a result of fewer prosecutions for nonpayment of council tax.

6.13.

Whilst the Council’s 2020/21 budget has borne the brunt of the COVID-19
pandemic, the proposed budget for 2021/22 makes provision for a
continued impact on both the Council’s expenditure and loss of income into
2021/22, estimated at £9.1m, of which £2.3m relates to additional costs,
mainly:
• £0.6m for increased CLA external placements,

Page 65

• £0.3m to reflect assumed increase in levels of waste,
• £0.3m additional PPE and cleaning costs,
• £0.5m impact on LBS costs as a consequence of continued social
distancing
• £0.4m continued impact on delivery of planned savings.
A further £6.8m of COVID-19 pressures relate to estimated income losses,
largely:
• £2.1m relating to Sport and Arts and Heritage,
• £0.2m planning income
• £1.7m relating to commercial and Markets rents and advertising income
• £1.1m loss of car parking income
• £0.4m loss of income at attractions,
• £0.4m relating to cafes, shops and events, licencing and bereavement
services,
• £0.3m impact on Parks operations income charged to capital schemes
and the HRA,
• £0.3m court fee losses reflecting the backlog in cases.
6.14.

As discussed in paragraph 5.7, Government has provided additional
funding to meet COVID pressures in 2021/22. £8.1m of this funding will be
applied to these estimated pressures and the balance of funding will be
held in reserve to meet any pressures exceeding these estimates.

6.15.

Section 7 of this report sets out a range of directorate savings proposals,
which includes a proposal to reduce this provision by £1m, approved at the
November meeting of this Board. The proposed directorate savings are not
recognised in this section of the report to avoid any double-counting, and
the net position will be presented in the Budget Report to be received by
this Board in February 2021.

6.16.

Transforming Care is a national NHS England programme designed to
place people with learning difficulties and autism, currently based in a
hospital setting, into the community with the right support and close to
home. The net impact of this programme is anticipated to be £1.5m in
2021/22.

6.17.

In recent years there has been a decline in the average value of Housing
Benefit overpayments which the Council can recover and this is expected
to be further impacted upon by the rollout of Universal Credit which is now
live in Leeds. The net impact on the 2021/22 budget is estimated to be
£0.6m.

6.18.

Over the past few years, the CPM maintenance budget has overspent
significantly and there has been a reliance on additional capitalisation to
balance the budget. The proposal is to add £0.6m to the revenue budget to
bring some stability to the revenue budget and to more accurately reflect
the costs required to maintain the Council’s assets. The revised budget will

Page 66

be in the region of £5.6m. This will be kept under review as part of the
Estate rationalisation programme. The Council has over 700 operational
assets requiring maintenance, this portfolio is being reviewed as part of the
Estate rationalisation programme.
6.19.

The Town Hall is due to close for refurbishment from the second half of the
2021/22 financial year with an estimated net loss of income of £0.5m.

6.20.

This proposed budget provides for a £34.6m increase in the cost of debt.
Changes approved at Full Council in 2017 to previous years Minimum
Revenue Provision Policy (MRP), based on the fact that MRP had been
overprovided for between 2008/09 and 2014/15, enabled the Council to
benefit from reduced MRP payments for the three years 2017/18 to
2019/20. However from 2020/21 this position started to unwind and MRP
will increase by £31.3m in 2021/22. Other Debt variations total £3.3m, and
include a £5.1m increase in general debt costs and a £1.4m increase in
respect of PFI lifecycle costs. However this position is netted down by
£3.1m of Treasury management savings. An additional £2.4m of Treasury
Management savings are included in the Corporate Savings at Section 7
and the net position will be presented in the Budget Report to be received
by this Board in February 2021.

6.21.

Other Pressures and Savings Other net budget pressures of £2.0m have
been identified for 2021/22. These include:
• An additional £0.4m is provided for delivery of the Council’s Waste
Strategy and to support implementation of the waste review;
• A combination of Microsoft encouraging organisations to move to cloud
based services and the end of a three year price fix on all Microsoft
product licences will require an additional payment to Microsoft of
£0.3m in 2021/22;
• £0.2m is provided for the revenue costs associated with the Flood
Alleviation Scheme;
• £0.2m is provided for the revenue costs of additional grounds
maintenance associated with new capital schemes;
• £0.2m contribution to Leeds 2023;
• Additional resources of £0.1m will provide for additional security and
cleaning in the Markets;
• £0.1m contribution to the rent costs of the Coroners Court;
• £0.1m for the continuation of the Mobile Refresh programme;
• The net effect of other pressures across all Directorates is £0.4m.

Page 67

7.

The Budget Gap – Savings Options
Table 15 Budget Gap And Savings Options

Total Funding and Cost Pressures
Existing Actions to Reduce the Budget Gap

Proposed
Budget
21/22
94.5
£m

Business As Usual
Service Delivery
Workforce
Service Delivery/Workforce
Total Existing Savings

(2.6)
(0.0)
(0.5)
(0.2)
(3.3)

Gap Remaining After Existing Savings

91.1

Additional Directorate Savings 2020
September - November 2020
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
December 2020
Business As Usual
Service Reviews
Total Additional Savings

(43.5)
(14.7)
(2.9)
(0.2)
(61.3)

Gap Remaining After Additional Directorate Savings

29.8

Additional Corporate Savings 2020
Business As Usual - Asset Sales
Business As Usual - Treasury Management Savings
Service Reviews - Organisational Change
Total Additional Savings
Gap Remaining After Additional Corporate Savings

7.1.

(20.1)
(2.4)
(2.1)
(24.5)
5.3

The proposed budget notes a number of savings proposals which have
been previously agreed and reported as part of the 2020/21 budget
process. These savings total £3.3m in 2021/22, of which £2.6m of
proposals are categorised as Business as Usual and have no impact on
service delivery or on the Workforce. Savings proposals totalling £0.7m are
considered to have service delivery or workforce implications. In all cases
these are the later year impacts of proposals that were agreed as part of
the 2019/20 savings review process, with the first year incorporated into the
2020/21 budget.

Page 68

Bridging the Revised Gap – the Corporate & Directorate Savings
Programme
7.2.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26 approved at
September’s Executive Board reported an estimated budget of £118.8m for
2021/22. Of this £118.8m, £59.7m was due to pressures identified prior to
the impact of COVID-19 with the balance of £59.1m resulting from the
ongoing financial impact of COVID-19.

7.3.

In response to this financial position, in the summer of 2020 the Council
established a ‘Financial Challenge’ programme of service reviews to
identify savings to contribute towards closing the estimated 2021/22 gap.
The programme aims to protect services that support the most vulnerable
whilst ensuring that the council becomes more financially resilient and
sustainable for the future.

7.4.

The reviews comprise several that are cross-council and others that relate
to individual services; a small number of more complex reviews have
received external, independent support.
•

The cross-council reviews include those relating to activities that the
council has been pursuing for some time, such as a review of business
administration and mail and print expenditure reduction. More recently
identified reviews include reducing the wage bill, estate rationalisation
(building on the long-standing changing the workplace programme),
procurement and customer contact.

•

In addition to the cross-council reviews, directorates have also carried
out reviews of all services, working towards an indicative target saving
of 10% of gross expenditure or 20% of net expenditure for each
directorate.

7.5.

The Financial Challenge programme is being carried out across all services
with a cross-council ‘Silver’ group set up to provide support and ensure a
co-ordinated, consistent approach. Directors have carried out peer reviews
of each other’s emerging proposals to provide additional high support and
high challenge. Scrutiny Board working groups have also considered
proposals relevant to their remits that have been put forward to September,
October and November Executive Board meetings.

7.6.

The outcome from the reviews has led to a set of savings proposals which
are categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) or ‘Service Review’
proposals:
•

BAU proposals are those that do not require consultation to implement:
for example, they relate to improving the efficiency of the service, are
cost reduction measures with no impact on service users or, where
there are budgeted staffing reductions, these are anticipated to be met
through deletion of vacant posts or voluntary means, as has been
collectively agreed. Where voluntary measures have a modest and/or

Page 69

residual impact on the workforce, local / BAU consultation would be
expected.
•

Service Review proposals (some cross-council, some service-specific)
are those requiring consultation: for example, the way in which a
service is delivered or the level of service provided is impacted and so
meaningful consultation with service users is needed; and/or the
proposal relates to a significant internal restructure, requiring
consultation with trade unions and staff.

7.7.

The Executive Board has thus far approved three sets of savings proposals
for 2021/22 through its September, October and November 2020 meetings.
Combined with £0.3m savings resulting from a review of the capital
programme and a reduction of 50 full-time equivalent (FTE) posts through a
review of the Housing Revenue Account (both considered at September’s
Executive Board), these total £58.2m, with an anticipated reduction in the
workforce of 816.5 FTEs. The proposals have been consulted upon with
Scrutiny Boards through their public meetings in October and a series of
working group meetings throughout September, October and November.
Further details on this Scrutiny Board consultation thus far are provided at
section 14 of this report with a summary of Scrutiny Board comments
included at Appendix 3.

7.8.

A further £5.2m potential savings are presented for consideration today at
Appendix 4 with an anticipated reduction in the workforce of 97.5 FTE
budgeted posts. If today’s proposals are approved, taken together with the
£58.2m proposals previously approved, the total savings proposals
identified so far come to £63.4m (rounded). The total anticipated reduction
in the workforce is 914 FTEs. All efforts will be made to avoid compulsory
redundancies.

7.9.

Should these December proposals be approved, the total savings for
2021/22 approved by this Board since September are as follows:
Table 16: Summary of 2021/22 Revenue Budget Savings Proposals Sep to Dec Executive Board

2021/22 revenue savings

£'m

Capital programme review
September Executive Board

£'m
-0.3

Savings proposals
September Executive Board
October Executive Board
November Executive Board
December Executive Board

-32.3
-7.9
-17.6
-5.2

TOTAL

-63.1 (rounded)

-63.4

Page 70

7.10.

Corporate savings of £24.5m have also been identified to meet the budget
gap. These include the use of £20.1m of capital receipts realised through
the sale of commercial assets and £2.4m of Treasury Management savings
largely as a consequence of low interest rates. Savings of £2.1m realised
through a programme of organisational change are detailed further at
Appendix 4 and included within the £5.4m of potential savings presented
for consideration today and in Table 16.
Table 17 Corporate Savings

Business As Usual - Asset Sales
Business As Usual - Treasury Management Savings
Service Reviews - Organisational Change
Total Additional Savings

(20.1)
(2.4)
(2.1)
(24.5)

Summary Budget By Directorate
7.10.1.

The pie chart below shows the proposed share of net managed expenditure
between directorates for 2021/22 based on this proposed budget.

7.10.2.

Share of Net Managed Expenditure 21/22 (Proposed Budget)

7.10.3.

It should be noted that these resource allocations may be subject to
amendment as we move through the budget setting process. Net managed
expenditure represents the budgets under the control of individual
directorates and excludes items such as capital charges, pensions
adjustments and allocation of support costs in directorate budgets.

8.

Impact of proposals on employees

8.1.

The Council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme
since 2010/11 which has already contributed significantly to the reduction in

Page 71

the workforce since this time. Whilst there are other elements that will
impact on the fluctuation of the workforce numbers such as natural attrition
and turnover there has been an overall reduction of around 2,447 full time
equivalents (fte’s) or 3194 headcount up to the 30th November 2020.
8.2.

The budget savings proposals detailed in this report (please refer to
Appendix 4) result in an estimated potential reduction of 914 FTEs (this
includes a potential reduction of 131 FTE posts through a review of the
Housing Revenue Account). In the context of these proposed reductions
we will be issuing a further section 188 in January 2021 in line with the
budget settlement to ensure it reflects the budget settlement.

8.3.

The Council remains committed to doing everything it can to try to avoid
compulsory redundancies through natural turnover, continuing the voluntary
early leaver scheme, staff flexibility, reviewing and reducing both agency
and overtime spend and continuing the positive consultation and joint
working with the trade unions.

9.

General Reserve

9.1.

Under the 2003 Local Government Act, the Council’s Statutory Financial
Officer is required to make a statement to Council on the adequacy of
reserves as a part of the annual budget setting process. It is also good
practice for the Authority to have a policy on the level of its general reserve
and to ensure that it is monitored and maintained.

9.2.

The purposes of the general reserve policy are to help longer-term financial
stability and mitigate the potential impact of future events or developments
which may cause financial difficulty.

9.3.

The general reserve policy encompasses an assessment of financial risks
both within the Medium Term Financial Strategy and also in the annual
budget. These risks should include corporate/organisation wide risks and
also specific risks within individual directorate and service budgets. This
analysis of risks should identify areas of the budget which may be uncertain
and a quantification of each “at risk” element. This will represent the scale
of any potential overspend or income shortfall and will not necessarily
represent the whole of a particular budget heading. Each assessed risk will
then be rated and scored in terms of impact and probability.

9.4.

The proposed budget for 2021/22 assumes a contribution of £1.9m to the
general reserve and the level of general reserves at 31st March 2022, as
set out in Table 18, is projected to be £28.6m.

Page 72

Table 18 - General Reserve

General Reserve

2020/21
£m

Brought Forward 1st April

2021/22
£m

2022/23

2023/24

£m

£m

31.6

26.7

28.6

28.6

(10.0)

1.9

0.0

3.0

Additional Contribution in-year

1.0
4.1

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

Carried Forward 31st March

26.7

28.6

28.6

31.6

Budgeted Contribution/(Use) in-year
Repayment of Treasury Management Savings

9.5.

Whilst the Council maintains a robust approach towards its management of
risk and especially in the determination of the level of reserves that it
maintains, it is recognised that our reserves are lower than those of other
local authorities of a similar size. However the Council has made provision
over the life of the Medium Term Financial Strategy to address this position
while having minimum impact on front line services.

9.6.

Grant Thornton have recommended that the Council “should consider the
adequacy of its reserves going forward and the appropriate level of
balances which should be linked to the approved Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) and which should be reviewed each year.” The current
MTFS approved in September 2020 by the Board provides for a £3m
annual contribution to the General Reserve from 2023/24 onwards. As a
result the balance on the General Reserve is projected to be £37.6m by
2025/26.

9.7.

As stated above, whilst the pressures faced by the Authority continue to
make the current financial climate challenging, we will continue to keep the
level of the Council’s reserves under review to ensure that they are
adequate to meet identified risks.

10.

Provisional Revenue Budget 2022/23 and 2023/24

10.1.

At its meeting in September 2020 Executive Board received the updated
Medium Term Financial Strategy and agreed the revisions to the Council’s
forecast budget gap for 2021/22 to 2025/26. The reported forecast gap was
£166.3 m of which £18.7m and £25.8m related to 2022/23 and 2023/24
respectively. The report received at Executive Board in September
recognised that savings would be required to be identified in order that a
balanced budget position could be delivered in 2022/23 and 2023/24.

10.2.

In the context of the Spending Review on 25th November and other
variations identified during the determination of the proposed budget for
2021/22 (and later year impact of 21/22 savings), the financial projections
for 2022/23 and 2023/24 have been refreshed to reflect these latest
assumptions. However it should be stressed that under the Council’s
constitution the decision to set the annual council tax base and rate of
council tax can only be taken by Full Council each year and therefore the
provisional budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 are for information only and

Page 73

the decisions will continue to be made as part of the Council’s annual
budget setting process.
10.3.

Our assumption is that Government will postpone the move to 75%
business rate retention until 2023/24, along with the business rates
revaluation and reset. Given the uncertainty about how 75% retention will
impact on local authority funding, the provisional budget for 2022/23 and
2023/24 assumes that any increases in business rates income are offset by
a commensurate increase in the business rate tariff paid to the Government
so that there is no baseline gain. Similarly the 2022/23 and 2023/24
projection assumes that the impact of any business rates reset and the
implications of the outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding review,
which is now expected in April 2023, is revenue neutral upon the Council
with any impacts being addressed through transitional arrangements. For
calculating SFA no increases have been assumed for either 2022/23 or
2023/24.

10.4.

In the determination of the revised financial projections for both 2022/23
and 2023/24 significant areas of uncertainty remain as to the Council’s
financial position in respect of both funding and spending assumptions,
compounded by Brexit and the ongoing impact of COVID-19. Specifically
the implications of the Government’s future spending plans remain unclear:
the implications of implementing 75% business rate retention nationally
have yet to be finalised by Government; we anticipate the outcome of the
Government’s own Fair Funding review won’t be known until 2023/24 at the
earliest; and the future funding arrangements for social care remain
unknown.

10.5.

After taking account of the funding assumptions outlined in 10.2 to 10.4
above and the variation in pressures and savings that have been identified
in the determination of the 2021/22 proposed budget proposals, the
provisional positions for 2022/23 and 2023/24 are detailed in Table 19.

10.6.

As can be seen in Table 19, the estimated budget gap has increased to
£55.7m in 2022/23 and to £32.4m in 2023/24. The main changes since the
Medium Term Financial Strategy are as follows:
•

•

Changes to Funding: as explained in paragraph 5.8, the Authority is
making a significant one off contribution to earmarked reserves in
2021/22 which is not repeated in 2022/23, saving £16.1m. Conversely,
the fallout of one-off grants received from Government at Spending
Review 2020 and changes in assumption regarding future funding for
Adult Social Care result in a decrease in assumed available funding of
£37m in 2022/23.
Revised Pressures: changes in pay and pensions assumptions in
2021/22, mainly reflecting the pay ‘pause’ announced by Government
at the Spending Review 2020 result in increased pay pressures in
2022/23 of £3.1m. Changes in assumptions around the ongoing
impact of COVID in later years reduces other pressures by £8.1m.

Page 74

•

Revised Savings: the changes largely reflect the later year impacts of
the 2021/22 savings proposals approved by Executive Board, most
significantly the fallout of the one off use of the £20.1m of income
generated through asset sales.

Table 19 - Provisional Revenue Budget 2022/23 and 2023/24

MTFS September 2020

2023/24
£m

(1.3)
(1.9)
(13.5)
36.8
20.1

0.3
0.0
2.1
9.1
11.5

3.1
2.3
(0.0)
(7.2)
(1.9)

(1.7)
(0.7)
(0.0)
1.0
(1.4)

(0.9)
19.7
18.7

(4.5)
1.0
(3.5)

55.7

32.4

18.7

Changes to Funding
Net Revenue Charge Assumptions
Contribution to General Reserve
Changes in Earmarked Reserves
Grants
Revised Pressures

Pay and Pensions
Capitalised Pensions (ELI)
Debt
Other

Revised Savings

2022/23
£m

Directorate Savings
Corporate Savings

Revised Gap - Provisional Budget

25.8

10.7.

The position set out above contains a number of assumptions, as set out in
paragraphs 10.2, 10.3 and 10.4 for which updated information would alter
the projected financial position and any such changes in these assumptions
will be incorporated into an updated Medium Term Financial Strategy that
will be presented to a future meeting of this Board.

11.

Schools Budget

11.1.

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2021/22 is funded in four separate
blocks for early years, high needs, schools and central schools services.

11.2.

A new National Funding Formula (NFF) was implemented from April 2018
for high needs, schools and central schools services. The schools formula
was initially a “soft” formula to allow local authorities some limited flexibility
and this remains the case for 2021/22.

Page 75

11.3.

The Early Years block will fund 15 hours per week of free early education
for 3 and 4 year olds and the early education of eligible vulnerable 2 year
olds. There is an additional 15 hours per week provision for working
families of 3 and 4 year old children. The funding hourly rate has not yet
been confirmed for 2021/22, but in 2020/21 the hourly rates were £5.28 for
2 year olds and £4.89 for 3 and 4 year olds. The grant received will
continue to be based on participation. The actual grant received during
2021/22 depends on pupil numbers in the 2021 and 2022 January
censuses. The early years pupil premium is also included in this block and
is payable to providers for eligible 3 and 4 year olds. The hourly rate for
2021/22 for this element has also not yet been announced but was £0.53
per hour for 2020/21. In addition, there is a Disability Access Fund which
was £615 per eligible child per year in 2020/21. The grant value shown
below is based on the actual pupil numbers in January 2020.

11.4.

The High Needs Block supports places and top-up funding in special
schools, resourced provision in mainstream schools and alternative
provision; top-up funding for early years, primary, secondary, post-16 and
out of authority provision; central SEN support and hospital & home
education. An indicative allocation under the NFF calculation has been
published though the final allocation will not be issued until December
2020. The value in table 17 is before any deductions are made by the
Education and Skills Funding agency (ESFA) in respect of funding for
academies, free schools and post 16 places. The High Needs Block is
facing a number of financial pressures nationally and in recognition of this
the national allocation has increased again for 2021/22. For Leeds the
indicative allocation is an increase of £11.5m for 2021/22 although there is
still a cap on gains within the national funding formula and this has been
applied to the funding allocation to Leeds to the value of £3.9m. Despite the
increase in funding for 2021/22 the anticipated increase in special school
places and pupils eligible for additional top-up funding means that there is
expected to be on going funding pressures for the High Needs Block which
will need managing within the overall available funding. As part of
managing the funding pressures it is proposed to transfer funding from the
Schools Block as outlined below.

11.5.

The Schools Block funds the delegated budgets of primary and secondary
schools for pupils in reception to year 11. The grant for 2021/22 will be
based on pupil numbers (including those in academies and free schools) as
at October 2020. The pupil numbers from this census are not yet available.
Schools have been consulted on options for the local formula in 2021/22
and on proposals to transfer funding to the High Needs Block. The results
of the consultation have been presented to Schools Forum to enable further
discussion with a final decision being made by the Director of Children and
Families in early 2021. As part of the consultation a majority of schools
which responded supported a proposal to transfer 0.5% (approximately
£2.835m) from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block. At the Schools
Forum meeting on the 19th November Schools Forum approved this
transfer. The majority of schools who responded to the consultation also

Page 76

supported a proposal for maintained schools to contribute funding of £150k
towards severance costs. Schools Forum also approved this contribution.
11.6.

As part of the NFF, the Central School Services block (CSSB) was created
from the DSG funding that is held by the local authority for central services.
This includes the funding which was previously delivered through the
retained duties element of the ESG along with ongoing responsibilities and
historic commitments. A draft allocation under the NFF calculation has
been published, though the final allocation will not be issued until
December 2020. The funding for the historic commitments element has
been reduced by 20% in 2021/22. However, it is anticipated that due to the
fall out of expenditure there will be enough funding available to meet
commitments.

11.7.

At the end of 2020/21 it is projected that there will be a deficit balance of
£5.96m on DSG compared to a deficit balance of £3.23m at the end of
2019/20. The deficit balance will be carried forward into 2021/22 and
proposals to address the deficit will need to be incorporated into the
medium term financial plan for the High Needs Block and DSG funding.
The conditions of grant for the Dedicated Schools Grant requires that any
local authority with an overall deficit on its DSG account at the end of
2019/20 financial year must be able to present a plan to the DfE for
managing their future DSG spend. Work is ongoing to produce a plan
which will be regularly updated and presented to Schools Forum.

11.8.

Funding for post-16 provision is allocated by the ESFA. Funding for high
need post-16 pupils is no longer to be part of this grant and is now included
in the DSG High Needs Block totals. Funding for 2021/22 will be based on
2020/21 lagged student numbers.

11.9.

Pupil Premium grant is paid to schools and academies based on the
number of eligible Reception to year 11 pupils on the school’s roll in
January each year. The rates for 2021/22 have not yet been confirmed but
are expected to remain at: primary £1,345, secondary £955, for each pupil
registered as eligible for free school meals (FSM) at any point in the last 6
years and £310 for children of service families. The pupil premium rate for
children looked after and children who have ceased to be looked after by a
local authority because of adoption, a special guardianship order, a child
arrangements order or a residence order is also expected to remain the
same at £2,345.

11.10.

The Primary PE grant will be paid in the 2020/21 academic year to all
primary schools at a rate of £16,000 plus £10 per pupil. It is expected that
these rates will remain the same for 2021/22.

11.11.

The Year 7 catch up grant has been discontinued in 2020/21, and the
amount has been included within the Coronavirus catch up premium for
2020/21. For future years the introduction of the National Funding Formula
provides for schools to attract low prior attainment funding for pupils in year

Page 77

7 to 11 with lower attainment who need support to catch up. As a result, the
year 7 catch up grant will no longer be made available.
11.12.

A grant for the universal provision of free school meals for all pupils in
reception, year 1 and year 2 was introduced in September 2014. Funding
for the 2020/21 academic year is based on a rate of £2.34 per meal taken
by eligible pupils, giving an annual value of £444.60. Data from the October
and January censuses will be used to calculate the allocations for the
academic year.

11.13.

Funding for the additional teachers’ pay costs from 1st September 2018 and
September 2019 will now be paid to schools and high needs settings
through the National Funding Formula (NFF) instead of being paid as
separate grants. Only mainstream academies will continue to receive the
teachers’ pay grant for April to August 2021, as they will not receive their
2021/22 NFF allocations until September 2021.

11.14.

A further grant in relation to additional costs incurred in respect of increases
in the teacher’s pension scheme from September 2019 will also now be
paid to schools and high needs settings through the National Funding
Formula (NFF) instead of being paid as separate grants. Only mainstream
academies will continue to receive the teachers’ pension grant for April to
August 2021, as they will not receive their 2021/22 NFF allocations until
September 2021.

11.15.

The Government has announced £1 billion of funding to support children
and young people to catch up following the disruption as a result of
coronavirus (COVID-19). This is made up of 2 elements:
•

•

A one-off universal £650 million catch-up premium for the 2020 to
2021 academic year. Schools allocations will be calculated on a per
pupil basis with each mainstream school receiving £80 for each pupil
in years reception to 11. Special, alternative provision and hospital
schools will receive £240 per place.
A £350 million National Tutoring Programme (NTP) to provide
additional, targeted support for those children and young people
who need the most help. This element will not result in any
additional funding for schools.

The amounts in Table 20 are the provisional allocations based on the
October 2019 census. The final grant will be based on the October 2020
census.

Page 78

11.16.

Schools funding summary
Table 20 – the Estimated Schools Budget

2020/21
Current
£m
DSG - Schools Block
DSG - Central Schools Services Block
DSG - High Needs Block
DSG - Early Years Block
ESFA Post 16 Funding
Pupil Premium Grant
PE & Sports Grant
Year 7 Catch-up Grant
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant
Teachers Pay Grant
Teachers Pension Grant
Coronavirus Catch Up Grant

551.64
5.07
85.88
58.69
27.22
43.45
4.33
0.00
9.54
7.40
21.04
5.54
819.80

2021/22
Estimate
£m

Change

590.21
4.90
97.34
60.18
28.22
43.45
4.33
0.00
9.55
1.32
3.78
3.96
843.28

38.57
-0.17
11.46
1.49
1.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.01
-6.08
-17.26
-1.58
29.02

£m

12.

Housing Revenue Account

12.1.

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) includes all expenditure and income
incurred in managing the Council’s housing stock and, in accordance with
Government legislation, operates as a ring fenced account. The key
movements in 2021/22 are detailed in Table 21 below.
Income

12.2.

In 2019, the Government confirmed a return to allowing up to a CPI+1%
rent increase for five years from 2020/21. An increase in accordance with
the Government’s rent formula of CPI (0.5% as at September 2020) +1% is
therefore proposed. This overall 1.5% rise equates to approximately £3.1m
in additional rental income.

12.3.

A reduction in the qualifying period after which tenants are able to submit
an application to purchase a council house through the Government’s Right
to Buy (RTB) legislation continues to sustain an increase in the number of
sales with a subsequent reduction in the amount of rent receivable. Based
on latest sales, a further 610 sales are forecast in 2021/22. The impact of
these RTB sales, along with other stock reductions in year for demolitions,
(partly offset by an anticipated additional 44 stock through the Right of First
Refusal process, 84 new build and 21 off the shelf homes), will cost the

Page 79

HRA around £2m in lost rental income in 2021/22. Therefore the total net
expected increase in rental income is approximately £1.1m.
12.4.

Tenants in multi storey flats and in low/medium rise flats receive additional
services such as cleaning of communal areas, staircase lighting and lifts. It
is proposed to increase these charges by an inflationary increase of RPI of
1.1%. In 2021/22 this will generate an additional £48k compared to
2020/21.

12.5.

It is proposed to increase garage rental rates by RPI of 1.1%.

12.6.

Currently tenants in sheltered accommodation receiving a support service
are charged £14.71 per week for this service. This charge is eligible for
Housing Benefit. In 2016/17 a nominal charge of £2 per week was
introduced for those tenants who benefited from the service but did not pay.
This was increased to £4 a week in 2017/18, £6 in 2018/19, £8 in 2019/20
and £10 in 2020/21 and it is proposed to continue to increase this charge
by a further £2 per week in 2021/22 to £12 per week. A review of the
Sheltered Charge has been undertaken for 2021/22 to take into account
pay award and other cost changes. The sheltered charge full cost is £15.14
per week and is eligible for Housing Benefit.

12.7.

It is also proposed to introduce a charge for Retirement Life schemes for
the provision of additional services linked to communal areas e.g. heating,
laundry facilities, furniture and carpets and for communal facilities where
they are within a standalone community centre. This would generate £165k
of additional income.

12.8.

An analysis of the impact on tenants of increasing rents by 1.5% and
implementing the proposed charges outlined above has been undertaken.
These figures are based on average rents for different categories of tenants
as individual levels will vary.

12.9.

With a return to a rental increase of CPI+1, all tenants will pay more in
2021/22 than in 2020/21 as outlined in Table 21 below. The 2.23% of
tenants whose average weekly increase is the highest relates to tenants
who are self-payers in Sheltered Accommodation. These tenants would
have faced between £3.07 and £4.54 per week average increase, however
it is proposed to cap any overall increase to £3.25 per week
Table 21 – Average rental increase per week 2021/22

% of Tenants Numbers of Average Increase
Tenants
£/per week
89.27
48,667
1.01-1.20
8.50
4,634
1.21-1.99
2.23
1,216
3.07-3.25
These increases will be funded through Housing Benefit for eligible tenants

Page 80

or tenants eligible for Universal Credit (UC) will receive payments for this
increase. Approximately 42% of tenants are in receipt of Housing Benefit
with a further 21% in receipt of UC, a total of 63%. For those in Sheltered
Accommodation, this figure rises to 70%.
Expenditure
12.10.

With total budgeted income only forecast to increase by around £1.0m,
there is a need to review all lines of expenditure in the account to bring the
budget into balance.

12.11.

It is proposed to reduce the staffing budget by 81 FTE through a
combination of staff reductions through the Council’s ELI scheme, a review
of long term budgeted vacant posts, and a review of staffing levels in light
of the anticipated benefit realisation of the Housing Management ICT
system and the continued stock reduction.

12.12.

In line with the announcement in the Chancellor’s Spending Review, the
proposed staffing budget assumes a ‘pay pause’ for 2021/22. However,
posts below a £24k salary are budgeted with a £250 increase. The impact
of the additional 0.75% pay award for 2020-21 has been budgeted for.

12.13.

A number of posts have been deleted as a result of both the Council wide
Early Leavers Initiative and as a result of deleting vacant posts resulting in
a net saving of £2.17m in staff costs after taking account of the pension
strain associated with allowing employees to leave under ELI.

12.14.

In addition, £0.73m has been saved by absorbing the work protocols of the
Enhanced Income Team into the mainstream Housing Officer roles a year
earlier than planned. As a number of vacant posts have been deleted, the
current vacancy factor has been reduced from 6% to 5% at a cost of £0.3m.
The overall year-to-year budget saving on employee costs is approximately
£1.5m.

12.15.

The repairs to dwellings budget has initially been increased in line with
inflation, but adjusted to reflect an anticipated reduction of 1% in housing
stock as a result of Right to Buy. The proposed budget for 2021/22 is
therefore a £228k reduction to £44.9m.

12.16.

A 25% reduction on the transport budget has been applied as increased
home working is anticipated to lead to reduced travel costs.

12.17.

The provision for doubtful debt budget is proposed to be increased by
£207k to reflect the ongoing uncertainty in the economy which may impact
on the level of tenant rent collected. This is to be kept under constant
review.

12.18.

The proposed management fee payable to Belle Isle Tenant Management
Organisation (BITMO) is a reduction of £95k to £3.148m to reflect the

Page 81

approach to changes within the staffing and repairs budgets within Housing
Leeds as outlined above. The BITMO management fee is adjusted each
year by an agreed formula.
12.19.

The Council remains committed to prioritising resources to meet the capital
investment strategy and to replace homes lost through Right to Buy by the
planned investment in new homes. The costs associated with servicing the
HRA’s borrowing include the planned increase in borrowing to support the
£337m Council’s Housing Growth programme which will see 84 new build,
21 off the shelf and 44 homes through the Right of First refusal process
delivered in 2021/22. However the overall cost of borrowing is anticipated
to fall slightly as a result of lower interest costs.

12.20.

Even though the net stock numbers are decreasing, the Council aims to
maintain a consistent level of investment in the HRA capital programme.
This will help ensure the overall condition of the stock is improved. The total
draft capital programme for the HRA remains at around £80m in 2021/22.
Most of the £80m is provided for by the revenue budget. The revenue
contribution to the capital programme required in 2021/22 is £61.5m, an
increase of £1m as the 2020/21 budget made greater use of carry forward
of Major Repairs Reserve and other capital funding.

12.21.

The 2020/21 revenue budget was also underpinned by the use of £1.19m
of reserves. As these can only be used once, the budgets they supported
are proposed to be funded by HRA base funding in 2021/22.

12.22.

Provision will be made for costs and inflationary uplifts for the PFI
contractor and contributions to the Private Finance Initiative sinking fund of
an increase £0.516m within the agreed model.

12.23.

A combination of efficiencies are proposed to balance the 2021/22 budget
including reviewing the level of all line by line expenditure within the HRA of
£250k.

12.24.

It is proposed to reduce the Housing Advisory Panel budgets by 10% from
£450k to £405k.

Page 82

Table 22 – Housing Revenue Account Pressures and Savings

13.

Capital Programme

13.1.

In recognising the financial challenges that the Council is facing the Council
has undertaken a review of the capital programme. Committed schemes
have progressed but further capital spending has been restricted to
essential health and safety work, Covid-19 related spend and schemes
where the Council has received external income/grants.

13.2.

The review established a number of principles to determine which schemes
should remain. These include:
• Statutory requirement
• Health and Safety (Immediate)
• Fully/part funded (where funding agreements are in place)
• Income protection
• Future cost savings
• Impact upon Council staffing and its trading services (e.g. Leeds
Building Services) and the impact on various partnership impacts
(e.g. Norfolk Property Services).

Page 83

The approach to reducing borrowing has sought to reprioritise existing
schemes, slip schemes and replace borrowing with external funding
sources where possible.
13.3.

The Capital Programme review is proposing that £131.5m of schemes are
either stopped, reduced or delayed. This is summarised as: £81.989m
deletions; £30.021m of funding swaps; and £19.511m of rephasing. Table
23 below summarises the £112m of deletions and funding swap proposals
by directorate.
Table 23 – Summary scheme deletions, swaps and rephasing

Adults and Health
Children and Families
City Development
Communities and Environment
Resources and Housing
Strategic Accounts
Grand Total

13.4.

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m
£m
£m
£m
-0.4
0.2
0.2
-1.8
-0.3
-1.5
-21.0
-1.2
-28.5
-35.7
11.3
-4.2
-1.0
-3.1
-0.7
-0.7
-7.6
-7.3
-4.0
-3.1
-0.8
-0.9
-0.1
0.2
-38.6
-48.3
-14.4
-10.7

2024/25
£m
-1.8
-23.9
-57.1
-5.6
-22.0
-1.5
-112.0

The implementation of the proposals outlined above have been factored
into the following revised capital programme.
Table 24 - Revised Capital Programme

Annual Programmes
Major Programmes

2020.21
65.2
408.5
473.7

2021.22
62.4
444.7
507.1

2022.23
55.2
339.2
394.4

2023.24
46.5
217.7
264.2

2024.25
46
79.4
125.4

13.5.

The revised programme results in forecast full year savings in 2024/25
Whilst there are significant reductions in forecast borrowing in 2020/21 and
2021/22 these have been largely offset by assumed treasury borrowing
slippage when setting the treasury budget in February 2020. In addition the
budgeted cost of debt for new expenditure is assumed at the half year point
and MRP does not become applicable until the year after the asset
becomes operational.

13.6.

The proposed budget proposals provide for a £29.5m increase in the cost
of debt and capital financing for 2021/22. This assumes that the remaining
borrowing is taken at an average rate of 1.50% interest for the remainder of
2020/21 and at an average of 1.75% in 2021/22. Interest rate projections
will be kept under review.

13.7.

The strategy allows for capital investment in key annual programmes, major
schemes that contribute to the Best Council Plan objectives and schemes

Page 84

that generate income or reduce costs. Capital investment will continue to
be subject to robust business cases being reviewed and approved prior to
schemes approval.
13.8.

The Council recovers VAT on expenditure (capital and revenue) relating to
the Council’s statutory functions and on activities which are charged for at
the standard rate of VAT. VAT incurred on expenditure relating to activities
which are charged for and which are exempt from VAT is only recoverable
if the amount of such VAT does not exceed 5% of the Council’s total VAT
on expenditure in any one year. Examples of exempt activities are sport,
culture, land & property transactions, and crematoria. If the Council’s VAT
on expenditure relating to its exempt activities exceeds the 5% limit, all VAT
on expenditure attributable to exempt activities is irrecoverable. This would
create an additional cost to the Council of at least £7m. In addition, the
Council would have to bring into account a proportion of any VAT incurred
in the prior 10 years which was attributable to exempt activities and
recovered in full at the time. Future schemes will only be allowed to
progress once the full impact of the VAT implication has been assessed.

13.9.

A capital programme update report will be presented to the Executive
Board in February 2021.

14.

Corporate Considerations

14.1.

Consultation and Engagement

14.1.1.

The Authority’s financial strategy is driven by its ambitions and priorities as
set out in the Best Council Plan. The current Best Council Plan was
approved by Council in February 2020 following consultation with members
and officers throughout its development, with additional extensive
stakeholder consultation carried out on the range of supporting plans and
strategies. These arrangements will continue to inform further updates to
the Best Council Plan.

14.1.2.

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26,
received at Executive Board in September 2020, was informed by the
public consultation exercise carried out between January and February
2020 on the Authority’s 2020/21 budget proposals. Whilst the consultation
covered the key 2020/21 proposals, it also incorporated questions around
the ongoing principles that underlie both the Best Council Plan and the
Council’s financial plans and was therefore relevant to the Medium Term
Financial Strategy. This supplements the ongoing process of consultation
through which residents are consulted on a variety of issues throughout the
year.

14.1.3.

The same approach taken in last year’s public consultation on the
authority’s budget proposals will be adopted again this year for the 2021/22
Budget. Recognising both the difficulties of paper-based surveys during
Covid-19 and that the proportion of offline survey responses to the council’s

Page 85

budget consultation have been declining year-on-year, this year’s
consultation will again be online only. This will be carried out with: the
public via the council’s website, social media and the Citizens’ Panel; with
staff through the intranet; and with stakeholders, including representatives
from the Third Sector and the Business sector. The consultation will begin
once this report is initially agreed by Executive Board and run for four
weeks, with findings timetabled to report findings at the following meeting,
prior to finalisation of the Budget.
14.1.4.

With regard to the individual savings proposals approved by this Board at
its September, October and November meetings and put forward in today’s
report, both senior members and staff have been engaged in their
development. Trade unions have also been informed in headline terms of
emerging proposals.

14.1.5.

Where required, further meaningful consultation and engagement has been
and will be carried out with staff, trade unions, service users and the public
as appropriate on the ‘service review’ savings proposals. Though some
proposals will require a more lengthy engagement exercise, it is anticipated
that the vast majority will have closed in time for the outcomes to inform the
council’s decision-making and be incorporated into February’s Budget.

14.1.6.

Scrutiny Boards have considered savings proposals relevant to their remits
at two stages: they have reviewed proposals for September’s Executive
Board through both working groups and their public Scrutiny meetings in
October; whilst proposals for October’s and November’s Executive Boards
have been considered at working group meetings of each Board in
November. A composite report summarising Scrutiny feedback across all
working group and public sessions is included at Appendix 3.

14.1.7.

Subject to the approval of Executive Board, this report will be submitted to
Scrutiny for their consideration and review at their January meetings with
the outcome of their deliberations to be reported to the planned meeting of
this Board on the 10th February 2021.

14.2.

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

14.2.1.

The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have “due regard” to the
need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote equality of
opportunity. The law requires that the duty to pay due regard be
demonstrated in the decision making process. Assessing the potential
equality impact of proposed changes to policies, procedures and practices
is one of the key ways in which public authorities can show due regard.

14.2.2.

The Council is fully committed to ensuring that equality and diversity are
given proper consideration when we develop policies and make decisions.
In order to achieve this the council has an agreed process in place and has
particularly promoted the importance of the process when taking forward
key policy or budgetary changes. Equality impact assessments also ensure
that we make well informed decisions based on robust evidence.

Page 86

14.2.3.

Equality impact screenings have been carried out on all ‘service review’
savings proposals previously approved by this Board for implementation
/consultation at its September, October and November meetings and are
included with the further service review proposals included in today’s report

14.2.4.

The proposals within this report have been screened for relevance to
equality, diversity, cohesion and integration (Appendix 5) and a full strategic
analysis and assessment will be undertaken on the 2021/22 Revenue
Budget and Council Tax report which will be considered by Executive
Board and subsequently by Full Council in February 2021. Specific equality
impact assessments will also be undertaken on all budget decisions
identified as relevant to equality as they are considered during the decisionmaking process in 2021/22.

14.3.

Council policies and Best Council Plan

14.3.1.

The Best Council Plan sets out the Council’s ambitions and priorities. The
Plan’s development and implementation continues to inform, and is
informed by, the Authority’s funding envelope and by staffing and other
resources. The current Plan is therefore aligned with both the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Strategy and its annual budget.
Climate emergency

14.3.2.

There are no implications for the climate emergency resulting from this
report. Should any specific service and budget proposals that emerge
through the development of the Council’s 2021/22 Budget create potential
climate emergency issues or opportunities, these will be addressed in the
final Budget reports to Executive Board and Full Council in February 2021.

14.4.

Resources, procurement and value for money

14.4.1.

This is a revenue budget financial report and as such all financial
implications are detailed in the main body of the report.

14.5.

Legal implications, access to information and call-in

14.5.1.

This report has been produced in compliance with the Council’s Budget and
Policy Framework. In accordance with this framework, the proposed
budget, once approved by the Board, will be submitted to Scrutiny for their
review and consideration. The outcome of their review will be reported to
the February 2021 meeting of this Board at which proposals for the 2021/22
budget will be considered prior to submission to Full Council on the 24th
February 2021.

14.5.2.

The proposed budget will, if implemented, have implications for Council
policy and governance and these are explained within the report. The
budget is a key element of the Council’s budget and policy framework, but
many of the proposals will also be subject to separate consultation and

Page 87

decision making processes, which will operate within their own defined
timetables and be managed by individual directorates.
14.5.3.

In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, decisions
as to the Council’s budget are reserved to Full Council. As such, the
recommendations at paragraphs 16.2, 16.3 and 16.4 are not subject to call
in, as the budget is a matter that will ultimately be determined by Full
Council.

14.5.4.

However the recommendations in paragraph 16.1, regarding new savings
proposals and paragraph 16.5, regarding the Council’s participation in the
2021/22 50% Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool, are decisions of the
Executive Board and as such are subject to call-in.

14.5.5.

With regard to the individual savings proposals considered at the
September, October and November meetings of this Executive Board and
additional proposals put forward in today’s report, decisions giving effect to
the Business as Usual proposals included in this report can be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer Scheme of
delegation (Executive functions) and will be subject to the Executive and
decision – making procedure rules. Notice of any decision which is “Key”
will be published on the list of forthcoming decision not less than 28 clear
calendar days in advance of the date of the proposed decision.

14.5.6.

Decisions giving effect to the Service Reviews will be made following the
outcome of consultation having regard to representations made. Decisions
will be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, save where the
Leader or the relevant Portfolio Holder has directed or the Director
considers that the matter should be referred to Executive Board for
consideration.

14.6.

Risk management

14.6.1.

The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of
risk management processes. Not addressing the financial pressures in a
sustainable way, in that the Council cannot balance its Revenue Budget, is
identified as one of the Council’s corporate risks, as is the Council’s
financial position going into significant deficit in the current year resulting in
reserves (actual or projected) being less than the minimum specified by the
Council’s risk-based reserves policy. Both these risks are subject to regular
review and reporting.

14.6.2.

Failure to address these issues will ultimately require the Council to
consider even more difficult decisions that will have a far greater impact on
front-line services including those that support the most vulnerable and thus
on our Best Council Plan ambition to tackle poverty and reduce inequalities.

14.6.3.

Financial management and monitoring continues to be undertaken on a
risk-based approach where financial management resources are prioritised
to support those areas of the budget that are judged to be at risk, for
example the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which

Page 88

are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This risk-based
approach will continue to be included in the in-year financial reports brought
to Executive Board.
14.6.4.

In addition, risks identified in relation to specific proposals and their
management will be reported to relevant members and officers as required.
Specific risks relating to some of the assumptions contained within this
proposed budget are identified below.

14.6.5.

The impact of COVD-19 upon the Council’s revenue budget in 2020/21 has
been significant and after the receipt of financial support from the
Government it has been necessary to utilise one off resources to deliver a
balanced budget in the current financial year. However, as identified in the
Financial Health reports and the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy
which have been received at this Board, there remains a risk that the
ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is much worse than that
assumed in the projected balanced position for 2020/21 and in the resource
assumptions contained within this proposed budget for 2021/22. If a
balanced budget position is not delivered in 2020/21 then the application of
further one off resources will be required and this will have implications for
budgeted assumptions in 2021/22 as well. Similarly if the effect of the
pandemic upon resources available is worse in 2021/22 than assumed then
there will be a requirement for contingency actions to be identified and
implemented.

14.6.6.

As detailed in this report the proposed budget for 2021/22 assumes the
delivery of £89.2m of budget savings proposals, leaving a budget gap of
£5.3m, and there is risk, given the scale of this savings programme, that
there could be slippage in their delivery. Any slippage will require the
identification and delivery of further revenue savings in order that a
balanced budget can be delivered in 2021/22.

14.6.7.

This report contains several budget saving proposals that will be subject to
consultation. There remains a risk that there is slippage in the
implementation of these proposals or that the assumptions contained in
these proposals change as a result of the consultation exercises. This
could lead to a variation in the assumed level of savings and the Council’s
ability to set a balanced budget for 2021/22.
Risks to Funding

14.6.8.

The period covered by the Government’s current Spending Review will end
in March 2021. Whilst the Spending Review on the 25th November provided
details of the Government’s spending intentions for 2021/22 these have not
yet been ratified by Government through the annual budget process.

14.6.9.

Further to this, we await the Provisional Local Government Finance
Settlement which is anticipated to be published in the week commencing
the 14th December. Whilst the Spending Review 2020 provided details of
the Government’s spending plans for 2020/21 the Provisional Local
Government Finance Settlement will confirm these details. There remains a
risk that the more detailed funding assumptions contained in the Provisional

Page 89

Settlement are different to the assumptions contained in the Spending
Review and this could have implications for the level of resources available
to the Council in 2021/22.
14.6.10. Under the Business Rates Retention Scheme the Council’s local share of
business rates is exposed to risks both from collection and from reductions
in rateable values. Since 2013 two trends have become clear: firstly that
there is a lag between gradual economic recovery and significant volumes
of business new-builds in Leeds, with little growth in aggregate Rateable
Value in Leeds until 2018/19, and secondly that business rates growth that
does occur has been offset by successful appeals and other reductions to
the rating list - either through closure or Valuation Office reviews.
14.6.11. The level of business rates appeals continues to be a risk. Whilst there is
very limited scope for new appeals against the 2010 list and the Council
has appropriate provision for these, there is very little information available
on which to assess appeals against the 2017 list. Therefore income could
be adversely affected both by appeals against the 2017 list and by
business rate growth being less than assumed. This in turn would reduce
the overall level of resources available to fund the services that the Council
provides.
14.6.12. In 2021/22 Leeds has applied to be part of the Leeds City Region Business
Rates Pool. As with previous years’ Pools, there remains a risk that if a
member authority becomes entitled to a safety net payment, because its
retained income has fallen dramatically, then that safety net payment will
no longer be received from the Government but will have to be met by other
members of the Pool. This will represent a loss of income to the region.
14.6.13. The level of council tax collected could be affected by: the increase in the
council tax base being less than assumed; collection rates being below
budgeted assumptions; Council Tax Support claimant requirements being
greater than budgeted; or a mixture of the above.
14.6.14. Business rates and Council Tax income continues to be a significant risk,
however, any losses greater than those assumed in setting the budget will
materialise through a Collection Fund and will not impact in the current
year, although this will be an issue in future financial years.
Key risks to cost and income assumptions
14.6.15. Demographic and demand pressures, particularly in Adult Social Care and
Children’s Services, could be greater than anticipated and this will impact
upon the assumptions made in the 2021/22 proposed budget.
14.6.16. The implementation of proposed savings and additional income realisation
could be delayed. Equally, the level of savings generated and/or the level of
additional income realised could be less than that assumed in this report.

Page 90

14.6.17. Inflation including the pay award to lower paid employees, reflecting the
assumed pay ‘pause’, could be higher than that assumed in this report. In
addition this proposed budget makes a number of assumptions about the
costs associated with managing the Council’s debt. Whilst the Council has
benefited from converting some of its shorter term borrowing into longer
term borrowing at record low interest rates, it still has debt as short term
rates which means that it is exposed to any upward movement in rates
which would result in an increase in costs to the Council.
14.6.18. The Council’s and City’s economic and fiscal position is clearly impacted
upon by the wider national economic context. The UK’s withdrawal from the
EU could potentially weaken the pound, increase inflation, reduce domestic
and foreign direct investment and impact upon borrowing costs. Conversely
the UK’s exit from the EU could have the opposite effect upon the
economy. What is also unclear is to what extent the UK’s exit from the EU
will impact upon the level of resources available to the Council and the level
of demand for the services that it provides.
14.6.19. A full analysis of all budget risks will continue to be maintained and will be
subject to monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and
management of the budget. Any significant and new risks and budget
variations are contained in the in-year financial health reports submitted to
the Executive Board.
15.

Conclusions

15.1.

The proposed budget for 2021/22 and the projected budgets for 2022/23
and 2023/24 need to be seen in the context of significant inherent
uncertainty for the Council in respect of future funding and spending
assumptions. Specifically the implications of the Government’s future
spending plans with regard to local government and other areas of the
public sector after 2021/22 remain unknown and the level of resources
available to the Council will be heavily influenced by the Government’s
response to the significant increase in borrowing that has been undertaken
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

15.2.

As a result of the pandemic the Council has incurred additional expenditure
in 2020/21, whilst at the same time seeing reductions in the level of
resources available through a combination of lower forecast income levels
for both Business Rates and Council Tax and a reduction in the level of
income receivable from sales, fees and charges. The estimated ongoing
impact of COVID-19 upon the Council’s financial position has been
incorporated into the proposed budget for 2021/22 and the provisional
budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24.

15.3.

In addition, and to compound the uncertainty over the period covered by
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Government has re-stated its
intention to move to 75% business rates retention nationally, to reset
business rates baselines and to implement the outcome of the

Page 91

Government’s Fair Funding review of the methodology by which funding is
allocated, which determines current funding baselines and is based on an
assessment of relative needs and resources. However the timing of all
these changes to the local government finance system is uncertain. An
assumption has been made for this Strategy that they will all be introduced
simultaneously alongside the business rates revaluation, which also
requires significant adjustments to be made to the system and which the
Government has confirmed will take place in 2023/24. This would have the
advantage of adding some stability to the funding system over the mediumterm. Adding to this uncertainty is the continued delay in the publication of
the Government’s Green Paper on adult social care, which will hopefully
provide greater certainty around future funding moving forward.
15.4.

The Council Tax section of this proposed budget includes a 3% increase in
the Adult Social Care precept, in line with the Spending Review 2020
announcements. Should this proposed increase be reduced below the
anticipated precept amount, any shortfall will require identification of
proposals to balance this reduction. This could include using one-off
funding from the Adults and Health reserves.

15.5.

As highlighted in this report the impact of the UK leaving the EU remains
unknown whilst West Yorkshire Devolution may require the Council to think
differently about the way in which services are organised, funded and
delivered as regional collaboration continues to be strengthened over the
coming years.

15.6.

In the determination of the proposed budget for 2021/22 and the forecast
position for 2022/23 and 2023/24 a number of assumptions have been
made as to the level of resources available to the Council. These
assumptions are under constant review to reflect any changes in
circumstances or if further information emerges in respect of known risks.

15.7.

The Spending Review 2020 indicated that in 2021/22 the Settlement
Funding Assessment will increase by 0.1% or £0.2m. Further, that Councils
would be allowed a core council tax increase of 1.99% and an increase on
the Adult Social Care precept of 2.99%. Despite these increases, we
project a reduction in local funding of £1.9m following a reduction in the
council tax base, mainly due to the increased cost of Local Council Tax
Support, and the deficit from 2020/21 that will have to be funded in
2021/22. In addition to this, business rates has gone down due to a
contraction of the tax base in 2020/21, a projected increase in empty rates
and the requirement for bad debt provisions in 2021/22, a lack of growth in
2021/22, and a persistent increase in small business rates relief. Taken
together with the deficit from 2020/21 that will have to funded in 2021/22,
the net impact of business rates retention on the 2021/22 general fund is
£28.7m. Resources receivable from SFA, council tax and business rates
have decreased due to the impact that COVID-19 has had on growth in
those bases. Pay, price and demand pressures mean that the Council will
need to deliver £94.5m of savings by March 2022. Overall this proposed

Page 92

budget results in a Net Revenue Charge which has reduced by £106.1m
from 2020/21 to £419.6m.
15.8.

The Council’s Medium Term Strategy which was received at Executive
Board in September identified a funding gap of £118.8m for 2021/22.
Following the receipt of budget savings proposals reports which were
received at Executive Board in September, October and November this
estimated budget gap had reduced to £60.6m and this report contains
further proposals which will contribute towards a balanced budget position
being presented to Executive Board and Full Council in February 2021.

15.9.

The initial budget positions for 2022/23 and 2023/24 identify estimated
budget gaps of £55.7m and £32.4m respectively. Budget savings proposals
to reduce this will be brought to this Board for consideration.

15.10.

As set out in both the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22-2025/26
and this proposed budget report for 2021/22 the budget proposals detailed
in this report need to be viewed within the context of the longer term
approach to increase the financial sustainability, robustness and resilience
of the Council’s financial position. Specifically this is to reduce reliance
upon one funding sources to fund revenue expenditure and to reduce the
Council’s expenditure base so that it affordable with the level of resources
that are available to the Council in line with the Council’s MTFS.

15.11.

Executive Board have been presented with a series of business savings
proposals from the ‘Financial Challenge’ programme between September
and November, with a further report to be presented at December’s
Executive Board. In terms of achieving a balanced position for the 2021/22
budget proposals, a further £5.3m still needs to be identified. Proposals for
this remaining balance will be brought to February’s Executive Board, along
with the Council’s Budget Report.

16.

Recommendations

16.1.

With regard to the savings proposals presented at Appendix 4, Executive
Board is requested to:
o

Note the financial position for 2021/22 outlined in this paper and that
further savings are required to deliver a balanced budget position;

o

Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect
to them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in
accordance with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions);

o

Agree the recommendations in the ‘Service Review’ proposals at
Annexe 4.2 and that consultation commences. And to note that
decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant Director
or Chief Officer, following the consultation period, in accordance with
the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions) save where the
Leader, relevant portfolio holder or Director considers that the matter
should be referred to Executive Board for consideration.

Page 93

16.2.

Executive Board is asked to agree the proposed budget for 2021/22. This
includes the proposed increases in core Council Tax and the Adult Social
Care precept. Further to this, that these budget proposals are submitted to
Scrutiny and for wider consultation with stakeholders.

16.3.

Executive Board is asked to note the provisional budget position for
2022/23 and 2023/24 and to note that savings proposals to address the
updated estimated budget gaps of £55.7m and £32.4m for 2022/23 and
2023/24 respectively will be reported to future meetings of this Board.

16.4.

Executive Board is asked to note that the proposal to approve the
implementation of an additional Council Tax premium on any dwelling
where the empty period is at least ten years, from 200% to 300% premium,
will be decided by Full Council in January 2021.

16.5.

Executive Board is recommended to approve that, should the application to
form a new Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool be successful, Leeds
City Council becomes a member of the proposed Pool and acts as lead
authority for it. The establishment of this new Pool will be dependent upon
none of the other proposed member authorities choosing to withdraw within
the statutory period after designation.

17.

Background documents 2
None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents
does not include published works.
2

Page 94

Appendix 1
Adults & Health

2021/22

Children &
Families

City
Development

Communities &
Environment

Resources &
Housing

Strategic &
Central

Total Net
Revenue
Budget

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Net managed budget (2020/21) - RESTATED

201.52

123.24

38.34

79.73

83.68

(0.80)

525.70

Pay - Leeds City Council
Employer's LGPS contribution
Fall-out of capitalised pension costs
Capitalised Pension Costs (New ELI scheme)
Wage costs - commissioned services
Inflation: General
Inflation: Electricity and Gas Tariffs
Demand and demography - Adult Social Care
Demand and demography - Children Looked After
Demand and demography - Other
Income pressures
COVID Pressures
Transforming Care Programme
Housing Benefit Overpayment income
CPM Maintenance
Town Hall Closure
Other Pressures
Debt - external interest / Minimum Revenue Provision
New Homes Bonus
COVID Grants (Council Tax & Business Rates)
Business Rates Levy
S31 Business Rate and Council Tax Grants
Additional Social Care Funding (Growth)
Housing Benefit Admin Grant
Changes in Strategic Grants
Contribution to / (from ) General Reserve
Change in Use of Earmarked Reserves

0.45
0.00
(0.14)
0.87
6.29
1.21
0.03
7.18

0.78
0.00
(0.26)
1.03
0.65
0.00
0.04

0.62
0.00
(0.11)
0.90

0.94
0.00
(0.03)
1.45

1.67
0.00
(0.60)
2.54

1.30
0.80

0.78
0.08

0.18
0.13

0.00
0.00
1.49

0.00
0.00

0.00
1.00

0.20
0.33
0.00

0.20
0.00

(1.06)

1.05

0.50

1.07

Total - cost and funding changes

12.13

5.67

6.27

(18.47)

(12.33)

Total - Budget savings proposals

(18.47)

2021/22 Submission

0.00

(24.28)
10.95
14.94

4.45
0.00
(1.13)
6.80
6.94
3.48
1.07
7.18
2.20
0.20
0.53
9.13
1.49
0.60
0.60
0.50
1.98
34.65
2.48
(83.15)
(0.09)
(10.66)
(4.20)
0.20
(24.28)
10.95
16.50

6.06

5.21

(46.93)

(11.60)

(11.52)

(7.98)

(15.13)

(23.74)

(89.17)

(12.33)

(11.52)

(7.98)

(15.13)

(23.74)

(89.17)

195.18

116.57

33.09

77.81

73.76

(71.47)

424.93

Increase/(decrease) from 2020/21 £m

(6.34)

(6.67)

(5.25)

(1.92)

(9.92)

(70.67)

(100.77)

Increase/(decrease) from 2020/21 %

(3.15%)

(5.41%)

(13.70%)

(2.41%)

(11.86%)

8,813.63%

(19.17%)

Budget savings proposals

0.00

2.20

0.60
0.19

0.50
0.75

(4.20)

0.45

0.60
0.49

0.20

TOTAL FUNDING AVAILABLE (Forecast Net Revenue Charge)

0.00
8.13

0.10
34.65
2.48
(83.15)
(0.09)
(10.66)

419.64

GAP

5.29

Page 95

Appendix 2
Executive Board 16th December 2020
Appendix 2: Summary of savings proposals approved by the Executive Board at its Sep/Oct/Nov 2020 meetings
Adults & Health 2021/22 savings proposals approved
Proposal description
Business as Usual' 2021/22 savings proposals
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Balance of savings to the overall Council Strategy by switching funding from the funding of other Council Services to
meet Public Health Strategy pressures and removal of Public Health net revenue charge; procurement savings and
deletion of vacant posts
Health Partnerships: reductions in general running costs
Commissioned Services for working age adults: remodelling of day opportunities provision
Commissioned Services for working age adults: seeking appropriate Health funding
Commissioned Services for working age adults: social work value for money reviews, reassessments and demand
management
Review of care packages: efficiencies in homecare delivery and mental health and forensic services
Reduced contribution to Adults Safeguarding Board
Recovery of payments for care not delivered
Reduced inflation on non-pay elements of demand contracts (reduction in non-pay inflation allowance included in the
financial strategy to reflect lower CPI, saving £538k)
Deletion of electronic monitoring budget
Reasessment of individual care requirements for people with a learning disability based upon a strengths-based
approach
Income from client contributions
Total 'BAU' savings approved September

2021/22 savings
/ £'000s

FTE budgeted
posts

663

-2.0

69
430
2600

-1.0
0.0
0.0

1250

0.0

500
75
489

0.0
0.0
2.0

0

0.0

40

0.0

1,000

0.0

1,000
8,116

0.0
-1.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Proposed saving through closure of Osmondthorpe Resource Centre (closed since start of pandemic); services retained
via other day care hubs and will continue to monitor operation of revised service model.
Total 'BAU' savings approved October

100

-3.0

100

-3.0

700

0.0

162

0.0

479

0.0

2,400

0.0

1,614

0.0

500

0.0

250

0.0

30

1.0

57

0.0

6,192

1.0

14,408

-3.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20

The council's Financial Strategy made provision of £1.4m to maintain the link between the wage uplift for home care
services and the previous year's internal Council Living Wage Rates. Given the council's overall financial challenge and
the lower prevailing inflation rate than that assumed in the strategy it is proposed that the allocation is reduced by 50%.
This will still provide for an above inflation uplift for these employees and maintains our progress towards achieving the
Ethical Care Charter for Home Care staff.
Reduction in grants to support commissioned services for working age adults
A detailed review of all expenditure heads within the Adults & Health budget has been undertaken to identify where
budgets have not been fully spent over the last 2 years. In conjunction with budget holders a number of budget lines
across the directorate have been reduced accordingly.
The first wave of the Covid pandemic disproportionally impacted old and vulnerable people. The numbers of people
supported in care homes fell substantially in March and April 2020, and demand for care home placements has been
slow to recover. Whilst this trend has to some extent been offset by increased demands for care being provided in
people's own homes, overall there has been a rebasing of these demand budgets as a result. Whilst this is a best
estimate of the rebasing of the budget, this position assumes that there is currently no significant level of unmet need
masked by changes to lifestyles during the pandemic.
The council's Financial Strategy provided for inflation on the non-pay elements of contracts at 2%. The CPI rate recently
has been as low as 0.1% and therefore it is proposed not to award any non-pay inflation within the annual uplift for care
contracts for 21/22.
Since the advent of the National Living Wage the Council has provided for and awarded fee uplifts to providers on the
basis of inflating all provider employee costs by the NLW increase, including the impact upon differentials. Given the
current financial challenge faced by the Council it is proposed to limit the provision for the NLW element of fee uplifts to
those staff being paid at the NLW.
Working in conjunction with the contract provider LYPFT, it is proposed to develop Supported Living Individual Service
Agreements (SLISA) recognising the individual needs of service users, together with a review of the staffing skill mix
required to meet the changing needs of service users.
The Leadership Academy was established as part of the Care Quality Team within the Commissioning Service to drive up
quality within Independent Sector Care Homes in Leeds. The Academy has been extremely successful and has earned
'Centre of Excellence' status with Skills for Care. This has attracted both National Providers and other local authorities in
the region who wish to buy in this service. This will require an additional training post, but will also deliver a net surplus
in income.
This contract, which has supported the matching and analysis of client level health and social care data, is coming to an
end. The City Digital team based within DIS are now able to provide this service, thus this contract will not be renewed.
Total 'BAU' savings approved November

Total Adults and Health 'BAU' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov
Service review' 2021/22 savings proposals - consultation required

Page 96

Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

N/A

Total 'service review' savings approved September

0
0

0.0
0.0

420

0.0

1,236
1,656

0.0
0.0

381

0.0

502

0.0

1,221

-38.0

2,104

-38.0

3,760

-38.0

18,168

-41.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Proposal to decommission two adult social care residential homes: Homelea House in Rothwell and Richmond House in
Farsley
Proposal to increase client contributions for adult social care services, maintaining means-testing
Total 'service review' savings approved October

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20
Commissioned services for working age adults proposals: reduction in grant funding of learning disability day
opportunities provision; early termination of WMDLC Shopmobility Grant; efficiencies in funding for drug and alcohol
services; reduction in contract value of BID service; reduction in Touchstone community prevention service
Strategic Commissioning (Older Adults) proposals: a saving of £502k with services potentially affected by such a
reduction including Neighbourhood Network Services, Volition, Leeds Jewish Welfare Services, Hamwatten & Al Khidmat
Centres, Carers Services, Community Volunteer Services, Dementia Day Services and Offender Support Services. This is
the equivalent of a 10% cut but the exact details of implementation to be worked through in discussion with the sector.
A variety of staffing reductions across the Directorate have been proposed, firstly to reflect the ongoing freeze on the
release of non-essential posts being maintained for a further year. All of these posts are non-front line roles. Secondly,
the Directorate has supported a number of staff with their requests to leave early where a business case can be
successfully developed. Again these successful cases are predominantly related to non-front line posts.
Total 'service review' savings approved November

Total Adults and Health 'Service review' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Total Adults and Health proposals approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Page 97

Appendix 2: Summary of savings proposals approved by the Executive Board at its Sep/Oct/Nov 2020 meetings
Children & Families 2021/22 savings proposals approved
2021/22 savings
/ £'000s

Proposal description
Business as Usual' 2021/22 savings proposals
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Increased level of income received to support Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
Partnerships & Health: staffing savings through voluntary means, use of grant funding and further rollout of personal
transport allowances
Efficiencies through automation of back office ordering and payment for services traded with schools
Resources & Strategy: Learning Systems - staffing savings through voluntary ELI (Early Leavers' Initiative) scheme
Learning Improvement: staffing savings through deletion of vacant posts, introduction of flexible payment contracts
and use of contracted council staff instead of external contractors (leading to net increase in council staff of 0.7 FTE)
Learning Inclusion: staffing savings through deletion of vacant post and removal of management post via voluntary
means through team reconfiguration
Deletion of a number of vacant posts across the Children & Families Directorate
Staffing savings through realignment of management posts in the Children Looked After Service
Total 'BAU' savings approved September

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Children & Families services: seeking appropriate Health funding
Reductions in operational running costs across the directorate
Savings through the Early Leavers’ Initiative across the directorate

Total 'BAU' savings approved October

FTE budgeted
posts

1,000

0.0

769

-6.2

70

0.0

155

-3.0

130

0.7

100

-2.0

580
104
2,908

-15.0
-1.5
-27.0

1,700
150
500
2,350

0.0
0.0
-13.0
-13.0

195

0.0

100
47
100

-2.0
-1.0
0.0

37

-0.5

100

0.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20
Proposal to increase the use of transport allowances for foster carers and to review the authorisation required for staff
to book taxis for Children Looked After, in order to encourage alternative travel arrangements.
Proposal to achieve savings through the integration of teams.
Proposal to hold the current vacancy for the Deputy Director of Learning until September 2021.
Proposal to cease the contribution to DSG for Post 16 costs, as these should be funded by DSG.
Proposal to make efficiencies by integrating management function in Children and Families and Adult Services
Occupational Therapy teams.
Proposal to recognise that DSG funding will increase in 2021/22 due to inflation already assumed in the DSG budget.
Proposal to cease some contracts.
Proposal to achieve efficiencies associated with the Local Children’s Safeguarding Partnership as it is integrated with
the Children and Families Trust Board.
Proposal to carry out a review of Performance and Intelligence. This proposal assumes that savings can be achieved
through ELI. If this is not the case then a service review report will be required.
Total 'BAU' savings approved November

230

0.0

40

-1.0

100

-2.0

949

-6.5

6,207

-46.5

Total 'service review' savings approved September

0
0

0.0
0.0

Total 'service review' savings approved October

0
0

0.0
0.0

162

-1.0

Total Children & Families 'BAU' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Service review' 2021/22 savings proposals - consultation required
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

N/A

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

N/A

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20

Proposal to carry out consultation with regard to permanently closing one council-funded childcare setting that has
been closed since the start of the COVID-19 lockdown
Proposal to achieve savings through a review of Early Help services. Proposal to achieve management savings through
closer integration of Early Help and Social Work teams. Staffing implications will be identified through the course of
the review.
Total 'service review' savings approved November

Total Children & Families 'Service review' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Total Children & Families proposals approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Page 98

912

N/A at this stage please see
proposal
-1.0

912

-1.0

7,119

-47.5

750

Appendix 2: Summary of savings proposals approved by the Executive Board at its Sep/Oct/Nov 2020 meetings
City Development 2021/22 savings proposals approved
2021/22 savings
/ £'000s

Proposal description
Business as Usual' 2021/22 savings proposals
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Proposed savings from a reduction in the council's core office base.
Staffing savings through voluntary means and expenditure savings through reductions in direct property costs and
service revenue budgets
Reductions in general expenditure budgets (e.g. consumable and training) and increased capitalisation of staff costs
Markets & City Centre Service: staffing reductions through deletion of vacant posts and voluntary ELI means, general
expenditure budget reductions and increased income
Employment & Skills: staffing reductions through deletion of vacant JNC post and reduction in research and evaluation
budget
Planning & Sustainable Development: staffing reductions through voluntary means, increased income and general
expenditure budget reductions
Highways & Transportation: use of balances arising from development agreements and review of charging.
Museums & Galleries collection insurance
Efficiencies across venues: Leeds Town Hall, Carriageworks Theatre and Pudsey Civic Hall
Reduction in budget for major events
Total 'BAU' savings approved September

FTE budgeted
posts

236

0.0

700

-7.7

350

0.0

200

-1.5

100

-1.0

350

-6.0

900
60.0
254
400
3,550

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
-16.2

227

0.0

88

0.0

100

0.0

300

0.0

-300
415

0.0
0.0

1,500

-97.9

250

0.0

1,000
250
3,000

0.0
0.0
-97.9

6,965

-114.1

110

-1.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

15% reduction in grants to Leeds Grand Theatre, Opera North, Northern Ballet and Leeds Playhouse. 15% reduction in
grant to Henry Moore Institute pending a refresh of the partnership.
Cessation of the annual Christmas Lights switch-on event, and removal of budget to support bi-annual international
football screenings on Millennium Square
Cessation of funding contribution to Yorkshire Sport Foundation and for PE/school sport. Cessation of partnership with
British Cycling, including the annual Let's Ride event.
15% reduction in grant to Leeds Culture Trust (Leeds 2023). This will contribute a total saving of £1.35m over 3 years.
The Trust will still aim for a transformational cultural year as a pillar of the post-Covid Leeds and west Yorkshire
economic recovery, and is committed to attracting a further c£20m of investment to the project and the city.
Offset of budget pressure already built into council’s medium-term financial strategy
Total 'BAU' savings approved October

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20

Savings across all areas of the directorate delivered by means of staff reductions facilitated by the council's Early
Leavers' Initiative and/or additional voluntary measures, e.g. flexible retirement
Reductions in inflation allowances across the directorate. This is in addition to inflation allowances reductions agreed
at September Executive Board of £800,000
Further reductions in budgeted income pressures arising from COVID-19 across the directorate
Reductions in miscellaneous spend budgets across the directorate (projects, consumables, furniture etc.).
Total 'BAU' savings approved November

Total City Development 'BAU' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Service review' 2021/22 savings proposals - consultation required
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Economic Development proposals:
- staffing reductions through voluntary means - if not delivered, restructure of the Economic Policy Team.
- cease membership of BITC (Business in the Community)
- stop / reduce attendance at MIPIM
- reduce travel and number of staff attending events
Strategic Planning: proposals to further develop options arising from completion of service review
Highways & Transportation: proposals to review staffing and operations across the service and generate additional
income and/or savings
Total 'service review' savings approved September

100

-2.0

1,620

-26.0

1,830

-29.0

100

-2.0

67
70

-5.2
-5.1

150

0.0

208

-9.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Planning applications: proposed savings through staffing reductions via voluntary means and procedural efficiencies;
also opportunities for additional income generation
Proposal to reduce opening hours at Lotherton Hall with trade union, staff and public consultation
Proposal to reduce opening hours at Thwaite Mills Museum with trade union, staff and public consultation
Proposal to carry out consultation with young people on the introduction of an annual charge of £3 for Breezecard to
cover administrative costs, with appropriate concessions
Proposed reduced programme and new delivery model for Leeds Lights with trade union, staff and public consultation

Page 99

Proposal to withdraw from the service level agreement to support Chippendale Pool with trade union, staff and public
consultation
Proposal to close Yeadon Tarn Sailing Centre with trade union, staff and public consultation
Proposal to deliver operating efficiencies within John Charles Centre for Sport, increase fees and reduce staffing, with
trade union and staff consultation
Total 'service review' savings approved October

-5.6

88

-4.8

200

-1.5

920

-33.2

0
0

0.0
0.0

Total City Development 'Service review' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

2,750

-62.2

Total City Development proposals approved Sep/Oct/Nov

9,715

-176.3

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20

N/A

37

Total 'service review' savings approved November

Page 100

Appendix 2: Summary of savings proposals approved by the Executive Board at its Sep/Oct/Nov 2020 meetings
Communities & Environment 2021/22 savings proposals approved
Proposal description
Business as Usual' 2021/22 savings proposals
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Environmental Services: non-operational staffing savings by realigning different sections within the overall service and
streamlining management and supervisory arrangements
Additional income from disposal of trade waste
Increased charge to developers for replacement bins
Cleaner Neighbourhood Teams: general expenditure budget savings
Electoral & Regulatory Services: general expenditure budget savings and review of income budgets
Individual Electoral Registration Grant: use of carried forward grant income (one-off saving)
Woodhouse Lane Car Park: increased commuter tariff of 50p
Additional income from on-street parking tariffs
Additional income from bus lane enforcement
Car Parking: general expenditure budget savings and review of income budgets
Bereavement services price rise
General Fund grounds maintenance contract: reduction in grass cutting frequencies
Public Rights of Way Service: staffing reductions through voluntary means, reduction in direct operational budgets and
increased income
Temple Newsam Cycle Trails and Road Safety Park Reduced contribution to Third Sector Infrastructure Fund budget
Review of overhead costs charged to Migration Yorkshire
Communities: general expenditure budget savings and review of income budgets
Savings from Safer Leeds net managed budget
Reduced contribution to Leeds City Credit Union
Use of European Structural Investment Fund (ESIF) funding for existing senior customer services staffing costs
Staffing reductions in Directorate Improvement Team through voluntary means
Contact Centre: channel shift savings and increased productivity
Welfare & Benefits: increased New Burdens grant funding
Welfare & Benefits: general expenditure budget savings
Total 'BAU' savings approved September

2021/22 savings
/ £'000s

FTE budgeted
posts

635

-13.2

100
70
75
148
330
100
100
50
100
220
65

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

100

-2.0

31
36
40
25
171
63
429
35
70
100
126
3,219

2.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
-5.0
0.0
0.0
-1.0
-18.9
0.0
0.0
-38.1

40

0.0

70

0.0

147

0.0

195

0.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20
Proposal to increase the charge made to residents for the replacement of black and brown bins to cover the
administrative and delivery costs involved. This revised charge would represent 57% of the actual cost to the council
Proposal to increase the charge for bulky waste collections from £20 to £30 to contribute to the costs of
administration, collection and disposal of up to four unwanted bulky items
5% increase in bereavement fees - this is an additional 2% on top of the 3% (£220k) proposal considered by Executive
Board in September.
Recognising that community committees will experience an increase in funds delegated to them over the next three
years it is proposed to reduce the wellbeing budget by 15%. Even with this reduction we estimate a £2m increase in
spending power over the next 3 years.
Removal of council subsidy for Police and Community Support Officers (PCSOs) uplift in line with other West Yorkshire
local authorities
Total 'BAU' savings approved October

625

0.0

1,077

0.0

500

-16.0

466

0.0

100

0.0

200

0.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20

Estimated savings across the directorate delivered by staff reductions facilitated by the council's Early Leavers'
Initiative and/or additional voluntary measures, e.g. flexible retirement
Continue to utilise Section 106 balances to support the revenue budget for a further year, reducing the pressure
currently shown in the Medium Term Financial Strategy
Following review, reduce the level of Housing Benefit Overpayment income pressure currently included in the Medium
Term Financial Strategy.
Increase in vacancy factor to 3.9% to reflect turnover experienced in recent years
Defer part of the planned investment in the Waste Strategy recognising delays due to Covid-19 pressures, which will
reduce the pressure currently included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy.
Review of Single Person Discount Council Tax claimants to reduce fraudulent claims
Total 'BAU' savings approved November

200

0.0

150
1,616

0.0
-16.0

Total Communities and Environment 'BAU' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

5,912

-54.1

0
0

0.0
0.0

110

-2.0

Service review' 2021/22 savings proposals - consultation required
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

N/A

Total 'service review' savings approved September

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Proposed closure of Otley (Ellar Ghyll) household waste and recycling centre. Staff affected would be redeployed to
vacancies on other sites or elsewhere in the service.

Page 101

Proposal to carry out public consultation on closure of West Leeds Country Park visitor centre in Pudsey Park, also
with trade union and staff consultation. There is a potential opportunity to repurpose or replace the existing buildings
with a park café that could retain some of the educational elements of the visitor centre. This would require a
business case for unsupported borrowing.

90

-2.0

Proposal to carry out stakeholder consultation on 50% reduction in the number of bowling greens supported by the
council, with consideration to community asset transfers. Staffing reductions anticipated through voluntary means.

83

-4.5

Proposal to carry out stakeholder consultation on review of opening hours and staffing rotas within Community Hub /
Library provision across the city, with associated trade union and staff consultation on staffing reductions.
Total 'service review' savings approved October

457

-16.9

740

-25.4

200

-2.0

200

-2.0

940

-27.4

6,852

-81.5

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20
Proposal to carry out stakeholder consultation on closure of 3 community centres: Lewisham Community Centre,
Allerton Bywater Youth Centre and Windmill Youth Centre. Also to deliver additional efficiencies across all community
centres. Staff affected would be redeployed to vacancies elsewhere.
Total 'service review' savings approved November

Total Communities & Environment 'Service review' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Total Communities & Environment proposals approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Page 102

Appendix 2: Summary of savings proposals approved by the Executive Board at its Sep/Oct/Nov 2020 meetings
Resources & Housing 2021/22 savings proposals approved
Proposal description
Business as Usual' 2021/22 savings proposals
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Human Resources: staffing reductions via voluntary means, reduced development budget and reduced graduate
recruitment in Sep 2021
Revenues, Benefits & Council Tax: process efficiencies
Chief Executive's: general expenditure budget savings
Business Support Centre: staffing reductions via voluntary means and non-resumption of envopak service (delivery of
mail to and from schools)
Legal Services: staffing reductions via voluntary means and deletion of vacant posts, small reduction in supplies and
services budget
Civic Enterprise Leeds: staffing savings through voluntary means and increased productivity / smarter working via
technology
Civic Enterprise Leeds: insourcing contracts
Civic Enterprise Leeds: additional income through increased commercialisation across cleaning and facilities
management and PRESTO (help at home services) expanded offer
Civic Enterprise Leeds: staffing reductions through voluntary means based on closing office accommodation and
redesigning facilities management services
Civic Enterprise Leeds: procurement savings on cleaning and catering contracts
Civic Enterprise Leeds: review and rationalisation of running costs
Procurement & Commercial Services: restructure (consultation has already taken place)
Housing General Fund: use of reserve
Leeds Building Services: additional turnover from the capital programme
Total 'BAU' savings approved September

2021/22 savings
/ £'000s

FTE budgeted
posts

708

-11.0

300
125

-10.0
0.0

380

-22.0

216

-5.3

996

-42.0

550

0.0

243

0.0

320

-11.0

196
163
223
120
476
5,016

0.0
-1.0
-3.0
0.0
0.0
-105.3

183

-3.2

300

0.0

200

-10.9

683

-14.1

100

0.0

810

-27.0

250

0.0

300

0.0

160
125
145
90
314

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
-9.7

60

-2.3

60
50

0.0
0.0

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Democratic Services savings through:
• Capturing efficiencies arising from new ways of working adopted by elected members;
• Operational savings from previously underspent budgets; and
• Deletion of funded vacant posts and agreement to expressions of interest under the ELI scheme (with functions
being accommodated through consolidation into remaining establishment with no significant changes in current
support to members)
Civic Enterprise Leeds: Price rise (4p) for school meals
Civic Enterprise Leeds: staffing reductions through voluntary means based on reduced cleaning and catering at
decommissioned adult social care residential homes - please refer to Adults & Health service review proposal to
decommission two adult social care residential homes
Total 'BAU' savings approved October

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20
Cross-council savings from reduction in taxi usage by staff attending council meetings. Savings will be delivered within
services.
Additional early leavers and deletion of resulting vacant posts across the directorate
As part of the cross-council review of the Business Administration Service approved by the Executive Board in
September 2020, additional savings identified through review of meeting support.
Digital Information Services (DIS): Reduction in financial pressures already built into the medium-term financial
strategy
Human Resources (HR): One-year pause in council's graduate recruitment scheme in September 2021
Reduced travel costs across the directorate arising from new ways of working
Savings in DIS and HR through line-by-line review of non-staffing costs
Additional income through Refugee Integration Grant
Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL): staffing reductions through voluntary means based on reduced cleaning and catering in
Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL): staffing reductions through voluntary means based on closing the Civic Hall Antechamber
door and reception desk with the exception of ceremonial occasions.
Corporate Property Management (CEL): improved turnaround on void properties and reduced spend
Fleet Services (CEL): additional commercial income
Leeds Building Services (CEL): Reduction in financial pressures already built into the medium-term financial strategy
Total 'BAU' savings approved November

200

0.0

2,664

-39.0

Total Resources & Housing 'BAU' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

8,363

-158.4

2,000

-100.0

2,434

-58.0

Service review' 2021/22 savings proposals - consultation required
Proposals approved by Executive Board 24/9/20

Business Administration Service: Proposal to create a fully integrated and centralised administration model with
efficiencies through modernisation
Digital Information Service (DIS): Proposal to modernise the structure of the service to deliver savings and secure
additional income. Through voluntary measures as far as possible but may require realignment of roles and
responsibilities and post deletion, through trade union and staff consultation.

Page 103

Information Management and Governance (part of the wider DIS service): Proposal to modernise the structure to
meet the needs of a modern and agile council and deliver savings. Through voluntary measures as far as possible but
may require compulsory measures through trade union and staff consultation.
Financial Services: Proposed restructure of Financial Management within Financial Services with trade union and staff
consultation
Sustainable Energy & Air Quality: Proposal to increase income through securing additional grant funding. Also staff
savings through voluntary measures but if this is not possible, may require a restructure with trade union and staff
consultation.
Intelligence & Policy Service: Proposed restructure of Intelligence and Policy Service within Resources and Housing
Directorate with trade union and staff consultation
Leeds Building Services: Proposed suite of activities across Leeds Building Services to reduce costs, including
overheads, productivity improvements, new IT system and additional income. Largest element through staffing
reductions with full restructure anticipated with staff and trade union consultation.
Fleet Services: Proposal to review working practices and delivery models and develop commercial income. Full
restructure of Fleet Services required with trade union and staff consultation.
Total 'service review' savings approved September

N/A - captured in
DIS proposal

N/A - captured in
DIS proposal

1,000

-22.0

250

-3.0

173

-7.8

0

-70.0

480

-1.0

6,337

-261.8

0

0.0

0

0.0

0
0

0.0
0.0

6,337

-261.8

14,700

-420.2

Proposals approved by Executive Board 21/10/20

Cross-council review: reducing the wage bill – Budget savings and FTE reductions from this accounted for within
directorate budgets through service reviews and voluntary schemes (notably early leavers’ initiative and flexible
retirement).
Total 'service review' savings approved October

Proposals approved by Executive Board 18/11/20

N/A

Total 'service review' savings approved November

Total Resources & Housing 'Service review' savings approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Total Resources & Housing proposals approved Sep/Oct/Nov

Page 104

Appendix 3

Executive Board 16th December 2020

Phase 1 Consultation
2021/22 Budget
Proposals
(September - November 2020)

Summary of Scrutiny
Board comments.

Page 105

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
Introduction

Boards have advocated a strengthening of
their role through earlier consultation.

1. At its meeting on 24 September the
Executive Board considered and approved
the Medium Term Financial Strategy
2021/22 – 2025/2. The report set out an
estimated budget gap of £166.3m for the
period of the strategy of which £118.8m
related to 2021/22.

8. Scrutiny Boards therefore welcomed the
opportunity to be consulted on proposals for
2021/22 from September and are keen that
early engagement in the development of
budget proposals continues beyond the
unprecedented circumstances of 2020/21.

2. A further report – Revenue Budget Update
2021/22 and Budget Savings Proposals set out an initial series of savings proposals
totalling £32.3m, which were intended to
contribute towards the Council achieving a
balanced budget for 2021/22.

9. Scrutiny Boards have been keen to retain a
flexible and agile approach to their
involvement with the budget consultation
process and as such have chosen to make
use of both public and private meetings in
order to conduct their discussions.

3. Additional proposals were later set out at
Executive Board meetings on 21 October
and 18 November, presenting further
savings of £7.9m and £17.6m respectively.
4. As part of a wider consultation process it
was agreed by Executive Board in
September that Scrutiny Boards would
consider these savings proposals as
relevant to their respective remits.
5. The Executive Board also confirmed in
September that the outcome of any
consultation would inform the Council’s
decision-making and would be incorporated
into the 2021/22 to 2023/24 Budget Report
timetabled for initial consideration at the
Executive Board’s meeting in December
2020.
6. In previous years Scrutiny Boards have
been consulted on the Council’s Initial
Budget Proposals towards the latter end of
the overall budget setting process.
7. Members of all Boards have suggested this
has limited the extent to which Scrutiny can
influence the development of budget
proposals and as part of their collective
feedback to the Executive Board – including
most recently in January 2020 - Scrutiny

10. The following meetings have taken place:
Scrutiny
Board
Adults,
Health and
Active
Lifestyles
Children and
Families

Public
Meeting

Working
Group

20 October

5 October
20
November

7 October

Environment,
Housing &
Communities

14 October

30
September
17
November
25
September
16
November
1 October
19
November

Infrastructure, 15 October
Investment &
Inclusive
Growth
Strategy and 12 October
Resources

25
September
19
November

11. The Scrutiny Boards welcomed the input of
Executive Board members, Directors and
other Senior Officers as part of the
consultation process.

Page 106

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
12. In providing this summary it should be
noted that Scrutiny Boards have not yet
had the opportunity to examine further
budget proposals that may be taken to the
December 2020 Executive Board meeting.

use of voluntary means to reduce staff
numbers, there was an acknowledgement
that the way in which officers leave the
organisation does not always mirror
service demand.

13. Boards will, however, have further
opportunity to comment on those
proposals as part of final consultation on
the budget during the January 2021
meeting cycle.

19. Particular concern was expressed about
the pressure on members of staff working
in areas of the organisation where there
have been considerable numbers of
experienced staff departing very quickly.

14. The consultation also took place before
the Chancellor announced the details of
his 2021/22 Spending Review.

20. Members of all Boards recognised that
new ways of working are enabling many
people to better balance the demands of
work and home. However, they also noted
that in some cases flexible working
practices, and particularly the current
large-scale remote working arrangements,
could mask indicators that might otherwise
have triggered concern about the wellbeing of an individual.

Comments and
observations from
Scrutiny Boards
15. Across all Boards elected members
acknowledged the enormous scale of the
budget challenge facing the organisation,
given the need to address the Council’s
estimated £118.8m financial gap in
2021/22.

21. Board members therefore recommended a
proactive approach to delivering
interventions designed to promote staff
well-being and healthy working practices.

16. Members were keen to put on record their
recognition of the huge challenges - and
associated financial pressures - the
Council has faced as a result of the need
to respond to, and encourage the city’s
recovery from, the Covid-19 pandemic.
17. There was also further acknowledgement
of the inherent uncertainty for the
organisation in developing budget
proposals without having yet had
confirmation of the 2021/22 settlement
from central Government.
18. All Boards explored the impact of
proposed savings on Council staff and the
way in which staff reductions would be
managed. While members supported the

22. Scrutiny Boards are keen to continue their
early engagement in the development of
the budget in future years and to maximise
the value the involvement of their
members can add to that process. With
that in mind a number of members
highlighted that it would be beneficial for
scrutiny members to receive additional
training on the way in which local budgets
operate in relation to the remits of the
various boards.
23. The main areas of discussion for the
individual Boards are summarised below
for consideration by the Executive Board
as it seeks to finalise the Budget
proposals that will be recommended to
Full Council.

Page 107

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
Environment, Housing and Communities
24. Board members welcomed a number of
individual proposals including increasing
charges to developers for replacement
bins and further work to review single
person discount Council Tax claimants in
order to reduce fraud.
25. The Board was supportive of the
environmental and financial benefits that
could be achieved by introducing more
‘relaxed mowing’ as part of proposals to
reduce the cost of the grounds
maintenance contract.
26. A number of councillors noted the proposal
to close Ellar Ghyll Household Waste and
Recycling Centre was “not unexpected”
given the huge pressures facing the
service.
27. In a number of areas members proposed
that further information would need to be
provided to decision makers in order for
them to fully understand the impact on
communities of the measures proposed.
28. One such issue was a proposal to reduce
the Council subsidy for enhanced
provision of Police and Community
Support Officers, in line with other West
Yorkshire authorities.
29. Notwithstanding the proposed changes to
regional arrangements as part of the West
Yorkshire devolution deal, members
advocated discussions taking place with
the Police and Crime Commissioner to
understand whether he would continue to
provide his proportion of additional funding
for PCSOs, during his term of office, once
the local authority ceased its contribution.
Board members further recommended that
decision makers receive the detail of how
remaining PCSO resources would then be

allocated by West Yorkshire Police, so as
to be able to provide clarity about which
wards in Leeds would be most likely to
experience reductions in PCSO support, and to what extent - if the LCC proposal
were to be agreed.
30. Similarly, in considering a proposed
reduction in wellbeing budgets, the Board
recommended that the final proposals set
out how reductions might be applied, the
rationale for the approach adopted and
the resulting impact on individual
committee budgets. The Board noted that
any increase in spending power resulting
from CIL would not be received
consistently across the city and members
advocated this being taken into account
as part of the decision making process.
Particular concern was expressed about a
disproportionate impact on community
committees which will not receive CIL
funding even where development takes
place, as a result of local parish and town
council arrangements.
31. Officers were asked to consider whether
funding currently allocated to Housing
Advisory Panels (HAPs) could be
transferred to community committees, on
the understanding it would be ring fenced
for tenants as required by Housing
Revenue Account regulations, to bolster
local spending power.
32. The Board suggested further information
be provided to decision makers to set out
which community hubs/libraries would be
affected by proposed changes to opening
hours and staff rotas. Members also
suggested it would be beneficial to provide
more detail about the rationale informing
changes in specific areas.
33. The Board expressed concern about the
potential impact health impact of

Page 108

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
proposals to decommission bowling
greens, particularly for elderly people.
Members recommended further
information be provided about
decommissioning costs as compared to
anticipated savings, and suggested it
would be important to understand the
likelihood of decommissioned greens then
being sold.
34. Members reiterated their support for the
“excellent joint working” on homelessness
prevention, which has delivered significant
benefits for some of the city’s most
vulnerable individuals while also delivering
financial savings for the wider
organisation. Noting the additional success
of securing external funding for a
significant proportion of this work,
members agreed that further cuts to
general funding for services in this area
would risk creating greater long-term
financial pressures for the organisation.
35. Board members recognised the
importance for Council tenants of
protecting capital investment and the
proposed budget for housing repairs.
However, concern was expressed about
the impact of local housing officer
positions remaining vacant.
36. In discussing a proposed increase in
charges for bulk waste, members sought
reassurance that officers had explored the
costs to the organisation of any associated
increase in fly-tipping.

of S106 balances to support the revenue
budget for a further year would not
prevent community schemes being
progressed.
39. Members recommended proceeding with
a proposed increase in bereavement
charges with particular sensitivity, in light
of the current circumstances.
40. In discussing the budget setting process, it
was suggested that the scale of the
current financial challenge presents an
opportunity for an even more fundamental
review of Council operations with
individual members suggesting that the
Council explores ‘zero based budgeting.’
Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive
Growth
41. The sensitivity of many services within
City Development to fluctuations in the
wider economy was explored by this
Board with income generation and the
future of high profile events in the city,
areas of concern in light of recent - and
potentially future - Covid-related
restrictions.
42. Board Members sought to understand the
impact on local communities of proposed
savings involving frontline service delivery
in areas such as highways and strategic
planning.

37. Members discussed the impact of delays
to the anticipated national waste strategy
on the Council’s ability to plan for any
required future investment, particularly in
areas such as food waste collection.

43. The Board reiterated the importance of the
outcomes delivered through the Smart
Cities and 100% Digital teams and
advocated prioritising the continuation of
digital inclusion programmes within the
context of the Council’s Inclusive Growth
agenda.

38. The Board sought and welcomed
reassurance that the continued utilisation

44. Members acknowledged that a significant
proportion of proposed savings in services

Page 109

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
within the Board’s remit relate to
reductions in staffing costs. The Board
was therefore keen to understand how an
aggregated figure for staff reductions
related to individual service areas.
45. It was confirmed that staffing reductions
would affect all service areas that fall
within the remit of the Board including
urban design, policy, development control
and the management of planning
applications. Members explored the
temporary management arrangements
introduced in services such as
Employment and Skills, and Asset
Management, as well as considering how
transport policy would be managed in
future.
46. Reassurance was sought by Board
members that appropriate support was
being provided via HR for members of staff
who found themselves shouldering
significant additional responsibility in an
environment where change is now being
accelerated at pace.
47. Reconfiguring services to ensure
resilience, responsiveness and agility was
a key concern for Board members,
particularly in light of upcoming changes
set out in the Government’s Planning
White Paper.
48. Officers outlined proposals to increase
income and to “work smarter” including
through greater digital access and
processing.
49. Members noted that “front loading”
planning applications could potentially
reduce challenges that often emerge in the
later stages of the application process,
improve the quality of outcomes and
increase efficiency.

50. The Board was reassured that
government funding remained in place for
major schemes so work in those areas
could continue.
51. The Board discussed strategies for
reducing Council activity in some areas to
reduce costs. An example within asset
management was bringing forward the
release of surplus properties to secure
capital receipts and reduce the cost of
maintaining properties that are not in use.
52. Board members asked for clarification
about the Council’s position regarding the
potential capitalisation of costs incurred as
a result of Covid-19, with a view to
spreading those costs over a number of
years. Members noted that this would
provide the Council with a financial
mechanism similar to that already
available to central government. However,
it was also noted that the consequences
of such an arrangement would themselves
bear risk including with regard to the
associated change in the city council’s
broader relationship with Government.
Strategy and Resources
53. In addition to the concerns outlined in
paragraph 18 and 19 (above) Board
members sought further clarity on
workloads for staff that remain with the
authority once the Early Leavers’ Initiative
(ELI) has been completed and vacant
posts have been withdrawn from
directorate structures. Particular concern
was around whether workloads would be
manageable given the scale of staffing
reductions.
54. Questions were raised by the Board on
the use of ‘talent pools’ and redeployment
to ensure that staff are able to retrain and
move on into new roles in the Council

Page 110

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
when services are impacted by the Service
Review approach. One example discussed
by the Board related to staff being able to
move into positions within housing
services, supported by appropriate
training, when they become available as
those are funded by the Housing Revenue
Account (HRA) and not the general fund.
Board members were keen to ensure a
flexible approach is taken by decision
makers to ensure that staff are retrained
and retained when such opportunities
arise.
55. Members noted the wider implications of
estate realisation particularly in light of
Covid-19 and the council’s rapid
deployment of new ways of working that
could see less office space used and a
requirement to realise assets as part of the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy. The
Board were keen to ensure that savings
made from estate realisation formed part
of the council’s future financial planning.
56. Treasury Management Strategy was also
a point of interest for the board and
members were keen to note the significant
savings made through a prudent approach
to borrowing and securing cheaper interest
rates that has significantly benefitted the
overall revenue budget position in recent
years. Members also sought assurance
that borrowing remained affordable and
were keen to ensure that risk assessments
were carried out as appropriate.
57. Whilst recognising the pressure placed on
Council budgets as a result of year on year
budget reductions and the added and
unprecedented impact of Covid-19,
members were keen to ensure the
sufficiency of general and earmarked
reserves.

58. The board was interested in proposals to
make savings on the Leeds Lights Service
accessed by communities city wide. A
strong view was to ensure that all options
are considered for this service as it is both
valued and considered to be cost effective
for the services it provides. Options that
board members wanted decision makers
to consider included evaluation of whether
the business model could operate in the
private sector or could be sold as a going
concern, concerns about additional costs if
the service did involve the private sector,
whether the proposed £200K of savings
might jeopardise the existing business
model and encouragement to ensure that
all commercial opportunities are being
explored.
59. The proposals to reduce opening hours at
Lotherton Hall also attracted comments
and suggestions. Board members, whilst
mindful of the financial challenge faced by
the Council and the need to set a realistic
rather than hopeful budget, were keen to
ensure that the future business model for
Lotherton Hall should be focussed on
generating income and ensuring that one
off events in particular are maximised as a
means to generate income as the facility
has proven to be capable of delivering this
type of event successfully. Additional
comments for decision makers to consider
included providing improved café facilities,
availability of room hire and events space
and that there is focus on ‘building up’ the
offer at Lotherton Hall in future years once
the current financial challenge has been
dealt with.
60. Given the proposals for both Lotherton
Hall and Thwaites Mill members were
interested in ensuring that residents could
access cultural facilities as seamlessly as
possible and that residents should be
encouraged to visit the attractions that are

Page 111

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
in the Council’s ownership. Members
therefore suggested that a more joined up
approach might be preferable and
encouraged decision makers to give
consideration to linking up the two existing
discount cards the Breeze Card and the
Leeds Card.
61. The proposals to increase charges on the
Breeze Card by £3 attracted further
comments from Board members. There
was concern that consultation should be
thorough with young people on these
plans and whilst recognising the
opportunity to enhance the digital offer
through the proposed increase in charges,
members felt that consultation was
important to get the proposals right and to
ensure that young people continued to
access the Breeze Card and continued to
believe that it offered value for money.
Members were strongly supportive of the
opportunities the Breeze Card offers to
young people as a ‘gateway to culture’ that
can create a lifelong interest in culture and
the benefits it offers.
62. Board members suggested enhanced
consultation on the Breeze Card proposals
to include; the Council’s Community
Committees through the Children and
Young People’s Champions appointed to
each committee and also with the city’s
colleges and further education providers
and in particular Leeds City College.
63. Members welcomed that there were no
proposals in relation to the sale of any of
the Council’s cultural and arts collections
and noted the value they offered to Leeds
residents in terms of their cultural value
and the local connection that many of the
items had with the city. Board members
were cautious about any proposals to sell
any arts or cultural items held in the
Council’s collections or archive.

Children and Families Scrutiny Board
64. Board Members noted that the largest
element of the Children and Families
Directorate budget relates to staffing.
Recognising the projected increase in
demand for services due to the Covid-19
pandemic, Members sought assurance
that staffing levels would remain sufficient
in light of the current budget savings
proposals, which equates to a reduction of
47.5 FTEs across the directorate.
Members were advised that the current
‘Business As Usual’ approach is aimed at
supporting requests for early leavers
where appropriate, whilst being mindful of
teams under significant pressure and the
impact of staffing reductions on statutory
responsibilities.
65. With regard to service delivery, particular
reference was made to Children Looked
After Services. While this is the
directorate’s largest element of
expenditure, the Board was reassured that
no budget savings proposals would be
made against Children Looked After
placements, particularly as the Covid-19
pandemic is likely to significantly impact
more families and potentially add further
pressure in terms of children entering the
care system.
66. Linked to the above, Board Members
noted the council’s intention to accept an
additional 26 Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children (UASC) into the care
system, thereby moving towards the
0.07% UASC to total child population
threshold. While this would be adding
pressure to the service, Board Members
were assured that the associated
increased level of income expected would
be enough to cover the service’s costs.
However, a point was made by the Board

Page 112

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
that while funding would follow each child
through the local authority, the health
sector would not receive any additional
funding for UASC and therefore this
needed to be taken into account in terms
of their overall health and care needs.
67. Linked to Partnerships & Health, the Board
particularly discussed the proposal to
further rollout personal transport
allowances linked to the delivery of the
Independent Travel Training to pupils,
which will also be provided in-house. The
Board was assured that any arrangements
put in place would be in the best interests
of the pupil and with the mutual consent of
the pupil’s parents/guardian and the
Independent Travel Team. However, as
part of any new in-house provision, the
Board advised that schools should also be
actively involved with the Independent
Travel Trainers, as well as parents.
68. The Board particularly welcomed the
directorate’s target to achieve an
additional £1.7 million of funding by
working closely with the NHS Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Group to look at
increasing their contribution base to a level
that would be more on par with
contributions made to other local
authorities by the health sector.
69. Another suggestion was also put forward
by the Board for the directorate to explore
the potential to introduce a Council run
supply teacher agency, to be used as a
traded service for schools at a lower cost.
70. With regard to the directorates Service
Review proposals, the Board particularly
discussed the proposal to cease the
delivery of childcare from the Little Owls
Firthfields, Garforth site and relocate the
Children Centre Family Services from
Garforth Academy to this building. In

doing so, the Board was assured that
while the council’s sufficiency duty would
still be met through local alternatives for
every affected child, this proposal would
also be offering an enhanced quality of
family services on offer to the community.
As a Service Review proposal, the Board
acknowledged that further consultation will
take place with all relevant stakeholders
prior to a decision being made.
Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles
71. Linked to the Board’s ‘Active Lifestyles’
remit, particular consideration was given
to the 3 related service review proposals
made by the City Development
directorate, as reported to Executive
Board in October.
72. With regard to the proposed closure of
Yeadon Tarn Sailing Centre, the Board
questioned the current usage of this
facility, which was reported to be
approximately 9,000 users a year. Due to
the nature of the activities, it was noted
that there are substantially more young
people accessing the sailing courses than
older people, with the vast majority being
of teenage age with an average age of
attendance being 13 years of age.
However, the Board felt that more detailed
analysis of this data should be done to
identify key groups and characteristics
affected by the proposal.
73. It was highlighted that the site is
predominantly used by schools (primarily
within the Yeadon area), together with
some public sessions. While
acknowledging that this is the only venue
within the Active Leeds portfolio to offer
these type of outdoor water based
programmes, it was reported that there
are other venues in Bradford, Wakefield,
Huddersfield and York that offer the same

Page 113

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
facilities as the sailing centre. While
acknowledging the need to find a financial
solution towards addressing the significant
subsidy costs associated with this centre,
Members were assured that all possible
options will be explored during the
consultation to try and find an optimum
solution.
74. With regard to the proposed operating
efficiencies at the John Charles Centre for
Sport, Board Members were assured that
any proposed club increased fees will not
increase above the rates of other
swimming pools and/or facilities and will
still be below other local authorities. Prices
will be negotiated to ensure the clubs can
afford the costs. The Board was also
pleased to learn that efforts are continuing
to be made to increase the centre’s public
access time, rather than reduce it.
75. In consideration of the savings proposals
being identified within the Adults and
Health Directorate, Board Members very
much welcomed the success of the
Leadership Academy in achieving 'Centre
of Excellence' status with Skills for Care.
This has attracted both National Providers
and other local authorities in the region
who wish to buy in this service. While this
will require an additional training post, it
will also deliver a net surplus in income.
76. With regard to other identified efficiency
measures, Board Members particularly
acknowledged the importance of having
effective systems in place to ensure that
when care services are not being
delivered, the respective payments for
such services are being recovered.
77. Board Members also noted the proposal
linked to the reassessment of individual
care requirements for people with a
learning disability, based upon a strengths-

based approach that aims to further enrich
lives by encouraging re-engagement in
the community and employment
opportunities. However, Board Members
felt that it would be helpful to provide case
study evidence to further demonstrate the
benefits of this approach.
78. With regard to the proposed closure of
Osmondthorpe Resource Centre, Board
Members were informed that 27 people
from across the city would be affected by
this proposal, but were also assured that
such individuals would continue to receive
support services either via other day care
hubs or through the operation of a revised
service model, which will continue to
monitored by the service.
79. The Board also discussed the service
review proposal to decommission two
adult social care residential homes:
Homelea House in Rothwell and
Richmond House in Farsley.
80. With regard to Richmond House in
particular, it was noted that this is a 20
bedded residential service that offers short
term care and support to people who
require a period of recovery following a
hospital admission. The service also
offers support to people from the
community to prevent hospital admission.
81. However, it was noted that the facility is
continually under occupied as the NHS
Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group
Community Care Beds contract is now
established and provides a greater
recovery residential and nursing offer. As
such, this current type of provision can
easily be assimilated in wider system
provision.
82. While acknowledging that both proposals
will be subject to further consultation, it

Page 114

Report of the Scrutiny Boards
Statement for Executive Board – December 2020

Phase 1 Budget Consultation 2021/22
(September–November 2020)
was highlighted that the estimated
timescales for a full decommissioning and
ensuring all customers are appropriately
transferred to a new home of their choice,
is approximately 12 months from the onset
of a formal consultation, anticipated in this
proposal as no earlier than end of January
2022.
83. The Board acknowledged the difficult
position of the directorate in having to
balance the cost of delivering quality
statutory services against the desire to
maintain other valuable discretionary
services. However, some concerns were
raised regarding the Strategic
Commissioning (Older Adults) proposals to
reduce funding to a number of third sector
organisations, including Neighbourhood
Network Services. As part of the
consultation process, Board Members
were therefore assured that the exact
details of implementation would be worked
through in close dialogue with the sector.

Conclusions and Next
Steps
84. In line with the Council’s ‘Vision for
Scrutiny’ members of all five Boards have
sought to provide “critical friend challenge”
to those developing budget proposals for
2021/22 and have welcomed the time and
contributions of Executive Members,
directors and senior officers.
85. In January 2021 Scrutiny Board members
will consider the initial package of budget
proposals as agreed by Executive Board in
December 2020, before final proposals are
recommended to Full Council in February
2021.

scale of the financial challenge facing the
organisation and the way in which ‘built in’
savings required for 2021/22 have been
substantially exacerbated by the need to
respond to the Covid-19 pandemic.
87. Board members have further recognised
that the result of these pressures is an
accelerated pace of change in the
organisation and highlighted the
importance of individual service areas
being empowered to deliver the scale of
change necessary to achieve a balanced
budget in 2021/22.
88. Alongside the Executive Board, Scrutiny
Members will seek to maintain a degree of
oversight of the budget delivery process
as it pertains to the remits of the various
boards during the coming municipal year.
89. As noted above, all the Boards welcomed
the opportunity to engage in the budget
setting process earlier in the municipal
year than has been in the case previously.
All Boards are keen that such consultation
continues in future years and is not limited
to the unprecedented circumstances of
2020/21.
90. Looking to future years, scrutiny board
members have noted that additional
training on departmental budgets as they
relate to individual boards would assist in
ensuring members have the tools and the
contextual knowledge necessary to add
maximum value to the budget setting
process through effective ‘check and
challenge.’ It is therefore recommended
that consideration is given to providing
such training on an annual basis through
the member development process at the
start of each municipal year.

86. Throughout this initial phase of budget
consultation, scrutiny members have
regularly acknowledged the enormous

Page 115

Scrutiny Boards
Joint Statement for the Executive Board
Phase 1 Consultation: 2021/22 Budget Proposals
December 2020

Page 116

Appendix 4

Budget savings proposals for 2021/22 – for consideration at Executive
Board 16th December 2020
Summary
•

The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 - 2025/26 considered at September’s
Executive Board meeting reported an estimated budget gap of £166.3m for the period
of the strategy, of which £118.8m relates to 2021/22. Of this £118.8m, £59.7m is due
to pressures identified prior to the impact of COVID-19 with the balance of £59.1m
resulting from the ongoing financial impact of COVID-19.

•

In response to this financial position, the council established a ‘Financial Challenge’
programme of service reviews to identify savings that contribute towards closing the
estimated budget gap and enable the authority to present a robust, balanced budget
position in 2021/22. In line with the council’s ambitions and values, these aim to
protect services that support the most vulnerable whilst ensuring that the council
becomes more financially resilient and sustainable for the future.

•

The saving proposals resulting from these reviews are categorised as either ‘Business
as Usual’ proposals which can be implemented within the council’s delegated decisionmaking framework and without consultation, or ‘Service Reviews’ which will require
meaningful consultation with relevant stakeholders prior to any decisions being taken.
The results of any such consultation with staff, trade unions, service users and the
public will be used to inform the final decision.

•

Executive Board has already approved three sets of savings proposals for 2021/22
through its September, October and November 2020 meetings. Combined with £0.3m
savings resulting from a review of the capital programme and a reduction of 50 full-time
equivalent (FTE) posts through a review of the Housing Revenue Account (both
considered at September’s Executive Board), these total £58.2m, with an anticipated
reduction in the workforce of 816.5 FTEs.

•

A further £5.2m potential savings are presented for consideration today with an
anticipated reduction in the workforce of 97.5 FTE budgeted posts. If today’s proposals
are approved, taken together with the £58.2m proposals previously approved, the total
savings proposals identified so far come to £63.4m (rounded). The total anticipated
reduction in the workforce is 914 FTEs. All efforts will be made to avoid compulsory
redundancies.

•

The main cover report ‘Proposed Budget for 2021/22 and Provisional Budgets for
2022/23 and 2023/24’ sets out further measures to reduce the budget gap. Additional
savings proposals will be brought to the Executive Board in February as part of the
recommended Budget 2021/22 report.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
a)

Note the financial position for 2021/22 outlined in this paper and that further
savings are required to deliver a balanced budget position;

b)

Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect to them
shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the
Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions);

c)

Agree the recommendations in the ‘Service Review’ proposals at Annexe 4.2 and
that consultation commences. And to note that decisions to give effect to them
shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, following the consultation
Page 117

period, in accordance with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions)
save where the Leader, relevant portfolio holder or Director considers that the
matter should be referred to Executive Board for consideration.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1 This report details the actions underway and proposed to address the financial gap
for 2021/22 estimated at £118.8m. The report presents a series of savings proposals
to contribute to the council achieving a balanced budget for 2021/22 Budget and,
where appropriate, seeks agreement to begin meaningful consultation with staff,
trade unions, service users and the public as required.
2.

Background information

2.1 A report received at this Board in June set out the impact that the COVID-19
pandemic is having upon the council’s financial position in 2020/21 and 2021/22.
Updates have since been provided to the Executive Board on the 2020/21 position
through monthly Financial Health reports.
2.2 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2025/26 received at this Board in
September further detailed the significant financial uncertainties resulting from
COVID-19 and how this will continue to impact upon the council’s financial position
for the period covered by the strategy.
2.3 The council’s financial position and the estimated budget gap for the period covered
by the Medium Term Financial Strategy need to be seen against a backdrop of
ongoing national economic uncertainty, which means the council will continue to
have to make some difficult decisions on how and where it allocates its capital and
revenue resources in order to deliver its priorities as set out in the Best Council Plan.
2.4 With regard to 2021/22, the authority’s estimated financial gap has previously been
reported as £118.8m. To start to reduce that gap, an initial set of savings proposals
were considered and approved by this Board at its September, October and
November meetings (available at Item 43 here, Item 21 here and Item 77 here
respectively). Today’s report presents a fourth set of proposals for consideration.
3.

Main issues
Revenue Budget 2021/22: Service reviews

3.1 A ‘Financial Challenge’ programme of service reviews has been established to
identify savings that will contribute towards closing the estimated revenue budget gap
and enable the authority to present a balanced budget position in 2021/22. These
comprise several cross-council reviews and others that relate to individual services; a
small number of more complex reviews have received external, independent support.
•

The cross-council reviews include those relating to activities that the council has
been pursuing for some time, such as a review of business administration, mail
and print expenditure reduction and changing the workplace. More recently
identified reviews include reducing the wage bill, estate rationalisation (building
on the long-standing changing the workplace programme), procurement,
customer contact and workforce development. Reports on estate rationalisation
and accelerating capital receipts were considered by this Board at its
September, October and November 2020 meetings (Item 46 available here,
Item 22 available here and Item 78 available here respectively).

Page 118

•

In addition to the cross-council reviews, directorates have also carried out
reviews of all services, working towards an indicative target saving of 10% of
gross expenditure or 20% of net expenditure for each directorate.

3.2 The Financial Challenge programme is being carried out across all services with a
cross-council ‘Silver’ group set up to provide support and ensure a co-ordinated,
consistent approach. Directors have carried out peer reviews of each other’s
emerging proposals to provide additional high support and high challenge and
Scrutiny Board working groups have also met to consider proposals brought to this
Executive Board and for further support and challenge to identify new proposals.
3.3 The outcome from the reviews has led to a set of savings proposals which are
categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) or ‘Service Review’ proposals:
•

BAU proposals are those that do not require consultation to implement: for
example, they relate to improving the efficiency of the service, are cost
reduction measures with no impact on service users or, where there are
budgeted staffing reductions, these are anticipated to be met through deletion of
vacant posts or voluntary means, as has been collectively agreed. Where
voluntary measures have a modest and/or residual impact on the workforce,
local / BAU consultation would be expected.

•

Service Review proposals (some cross-council, some service-specific) are
those requiring consultation: for example, the way in which a service is
delivered or the level of service provided is impacted and so meaningful
consultation with service users is needed; and/or the proposal relates to a
significant internal restructure, requiring consultation with trade unions and staff.

3.4 A summary of the BAU proposals is provided at Annexe 4.1. The total value of these
proposals is £2.9m. The Service Review proposals are summarised at Annexe 4.2
with a total value of £2.3m. Executive summaries and equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration screening documents for each Service Review proposal are also
provided. Any new savings identified from the cross-council reviews have been
captured within the BAU and Service Review proposals. The combined value of the
BAU and Service Review proposals set out in today’s report is £5.2m. Further
savings proposals to address the remaining estimated budget gap will be brought to
the Executive Board in February as part of the recommended Budget 2021/22 report.
General Fund: Revenue Budget 2021/22 - savings proposed
3.5 Table 1 summarises the proposals set out in this report for the Board’s consideration.
Business as Usual
Directorate
Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Cross-council

Service reviews

Total

2021/22
savings /
£'000s

FTE
budgeted
posts

2021/22
savings /
£'000s

FTE
budgeted
posts

2021/22
savings /
£'000s

FTE
budgeted
posts

0
2,500
0
383
0
0
2,883

0.0
-5.0
0.0
-4.5
0.0
0.0
-9.5

0
0
0
223
0
2,100
2,323

0.0
0.0
0.0
-7.0
0.0
0.0
-7.0

0
2,500
0
606
0
2,100
5,206

0.0
-5.0
0.0
-11.5
0.0
0.0
-16.5

Table 1: Summary of 2021/22 Revenue Budget Savings Proposals for December Exec Board

Page 119

3.6

Should these December proposals be approved, the total savings for 2021/22
approved by this Board since September are as follows:

2021/22 revenue savings

£'m

Capital programme review
September Executive Board

£'m
-0.3

Savings proposals
September Executive Board
October Executive Board
November Executive Board
December Executive Board

-32.3
-7.9
-17.6
-5.2

TOTAL

-63.1 (rounded)

-63.4

Table 2: Summary of 2021/22 Revenue Budget Savings Proposals Sep to Dec Executive Board

Staffing implications
3.7

The implications of the savings proposals set out in today’s report project a potential
reduction of 16.5 FTE budgeted posts with a further potential reduction of 81 FTE
budgeted posts through a review of the Housing Revenue Account (further detail is
provided in the cover report at section 12). Combined with the proposals approved
at September’s, October’s and November’s Executive Board meetings (816.5 FTE
budgeted post reductions – including 50 HRA-funded FTE posts), the total potential
reduction is 914 FTE budgeted posts.

3.8

The council issued a Section 188 Notice to the trade unions in June 2020
confirming our duty to consult to avoid, reduce and mitigate the risk and
consequences of compulsory redundancies. Pursuant to the council’s Managing
Staff Reductions Policy, a range of voluntary measures are now being progressed,
including early retirement, flexible retirement, severance and other voluntary
changes to working patterns.

3.9

The expressions of interest in the voluntary leavers’ scheme were very high and,
following the scheme’s closure at the end of September, decision-making has taken
place over October and November. 1,992 expressions of interest were received
and, of these, 1,058 colleagues reaffirmed their interest in leaving under the Early
Leavers’ Initiative (ELI) scheme: 900 through voluntary retirement, 158 through
voluntary severance.

3.10 To date a total of 714 staff have been approved at panel for exit by the 31st March
2021 and, as of the 30th November 2020, 148 of these people have exited the
organisation. Work continues to progress other cases through the decision making
process and further ELI panels are booked in for December to facilitate further exits.
3.11 A collectively agreed framework has been established to ensure meaningful and
frequent consultation with trade unions colleagues takes place regarding the impact
of the approved voluntary measures in the context of progressing the service
reviews already agreed by Executive Board.

Page 120

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 Senior officers and elected members have been engaged in developing the savings
proposals set out in today’s report. Trade unions have also been informed in
headline terms of the emerging proposals. Where required, further consultation and
engagement will be carried out with staff, trade unions, service users and the public
as appropriate on the Service Review proposals set out at Annexe 4.2.
4.1.2 Scrutiny Boards have considered the September, October and November Executive
Board proposals as relevant to their remits and will also carry out further
consideration of these December Executive Board proposals through their meetings
in January 2021. (Please refer to Appendix 3 for the Scrutiny Board report on their
savings consultation to date.)
4.1.3 The outcomes of any consultation will inform the council’s decision-making and be
incorporated into the 2021/22 Budget Report) timetabled for initial consideration at
February’s Executive Board.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have “due regard” to the need to
eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. The law
requires that the duty to pay “due regard” be demonstrated in the decision making
process. Assessing the potential equality impact of proposed changes to policies,
procedures and practices is one of the key ways in which public authorities can
show due regard.
4.2.2 The council is fully committed to ensuring that equality and diversity are given
proper consideration when we develop policies and make decisions. In order to
achieve this, the council has an agreed process in place and has particularly
promoted the importance of the process when taking forward key policy or
budgetary changes. Equality impact assessments also ensure that we make well
informed decisions based on robust evidence.
4.2.3 Equality impact screenings have been carried out on the service review savings
proposals and included with those proposals at Annexe 4.2. Where appropriate,
equality impact assessments will be carried out as part of the decision-making
process.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Best Council Plan sets out the council’s ambitions, outcomes and priorities for
the organisation and the city, many delivered in partnership. The current plan is
therefore aligned with both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and its
annual budget. To help mitigate the pressures on the financial sustainability of the
council – significantly exacerbated by the impacts of COVID-19 - it is imperative that
the proposals contained in this report are considered in order that the council’s
strategic priorities can be delivered within a robust financial framework.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 There are no specific implications for the climate emergency resulting from this
report.

Page 121

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 All resources, procurement and value for money implications are considered in the
summary and main body of this paper and the cover report.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 Decisions giving effect to the Business as Usual proposals included in this report
can be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer
Scheme of delegation (Executive functions) and will be subject to the Executive and
decision – making procedure rules. Notice of any decision which is “Key” will be
published on the list of forthcoming decision not less than 28 clear calendar days in
advance of the date of the proposed decision.
4.5.2 Decisions giving effect to the Service Reviews will be made following the outcome
of consultation having regard to representations made. Decisions will be taken by
the relevant Director or Chief Officer following the procedure set out in paragraph
4.5.1 above, save where the Leader or the relevant Portfolio Holder has directed or
the Director considers that the matter should be referred to Executive Board for
consideration.
4.5.3 As a decision of Executive Board, the recommendations in this paper are eligible for
call-in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The financial projections for 2021/22 contain a number of inherent risks even
without taking account of the impact of COVID-19. These include risks associated
with budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and demographic pressures
and key income budgets that rely upon the number of users of a service. In
addition the approved Budget makes assumptions in respect of the level of
resources that are receivable through council tax, business rates and government
grants.
4.6.2 Factoring in the impact of COVID-19, the financial position for 2021/22 makes a
number of assumptions around income, expenditure and collection rates for both
Business Rates and Council Tax – the pandemic will continue to affect the levels
that can be collected. Any variations from these assumptions has implications for
the level of resources available to the council to fund services.
4.6.3 There also remain uncertainties around the impacts of the Government’s
Comprehensive Spending Review, business rates reform and Fair Funding Review
and Government’s intentions for the future funding of social care.
4.6.4 These risks and assumptions will be subject to review as more information
becomes available and through the council’s financial management, monitoring and
reporting processes.
4.6.5 This report contains several budget saving proposals that will be subject to
consultation. There remains a risk that there is slippage in the implementation of
these proposals or that the assumptions contained in these proposals change as a
result of the consultation exercises. This could lead to a variation in the assumed
level of savings and the council’s ability to set a balanced budget for 2021/22.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

The council faces an unprecedented financial challenge with an estimated budget
gap for 2021/22 of £118.8m. In response, the authority has carried out a review of
Page 122

its capital programme and established a ‘Financial Challenge’ programme of service
reviews to identify savings that will contribute towards closing the estimated budget
gap and enable the authority to present a robust, balanced budget position in
2021/22. These aim to protect services that support the most vulnerable whilst
ensuring that the organisation becomes more financially resilient and sustainable for
the future.
5.2

Thus far, £63.4m (rounded) of savings have been identified through the reviews
(£58.2m approved at September’s and October’s Executive Board meeting,
including £0.3m from the capital programme review, and a further £5.2m for
consideration through this report). Work continues to identify further savings with
proposals to come to this Board in February through the Budget 2021/22 report.

5.3

Meaningful consultation will be carried out with staff, trade unions, service users
and the public on proposals as required with the results used to inform the decisions
taken in respect of Service Reviews.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is requested to:
a)

Note the financial position for 2021/22 outlined in this paper and that further
savings are required to deliver a balanced budget position;

b)

Note the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and that decisions to give effect to them
shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the
Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions);

c)

Agree the recommendations in the ‘Service Review’ proposals at Annexe 4.2
and that consultation commences. And to note that decisions to give effect to
them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, following the
consultation period, in accordance with the Officer delegation scheme
(Executive functions) save where the Leader, relevant portfolio holder or
Director considers that the matter should be referred to Executive Board for
consideration.

7.

Background documents 1

7.1

None

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

1

Page 123

Revenue budget update 2021/22 and budget savings proposals: Executive Board December 2020

Annexe 4.1: ‘Business as Usual’ 2021/22 savings proposals
Table 1: Adults & Health Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Total ‘BAU’ Adults & Health 2021/22 savings

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
-

FTE budgeted
posts
-

0

0.0

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s

FTE budgeted
posts

560

0.0

120

0.0

270

0.0

1,250

0.0

300

-5.0

2,500

-5.0

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
-

FTE budgeted
posts
-

0

0.0

Table 2: Children & Families Directorate
Proposal

Page 124

Reductions in operational running costs across the directorate and a reduction in the additional funding provided for
CLA costs in light of recent trends and the return of schools
Proposal to seek a contribution from the Central Services' Schools Block of DSG (subject to consultation with, and
agreement by, Schools Forum)
Work with providers to negotiate efficiencies in existing contracts
Sector-led improvement income from other local authorities, assumptions around existing grant regimes and target for
in-year funding based on previous successful bids
Deletion of recently vacated posts/costs attributable to Strengthening Families Protecting Children and charges for
training

Total ‘BAU’ Children & Families 2021/22 savings
Table 3: City Development Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Total ‘BAU’ City Development 2021/22 savings

Revenue budget update 2021/22 and budget savings proposals: Executive Board December 2020

Table 4: Communities and Environment Directorate
Proposal
Proposal to delay planned investment in Waste Strategy. The full year delay of introducing changes or new services to
improve recycling rates/reduce waste to meet the ambitions of the Leeds Waste Strategy. This is in addition to £200k
already agreed at the November Exec Board meeting for the first half of 2021/22. The delay mirrors a year’s delay in
the consultation phase of the national Resource and Waste Strategy, caused by Covid-19 prioritisation. It is expected
this phase will include clarity on changes to legal requirements on waste collections and how funding will be provided
to councils to invest in significant infrastructural changes and subsequent service delivery costs.
Proposal to reduce grant to Groundwork by 10%
To continue the suspension of the household food waste collection pilot offered to 12,343 (3.5%) of homes in Leeds
until the end of 2021/22

Total ‘BAU’ Communities & Environment 2021/22 savings
Page 125

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s

FTE budgeted
posts

225

0.0

8

0.0

150

-4.5

383

-4.5

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
-

FTE budgeted
posts
-

0

0.0

Table 5: Resources & Housing Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Total ‘BAU’ Resources & Housing 2021/22 savings
Table 6: Total ‘BAU’ 2021/22 savings proposals for December Executive Board
Directorate
Adults and Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Total

2021/22 saving / £‘000s

FTE budgeted posts

0
2,500
0
383

0.0
-5.0
0.0
-4.5

2,883

-9.5

0

0

Revenue budget update 2021/22 and budget savings proposals: Executive Board December 2020

Annexe 4.2: Summary Service Review Proposals (reports and equality screenings on each proposal are provided below this summary)
Table 1: Cross-council

Page 126

Proposal

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s

FTE budgeted
posts

A number of organisational design proposals aimed at realigning services to maximise savings, capacity and
collaboration:
a) Proposal to move Housing from Resources & Housing to Communities & Environment;
b) Proposal to move the Contact Centre from Communities & Environment to Resources & Housing
c) Proposal to bring together all Property-related services within City Development, with all Facilities
Management activity delivered and/or coordinated from a single function within Civic Enterprise Leeds; and
d) Proposal to bring together Council Tax and Business Rates & Recovery under Financial Services within
Resources & Housing.
If agreed, these areas will be realigned with effect from 1st April 2021. Service reviews will then be undertaken with
new structure proposals put forward for consideration during 2021/22 to deliver the required savings.
Consideration is also being given to how best to align Youth and Community given the impact of the pandemic on the
young and the inequality challenges still very evident. Proposals will be brought forward for consideration in the
future.

2,100 with
potential for
further savings

N/A at this
stage

2,100

N/A

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
0

FTE budgeted
posts
0.0

0

0.0

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
0

FTE budgeted
posts
0.0

Total cross-council savings proposals requiring consultation
Table 2: Adults & Health Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Total Adults & Health 2021/22 savings proposals requiring consultation
Table 3: Children & Families Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Revenue budget update 2021/22 and budget savings proposals: Executive Board December 2020

Table 3: Children & Families Directorate
Proposal

Total Children & Families 2021/22 savings proposals requiring consultation

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s

FTE budgeted
posts

0

0.0

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
-

FTE budgeted
posts
-

0

0.0

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s

FTE budgeted
posts

73

-3.0

150

-4.0

223

-7.0

2021/22 saving
/ £‘000s
-

FTE budgeted
posts
-

0

0.0

Table 4: City Development Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Total City Development 2021/22 savings proposals requiring consultation

Page 127

Table 5: Communities and Environment Directorate
Proposal
Proposal to implement new intruder monitoring system at 4 sites across the Parks & Countryside portfolio with staff
and trade union consultation
Proposal for a 50% reduction in floral decorations in the city centre and seasonal bedding displays with public
consultation

Total Communities & Environment 2021/22 savings proposals requiring consultation
Table 6: Resources & Housing Directorate
Proposal
No further proposals

Total Resources & Housing 2021/22 savings proposals requiring consultation

Revenue budget update 2021/22 and budget savings proposals: Executive Board December 2020

Table 7: Total proposals requiring consultation for 2021/22 for December Exec Board
Directorate
Cross-council
Adults and Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing

Total

2021/22 saving / £‘000s
2,100
0
0
0
223
0
2,323

FTE budgeted posts
N/A at this stage
0.0
0.0
0.0
-7.0
0.0
-7.0

Page 128

Service review report
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 16th December 2020
Report author(s): Gemma Taskas
Report of: Directors of Resources & Housing, Communities & Environment and City Development
Portfolios: Resources, Communities
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No
Proposal title:
2021/22 savings from proposal

Organisation Design Proposals
£2.1m (with the potential for further savings to be identified)

Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

N/A
Yes
Yes – Trade Union Colleagues
No
N/A

Executive Summary
1.0

Overview

The current context in which the Council finds itself in is very dynamic with both internal and external
factors influencing the future direction of the organisation. Our short-term challenges include the
impact of the COVID pandemic, the current financial position, the subsequent need to reduce the
workforce and our need to deliver new and more efficient ways of working. These challenges sit
alongside longstanding commitments to eradicate duplication, to adapt our services to meet the
demands of a digital age and create thriving communities. Building on the strengths of the Council and
its partners, this is an opportune time to reflect on and review our current structure.
This report sets out, at a high level, a number of structural change proposals that will realign some
services differently within the current Directorate structure.
2.0

Aims of Organisation Design Proposals

In considering changes to our organisation design it is important to understand what is trying to be
achieved as a result of any structural change. The organisation design proposals are intended to
support the delivery of the following aims:
•
•
•
•
•

Maximising the delivery of further financial savings in the short, medium- and long-term on
the back of those leaving under the council’s Early Leavers’ Initiative whilst delivering
sustainable structural change for the future.
Sharing resource where possible to avoid duplication and maximise capacity: whether that
be in terms of staffing resource, leadership capacity, use of systems and technology or
business processes.
Alignment of services to support a more collaborative working approach and the breakdown
of silo’d working.
Refreshed leadership arrangements, capacity and diversity to support the delivery of better
outcomes.
Drive towards digital approach with more automation and self-service functionality to enable

Page 129

•

those who can help themselves to do so
Support the longer term direction of travel towards an organisational design that is grounded
by and focused on the city’s key strategies, outcomes and priorities. In particular, advocating
systems leadership, working with communities and partners to develop asset-based solutions
and moving our locality working agenda to the next level to enhance thriving communities.

In addition, the revised organisation design principles recently agreed at Executive Board in October
2020 will be applied to future structural changes of each service area to deliver the required savings.
3.0

Proposals

The following 4 areas of structural change are being put forward for consideration:
1.

Housing to move from the current Resources & Housing Directorate to Communities &
Environment Directorate to enable better integration, engagement and collaboration across faceto-face services and neighborhood management.
The move of Housing into a new Communities, Housing and Environment directorate will provide
opportunities for further collaboration in a number of areas including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Community and tenant engagement activity;
Anti-social behaviour and related community safety issues;
Priority council estates and links with the priority neighbourhood approach;
Estate management and improved links to environmental services and the broader
environmental condition and impact of council estates including pest control, other
related environmental health services and grounds maintenance functions;
Private sector housing and selective licensing and stronger links to broader communities,
environmental services and community safety activities;
CCTV and the management and operation of support for the city's high rise properties and
strategy;
The development of further opportunities in face-to-face services for local communities
and council tenants, particularly in respect of supporting those most in need and links
with broader welfare, benefits and financial inclusion services;
Links with Leeds housing options and the Leeds Street Support team; and
Opportunities to explore more collaborative approaches to accessing external
funding opportunities maximising on the return of the council's investment in
neighbourhoods and localities.

As part of this work we will also consider opportunities to further strengthen and broaden out our
approach to neighbourhood and locality working, seeking to bring about even further
collaboration and integration across the council and its partners. We will do more to build on the
success of asset-based community development approaches, working closely with communities
and the third sector to enable and support communities doing more for themselves.
The changes proposed will provide an opportunity to explore ways of re-aligning current service
provision in order to increase our focus on key areas, improve outcomes for local people and look
to drive the delivery of efficiencies and savings.
2.

The Contact Centre and Web team to move from the current Communities & Environment
Directorate to Resources & Housing Directorate to better align work on digital, channel shift and
communications with the relevant Support Services functions.
A review will be undertaken in relation to the Contact Centre focusing on the following areas:

Page 130

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
3.

Potential efficiencies and clearer strategy in relation to our Websites and the internal
InSite through joining teams covering this work;
Potential efficiencies through joining of teams undertaking contact centre type work from
across the council;
Assessment of how web content is managed and potential crossovers between Web and
Communications teams;
Assessment of technical web design roles and potential crossovers between Web team
and DIS Application Development;
Review of the technology platforms in use to provide a web presence and opportunities
of any cost savings;
Potential efficiencies and improved prioritisation through joining teams undertaking
Service design work within the Contact Centre and DIS;
Development and delivery of projects which drive contact online and thereby reduce
cost;
Development and delivery of projects which improve the end-to-end user experience and
focus on improvements which result in fewer calls and complaints;
Development and delivery of projects which provide alternate automated means of
handling customer calls;
Development and delivery of projects which manage demand against capacity within the
Contact Centre; and
Development and delivery of initiatives which maximise the call handling capacity and
match this to customer demand peaks.

All Property-related services to be brought together within City Development to align with our
strategic asset management plan and all Facilities Management activity to be delivered and / or
coordinated from a single function within Civic Enterprise Leeds to enable a streamlined,
consistent and more efficient approach.
The proposal takes a revised approach to council-wide property management functions in
directorates, recognising where there are discrete centres of specialist activity whilst providing
clarity and renewed centralised accountability on the decision making, budgeting and
implementation of whole lifecycle property management activities.
It is proposed that property functions are re aligned into the core areas of Property Strategy and
Delivery provided by Asset Management & Regeneration in City Development, Construction and
Maintenance into CEL in Resources and an integrated Housing team. These arrangements will
ensure:
•

•
•
•

A clear and single council lead on property management through Asset Management &
Regeneration which will act on behalf of all service clients, ensuring that solutions are
developed which reflect the overall needs of the council as well as delivering on specific
service priorities.
The internal service provision through CEL is not over-layered by internal contracting and
inspection arrangements and collectively we optimise the income-earning and flexibility
of in-house provision.
The unique needs of the council’s housing tenants are recognised by keeping property
functions “close to the customer” alongside other housing functions. This also allows
augmented and integrated service delivery through the HRA provisions.
The control and oversight of all commissioned building/refurbishment work across the
council. This will ensure the correct assignment of roles and effective, efficient and safe
delivery of the project assurance and value for money consideration.

Page 131

4.

Council Tax and Business Rates & Recovery functions to be brought together under Financial
Services within the current Resources & Housing Directorate to enable the integration of back
office services to deliver efficiencies in operational service delivery and drive channel shift and
self-service approaches.
The integration of the Council administration billing and collection together with business rates
and sundry income collection will allow a single team to deliver a more integrated approach to
administering and delivering these functions to the citizens and businesses of Leeds. The vision is
to provide a better more integrated service to its customers by delivering high quality services,
whilst continuing to maximise collection rates.
The service review will focus on the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To the greatest extent possible, shift specialist expertise to the front of key business
processes, thereby reducing downstream failure activity (from a customer perspective)
and shortening end-to-end process cycle times.
Integrating appropriate level work avoiding duplication and error.
Encouraging and driving automation with the use of AI and self-service wherever
possible. Other examples include automated billing and greater use of direct Debits.
Pushing work down the structure to the lowest level possible to undertake the relevant
task.
Rationalise the management complexity and inconsistency between different levels.
Increasing the spans of control of line managers to the optimum level.
Increasing agility and flexibility across the teams to ensure that resources can be
deployed to meet peaks in demand.
Ensure a culture of ‘right first time’ approach, reducing the number and scope of checks
and audits.
Ensuring proportionality and a risk based approach, to ensure efficient cost of collection,
through benchmarking: for example, debt collection rates and cost per case.

If agreed, these 4 areas outlined above will be realigned to the new directorates with effect from 1st
April 2021. Service reviews will then be undertaken with new structure proposals put forward for
consideration during 21/22 to deliver the required savings. At this point full equality impact
assessments will be undertaken on the detailed proposals at a local service level.
It is also worth noting that consideration is also being given to how best to align the work of the Youth
Service with Communities. This review will be led by the Chief Officer Communities reporting to the
Director of Children’s Services. Thinking around this is still ongoing and proposals will be brought
forward for consideration in the future.
4.0

Recommendations

Executive Board are asked to consider and agree to the proposals set out in section 3.0 above as part
of the council’s medium-term financial strategy and preparation for setting the 2021/22 Budget. Also
to note that the Directors of Resources & Housing, Communities & Environment and City Development
will be responsible.

Page 132

Service review report
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 16th December 2020
Report author(s): Sharon Coates
Report of: James Rogers, Director of Communities & Environment
Portfolio: Communities
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No
Proposal title:

2021/22 savings from proposal
Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Proposal to implement new intruder monitoring system at 4 sites
across the Parks & Countryside portfolio with staff and trade union
consultation
£ 73,000
Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

No
Yes
No
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
Overview
The proposal is to implement a new intruder monitoring system at four sites within the Parks &
Countryside portfolio, the intruder monitor systems will be linked to the LeedsWatch Alarm
Receiving Centre.
Impacts of proposal
An alternative monitoring solution will be provided by LeedsWatch, which would move away from the
current service, to a more advanced technological solution which would alert LeedsWatch when
motion has been detected, the service would have the ability to switch to live CCTV monitoring and
recording of the sites whilst following an agreed procedure and notifying police if appropriate.
Once the new technology solution is in place, this will allow a reduction of three full time equivalents
from the budgeted structure. In line with the corporate approach to reductions in staff FTEs, the
service will consider releasing staff on ELI as and when budget savings actions are consulted on and
progressed. Currently 3 employees are in these budgeted posts, therefore staff that will be affected
and trade unions will be communicated with and consulted with at the earliest opportunity.
Recommendation(s)
Executive Board is requested to:
•

Approve the proposal to implement a new intruder monitoring system at four sites within the
Parks & Countryside portfolio going out to consultation as part of the council’s medium-term
financial strategy and preparation for setting the 2021/22 Budget; and

•

Note that the Director of Communities and Environment, will be responsible.

Page 133

Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment organisational change impacting on the workforce
As a public authority we need to ensure that all organisational change arrangements
impacting on the workforce have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, cohesion
and integration. In all appropriate instances we will need to carry out an equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment.
This form:
• can be used to prompt discussion when carrying out your impact assessment
• should be completed either during the assessment process or following completion
of the assessment
• should include a brief explanation where a section is not applicable
Directorate: Communities and
Environment

Service area: Parks and Countryside Security

Lead person: Joanne Clough

Contact number: 3786002

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:

2. Members of the assessment team:
Name

Organisation

Joanne Clough

Communities and
Environment
Communities and
Environment

Sharon Coates

Role on assessment team
For example, service user, manager
of service, specialist
Manager of Service
Specialist

3. Summary of the organisational change arrangements to be assessed:
To implement a new intruder monitoring system at four sites within the Parks &
Countryside portfolio, that will then be linked to the LeedsWatch Alarm Receiving Centre.

Use from October 2015

Page 134

1

4. Scope of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment
Organisational change
(please tick all appropriate boxes that apply below)
Restructuring and assimilation

x

Reorganisation and job redesign

x

Flexible deployment

x

Early leavers initiative

x

Cessation of a service
Downsizing of a service

x

Switching

x

Recruitment
Equal pay considerations
Job evaluation
Any other organisational change arrangements
Please provide detail:
The details are set out within the main body of the report and this EDCI needs to be read
in conjunction with the report.

Use from October 2015

Page 135

2

4a. Do your proposals relate to:
please tick the appropriate box below
The whole service
x

A specific part of the service
More than one service
Please provide detail:

Security Services

4b. Do your proposals relate to:
please tick the appropriate box below
Employment considerations only

Employment considerations and impact on service delivery

x

Please provide detail:
This proposal will consolidate existing arrangements.
The proposed structure aims to increase local responsiveness, effectiveness and strategic
capacity, whilst improving efficiency and resilience including responding to legislative
changes within this bespoke specialist service provision.

5. Fact finding – what do we already know
Make a note here of all information you’ll be using to carry out this assessment. This could
include previous consultation, involvement, research, results from perception surveys,
equality monitoring and customer or staff feedback.
(priority should be given to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration related information)
Equality monitoring data is gathered as part of normal HR procedures and recorded on SAP.
Data relating to the P&C Service is as follows: General comments – under represented for
women, BME, disabled. Age profile generally representative. This issue carries forward to
both women and BME in senior roles.
A study of the current workforce profile and related diversity issues was undertaken in 2017.
Use from October 2015

Page 136

3

From this, 676 staff in Parks and Countryside of which 561 employed on a permanent basis
with a pool of 115 casual staff (mainly in retail/café) equivalent to 26 full-time employees.
From analysis of the 2017 data the following key issues were highlighted:
• An under-representation of female employees with 19% compared to 51% in the Leeds
population based on the 2011 census
• An under-representation of BME employees with 6% compared to 17% in the Leeds
population based on the 2011 census
• The service has an aging workforce with 65% aged 41 and above
In terms of female and BME employees, this proportion has remained static over the last 5
years. Age profile however has improved from around 70% in 2010 due to around 50
gardeners leaving the service under ELI and the introduction of around 30 apprentices from
2012, with around 7 more anticipated to be recruited each year thereafter.
It should be noted that equality monitoring data is incomplete with an issue of non-disclosure
of information relating to carer status, sexual orientation and religion from existing employees.
In addition from 163 applicants for apprentice roles in 2015, only 5 provided data on age, 7 on
ethnic origin, gender and relationship status compared to 159 who were willing to provide
data on sexual orientation.
The Parks and Countyside service currently employ 3 FTE’s security staff who are all based
at the Arium, working on a shift pattern, covering 24hrs all year round. Cover for annual leave
and sickness is sourced by an external provider.
The staff monitor a number of high value assets across the Parks service via remote
monitoring using CCTV. The security staff are only able to monitor live feed and any incidents
are reported directly through to LeedsWatch, who also undertake the out of hours staff
welfare call checks.
An alternative monitoring solution is to be provided by LeedsWatch, which would move away
from the current service, to a more advanced technological solution which would alert
LeedsWatch when motion has been detected, the service would have the ability to switch to
live CCTV monitoring and recording of the sites whilst following an agreed procedure and
notifying police if appropriate.
LeedsWatch are the Council’s internal specialist service providers and the Parks and
Countryside service is reliant on LeedsWatch to supply all the techonological support in
relation to CCTV services.

Are there any gaps in equality and diversity information
Please provide detail:
Use from October 2015

Page 137

4

Action required:

6. Wider involvement – have you involved groups of people who are most likely to be
affected or interested
x

Yes

No

Please provide detail:

Action required: A consultation exercise has yet to be carried out with the security staff and
Trade Unions.

7. Who may be affected by this activity?
please tick all relevant and significant equality characteristics, stakeholders and barriers that
apply to your strategy, policy, service or function
Equality characteristics
x

Age

x

Gender reassignment

x

Sex (male or female)

x
x

Carers
Race

x
x

Disability
Religion
or belief

Sexual orientation

Other
(for example – marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, social class, income,
unemployment, residential location or family background, education or skills level)
Please specify:

Use from October 2015

Page 138

5

Stakeholders
Services users

Partners

x

Employees

x

Members

Trade Unions
Suppliers

Other please specify
Potential barriers
Built environment

Location of premises and services

Information
and communication

Customer care

Timing

Stereotypes and assumptions

Cost

x

Consultation and involvement

Specific barriers to the organisational change proposals
Please specify

8. Positive and negative impact
Think about what you are assessing (scope), the fact finding information, the potential
positive and negative impact on equality characteristics, stakeholders and the effect of the
barriers
8a. Positive impact:
An alternative monitoring solution will be provided by LeedsWatch, which would move away
from the current service, to a more advanced technological solution.

Action required:
For the Parks and Countryside CCTV services to be managed by the Council’s in house
specialist service provider namely, LeedsWatch.

Use from October 2015

Page 139

6

8b. Negative impact:
As a result of the proposal, three security staff A1/A3 will in the first instance be displaced
due to the deletion of these posts. This change affects two male and one female
employees.
Action required:
In line with Managing Staff Reductions Policy selection, it will be important to support the
staff to find suitable alternative employment. These opportunities are likely at a graded
equivalent or higher than the substantive A1/A3 grade. It will be necessary to undertake a
skills analysis to help with this process.
Assess individual instances on a case by case basis, including the potential for any
reimbursement in line with Council policy.
Review physical access needs to buildings when appointing and assigning staff location.
Assess any adverse affects of staff relocation in line with Council policy.
To ensure that information is communicated to all absent employees at their place of
residence by the most appropriate method.
Assess individual circumstances at application, interview and appointment in line with
Council policy
9. Will this activity promote strong and positive relationships between the groups
or communities identified?
Yes

x

No

Please provide detail:

Action required:

10. Does this activity bring groups or communities into increased contact with each
other (for example in schools, neighbourhood or the workplace)?
x

Yes

No

Please provide detail:

Use from October 2015

Page 140

7

Action required:
The scope of this assessment is focussed on employee issues and as such community
groups have not been involved.

11. Could this activity be perceived as benefiting one group at the expense of
another?
x

Yes

No

Please provide detail:

Action required: The very nature of security services and working out of hours can
attract a high turnover of staff and competing for specific shift patterns and hours to fit in
with private domestic arrangements. LeedsWatch already being the inhouse service
provider, may not have other job opportunities for the Parks security staff.

Use from October 2015

Page 141

8

12. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration action plan
(insert all your actions from your assessment here, set timescales, measures and identify a lead person for each action)
Action

To ensure that information is
communicated to all
employees who will be
effected.
Page 142

Utilise the LCC Managing Staff
Reductions and recruitment
process.

Work with LeedsWatch to
explore alternative
employment opportunities

Timescale

Dec 2020

March 2021

March 2021

Measure

Ensure all employees who are
effected by the proposals are
made aware via the
consultation process including
Trade Unions.
Assess individual
circumstances and support
staff within the MSR process

The Parks Security Staff have
the same opportunities as the
LeedsWatch employees to
apply for available posts as
part of the LeedsWatch review.

Lead person

Joanne Clough

Joanne Clough

Joanne Clough / Jayne Russell

9

Action

Timescale

Measure

Lead person

Page 143
10

13. Governance, ownership and approval
State here who has approved the actions and outcomes from the equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration impact assessment
Name
Job title
Date
Trading and Operational
4 December 2020
Joanne Clough
Support Manager
14. Monitoring progress for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration actions
(please tick)
x

As part of service planning performance monitoring
As part of project monitoring
Update report will be agreed and provided to the appropriate board
Please specify which board
Other (please specify)

15. Publishing
If this equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment relates to a key
delegated decision, executive board, full council or a significant operational decision
a copy should be emailed to corporate governance and will be published along with the
relevant report.
A copy of all other equality and diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment’s
should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record keeping purposes it will be kept
on file (but not published).
Date impact assessment completed

4/12/20

If relates to a key decision – date sent to corporate governance
Any other decision – date sent to equality team

11
Page 144

Service review report
Report to: Executive Board
Date of meeting: 16th December 2020
Report author(s): Sean Flesher
Report of: Director of Communities and Environment
Portfolio: Environment and Active Lifestyles
Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? No
Proposal title:

A 50% reduction in floral decorations in the city centre and
seasonal bedding displays

2021/22 savings from proposal

£150k

Who are you expecting to
consult with?

Service users?
Staff?
Other stakeholders?

Are there equalities implications?
If yes, have you attached a screening document?

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Executive Summary
Overview
Many parks and green spaces have seasonal beds which are removed and replanted twice each year with
bedding plants supplied by the Arium. Parks and Countryside also provide floral decorations (such as hanging
baskets, troughs and planters) provided mainly in the city centre. This is in addition to those provided to ‘in
bloom’ groups which are not included in this proposal.
It is proposed that the area of summer bedding displays in parks and other green spaces is reduced by around
50% to make a saving of £134k via plants supplied from the Arium as well as the seasonal removal and planting
required. As part of the delivery of these options there may also be scope to convert some seasonal bedding
areas to more sustainable planting to provide colour and landscape interest through the use of naturalistic
‘wildflower’ type displays, although there is also a cost associated with creating these which would need to be
taken into account. In addition a reduction of 50% of floral decorations in the city centre would result in a
saving of £16k.

Impacts of proposal
There would be an impact in particular on the visual appeal of the city centre area however there is a potential
opportunity via sponsorship etc. to mitigate the impact of the proposal. The proposal would fit well with
climate change objectives as it would reduce watering and other resources associated with providing
temporary displays of non-native plants.
In line with the corporate approach to reductions in staff FTEs, the service will consider releasing staff on ELI as
and when budget savings actions are consulted on and progressed. Currently 4 FTE staff are in these budgeted
posts, therefore staff that will be affected and trade unions will be communicated with and consulted with at
the earliest opportunity.

Recommendations
It is recommended that consideration is given to the following:

Page 145

•
•
•

Consider the proposal to remove 50% of containerised floral decorations mainly in the city centre along
with a reduction in seasonal bedding to achieve a £150k saving
Approve the proposal going out to consultation as part of the council’s medium-term financial strategy
and preparation for setting the 2021/22 Budget.
Note that James Rogers, the Director of Communities and Environment, will be responsible.

Page 146

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate:
Communities and Environment
Lead person: Sean Flesher

Service area:
Parks and Countryside
Contact number: 0113 3788159

1. Title: A 50% reduction in floral decorations in the city centre and seasonal
bedding displays
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

X

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
It is proposed that the area of summer bedding displays in parks and other green
spaces is reduced by around 50% to make a saving of £134k via plants supplied from
the Arium as well as the seasonal removal and planting required.
As part of the delivery of these options there may also be scope to convert some
seasonal bedding areas to more sustainable planting to provide colour and landscape
interest through the use of naturalistic ‘wildflower’ type displays, although there is also a
cost associated with creating these which would need to be taken into account. In
addition a reduction of 50% of floral decorations in the city centre would result in a
saving of £16k.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 147

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 148

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
Many parks and green spaces have seasonal beds which are removed and replanted
twice each year with bedding plants supplied by the Arium. Parks and Countryside also
provide floral decorations (such as hanging baskets, troughs and planters) provided
mainly in the city centre. This is in addition to those provided to ‘in bloom’ groups which
are not included in this proposal.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
There are no identified impacts on different equality characteristics however care will be
required in selecting sites to ensure a fair distribution across the city.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Consultation will be undertaken around these proposals to enable communities potentially
impacted to inform site selection.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 149

3

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Sean Flesher
Chief Officer Parks and
2nd December 2020
Countryside
Date screening completed
2nd December 2020
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 150

4

Appendix 5

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Resources and Housing

Service area: Corporate Financial
Management

Lead person: Victoria Bradshaw

Contact number: 88540

1. Title: Proposed Budget 2021/22
Is this a:
x

Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The council is required to publish its proposed budget two months prior to approval
of the Budget by Full Council in February 2021. The proposed budget report for
2021/22 sets out the Executive’s plans to deliver a balanced budget within the
overall funding envelope. It should be noted that the budget represents a financial
plan for the forthcoming year and individual decisions to implement these plans will
be subject to equality impact assessments where appropriate.

Page 151

Appendix 5

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All of the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees
or the wider community – city-wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No

X
X
X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

Page 152

Appendix 5

The proposed budget identifies a savings requirement of £94.5m due to the impact of
COVID-19 and unavoidable pressures such as inflation and demand/demography.
Savings proposals to bridge this gap will affect all citizens of Leeds to some extent. The
Council has consulted on its priorities in recent years and has sought to protect the most
vulnerable groups. However, the cumulative effect of successive annual government
funding reductions, means that protecting vulnerable groups is becoming increasingly
difficult. Where consultation is required and has not already commenced with regard to
the specific proposals contained in this report this will be carried out before the final
budget for 2021/22 is agreed.
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The budget proposals will impact on all communities and protected characteristics but
those who have been identified as being at the greatest potential risk include:
•
•
•
•
•

Disabled people
BAME communities
Older and younger people
Women
Low socio-economic groups

The proposed budget has identified the need for staffing savings in all areas of the
Council which may impact on the workforce profile in terms of the at-risk groups. There
will be some impact on our partners through commissioning and/or grant support which
may have a knock on effect for our most vulnerable groups.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Equality screening has already been carried out for all of the relevant budget savings
proposals included in the position set out in this report. An overall strategic equality
impact assessment of the budget will be undertaken prior to its approval in February
2021.
There will also be further equality impact assessments on all key decisions as they go
through the decision making process in 2021/22.
5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment

Page 153

Appendix 5

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Victoria Bradshaw
Chief Officer Financial
7th December 2020
Services
Date screening completed
7th December 2020
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 7th December 2020
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

Page 154

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Phil Cole
Tel: 0113 378 7872

Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16 December 2020
Subject: Lease Agreement for Leeds Media Centre
Capital Scheme Number : 33054/LMC/000
Are specific electoral Wards affected?

Yes

No

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for Call-In?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Chapel Allerton Ward
Has consultation been carried out?

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Summary
1. Main issues


Leeds Media Centre is a Council-owned property in close proximity to the City
Centre. The building was developed in the late 1990s as a Media Centre providing
office and studio space at an affordable rent to small businesses, social enterprises
and voluntary organisations with a particular focus on the creative and digital
sectors.



The building is in need of an upgrade, refurbishment and a reconfiguration to both
sustain and boost its role as a managed workspace. The building suffers from longstanding issues related to the configuration of the internal space, the energy
efficiency rating of the building and the quality of the office accommodation which
combined impact on the long term sustainability of the building.



An application for European funding for the capital improvements has been
submitted by the Council, with the building operator, Unity Property Services Ltd.
The aim of the £1.6m capital project is to upgrade, refurbish and reconfigure Leeds

Page 155

Media Centre to provide affordable managed workspace and grow-on space for
organisations working in the Creative and Digital sector.


Unity Property Services Ltd (UPS) have submitted a 30 year business plan for the
operation of the Media Centre, and once the decision has been made on the
European funding for the scheme, it is proposed to enter into a long term Full
Repairing and Insuring (FRI) lease with Unity Property Services Ltd.



The lease with UPS will be for a period of 15 years on a peppercorn rent with an
associated grant agreement approved by Executive Board in July 2019.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The project supports the clear ambitions set out in the Best Council Plan (20202025), and will contribute to the Best City Priorities of Inclusive Growth and Culture.



The approach set out in the Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy (2018-2023) aims to
support places and communities adapt to economic change. The project makes a
contribution to delivering the ambitions of the Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy ,
specifically three of the Growth Strategy’s twelve big ideas :
a. Big Idea Ten : Backing Innovators and Entrepreneurs in Business and Social
Enterprises
b. Big Idea Five : Supporting Places and Communities to respond to economic
change
c. Big Idea Seven : Building a federal economy – helping to create jobs close to
communities



The refurbishment of Leeds Media Centre aims to make the building more
sustainable and more accessible to local businesses and aspiring entrepreneurs.
The associated business advice element aims to develop local enterprises in the
creative and digital sectors to survive and grow, enhancing the capacity of the
creative economy in the city.

3. Resource Implications


The funding package for Leeds Media Centre was approved at Executive Board in
July 2019. This included a total of £800,000 to the operator of the Media Centre,
with £300,000 allocated from the Creative and Digital Workspace Transformation
Fund and £500,000 funded directly by the Council, which will be repaid to the
Council by the centre operator. The £800,000 capital contribution will be used to
deliver a £1.6m refurbishment and reconfiguration of the premises. Subject to a
successful appraisal and approval in early December, the remaining £800,000
would come from the European Structural and Investment Funds Programme 20142020.



The proposed project represents an excellent opportunity to significantly upgrade
and improve a Council owned building, thereby ensuring a minimum additional 25
years of economic life as a small business centre, as well as generating an ongoing
rental income based on its existing use providing small office spaces let on flexible
terms to small businesses and/ or social enterprises.

Page 156



The proposed 15 year lease and associated grant agreement provides a
mechanism to repay £500,000 of LCC capital borrowing, reducing the overall cost
to the Council of the project to £300,000. In return, the project will provide suitable
accommodation for businesses in the creative/digital sectors for the next 15 years
and will deliver a significant enhancement to the capital value of the property asset.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
1. approve in principle a Full Repairing and Insuring lease of the Leeds Media
Centre to Unity Property Services Ltd on a peppercorn rent basis for a term
of 15 years.
2. delegate to the Director of City Development the final terms of the lease, at
less than best consideration.
3. agree the exemption for call-in on the basis that the decisions are urgent due
to the short timescales provided by the ESIF appraisal process

Page 157

1

Purpose of this report

1.1

To approve in principle a 15 year, full repairing and insuring lease of the Leeds
Media Centre to Unity Property Services Ltd on a peppercorn rent basis.

1.2

To delegate to the Director of City Development the responsibility of agreeing the
final terms of the new lease and associated grant agreement, at less than best
consideration, subject to any final issues that may arise.

2

Background information

2.1

Leeds Media Centre is a Council-owned property in close proximity to the City Centre.
The building was developed in the late 1990s as a Media Centre providing office and
studio space at an affordable rent to small businesses, social enterprises and
voluntary organisations with a particular focus on the creative and digital sectors.

2.2

The centre has proved a popular small workspace facility, with occupancy at around
85% of the lettable space. It has acted as a small scale hub for creative and digital
businesses, with tenants including a local TV channel, an internet radio station and a
number of small media producers.

2.3

The building, however, has a number of long-standing building issues, which were
not addressed in the original development in the 1990s, nor subsequently: it has a
poor energy efficiency rating and a proportion of internal space which has been
difficult to let since the centre was created. The building is therefore in need of an
upgrade, refurbishment and a reconfiguration to both sustain and boost its role as a
managed workspace, thereby supporting future small business growth, and to
significantly improve its environmental sustainability.

2.4

Leeds Media Centre is currently managed on the Council’s behalf by Unity Property
Services Ltd (UPS), a not-for-profit social enterprise, owned by Unity Housing
Association Limited. In addition to Leeds Media Centre, UPS manages two other
business centres; Unity Business Centre and Chapeltown Enterprise Centre. The
organisation has a long track record of successfully managing these centres and
supporting small businesses, social enterprises and voluntary organisations
operating in the Chapeltown and Harehills areas of the city.

2.5

The Council has been working with UPS since February 2019 to develop a project to
upgrade Leeds Media Centre, reconfiguring some of the internal space to create a
new business workspace facility and some new grow-on units to support new
entrepreneurs. The project aims to secure a minimum of 25 years’ future life for the
building as affordable workspace let on flexible terms which meet the needs of small
businesses, particularly those operating in the Digital and Creative sectors, and to
tackle the issues relating to the building’s economic and environmental sustainability.

2.6

During 2019, the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government issued a
‘call for proposals’ for capital projects to provide new or refurbished facilities for
incubation or managed workspace for small and medium-sized businesses, funded
by the European Structural and Investment Funds Programme 2014-2020 (ESIF).
The ESIF Programme offers up to 50% of costs towards eligible projects, thereby
doubling the resources available, and this provided an opportunity to secure funding

Page 158

to invest in a Council-owned property asset to provide managed workspace and growon space, which is suitable to support new and small businesses.
2.7

The proposed ESIF-funded project will reconfigure this space into a new business
incubation facility and some new grow-on units to support new entrepreneurs. It will
upgrade the Leeds Media Centre premises and create new lettable space to support
new/young businesses particularly those in the Creative and Digital sector. The total
value of the capital project is just under £1.6m: £800k from the ESIF Programme, and
£800k match funding.

2.8

At Executive Board in July 2019, the funding package for Leeds Media Centre was
approved. The funding package approved included: a total of £800,000 to the
operator of the Media Centre, UPS, with £300,000 allocated from the Creative and
Digital Workspace Transformation Fund and £500,000 funded directly by the Council,
which will be repaid to the Council by UPS. UPS will use the £800,000 capital
contribution towards delivery of the £1.6m refurbishment and reconfiguration of the
premises.

2.9

Authorisation for the Director of City Development to enter into all contracts and
funding agreements associated with the Leeds Media Centre Project, and to agree
final, detailed terms was also approved at the July 2019 Executive Board meeting.

2.10

A decision on the application for ESIF funding is expected in early December 2020.
Subject to this approval, the procurement and appointment of contractors will take
place with works envisaged to commence early in 2021 and be completed by
February 2022.

3.0

Main issues

3.1

Leeds City Council is acting as the applicant and lead partner for the ESIF funding:
UPS will act as delivery partner, manage the proposed capital project and the
associated ESIF liabilities. UPS has extensive experience of European funds,
having delivered a successful refurbishment of Unity Business Centre and
Chapeltown Enterprise Centre in partnership with the Council during 2011- 2014.

3.2

Once the decision has been made on the ESIF funding for the scheme, it is
proposed to enter into a new lease arrangement with UPS. UPS have submitted a
30 year business plan for the operation of the Media Centre, which was the basis
for the approved grant and loan package approved in 2019. This demonstrates that
a £500,000 borrowing facility can be serviced and repaid through additional income
over a 15 year operational period. The additional income is forecast to be generated
from the creation of additional units in the premises which can be let to small
businesses.

3.3

An agreement for lease will be entered into which will allow Unity to undertake the
works, and the full lease will commence upon satisfactory completion of the works.
The agreement for lease will be for a period of up to 24 months to allow sufficient
time for the works to be completed. The current expectation is that the full lease will
be invoked in spring 2022.

Page 159

3.4

Following the agreement for lease period, it is proposed that the Council enters into
a 15 year, full repairing and insuring lease of the Leeds Media Centre to UPS on a
peppercorn rent basis. This reflects the need to service and pay back the £500,000
borrowing facility agreed by Executive Board in July 2019 and to keep the lettable
units on affordable rents for prospective tenants. A term of 15 years is proposed to
allow sufficient time to complete the proposed capital project, meet all the
associated project costs and repay the £500,000 borrowing facility.

3.5

Furthermore, it is proposed that the lease is reviewed every five years to ensure
that the operating business model is meeting the original objectives set out above
and that sufficient income is being generated to service and pay back the
£500,000 over that 15 year period.

3.6

The market rental value of the Leeds Media Centre after the proposed
refurbishment works are completed has been assessed. It is proposed the 15 year
lease to UPS will be granted for a peppercorn rent which is below market value and
therefore will be on a less than best basis.

4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1

This proposal has been subject to consultation with the Executive Member for
Inclusive Growth and Culture, through the approval of the original funding package
in summer 2019, and subsequently through the Council’s Capital Programme
Review process in September 2020. Chapel Allerton Ward Members were
consulted on 24 June 2019: further consultations have not taken place as the
fundamental project details remain the same.

4.1.2

The proposals have also been discussed and agreed with the Director of City
Development. Senior Officers in the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, Leeds
City Council Legal, Finance, Land and Property, and Asset Management and
Regeneration have been consulted on this proposal.

4.1.3

The proposal is aligned with the ‘Creative and Digital Workspace’ report (May 2019)
which analyses the current supply of commercial space for the creative and digital
sector within the city centre and the immediate fringe areas, the types of workspace
currently available, and its exact locations. This research identified and emphasised
the need for the Council to support affordable workspace in close proximity to the
City Centre, which could be utilised by new and young small businesses, particularly
those operating in the creative sectors. The proposal complements the Council’s
experience of providing services to new and young enterprises as part of the
Ad:Venture business support programme, as well as the other projects within the
Creative Workspace Transformation Fund, namely Hope Foundry and Leeds Arts
Hostel.

Page 160

4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1

Consideration of equality and diversity are an integral part of the development and
appraisal process for ESIF projects. An equality, diversity and cohesion impact
screening has been completed, provided at appendix 1 identifying that the project
will have a neutral or positive effect on equality groups.

4.3

Council Policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1

The project supports the clear ambitions set out in the Leeds Inclusive Growth
Strategy (2018-2023) and Best Council Plan (2020-2025). The approach set out in
the Inclusive Growth Strategy aims to support places and communities adapt to
economic change. Leeds Media Centre is located in Chapeltown within the Chapel
Allerton ward, one of the twelve priority wards in Leeds. The development of
Leeds Media Centre aims to make the building more sustainable and more
accessible to local businesses and aspiring entrepreneurs.

4.3.2

The project makes a contribution to delivering the ambitions of the Leeds Inclusive
Growth Strategy. The project delivers against three of the Growth Strategy’s
twelve big ideas :


Big Idea Ten : Backing Innovators and Entrepreneurs in Business and
Social Enterprises – the project supports start-ups and scale-ups by
providing business incubation facilities & small units at affordable rents in
close proximity to Leeds City Centre.



Big Idea Five : Supporting Places & Communities to respond to economic
change – the project is an example of the Council using its assets to
support business growth in local communities.



Big Idea Seven : Building a federal economy – helping to create jobs close
to communities

Climate Emergency
4.3.3

The project is an example of a practical response to the Climate Emergency
declared by the Council. The project will significantly improve the building’s
energy efficiency rating and the project will be required to achieve a BREEAM
‘good’ rating as part of applying for ESIF funding. BREEAM is a world leading
sustainability assessment process for developments, infrastructure and buildings.

4.3.4

The Leeds Media Centre was originally built in 1936 and is a good example of a
1930s art deco building. It is located in the Chapeltown Conservation Area and
any proposed refurbishment works affecting the external fabric of the building are
subject to planning controls that reflect its history and architecture. Conservation
officer review took place as part of the preparation for submitting the ESIF
application and full planning permission has been approved.

Page 161

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1

In the current financial climate, funding available to deliver against key priorities,
is low. The ESIF programme is the largest economic development programme
currently operating in the Leeds City Region, and this is the last opportunity to
access funding from the programme which closes to applications in December
2020

4.4.2

This is a genuine opportunity for the Council. It is a significant source of external
grant funding which can contribute up to 50% of the costs of projects thereby
doubling the resources available.

4.4.3

The proposed project represents an excellent opportunity to significantly upgrade
and improve a Council owned building and ensure a minimum additional 25 years
of economic life as a small business centre providing affordable flexible
workspace aimed at new/young businesses particularly those in the Creative and
Digital sectors.

4.4.4

The building and the market rental of the lease have been valued as part of the
overall development process. The market rental value of the Leeds Media Centre
after the proposed refurbishment works are completed has been valued at a
maximum potential value of £95,697 per annum. Accordingly this is the maximum
rental value foregone on less than best terms per annum, during the term of the
lease. It is proposed that the 15 year lease to UPS will be granted for a peppercorn
rent, which is below market value, and therefore the lease will be on a ‘less than
best’ basis.

4.4.5

An independent valuation of the property has also been carried out, establishing
the unrestricted open market value of the property in its current condition, and its
value after the proposed refurbishment. The assessment indicated that the
unrestricted open market value of the property in its current condition to be
£500,000, and £1,350,000 after the proposed refurbishment. The independent
valuation also confirmed that the capital project could not be financed on
commercial terms, hence this opportunity represents the only realistic means of
financing the project in the current climate. The valuations of both the lease and
of the property were carried out in the early part of 2020, prior to the Covid-19
pandemic and reflect market conditions at that time. It should be noted that the
impact on property values is therefore uncertain.

4.4.6

The project partnership with UPS helps to share the risks involved in both
delivering this capital investment project and in managing the premises post
refurbishment.

4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1

The decision to approve the lease in principle and the decision to delegate final
terms of the lease to the Director of City Development is recommended to be
exempt from call-in on the basis that the decisions are urgent due to the short
timescales provided by the ESIF appraisal process and the need to confirm as
quickly as possible and in line with the approval timetable set out at 2.10 above.
This new lease arrangement with UPS has been developed specifically to take

Page 162

into account the refurbishment and upgrade of the Media Centre, and the funding
package as set out elsewhere in this report, and is therefore dependent upon the
approval of the ESIF funding. The appraisal of the ESIF funding application has
been significantly delayed because of the impact of Covid-19, and the reallocation
of staff resources in both Leeds City Council and in Government to focus on
immediate and urgent responses to the pandemic. Should the decision be
delayed by the operation of the call-in mechanism, the Council could lose the
opportunity to access up to £800,000 from the European Structural & Investment
Funds (ESIF).
4.5.2

Under the terms of the Withdrawal Agreement, the UK continues to participate in
the 2014-2020 European Structural and Investment Funds programme, and will
do so until programme closure. Funding can be awarded to new projects until the
end of December 2020 and the end of the transition period, and project delivery is
permitted until 2023.

4.5.3

Local authorities have a general statutory power to dispose of land in any manner
they wish, under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. The disposal must
not be for less than the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained, unless
specific Secretary of State consent is obtained or the disposal is permitted under
the General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 which allows local authorities to
dispose of any interest in land at less than the best consideration that can
reasonably be obtained subject to the following conditions:


the authority must be of the opinion that the disposal is likely to contribute to the
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being
of their area or people living or working there; and



the difference between the unrestricted value of the land (basically the
unrestricted market value of the land, ignoring any conditions voluntarily
imposed by the authority) and the actual consideration for the disposal must not
exceed £2,000,000.

For the reasons set out above, the Director of City Development considers that
granting the lease to UPS for the purposes outlined will contribute to improving the
economic wellbeing of Leeds and the foregone market rent is within the £2,000,000
limit: therefore it is considered that the proposed lease is permitted by the General
Disposal Consent.
4.5.4

EU State aid rules make it unlawful to use state resources to grant aid to
organisations engaged in economic activity if that aid provides an advantage
which distorts or has the potential to distort competition unless the aid is approved
by the EU Commission or falls within an exemption. Aid includes granting a lease
of state-owned property for less than best consideration. The ESIF appraisal
process for the proposed refurbishment project requires a rigorous assessment of
any State aid implications and the Council and UPS sought independent State aid
advice to ensure that the project is fully compliant with State aid regulations.
Article 56 of the General Block Exemption Regulations 651/2014 permits aid for
local infrastructure up to 100% of the relevant eligible investment costs. The
independent State aid advice has confirmed that the proposed use of Leeds
Media Centre after the renovation works are complete falls within the definition of

Page 163

local infrastructure for the purposes of the Article 56 exemption and that the
granting of lease at less than market rent would be an eligible investment cost.
4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1

The proposed project has a number of risks which relate to the nature of the ESIF
funding programme, risks associated with a major refurbishment project and risks
over a future rental income stream which is sufficient to repay the proposed loan.
The short, medium and longer term risks are set out in the project’s risk register,
which will be managed by LCC officers assigned to the scheme’s contract
management. The risk register will be regularly re-assessed during the
refurbishment programme of works, and will form part of the monitoring and review
meetings with UPS. Leeds City Council and UPS both have extensive experience
in managing projects of this nature and appropriate Council staff will work closely
with UPS to ensure all targets associated with the ESIF funding are met, and
identified risks are managed and mitigated.

4.6.2

A detailed business plan has been developed which shows that UPS can continue
to operate the Media Centre without any ongoing revenue subsidy from the Council.

5

Conclusions

5.1

Leeds Media Centre is a significant Council-owned property in the Chapeltown
area, and has been successfully managed by UPS since 2008. The project
represents an excellent opportunity to upgrade, refurbish and reconfigure an
existing business centre in the Council’s ownership aimed at small businesses,
social enterprises and voluntary organisations, particularly those operating in the
Creative sector.

5.2

The project will see the refurbished and refreshed centre attract new businesses
and entrepreneurs, helping to create a vibrant enterprise environment, and helping
to create additional employment opportunities.

5.3

Although there are some risks associated with the delivery of the project, these
have been fully considered during project inception and development and will be
carefully managed during project delivery. The partnership with a delivery partner
and building operator with a track record in managing small business centres will
help to mitigate these risks.

5.4

There is a clear rationale to support this proposal given its contribution to the Leeds
Inclusive Growth Strategy and Best Council Plan.

5.5

The proposed 15 year lease and associated grant agreement provides a
mechanism to repay £500,000 of LCC capital borrowing, reducing the overall cost
to the Council of the project to £300,000. In return, the project will provide suitable
accommodation for new/small businesses in the creative/digital sectors for the next
15 years and will deliver a significant enhancement to the capital value of the
property asset as set out in Section 4.4.5.

Page 164

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is requested to:
1. approve in principle a Full Repairing and Insuring lease of the Leeds Media
Centre to Unity Property Services Ltd on a peppercorn rent basis for a term
of 15 years.
2. delegate to the Director of City Development the final terms of the lease, at
less than best consideration.
3. agree the exemption for call-in on the basis that the decisions are urgent due
to the short timescales provided by the ESIF appraisal process.

7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1 - Equality, Diversity and Cohesion Impact Screening

8.2

Appendix 2 – Location Map

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 165

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Economic Development

Lead person: Phil Cole

Contact number: 0113 378 7872

1. Title: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening of Leeds Media
Centre Project
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

√

Other

If other, please specify
A capital project
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The proposed project to upgrade, refurbish and reconfigure Leeds Media Centre.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 167

1

impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
√
√
√
√

√

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
The proposed project aims to provide affordable workspace and business incubation
aimed at new/young businesses and aspiring entrepreneurs particularly those in the
Creative and Digital sectors. The following is a brief summary of local/national research
on business start ups :
Enterprise and Business Ownership amount Equality Groups.
Research would indicate that nationally between 20 % and 33 %i of businesses are
female owned. There is more limited research available for the age profiling and ethnicity
of business start-up’s and owner. However, research has estimated that 8 % of
businessesii in the UK are ethnic minority owned, and that start up activity is clustered in
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 168

2

25-54 age group, with the highest level amongst 25-34 year olds. iii
Particular Challenges facing Entrepreneurs in Equality Groups.
Researchiv has highlighted a number of factors that can particularly effect entrepreneurs
in equality groups.
Female Entrepreneurs:
 There is some evidence women-led businesses perceive higher financial barriers
and are more likely to be “discouraged borrowers “.


There is evidence that female led businesses on average start with lower levels of
overall capitalization, use lower ratios of debt finance, and less likely to use private
equity or venture capital. There is little evidence of supply-side discrimination, but
evidence instead that demand-side debt aversion is more pronounced among
women.



There is evidence that women-led businesses are on average smaller and more
likely to be located within the services sectors.



Global studies show that on average women perceive themselves to have a lower
level of business capacity, and have a greater fear of failure.v



Studies demonstrate that, given the same starting resources, business
performance by gender does not differ. However, women-owned enterprises on
average start with lower levels of resources including access to management
training.

.

Ethnic Minority Entrepreneurs:
 Although experience is divergent there is evidence that access to finance is a
barrier for ethnic minority entrepreneurs. This can be linked to standard risk factors
and credit history rather than direct discrimination.


There is evidence of “discouragement “and that demand-side aversion is a factor.
Researchers argue that this may be the result of a misperception of discrimination,
which could be improved by better information from lenders.



There is evidence that some ethnic minority business owners are subject to
structural disadvantage arising from the market sectors into which they are
concentrated. This is a feature that applies to many ethnic minority groups, and is
a pattern that is recurring amongst new migrant communities.



However, ethnic minorities are increasingly well credentialed with a growing
presence in sectors such as IT, pharmacy and the media. Nonetheless the
mismatch between qualifications and self-employment occupation persists.

Although, there is more limited research available on the experience of entrepreneurs
from other equality groups, it is not unreasonable to assume that factors identified above;
demand side aversion to lending, perception of lower capability, and access to training
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 169

3

and expertise are also factors for other equality groups.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The proposed project will provide additional business accommodation aimed at new
entrepreneurs and young businesses. The project is located in a priority ward and will
combined with other interventions facilitated through the Council (such as the Ad:Venture
business support programme) aim to engage with entrepreneurs in equality groups. This
screening exercise indicates that this project will have a positive effect on equality groups.
Below are outlined a number of measures the project will take to promote positive
impacts.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
The project will;


Ensure that they use inclusive imagery in promotional, marketing and case studies
ensuring it represents the full range of entrepreneurs.



Ensure delivery partners and sub-contractors have an equal opportunities policy in
place to cover project delivery, and employment and recruitment.



Support and engage with events and networks that are targeted at entrepreneurs
in equality groups, particularly if on-going monitoring & consultation show that
there are issues of under – representation, or barriers to engagement.



Ensure that project summative assessment & on-going evaluation fully consider
any possible equality impacts.



Continue to monitor the impact of the project on equality groups.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

n/a

Date to complete your impact assessment

n/a

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

n/a

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 170

4

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Phil Cole

Head of Funding
Programme and Business
Support
October 2020

Date screening completed

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 9 November
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

i

S Carter, M Ram, K Trehan, T Jone, ( 2013 ) Page 5, Diversity and SMEs, Enterprise Working
Paper No 3;
Natwest ( 2018) Page 21, Page 26 2017 Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, UK Report;
Feb 20th (2019 ) https://www.prowess.org.uk/facts.
ii
S Carter, M Ram, K Trehan, T Jone, ( 2013 ) Page 4, Enterprise Working Paper No 3.
iii
Natwest ( 2018 ) Page 26, 2017 Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, UK Report.
iv
S Carter, M Ram, K Trehan, T Jone, ( 2013 ) Page 5, Diversity and SMEs, Enterprise Working
Paper No 3;
v
Feb 20th 2019 https://www.prowess.org.uk/facts

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 171

5

This page is intentionally left blank

These are the notes referred to on the following official copy

The electronic official copy of the title plan follows this message.
Please note that this is the only official copy we will issue. We will not issue a paper official copy.
This official copy was delivered electronically and when printed will not be to scale. You can obtain a paper
official copy by ordering one from HM Land Registry.
This official copy is issued on 22 July 2019 shows the state of this title plan on 22 July 2019 at 21:07:22. It is
admissible in evidence to the same extent as the original (s.67 Land Registration Act 2002). This title plan
shows the general position, not the exact line, of the boundaries. It may be subject to distortions in scale.
Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements between the same points on the ground.
This title is dealt with by the HM Land Registry, Nottingham Office .
© Crown copyright. Produced by HM Land Registry. Reproduction in whole or in part is prohibited without the
prior written permission of Ordnance Survey. Licence Number 100026316.

Page 173

Page 174
This official copy is incomplete without the preceding notes page.

Agenda Item 10

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 88540

Report of the Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16th December 2020
Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Month 7
Are specific electoral wards affected?

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues
•

The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of
the Authority in respect of both the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing
Revenue Account for the first 7 months of the financial year.

•

The Council has managed to achieve considerable savings since 2010 and the
budget for 2020/21 requires the delivery of a further £28.4m of savings.

•

The current and future financial climate for local government represents a
significant risk to the Council’s priorities and ambitions. Whilst the Council continues
to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, it is clear
that the position remains challenging.

•

This is the sixth budget monitoring report of the year, and Executive Board will
recall that the 2020/21 general fund revenue budget, as approved by Council,
provides for a variety of actions to reduce net spend through the delivery of £28.4m
of budget action plans by March 2021. At this stage of the financial year, it is clear
that COVID-19 has impacted on the delivery of some of these actions.

1
Page 175

•

In addition the Council continues to incur additional expenditure and to lose income
across services as a consequence of COVID-19. As a result Directorate
dashboards highlight a potential COVID-19 related overspend of £111.7m before
proposals to balance.

•

The addition of corporate COVID pressures in relation to staffing costs which it was
projected could not be capitalised as a consequence of the impact of COVID-19 on
the capital programme and the projected losses of council tax and business rates
income results in a total projected COVID overspend of £161.8m at Month 7. In
addition pension strain and severance costs associated with staff exiting the
Council through the Early Leavers Initiative increases the overall overspend to
£178.2m.

•

As a result of taking account of non-COVID savings and the application of both
earmarked reserves and additional Government funding the projected Directorate
overspend reduces by £39.6m to £72.1m. When combined with the Corporate
pressures the overall General Fund overspend has reduced from £178.2m to
£130.9m.

•

The Council had received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs of
COVID-19, of which £2.6m has been applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m of
available funding. An estimated £18.9m Government contribution to lost income is
also reflected, pending confirmation of the final amount. Application of this £88.4m
of grant in 2020/21 reduces the financial pressure in 2020/21 to £42.5m.

•

This reported position assumes that the estimated Collection Fund income shortfall
of £42.5m will impact on the revenue position in 2021/22 and future years, which
means that a balanced position can be reported for 2020/21.

•

This position does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or national
lockdown arrangements not yet introduced, which could impact on these financial
projections.

•

At Month 7, the Housing Revenue Account is forecast to underspend by £9.6m,
which will be transferred to the Major repairs reserve for use in future years.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)
•

The 2020/21 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on financial performance
against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and
enterprising organisation.

3. Resource Implications
•

Directorate dashboards reflect a projected overspend which largely relates to
COVID-19 pressures of £111.7m which when combined with Corporate pressures
results in an overall overspend of £178.2m. After application of government funding
and a range of further measures, this report presents a balanced budget position for
2020/21.

Recommendations
Executive Board are asked to:
2
Page 176

a) Note the projected financial position of the Authority as at Month 7 and note the
projected impact of COVID-19 on that position.
b) Note that for 2020/21 the Authority has withdrawn its application for a capitalisation
directive to Government and that this report contains full details of how a balanced
budget will be achieved.
c) Recommend to Full Council the release of the Merrion House reserve to contribute
to funding the identified COVID funding gap.
d) Note that the position reported does not reflect the potential effects of any further
local or national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced which could impact on
these financial projections.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1.

This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health
position for 2020/21 at Month 7.

1.2.

Budget monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report
reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and variations
after the seventh month of the year.

2.

Background information

2.1

Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2020/21 was
set at £525.7m.

2.2

Following the closure of the 2019/20 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve
stands at £31.5m. The 2020/21 budget assumes further use of £9.0m from this
reserve during the current financial year. It is anticipated that general fund balances
will be added to in year but in light of the potential impact of COVID-19 on capital
receipts this position will be kept under review.

2.3

The Financial Health report received at November’s Executive Board identified that
the estimated budget gap due to the impact of COVID-19 had reduced to £30.5m
largely as a result of Leeds City Council receiving additional funding of £20.6m from
the £1bn of resources for local authorities that was announced by the Government
on 12th October.

2.4

An addendum to the November Executive Board report explained that, after taking
into consideration the reduction in the budget gap for this year, the Council had
made the decision that by utilising one off resources it could manage the financial
position in 2020/21 and deliver a balanced budget position. Consequently the Chief
Officer – Financial Services wrote to the Government on November 12th explaining
that the Council wished to withdraw its application for a capitalisation directive in
2020/21. This report details what measures the Council is taking to deliver a
balanced budget position in 2020/21.

2.5

Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where
financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans,
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc.
3
Page 177

This has again been reinforced through specific project management based support
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans.
3.

Main Issues

3.1

At Month 7 a COVID related overspend of £161.9m is projected which combined
with the additional pension strain and severance costs associated with staff exiting
the Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative results in an overall overspend
position of £178.2m.

3.2

In response to the financial challenge for 2021/22 that was detailed in the Medium
Term Financial Strategy report received by Executive Board in September, to date
over 641 employees have either left or are due to leave the Council through the
Early Leaver’s Initiative by the 31st March 2021. The salary savings resulting from
these staffing reductions contribute towards the realisation of the budget savings
proposals for 2020/21 that were received at this Board in September, October and
November.

3.3

Whilst the Council has incurred severance and pension strains costs of £16.3m in
2020/21 it is projected that over the five year period covered by the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Strategy savings of £75.4m (before reconfiguration costs)
will be realised through the deletion of the posts.

3.4 The projected overspend position of £178.2m also reflects the estimated Collection
Fund deficit of £42.5m resulting from a reduction in collection rates in respect of both
Council Tax and Business Rates. In addition it also reflects, as a result of anticipated
slippage in schemes in the capital programme, the projected variation in the level of
salaries that can be capitalised.
3.5

Details of the Directorate overspend due to COVID-19 are summarised in Table 1.

3.6

The Council has received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs of
COVID-19 to date, of which £2.6m has been applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m
available. On 2nd July Government announced a further package of financial
support for Local Government as a consequence of which an estimated £18.9m
Government contribution to lost income is also reflected, pending confirmation of
the final amount. Application of this £88.5m of grant in 2020/21 would reduce the
COVID financial pressure to £73.3m.

4
Page 178

3.7

Table 1
Summary Position at Month 7- Financial Year 2020/21
(Under) / Over spend for the current period
Total
(under)
/overspend
£000
£000
(18,229)
12,613

Directorate

Director

Staffing

Total
Expenditure

Adults & Health

Cath Roff

£000
(796)

£000
30,842

Children and Families

Sal Tariq

23

4,170

3,667

7,837

City Development

Martin Farrington

(2,205)

(5,652)

25,473

Communities & Environment

James Rogers

Resources & Housing

Neil Evans

Strategic

Income

£000
12,613

NonCOVID
related
£000

Month 6
Total

COVID
related

NonCOVID
related
£000

0

£000
12,702

£000
12,702

7,837

0

8,206

8,206

0

19,821

22,456

(2,635)

19,927

22,039

(2,112)

0

1,178

5,546

17,630

23,176

25,256

(2,080)

23,106

24,839

(1,733)

(2,614)

5,433

8,346

13,779

17,659

(3,880)

14,939

17,648

(2,709)

Victoria Bradshaw

(132)

101,946

(76,252)

25,694

25,862

(168)

26,206

25,893

313

Strategic (Proposals to balance)

Victoria Bradshaw

15,855

(7,515)

(91,905)

(99,420)

(99,420)

0

Adults & Health (Proposals to balance)

Cath Roff

0

(3,500)

0

(3,500)

(3,500)

0

131,269 (131,270)

(0)

8,763

(8,763)

105,086

111,327

(6,241)

Total Current Month (Dashboards)

11,309

Capitalised Staffing
Council Tax & Business Rates Losses

Previous month (under)/over spend in directorates

3.8

COVID
related

(2,358)

138,583

(33,497)

0

0

0

7,663

7,663

0

42,466

42,466

0

41,059

41,059

0

42,466

51,229

(8,763)

153,808

160,049

(6,241)

105,086

The major variations are outlined below, with additional detail provided on the
Directorate dashboards which are appended to this report;

3.8.1 Adults & Health – the directorate is projected to overspend its budget by £12.6m.
This figure is based entirely upon COVID-19 related cost pressures of £12.6m,
offset by a £3.5m contribution from reserves.
The pressure is related to a number of actions taken by the directorate in light of the
pandemic and the resultant impact of those changing priorities on delivering a
number of budgeted savings plans. It is currently projected that £3.4m of savings
plans will not be delivered this financial year; though it is assumed that once a
return to ‘normal’ is achieved the work needed to deliver these plans will resume,
but there will be slippage in the delivery.
The pressures that make up the remaining covid pressure of £9.2 are the £0.5m
relating to non-realisation of savings to fund the additional pay award; additional
care packages to meet the needs of people affected by day centre closures (£0.5m)
and ‘paying to plan’ on home care (£0.5m). £4.5m has been committed to meet
pressures within the care sector. In line with national guidance to support the
pressures within the provider market the equivalent of a 20% fee uplift, based on
historic payments, has been provided for to be paid to providers over each of the
first three months of the year. £0.4m has been incurred to fund PPE and equipment
to facilitate early discharge. The NNDR attached to the Waterside building has been
allocated as a COVID-19 cost due to its use as a temporary mortuary. Income is
also affected with a pressure caused by the cessation of face to face financial
assessments and the delay in the commencement of the dementia beds scheme
which was partly funded by the CCG has placed a further £0.2m pressure on the
Council. The directorate has recognised the potential pressures from the known

5
Page 179

packages currently funded from the Early Discharge funding available to the CCG
transferring back to the Council and £2.1m has been included for a part year effect.
It should be noted that there are potential non-COVID-19 pressures that have arisen
in-year, notably the impact of the late detail and conditions surrounding the Public
Health grant specifically relating to the Agenda for Change (AfC) programme. The
directorate is actively working on resolving these potential pressures therefore
these are noted but not reflected in the figures above.
3.8.2 Children and Families – As detailed on the dashboard, the current year-end
forecast for the Children and Families directorate is an overspend of £7.837m, a
reduction of £369k compared to Month 6 due to staffing savings from the Early
Leavers Initiative.
The Month 7 projected overspend of £7.837m is broken down as follows:
Expenditure
• Staffing related costs
• CLA
• Section 17 payments
• Direct payments
• Passenger Transport
• Other expenditure
Income
• Traded income from schools
• School penalty notices
• Children’s centre income
• Social care funding
Total projected overspend

£m
0.02
5.00
0.31
0.35
(0.60)
(0.91)
4.17
£m
1.77
0.15
3.33
(1.58)
3.67
7.84

As shown above, the key pressure relates to the CLA demand led budget, which is
currently forecast to overspend by £5m. Although detailed benchmarking is not yet
available, feedback from local authorities across the country is that many are seeing
an overall increase in CLA numbers. In Leeds however there has been a slight
decline in CLA numbers since the start of the year and overall as at 8th November
there were 14 fewer placements than originally budgeted, despite the impact of
COVID in the city.
There is however a forecast overspend on CLA due to a higher proportion of more
costly external placements than assumed in the budget. While the number of
children coming into care at a young age has reduced, the impact of COVID has
increased the number of adolescent placements, which are more complex and
therefore more costly. Further to this, plans to re-open a previously closed
children’s home have been impacted by delays with Ofsted’s approval process,
although it is expected the home will be able to open in the near future. There is
also an additional CLA pressure on semi-independent living costs for 16 to 18 year

6
Page 180

olds. This reflects the difficulty with young people being able to move out of these
placements in the current climate, as well as the impact of COVID on providers.
A further key impact of COVID on the Children and Families budget is on income,
and in total a £5.25m pressure has been identified due to expected loss of income
from children’s centres, school trading and school attendance penalty notices. In
line with principles laid out by Government, the Council has taken the approach that
schools should be charged as normal for disrupted Council services for which they
have a regular financial commitment. However there is still some loss of income
projected for ad hoc traded services to schools and those paid for through parental
contributions, such as music services. This has been included on the Council’s
claim to MHCLG for funding towards loss of income.
In relation to the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), at the end of 2019/20 there was a
deficit balance of £3.95m on the general DSG. At Month 7 we are projecting a
£2.3m overspend on general DSG for 2020/21, which would result in a closing
deficit of £6.3m. This is due to a projected overspend of £3.6m on high needs,
which is partly offset by a £547k underspend on early years and £121k underspend
on central school services. The early years underspend is due to funding being
calculated at a point in the year when the numbers of children are higher than the
average over the full year.
The projected high needs overspend of £3.6m is due to a combination of a cap on
funding increases and an increase in the demand and complexity of special
educational needs across the country. Although high needs funding increased
nationally for 2020/21, the Department for Education still applied a cap on gains
which meant that the allocation for Leeds was subject to a reduction of £4.7m. A
plan for managing the pressures on DSG is currently being developed by Children
and Families.
3.8.3 City Development – At Month 7 the Directorate is projecting an overspend of
£19.82m, an improvement of £0.11m from the Month 6 position previously reported
to Executive Board. This includes an estimated impact of COVID-19 of £22.5m. The
Directorate's financial position continues to be significantly affected by the current
restrictions in place and the subsequent impact on the economy with the vast
majority of the overspend resulting from reduced income across a number of
services. The period 7 projections include a further £1.3m pressure relating to the
first lockdown and the current second lockdown and there is still some uncertainty
around some of the income projections particularly if current restrictions are
extended. The impact on each service area will be regularly reviewed and updated
during the year.
The variances below include £0.378m of ELI savings that will be realised by
employees leaving before the 31st March 2020.
The most significant loss in income is still forecast to be in Active Leeds where
some facilities only started re-opening on a staggered basis at the end of July but
with reduced capacity, and are now closed again due to the current second
lockdown. The year-end financial position for Active Leeds is projected to be an
overspend of just over £10.3m. This is an increase of £1m of COVID related income

7
Page 181

pressures however it is anticipated that this pressure will be offset by circa £0.7m
via the fees and charges loss of income funding from MHGLC.
Other services also facing projected reductions in income include:
•
•
•
•
•

Arts and Heritage - £2.2m, net of running cost savings, following the closure
of sites and cancellation of events and more limited scope to generate
income for the rest of the year.
Asset Management and Regeneration - £2.7m from expected reductions in
rental and other commercial income. This includes expected shortfalls
against new commercial income included in the 2020/21 budget.
Planning and Sustainable Development - £1m through an estimated
reduction in planning and building fee income.
Markets and City Centre - £1.95m from a reduction in rental and advertising
income.
Highways and Transportation - £0.94m through a reduction in chargeable
fees and recovery of overheads, mainly in the Highways DLO.

Whilst the impact of COVID-19 on City Development is mostly on income some
additional costs are also being incurred. A sum of £0.8m for the year is currently
projected across the Directorate, this is an increase of £300k from Period 6 which is
due to the anticipated pressures arising from lockdown 2 across the other services
(excluding Active Leeds). The impact of non-realisation of savings to fund the
additional cost of the higher pay award is estimated at £0.37m.
The projected position includes anticipated staff savings of £1.57m on nonchargeable vacant posts net of the additional costs of the higher pay offer. Savings
of £0.92m have also been included for reduced spend on general running costs and
travel and subsistence.
3.8.4 Communities & Environment – the overall position for the directorate at this stage
of the year is a projected overspend of £23.2m.
Of this, £25.3m relates to the estimated impact of COVID-19 which is an increase of
£0.5m from month 6 due to the estimated impact of the second lockdown period.
There still remains a great deal of uncertainty around income projections and these
will continue to be kept under review over the coming months. However, this
increase has been largely offset by the estimated part year impact of staff leaving
the authority before 31st March 2021 under the Council’s Early Leaver scheme.
The main areas of variation in respect of COVID-19 are currently estimated as
follows:
•
•

•

Loss of car parking and enforcement income £7.6m
Loss of Parks & Countryside income £4.7m. This includes income from
visitor attractions, cafes, bereavement services, chargeable works within
Parks Operations and Landscaping teams and the cancellation of planned
events.
Loss of Electoral and Regulatory Services income £1.8m. This includes
Registrars, Entertainment Licensing, Land and Property Searches, Taxi &
Private Hire and Environmental Health activities. These income losses are
8
Page 182

partially offset by £0.3m savings resulting from the cancelled May 2020 local
elections.
• Waste Management – net additional expenditure £5.8m. This includes the
cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with increased
volumes of waste, the cost of disposing of the additional waste and the cost
of providing staffing cover and PPE equipment across the service as well as
income losses at Household Waste sites.
• Welfare & Benefits – additional expenditure £1m in respect of the estimated
net cost of Housing Benefit claims for rough sleepers.
• Estimated cost to LCC of providing a temporary mortuary facility £0.8m created as part of the Council's emergency planning arrangements to deal
with a potential increase in mortality rates over and above current capacity
for Leeds and Wakefield.
• Additional cost of the local government pay award £0.7m. This represents an
additional 0.75% over the amount budgeted and the COVID-19 situation will
impact on the ability to deliver the savings required to mitigate this additional
cost.
• Other areas of income loss/additional expenditure across the directorate
£3.2m. This includes estimated income losses from community centres,
libraries/community hubs, bulky waste collections and from environmental
enforcement. It also includes additional costs of providing
PPE/Cleaning/Social distancing measures and software/equipment to
support home working. It also includes the cost of providing for a city wide
mailout and other staffing related costs in support of the Council’s response
to the crisis.
The overall position for the directorate also includes forecasts around other
expenditure savings totalling £2.1m. These include estimated net savings from the
implementation of tighter controls on recruitment and the impact of the Council’s
Early Leaver scheme (£1.4m) and on other expenditure budget headings across the
directorate (£0.7m).
3.8.5 Resources & Housing – Based on the estimated impact of COVID-19 in the
directorate, an overspend of £13.8m is forecast at Month 7. This is a reduction of
over £1.1m from the position reported last month and reflects the savings in staffing
costs arising from the 2020-21 ELI scheme.
Some of the income pressures, for example, reduction in court fee income (£1.3m)
remain an estimate at this stage, simply because there has been no actual income
received to date in 2020-21 as the Courts have remained closed. There remains a
risk that this projection may be understated.
In total £17.7m of pressures are COVID related, broadly summarised into the
following areas across the Directorate’s services:•
•
•
•
•
•

Trading shortfall within Leeds Building Services (LBS)
Additional PPE (LCC wide)
Homelessness accommodation costs
(net of grant)
Catering income & emergency meals
Other income reductions (capital / court fees)
Delays to budget action plans
9
Page 183

£5.5m
£5.6m
£0.7m
£1.9m
£2.6m
£0.3m

•
•
•

Other items of expenditure
Savings from Working home/buildings/car allowances - net
Non-realisation of savings to fund additional pay award

£0.2m
(£0.3m)
£1.1m

There remain significant risks around these assumptions in the light of the recent
developments, especially around catering income, court fees and the potential
demand for additional PPE.
The recruitment freeze, savings in non-essential spend, additional grant income and
the impact on staffing costs of the ELI leavers in November and December (£1.1m)
are forecast to deliver around £3.9m of savings to the directorate’s bottom line
projections.
3.8.6 Strategic & Central Accounts - At Month 7, the Strategic & Central accounts
projection is for an overspend of £25.7m, of which £25.9m is COVID related, before
proposals to balance the 2020/21 budget. This projection recognises the potential
for an overspend of £28.0m in MRP, as a result of a reduced level of capital
receipts being available to repay debt, as a consequence of the impact of COVID19. There is considerable uncertainty over how quickly the property market will
recover, and the position will continue to be reviewed and updated.
A projected underspend of £2.1m has been included for a reduction in the expected
business rates levy payable, as a result of reduced business rates income for the
year.
The position also reflects an additional projected £75.9m of S31 grants in relation to
business rate reliefs awarded due to the impact of the pandemic. These grants will
need to be carried forward in an earmarked reserve, as they are required to fund
the 2020/21 Collection Fund deficit which will impact on the revenue position in
2021/22.
Additional projected S278 income of £0.4m has been recognised, along with
potential pressures of £1.0m across the target budgets for general capitalisation
and schools capitalisation, as overall restrictions on spending have reduced the
potential for capitalisation.
Proposals to deliver a balanced budget position are also reflected in the Month 7
Strategic position and the appended dashboard and are discussed below.
3.8.7 Proposals to Balance
3.8.8 Directorate dashboards highlight a projected COVID-19 overspend of £111.7m
which combined with other corporate pressures , such as variations in the
Collection Fund, capitalisation of salaries, pension strain, etc. results in a projected
overspend of £178m .
3.8.9 In order to manage this overspend a range of proposals have been identified which
are detailed in the Table 2 below.

10
Page 184

Month Mitigation- Savings Use of
Gvt
7
including Salary
Reserves Funding
£m
£m
£m
£m
12.6
0
-3.5
7.8
0
22.5
-2.7
25.3
-2.1
17.6
-3.8
25.9
-0.2
-23.9
-3.4

Total
£m
9.1
7.8
19.8
23.2
13.8
-1.6

Directorate dashboards

111.7

-8.8

72.1

Corporate pressures:
Capitalised Staffing
C T/B R Income Losses
Cost of Severence
Pension Strain

7.7
42.5
14.0
2.3

-7.7

Total Corporate pressures

66.5

Total General Fund Impact

178.2

Directorate/Service
Adults & Health
Children & Families
City Development
Communities & Environment
Resources & Housing
Strategic & Central

Government Funding

-27.4

-3.4

0
42.5
14.0
2.3
58.8

-16.5

-27.4

-3.4

Month Mitigation- Savings Use of
Gvt
7
Reserves Funding
including Salary
£m
£m
£m
£m
-69.5

Government Support for Income Losses
Net Position

-18.9
-88.4

Total GF Impact 2020/21

89.8

Council Tax/Business Rates

-42.5

COVID-19 Funding Gap 2020/21

47.3

130.9

Total
£m
-69.5
-18.9
-88.4

-16.5

-27.4

-3.4

42.5
-42.5

-16.5

-27.4

-3.4

0

3.8.10 The level of non-COVID savings has increased from the £6.2m reported at Period 6
to £6.4m at Period 7 and along with salary savings of £2.35m resulting from the
deletion of posts resulting from staff exiting the Council through the Early Leavers
Initiative (ELI), £8.8m can be applied to address the estimated budget gap.
3.8.11 As referenced in the addendum to November’s Executive Board the Council has
identified a number of one off resources that contribute towards addressing the
identified estimated budget gap in 2020/21. One off resources include the planned
application of an earmarked reserve of £23.4m which has been created through

11
Page 185

recognising the capital distribution from the pre-payment of rent at Merrion House
as revenue income rather than as deferred income on its balance sheet.
3.8.12 In order to facilitate the upgrade of Merrion House, the Council entered into a series
of linked agreements with the Town Centre Securities (TCS) Group who own the
freehold to the building. Under these agreements, the council entered into a 50:50
limited liability partnership (LLP) During 2018/19 the Council made a prepayment of
rent under the 25 year lease at a discounted rate, which was distributed to the two
partners of the LLP. The Rent Advance agreement that was entered into resulted in
a prepayment of rent of £54m which was followed immediately by a distribution of
capital of £27m to each of the LLP members.
3.8.13 In 2018/19, and in the absence of the first set of LLP accounts reflecting the rent
advance and distribution to partners, the Council determined to hold the £27m on its
balance sheet as a receipt in advance. This approach was discussed and agreed
with Grant Thornton prior to the closure of the 2018/19 accounts.
3.8.14 The Council has now reconsidered its approach in the light of the LLP’s 2018/19
accounts which were published in June 2020. The LLP’s accounts show the capital
distribution to members as an immediate transfer of net worth from the LLP to its
members.
3.8.15 In the light of this, the Council will now recognise this transfer of net worth by
reducing the value of its investment in the LLP and instead recognising the balance
of £25.65m which was previously shown as deferred income in its accounts as
revenue income during 2019/20. This income will be transferred to an earmarked
reserve, to be applied during the remaining life of the lease.
3.8.16 In applying the balance of this earmarked reserve in this manner there is now a
requirement to identify provision in the MTFS of £1.1m which will be required from
2022/23 to resource the annual lease payments for Merrion House. This £1.1m
revenue pressure will be met from the reserve in 2020/21 and 2021/22 reducing the
balance applied to the identified COVID pressure to £23.4m
3.8.17 It is proposed that this earmarked reserve is applied to address the estimated
budget gap identified above and the release of this reserve is a matter for Full
Council to approve.
3.8.18 It is also proposed to utilise £3.47m of earmarked reserves with Adults and Health
whilst £0.5m remains from the £1.5m set aside through the flexible use of capital
receipts for transformational expenditure and this can be used to fund ELI
payments.
3.8.19 The application of £3.4m of additional specific government funding that has been
provided to support local authorities can be used to offset some of COVID-19
related expenditure pressures.
3.8.20 As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic it has been projected that slippage on capital
schemes would have implications for the level of fees (£7.7m) that could be
charged against these schemes with the resultant pressure upon the revenue
budget. As a part of the ongoing review of capital programme it is now projected
that any shortfall in fee income will not impact upon the 2020/21 position due to a
12
Page 186

combination of the impact of COVID-19 having less of an impact upon the Capital
Programme than initially estimated and fee income being generated from grant
funded schemes.
3.8.21 As a result of the above proposals the Directorate overspend reduces to £72.1m
which combined with a Corporate pressure of £58.8m reduces the overall level of
overspend down to £130.9m.
3.8.22 To date the Council has received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs
of COVID-19, of which £2.64m has been applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m
available. An estimated £18.9m Government contribution to lost income is also
reflected, pending confirmation of the final amount. Application of this £88.5m of
grant in 2020/21 reduces the COVID financial pressure to £42.5m.
3.8.23 Since the Collection Fund income shortfall of £42.5m does not impact on the
revenue position until 2021/22, since the Government have agreed that the
Collection Fund can be spread over 3 years, this means that a balanced budget
position can be projected for 2020/21.
3.8.24 The reported position does not reflect the potential impact of any further local or
national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced, which could impact on these
financial projections, most likely by increasing projected income losses which can
only be recovered in part through the Government’s Sales, Fees and Charges
compensation scheme.
3.9

Other Financial Performance

3.9.1 Council Tax
The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of October was 62.71% which is
0.57% lower than performance for the same period last year. This lower collection
rate will in part reflect the impact of agreed payment deferrals. When setting the
2020/21 budget the target collection rate for the year was assumed to be 96.11%, in
line with previous years. If the forecast were achieved this would collect some
£371.5m of income. In light of the potential impact of COVID-19, it is currently
estimated that in year collection will fall to 94.1%, achieving £364.97m of income.
The collection rate will continue to be closely monitored.
3.9.2 Business Rates
The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve an in-year collection
target of 97.7%, collecting £363.2m of business rates income billed at 1st April.
However, the Board will be aware that in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
Government awarded significant additional business rates reliefs, reducing the
income to be collected directly from business to £228.0m. These reliefs will be
funded in full by Government through Section 31 grants. Whilst this reduces the risk
to the Authority regarding non-collection of business rates income, the business
rates collection rate at the end of September was 58.63% which is 6.44% behind
performance in 2019/20. This lower collection rate will in part reflect agreement to
defer payments.

13
Page 187

The total rateable value of business properties in Leeds has reduced from £935.2m
at 1st April 2020 to £929.4m at the end of October 2020, a decrease of £5.8m. To
calculate Leeds’ actual income from business rates this total rateable value is
multiplied by the national business rates multiplier (49.9p in the pound). After reliefs
and adjustments this amount is then shared between Leeds City Council (49%),
Central Government (50%) and West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%). After allowing
for the business rates deficit brought forward, Leeds’ share of projected business
rates income is in the region of £81.2m, which is £102.5m below budgeted
expectations. However much of this shortfall is accounted for by the Government’s
new extended reliefs for the retail and leisure sectors and children’s nurseries. This
results in grant funding associated with business rates some £79.9m above that
forecast in the Council’s budget.
In light of the current situation we expect to see losses of business rates income
through non-payment and reduction in rateable value where businesses may cease
to trade or revise their business model to reduce business rates and other costs.
Business rates income continues to be closely monitored and reported to the Board
in these monthly financial health reports.
3.9.3 Business Rates Appeals
The opening appeals provisions for 2020/21 are £27.8m, made up of £10.6m
relating to appeals received against the 2010 ratings list and £17.2m estimated
costs in relation to the 2017 ratings list. Under 50% Business Rates Retention,
Leeds’ budget is affected by 49% of any appeals provision made in this year.
Provisions brought forward from 2019/20 were made at 74%.
On the 30th September 2020, there were 887 appeals outstanding against the 2010
ratings list. During October 2020 88 appeals have been settled, 34 of which have
resulted in changes to rateable values. No new appeals have been received in
October. At 31st October 2020 there are 799 outstanding appeals in Leeds, with
10.4% of the city’s total rateable value in the 2010 list currently subject to at least
one appeal.
Only two appeals have been received to date against the 2017 list. In August and
September 2020 the number of outstanding Checks, the first pre-appeal stage of
the new appeals system against the 2017 list, have returned to more normal levels
standing at 77. However the number of ‘Challenges’, the second pre-appeal stage
of the new system have increased from 553 to 565. These Challenges appear to
refer to the period of lockdown in the city and it is not yet possible to determine
whether these Challenges will be successful but these are being closely monitored.
In total 2.0% of the city’s total number of hereditaments and 8.2% of its total
Rateable Value in the 2017 list are now subject to either an appeal or a ‘Check’ or
‘Challenge’. We will continue to monitor the level of appeals provisions as we go
forward.
3.9.4 Impact of COVID-19 on the Collection Fund
It remains very complex to estimate the ultimate impact of COVID-19 on council tax
and business rates income. However, the latest projections indicate an unfunded
loss of £42.5m on the Collection Fund: £13.40m in Council Tax and £29.06m in
business rates. Since last reported to this Board in September, Council Tax has
14
Page 188

decreased by £0.20m and business rates has increased by £1.83m, a net increase
of £1.63m. These estimates will continue to be refined as more data becomes
available. Any Collection Fund income shortfall in 2020/21 would normally impact
on the Council’s financial position in 2021/22. However, Government announced on
2nd July that they would allow phased repayment of Collection Fund deficits over
three years, spreading the revenue impact. The detailed application of this measure
have now been published and the implications for Leeds are being calculated.
Further, the announcement indicated that Government would also consider the
apportionment of irrecoverable Council Tax and Business Rates losses between
central and local government, with details to be determined at the 2020 Spending
Review.
4.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

4.1

At the end of Month 6 the HRA is projecting an underspend of £9.6m, primarily due
to the reduction in the revenue contribution required to support its capital
programme (RCCO). This underspend will be transferred to the Major repairs
reserve at year end to maintain future levels of capital investment.

4.2

The estimated saving in the RCCO is around £14.9m, however £5.3m of this saving
is required to fund other in year pressures arising in the HRA as outlined below.

4.3

There is a forecast reduction in total income of £3.6m. Rental income is forecast to
be £1.5m lower, mainly due to a temporary increase in the number of void
properties due to COVID-19. £2m of income is impacted by forecast lower staff
charges to capital from vacant posts and also due to the reduced capital
programme for 2020-21. A small reduction in commercial rent income of £0.1m is
also projected.

4.4

Total tenant arrears are £11.7m, slightly up on last year’s equivalent position,
therefore it is prudent to project for an increase in the provision for doubtful debts
given the future uncertainty on the impact of COVID on rental income. An additional
£0.2m is projected.

4.5

Staffing costs are forecast to underspend by around £1.1m, with the recruitment
freeze being the main reason for this. This saving also assumes the HRA funds
severance costs of those staff exiting the Authority on ELI in 2020/21.

4.6

With respect to the repairs budget, responsive repairs delivered ‘Essential Services’
only during lockdown, however the demand for repairs has not gone away. As such,
there is a significant backlog of repairs with an estimated value of c.£3.9m.
However, at this stage in the year a forecast underspend of £0.3m is assumed,
although it is likely this saving will increase.

4.7

Housing disrepair costs remain a pressure and risk, with an additional £2m being
estimated as needed for the provision in year.

4.8

An additional £136k is required to fund works associated with exiting Navigation
House as part of the Council’ asset rationalisation programme.

15
Page 189

4.9

The HRA capital programme has been reduced for 2020-21 only to circa £60m from
£80m. As referenced above, the saving from the reduced revenue contribution is
helping to offset in year pressures and the balance of any savings are planned to be
transferred to the Major Repairs Reserve to support an ongoing programme of
around £80m from 2021-22 onwards.

5.

Corporate Considerations

5.1

Consultation and engagement

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation.
5.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2020/21 was subject to Equality Impact
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on
26th February 2020.
5.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

5.3.1 The 2020/21 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on the financial
performance against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an
efficient and enterprising organisation.
5.4

Climate Emergency

5.4.1 Since this is a factual report detailing the Council’s financial position for 2020/21
there are no specific climate implications.
5.5

Resources, procurement and value for money

5.5.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all resources, procurement and value
for money implications are detailed in the main body of the report.
5.6

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

5.6.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.
5.7

Risk management

5.7.1 The reported budget position is considered in the context of risk to both the in year
financial position and the potential impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial
Strategy. Both of these risks are included on the Council’s corporate risk register.
5.7.2 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where
financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget
judged to be at risk such as the implementation of budget action plans, those
budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets. To
reinforce this approach, specific project management based support and reporting
around the achievement of key budget actions plans is in place for 2020/21.

16
Page 190

6.

Conclusions

6.1

This report informs the Executive Board of the Month 7 position for the Authority in
respect of the revenue budget which currently projects a COVID-19 related
overspend of £161.9m. Additional budget pressures of £16.4m arise due to
severance and pension strain costs relating to staff exiting the authority in 2020/21
under the new ELI scheme, increasing the budget gap to £178.2m.

6.2

Subsequently this report then details a range of proposals which would result in a
balanced budget position for 2020/21. The reported position does not reflect the
potential effects of any further local or national lockdown arrangements not yet
introduced which could impact on these financial projections

6.3

Largely as a result of non-COVID savings and the application of one funding
resources the projected overspend can be reduced to £130.9m.

6.4

To date the Council has received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs
of COVID-19, of which £2.6m has been applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m
available. An estimated £18.9m Government contribution to lost income is also
reflected, pending confirmation of the final amount. Application of this £88.5m of
grant in 2020/21 would reduce the COVID financial pressure to £42.5. Since it is
assumed that Collection Fund income shortfall of £42.5m would impact on revenue
in 2021/22 this means that a balanced budget position can be presented for
2020/21.

6.5

The Housing Revenue Account is forecast to underspend by £9.6m but this
underspend will be transferred to the Major Repairs Reserve for use in future years.

7.

Recommendations

7.1

Executive Board are asked to:
a) Note the projected financial position of the Authority as at Month 7 and note the
projected impact of COVID-19 on that position.
b) Note that for 2020/21 the Authority has withdrawn its application for a capitalisation
directive to Government and that this report contains full details of how a balanced
budget will be achieved.
c) Recommend to Full Council the release of the Merrion House reserve to contribute
to funding the identified COVID funding gap.
d) Note that the position reported does not reflect the potential effects of any further
local or national lockdown arrangements not yet introduced which could impact on
these financial projections.

8.

Background documents 1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.
1

17
Page 191

8.1

None.

18
Page 192

ADULTS AND HEALTH
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Month 7 (October 2020)
The directorate is projected to overspend its budget by £9.1m. This is analysed as £12.6m Covid-19 related cost pressures less an application of £3.5m of reserves. A number of budget action plans are expected
to slip directly as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, this is because the necessary resources to deliver these are being redirected; these total £3.5m.
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
SECTION A: the Covid-19 cost pressures to the Adult Social Care are £12.6m.

Page 193

The Covid-19 reported pressures across the key expenditure types are as follows:
Staffing (+£0.5m): the impact of the proposed pay award which is above the budgeted assumptions is shown as Covid-19 pressure as the urgent and necessary reaction to the pandemic has meant that plans to
recover this pressure have had to be deferred.
Buildings (+£0.1m): a pressure of £0.1m is shown representing the cost of rates at the recently acquired Waterside building (for the Assisted Living Leeds move) which is now being used as a temporary
mortuary.
Community Care Packages (+£7.8m): these pressures include the cost of additional care packages to meet the needs of people affected by day centre closure (£0.5m), paying to plan on home care (£0.5m) and
slippage in a number of savings plans because staff required to deliver these have been redirected to deal with the crisis (£1.5m). £5.3m relates to the funding expended to meet pressures within the care sector
and to support it through this period; the figure also assumes that care packages currently paid for by the Early Discharge Grant will switch to the Council w.e.f. November. It is also assumed that a number of
emergency CHC clients will be reviewed and revert to Council funding from November 20. There is no firm decision on these last two points but it is generally understood that these will transfer to the Council at
some point so this is considered a realistic provision.
Commissioning (+£1.4m): £1.1m relates the funding expended to meet pressures within the care sector. Also, the directorate has funded 33 organisations with £5k grants to help support their communities and
the purchase of PPE.
General Running Costs (+£0.4m): mainly representing expenditure on equipment to facilitate early discharge. It is possible this may be recoverable from the NHS Early Discharge funding.
Income (+£2.4m): the Covid-19 pandemic has impacted upon savings plans for the recovery of income within client contributions, staffing costs and CCG (BCF) funding.
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
SECTION B: there are other Covid-19 variations that are not directly a cost to Council as expenditure is funded by income from the CCG and Government grants, these are:
a) NHS Early Discharge funding (£2.2m). Additional expenditure of £797k for Early Discharges from Hospital has been incurred but is not included in the figures as the assumption is that it is possible this may be
recoverable from the NHS Early Discharge funding;
b) Test & Trace grant (£4.1m);
c) Infection Control grant (£13.5m).
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
SECTION C: outside of Covid the directorate is projecting a balanced position. The directorate is utilising £3.5m of reserves to offset the Covid 19 pressure. The main variations to planned spend, across the key
expenditure types are as follows:
Staffing overall (-£1.3m): the projection is based on the current staffing levels and at P7 there is a high level of vacancies across the directorate.
Community Care Packages (+£0.9m): there are variations across the demand types including reduced commissioned services.
General Running Costs (-): nil variations.
Appropriation (-£2.3m): underspends within the Leeds Safeguarding Board, Leeds Plan and Public Health are planned to be carried forward and the use of reserve (commissioning) to support temporary staffing
is less than required. £3.5m of reserves have been drawn down to partially offset the Covid-19 pressure.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget

Income Budget

Latest Estimate

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Appropriation Total Expenditure
£'000

£'000

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

Health Partnerships

1,496

(964)

532

(161)

0

0

0

0

(38)

0

0

155

(43)

0

(43)

Social Work & Social
Care Services

288,249

(55,019)

233,230

86

(28)

211

(228)

2

11,518

(265)

0

35

11,330

460

11,790

Service Transformation

2,360

(369)

1,991

(161)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(161)

(88)

(249)

Commissioning Services

23,484

(63,465)

(39,981)

11

5

(55)

(2)

798

14,644

0

0

(2,993)

12,407

(14,357)

(1,950)

Resources and Strategy

6,726

(1,300)

5,426

(211)

0

19

2

(186)

0

0

0

0

(376)

(100)

(476)

45,293

(44,949)

344

(360)

0

17

0

0

4,061

0

0

467

4,185

(4,143)

42

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

367,607

(166,065)

201,542

(796)

(24)

191

(228)

613

30,186

(265)

0

(2,335)

27,342

(18,229)

9,113

Public Health (Grant
Funded)
Appropriation Account
Total

Page 194

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Additional Comments

Lead Officer

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans

Action Plan
Value

Forecast
Variation
against
Plan/Budget

£m

£m

Page 195

1.

Review of Learning Disabilities

Caroline Baria

R

1.0

0.8

2.

Review of Physical Impairment and home care efficiency

Shona McFarlane

R

0.1

0.1

3.

Review of home care efficiency

Shona McFarlane

R

0.1

0.1

4.

Demand - continuation of strengths-based approach

Shona McFarlane

G

0.7

0.0

5.

Recover unspent Direct Payments (based on trends)

Shona McFarlane

G

0.9

0.0

6.

Enablement Service - improvements in productivity

Shona McFarlane

R

0.5

0.5

7.

Review billing and collection of assessed client contributions and
Steve Hume
trends

R

1.9

0.4

8.

Assistive technology to a city-wide self-pay market

Shona McFarlane

R

0.2

0.2

9.

Occupational Therapists: grant contribution funding from the
DFG

Shona McFarlane

G

0.2

0.0

10.

Section 117 and CHC clients - review cost allocations

Max Naismith

G

0.1

(0.2)

11.

CHC - LD: client transport costs/ staffing costs

Max Naismith

G

0.4

0.1

12.

Client transport - route and efficiencies

Steve Hume

G

0.3

0.0

13.

Spring Budget (end of time limited schemes)

John Crowther

B

2.5

0.0

14.

Meals on Wheels

Steve Hume

G

0.2

0.0

15.

Contract management efficiencies

Caroline Baria

G

0.8

0.0

16.

iBCF - Health Funding to support social care & Inflation

Steve Hume

R

3.3

1.4

17.

Staffing - vacancy factor/turnover

Shona McFarlane

G

0.4

0.0

B. Other Significant Variations
1.

Staffing

All

relating to staffing turnover and slippage in employing new staff

(0.8)

2.

Commisioned services - care and Public Health

Various

anticipated variation

28.5

3

General running costs

All

Mainly related to Covid-19

4

Use of reserves

All

Carry forward of Public Health underspend (£0.47m), carry forward of Leeds Plan underspend
(£0.16m), reduced requirement of reserve funding within commissioning (£0.5m) and carry
forward of Adult Safeguarding (£0.03m)

(2.3)

5

Income

S. McFarlane

Includes Infection Control Grant (£13.5m) offset by spend, Test & Trace Grant (£4.1m) offset
by spend, Early discharge funding (£2.2m)

(20.3)

0.6

Adults and Health Directorate - Forecast Variation

9.1

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - Period 7

Overall Summary - At P7 the directorate is reporting a pressure of £7.837m, all of which is attributable to Covid-19. The overspend includes both additional expenditure and loss of income directly attributable to Covid, as well as assumed budget actions that the Directorate is currently
unable to address due to the ongoing situation. The P7 projection is a £0.369m improvement from the reported position at P6, £8.206m, and entirely due to the Early Leavers who left the council on the 2nd November.
Children Looked After (CLA): - The budget for 20-21 is £43.8m, an increase of £1.45m from 19-20. The budget supports 1,346 CLA placements; including 58 External Residential (ER) and 183 Independent Fostering Agency (IFA). At P11 19-20 an early pressure of £3.8m was identified for
20-21. This pressure was projected to be addressed due to reductions in ER placements and proposals by the service for savings on both CLA and non-CLA budgets; see the action plan reported to Exec Board 24th June 2020. Ofsetting this action plan was a projected increase in CLA
numbers later in the year due to COVID.
These assumptions have been reviewed for P6 and as placement numbers have remained fairly steady during the year it is assumed this will continue to be the case. The actual CLA figures as at 3rd November were 1,327, which is 19 less than the budgeted number. Despite total CLA
numbers being less than budgeted for, an overspend of £3.5m is projected as there is a higher proportion of more costly placements than assumed in the budget. In house CLA placements are 36 less than budgeted and external placements are 19 greater than budgeted.
Non CLA Financially supported: - The non-CLA financially supported budget was increased by £1.0m to £13.9m in the 2020/21 budget. Budgeted 20-21 numbers are 950 placements (+46 20-21 -v- 19-20); current numbers are 983 (+3 compared to P5) creating a pressure of £0.386m.
There is also an additional pressure forecast on semi-independent living of £1.155m as young people have not been able to move on from this accommodation due to COVID. In addition there is £0.25m of costs for an increase in the rate of the care leavers allowance due to COVID.
Staffing: - Pay pressures of £0.717m have currently been identified. This is comprised of £1.611m existing pressures in Social Care which includes £0.774m additional pay costs directly attributable to Covid, a £0.687m impact of the additional 0.75% pay award offer, offset by £0.794m
savings in Early Start and £0.1m Resources & Strategy. There are also additional non-direct employee savings of £0.325m on severance/retirement costs for former teachers.At P7 further pay savings of £0.369m are refelcted and due to leavers on the 2nd November under the Early
Leavers scheme. Gross pay savings for 20-21 were £0.519m, however due to back fill and loss of grant funding the net figure is £0.369m.
Transport: - The Passenger Transport expenditure budget has increased compared to 19-20 by £0.465m to £15.2m. At P6 we are now reflecting £0.6m savings on Private Hire from CEL Passenger Trasnsport. Additionally we are expecting a small saving of £0.05m due to the plan to bring
in-house the Independent Travel Training contract.
Trading and Commissioning: - The directorate have incurred losses of income due to Covid for Children's Centres (£2.321m net figure and detailed in table below) and trading with schools, £1.92m.

Page 196

Supplies & Services & Internal Charges:- £0.5m savings in Travel & Subsistence costs have been identified and are reflective of the current home-working arrangements during first half year. £0.35m savings re Legal Charges. DIS pressures £0.2m and £0.35m for Direct Payments.
Other Income / Projects : The projections include a pressure of £0.324m due to the reduction in 20-21 of the Troubled Families Earned Autonomy Grant, which was notified after the budget had been set and £0.244m shortfall in CCG income for ER placements. In response to the CLA
pressures noted above, current income projections assume utilisation of £2.147m of grant funding.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Demand Led Budgets:
In House placed CLA
Independent Fostering Agency
External Residential
Other Externally placed CLA
Non CLA Financially Supported
Transport
Sub total Demand Led Budgets

Expenditure
Budget

Income
Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Premises

£'000

Supplies &
Services

Transport

£'000

£'000

PROJECTED VARIANCES
Internal
External
Transfer
Charges
Providers Payments
£'000

£'000

£'000

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

21,079
7,681
12,096
2,967
13,872
15,586
73,282

0
0
(3,995)
0
(5,610)
(897)
(10,502)

21,079
7,681
8,101
2,967
8,262
14,689
62,780

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
(50)
(50)

0
0
0
0
0
(600)
(600)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(204)
900
2,590
224
1,491
0
5,001

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(204)
900
2,590
224
1,491
(650)
4,351

0
0
244
0
0
0
244

(204)
900
2,834
224
1,491
(650)
4,595

Other Budgets
Partnerships & Health
Learning
Social Care (Excl. Early Start & H&W)
LfL - Early Start & H&W
Resources and Strategy
Sub total Other Budgets

5,845
35,516
71,004
67,531
67,918
247,814

(2,063)
(30,116)
(31,990)
(61,571)
(61,615)
(187,356)

3,782
5,400
39,014
5,959
6,303
60,458

(82)
(4)
1,366
(794)
(463)
23

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
(212)
0
(212)

0
0
(500)
0
0
(500)

0
0
(350)
0
0
(350)

0
0
508
287
0
795

0
0
350
0
0
350

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
(287)
0
(287)

(82)
(4)
1,374
(1,006)
(463)
(181)

0
1,920
(1,824)
3,327
0
3,423

(82)
1,916
(450)
2,321
(463)
3,242

Total

321,096

(197,858)

123,238

23

0

(262)

(1,100)

(350)

5,796

350

0

(287)

4,170

3,667

7,837

Additional Comments

Key Budget Variations:

A. Key variances
- Delivery of £2m Staffing Action Plans

The 20-21 budget assumed £2m action plan staff savings target and at P6 the directorate are
on target to deliver these savings mainly via post release controls. Further £0.687m relates to
additional 0.75% current pay award offer. At P7 reflect further £0.369m net pay savings under
the Early Leavers scheme on the 2nd November.

- Direct impact

Additional staffing within LCC run residential homes, 4 x Service Delivery Managers for 6
months and Adel Beck pay pressures re Agency & Overtime.

- Other employee costs

Within Resources & Strategy - Central Overhead Account savings on former teacher
severance and pension costs

- Delivery of actions within Exec Board report to address
£3.8m pressure identified Feb'20.

At P6, whilst overall CLA numbers are less than budgeted numbers, the placement mix
towards higher cost external placements (ER / IFA / Secure Justice & Welfare) is creating
significant in-year budget pressures. Current ER numbers are 63 and IFA 214 creating budget
pressures of £2.6m and £1.1m respectively. Modelling assumes trend continues for
remainder of financial year. The unit rates for ER & IFA Placements are also higher due to
covid, average circa 7%. Offset by £0.35m savings on In-House Fostering and Kinship.

- assessed impact on CLA numbers and budget specifically
relating to covid-19.

Reflects £0.3m pressure relating to S17 payments and £0.25m due to increased benefit
payments under universal credit for all of 20-21 financial year. Further £1.155m relating to
impact of covid on the new semi-independent leavers contract, OWL's. Further £0.25m
impact of covid on unit rates, circa 7%.

- Insourcing of Independent Travel Trainer contract

Action planned to in-source ITT contract

- assessed impact on non-staffing related expenditure
directly due to covid-19

£0.2m impact re additional DIS equipment and £0.35m increased Direct Payments, offset by
£0.6m private hire savings from CEL Passenger Transport, £0.5m savings on travel &
subsistence and £0.35m on Legal charges.

- impact on 20-21 income not directly due to covid-19

Following approval of the 20-21 budget the following projections relating to income & grant
have been realised / identified: £0.324m reduction in Troubled Families Grant offset by
£0.05m additional Pupil Premium funding for Virtual Head, £0.25m saving from utilising more
in-house resources to deliver SFPC programme and £1.672m PiP funding. £0.25m from
Improvement Partner work with other LA's. Offset by £0.244m CCG income shortfall.

- assessed impact on income directly due to covid-19

There has been a significant impact on income directly related to the impact of covid-19;
projected pressures of £2.321m Early Start Net Nursery Fees income, £1.92m school traded
income fee income.

Staffing

Page 197

Children Looked After & Financially
Supported Non-CLA Demand Budgets

Non-Staffing

Income (including Grant funding)

Direct
Covid
Impact

Indirect CovidImpact

£m

£m

0.368

0.774
(0.325)

3.346

1.963

(0.050)
(0.900)

(1.580)

4.241

6.078

Children and Families Directorate - Forecast Variation

1.759
7.837

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - PERIOD 7
Overall Summary - The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is made up of 4 separate blocks - the Schools Block, Central School Services Block, Early Years Block and High Needs Block.
At Period 7 it is expected that the DSG will be £2,135k overspent in 2020/21. At this stage, no specific costs associated with covid 19 measures have been identified.
Schools Block - This is the largest element of the DSG and mostly consists of delegated funding to local authority maintained schools. When a school becomes an academy, funding payments are made directly by the ESFA and not paid to
local authorities to distribute. When this happens, there is a reduction in grant income which is largely matched by reduced expenditure. Since the budget was set, there have been a number of academy conversions which reduces the grant
received and the school funding paid out. Following these conversions, there is a small one off saving in the year in which it occurs. There are a number of de-delegated services where schools have agreed for the local authority to retain
funding to cover some costs centrally which otherwise would need to be charged to schools (such as maternity costs, trade unions costs and the libraries service). As there were fewer schools converting to an academy by 1st September 2020,
additional de-delegated income of £286k is projected, which is offset by overspends on the maternity pay and SIMs licences budgets and will increase the de-delegated surplus by £204k. The Growth Fund budget remains part of this block and
is currently projected to be £350k underspent.
Central School Services Block
This block covers costs such as prudential borrowing repayment, equal pay costs, the admissions service and the retained duties element of what used to be the Education Services Grant (which covers statutory and regulatory duties, asset
management and welfare services). There is expected to be an underspend of £121k as a result of vacancies in the admissions service.
Early Years Block - This element is concerned with provision to pre-school children. There is a great deal of uncertainty on this block as a result of the COVID19 . The impact on 2020/21 has been mitigated by a slight change in the way the
income due is calculated. For 2020/21 only, the January 2021 early years census will only affect the income due for 3 months of the year, rather than the usual 7 months. This should reduce the potential volatility of the grant due, though the
final grant will still not be confirmed until the 2021/22 financial year. In line with the 8p per hour increase in the unit rate received, the unit rates paid to providers has been increased for both 2 year old and 3 & 4 year old providers by 8p. Based
on activity in previous years, adjusted for the above changes in DfE guidance, it is estimated that there will be an underspend of approximately £547k on this block.

Page 198

High Needs Block - This element is used to support provision for pupils and students with special educational needs and disabilities. The current projections are that there will be an overspend of £3,596k. The largest areas of overspend are
as follows:
- Mainstream top-ups and additional blocks £2,828k. Based on top up funding already allocated out, with estimated increased based on the average at this point in year for the past 3 years. Additional place funding is based on the details in the
FFI database as at the end of August 2020.
- Outside placements is projected to overspend by £1,263k, based on current placements. However due to a shortage of specialist places in Leeds, there is a significant risk that this could increase further.
- The high needs block services provided by Leeds City Council are projected to underspend by £378k.
- At the start of the year, a number of elements of the grant allocation were not confirmed. These have now been confirmed and will result in an additional £126k of grant income

Reserves - There is an overall deficit brought forward from 2019/20 on general DSG of £3,955k and a de-delegated surplus of £722k. The reserves carried forward into 2021/22 are projected to be a deficit on general DSG of £6,294k and a
surplus on de-delegated services of £330k. In line with the outline proposal agreed with School Forum in July, the 2019/20 underspend on de-delegated services of £596k is expected to be used to fund schools with covid19 costs that have not
been funded by the government.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
Budget
£'000
Schools Block
DSG Income
Individual Schools Budgets
De-delegated budgets
Growth Fund

Central School Services Block
DSG Income
CSSB Expenditure

Early Years Block
DSG Income
FEEE 3 and 4 year olds
FEEE 2 year olds
Other early years provision

Page 199

High Needs Block
DSG Income
Funding passported to institutions
Commissioned services
In house provision
Prudential borrowing

Projection
£'000

Variance
£'000

(314,877)

(307,636)

7,241

307,309
4,568
3,000
0

299,829
4,364
2,650
(793)

(7,480)
(204)
(350)
(793)

(4,867)
4,867
0

(4,867)
4,746
(121)

0
(121)
(121)

(64,216)
50,897
10,147
3,172
0

(58,685)
47,629
7,443
3,066
(547)

5,531
(3,268)
(2,704)
(106)
(547)

(79,831)
72,329
1,821
5,123
558
0

(79,957)
76,429
1,821
4,745
558
3,596

(126)
4,100
0
(378)
0
3,596

0

2,135

2,135

Total

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

DSG Grant Reserves

Latest Estimate
Balance b/fwd from 2019/20
Net contribution to/from balances
Balance c/fwd to 2021/22
Projected Outturn
Balance b/fwd from 2019/20
Projected in year variance
Use of reserves
Balance c/fwd to 2021/22

Lead
Officer

General

De-delegated

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

3,955

(722)

3,233

3,955

(722)

3,233

3,955
2,339

(722)
(204)
596
(330)

3,233
2,135
596
5,964

6,294

Additional
Comments

RAG

A. Key Budget Action Plans
Transfer funding to High Needs Block

Action Plan
Value
£m

Transfer of £2.65m from the schools block and £350k from the central school services block to the high needs block as
detailed in report to Schools Forum in January 2020.

B

3.00

Forecast
Variation
against
Plan/Budget
£m
0.00

B. Significant Variations
Schools Block
Schools Block
Schools Block
Early Years Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
High Needs Block
CSSB

In year underspend of £204k on de-delegated services
Underspend on growth fund
Underspend as a result of academy conversion adjustments
Underspends on minor budgets within early years block
Increase in high needs funding at mainstream schools
Increase in outside placement costs
Underspends on services provided by LCC
Final confirmation of grant due for 2020/21
Underspend on admissions service

Dedicated Schools Grant - Forecast Variation

(0.20)
(0.35)
(0.24)
(0.54)
2.83
1.26
(0.38)
(0.12)
(0.12)

2.14

CITY DEVELOPMENT 2020/21 BUDGET
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL - OCTOBER)
Directorate Summary - At Period 7 it is projected that there will be a year-end overspend of £19.821m which includes the projected impact of Covid 19 of circa £22.456 (including the £375k additional cost of the higher than budgeted pay offer). This is an overall minor improvement of £107k from the
Period 6 Dashboard resulting from the net positon of an increase in estimated Covid pressures from April 2020 and additional pressures anticipated from Lockdown 2 (November 2020, assumed for 4 weeks), which are offset by staffing savings due to ELI’s prior to 31st March 2021, and reductions in other
Covid income pressures as they are positively managed down by Service Management actions and interventions. These are detailed in the narrative below.
The Directorate's financial position has been significantly affected by the current restrictions in place as a result of Covid 19 and by the severe impact on the economy. There is a direct impact in Active Leeds and Arts and Heritage from the loss in income from the closure of all sites and the uncertainty and
restrictions on recovery. In other service areas the anticipated economic downturn is expected to impact on income from the commercial property portfolio, Markets, advertising, planning and building fees and in Highways from reduced fee recovery as a result of some of the workforce self-isolating and
other staff absences.
The extent of the impact of Covid is still not fully apparent as limitations on activities are ongoing and even more so in the light of Lockdown 2, however the forecasts for the year are regularly reviewed and revised based on the latest intelligence available. There is a great deal of uncertainty around some
of the income projections and the underlying assumptions are under regular review.
Staffing - Based on current vacancy levels and assuming limited external recruitment for the foreseeable future, staffing is projected to be under budget by £2.2m based on current vacancy levels. In Highways and Transportation most staff costs are chargeable and any vacancies will lead to reduced
income or additional contractor costs. Some staff in Asset Management and Regeneration are also chargeable. Allowing for this it is estimated that staff savings will contribute a net saving of £1.473m. This also allows for additional costs from a higher pay award than budgeted for estimated at £375k
although some of this cost will be charged out. There is a further saving of £378k across services due to staff leaving via ELI prior to the 31st March 2021 after accounting for income generating posts and any interim costs.
Other running cost savings - Where cost savings directly relate to closure of facilities and events then these have been accounted for in the net income loss figures. It is estimated that there could be additional savings in supplies and services and travel costs of around £0.9m across the Directorate.
Additional Covid 19 costs - Whilst the impact of Covid 19 on City Development is mostly on income, some additional costs are being incurred to ensure services are Covid compliant, assist City Centre Management and other related public health and health and safety measures. From April 2020 this was
estimated to be circa £500k across the Directorate. Following the recent announcement of Lockdown 2 from the 5th November an additional estimated £300k pressure on income and expenditure across all services (excluding the identified Active Leeds pressures detailed below) has been allowed for
while further analysis is undertaken to establish a clearer position.
Planning and Sustainable Development - both planning application and building control fee income generation have improved since June but with some noted volatility. The cumulative position for October is now 19% down against the 2020/21 Budget for planning fees and 2% down against the 2020/21
Budget for building control fees. The improvement is considered to be due to a general catching up after full lockdown measures and a surge in low fee value home owner developments. The planned implementation of revised pre-application charges was initially postponed due to lockdown but has now
started. The 2020/21 budget included additional income of £250k for these charges and a shortfall of £120k is projected due to the delay. Overall the shortfall in income is forecast to be circa £1.2m, which is partially offset by £200k of staffing (excluding ELI’s), transport and supplies and services savings.

Page 200

Economic Development - The service is forecasting a reduction of income and additional costs of £148k for the year, mainly reduced income from Conference Leeds and reduced recovery of staff costs where staff are now working on Covid 19 related work. The projection also includes some additional
grant income that has been received, and some minor offsetting savings in transport costs.
Asset Management and Regeneration - The year end forecast anticipates a shortfall in income from the Commercial Property Portfolio from the non-achievement of budget actions which were based on generating additional rental income from the purchase of additional commercial assets during the
year. It is likely that there will be a delay in new acquisitions due to the economic uncertainties arising from COVID-19. It is also anticipated that there will be a reduction in overall rental income as some businesses continue to struggle financially. The service has developed a strategy around rental income
and how the service responds to requests from businesses seeking support. The current projection assumes a 30% shortfall in rental income over the non-prime commercial property portfolio. In addition, there may be specific sectors which are particularly badly hit where there is a higher risk that rental
income may not be achieved. The projection has improved by £825k from Period 6 as a rental deferment agreement is being finalised with a prime tenant, it should be noted that the recognition of this income which is due now but won’t be paid until the next financial year does carry some risk if the
tenant becomes insolvent, however there is a parental company guarantee that mitigates this.
Employment and Skills - No significant variations are currently projected. The major grant schemes that the service manages are currently expected to be delivered. There is a risk that not all grant income will be received but this will kept under review. A saving of circa £130k is due to a vacant post and
ELI’s.
Highways and Transportation - The major variation is forecast to be on the amount of highways maintenance work that the DLO is able to complete due to a reduced available workforce. This will result in reduced chargeable works which will lead to a reduction in income and the recovery of overheads.
The current projection is for a shortfall in income of £580k in the DLO, £870k in Civil Engineering and Transport Planning, and £100k in Utility Permit income. This is a partially offset by circa £550k vacancy and ELI savings and is a £290k improvement from the period 6 position, and work is ongoing to
facilitate further improvement.
Arts and Heritage - As facilities were closed during the early part of the financial year and again for Lockdown 2, the service is forecasting a significant shortfall in income. Ongoing restrictions on being able to fully re-open facilities has meant that many of the planned events for the year have been
cancelled significantly impacting on income for the year. The Period 7 projections reflect theses cancellations and maintain the Period 6 assumptions that the impact of social distancing requirements makes it unlikely that many activities (events, room hire, etc.) will resume as planned in this financial year.
There will be some cost savings as a result and these have been netted of the income shortfall projections where they can be identified. There is a net adverse movement of £50k from Period 6 (income pressures less ELI savings).
Active Leeds - Sport facilities were re-opening on a phased basis but are now closed for at least 4 weeks due to the second lockdown. However even though facilities have been and will be allowed to re-open it is anticipated that income will remain well below budgeted levels due to social distancing
requirements and a very slow building back of the customer base to pre-Covid 19 levels. At Period 7 the projected income has worsened by £1m. £500k of this is due to a review of the projected income losses form the first lockdown which showed a £300k increased pressure on swimming lesson income
and a £200k increased pressure on Pay and Play income than originally forecast. Furthermore the impact of Lockdown 2 is estimated to be a further £500k adverse impact on income. A circa £700k of this additional pressure should be offset by the 75p in the £1 claim for loss of income from central
government’s income compensation scheme (subject to a 5% de-minimis), income to the Council from this scheme will however be held corporately and will not be shown in the Directorate dashboard. This pressure has been partially offset by circa £100 further staffing savings and £43k on ELI’s.
Resources and Strategy - costs being incurred as a result of Covid 19 and the original lockdown are being recorded in the Resources and Strategy budget, currently projected at £0.5m. A further £300k pressure has been included for Lockdown 2 as the full impact is currently being assessed.
Markets and City Centre - Open Market traders were not billed for rent April to June as part of a Covid support package at a monthly loss of £40k. Indoor Market traders continue to be billed but provided with a rental support scheme (rent reductions) for July to September, this scheme has now been
extended for a further three months (October to December). Whilst most indoor traders are eligible for support through the Government business support scheme there has been an increase in voids in the Market and the current projection is that there will be a 38% shortfall in income. There is also
expected to be a reduction in advertising income, the year-end projection is a £700k shortfall against the budget including the £200k additional income assumed in the 2020/21 budget. A further £220k loss of income is projected for City Centre Management due to the loss of licences and events income
due to the pandemic.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES

=

Expenditure
Budget

Income Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

Transport

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Planning &
Sustainable
Development
Economic
Development
Asset
Management &
Regeneration
Employment &
Skills
Highways &
Transportation

Total (under) / overspend
£'000

9,560

(7,877)

1,684

(175)

(20)

(70)

(52)

70

0

0

0

0

(247)

1,240

993

2,358

(627)

1,731

44

0

28

(20)

0

0

0

0

0

53

94

148

18,656

(21,888)

(3,232)

(822)

201

(93)

(4)

0

0

0

0

0

(719)

3,437

2,718

7,210

(5,497)

1,713

(128)

0

0

(2)

0

0

0

0

0

(130)

0

(130)

65,784

(47,875)

17,909

(590)

(313)

(206)

(776)

51

0

0

0

0

(1,834)

2,772

938

Arts & Heritage

21,296

(8,915)

12,380

(170)

(89)

(2,425)

(9)

(65)

0

0

0

0

(2,758)

4,987

2,229

Active Leeds
Resources &
Strategy
Markets & City
Centre
Total

26,626

(20,453)

6,172

(287)

(125)

(143)

(1)

0

(75)

0

0

0

(630)

10,950

10,320

1,045

0

1,045

(90)

0

753

0

(3)

0

0

0

0

660

0

660

3,503

(4,567)

(1,064)

12

(38)

(21)

(1)

0

0

0

0

0

(47)

1,993

1,946

156,039

(117,701)

38,338

(2,205)

(385)

(2,176)

(864)

53

(75)

0

0

0

(5,652)

25,473

19,821

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Page 201

RAG

A. Budget Action Plans
1.

Planning & Sustainable Development

Additional Comments

Lead Officer

Action
Plan
Value

Forecast Variation against
Plan/Budget

£m

£m

David Feeney

Pre-Application fee income in Planning - delayed implementation

A

(0.25)

0.12

R

(0.75)

0.75

2.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Purchase of commercial assets to generate additional rental income over and above the annual costs of
borrowing and other land-lord related costs

3.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Asset Rationalisation

R

(0.20)

0.20

4.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

LED Street Lighting Conversion

G

(0.43)

0.00

5.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Site Development

G

(0.25)

0.10

6.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Utility Permits

A

(0.20)

0.00

7.

Markets & City Centre Management

Phil Evans

Advertising Income

R

(0.20)

0.20

8.

Resources & Strategy

Phil Evans

Use of Balances/One Off Income

G

(0.50)

0.00

(2.78)

1.37

Total Budget Action Plan Savings

B. Other Significant Variations
1.

Planning & Sustainable Development

David Feeney

Planning Application and Building Control Fees

1.12

2.

Economic Development

Eve Roodhouse

Loss of income and additional costs related to Covid 19.

0.12

3.

Asset Management & Regeneration

Angela Barnicle

Commercial Rental Income & Asset Activities

2.36

4.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Highways Maintenance

0.76

5.

Highways & Transportation

Gary Bartlett

Civil Engineering and Transport Planning

0.79

6.

Arts & Heritage

Cluny Macpherson Net loss of income due to closure of venues

7.

Arts & Heritage

Cluny Macpherson Postponement of Tour de Yorkshire and the Triathlon

(0.30)

8.

Active Leeds

Cluny Macpherson Loss of income due to closure of Leisure Centres and reduced income once they re-open.

10.95

9.

Markets & City Centre Management

Phil Evans

Markets, advertising and Licences income

10.

All Services

All

Staffing Vacancies (excluding income funded posts)

(1.57)
(0.92)

2.56

1.79

11.

All Services

All

Savings on running costs across the Directorate

12.

All Services

All

Additional Pay Award

0.38

13.

All Services

All

Additional spend as a result of Covid 19

0.50

14.

All Services

All

Net ELI savings across all services

15.

All Services

All

Estimated impact of Lockdown 2 (Income & Expediture across all services excluding Active Leeds)

(0.38)

Page 202

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation

0.30

19.821

COMMUNITIES & ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE SUMMARY
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
Period 7 (October 2020)

The overall position is a projected overspend of £23,176k. Of this, £25,256k
relates to the estimated impact of Covid-19, although this figure is still subject
to variation as the situation progresses. The overall position also includes
assumptions around tighter recruitment/expenditure controls and the impact
of the Council's Early Leavers Initiative (ELI) and it is estimated that potential
savings of £2,080k are achievable.

Welfare and Benefits (£929k over budget)
The projected overspend mainly reflects Covid-19 related expenditure in respect
of the net cost of Housing Benefit claims for rough sleepers (£1.0m) and the
estimated cost of the pay offer (£33k). Other non-Covid forecast variations in
expenditure and income are projected at £104k.

Communities (£325k overspend)
Covid-19 related costs total £330k which includes £300k projected loss of
Community Centre income, £100k delays to planned savings from Community
Centres, offset by running cost savings of £100k and £27k cost of the additional
0.75% pay offer. Other net expenditure savings of £2k are projected. ELI savings
of £102k are being used to contribute to existing budget action plans.

Parks and Countryside (£5,713k overspend)
The overall impact of Covid-19 on the service is £6,474k. Income generating
facilities including Tropical World, Temple Newsam Home Farm, Lotherton
Wildlife World, the Arium, Cafes, Golf courses, Bowling Greens, sponsorship and
concessions in parks, are currently projecting net income losses of £2,727k. In
addition, shortfalls in income from the reduction in chargeable works activities
within Parks Operations and Landscaping are estimated at £1,893k and losses of
income resulting from restrictions within bereavement services are estimated at
£338k. A further £180k of income is estimated to be lost as a result of the
cancellation of events held in parks although savings of £430k from the
cancellation of the West Indian Carnival and bonfires will offset this. Other
expenditure of £1,637k is anticipated, mainly due to measures in Parks to
facilitate Safer Public Spaces and the cost of PPE equipment and cleaning. The
cost of the pay offer is estimated at £129k, although this is offset by staffing
savings of £668k together with other operating expenditure savings of £93k.

Customer Access (£1,709k overspend)
Covid-19 costs are estimated at £1,087k which includes the cost of software and
equipment to support home working £158k, PPE/Social distancing measures and
additional cleaning at Hub sites £240k, projected net income losses of £392k
across the service, the additional cost of overtime £120k and the pay offer of
£171k. Other variations include a projected staffing overspend of £309k,
additional security of £120k and other net pressures of £199k including income
trends at Hub and Libraries.

Page 203

Electoral and Regulatory Services (£728k overspend)
Elections, Licensing and Registrars (£768k overspend)
The majority of fee earning activities have reduced significantly - including
Registrars, Entertainment Licensing, Land and Property Searches, Taxi & Private
Hire Licensing. The combined impact on net income is estimated at £1,785k, with
a further £17k relating to the pay offer, although these will be partially offset by
net savings of £515k from the cancelled May elections and additional grant
income in respect of compliance and enforcement activities. Further net savings
of £519k are anticipated from staffing and other expenditure variations including
utilisation of £105k the TPHL earmarked reserve to partially offset the in-year
income shortfall.
Environmental Health (£39k underspend)
The projected position reflects Covid related costs of £39k, mainly due to income
losses from a reduction in activities across the service and the pay offer of £10k,
offset by £88k net savings in respect of staffing and other expenditure.

Car Parking (£7,200k overspend)
Covid-19 related income losses of £7,638k across the service are currently
estimated which reflects the Council’s decision to suspend all car parking charges
and enforcement activity until 4th July and the further estimated reduction in
income levels from July onwards including the November lockdown. Net staffing
savings of £221k (including the pay offer at +£23k) and other expenditure savings
of £217k are currently anticipated to partially offset this.
Community Safety (nil variation)
The service is curretly projecting a balanced budget, with the cost of the
additional pay offer (£53k) offset by other staffing savings. A small amount of
other expenditure (£5k) has been incurred in respect of Covid-19 but this is offset
by other forecast expenditure savings elsewhere in the service.

Waste Management (£5,674k overspend):
Within the Refuse service, additional expenditure of £2,663k is currently forecast
which reflects the cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with
increased volumes of waste and to provide necessary staffing cover and PPE
equipment. Additional volumes of waste are currently forecast to cost an
additional £2,624k to the end of the year. A further £605k is forecast at Household
Waste Sites for the cost of providing PPE equipment, staffing cover and security at
the sites as well as net income losses from inert waste charges and from the
Revive shops. The pay offer is estimated at £155k, although this is offset by ELI
savings of £71k and other forecast savings of £302k, mainly relating to prudential
borrowing savings and additional weighbridge volume trend income.
Cleaner Neighbourhoods Teams (£241k underspend)
Covid-19 related costs of £203k reflect the loss of income from bulky waste
collections, additional costs of cover for staff in self isolation, litter bin stickers,
PPE equipment and the estimated cost of the pay offer. However, these are
anticipated to be offset by other staffing savings of £434k and operating
expenditure savings of £10k.
City Centre (£134k overspend)
Covid-19 related costs of £169k include the projected loss of environmental
enforcement income, additional cost of cover for staff in self isolation and the pay
offer. Staffing and expenditure savings of £35k are forecast to partially offset
these costs.
Directorate Wide (£1,005k overspend)
The directorate is forecasting additional Covid-19 related costs of £1,005k. £819k
of this is in respect of a temporary mortuary facility created as part of the
Council's emergency planning arrangements to deal with a potential increase in
mortality rates over and above current capacity for Leeds and Wakefield. In
addition, a city wide mailout in respect of accessing support is projected to cost
£134k, overtime and transport costs of £23k are anticipated for the co-ordination
of the city wide use of volunteers, and £21k reflects the cost of a temporary senior
officer in support of the Council's response to the Covid situation. Other cost
pressures of £8k are also anticipated.

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;
Summary By Service

Period 7 Projected variances
Expenditure
Budget

Communities
Customer Access
Electoral & Regulatory Services
(including Environmental Health)

Income Budget

Latest
Estimate

Staffing

£'000
16,270

£'000
(11,418)

£'000
4,852

25,106

(4,560)

Premises

£'000

£'000

Supplies & Services

Transport

£'000

£'000

Internal
Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total
Expenditure

Income

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Total (under) /
overspend
£'000

97

0

(23)

0

(149)

(75)

400

325

20,546

600

120

155

(20)

0

855

854

1,709

(1,157)

1,885

728

1,015

(86)

929

(445)

7,644

7,200

8,296

(6,428)

1,868

(827)

25

(226)

(24)

0

Welfare And Benefits

196,901

(191,795)

5,106

57

0

896

(14)

76

Car Parking Services

4,867

(12,252)

(7,385)

(222)

(20)

(203)

0

Community Safety

8,621

(6,283)

2,338

214

0

5

0

0

219

(219)

0

Waste Management

44,279

(9,766)

34,513

2,428

132

2,648

442

(160)

5,489

185

5,674

Parks And Countryside

33,914

(26,147)

7,767

(889)

(202)

5

70

0

(1,016)

6,729

5,713

2,119

(427)

1,692

(6)

(2)

(84)

27

0

(65)

199

134

12,762

(4,372)

8,390

(315)

0

8

25

0

(282)

40

(242)

0

0

0

41

0

964

0

0

1,005

0

1,005

353,135

(273,448)

79,687

1,178

53

4,146

506

(233)

5,546

17,630

23,176

Environmental Action (City Centre)
Cleaner Neighbourhood Teams
Directorate wide
Total

(105)

0

0

0

(105)

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Additional Comments

RAG

Action Plan
Value (£000s)

Forecast Variation
against Plan/Budget

Communities

Page 204

Communities Team

Communities Team - achievement of staffing efficiencies

Shaid Mahmood

Community Centres

Community Centres - asset transfer savings and general efficiencies
within the service

Shaid Mahmood Delays anticipated due to Covid-19

Communities
Customer Access
Contact Centre

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Shaid Mahmood

Secure invest to save funding to partly offset additional staffing

Lee Hemsworth

Business case to be drafted

G

(150)

Customer Access
Welfare & Benefits
Housing Benefits
Welfare and Benefits
Electoral and Regulatory
Services (incl Environmental
Health)
Elections
All
Car Parking
Car Parking
Car Parking
Waste Management
Refuse
Waste Management - all
Waste Management - all
Parks and Countryside
Parks and Countryside
Parks and Countryside
Community Safety
Community Safety
Community Safety
Community Safety

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Lee Hemsworth

Potential overspend based on period 7 staffing

R

(646)

Achievement of staffing reductions
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Lee Hemsworth
Lee Hemsworth

G
G

(200)
(194)

Charge PCC for share of elections
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

John Mulcahy
John Mulcahy

Elections deferred until May 21 due to Covid-19

G
G

(400)
(177)

(315)

Increase charges at Woodhouse Lane car park by 50p for a full day
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

John Mulcahy
John Mulcahy

Prices resumed but 50p increase not implemented

R
G

(100)
(148)

100

Secure agreement from DEFRA re revision to waste contract
Achievement of staffing savings
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

John Woolmer
John Woolmer
John Woolmer

Confirmation now received

G
G
G

(2,200)
(50)
(290)

Additional funding from Childrens Funeral Fund
Staffing savings - achievement of vacancy factor

Sean Flesher
Sean Flesher

G
G

(120)
(1,398)

Maximisation of external funding
Achievement of staffing efficiencies
Achievement of base vacancy factor

Paul Money
Paul Money
Paul Money

G
G
G

(175)
(17)
(335)

G

(75)

R

(100)

G

(166)

100

309

Directorate Wide
Other Significant Variations
All
All
All
ELR
All

Covid-19 related
Staffing
Operating expenditure
Taxi & Private Hire Licensing
Other

All
All
All
John Mulcahy
All

Covid-19 expenditure/income variations not already shown in action plans above
Estimated staffing savings
Expenditure savings identified at period 7 - running costs etc
Utilisation of earmarked reserve
All other variations

Communities & Environment - Forecast Variation

25,371
(1,757)
(1,313)
(105)
786

23,176

Page 205

RESOURCES AND HOUSING
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
PERIOD 7
Overall
The Directorate has a projected overspend at month 7 of £13.8m which is an improvement of £1.1m from the month 6 position of £14.9m. Approximately £1m of the improvement isdue to the ELI savings that have been
captured within services to date with the balance made up of increased savings from vacant posts, reduction in forecast running costs and pressures. The total COVID related cost/loss of income of £17.3m is partially offset by
savings/income of £3.5m comprising vacancy freeze/delayed recruitment/ELI savings assumptions savings, additional income and savings in non essential expenditure across all services.
Resources
There is a projected overspend of just under £1m across the Resources group of services, £3.8m of this is due to the adverse impact of COVID partially offset by non COVID savings/income of just under £2.8m. The most
significant items are a projected loss of court fees in Finance/Legal of £1.3m, £0.3m estimated cost of operating and providing meals from the Food Warehouse, £0.8m reduction in income to capital projects and other charges.
Delays to the implementation of Budget Actions Plans and other COVID pressures in Shared Services are around £0.4m.There are net savings on non COVID related areas of £2.8m, being a combination of savings against vacant
posts, savings from ELIs, non essential spend and other running cost savings.
Housing Services
An overspend of £0.6m is forecast for Housing mainly due to the Covid-19 impact, consisting of £2.1m additional accommodation and security costs relating to both hotel and supported accommodation. The total COVID
pressure of £2.5m is partially offset by additional Housing Benefit income of £1.1m and confirmation of £1.3m of Next Step Grant of which an initial estimate is that £670k can be applied against existing pressures.

Page 206

Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL)
The division is projected to overspend by £6.5m (a reduction of £287k from month 6) with £7.5m attributable to COVID and partially offset by £1m of additional income and reduced forecast expenditure. Of the £7.5m COVID
pressures, £5.7m is forecast in LBS due to a reduction in income as a consequence of reviewing what services can currently be delivered safely, front line staff self isolating and staff working elsewhere to support COVID related
activity. Furthermore an estimate has been made on the impact on efficiency for those operatives working but having to do so to meet the requirements of safe distancing. The almost £300k improvement from month 6 is due
to a combination of ELI savings, reduced forecast expenditure and additional income.
In addition, school closures earlier in the financial year and meal take up not returning to expected levels from September, continuing closures of commercial outlets and the provision of emergency meals (grab bags / hampers)
to children is forecast to cost £1m in Catering (based on the assumption meal take up returns to normal levels from February), an overall improvement of £114k from the month 6 position .
The authority wide net expenditure on PPE of £5.6m although coded within CEL has been shown separately below within the Directorate Action Plan row.
Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget
£'000
Resources
Housing
CEL

Income Budget Latest Estimate
£'000

£'000

Staffing

Premises

Supplies &
Services

£'000

£'000

£'000

Internal Charges

External
Providers

Transfer
Payments

Capital

Appropriation

Total Expenditure

Income

Total (under) /
overspend

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

100,415

(32,278)

68,137

426

(57)

(184)

(70)

130

0

(20)

0

0

225

763

988

20,837

(13,345)

7,492

(338)

0

2,432

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,094

(1,469)

625

148,396

(140,366)

8,030

(2,702)

(183)

427

(91)

37

0

0

0

0

(2,512)

9,052

0

Directorate Action Plan
Total

Transport

269,648

(185,989)

83,659

(2,614)

5,626
(240)

8,301

(161)

167

0

(20)

0

0

5,433

6,540
5,626

5,626
8,346

13,779

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Service
HOUSING
Housing

RAG
Budget Action

Lead Officer

Comments

Additional Charges to DFG

Jill Wildman

New structure in Health and Housing in place. No issues expected, but need to keep under review re level of
capital spend to justify charges to scheme

To ensure the delivery of the targeted return (£10.655m) and ensure
service developments and effective productivity improvements.

Sarah Martin

Significant risk turnover won't be delivered with impact of pandemic; Currently £500k/week under recovery

CPM

Additional charges to capital (staffing)

Sarah Martin

New structure in place during 19/20. No issues anticipated

Facilities Management

Insourcing of Office waste and Voids

Sarah Martin

Insourcing of general waste contract completed, insourcing of voids slipped.

Facilities Management

Review of servicing offer at Merrion Hosue

Sarah Martin

Savings to come from fewer meetings etc as a result of WFH.

Fleet Services

Electric Vehicle replacement and reduction in hire

Sarah Martin

EV vehicle replacement on track and service working to reduce hire. Assue slippage 6 months re COVID

Fleet Services

Generate additional external income from maintenance of external
vehicles

Sarah Martin

Covid-19 epidemic has delayed savings and income

Catering

Generate net additional income from expanding commercial offer

Sarah Martin

Aireborough leisure centre completed but affected by closures

Catering

Target saving from reduced reliance on meat based dishes

Sarah Martin

School closures could affect ability to deliver this

DIS / Shared Services

Mail and Print Review - Printer rationalisation

Dylan Roberts

This has been done printers required will be in place for end of March and paid from ESP budget 2019/20;

DIS / Shared Services

Mail and Print Review - Reductions in the volume of printing (Colour and B Dylan Roberts

Action Plan
Value
£m

Forecast Variation
against Plan/Budget
£m

G

(0.21)

R

0.00

G

(0.04)

G

(0.08)

G

(0.06)

A

(0.33)

0.02

G

(0.21)

0.01

R

(0.03)

R

(0.04)

G

(0.25)

G

(0.15)

R

(0.14)

G

(0.06)

G

(0.05)

CEL
Leeds Building Services

5.65

RESOURCES

Work in progress to get volumes down – given that the vast majority of staff are wfh there will be significant
reductions in printing. Assuming WFH continues into 2020/21 will bring reduced printing costs in the new year.

Page 207

DIS / Shared Services

Mail and Print Review - new Print Unit Equipment and LCC wide cost
reduction on external spend

Sonya McDonald

Procurement exercise completed. Contract due to be awarded

DIS

DIS Breakfix - reduced external spend

Bev Fisher

This is done - past six months trends show a reduction in costs – no reasons this wouldn’t continue.

DIS

Staffing Reduction - DIS Service Desk

Bev Fisher

Not actioned – given the current demand/volume of calls cannot reduce staffing levels in the service desk in the
near future or maybe at all. Need to identify alternative actions to offset

0.07

DIS

DIS - Health and City Partnerships

Bev Fisher

Done and agreed – signed 12 months contracts with health partners

G

(0.25)

HR

Staffing reductions

Andrew Dodman

ELI Business case approved. Staff leaving between Mar and Oct; Savings net of ELI costs

G

(0.13)

HR

Income HR

Andrew Dodman

Charges to academies. Agreed

G

(0.02)

HR

Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV)

Andrew Dodman

Anticipate around £10k LCC wide on existing ULEV take up

A

(0.05)

0.05

HR

Apprenticeship Levy (Rolled over 19/20)

Andrew Dodman

This income will not be received. (Will need to identify alternative savings in year & remove from base budget)

R

(0.15)

0.15

Shared Services

E Invoices

Sonya MCDonald

Procurement exervise for techincal solution completed

R

(0.15)

0.15

Shared Services

Servicing of meeting savings

Louise Snowden

£200k initial savings; £60k been identified elsewhere. £140k potential issue

R

(0.14)

0.07

Directorate Wide

Line by Line Reductions

Various COs

HR £44k (Staff shop, Serv Devt); Legal £100k; Pru Borrowing £60k; S&I £50k; IN year monitoring of spend

G

(0.31)

Directorate Wide

Staffing reductions

Various COs

Passengers £87k ELI done; Housing Options £90k (split GF/ HRA)

G

(0.13)

Directorate Wide

Impact of Covid-19

Additional expenditure/loss of income as a result of pandemic net of £1.1m HB income

Impact of Covid-20
Directorate/LCC Wide
B. Other Significant Variations
Directorate/LCC Wide

DIRECTORATE WIDE

R

4.67

Pay Award

R

1.04

Impact of Covid-19

PPE Expenditure

R

5.57

All Other variations

Net pressures, vacancy freeze and non essential spend savings

Resources and Housing Directorate - Outturn Variation

G

(3.67)

13.78

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - PERIOD 7
Overall :
The overall projection for month 7 for Strategic & Central Accounts shows an underspend of £73.8m.
The dashboard includes a separate row for corporate Covid-related pressures and income, with a total net credit of £99.5m. This position includes £69.5m of government grant support awarded to the council for the
impact of Covid, a projected £18.9m compensation grant for lost sales, fees and charges income during the pandemic £3.4m in track & trace grant to be allocated to relevant costs, and £23.4m use of earmarked reserves.
It also reflects the estimated £16.3m cost of the corporate Early Leavers scheme, less £0.5m to be funded from the flexible use of capital receipts.
The dashboard recognises the potential for a shortfall of £27.9m in capital receipts as a result of the shutdown in the economy due to the Covid 19 lockdown, which would require a corresponding increase in the level of
MRP chargeable to revenue. This represents a worst case scenario given the considerable uncertainty in the property market, and a lower shortfall against budget may be achievable.
As a result of the impact of Covid 19 on the local economy, the council anticipates that it will receive significantly more S31 grants as compensation for the additional business rates reliefs given during the year. There will
be a corresponding impact on the Collection Fund deficit which the council will have to fund in 2021/22 as a result of these additional reliefs, and thus the additional income (currently projected at £75.9m) will be fully
required in 2021/22 and will therefore be carried forward in an earmarked reserve A reduction of £2.1m has also been recognised in the council's projected business rates levy for the year, as a result of anticipated
reduced business rates income.
There is a risk that general and schools capitalisation budget targets will not be met, and as a result the projection shows a potential pressure of £1.0m across the two budgets.
However the projection for S278 income is currently £0.4m above the budget.
Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Page 208
Strategic Accounts
Corporate Covid issues
Debt
Govt Grants
Joint Committees
Miscellaneous
Insurance
Total

PROJECTED VARIANCES
Expenditure
Budget
£'000
(13,311)
0
35,747
2,161
35,201
5,746
8,764
74,307

Income
Budget
£'000
(20,089)
0
(17,881)
(27,581)
0
(794)
(8,764)
(75,109)

Latest
Estimate
£'000
(33,400)
0
17,866
(25,420)
35,201
4,952
0
(802)

Staffing
£'000

Supplies &
Services
£'000

Premises
£'000

External
Providers
£'000

Transfer
Payments
£'000

Capital
£'000

1,014

15,855

(100)

(132)
15,723

Internal
Charges
£'000

Transport
£'000

0

1
568
1,483

7

0

19
19

7

(2,137)

(2,137)

27,581

27,581

Appropriation
£'000

(23,400)
75,917

(792)
51,725

Total
Expenditure
£'000
1,014
(7,545)
27,481
73,780
7
(131)
(205)
94,401

Income
£'000
(458)
(91,933)
(123)
(75,917)
41
205
(168,185)

Total (under) /
overspend
£'000
556
(99,478)
27,358
(2,137)
7
(90)
0
(73,784)

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
RAG
Additional Comments

Lead Officer
A. Major Budget Issues

Budget

Forecast
Variation
against
Budget

£m

£m

G

20.2

(0.4)

Page 209

1.

Debt Costs and External Income

Victoria
Bradshaw

2.

Minimum Revenue Provision

Victoria
Bradshaw

The budget relies on the use of capital receipts to repay some debt. Due to the slowdown in economic activity,
there is a risk that sufficient capital receipts may not be realised, requiring additional MRP from revenue.

R

14.2

27.9

3.

New Homes Bonus

Victoria
Bradshaw

Current forecast is as budget

G

(4.7)

0.0

4.

Business Rates (S31 Grants & retained income)

Victoria
Bradshaw

The current forecast is for an additional £75.9m of S31 grant income in relation to business rates. However this
will be required to fund the Collection Fund deficit expected to be carried forward to 2021/22, and so will be
carried forward in an earmarked reserve.

G

(22.7)

0.0

5.

S278 Contributions

G

(4.6)

(0.4)

6.

General capitalisation target

A

(3.8)

0.4

7.

Schools capitalisation target

Current forecast is as budget, however there is a risk that this level of capitalisation may not be achieved.

A

(3.7)

0.6

8.

Joint Committees

Minor net variations at Period 6

G

35.2

0.0

9

Covid support grants

G

0.0

(91.9)

10

Early leavers costs

R

0.0

16.3

11

Use of reserves

A figure of £23m has been recognised for the use of the Merrion House income reserve

G

0.0

(23.4)

12

Flexible use of capital receipts

It is intended that £0.5m of the Early Leavers costs in cluded in item 10 above will be capitalised under the flexible
use of capital receipts provisions

G

0.0

(0.5)

Four new large claims have driven overspend to £792k to be funded from insurance reserve.

A

0.0

0.0

Forecast at Period 6 is £117k higher than budget

G

(16.6)

(0.1)

Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw

Minor net variations at Period 6

After a detailed review in September City Dev capital dashboard reports that Section 278 capital spend and
funding is currently estimated to be £5.0m
Current forecast is as budget, however there are risks that reductions in non-essential spend may impact on the
potential for capitalisation.

General Covid support grants totalling £69.5m have been recognised, together with £19.0m of grant in
compensation for lost sales, fees & charges income
Estimated severance costs of £14m and pension strain costs of £2.3m have been included in respect of the
corporate ELI scheme

B. Other Significant Budgets
Victoria
Bradshaw
Victoria
Bradshaw

1.

Insurance

2.

Prudential Borrowing Recharges

3.

Business Rates Levy

Victoria
Bradshaw

Pessimistic projection for business rates growth means that the council's levy payable is expected to be below
budget

G

2.2

(2.2)

4

Miscellaneous

Victoria
Bradshaw

Minor net variations at Period 6

G

4.9

(0.1)

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation

(73.8)

Housing Revenue Account - Period 7
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Summary of projected over / (under) spends (Housing Revenue Account)
Directorate

Current Budget

Variance to
budget

Projected Spend

£000

£000

Comments

£000

Previous period
variance
£000

Income
Rents
Service Charges

Other Income

Total Income

(212,140)

(210,611)

1,530

(8,484)

(8,419)

64

(33,772)

(31,726)

2,046

(254,396)

(250,756)

3,640

£739k Increase in Voids due to Covid 19. £365k pre-covid trend void rate moved from 0.75 to 0.92. £280k Net impact of reduction in RtBs sales offset by ROFR delays. £81k Covid 19
loss of commercial rent. Garages rent pressure £65k.

1,487
71

£202k RtB admin income due to Covid 19. £614k Civica project team not charged to capital. £250k staff not working on capital schemes due to Covid 19. £525k vacant posts in P&I not
charged to cap schemes. £317k Hsg growth posts vacant - offset in emp costs. £100k redcution in Court income due to Covid 19 - offset in Internal Charges. NB - Probable Pressure
from LEEDS PIPES income not yet included. Greater analysis required, but likley installation levels will be delayed.

1,884

3,442

Expenditure

Page 210

Disrepair Provision

1,400

3,400

2,000

Increase in case numbers and average costs.

1,900

Repairs to Dwellings

45,081

44,781

(300)

Covid 19 impact.

(300)

Council Tax on Voids

778

967

189

31,402

30,275

(1,127)

Premises

8,202

8,330

128

Naviagtion House Delapidation work.

127

Supplies & Services

3,835

4,114

279

ICT savings review plus WFH savings. £376k PFI movement.

282

£575k Civica DIS staff not charged to capital. £(100)k reduction in charges for Court cost - offset in Onternal Income. £(16)k PFI movement. NB Possible additional pressure of LEEDS
PIPES costs not yet reflected. Greater analysis required.

376

Employees

Internal Services

44,064

44,431

367

Capital Programme

60,550

45,642

(14,908)

Unitary Charge PFI

10,417

10,417

-

Capital Charges

44,334

44,102

(232)

Other Expenditure

Total Expenditure

Net Position
Appropriation: Sinking funds
Appropriation: Reserves

(Surplus)/Deficit

Assume hold vacant posts vacant for 6 months and addtl 0.75% pay award due to Covid 19. Hsg Mgt £(1,154)k, P&I £(695)k, Hsg Growth £(238)k, Technical £(12)k. £972k Severance
costs for reaffirmed ELI requested partly offset by employee savings where staff leave before end of 20/21.

Estimated £15m reduction in transfer to capital due to slippage in the programme £9.6m transfer to capital reserve, £5.3m funding other pressures.

5,739

5,728

(10)

242,186

(13,614)

1,404

(8,570)

(9,974)

(216)

64

280

(1,188)

(1,094)

94

0

(9,600)

(9,600)

Reflects lowers cost of borrowing per updated Treasury figures.
Provision for bad debt £207k pressure. £(147)k transport saving due to Covid 19. £(71)k Reduced Community Payback payments due to Covid 19.

0

(1,030)

(5,189)
(232)
60

(3,816)

(374)
£330k movement in PFI - offset above.

280
94

Revised use of EIT reserve.

(0)

-

Transfer to Capital Reserve

189

-

255,800

Proposed New Reserves

Total Current Month

Covid 19 impact due to void level.

-

9,600

9,600

0

0

Transfer to Capital Reserve

-

(0)

Housing Revenue Account - Period 7
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Change in Stock

Budget

Right to Buy sales

Projection
(645)

(490)

Right of First Refusals/ Buybacks

65

38

New Build (Council House Growth)

80

66

(500)

(386)

Total

Right to Buy Receipts

2019/20 Actual

Total Value of sales (£000s)

2020/21 Projection
33,931

27,919

Average Selling Price per unit (£000s)

55.4

57.0

Number of Sales

612

490

1,333

1,367

Number of Live Applications
* Sales to end of period: 248

Page 211

h

Arrears

2019/20

2020/21
£000

Dwelling rents & charges

2019/20 Week 31

Variance
£000

£000

2020/21 Week 31

Current Dwellings

6,360

7,432

1,072

Former Tenants

4,570

4,305

(264)

11,737

808
(181)

10,930
Under occupation

2019/20 Week 53

2020/21 Week 22

Volume of Accounts

3,051

2,870

Volume in Arrears

1,198

1,121

(77)

% in Arrears

39.3%

39.1%

-0.2%

177

(21)

Value of Arrears
Collection Rates

197
2019/20 Week 53

2020/21 Week 22

Dwelling rents

96.43%

96.33%

-0.1%

Target

97.50%

97.50%

0.0%

Variance to Target

-1.07%

-1.17%

-0.1%

Housing Revenue Account - Period 7
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year
Projected Financial Position on Reserves

Reserves b/f

Use of Reserves Contribution to
Reserves

Closing
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(6,495)

0

0

(6,495)

Welfare Change

(807)

686

0

(121)

Housing Advisory Panels

(507)

0

0

(507)

(2,777)

0

0

(2,777)

(408)

408

0

0

(23)

0

0

(23)

Changing the Workplace

(151)

0

0

(151)

ERDMS

(257)

0

0

(257)

(4,930)

1,094

0

(3,836)

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund

(1,474)

0

(1,320)

(2,794)

LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund

(6,025)

1,254

0

(4,771)

(7,499)

1,254

(1,320)

(7,565)

MRR (General)

(8,278)

49,628

(50,949)

(9,600)

MRR (New Build)

(1,105)

808

0

(297)

(9,383)

50,436

(50,949)

(9,896)

(28,308)

52,784

(52,269)

(27,793)

HRA General Reserve
Earmarked Reserves

Sheltered Housing

Page 212

Early Leavers' Initiative
Wharefedale View

PFI Reserves

Capital Reserve

Total

Agenda Item 11
Report author: James Child
Tel: 0113 378 7683
Report of the Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16 December 2020
Subject: Arena Development Plots, Clay Pit Lane, Leeds
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Little London and Woodhouse

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)
Appendix number: 1

Summary
1. Main issues


The Council owns two development plots (Site A and Site B on the plan in Appendix
2) to the front of the Arena, which were originally identified for complementary
leisure uses to the Arena.



The Yorkshire Bank building (Site C and Site D on the plan in Appendix 2) is in the
process of being acquired by a third-party buyer, who intends to redevelop the site
for student housing once vacant possession is obtained, which might not be until
2025.



An opportunity has arisen to agree a land exchange of Site A for Site C, which
would facilitate the creation of a single more versatile development plot with future
development potential for leisure uses complementary to the Arena. The proposal
would also enable the buyer of the Yorkshire Bank site to bring forward much earlier
a student residential development on Site A. Provisional terms for the proposed
land exchange are detailed in the confidential Appendix 1 of this report and are
recommended for approval, with a recommendation that officers negotiate final
terms to be approved by the Director of City Development under delegated powers.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The proposed land exchange will facilitate the creation of a single more versatile
development plot with future development potential for uses complementary to the

Page 213

Arena. Such development would contribute to the Best City Priorities of Culture and
Inclusive Growth by enhancing the image of Leeds through the hosting of major
events and attractions, as well as supporting growth and investment into the city.
The proposal will also bring forward purpose-built student housing, which shall
support the Best City Priorities of Housing and Child-Friendly City.


In relation to Climate Emergency, the development plots were temporarily
landscaped pending their development. As part of any development, it is
anticipated that any planning permission would require lost trees to be replaced in a
greater number. New buildings constructed shall be required to meet modern
construction standards.

3. Resource Implications


The proposed land exchange will facilitate the creation of a single more versatile
development plot that has the potential to be developed in the future for
complementary uses to the Arena. Such a development would bring a capital
receipt or revenue income to the Council.

Recommendations
It is recommended that Executive Board approves:
a) The Council exchanging conditional contracts with the buyer of the Yorkshire
Bank site for the land exchange of the Council-owned northern development
plot (Site A) with part of the Yorkshire Bank site (Site C) on the terms detailed in
the confidential Appendix 1;
b) That officers negotiate final terms for the land exchange to be approved by the
Director of City Development under delegated powers.
c) The continuation by officers of informal discussions with the Arena operator,
regarding the scope of redevelopment and identification of complementary uses
for the development plot precipitating from the land exchange, with proposals to
be reported back.

Page 214

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to seek Executive Board approval to the provisional
terms, as outlined in the confidential Appendix 1, of a land exchange to facilitate the
creation of a single larger development plot, which can be brought forward for a
potential future complementary use to the Arena.

1.2

This report also seeks authority for officers to negotiate final terms for a land
exchange to be approved by the Director of City Development under delegated
powers.

1.3

The report further seeks approval to the continuation by officers of informal
discussions with the Arena operator, regarding the scope of redevelopment and
identification of complementary uses for the development plot precipitating from the
land exchange, with proposals to be reported back.

2.

Background information

2.1

The area on which the Arena was constructed was previously a largely incoherent
brownfield site made up surface car parks belonging to both the Council and the
then Leeds Metropolitan University (LMU), together with a 1970s redundant former
LMU building. Since its development, the area and its surroundings have seen a
number of improvements, including the modernisation and redevelopment of the
Merrion Centre/Merrion House and the development of a number of both purposebuilt and converted former offices into student residential schemes. The proposal
outlined in this report has the potential to bring further improvements to this part of
the city centre through a possible new complementary cultural offer to the Arena
Quarter and additional student housing with similar ground floor complementary
uses.

2.2

As a consequence of the development of the Arena, two development plots fronting
onto Clay Pit Lane were created (identified as Site A and Site B on the plan in
Appendix 2). . The sites have always been considered to offer the opportunity to
accommodate complementary leisure uses to the Arena.

2.3

Initially it was intended to bring forward the development of the two sites
simultaneously with the Arena. However, as the sites and the Arena are in close
proximity to each other and the sites were used by the contractor during the
construction of the Arena as the base for their offices, welfare facilities and
materials compound this did not prove feasible. Accordingly, temporary
landscaping to the two development sites was introduced, which had an
appearance of being permanent having regard to the security measures required
around the boundary of the Arena to restrict and divert unwanted access to the
building.

2.4

Executive Board members should note that at Plans Panel on 8 October 2009 it
was reported that an area for future development was identified which would
“provide opportunities to introduce uses at ground level to help activate the public
space during times when the Arena is not in use”. The report also noted that “the
development could provide scope to respond to tall buildings on the west side of
Clay Pit Lane at the northern gateway to the city centre”, but “in the interim the
space would be soft landscaped”. When the design of the Arena was originally
envisaged, it was always considered by the Council’s Civic Architect that it would be
‘embedded in the urban fabric’ of the city centre, so that glimpses of the building
could be seen when approaching it but that the building would not be highly visible
given the scale of surrounding developments. This sentiment is reflected in a
Page 215

further Plans Panel report on 4 February 2010, which noted that “the development
of these areas would help frame the piazza space and would assist in screening the
space from traffic on Clay Pit Lane”.
2.5

The Arena operator is fully aware of the Council’s aspiration that the two sites would
be brought forward for development and, as they were not developed
simultaneously with the Arena, the Council gave an undertaking to the operator that
the two sites would not be under construction when the Arena opened and for at
least six months afterwards..

2.6

.Against this background the Chief Asset Management and Regeneration Officer
gave approval on 13 January 2014 to advertise the two sites as available for leisure
developments, with interest and proposals to be reported back for consideration.
Whilst a number of potential uses were considered, including a hotel on Site A and
a bar on Site B, neither interest led to detailed terms or a final transaction. Since
this time the sites have remained vacant pending a future development opportunity.

2.7

Sites A and B were featured in Appendix B to the Revenue Budget Proposals and
Capital Programme for 2018/19 report approved by Executive Board 7 February
2018, decision ref D46263,
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=46263. The sites were
shown for disposal in financial year 21/22 onward. The sites were also part of the
Capital Receipts Programme approved by Executive Board in January 2020.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The Yorkshire Bank head office building, shown as Site C and D on the plan in
Appendix 2, was recently marketed by its owner following a decision by the tenant
of the building to reorganise its banking operations. Terms for the unconditional
sale of the building have been agreed with a third party buyer, as named in the
confidential Appendix 1. It is the buyer’s intention, once vacant possession is
obtained, to redevelop the site for student residential accommodation. The buyer,
however, cannot bring forward such a development until 2025 after the existing
lease to the parent company of Yorkshire Bank expires.

3.2

In light of these circumstances an opportunity has arisen whereby a land exchange
of Site A and Site C would benefit both the Council and the buyer of the Yorkshire
Bank site (hereafter referred to as the Buyer). . From the Council’s perspective it
would create a single, larger and more versatile development plot, which, subject to
further considerations, could be brought forward for future complementary leisure
uses to the Arena. From the Buyer’s perspective, it would enable them to bring
forward a student residential scheme on Site A much earlier than otherwise would
be possible on the Yorkshire Bank site. This proposal also enables the Council to
help deliver a mixed use scheme with wider regeneration benefits than a purely
student residential scheme would realise, as has been seen with surrounding
student developments. The balance of the Arena site has always been considered
for development that would increase the footprint and economic impact of the area
beyond the student homes and this proposal offers a unique opportunity to realise
this ambition.

3.3

The Council’s new development plot would incorporate Site B and Site C, together
with some of the adjacent public realm to create a more regular shaped site.
Subject to appropriate planning approvals being in place, it is envisaged that the
site could be capable of being developed for a conference / banqueting / indoor
sports type venue, with vehicular access off Brunswick Terrace, which could
Page 216

operate ancillary to the main arena. Similarly subject to planning permission, it is
anticipated that Site A could be capable of accommodating a tall building (c.30 plus
storeys), with Site D being developed as two lower rise buildings, all for the
provision of student residential development, with potential ancillary ground floor
leisure / restaurant uses to complement the Arena.
3.4

A pre-application is to be submitted by the Buyer, which shall consider both the
student development on Site A and Site D and principle of the development of a
conference/leisure facility on land including Site B and Site C. The proposed land
exchange shall be conditional, however, on the grant of detailed planning
permission for the student development on Site A and Site D. The rest of the terms
of the proposed land exchange of Site A and Site C are detailed in the confidential
Appendix 1of this report. It is recommended that Executive Board gives approval to
the terms of the land exchange, with the final terms to be approved by the Director
of City Development under delegated powers.

3.5

It is also recommended that Executive Board approves the continuation of informal
discussions with the Arena operator regarding the scope of redevelopment and
identification of complementary uses for the development plot that will precipitate
from the land exchange.

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The Executive Members for Resources, for Inclusive Growth and Culture and for
Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development have been consulted in
the preparation of this report and the proposals brought forward.
4.1.2 Ward Members were consulted on 6 November 2020 and had no objections to the
principle of the proposal.
4.1.3 Consultation and ongoing engagement is taking place with the Arena operator to
determine the scope of redevelopment and identification of complementary uses.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been carried out,
which is contained in Appendix 3. The screening shows no impacts on any of the
protected characteristics.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposed land exchange will facilitate the creation of a single more versatile
development plot that has the potential to be developed in the future for
complementary uses to the Arena. Such development would contribute to the Best
City Priorities of Culture and Inclusive Growth by enhancing the image of Leeds
through the hosting of major events and attractions, as well as supporting growth
and investment into the city. The proposal will also bring forward purpose-built
student housing, which shall support the Best City Priorities of Housing and ChildFriendly City.

Page 217

Climate Emergency
4.3.2 The development plots were temporarily landscaped pending their development.
As part of any development, it is anticipated that attached to any planning
permission will be a requirement to replace the lost trees in a greater number than
the plots currently contain. The new buildings constructed shall be required to meet
modern construction standards to meet Climate Emergency requirements.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The proposed land exchange will facilitate the creation of a single more versatile
development plot that has the potential to be developed in the future for
complementary uses to the Arena. Such a development would bring a capital
receipt or revenue income to the Council.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The information contained in Appendix 1 is exempt under Access to Information
Rule 10.4(3) as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of
a particular organisation and of the Council. This information is not publicly
available from the statutory registers of information kept in respect of certain
companies and charities. It is considered that since this information was obtained
through one to one negotiations for the proposed land exchange then it is not in the
public interest to disclose this information at this point in time. Also it is considered
that the release of such information would or would be likely to prejudice the
Council’s commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions in that
prospective transacting parties for other similar sites would have access to
information about the nature and level of consideration which may prove acceptable
to the Council. It is considered that whilst there may be a public interest in
disclosure, much of this information will be publicly available from the Land Registry
following completion of this transaction and consequently the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this
information at this point in time.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 In agreeing to the proposal, there is a risk that planning permission may not be
granted for the proposed student development and/or the conference/leisure facility.
The terms of the land exchange are conditional on the grant of planning permission
of a student residential development on Site A and Site D. Whilst there is a risk
planning permission may not be granted, initial comments by planning have
generally been positive in terms of the principle and a number of other
developments have been approved recently for the same use. Should planning
permission not be granted, however, the Buyer could withdraw and the Council
would retain its ownership of Site A and B. To mitigate the planning risk to the
Council in terms of a conference/leisure facility, a pre-application is to be lodged
that will consider the principle of development of both the student residential
scheme and a conference/leisure facility. Conditional contracts for the land
exchange shall not be entered into without a positive pre-application response.
Whilst there is a risk that full planning permission may not granted in due course for
a conference/leisure facility, this risk is mitigated as far as is reasonably possible at

Page 218

this stage through the pre-application process, which shall include comments from
design, highways and conservation.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

It can be concluded that the land exchange presents an opportunity for the Council
to obtain a single more versatile development plot that has the potential to be
developed in the future for complementary uses to the Arena. The land exchange
will also bring forward, subject to planning, the development of the northern plot
(Site A) for a high-rise student development, which will complement the existing and
ongoing student housing provision in this area. It is concluded that a
recommendation can be made to Executive Board to exchange conditional
contracts for the land exchange, with final detailed terms being delegated to the
Director of City Development to approve.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

It is recommended that Executive Board approves:
a) The Council exchanging conditional contracts with the buyer of the Yorkshire
Bank site for the land exchange of the Council-owned northern development
plot (Site A) with part of the Yorkshire Bank site (Site C) on the terms detailed in
the confidential Appendix 1;
b) That officers negotiate final terms for the land exchange to be approved by the
Director of City Development under delegated powers.
c) The continuation by officers of informal discussions with the Arena operator,
regarding the scope of redevelopment and identification of complementary uses
for the development plot precipitating from the land exchange, with proposals to
be reported back.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8.

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Confidential appendix outlining main heads of terms.

8.2

Appendix 2: Plan.

8.3

Appendix 3: Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 219

This page is intentionally left blank

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

3
15

to

FIRST DIRECT ARENA
DEVELOPMENT SITES
CLAY PIT LANE
LEEDS LS2

3
22

1 to 8

¯

3

The Plaza

LA
N

E

224 to 449

CL

AY

PI
T

El Sub Sta

W
at

er

´
Hepworth House

12

O

VI
DE

13

NC

E

PL
AC

E

A

Rising
Bollard

61.3m

14

2

PR

15

First Direct Arena
18

B

Posts

Li n

C

eO
fP
s
ost

D

Posts

Bank

Rising
Bollard

BR

UN

SW

IC K

TER
R

rth
Cen
tral

ESS

19

SUBJECT SITE

15

´

4
© Crown Copyright and database right
2020 Ordnance Survey LA100019567
9

Little London &
Woodhouse Ward

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

0 5 10

20

30

40
Metres

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data
to third parties in any form.
Produced by Land Records, City Development, Leeds City Council
Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\14300 - 14399\14361M Arena Dev Site Yorkshire Bank PANEL.mxd

Page 223

ous
e

eH

LAND LEASED OUT BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
THIRD PARTY
OWNERSHIP

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

WARD BOUNDARY

Hu m

WA
Y

STR
EET

I ON

HO

ME
RR

E

ER

17

96

LB

TOW

10 4

Tow
er N
o

House

US E

Merrion

AC

PREP BY

J Sohanpall

DATE SAVED:

06/11/2020

OS No:

SE3034SW

SCALE

1:1,250

PLAN No

14361/M

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration (EDCI)
screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Asset Management &
Regeneration

Lead person: James Child

Contact number: 0113 378 7683

1. Title: Arena Development Plots, Clay Pit Lane, Leeds
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

x

Other

If other, please specify: Land exchange
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This screening exercise concerns the proposal for the Council to exchange its northern
development plot at the front of the Arena in return for an area of land of approximately
similar in size from the Yorkshire Bank site which is being acquired by a third party. The
land exchange shall from the Council’s perspective facilitate the creation of a single
larger development plot, which can be brought forward for a potential future
complementary use to the Arena.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 225

1

greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
X
X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 226

2

that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Mark Mills
Head of Asset Management
4 November 2020
Date screening completed
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 227

3

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 228

4

Agenda Item 12
Report author: Adam Harvatt, Janet
Howrie, Matt Brook.
Tel: 0113 3787648
Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16th December 2020
Subject: Leeds Site Allocations Plan – Consultation on amendments to 37
policies following High Court Order
Yes

Are specific electoral wards affected?

No

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Guiseley & Rawdon, Otley & Yeadon, Horsforth, Cross
Gates & Whinmoor, Temple Newsam, Rothwell, Alwoodley, Adel & Wharfedale,
Rothwell, Kippax & Methley, Farnley & Wortley, Morley North, Morley South, Ardsley
& Robin Hood, Calverley & Farsley, Pudsey
Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main Issues


The Leeds Site Allocations Plan (SAP) was adopted by Full Council on
10th July 2019. The SAP was challenged by the Aireborough
Neighbourhood Forum in relation to allocations on Green Belt land
proposed for housing within Aireborough, on 7 grounds. The High Court
found that 3 grounds constituted errors of law (within the independent
Inspectors’ Report) and has ordered that they be resolved. Furthermore,
2 grounds were not granted permission to proceed and 2 grounds were
granted permission to proceed but were not upheld.
None of the 3
upheld grounds found that that the City Council itself proceeded
unlawfully or took a legally flawed approach to the SAP.



The Court has ordered that the Council send back 37 Green Belt sites
(including one mixed use allocation) to the Secretary of State and the

Page 229

Planning Inspectorate for further examination against up to date
evidence and policy. This process is known as remittal.


Following an update of the Strategic Housing Land Availability
Assessment (SHLAA) to 1st April 2020, there is currently around a 6.8
years housing land supply and a district wide surplus of approximately
11,000 units to 2028.



Informed by the up-to-date housing evidence, the recommended
proposal for remittal to the Secretary of State is to delete all 37
allocations and retain each as Green Belt to 2028.



Subject to Executive Board approval the proposed Main Modifications
and supporting documents will be subject to 6 weeks public consultation
(week beginning 4th January 2021) before the SAP is remitted to the
Secretary of State for further examination.



The policy objectives of the Adopted SAP remain. The revised approach
in respect to the 37 Green Belt allocations reflects the updated housing
supply evidence since SAP adoption and maintains the focus of
development on more accessible locations and rebalances the mix of
brownfield and greenfield housing land supply.

2. Best Council Plan Implications


There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. In particular, the
SAP overall contributes to the Council’s key strategies, as follows:
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design
of places, quality of housing and accessibility and the integration of
public health infrastructure.
Climate Emergency – managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: the design of places, the location of development, accessibility
to public transport, use of brownfield land, energy, supply, generation
and the efficiency of buildings.
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links
between homes and jobs, planning for the land use and infrastructure
needs of key economic sectors, the location of development, green
infrastructure and connectivity.

3. Resource Implications


The procedure associated with the remittal of the Plan has implications for
resources in terms of cost, time and staffing, at a time of increased budget
pressure. In general, costs will be met from within existing budgets.

Page 230

4. Recommendation
Executive Board is requested to:
(i) Note the recommendation to Development Plans Panel for their meeting
on 11 December 2020 and further to the outcome of that meeting, note
the resolution of DPP, which will be advised verbally at Executive Board;
(ii) Note the reasons for the proposed Main Modifications in the report;
(iii) Approve for public consultation:
a. The Proposed Main Modifications to the SAP (Appendix 7)
b. The Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (Appendix 5) in support
of the Plan

Page 231

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform Executive Board of the work undertaken
since the High Court Judgment relating to the Site Allocations Plan statutory
challenge, and the requirements for the remittal of the SAP the Secretary of
State. The report also sets out indicative timescales. On this basis, the report
seeks approval to commence consultation on the proposed Main Modifications
to the SAP (Appendix 7).

2.

Background information

2.1

The Leeds Site Allocations Plan (SAP) was adopted by Full Council on 10th
July 2019. The Adopted SAP initially provided site allocations and requirements
that helped to deliver the Adopted Core Strategy (CS) 2014, ensuring that
sufficient land was available in appropriate locations to meet the targets set out
in the CS for housing (including Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling
Showpeople), employment, retail and greenspace.

2.2

Upon adoption, the housing provision in the SAP was below the existing CS
2014 housing target. This was because the Council and the Inspector had
taken steps to reflect a known downward housing trajectory (which was being
advanced in its Core Strategy Selective Review and, reduce (by over half) the
amount of Green Belt land to be allocated. This resulted in a reduction in the
number of Green Belt sites that were originally intended to be allocated in the
final Adopted SAP.

2.3

To account for the (then) subsequent adoption of the CSSR, the SAP Inspectors
introduced SAP Policy HGR1 which requires that once the new Core Strategy
(CS) housing target (introduced into the CS on adoption of the CSSR) was
adopted, the Council would undertake a review to consider the need for
additional housing allocations and safeguarded land designations to deliver the
new CS housing target.

2.4

The CSSR was adopted on 11th September 2019 and amended the housing
requirement and Plan period, from 70,000 (net) between 2012-2028 (in the
2014 Adopted CS) to 51,952 (net) between 2017-2033.

2.5

Following the adoption of the SAP, it was subject to a legal challenge by the
Aireborough Neighbourhood Development Forum in August 2019 on 7 grounds.
The case was heard at the High Court in February 2020 with Judgment being
handed down on Monday 8th June 2020. The Judge, Mrs Justice Lieven DBE,
allowed the Claim on 3 out of the 7 grounds raised. These 3 grounds related
to 3 legal errors, namely legally deficient reasons given, in the Inspectors’
Report on: justifying the release of the specific Green Belt sites and site
selection process; and an error of fact relating to the calculated increase in
supply of housing (mainly in the city centre) during the process.

2.6

It should be noted that the Judge did not find that Green Belt sites could not
properly be released and nor did she find that the site selection process was in
error.

2.7

The Order for Relief was handed down on 7th August 2020. The Judge
concluded at paragraph 24 that, “It does however seem to me to be appropriate
to remit this matter to the Secretary of State, and through him the Inspectorate,

Page 232

rather than quash either the whole or parts of the SAP. It seems reasonable to
start from the position that the process should be taken back to the stage where
the error of law occurred rather than back to the beginning through quashing.”
2.8

The Judge further stating that “If the matter is remitted then the Council will
have to decide what, if any, modifications it intends to propose to the Inspectors.
That is a matter of planning judgement for the Council and it is not for me to
adjudicate on what approach the Council takes to exceptional circumstances
for GB release once the matter is remitted”, (paragraph 26). She also explains
that once the SAP is remitted it is for the Secretary of State to make the
appropriate arrangements and it is not essential that the matter should be put
before different Inspector(s) (but this is a matter for the Planning Inspectorate
to determine).

2.9

Paragraph 31 of the relief judgement concludes: “The remittal of all GB
allocations to the Inspectors will, I accept, cause delay and will impact upon the
Council’s ability to show a 5YLS. [See paragraph 3.12 of this report in response
to this]. However, those are not grounds not to remit if that is the only way to
remedy the illegality that I have found. The planning judgements that follow, in
terms of conformity with the NPPF and whether the tests for GB release are
met, are matters for the Council and the Secretary of State and not for the
court.”

2.10

In summary, the effect of this relief concerns sites for housing (including a mixed
use site) that, before the adoption of the SAP were in the Green Belt (37 sites).
These sites are to be remitted back to the Secretary of State and the Planning
Inspectorate for further examination.

2.11

During this remittal process these 37 housing sites are considered as not
adopted and as such are returned to the Green Belt until re-examined. The
remainder of the SAP remains adopted and carries full weight. The 37 sites are
listed at Appendix 1, with a plan showing their location at Appendix 2.

2.12

It is noted that whilst the 37 sites are now designated as Green Belt, as they
were immediately before the Adoption of the SAP, there has nevertheless been
activity on some of the sites through the planning application process where
schemes have been considered by Plans Panel. This reflects that the Council
is required to determine any planning application that is submitted to it in line
with relevant material considerations at any time. The sites include:


Horsforth Campus (HG2-43) where a planning application for the
development of 152 affordable dwellings (C3) with associated access and
landscaping was considered by City Plans Panel on 1 October 2020. The
panel resolved that development of the site was accepted in principle (on
the basis of policies within the National Planning Policy Framework) and
deferred the application to allow further detailed discussions on design to
take place, before the application is brought back to Panel on completion of
those discussions.



Scarcroft Lodge, Scarcroft (HG2-26) where a planning application and listed
building application was considered by North and East Plans Panel on 22nd
August 2019 for approval subject to a legal agreement to secure developer
obligations. The development comprises a care community comprising 172
units of accommodation with associated communal facilities through

Page 233

demolition of existing office buildings with part conversion and extension of
Scarcroft Lodge together with new build accommodation and conversion of
Woodlands into five apartments. The site remains in the Green Belt and was
determined in line with the National Planning Policy Framework. The legal
agreement is set to be signed for the formal approval of the scheme in
December 2020.
3.

Main Issues
Scope of the SAP Remittal

3.1

The High Court Order requires that a targeted remittal procedure now be
undertaken, the scope of which would focus on the 37 sites only.
The need for a revised position on the 37 housing sites

3.2

There is a need to reflect an up to date position on evidence. The Core Strategy
housing target was lowered as part of the Core Strategy Selective Review
(2019) but as Members will recall, the SAP Inspector was clear that the SAP
should not at the time be aligned with this lower figure. Instead, the lower
trajectory of growth helped justify the reduced Green Belt contribution and fact
that the SAP on Adoption was below the previous Core Strategy requirements.

3.3

The Judge in her Order notes that “The passage of time may well require the
council to update its evidence, and potentially, to invite the Inspector to
recommend modification to policies”. This is the case.
Updated Housing Supply Evidence

3.4

In arriving at an accurate picture of housing land supply to inform the Council’s
proposed recommendations for the SAP remittal, it is necessary to have an up
to date evidence base. A Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
(SHLAA) was commenced in September 2020 with the final report (Appendix
3) together with accompanying five year housing land supply statement
(Appendix 4) to be published in December 2020 and considered by
Development Plan Panel at their meeting on 11th December. The SHLAA
provides a technical assessment of potential housing sites, including those in
the adopted SAP and any other unidentified (windfall) sites that have arisen
since.

3.5

The preparation of a SHLAA is an annual requirement of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). In sum the SHLAA:


takes account of new planning permissions and construction activity to a
base date of 1 April 2020



is informed by recent national planning policy announcements, current
market adjustments and any challenges posed to housing delivery by Covid19



has involved consultation with: the Home Builders Federation (which
includes a range of SME and volume builders) along with landowners,
developers, agents and applicants of planning permissions to confirm
availability and delivery timescales for sites with planning permission and

Page 234

allocated for development in the SAP and Aire Valley Leeds Area Action
Plan.
3.6

As part of the SHLAA it is noted that there have been significantly more planning
permissions granted for housing over the past five years on sites that are not
within the SAP. These are mainly on brownfield sites and reflect the Council’s
efforts to regenerate areas and maximise the use of brownfield land across the
district and incentivise the bringing back into use of brownfield sites, including
through the Council House Growth Programme. 75% of all planning approvals
in the last 5 years have been on brownfield sites and completions remain
overwhelmingly on previously developed land, which is reflective of the
Council’s overall strategy for sustainable growth focused in the city centre and
main urban area. It is noted that whilst this uplift largely falls after the base date
of the SAP the Council did make the Inspector aware of the most up to date
permission figures available at the time of the SAP Examination.

3.7

Therefore the pipeline of sites both under construction and with planning
permission granted but where development is yet to commence remains
healthy as follows:


at 1 April 2020 there was outstanding capacity for approximately 29,000 new
homes on sites with planning permission



capacity for a further 26,000 units on sites yet to obtain planning approval
that are allocated in the SAP and AVLAAP



over 100 outlets operating district-wide with more than 5,000 individual plots
actively being built across all markets and locations

3.8

The total stock of almost 29,000 new homes with planning permission is
reflective of the greatest level of outstanding capacity in over a decade. This
includes increases to capacity of sites to those indicatively set out in the SAP
and AVLAAP as well as the granting of planning permissions on sites not in the
SAP. These new sites to SHLAA have come forward after the SAP was
prepared. They are across the whole district but particularly in the city centre
where a recent expansion of office to residential developments and large-scale
purpose built student accommodation schemes has emerged.

3.9

The SHLAA process also looked at the impacts of the pandemic and concluded
that at this stage it is too early to tell what the long term impacts will be on the
supply and delivery of housing. Whilst construction inevitably slowed during the
initial lockdown months of March to July, there are signs that this is now quickly
recovering and Government has put in place measures to stimulate the house
building sector including increased permitted development rights for new
housing which may further boost the picture of supply. Through the SHLAA the
Council has undertaken the detailed process of looking at individual sites and
seeking to determine suitability, availability, achievability, start dates and build
out rates through a review of planning and construction activity and the collation
of evidence through consultation and on-going dialogue and consultation with
landowners, agents and developers in accordance with NPPF and NPPG.

Page 235

Housing Requirement and Housing Supply
3.10

Based on the adopted housing target to 2033, the SAP is required to allocate
sites for 31,867 new homes up to 2028 (Table 1). Of these, 7,900 have already
been delivered on sites completed between 1 April 2017 and 31st March 2020.
This means land for around 24,000 new homes is needed from 1 April 2020 up
to the end of the plan period in 2028. The emerging picture of supply (excluding
remitted sites) in the 2020 SHLAA update points to approximately 35,000 new
homes being deliverable across 429 sites up to 2028. Of these, some 19,500
are either currently under construction or already have a detailed planning
permission in place. This represents a surplus in the plan period of some
+11,000 units.
Table 1: Core Strategy requirement and SAP requirement
Core Strategy Housing requirement to 2033 (Policy SP6)
CS Requirement
2017 - 2033

CS Requirement to
allocate 2017 - 2033

CS Requirement to allocate
per annum

51,952

46,352

2,897

Allocations required in the SAP up to 2028

3.11

CS Requirement
2017 – 2028
(11 years x 2,897)

Completions
2017 - 2020

SHLAA
Supply

Balance
(Completions + Supply
– Requirement)

31,867

7,900

35,235

+11,268

The Site Allocations Plan apportions the Core Strategy requirement for the
allocation of housing land for 2,897 homes per annum up to 2028. The
requirement for SAP to allocate is 11 years of housing land from the
commencement of the Core Strategy requirement in 2017 to the end of the SAP
plan period in 2028. Table 2 below reflects the most up to date position on an
HMCA basis.
Table 2: Balance of housing allocations required in the SAP up to 2028 by
Housing Market Characteristic Area

HMCA
Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South

Policy P7 %
Requirement

Housing
requirement
2017-2028

Completions
2017-2020

2020
SHLAA
Supply to
2028

Balance

3%
16%
17%
15%
9%
8%
3%
4%

956
5,099
5,417
4,780
2,868
2,549
956
1,275

187
1,930
485
1,759
858
500
234
385

276
11,733
4,242
8,790
1,940
1,333
931
403

-493
8,564
-690
5,769
-70
-716
209
-487

Page 236

HMCA

Policy P7 %
Requirement

Housing
requirement
2017-2028

Completions
2017-2020

2020
SHLAA
Supply to
2028

Balance

Outer South East
Outer South
West
Outer West

7%

2,231

385

1,167

-679

11%

3,505

669

2,555

-281

7%

2,231

508

1,865

142

Total

100%

31,867

7,900

35,235

11,268

Five Year Housing Land Supply
3.12

The SHLAA assessment calculates the updated five year housing land supply
position to be 6.8 years against the current annual requirement. This is
supported by a Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement (Appendix 4) which
will be considered by Members of Development Plan Panel at their meeting on
11th December. This is a positive figure and has improved as a result of the
reduction in the housing target, the Adoption of the SAP and the amended
provisions of the Government’s Housing Delivery Test. The overwhelming
majority of sites deliverable in the short term period are either under
construction or benefit from detailed planning permission. This is a healthy
position and one which will enable the Council to resist inappropriate
speculative development proposals.
Options for SAP Remittal

3.13

Taking into account the matters set out in the Judgment, the High Court Order
and the overriding objective to achieve a fully adopted SAP within an existing
plan period to 2028, three reasonable alternative options have been identified
for remittal:
Option 1: Propose all 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
This would require no Main Modifications to the SAP in respect of the Green
Belt sites and the Inspector would be required to examine whether allocating
the sites and removing them from the Green Belt is sound.
Option 2: Propose none of the 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the
SAP
This would require 37 Main Modifications to the SAP, one for each green belt
site
Option 3: Propose some of the Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
on the basis that they would help address housing shortfalls within
individual Housing Market Characteristic Areas.
This would require some Main Modifications to the SAP, one for each of the
Green Belt sites not being proposed for allocation (namely those in
Aireborough, East, North, Outer North East, Outer South, Outer South East
and Outer South West).

Page 237

3.14

The advantages and disadvantages of each option are considered below:
Option 1

3.15

The retention of the 37 allocations in the SAP would ensure that housing sites
are distributed across the whole of the District, and specifically across the outer
Housing Market Characteristic Areas (HMCAs) and would more closely align
with distribution amongst HMCAs as set out in the Core Strategy (Spatial Policy
7), by providing a wider choice of housing sites across some but not all outer
areas. However the evidence from the updated SHLAA shows a significant
over provision of housing land above the Core Strategy requirement (Spatial
Policy 6). This position is unlikely to support the high bar test for demonstrating
exceptional circumstances for Green Belt land release, and it is unlikely that in
such circumstances the test would be met. The National Planning Policy
Framework (para.136) requires that “Once established, Green Belt boundaries
should only be altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced
and justified, through the preparation or updating of plans”. Before concluding
that exceptional circumstances exist, all other reasonable options for meeting
identified need for development have to be investigated, including making as
much use as possible of brownfield sites and underutilised land (para.137).
Further to the policy reasons above the Council’s Sustainability Appraisal has
concluded that this option is not as sustainable as Option 2. This option is
therefore not justified on the basis of evidence nor is it considered to be in line
with national policy.
Option 2

3.16

In the context of the high bar test for demonstrating exceptional circumstances,
the removal of the 37 allocations from the SAP and retaining the sites as Green
Belt would not impact on the housing land requirements of CS Spatial Policy 6
due to the significant over provision of housing land the District now has to
2028. However, it would result in under provision of supply in several HMCAs
and it would provide a less diverse housing land supply with less choice of
housing sites specifically in the outer areas and would not reflect CS Spatial
Policy 7 in terms of providing a distribution of housing land. The removal of the
allocations would include the deletion of 5 school allocations, however as noted
at paragraph 3.22 the need for these school allocations arose directly from the
new houses created. The positive benefits of this option would be the reliance
upon development in sequentially more sustainable locations and the
environmental benefits (for example landscape, ecology and agricultural land)
by retaining Green Belt land. The option responds to the up to date housing
evidence and would avoid the need for Green Belt land release and is most
likely to be found sound having regard to the legal requirements including the
NPPF para.136 and 137. Further to the policy reasons above the Council’s
Sustainability Appraisal has concluded that this option is the most sustainable.
This option is therefore justified on the basis of evidence and is considered to
be in line with national policy.
Option 3

3.17

This option to retain some of the allocations would help to address the shortfalls
in the HMCAs (Aireborough, East, North, Outer North East, Outer South, Outer
South East, Outer South West), however as with the Adopted SAP (2019) the
CS Policy 7 shortfall would remain particularly in for example Outer South East.

Page 238

The distribution is intended as a guide rather than rigid targets and as with
Option 1, the test for demonstrating exceptional circumstances for Green Belt
release would be difficult to justify based on the local housing land needs alone
given the overall City needs are exceeded. Further to the policy reasons above
the Council’s Sustainability Appraisal has concluded that this option is not as
sustainable as Option 2. This option is therefore not justified on the basis of
evidence nor is it considered to be in line with national policy
Option Conclusions
3.18

Based on the conclusions of the evidence and policy considerations, alongside
a Sustainability Appraisal (see below para 3.28 and 3.29) it is the Council’s
planning judgement that Option 2 is the preferred approach to the SAP Remittal
for the following reasons:
a) whilst there may be some disbenefits in not allocating the 37 sites for
housing, it is considered that they are not sufficient to outweigh the high bar
test for Green Belt release (‘exceptional circumstances’) when the Council
has such a significant surplus of housing supply.
b) the option is considered a sound approach and is responsive to the findings
of the High Court Judgement (updating the housing land evidence and
inviting proposed modifications to the SAP accordingly).

3.19

In addition it is noted that Option 2:
a) enables a targeted remittal procedure, which can swiftly provide clarity and
certainty on the Council’s Adopted SAP up to 2028
b) enables further detailed implications of the Planning White Paper on setting
housing numbers (e.g. the national algorithm) and area-based policies for
growth to emerge outside of a live plan-making process
c) therefore allows for, in line with the NPPF requirement to review and update
plans every five years, for the Council to look at housing allocations beyond
2028 in due course

3.20

Whilst the housing supply currently in place enables the Council to meet its
overall housing requirements, it does not allow for housing needs to be met in
all places and there remains an imbalance in provision between the city centre
and the inner area and the outer areas. This is even more concerning as in the
high market outer areas the Council is able to seek higher levels of affordable
housing to meet needs. It is as a result of the substantial efforts that the Council
has put into promoting delivery of housing on brownfield and regenerating the
City Centre and Inner Area through a variety of infrastructure, environmental
and social schemes that markets that housing land supply has exceeded our
expectations and resulted in a substantial surplus. These factors were
acknowledged as part of the SAP Examination. However, the continued
success of these markets, coupled with the fixed lower housing requirement of
the revised Core Strategy and the high bar test for the release of Green belt in
national guidance now mean that on balance it would be particularly challenging
to demonstrate exceptional circumstances for release of Green Belt land for
housing allocations on the 37 sites.

Page 239

Consequential Effects of Proposed Option
3.21

Not proposing the 37 sites as allocations and therefore retaining them as Green
Belt will have a number of consequential effects on the SAP, which have been
considered as follows:
i)

Schools

3.22

Five of the 37 allocations include school allocations: HG2-36 Alwoodley Lane,
Alwoodley; HG2-17 Breary Lane East, Bramhope; HG2-180 Land between
Fleet Lane & Methley Lane, Oulton; HG2-150 Land east of Churwell LS27;
HG2-72 Land off Tyersal Court, Tyersal.

3.23

These sites (along with a number of other school allocations) were allocated to
respond to the need for school places arising from the new housing proposed
by the SAP. As a result of the 37 allocations being proposed to be removed
(amounting to an indicative capacity of 4,070 units) Childrens Services have
been consulted on the option to remove the school allocations. They have
advised that the school allocations were identified to accommodate additional
school places arising from the new housing. As such, should the housing sites
not be allocated, the school allocations will not be needed. Where school place
needs arising from other SAP housing allocations does occur, it is considered
that existing schools capacity could accommodate the need for additional
school places.

3.24

The site at Breary Lane East, Bramhope (HG2-17) has detailed planning
permission for 319 dwellings, a convenience store and public open space and
is currently under construction. A Section 106 Agreement attached to the outline
planning permission (13/05134/OT) included the requirement for the
submission of a plan to the Council identifying the proposed location for the
primary school within the site. The location was subsequently identified as part
of the landscape masterplan for the reserved matters approval (17/02312/RM).
The Council is currently considering its position with regards to primary school
provision in Bramhope.
ii)

3.25

One site was allocated as a mixed use allocation for housing and 10 ha of
employment land at Barrowby Lane, Manston LS15 (MX2-38) in the East
HMCA. It is noted that the Judgment made no determination on the suitability
of the 37 sites but concluded that the release from Green Belt was to be
dependent upon the re-examination of the policy status of need for sites to be
released at this time based on district-wide requirement. Any future delivery on
sites will dependent upon the requirement for Green Belt sites to be developed
taking into account all planning considerations including the need to meet
updated housing or employment needs based on the land supply evidence as
part of both SHLAA and Employment Land Review.
iii)

3.26

Employment Land

Affordable Housing

As noted above the preferred option would not provide the distribution of
housing land across the HMCAs as Option 1 would. However, this of itself
would not satisfy the test of exceptional circumstances to remove land from the
Green Belt. Notwithstanding this, the Council’s Core Strategy contains a policy

Page 240

on new housing development on non-allocated sites so as to help guide
sustainable development in these locations. National Planning Policy also
makes provisions for planning permission to be granted for affordable housing
schemes on Green Belt land, if exceptions exist. Similarly, for those HMCAs
that do not have as much housing allocated as needed Neighbourhood Plans
are able to release land from the Green Belt to meet local needs, including for
affordable housing schemes.
iv)
3.27

Housing for older persons housing/independent living (HG4)

Three of the allocations are identified as potentially suitable for older persons
housing/independent living (HG2-2 Wills Gill, Guiseley; HG2-183 Swithens
Lane, Rothwell LS26; HG2-136 Whitehall Road, Harpers Farm) due to proximity
of the sites to existing shops and facilities measured by 400m walking distance
to a centre. However it is noted in the SAP at para.2.60 “...the Plan is not
prescriptive in allocating sites solely for this use. It should be emphasised that
given the range of housing needs evident across the District, sites not
specifically identified for this use may also be considered…”. Core Strategy
Policy H4 requires that all residential applications provide an appropriate
housing mix. This provides the opportunity to create a range of different housing
types and sizes in different locations across the district.
SAP Review

3.28

Policy HGR1 of the adopted SAP requires a review to assess and address the
need for additional housing allocations and safeguarded land designations post
2023 following the adoption of the Core Strategy Selective Review. Policy
HGR1 states that the review will be submitted by the end of December 2021.
The SAP Remittal evidence shows that there is sufficient land allocated for
housing and identified for safeguarded land to comply with Core Strategy
Housing (as amended by the CSSR) target to 2028. It is therefore anticipated
that following this limited scope remittal, the Council will be in a position, as a
result of updated evidence, to demonstrate that the Policy intention of HGR1
has been met without any additional allocations. A future review of required
allocations from 2028 can be undertaken at a later date once the Local Plan
update is formulated and the outcome of the Planning White Paper proposals
have been confirmed.
Sustainability Appraisal

3.29

It is a necessary legal requirement to assess all “..reasonable alternatives
taking into account the objectives and geographical scope of the plan..”. (The
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (Part
3 12(2)(b)). All 3 options listed at paragraphs 3.15 to 3.17 have been subject
to a sustainability appraisal to assess the effects of each option upon the SA
objectives, as follows in summary:.
Option 1 – Whilst there are positive effects arising from the provision of new
housing to address Policy SP6 and SP7 (including meeting housing delivery
targets and the provision of affordable housing), associated greenspace
provision and economic benefits from short term construction jobs and the
jobs from the mixed housing/employment allocation and energy & resource
efficiency arising from the construction this is outweighed by the negative
effects on SA objectives relating to the environment and transport arising

Page 241

from the allocation of sites in the Green Belt in relatively less sustainable
locations. The remaining objectives are assessed to be neutral. As a whole
this option is judged to be less sustainable than Option 2.
Option 2 – This option has neutral effects for the majority of SA objectives
reflecting the fact that deletion of the allocations will not affect the majority of
the objectives. The effect on the housing objective (SA6) is neutral overall
as district wide housing delivery will be maintained by this option, however
the SA notes there will be less provision for meeting local housing needs and
fewer affordable houses in those areas. There is a negative impact on
employment due to loss of a mixed use allocation which includes 10 ha of
employment land and loss of jobs in the construction and employment sector.
There are positive effects relating to environmental objectives (efficient &
prudent use of land, biodiversity & geodiversity, flood risk and landscape &
townscape quality) as a result of sites remaining in the Green Belt. As a
whole this option is judged to be the most sustainable.
Option 3 – The effects of this option are similar to Option 1 because even if
specific sites are brought forward for allocation they are on Green Belt land
and in relatively less sustainable locations. As a whole this option is judged
to be less sustainable than Option 2.
3.30

An SA Addendum has been prepared (Appendix 5) to detail the assessment
process undertaken.
Habitat Regulations Assessment

3.31

The proposed option to remove the 37 allocations and retain as Green Belt has
been subject to a draft screening assessment (Appendix 6) and consultation
with Natural England has begun. For clarity Appendix 6 includes a short Habitat
Regulations Assessment (HRA) Addendum to the HRA which accompanied the
Adopted SAP (both documents are included).
Consultation on the Proposed Modifications

3.32

Based on the preferred option (2) not to propose any Green Belt sites for
allocation and retain them as Green Belt to 2028, the Proposed Modifications
to the SAP (to delete them) will be subject to public consultation for 6 weeks
from early January to February. This will be accompanied by the evidence for
the revised position including the SA Addendum, an addendum to the Habitats
Regulations Assessment and a Background Paper to help people understand
the process and options proposed.
Development Plan Panel

3.33

The conclusions of this report along with the supporting technical evidence will
be considered at a meeting of the Council’s Development Plan Panel (DPP)
on 11th December in a similar paper. DPP will be asked to note the contents
of the report and the reasons for the Main Modifications, and recommend to
this meeting of Executive Board that it approves the Main Modifications for
public consultation, along with the supporting Sustainability Appraisal
Addendum and all necessary technical background documents. A verbal
update from Development Plan Panel will be provided to this meeting

Page 242

Timescales
3.34

Timescales are as follows:


Public consultation – for a six-week period during (week beginning 4th
January to week beginning 15th February).



Consider representations received – February / March



Seek Approval of Full Council to submit the Main Modifications to the
Secretary of State for examination - March, following the close of
consultation.

3.35

Following submission, the Secretary of State will make appropriate
arrangements, with regards to appointing Inspectors and dates and process
for any future Examination proceedings.

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The consultation on the SAP Remittal: Proposed Main Modifications will be
subject to a 6 week consultation. Due to the current restrictions arising from
COVID-19, it will not be possible to undertake face-to-face consultation. The
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) will be revised on an interim basis,
in order to take account of the current and likely future restrictions. All
consultation material will be publicised and made available digitally on the
Council’s website. Statutory consultees will be consulted in line with national
regulations
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An EDCI is required for this report and is provided at Appendix 8.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. In particular, the SAP
overall contributes to the Council’s key strategies, as follows:
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility and the integration of public
health infrastructure
Climate Emergency – managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: the design of places, the location of development, accessibility to
public transport, use of brownfield land, energy, supply, generation and the
efficiency of buildings
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between
homes and jobs, planning for the land use and infrastructure needs of key
economic sectors, the location of development, green infrastructure and
connectivity

Page 243

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The consultation and remittal of the Plan has implications for resources in terms
of cost, time and staffing, at a time of increased budget pressure. In general,
costs will be met from within existing budgets.
4.4.2 Members are asked to note for contextual purposes that 4 sites out of the 37
are Council owned and these are set out below.

4.5



Site ref HG2-119 Red Hall Offices and playing field (in East HMCA),
capacity 50



HG2-123 Colton Road East, (in East HMCA), capacity 17



HG2-36 Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley (in North HMCA), capacity 302



HG2-159 Sissons Farm, Middleton (in Outer South West HMCA), capacity
222

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 As a Development Plan Document, the SAP falls within the Council’s budget
and Policy Framework (B&PF). As such, this report is not subject to call-in.
4.5.2 This Remittal process remains an advanced part of the Examination of the SAP
and there is no requirement under the B&PF for a further referral to Scrutiny
Board.
4.5.3 The remittal of the SAP is being undertaken pursuant 113(7)(b) and section
113(7C)(a) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
4.5.4 Following the consultation, Main Modifications will be finalised and will be
subject to approval of Full Council before being submitted to the Secretary of
State for Examination.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The High Court decision and the relief ordered is a process that the Council is
bound to follow. Now that the evidence has been updated, the next steps are
to consult on the proposed SAP Remittal/Proposed Modifications. .
4.6.2 A further risk of the recommended approach to the SAP remittal is that
insufficient housing may be delivered in the outer areas, including affordable
housing. However new housing in particular affordable housing could be
promoted through neighbourhood plans in areas with identified housing needs.
4.6.3 The implications of the Covid-19 are identified. The immediate effects have
been taken into account in the technical work to reflect the impact on planning
and construction activity this year, however, it is understood that we remain in
a pandemic with no known end date. It is recognised that there is potential for
the continuation of Covid-19 beyond this year, which would result in longer term
effects.

Page 244

5.

Conclusions

5.1

Following the update of evidence supporting the SAP, this report recommends
Proposed Main Modifications that none of the 37 Green Belt sites are allocated
in the SAP.

6.

Recommendation

6.1

Executive Board is requested to:
(j) Note the recommendation to Development Plans Panel for their meeting
on 11 December 2020 and further to the outcome of that meeting, note
the resolution of DPP, which will be advised verbally at Executive Board;
(ii) Note the reasons for the proposed Main Modifications in the report;
(iii) Approve for public consultation:
a. The Proposed Main Modifications to the SAP (Appendix 7)
b. The Sustainability Appraisal Addendum (Appendix 5) in support
of the Plan

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8.

Appendices
Appendix 1: List of allocations subject to SAP Remittal
Appendix 2: Map showing location of allocations subject to SAP Remittal
Appendix 3: SHLAA Main Report
Appendix 4: 5 Year Housing Land Supply Statement
Appendix 5: SA Addendum
Appendix 6: HRA Screening Assessment
Appendix 7: Proposed Main Modifications
Appendix 8: Equality Diversity Cohesion Integration Screening

1

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless
they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published
works.

Page 245

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
List of Sites within Site Allocations Plan affected by High Court Judgement
and returned to the Green Belt until re-examined
Aireborough
Area ha
HG2-1
New Birks Farm, Ings Lane Guiseley
10.84
HG2-2
Wills Gill, Guiseley
5.06
HG2-4
Hollins Hill, Hawkstone Avenue, Guiseley
3.04
HG2-9
Victoria Avenue, Yeadon
3.9
Total capacity
East Leeds
HG2-119
HG2-123
HG2-174
MX2-38
North Leeds
HG2-36
HG2-38
HG2-42
HG2-43
HG2-46

Capacity
160
133
80
102
475

Red Hall Playing Fields, LS17
Colton Road East Colton
Wood Lane – Rothwell Garden Centre
Barrowby Lane, Manston LS15
Total capacity

13.91
0.52
3.16
21.17

14.41
57.34
99.88
100

50
17
31
150
248

Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley, LS17
Dunstarn Lane, Adel LS16
Broadway and Calverley Lane, Horsforth
Horsforth Campus
Horsforth (former waste water treatment work)
Total capacity

13.43
2.25
0.57
5.35
3.18

99.76
99.99
99.71
100
100

302
68
18
134
53
575

5.79

100

100
100

19.3

20.12

87*
87

3.16
8.13
0.71
14.85
3.24
1.15

99.88
99.98
11.75
99.99
100
19.37

52
222
12
339
85
25
735

0.66
2.92

85.19
99.98

18
65
83

Outer North East
HG2-26
Wetherby Road, Scarcroft Lodge, Scarcroft
Total capacity
Outer North West
HG2-17
Breary Lane East, Bramhope
Outer South
HG2-174
HG2-175
HG2-177
HG2-180
HG2-183
HG2-186

% GB
99.28
99.86
99.84
100

Total capacity

Wood Lane, Rothwell Garden Centre, LS26
Bullough Lane, Haigh Farm, Rothwell LS26
Alma Villas, Woodlesford LS26
Land between Fleet Lane & Methley Lane, Oulton
Swithens Lane, Rothwell, LS26
Main Street, Hunts Farm, Methley
Total capacity

Outer South East
HG2-126
Micklefield Railway Station Car park, LS25
HG2-133
Ninevah Lane, Allerton Bywater
Total capacity

Note: East & Outer South: HG2-174 Wood Lane – Rothwell Garden Centre 83 total capacity

Page 247

Outer South West
Area ha
HG2-136
Whitehall Road, Harpers Farm
10.66
HG2-150
Churwell LS27
10.44
HG2-153
Albert Drive, Morley
4.65
HG2-159
Sissons Farm, Middleton, LS10
8.19
HG2-165
Thorpe Hill Farm, Lingwell Gate Lane, Thorpe
2.17
HG2-166
Long Thorpe Lane, Thorpe, Wakefield WF3
0.64
HG2-167
Old Thorpe Lane, Tingley WF3
9.2
HG2-233
Land at Moor Knoll Lane, East Ardsley
0.36
Total capacity
Outer West
HG2-53
HG2-63
HG2-65
HG2-68
HG2-69
HG2-71
HG2-72

Calverley Cutting, Apperley Bridge
Woodhall Road, Gain Lane, Thornbury BD3
Daleside Road, Thornbury North
Waterloo Road, Pudsey, LS28
Dick Lane, Thornbury
Tyersal Road,Pudsey
Land off Tyersal Court, Tyersal
Total capacity
Overall Total as at SAP Table 1

*Note: Outer NW HMCA: HG2-17 - 19.3ha, 376 total capacity

Page 248

1.11
7.37
3.37
1.12
7.52
1.07
2.9

% GB
93.5
99.93
40.3
99.88
100
100
100
99.99

Capacity
279
223
121
222
57
17
207
11
1,137

99.97
99.96
99.87
99.99
94
100
100

32
196
89
28
206
33
46
630
4,070

Former Green Belt housing allocations in the adopted SAP

HG2-1

HG2-17

HG2-2
HG2-9

HG2-4

Appendix 2

HG2-26

HG2-36

HG2-38
HG2-53

HG2-119

HG2-42

Page 249

HG2-43

HG2-46

HG2-63

MX2-38

HG2-65
HG2-68
HG2-69
HG2-71
HG2-72

HG2-123

HG2-126

HG2-136

HG2-150

HG2-174

HG2-175

HG2-133

HG2-153
HG2-159

Key

HG2-167

Leeds MD Boundary

HG2-177

HG2-233

HG2-180
HG2-165

HG2-183

HG2-186

HG2-166

SAP GB Housing allocations

¯

N32 Green Belt

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 10019567
PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\Former GB housing allocation in adopted SAP\Former GB housing allocation in adopted SAP.mxd

Produced by: NF

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3

City Development Directorate
Policy and Plans Group
Major Projects Team

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment
2020 Update
Main Report

Page 251

1.

Background

1.1.

The preparation of a Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) is a
requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as revised in July 2018
(and updated on 19 February 2019).

1.2.

Guidance on preparing SHLAA documents is contained in both the NPPF and the
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) for housing and economic land availability
assessments published in September 2018. This SHLAA Update accords with both
the revised NPPF and the NPPG.

1.3.

The SHLAA is an ongoing technical process to inform planning policy development
and implementation. It assists in the monitoring of whether there is an adequate supply
of deliverable housing land at any point in time.

1.4.

The previous Leeds SHLAA worked to a base date of 1 April 2019. This SHLAA
Update works to a base date of 1 April 2020. The NPPG provides information to help
local authorities fulfil their responsibilities under paragraph 67 of the NPPF. As well as
establishing a five-year supply position to support the preparation and examination of
Local Plans, the NPPG confirms that the supply position should be updated annually.

1.5.

Preparation of a SHLAA for Leeds commenced in 2008 with the setting up of a
partnership of external housing interests, agreement of a methodology and
assessment of over 700 sites. The exercise completed in 2009 and the final reports
were published early 2010. The SHLAA has been updated annually to adjust the
delivery prospects of sites against updated information and to consider new sites.

1.6.

The SHLAA has previously been subject to examination at public inquiries at Thorp
Arch Trading Estate, Wetherby and subsequently updated at Tingley Station (up to
770 dwellings at land at Dunningley Lane). Both inquiries considered the five year
supply position as sourced from the 2017 Update. The Secretary of States conclusion
noted confidence in the Council's "...thorough and proactive approach to land
availability”.

1.7.

The SHLAA site information was presented to support the allocation of sites in the Site
Allocations Plan at Examination between 24 October 2017 and 3 August 2018. The
Inspectors Report released on the 7 June 2019 noting that “It is considered that the
assumed build-out rates contained in the SHLAA are realistic and robust”. The Site
Allocations Plan was adopted on 10 July 2019.

1.8.

The 2020 update takes account of new planning permissions and construction activity
to a base date of 1 April 2020. The Council has been keen to fully reflect the challenges
or opportunities to delivery that might arise as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.9.

The update is informed by recent national planning policy announcements, current
market adjustments and any challenges posed to housing delivery by Covid-19.

1

Page 252

2.

The SHLAA Partnership and stakeholder engagement

2.1.

National practice guidance advocates that local planning authorities work together with
key stakeholders, in particular house builders and local property agents; so that they
can help shape the approach to be taken to help inform the deliverability and
developability of sites, and how market conditions may affect economic viability. In line
with the guidance the Council has established a consultation procedures with the HBF,
landowners, agents and applicants of planning applications. The partnership includes
internal consultation across directorates including regeneration, asset management
and council house building teams. Consultation arrangements are followed to collate
clear evidence from all stakeholders in order to produce the most accurate and up to
date picture of supply across all sites.

2.2.

In previous years the Council has assembled a SHLAA Partnership to steer and
oversee the technical work on individual sites. The partnership comprises officers,
members, the Home Builders Federation (HBF), housebuilders (including SMEs and
volume builders delivering in a variety of markets throughout Leeds), interested parties
and statutory agencies such as the Homes England.

2.3.

As part a revised approach to the SHLAA process during the 2017 Update the Council
contacted agents, landowners and promoters of sites to comment upon the availability
and achievability of each site as part of a positive approach to update the SHLAA
according to the most up-to-date information available on a site-by-site basis. The
previous updates followed this methodology and the 2020 also adopts this approach.

2.4.

The Council has been in discussions with landowners and developers through the
Private Sector Housing Acceleration Scheme as part of the update process by
establishing contact via contact details obtained from title information from Land
Registry. The Council is now in on-going dialogue with developers to keep up-to-date
construction programmes for sites with planning permission. This is the “across the
board” approach taken in the 2020 SHLAA in order to obtain detailed site-specific
information that informs assessments of deliverability as advocated by the Inspector
and Secretary of State in recent appeal decisions. This approach has been repeated
in the 2020 update following consultation with landowners, agents and developers in
September 2020 and members of the HBF in October 2020.

2.5.

Following the purchase of further land ownership information from the Land Registry,
the Council wrote again on 28th September 2020 and 5th October 2020 to landowners,
developers and agents of the sites in the current land supply, to confirm the availability
of sites and produce an up-to-date and accurate picture of delivery. This informed the
technical update of the information held for sites with views on viability and market
activity forming part of the consultation.

2.6.

The Council wrote to landowners to establish the changes posed to the housing market
by Covid-19, which may create challenges or opportunities for different types of sites
and to make clear that it was important that landowners confirmed whether the
assessment reflected an accurate picture of delivery. Where it was not, the Council
asked what factors are leading to either delay or acceleration of construction on sites
2

Page 253

so it could update our records in addition to any availability or ownership issues that
would impact on the achievability of the site.
2.7.

The Council consulted the HBF in September 2020 asking that their members review
and provide comments on sites where they are the landowner or developer of the site
or the agent acting on their behalf. The Council has also contacted landowners and
their agents to collate clear evidence in order to make informed decisions as to how
sites contribute to the future supply of housing in Leeds. The details of all construction
programmes provided to the Council are accurately reflected in the final 2020 SHLAA.

2.8.

Following completion of technical updates and consideration of observations and
forecasts of its members of current market prospects, the Council consulted the HBF
in November 2020 to provide the wider view of the HBF on current market activity and
longer term prospects across markets nationally and for locations in Leeds.

3.

Preparing the 2020 SHLAA

3.1.

The preparation of the 2020 SHLAA reflects the most up to date guidance available,
including the NPPG. In particular, the NPPG provides more detailed advice for
carrying out a SHLAA, noting that it should:




identify sites and broad locations with potential for development;
assess their development potential; and
assess their suitability for development and the likelihood of development
coming forward (the availability and achievability).

3.2.

The approach taken in the 2020 SHLAA provides an up-to-date and accurate picture
of deliverability. Site assessments have been updated to reflect recent planning and
construction activity across the district in accordance with national policy.

3.3.

The sites included in the supply satisfy the requirements of paragraph 67 of the NPPF,
which states that local planning authorities may need to develop a range of
assumptions and benchmarks to help to inform and test assessment and that
assumptions should be based on clear evidence, consulted upon with stakeholders,
including developers, and regularly reviewed and tested against actual performance
on comparable sites. This guidance is especially relevant for a metropolitan authority
the size and complexity of Leeds. This is the purpose of the SHLAA.

3.4.

Annex 2 of the NPPF (updated 19th February 2019) defines a deliverable site in the
terms of an assessment of the timescale for delivery and the planning status of the
site. To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer a
suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that
housing will be delivered on the site within five years. As well as sites which are
considered to be deliverable in principle, this definition also sets out the sites which
would require further evidence to be considered deliverable. The Council adopts this
approach in the SHLAA. This has been done by reference to the Site Allocations Plan
process and SHLAA consultation responses, alongside the latest development details
3

Page 254

of sites. Sites which previously had planning permission for housing may have now
been developed or proposed for other land uses. Such sites are removed from the
SHLAA by making them dormant. Where a landowner has confirmed that a site is no
longer available it is made dormant and removed from the current land supply.
3.5.

The NPPF advises that sites that are not major development, and all sites with planning
permission, should be considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is
clear evidence that homes will not be delivered within five years (e.g. they are no longer
viable, there is no longer a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing
plans). Where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has been
allocated in a the development plan, has a grant of permission in principle, or is
identified on a brownfield register, it should only be considered deliverable where there
is clear evidence that housing completions will begin on site within five years.

3.6.

Where sites have an expired planning permission or no planning history, the SHLAA
process has confirmed that sites remain undeveloped and available and the Council
has written to landowners to confirm availability, timeframe for delivery and determined
there are no identified impediments to the site being delivered. Many of these sites
form the Council's regeneration support programmes and officers are in dialogue with
landowners and developers to bring forward developments in the short term. Sites that
have a planning application pending a decision are discussed with case officers and
updated accordingly and the Council is also aware of pre-application enquiries where
a view to an application being submitted to the Council for the delivery of housing is
being sought.

3.7.

The Council agrees lead-in times and build out rates through the SHLAA Partnership
where it is possible for sites currently without planning permission to obtain outline
and/or detailed consent and see the start of completions from 24 months onwards.
This is based on actual completion rates on sites in different locations and across all
markets of the district. Sites without planning permission can contribute to the
deliverable supply from Years 3, 4 & 5 in accordance with NPPF paragraphs 30 and
48 where the Council has contacted a willing landowner to confirm pre-application
activity and delivery within 5 years. Sites currently under construction and with detailed
planning permission contribute to delivery in Years 1 & 2.

3.8.

Where sites are in alternative use, the Council has taken an informed approach and
considered delivery likely to be achieved. The Council has contacted landowners to
confirm availability and determine details of any existing tenancy agreements in order
to assess deliverability upon the landowner obtaining vacant possession of the site
together with lead-in times for planning application(s), commencement on sites and
the delivery of completions. The short term supply (Years 1 to 5) does not include sites
in alternative use without planning permission as they are not assessed as “available
now” for the purposes of the NPPF definition of deliverable and NPPG paragraph 19.
Further, sites with expired planning permissions are set outside the short-term picture
unless there is evidence of active planning application activity to bring the site forward.

3.9.

The revised NPPF and guidance is consistent with the previous version and adds
further detail as to the evidential requirement needed on sites without a detailed
4

Page 255

planning permission. The Council has produced clear evidence across all sites as part
of the SHLAA process, thereby satisfying the NPPF approach just as it had satisfied
the previous version. It has always been important to confirm an accurate position of
housing land supply by identifying any factors leading to either delay or acceleration of
house building on sites. This includes confirmation of any availability or ownership
issues that would impact on the delivery of a site.

4.

The Leeds Local Plan

The Core Strategy 2014
4.1.

The Council Adopted its Core Strategy in November 2014 and this set the framework
for housing growth in the District alongside a spatial strategy for development, which
sets out where sites will come forward and when. Core Strategy Policy SP6 sets out
that the housing requirement will be 70,000 (net) new dwellings between 2012 and
2028.

4.2.

Executive Board resolved to undertake a selective review of the Core Strategy (CSSR)
in February 2017. It agreed a targeted scope focussing on: updating the housing
requirement for a revised plan period of 2017 and 2033.

The Core Strategy (as amended) 2019
4.3.

The Core Strategy (CS) was amended on 11th September 2019 by the adoption of the
CSSR and the City has a new housing requirement of 51,952 (net) between 2017 and
2033. This is the amount of housing Leeds needs to build. .

4.4.

The adopted annual housing target from 2017 is 3,247 dwellings per annum. The
current plan period ends in 2033.

The Site Allocations Plan and Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan
4.5.

The Council adopted the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) on 10 July 2019. The Aire Valley
Leeds Area Action (AVLAAP) Plan was adopted in November 2017. Together these
Plans set out where allocations for housing will be up to 2028. Post adoption, the Site
Allocations Plan was the subject of a Legal Challenge submitted to the High Court on
20 August 2019. The case was heard at the High Court in February 2020, with
Judgment being handed down on 8 June 2020. The High Court has now ordered all
that allocated sites that immediately before the adoption of the SAP were in the Green
Belt be remitted back to the Secretary of State and the Planning Inspectorate for further
examination.

4.6.

The Plans bring together the comprehensive release of a range of sites, across 11
Housing Market Areas (HMCAs). In the City Centre, the Private Rented Sector (PRS)
is an emerging sector in the home building industry in Leeds with potential for over
10,000 new homes over the next 10 years. SME and regional-scale developers will
have opportunities for increasing activity across the District including on challenging
brownfield sites proving possible to deliver viable and attractive schemes.
5

Page 256

4.7.

The AVLAAP includes allocations to deliver a minimum of 6,500 homes between 2012
and 2028 within the area focussed across five broad locations (South Bank/ East
Bank/Cross Green/Hunslet Riverside/Skelton Gate), each strategically important in
delivering the area’s housing requirement and to supporting wider regeneration
aspirations.

4.8.

The SHLAA does not allocate land, but it has been the key source of identifying sites
for allocation within the SAP and AVLAAP and the assessments for availability and
achievability relied upon to as the evidential basis for the deliverability of the now
adopted plans.

5.

Planning, Housing and Regeneration Programmes

5.1

The Council has a range of strategies and programmes in place to unlock land and
support the delivery of new homes. This recognises that the private sector is unlikely
to be able to deliver the quantum of homes to meet the city’s needs in isolation, and
the important role that the Council and other public sector bodies will have in directly
developing new homes. It also acknowledges that some sites may require targeted
support if their potential for development is to be fully realised.

5.2

More planning permissions have been granted for housing over the past five years
than at any time including a record breaking level in 2018/19 of nearly 10,000 units in
a single year. The number of homes approved are now well above the City’s housing
requirement figures. During this period, the Council has consistently made a clear
priority to maximise the use of brownfield land in meeting the need for new homes
across the district and we are actively engaged with incentivising the bringing back into
use of brownfield sites. 75% of all planning approvals in the last 5 years have been on
brownfield sites and completions remain overwhelmingly on previously developed
land, which is reflective of the Council’s overall strategy for sustainable growth focused
in the city centre and main urban area.

5.3

The Council has granted more planning permissions for housing over the past five
years than at any time. The number of homes approved are now well above the City’s
housing requirement figures. Approvals have been granted for over 43,241 new
homes since 2012, well in excess of the target for the same period.

6

Page 257

Year

Brownfield

Greenfield

Total

% Brownfield

2012-13

1,672

830

2,502

67%

2013-14

4,057

991

5,048

80%

2014-15

6,052

556

6,608

92%

2015-16

3,395

1,633

5,028

68%

2016-17

3,615

3,177

6,792

53%

2017-18

5,377

2,283

7,660

70%

2018-19

8,300

1,303

9,603

86%

2019-20

2,818

901

3,719

76%

Total

35,286

11,674

46,960

75%

5.3

The total stock of outstanding capacity is 28,931 units either currently under
construction or yet to start across 415 sites. As at 1 April 2020 there were 221 sites
with planning permission where development had not yet started. These approvals
have a total capacity of 16,612 units. Of these units, 14,246 across 192 sites are on
brownfield land with the remaining 2,366 on 29 greenfield sites. As a result of the
Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown measures, the government confirmed that all
approvals set to expire between 23 March and 31 December 2020 will be automatically
extended until 1 April 2021. The Council has updated the pipeline of housing land
supply accordingly. Approvals for 2,046 new homes on 52 sites have been
automatically extended to 1 April 2021. 47 are sites on previously developed land for
1,477 units with the remaining 983 units on 5 greenfield sites.

5.4

The level of construction activity across the district is strong with over 100 sites
currently operating with around 5,200 individual plots actively under construction. The
current pipeline of sites in the AVLAAP and SAP is 50,000 homes on just over 650
sites with nearly 29,000 of these benefitting from planning permission. Almost 20,000
homes can be accommodated on sites in the city centre and inner area alone
predominately on previously developed land following the success of regeneration
initiatives to support the market in these areas, which include South Bank Leeds,
‘Europe’s most exciting regeneration project’. The Council’s Housing Growth Team
works across a range of Council services including Planning, Regeneration, Asset
Management and Housing to identify and implement interventions to stimulate housing
growth primarily in areas in need of regeneration and on brownfield land.

5.5

This work is led by a number of teams within the Council, who work together with the
common goal of boosting housing delivery. This involves those from Planning, Housing
and Regeneration, and includes the multi-disciplinary Housing Growth Team, who
have been specifically established to drive forward the delivery of new homes across
tenures, and tackle specific issues associated with stalled or otherwise challenging
sites.
7

Page 258

5.6

The Council continues to press for increased build out rates and acknowledges the
Government’s report as part of the Letwin Review to support proposals that diversify
the market in order to accelerate construction to meet housebuilding targets. The Site
Allocations Plan released a volume of large sites (over 50 units) capable of higher build
out rates. The trajectory of deliverable sites is based on build rates and pre-build leadin times which are applied to the assessment of the delivery timescales. In reality, sites
will come forward and deliver in a way which is not possible to forecast with certainty,
reflecting market conditions and the capacity of the development industry to deliver
housing. The actual rate of delivery of housing will be determined by, amongst other
things, the capacity of the market to deliver (for example, skilled labour, construction
finance and the cost of building materials) and the demand for new homes in different
locations across Leeds. The Council has undertaken the detailed process of looking at
individual sites and seeking to determine suitability, availability, achievability, start
dates and build out rates.

6.

The 2020 Update
NPPG Stage I: Identification of sites

6.1.

The area selected for the Leeds SHLAA is the Leeds Metropolitan District boundary
as identified in the adopted Core Strategy (2019). This is the local planning authority
area and has been consistently used as the SHLAA boundary since 2009. There are
no sites in the SHLAA which cross administrative boundaries; therefore the SHLAA
has not been the subject of detailed Duty to Cooperate discussions. . As a matter of
good practice, Council officers have participated in discussions and workshops with
regional housing land supply practitioners to share advice on the approach to SHLAA
methodology, up-to-date case law, recent appeal decisions and interpretation of
national policy and guidance.

6.2.

The City Council has worked with a range of stakeholders in producing its SHLAAs
over recent years including volume house builders, small and medium scale house
builders, estate agents, landowners, representatives of the HBF, Homes England, the
Leeds Property Forum, regional planning bodies and the Local Enterprise Partnership.

6.4.

Given its unique nature as a large Metropolitan authority with an extensive Green Belt
and several stand-alone settlements of varying sizes, the SHLAA is broad enough to
cover the full range of types of site listed in the NPPG. There are sites under
construction, sites with a range of planning permissions, allocated sites, brownfield
sites, surplus land, greenfield and Green Belt sites. The guidance states that plan
makers will need to assess a range of different site sizes from small-scale sites to
opportunities for large-scale developments such as village and town extensions and
new settlements where appropriate.

6.5.

The Council has actively sought sites for consideration through the SHLAA since 2009
and continues to receive them. In 2009 a formal “call for sites” exercise was
undertaken. At each subsequent SHLAA update further sites have been added. A
site submission form and call for sites guidance note is available on the SHLAA page
of the Council’s web-site. In reflecting national planning guidance, the web-site states
8

Page 259

“any person can make a suggestion for a new SHLAA site, not just landowners and
their agents - a suggestion can be made at any time of year”. In line with national
guidance, the SHLAA is a ‘live’ document and submissions can be made at any time
to the mailbox at SHLAA@leeds.gov.uk. Land submitted throughout the year for
inclusion and assessment in the SHLAA have been included in the 2020 update as
new sites.
6.6.

Sites are also considered where they have been proposed via the plan making process
and where they are subject of the decision taking process from pre-application
enquiries through to the grant of full planning permission. Since the 2009 SHLAA
assessment the progression of the SAP which has identified new sites via submission
to the plan-making process and flows of sites via the decision taking process have
been the major source of new supply in Leeds.

6.7.

Sites have also been identified as part of the Council’s involvement as a lead authority
in the pilot project of the Government’s Brownfield Land Register which was first
published in December 2017 and is maintained annually as part of the SHLAA process.

NPPG Stage II: Site assessment
6.8.

The NPPG requires that the estimation of the development potential of each identified
site should be guided by the existing or emerging plan policy, including locally
determined policies on density and mix. In Leeds this is concerned with whether sites
accord with the policies of the Adopted Core Strategy and the SAP and AVLAAP.

6.9.

The NPPG states that “assessing the suitability, availability and achievability of sites,
including whether the site is economically viable provides the information on which the
judgement can be made in the plan-making context as to whether a site can be
considered deliverable over the plan period”. As noted earlier these tests can help
make an assessment as to whether a site has a realistic prospect of coming forward
within the short term (i.e. the next five years), the medium term (years 6 to 10) or the
long term beyond this point.

6.10.

The NPPG states that “plan makers should assess the suitability of the identified use
or mix of uses of a particular site including consideration of the types of development
that may meet the needs of the community. These may include, but are not limited to:
market housing, private rented, affordable housing, people wishing to build their own
homes, housing for older people, or for economic development uses”.

6.11.

The suitability of SHLAA sites for development has been guided by:


the adopted CS (particularly the spatial development strategy policies SP1 to
SP10), the AVLAAP and SAP.



national policy in the Framework (particularly the need to boost significantly the
supply of housing and deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen
opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed
9

Page 260

communities as well as the need to encourage the effective use of land by re-using
land that has been previously developed (brownfield land)


6.12.

market and industry requirements as expressed to the Council via the preparation
of the Core Strategy and recognition that the housing requirement of Leeds, which
sits at the heart of the City-Region, is based on economic-led scenarios of likely
growth.

The Council considers that a site is considered available for development, when, on
the best evidence available there is confidence that there are no technical, legal or
ownership constraints. The Council rely on the following sources of evidence for this:








site submissions – where submitters are specifically asked to identify such
availability issues and have provided an intent to develop for housing
information provided in association with planning applications or preapplication discussions – the SHLAA is continually updated with intelligence
from Development Management officers who have detailed knowledge on
specific sites
information from regeneration officers working in specific parts of Leeds as
part of area-based regeneration programmes
information on Council-owned land from the Council’s asset management
section
information from consultation processes on each update (including from the
landowners, agents, developers and members of the HBF)
on-going dialogue with landowners, agents, developers

6.13.

The issue of achievability has been at the heart of the Leeds SHLAA. Paragraph 20
of the NPPG states: "A site is considered achievable for development where there is a
reasonable prospect that the particular type of development will be developed on the
site at a particular point in time. This is essentially a judgement about the economic
viability of a site, and the capacity of the developer to complete and let or sell the
development over a certain period".

6.14.

The NPPG notes that this is essentially a judgement about the economic viability of a
site, and the capacity of the developer to complete and let or sell the development over
a certain period. The resulting SHLAA analysis must also reflect the requirements of
the Framework when considering sites in the short term (the next 5 years). The
Framework states, “To be considered deliverable, sites should be available now, offer
a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect
that housing will be delivered on the site within five years and in particular that
development of the site is viable. Sites with planning permission should be considered
deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that schemes will
not be implemented within five years, for example they are no longer viable, there is
no longer a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans”.

6.15.

An assessment of viability in Leeds has been tested through two Examinations - the
Core Strategy and the CIL Charging Schedule. At both Examinations, the Inspector
10

Page 261

has determined that there is evidenced viability across all areas of Leeds.
Housebuilder representatives on the SHLAA Partnership have confirmed this position.
The Council is content there is no contradictory evidence to undermine these
conclusions in respect of sites.
6.16.

The NPPG and the Framework together seek that a realistic prospect of development
at a particular point in time must be applied for all sites in the 5 year supply (short
term). The Framework states that sites with planning permission should be considered
deliverable unless there is clear evidence that they will not be implemented. The
Framework at paragraph 67 provides more detail on the evidence sought between a
short term site (i.e. the next 5 years) which must be considered deliverable and a
medium term to longer term site (i.e. 6+ years) which must be considered developable.

6.17.

The 2020 Update reflects this and sources information about potential deliverability
issues on sites with planning permission from Development Management officers and
local knowledge gained through the SHLAA partnership and consultation with HBF
members.

6.18.

The Council uses the information it has on suitability, availability, achievability and
constraints to assess the timescale within which each site is capable of development.
The methodology for the SHLAA is set out at Appendix 1 and makes the following
general criteria about when development can start on suitable, available and
achievable sites. This may include indicative lead-in times for the development of
different scales of sites and where more up to date intelligence is available the general
criteria are not used.

NPPF Stage III: Windfall assessment
6.19.

The adopted Core Strategy sets a windfall allowance of 500 units per year. This is a
conservative allowance based on historic delivery of small sites below the SHLAA site
size thresholds. Windfall sites are planning permissions approved on sites under 0.2ha
outside the city centre.

NPPF Stage IV: Assessment review
6.20.

The SHLAA assessment group went through a detailed process of looking at individual
sites and seeking to agree suitability, availability, achievability, start dates and build
out rates based on actual planning and construction activity in the previous year. The
broad methodology is included as Appendix 1 to this report.

6.21.

The SHLAA has been aligned with the SAP and AVLAAP as follows:
i.

Changes to capacities as a result of planning approval activity between 1st April
2019 and 31st March 2020.

11

Page 262

ii.

iii.
iv.

v.

6.22.

Amendments to site boundaries according with submissions to the SAP and
AVLAAP and to align with sites which have been merged together in the SAP
and AVLAAP1.
Amendments to availability and achievability on the basis of consultation
responses .
Amendments to delivery for those sites not allocated for housing, to beyond the
plan period, so that they remain in the SHLAA to be considered at a future
review of the plan.
Amendments to delivery for those sites allocated as Safeguarded Land so that
they sit in year 2033 onwards i.e. the year following the end of the Core Strategy
period should they be needed.

New sites have been assessed from two key sources:
i.
ii.

Sites which have received planning permission but were not in the previous
2019 SHLAA update
Sites which have been submitted to the SHLAA but were not in the previous
2019 SHLAA update.

NPPF Stage V: Final evidence base
6.23.

The SHLAA also notes the potential type and quantity of development that could be
delivered on each site, including an estimate of build out rates, setting out how any
barriers to delivery could be overcome and when.

6.24.

The Leeds SHLAA is published as a list of all sites considered, cross-referenced to
their locations on maps, an assessment of each site, in terms of its suitability for
development, availability and achievability including whether the site/broad location is
viable, to determine whether a site is realistically expected to be developed and when.

6.25.

The trajectory of deliverable supply is based on build rates and pre-build lead-in times
which are applied to the assessment of the deliverability of sites. In reality, sites will
come forward and deliver in a way which is not possible to forecast with absolute
certainty, reflecting market conditions and the capacity of the development industry to
deliver in different locations. The Council have undertaken the detailed process of
looking at individual sites and seeking to determine suitability, availability, achievability,
start dates and build out rates. The methodology is included as Appendix 1 to this
report.

6.26.

The 2020 update assesses 1,195 sites with a total capacity of 196,457 dwellings. Of
these, 454 sites are considered to be suitable, available and achievable contributing a
total of 42,745 units to the identified achievable supply from SHLAA sites between 1
April 2020 and 31 March 2033. A further 36 of the 37 remitted Green Belt sites from
the Site Allocations Plan are without planning permission but remain available and
achievable, however, their suitability must be determined by further examination from

1

In some instances SHLAA sites have not been merged to accord with the SAP and AVLAAP e.g. where one
parcel of land is advancing at a different rate to the other.

12

Page 263

the Secretary of State and the Planning Inspectorate. Table 1 and Figure 1 below
shows a rolling trajectory of 46,728 units of identified supply from available and
achievable SHLAA sites (i.e. excludes windfall) that will be updated on an annual basis.
Table 1: 2020 SHLAA sites by type

90

To 2025
(5YHLS)
6,146

To 2028
(SAP)
7,555

To 2033
(CS)
9,090

Site with detailed planning permission

159

10,863

11,962

12,609

Site with outline planning permission

26

1,862

2,819

3,074

Allocated site without planning permission

179

3,261

12,899

17,972

Remitted Green Belt sites*

36*
490

1,557
23,689

3,558
38,793

3,983
46,728

Type

Sites

Site under construction

Total

* HG2-17 Breary Lane, Bramhope has detailed planning permission and is under construction

Figure 1: Trajectory of supply by year
7000
6000
5000
4000
3000
2000
1000
0
20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

25/26

26/27

27/28

28/29

29/30

30/31

31/32

Site under construction

Site with detailed planning permission

Site with outline planning permission

Allocated site without planning permission

32/33

Remitted Green Belt site

7. Conclusions
7.1.

This 2020 SHLAA update takes the process forward and notes the following key points:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

a healthy level of supply maintained through record levels of planning approvals
in recent years
housing growth initiatives following the adoption of the AVLAAP in November
2017 and SAP in July 2019
improved market conditions and greater confidence in investment decisions in
the city centre
an increase in the number of outlets and capacity of sites under construction
across all markets and locations
13

Page 264

v.

more conservative assessment of delivery in 2020/21 as a result of the Covid19 pandemic but confidence remains in long term prospects of both supply and
delivery of new homes

14

Page 265

Appendix 1 - Methodology
Introduction
This report update sets out all the collated information and site conclusions reached for all
active sites which form part of the Leeds SHLAA. The sites are mapped on an Ordinance
Survey base at a scale to show the context of the location and the site boundaries. Each
mapped site has the SHLAA reference number and Site Allocations Plan or Aire Valley Leeds
Area Action Plan reference to enable cross reference to the site details of each site record.
These are set out site by site in order of Housing Market Characteristic Area and then by
SHLAA reference numbers.
Criteria for inclusion
This report includes all sites with dwelling delivery potential which are allocated for housing or
mixed-use development in the Leeds Site Allocation Plan and Aire Valley Leeds Area Action
Plan. Where more than one submission has been made on the same land, only one site
record is included; duplications are not shown. Sites that have been built out are not included,
even though they may have been in previous SHLAAs.
The size threshold for inclusion is 0.4ha except for sites that have planning permission which
have a threshold of 0.2ha and sites in the city centre which have no size threshold.
Site Details
The SHLAA Ref No is unique to each record. They are not consecutive. The site address
is a simple description of the location.
The Brown/Greenfield field simply records whether a site is previously developed or not; in
line with the definition in the Glossary of the Core Strategy. For sites with a mix of “greenfield”
and “brownfield”, if one category covered more than 80% of the site, that category was
assigned; sites that were more evenly split were assigned to “Mixed”.
Site Owner. Site ownership details are recorded from Land Registry title information
purchased as part of the SHLAA updates and planning application details submitted as part
of permissions approved up to 1st April 2020.
Planning
All planning applications and permissions are recorded. This means proposals for housing or
other land uses within the last 10 years. The existence of applications/permissions for housing
gives a signal that the site is suitable and available for housing. Sites with applications and
permissions for non-housing uses are made dormant and removed from the deliverable
supply.
LCC Dwellings
Capacity
This records the remaining capacity of the site in number of dwellings. The capacity is
assessed in one of three ways with the first being preferential. First, if available, the latest
15

Page 266

planning application/permission is used to ascertain capacity.
Second, submission
information as part of the SAP / AVLAAP process. Third, a standardised formula is used as
set out in the table below Gross site size is converted to a net size depending upon the overall
size of the site. This size is then multiplied by a density figure appropriate to the location of
the site:
Density Zone

Density
Multiplier

City Centre
Edge of CC
Urban Area
Edge of Urban Area
Rural

350
65
40
35
30

Flat
Proportion
100
60
20
10
0

Net to Gross Density Ratio by Site
Size
<0.4 ha
0.4 – 2 ha
> 2 Ha
100%
N/A

90%

75%

The net site area may have been further reduced if one or more of the following development
constraints were considered to apply to the site, for example:




Steep slopes
Heavy tree cover
Awkward shape

Additional reductions to the net site area will have considered whether some or all of the
constrained area may be used as amenity greenspace, green corridors etc and thus are
already accounted for in the net to gross density calculation above.
Start date
Commencement dates are updated according to construction programme provided by
landowners/developers as part of planning applications and/or discussions with the Council’s
Housing Growth Team. The methodology for the SHLAA makes the following general
assumptions about when development can start on suitable, available and achievable sites:







With Full PP under construction = Yr 1
With Full PP unoccupied = Yr 2
With OT PP = Yr 2
With OT PP occupied = Yr 3
Without PP = Yr 3
Expired site with no recent activity = Yr 6 (excluded from five year housing land supply)

Build-out rates
Build out rates updated according to construction programme provided by
landowners/developers as part of planning applications and/or discussions with the Council’s
Housing Growth Team. With the exception of large sites and blocks of apartments, as a
general rule a build-out rate of up to 35 dwellings per annum and a maximum of 50 units per
outlet (where submitted and agreed with the developer) for is achievable depending on the
size of site.

16

Page 267





Sites <200 units = 1 outlet (i.e. 35 dpa and up to 50 dpa)
Sites 200 to 700 units = 2 outlets (i.e. 70 dpa up to 100 dpa)
Sites 700 units plus = 3 outlets (i.e. 105 dpa up to 150 dpa) or more depending on
knowledge from applicant or developer

LCC Conclusions
The text box sets out the key conclusions about suitability, availability and achievability of a
site.
Suitability
A reflection of the sites assessment of planning status according to planning approval history
and inclusion as part of the SAP / AVLAAP forward plan-making process.
Availability and Achievability
Availability concerns whether a site is free from legal or ownership problems which could
prevent or delay development and how long it would take to overcome the problems.
Achievability concerns mainly whether and when there is likely to be a market for dwellings in
the locality taking account of any cost factors to overcoming physical constraints or standard
planning requirements. Achievability is an assessment on the likely delivery of dwellings.
Assessments on availability and achievability drew on the following factors, some of which
will have been submitted:










Construction progress
Planning status
Developer involvement
Alternative proposals
Site use
Competing sites
Site location
Market area
Landowner contact

Conclusions are set out as:




Short term (1 to 5 years).
Medium term (6 to 10 years).
Long term (11+ years).

17

Page 268

Appendix 4

City Development Directorate
Policy and Plans Group
Major Projects Team

Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement
2020 Update

Page 269

1.

Background

1.1.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that local planning authorities
must identify a deliverable five year supply of housing sites as revised in July 2018
(and updated on 19 February 2019). Guidance is contained in both the NPPF and
the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) for housing and economic land
availability assessments last updated in July 2019.

1.2.

The preparation of a Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) is a
requirement of the NPPF with guidance provided in the NPPG. The SHLAA is a
technical study that assists in the monitoring of whether there is an adequate supply
of deliverable housing land at any point in time.

1.3.

The Council was adjudged by the Secretary of State in his decisions at Breary Lane,
Bramhope, Leeds Road, Collingham and Bradford Road, East Ardsley on 23rd
December 2016 not to have a five year housing land supply. That was based on the
2015 update to the SHLAA.

1.4.

In moving forward, the Council significantly improved the approach to the SHLAA
process in the 2017 update. At the same time the Council continued to increase the
stock of extant planning permissions whilst progressing the Site Allocations Plan to
adoption alongside a range of housing growth initiatives and the adoption of the Aire
Valley Leeds Area Action Plan. These actions strengthened the five year housing
land supply position.

1.5.

The 2017 Update to the SHLAA was tested as part of two public inquiries at land
south of Pool Road, Pool in Wharfedale and The Ridge, Linton decided by the
Planning Inspectorate and two Secretary of State decisions at Tingley Station and
Thorp Arch Trading Estate, both recovered appeals were dismissed on 12 July 2018.

1.6.

The Secretary of States conclusions set out in Thorp Arch notes the confidence in
the Council's "...thorough and proactive approach to land availability”. The SHLAA
site information was presented to support the allocation of sites in the Site Allocations
Plan at Examination between 24 October 2017 and 3 August 2018. The Inspectors
Report released on the 7 June 2019 noting that “It is considered that the assumed
build-out rates contained in the SHLAA are realistic and robust”. The Site Allocations
Plan was adopted on 10 July 2019.

1.7.

Post adoption, the Site Allocations Plan was the subject of a Legal Challenge
submitted to the High Court on 20 August 2019. The case was heard at the High
Court in February 2020, with Judgment being handed down on 8 June 2020. The
High Court ordered relief that allocated sites that immediately before the adoption of
the SAP were in the Green Belt be remitted back to the Secretary of State and the
Planning Inspectorate for further examination, which until adopted are no longer
included as part of the five year housing land supply.

1.8.

The Council has reflected and updated this position to a base date of 1 April 2020.
This statement reflects to up-to-date assessment of sites as part of the 2020 update

Page 270

1

of the SHLAA. The 2020 update takes account of new planning permissions and
construction activity to a base date of 1 April 2020. The Council has been keen to
fully reflect the challenges or opportunities to delivery that might arise as a result of
the Covid-19 pandemic.
2.

National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework

2.1.

The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development. For housing, this means providing the
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations.

2.2.

Local planning authorities are required to prepare a SHLAA in order to establish
realistic assumptions about the availability, suitability and achievability of land to meet
the identified need for housing over the plan period.

2.3.

The NPPF states that local planning authorities must identify a deliverable five year
supply of housing sites. The NPPF states that to be considered deliverable, sites
should be available now, offer a suitable location for development now and be
achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within
five years and in particular that development of the site is viable.

2.4.

The NPPF identifies the need to consider:

2.5.



A supply buffer – dependent upon performance against the Housing Delivery
Test, local planning authorities are required to include an additional allowance
or 'buffer' of five percent (moved forward from later in the plan period) in terms
of supply to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. Local
planning authorities with a record of persistent under delivery of housing
should apply a 20 percent buffer (Paragraph 73).



Windfall sites - local planning authorities may make an allowance for windfall
sites in their five year supply if they have compelling evidence such sites have
consistently become available in the local area and will continue to provide a
reliable source of supply (Paragraph 70).

Footnote 7 to Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that relevant policies for the supply
of housing should not be considered up to date if the local planning authority cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.
National Planning Practice Framework and Guidance

2.6.

The National Planning Policy Framework was published on 27 March 2012 and sets
out the government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to
be applied. A new version of the National Planning Policy Framework was published
on 24 July 2018 and updated on 19 February 2019. In September 2018, the
government published planning practice guidance to accompany the NPPF.

Page 271

2

Guidance on preparing SHLAA documents is contained in both the NPPF and the
NPPG for housing and economic land availability assessments. This has been used
to determine the approach taken in this document.
2.7.

The NPPG provides clarity on what constitutes a deliverable site. Annex 2 (updated
on 19 February 2019) of the NPPF defines a deliverable site in terms of an
assessment of the timescale for delivery and the planning status of the site and adds
further detail as to the evidential requirement needed on sites without a detailed
planning permission…“To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be
available now, offer a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with
a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within five years. In
particular:
a) sites which do not involve major development and have planning
permission, and all sites with detailed planning permission, should be
considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear
evidence that homes will not be delivered within five years for example
because they are no longer viable, there is no longer a demand for the
type of units or sites have long term phasing plans).
b) where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has
been allocated in a development plan, has a grant of permission in
principle, or is identified on a brownfield register, it should only be
considered deliverable where there is clear evidence that housing
completions will begin on site within five years.”

2.8.

Recent case law1 has determined how to interpret that definition and confirms that:
"The proper interpretation of the definition is that any site which can be shown to be
'available now, offer a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with
a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within five years' will
meet the definition; and that the examples given in [the NPPF] are not exhaustive of
all the categories of site which are capable of meeting that definition. Whether a site
does or does not meet the definition is a matter of planning judgment on the evidence
available."

2.9.

The Council has produced clear evidence across all sites as part of the SHLAA
process, thereby satisfying the NPPF approach. It has always been important to
confirm an accurate position of housing land supply by identifying any factors leading
to either delay or acceleration of house building on sites. This includes confirmation
of any availability or ownership issues that would impact on the delivery of a site. The
Council has contacted landowners, developers and agents involved in the delivery of
sites in order to collate new evidence and establish a dialogue on delivery in order to
make informed decisions as to how sites contribute to the future supply of housing in
Leeds.

1

East Northamptonshire Council and Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government and
Lourett Developments

Page 272

3

2.10.

Paragraph 30 of the NPPG directs authorities to use evidence set out in the SHLAA
to identify sites which may be suitable, available and achievable for housing
development and also provide some evidence as to their deliverability. This SHLAA
update accords with both the revised NPPF and the NPPG.

3.

The requirement

3.1.

The starting point for establishing a five year supply requirement is the housing target
identified in strategic policies for the first five years of the plan. .

3.2.

The Core Strategy was amended in September 2019 by the adoption of the Core
Strategy Selective Review which included a new housing requirement of 51,952 (net)
between 2017 and 2033. This is the amount of housing Leeds needs to build. .

3.3.

The adopted Core Strategy (as amended) sets the base requirement for housing
provision in the District. Policy SP6 informs of a plan requirement of 51,952 dwellings
between 2017 and 2033. For the purposes of monitoring and reporting, the base
dates for each year is 1st April.

3.4.

The adopted annual housing target from 2017 is 3,247 dwellings per annum. The
Core Strategy plan period ends in 2033.

3.5.

The five-year period that should be used for calculating both the requirement and
supply is the 1st April 2020 to the 31st March 2025. The baseline requirement for
this period = 5 x 3,247 = 16,235 dwellings.

3.6.

The five-year housing land requirement is calculated by considering the average
annual Local Plan requirement and rolling over any previous shortfall since the base
date of the Local Plan. Any accrued shortfall is to be made up within five years, which
is often referred to as the ‘Sedgefield’ approach. An appropriate buffer is added and
then the annual residual requirement is multiplied by five to generate the five-year
housing land requirement.

3.7.

The delivery and associated undersupply for the first three years of the plan (1st April
2017 to 31st March 2020) are agreed as follows:
Net Delivery: 1st April 2017 to 31 March 2020 = 9,240
Requirement: 1st April 2017 to 31 March 2020 = 9,741
Undersupply: 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2020 = 501

3.8.

As above, Paragraph 60 of the NPPF instructs that the adopted Core Strategy
housing requirement figure must be “informed by” an assessment of local housing
need using the standard method in the NPPG. The government’s standard
methodology on calculating local housing need is now adopted NPPG policy and
inevitably attracts full weight.

Page 273

4

3.9.

The mechanics of the Housing Delivery Test determine the buffer to be applied to the
requirement figure and the transitional arrangements are set out in the Rule Book.
The government has confirmed to authorities that the previous three years delivery
is set against the lower of the latest adopted housing requirement or the minimum
annual local housing need figure. These are to be updated by authorities using the
most up-to-date published information on household projections and affordability
ratios.

3.10.

The Council’s delivery far exceeds this requirement and in line with paragraph 37 of
the NPPG a 5% buffer has been applied to ensure choice and competition in the
market (where there delivery of housing over the previous 3 years, has not fallen
below 85% of the requirement). This buffer is applied to the Core Strategy housing
requirement and the shortfall since the start of the Plan.

3.11.

For the 5 year period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2023, the calculation is as follows:
Baseline Requirement: 2020 to 2025 = 5 x 3,247 = 16,235
Undersupply: 2017 to 2020 = 501
Base Requirement + Undersupply = 16,736
5% Buffer = 837
Base Requirement + Undersupply + 5% Buffer = 17,573

3.12.

The total adjusted five year requirement for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March
2025 stands at 17,573 dwellings, a requirement of 3,515 dwellings per annum.

4.

The SHLAA 2020 Update

4.1.

The NPPG provides information to help local authorities fulfil their responsibilities
under paragraph 67 of the NPPF. As well as establishing a five-year supply position
to support the preparation and examination of Local Plans, the NPPG confirms that
the supply position should be updated annually.

4.2.

The preparation of the 2020 SHLAA reflects the most up to date guidance available,
including the NPPG. In particular, the NPPG provides more detailed advice for
carrying out a SHLAA, noting that it should:




identify sites and broad locations with potential for development;
assess their development potential; and
assess their suitability for development and the likelihood of development
coming forward (the availability and achievability).

Page 274

5

4.3.

The Council have finalised the 2020 update to the SHLAA and have contacted
agents, landowners, developers and promoters of sites to comment upon the
availability and achievability of each site as part of a positive approach to update the
SHLAA according to the most up-to-date information available on a site-by-site basis.
The Council has obtained detailed site-specific information that informs assessments
of deliverability as advocated by Inspectors and the Secretary of State in recent
appeal decisions.

4.4.

The sites included in the five-year supply satisfy the requirements of paragraph 67 of
the NPPF and NPPG. The Council uses the information it has on suitability,
availability, achievability and constraints to assess the timescale within which each
site is capable of development.

4.5.

The Council has contacted landowners as part of considering the availability of sites
adopted under the Aire Valley Area Action Plan, and allocated under the Site
Allocation Plan and as part of informing overall ‘deliverability’, including the “realistic
prospect that housing will be delivered within five years”.

4.6.

The Council confirms that no site included within its supply discloses any legal or
ownership constraint, militating against the realistic prospect of delivery or overall
deliverability.

4.7.

The Council has properly taken into current housing market conditions. The Council
consulted with the Home Builders Federation, landowners, agents and developers
recognising that the changes posed to the housing market by Covid-19 may create
challenges or opportunities for different types of sites and to make clear that it was
important that landowners confirmed whether the assessment reflected an accurate
picture of delivery. Updated construction programmes were received and accurately
recorded in the update and observations were welcomed on the capacity of the
industry to deliver in the short, medium and long term.

4.8.

The housing market in Leeds has seen continued and marked improvement in the
last few years. National and international developer interest is continuing to grow and
that the planning pipeline is strong with numerous high-rise developments both under
construction and in planning. The outstanding stock of planning permissions is at the
greatest ever level and Leeds remains firmly in ‘growth mode’ and is committed to
additionality, and to accelerating delivery of the housing requirement in line with the
Core Strategy and growth strategies.

5.

The Five Year Housing Land Supply

5.1.

The 2020 SHLAA update shows 23,689 units in the short term across 438 sites. Of
these, 1,557 are units on 36 Green Belt sites without planning permission that are
now remitted for further examination and are excluded from the five year housing land
supply. This means the short term deliverable supply is 22,132 units on 402 sites.
The overwhelming majority are on sites currently under construction or with detailed
planning permission. The short term supply also includes sites with outline planning

Page 275

6

permission and those allocated as deliverable in the recent Aire Valley Leeds Area
Action Plan and Site Allocations Plan.
5.2.

This sets a minimum policy compliant deliverable supply of 22,132 comprised of:
Status
Site under construction
Site with detailed planning permission
Site with outline planning permission
Allocated site without planning permission
Total

5.3.

Sites
90
159
26
127
402

Total
6,146
10,863
1,862
3,261
22,132

With the inclusion of windfall at 500 per annum (adopted Core Strategy), with the
discount of demolitions the overall supply is a minimum 6.8 years:

Total Five Year Requirement 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2025
Annual Requirement
Identified Supply
Windfall
Demolitions
Total Supply
Five Year Supply

17,573
3,515
22,132
2,500
-750
23,882
6.8

5.4.

The overwhelming majority of the 22,132 dwellings in the SHLAA supply are either
under construction or have detailed planning permission. A further 1,862 with outline
permission means some 85% (18,871 units) are either under construction or have
planning permission. Sites with planning permission alone equate to 5.4 years of
supply. The 3,261 dwellings yet to obtain planning permission at 1 April 2020 on
allocated sites determined to be deliverable by the Inspectors of the Aire Valley Leeds
Area Action Plan and Site Allocations Plan.

5.5.

Outside of the short-term supply there are a further 52 sites with an expired planning
permission that have been removed from the five year housing land supply picture
but could accommodate 2,026 units as they remain available and able to come
forward as part of a new planning application at any point.

6.

Conclusion

6.1.

The Council has undertaken an NPPF compliant update to the SHLAA reflective of
realistic build out rates, the capacity of the industry to run a maximum number of
outlets, reflections on previously disputed sites and the discount of sites subject to
expired planning permissions with no current planning activity. The update accurately
reflects the submissions made through the HBF consultation and on-going dialogue
with landowners, agents and developers.

6.2.

The level of supply is at least 6.8 years.

Page 276

7

Appendix 4 2020 SHLAA - Five Year Housing Land Supply Site Schedule

Page 277

Ref

Plan Ref

Site

8
26
33
41
64
70
97
106
129B
133
163
174
182
187
188
197
198
200_411
202
205
207
208
226
228
232
235
263
279
282
320
376
405
406
410
414
415
419
421
426
433
438
443
447
450
467
476
495
499
502
509
515
551
595
602
625
626
645
646
656
687
720
738
742
745
764
787
796
797

HG1-88
HG1-156
HG1-198
HG1-183
HG1-206

Spenfield House Otley Road Headingley Leeds LS16 5
Site under construction
Land North Of Morrisons Swinnow Road Swinnow Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
Daytona Works Carlisle Road Pudsey Leeds LS28 8PL
Site with detailed planning permission
Moorfield Road / Tower Works
Site with detailed planning permission
South Park Mills, 15, 15a, 16 And 17, Acrivan Ltd, Fulneck
Site with detailed planning permission
Office Building, Linton Spring, Sicklinghall Road, Wetherby
Site under construction
Meanwood Road Working Mens Club Meanwood Road Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
Former Civil Service Sports Association Ground Newton Green
Allocated site without planning permission
Main Street and Pitfield Road, Carlton, Wakefield
Site with outline planning permission
Royds Green Farm Royds Green, Oulton, Leeds
Site under construction
Salvation Army, 139 Broad Lane, Bramley, Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
University Of Leeds Tetley Hall 40-42 Moor Road
Site with detailed planning permission
19 Springfield Mount Woodhouse
Site with detailed planning permission
Westgate - Brotherton House
Allocated site without planning permission
St Marks Flats St Marks Walk Woodhouse Leeds
Site under construction
Land At Bridge Street, Gower Street, Regent Street
Site with detailed planning permission
Land at Kirkstall Road and land off Wellington Road
Site with detailed planning permission
Quarry Hill Leeds LS2 / York Street, LS1
Site with detailed planning permission
Midland Mills, Silver Street, Leeds, LS11 9yw
Site with detailed planning permission
Granary Wharf Car Park, Off Water Lane
Site under construction
Lowfold, East Street, Leeds, LS9 8
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Between Mabgate, Macaulay Street, Argyll Road
Site with detailed planning permission
46 Burley Street Burley Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
Evans Halshaw, Hunslet Road, Hunslet
Site with detailed planning permission
Maxis Restaurant Site Kirkstall Road Burley
Site under construction
Land At Clarence Road Horsforth Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
Hill Top Public House, Beckhill Grove
Site under construction
St Marys Church And Presbytery Church Road Richmond Hill
Allocated site without planning permission
Manston Lane
Site under construction
Ashfield Works, Westgate, Otley
Site with detailed planning permission
Ring Road West Park, Silk Mill Way And Iveson Drive
Site with detailed planning permission
Tower Works, Globe Road LS10
Site with detailed planning permission
16-18 Manor Road LS11
Site with detailed planning permission
Regent St / Skinner Ln LS2
Site with detailed planning permission
Skinner Lane LS9
Site with detailed planning permission
High Court LS1
Site with detailed planning permission
The Gateway, Marsh Lane LS9
Site with detailed planning permission
Leylands Road LS2
Site with detailed planning permission
49 Aire Street LS1
Site with detailed planning permission
Globe Road (Doncasters), LS11
Allocated site without planning permission
Richmond Street, LS9
Site with detailed planning permission
Jayco Ho, Skinner Lane LS7
Site under construction
Doncasters, Whitehall Road
Site with detailed planning permission
Globe Road/water Lane LS11
Site with detailed planning permission
Hunslet Mill, Goodman Street LS10
Site under construction
Shaftesbury House Beeston Road LS11
Site under construction
Fall Lane (west) East Ardsley
Site with detailed planning permission
Aberford Rd, Woodlesford
Site under construction
Sharp Lane C
Site under construction
Lingwell Road, Middleton, LS10
Site with detailed planning permission
Former Bay Horse, Main St, Methley
Site under construction
Manor House Farm, Baghill Green Way
Site with detailed planning permission
Cliff House Fawcett Lane LS12
Site with detailed planning permission
Pollard Lane LS13
Site under construction
Canal Wharf Wyther Lane LS5
Site with detailed planning permission
Site with
detailed
LS5
3NF planning permission
Kirkstall ForgeAbbey RoadKirkstallLeedsKirkstall Forge, Abbey Road, Kirkstall,
Bagley Lane Farsley
Site under construction
Delph End Pudsey
Site with detailed planning permission
Pudsey Road, Bramley, LS 13
Site with detailed planning permission
Dunstarn Lane, Adel, LS 16
Site under construction
Westbrook Lane Horsforth
Site with detailed planning permission
Cromptons, Netherfield Rd, Guiseley
Site with detailed planning permission
Netherfield Road Guiseley
Site under construction
East Of Otley
Allocated site without planning permission
The Mansion, Woodlea Drive, LS6
Site with detailed planning permission
Linton Springs Sicklinghall Rd, Linton
Site with detailed planning permission
Grime's Dyke York Road LS14
Site with detailed planning permission
East Leeds Extension
Site under construction (Strata part)

HG1-518
HG1-111
HG3-26
HG1-411
HG1-142
HG1-103
HG1-423
MX2-20
HG1-230
HG1-247
MX1-28
MX2-23
MX1-16
MX1-15
AV33
MX1-6
HG2-109
AV9
HG2-44
HG2-86
AV24
HG1-298
MX2-1
MX1-2
MX1-14
HG1-463
MX2-18
HG1-246
MX1-21
AV26
HG1-511
HG2-191
MX1-12
AV25
MX1-22
MX1-11
MX1-13
AV41
HG1-267
HG1-379
HG1-400
HG1-357
HG1-353
HG1-415
HG1-393
HG1-205
HG1-131
HG1-145
MX1-3
HG1-134
HG1-168
HG1-181
HG1-74
HG1-66
HG1-2
HG1-3
MX1-26
HG1-89
HG1-27
HG1-287
HG1-288

Type

20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

5YHLS

25/26

26/27

27/28

To 2028

28/29

29/30

30/31

31/32

32/33

To 2033

5
3
18
0
0
7
0
0
0
2
20
27
12
0
28
0
0
0
0
247
0
0
0
0
90
0
20
0
25
6
0
0
0
0
14
1
96
0
0
0
0
6
0
0
100
1
32
25
25
17
1
2
0
9
0
0
13
7
12
20
15
1
20
0
17
7
12
26

0
0
0
30
0
0
25
0
0
0
8
28
11
0
0
200
279
115
0
0
100
124
87
230
0
13
0
0
22
0
35
50
30
0
0
0
0
35
26
0
25
0
200
0
100
0
32
0
24
0
0
0
7
0
0
70
0
0
0
22
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
19
21
0
29
20
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
236
279
200
306
0
100
100
0
230
0
0
0
75
0
0
35
100
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
263
200
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
25
105
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
32
30
0
0
0
0
102
0
200
279
200
0
0
116
100
0
230
0
0
0
100
0
0
35
10
30
217
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
200
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
26
105
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
20
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
190
0
0
0
0
0
238
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
11
0
0
0
0
0
0
200
50
0
0
200
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
140
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
0
175

5
3
18
49
21
7
54
72
90
2
28
55
23
102
28
636
837
705
306
247
316
324
87
928
90
13
20
175
47
6
140
160
101
217
14
1
96
35
26
200
175
6
463
600
500
1
64
25
49
17
1
2
7
9
51
420
13
7
12
42
15
1
20
135
17
7
12
201

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
22
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
200
50
0
0
150
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
140
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
0
275

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
9
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
22
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
209
50
0
0
0
84
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
140
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
60
0
0
0
275

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
25
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
140
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
60
0
0
0
300

5
3
18
49
21
7
54
72
129
2
28
55
23
102
28
636
837
705
306
247
316
324
87
928
90
13
20
175
47
50
245
160
101
217
14
1
96
35
26
609
300
6
463
750
684
1
64
25
49
17
1
2
7
9
51
840
13
7
12
42
15
1
20
305
17
7
12
1051

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
140
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
60
0
0
0
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
140
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
55
0
0
0
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
32
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
105
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
0
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
90
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
0
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
0
300

5
3
18
49
21
7
54
72
129
2
28
55
23
102
28
636
837
705
306
247
316
324
87
928
90
13
20
175
47
50
347
160
101
217
14
1
96
35
26
609
300
6
463
750
684
1
64
25
49
17
1
2
7
9
51
1385
13
7
12
42
15
1
20
570
17
7
12
2551

8

Page 278

Ref

Plan Ref

Site

799
802
814
815
818 & 310
836
841
846
1023
1032
1033
1046
1064A
1073A_3440
1080_3367A
1083
1096
1118
1122
1142
1154_3132
1176
1199A
1199B
1233_2158_3125
1281B
1282
1297
1308
1319
1320
1322
1330A
1337
1339
1340A
1343A
1369
2000
2001
2006A
2006B
2009
2021
2022
2023
2029
2036
2037
2039
2049
2080
2120
2121
2123
2124_3003
2129B
2130
2131
2132
2135
2136
2138
2141A
2141B
2142
2143
2144A

HG1-291
HG1-290
HG1-508
HG1-227
MX1-27
HG1-308
HG1-224
HG1-234
HG2-110
HG1-522
HG1-72
HG1-28
HG1-513
HG2-67
HG2-17
AV40

Whinmoor Way (pfi C) LS14
Site under construction
Swarcliffe Avenue (pfi E) LS14
Site under construction
Oak Tree Mount, Gipton, LS9
Site under construction
South Parkway (easel) LS 14
Site with detailed planning permission
Station Road, Allerton Bywater
Site with detailed planning permission
Barleyhill Road Garforth
Site under construction
Oak Tree Drive, Gipton
Site with detailed planning permission
Killingbeck Hospital C LS14
Site under construction
West Of Wesley Road, North Of Tong Road, Armley
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Off Bradford Road , East Ardsley WF3
Site under construction
Government Buildings , Otley Road, LS16 5pu
Site under construction
Spofforth Hill, Wetherby, LS22
Site under construction
Bruntcliffe Road and Scott lane, Morley Leeds LS27
Site under construction
Owlcotes Farm/Owlcotes Gardens Pudsey
Site with outline planning permission
Breary Lane East, Bramhope LS16
Site under construction
Bridgewater Road North
Allocated site without planning permission
Snittles Farm, New Village Way, Churwell, Leeds, LS27
Site with detailed planning permission
Church Lane And Manor Farm, Micklefield
Site under construction
Garnetts Paper Mill, Mill Lane , Otley
Site under construction
Land And Property At Oak House, Park Lane Leeds LS3
Site with detailed planning permission
Church Street, Boston Spa
Allocated site without planning permission
Land To The South Of Pit Lane, Micklefield, LS25
Allocated site without planning permission
Moseley Wood Gardens (land off), Cookridge LS16
Site under construction
Moseley Wood Gardens (land off), Cookridge LS16
Site under construction
Land to the east of Wetherby
Allocated site without planning permission
Bruntcliffe Road, Morley
Allocated site without planning permission
Lane Side Farm Pas Morley
Site with outline planning permission
Former Vickers Tank Factory Site, Manston Lane, Cross Gates
Allocated site without planning permission
Site under construction
Land To The Rear Of Naylor Jennings Mill Of Green Lane , Yeadon
Land North Of Albert Road , Morley
Site under construction
Lower Moor Farm, Albert Drive, Morley
Site under construction
Airedale Mills, Rodley
Site with outline planning permission
Site under construction
Haigh Moor Road - Jude's Point, West Ardsley, WF3 1EF Plan App 12/01850/RM
Stylo House, Harrogate Road, Apperley Bridge Bradford Bd10
Site under construction
Site under construction
Clarient Production Uk Limited, Calverley Lane, Horsforth, LS18 4RP
Oak Road, New Wortley - Former Club
Site under construction
Harper Gate Farm, Tyersal Lane, Bradford BD4 0RD
Site under construction
Land At Old Pool Bank, Pool In Wharfedale, Otley, LS21
Site with outline planning permission
Marsh Lane Goods Yard
Allocated site without planning permission
St Peters Square
Site with detailed planning permission
Caspar, North Street Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
Centenary House, North Street Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
Carlsberg Uk Ltd Brewery, Black Bull Street
Site with outline planning permission
Water Inn Car Park
Allocated site without planning permission
Clarence Road and Carlisle Road
Allocated site without planning permission
Yorkshire Evening Post
Site under construction
Leeds Metropolitan University
Site under construction
Rod Mills Lane, High Street, Morley
Allocated site without planning permission
Fall Lane, East Ardsley
Site with outline planning permission
Thorpe Park, Undeveloped Non-submitted Land
Site under construction
West Park Centre, LS16
Site with detailed planning permission
Copperfields College, Cross Green, LS9
Allocated site without planning permission
Hill Foot Farm, Pudsey
Site with detailed planning permission
Calverley Lane, Farsley
Site with detailed planning permission
Low Moor Side, New Farnley
Site with outline planning permission
Spring Gardens Drighlington
Site with detailed planning permission
Mickletown Road Methley
Site under construction
Church Lane Adel
Site with outline planning permission
Moorgate Kippax
Site under construction
Selby Road Garforth
Site with outline planning permission
Leeds Road Collingham
Site with outline planning permission
The Ridge Linton
Site with outline planning permission
Abbey Street, Kirkstall Road
Site under construction
Wykebeck Avenue, Osmondthorpe
Site under construction
Wykebeck Avenue, Osmondthorpe
Allocated site without planning permission
Kendall Drive, Halton Moor
Allocated site without planning permission
Neville Road, Halton Moor
Site with detailed planning permission
Cartmell Drive, Halton Moor
Site with detailed planning permission

HG1-307
MX1-1
HG2-22
HG2-125
HG1-58
HG2-29
HG2-226
HG1-371
HG2-149
HG2-120
HG1-12
HG1-517
HG1-514
HG2-58
HG1-383
HG1-130
HG1-97
HG1-253
HG2-73
HG3-5
AV18
MX2-22
HG1-512
HG2-189
AV94
MX2-36
AV12
MX1-24
HG1-436
HG2-156
MX1-25
HG2-236
AV38
HG2-66
HG1-133
HG1-523
HG2-143
HG1-413
HG2-18
HG1-521
HG3-18
HG1-519
HG3-7
HG1-245
HG1-257
HG2-105
HG2-106
HG2-107
HG1-303

Type

20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

5YHLS

25/26

26/27

27/28

To 2028

28/29

29/30

30/31

31/32

32/33

To 2033

7
7
2
9
20
13
18
1
0
35
9
35
28
0
35
0
17
35
29
0
0
0
11
12
0
0
0
0
17
7
35
0
3
1
25
23
23
0
0
0
45
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
25
32
0
13
4
0
0
13
0
16
0
0
0
0
23
0
0
0
6

0
0
0
0
20
0
0
0
0
50
0
35
35
0
50
0
35
35
14
39
0
0
12
11
0
0
0
35
30
0
35
0
0
0
17
0
35
0
0
56
0
80
0
0
0
242
0
0
0
35
0
0
26
0
0
30
13
0
15
0
0
0
0
30
0
0
43
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
35
35
12
50
0
35
70
0
0
36
0
0
0
70
30
50
35
13
0
28
35
0
0
0
0
35
25
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
21
35
0
0
13
0
30
30
0
29
0
35
30
13
35
15
0
0
40
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
33
50
0
0
35
0
50
0
0
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
105
31
50
35
0
0
0
34
0
0
0
0
35
30
150
0
0
0
215
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
30
30
0
35
0
70
30
13
35
0
0
0
26
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50
0
0
12
0
50
100
0
70
0
0
0
20
0
0
105
0
50
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
23
0
150
0
0
0
215
30
50
0
0
15
0
35
0
73
0
0
30
30
0
35
0
70
30
0
35
0
25
15
0
0

7
7
2
9
40
13
18
1
33
235
9
105
145
12
235
100
87
280
43
39
36
20
23
23
280
61
150
175
60
7
98
69
3
1
42
23
151
55
450
56
45
80
430
30
50
242
1
15
21
165
32
73
52
4
90
120
26
99
31
175
90
26
105
68
25
15
109
6

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
50
150
0
35
0
0
0
40
0
0
105
0
50
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
215
0
50
0
0
0
0
35
0
100
0
0
30
30
0
0
0
70
30
0
2
0
27
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
29
0
0
0
0
45
150
0
35
0
0
0
40
0
0
105
0
50
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
205
0
14
0
0
0
0
35
0
100
0
0
10
30
0
0
0
45
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
146
0
35
0
0
0
15
0
0
105
0
50
65
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
24
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

7
7
2
9
40
13
18
1
33
299
9
105
145
12
330
546
87
385
43
39
36
115
23
23
595
61
300
380
60
7
98
69
3
1
42
23
151
55
900
56
45
80
850
30
114
242
1
15
21
270
32
273
52
4
130
204
26
99
31
290
150
26
107
68
52
15
109
6

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
9
0
0
0
0
0
0
105
0
50
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
26
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
105
0
50
22
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
105
0
50
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
105
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
85
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
135
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

7
7
2
9
40
13
18
1
33
299
9
105
145
12
330
546
87
394
43
39
36
115
23
23
1100
61
480
437
60
7
98
69
3
1
42
23
151
55
1635
56
45
80
850
30
114
242
1
15
21
296
32
273
52
4
130
204
26
99
31
290
150
26
107
68
52
15
109
6

9

Page 279

Ref

Plan Ref

Site

2144B
2146
2147B
2147C
2147D
2150A
2150B
2150C
2154
3014
3017
3121
3137
3145
3157
3182
3184
3195
3206
3207
3214
3216
3301
3302
3341
3350
3373A
3373C
3454
3459
4000
4002
4007
4019
4032
4034
4036
4053
4057
4060
4068
4081
4082
4087
4120
4123
4125
4185
4190
4191
4196
4197
4217
4233
5009A
5015
5016
5104
5109
5114
5117
5120
5129
5159
5181
5188
5191
5194

HG2-122
HG2-90
HG2-91
HG1-211
HG2-92
HG2-95
HG1-226
HG2-96
HG1-296
MX2-4
MX1-10
HG2-70
HG1-216
HG1-275
HG2-187
AV112
HG1-113
HG1-266
HG1-222
HG1-63
HG1-395
HG1-336
HG1-93
HG1-149
HG1-91
HG1-375
HG2-168
HG2-169
HG2-111
AV36
HG2-31
HG2-138
HG2-82
HG2-8
HG2-164
HG2-160
HG2-83
HG2-155
HG2-45
HG2-103
HG2-28
AV27
HG2-176
AV117
HG2-98
HG2-104
HG2-116
HG1-212
HG1-450
HG1-300
HG1-316
HG1-188
HG2-32
HG2-34
HG1-515
HG1-441

Cartmell Drive, Halton Moor
Allocated site without planning permission
Barncroft Close, Seacroft
Allocated site without planning permission
Askets and Boggarts (B), Seacroft
Allocated site without planning permission
Askets and Boggarts (C), Seacroft
Site under construction
Askets and Boggarts (D), Seacroft
Allocated site without planning permission
South Parkway and Brooklands, Seacroft
Allocated site without planning permission
South Parkway / Brooklands Avenue
Site under construction
South Parkway and Brooklands, Seacroft
Allocated site without planning permission
Rear Of Seacroft Hospital
Site under construction
Area Within Kirkstall Hill, Beecroft Street, Commercial Road
Allocated site without planning permission
Site with detailed planning permission
St Peters Church And House, Chantrell House, Leeds Parish Church, Kirkgate
Land At Rear Of 41 Tyersal Avenue, Tyersal, Bradford, Bd4 8hj
Site with detailed planning permission
Leeds Girls High School, Headingley, LS6 1bn
Site with detailed planning permission
Bismarck Street, LS11
Site under construction
Woodhouse Square, Brandon Road, Woodhouse
Site with detailed planning permission
Rocheford Court, Pepper Lane, Hunslet, Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
The Former Dutton Arms, Queenswood Drive, Headingley, Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
St Luke's Green LS11
Site with detailed planning permission
Din Buildings, Roundhay Road, LS8 3qd
Site with detailed planning permission
Rear 268-274 Shadwell Lane LS17
Site with detailed planning permission
Batley Road West Ardsley
Site with detailed planning permission
Wakefield Road Drighlington
Site with detailed planning permission
128 Wetherby Road, Roundhay, Leeds, LS8 2jz
Site with detailed planning permission
Old Road, Farsley, Pudsey, LS28 5dj
Site under construction
Rear Of The Hollies, Park Avenue, Roundhay, Leeds, LS8 2jj
Site under construction
309 Leeds Road, Lofthouse, WF3 3qd
Site with detailed planning permission
Haigh Wood, Ardsley
Allocated site without planning permission
Haigh Wood, Ardsley
Allocated site without planning permission
Holdforth Place, New Wortley, LS12 1
Allocated site without planning permission
Site under construction
Land Adjacent, St Hildas Church, Knowsthorpe Crescent/cross Green Lane
Ralph Thoresby (site F) Holt Park, Leeds - Site Too Small
Allocated site without planning permission
Park Lees, St Anthony's Road, Beeston
Allocated site without planning permission
Site with
detailed
Wortley High School And Leeds West City Learning Centre, Swallow Crescent,
LS12
4rb planning permission
Kirkland House, Queensway, Yeadon, LS19 7rd
Allocated site without planning permission
Thorpe Square, Middleton, LS10
Allocated site without planning permission
Sissons Drive/sissons Road, Middleton
Site with detailed planning permission
Thornhill Road, Upper Wortley, LS12 4lg
Site with detailed planning permission
Joseph Priestley College, Peel Street, Morley
Site under construction
Former St Josephs Convalescent Home, Outwood Lane, Horsforth
Site with detailed planning permission
Former Shaftsbury Public House, York Road, Harehills
Allocated site without planning permission
Land Adjacent To Belle Vue Road, Scholes
Site with detailed planning permission
Former Leeds College of Technology, East Street
Site with detailed planning permission
Windlesford Green Hostel, Woodlesford
Allocated site without planning permission
Land North Of St Hildas Crescent, Cross Green, Leeds. LS9 0DB
Site with detailed planning permission
Land At Hawkshead Crescent, Seacroft
Allocated site without planning permission
Land At A64 And A63 Junction, Killingbeck Bridge, Halton
Allocated site without planning permission
Winrose Drive Greenspace, Middleton
Allocated site without planning permission
Boggart Hill Gardens, Seacroft, Leeds, LS14
Site under construction
Forsyth House, 5 South Parade, Leeds, LS1 5qx
Site with detailed planning permission
Land At Brooksbank Drive, Halton, Leeds, LS15
Site with detailed planning permission
Royal Oak, Cross Hills, Kippax, Leeds, LS25
Site under construction
St Lawrence House, Crawshaw Road, Pudsey, LS28 7ub
Site under construction
Cookridge Fire Station, Otley Old Road, LS16 7bf
Site with outline planning permission
Land Off Farrar Lane, Holt Park, LS16 7
Allocated site without planning permission
Site of Leeds City College, Calverley Lane, Horsforth, Leeds
Site with outline planning permission
Kendall Carr, Hanover Mount, Woodhouse
Site under construction
Land At Neville Close & Garth, Osmondthorpe
Site under construction
18 Queen Square, Leeds, LS2
Site under construction
Browning House, 126 Chapeltown Road, Chapeltown
Site with detailed planning permission
Site with detailed planning permission
Land And Premises Opposite 60 To 68, Half Mile Lane, Stanningley, Pudsey
Timber Tops Forsythia Avenue East Ardsley
Site with detailed planning permission
Whitecote Hill LS13
Site under construction
Sharp Lane Robin Hood
Site under construction
Land at Arthur Street Stanningley
Site with outline planning permission
Development Engineering Services, Ilkley Road, Otley
Site under construction
13 - 17 Shaw Lane, Meanwood, Leeds, LS6 4DH
Site under construction
Summerfield Court Residential Home, Britannia RoadMorley, Leeds, LS27Site
with detailed planning permission
0DN
Sunny Bank Mills, Town Street, Farsley, LS28 5UJ
Site with detailed planning permission

HG1-438
HG1-220
HG1-151
HG1-388
HG1-139
HG1-408
xHG2-62
HG1-21
HG1-104
HG1-373
MX1-4

Type

20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

5YHLS

25/26

26/27

27/28

To 2028

28/29

29/30

30/31

31/32

32/33

To 2033

0
0
0
2
0
0
12
0
70
0
27
22
15
10
0
0
1
17
0
3
2
0
1
1
5
1
0
0
0
20
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
9
41
0
9
39
0
2
0
0
0
22
21
2
4
1
0
0
0
1
26
4
0
0
0
5
9
0
10
17
7
12

0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
70
0
0
0
0
0
117
11
0
0
9
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
19
0
0
18
14
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
21
12
8
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
25
35
0
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
0
0
0
35
35
0
22
0
0
20
17
20
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
10
0
72
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
24
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
25
35
0
62
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
70
0
22
0
0
20
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
24
0
0
0
0

50
27
35
0
35
0
35
30
0
25
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
70
48
0
15
18
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
23
0
0
26
0
25
32
13
14
0
0
0
0
0
16
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

50
27
35
2
35
50
152
30
272
25
27
22
15
10
117
11
1
17
9
3
2
5
1
1
5
1
105
175
48
86
15
18
59
17
20
18
14
9
41
23
9
39
26
2
25
32
13
141
21
2
4
1
10
16
72
1
26
4
21
12
8
5
9
48
10
17
7
12

50
0
35
0
35
0
4
0
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
70
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

50
0
30
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
17
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

20
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

170
27
100
2
100
50
156
30
272
55
27
22
15
10
117
11
1
17
9
3
2
5
1
1
5
1
108
262
48
86
15
18
59
17
20
18
14
9
41
23
9
39
26
2
25
32
13
141
21
2
4
1
10
16
72
1
26
4
21
12
8
5
9
48
10
17
7
12

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

170
27
100
2
100
50
156
30
272
55
27
22
15
10
117
11
1
17
9
3
2
5
1
1
5
1
108
262
48
86
15
18
59
17
20
18
14
9
41
23
9
39
26
2
25
32
13
141
21
2
4
1
10
16
72
1
26
4
21
12
8
5
9
48
10
17
7
12

10

Page 280

Ref

Plan Ref

Site

5195
5208
5217
5225
5226
5229
5230
5232
5235
5238
5239
5243
5244
5245
5268
5300
5303
5307
5331
5333
5334
5342
5344
5345
5347
5348
5349
5353
5357
5359
5375
5380
5381
5384
5385
5387
5388
5390
5393
5394
5397
5398
5399
5400
5404
5405
5407
5408
5411
5415
5416
5417
5418
5420
5422
5423
5424
5425
5426
5427
5428
5429
5430
5431
5432
5433
5434
5435

HG1-420
HG1-472
AV111
HG1-475
HG1-476
HG1-479
HG1-480
HG1-482
HG1-485
HG1-488
HG1-489
HG1-491
HG1-492
HG1-493
HG2-235
HG2-227
HG2-205
HG2-211
HG2-212
HG2-214
HG2-215
HG1-499
HG1-501
HG1-502
HG1-504
HG1-505
MX2-35

Site under construction
8 Blenheim Terrace, Woodhouse Lane, Woodhouse, Leeds, LS2 9HZ
Ledston Hall, Hall Lane, Ledston, Leeds, WF10 2BB
Site with detailed planning permission
Skelton Gate
Allocated site without planning permission
25 Wellington Street, Leeds, LS1 4DL
Site with detailed planning permission
Site with outline planning permission
Land South Of By Pass, Hough End Lane, Bramley, Leeds, LS13 4ET
88 North Street, Sheepscar, Leeds, LS2 7PN
Site with detailed planning permission
143-5 THE HEADROW LS1
Site with detailed planning permission
Rivers House, 21 Park Square South
Site with detailed planning permission
117 The Headrow
Site under construction
Block 1, Whingate House, Whingate, Armley
Site under construction
under
construction
Victoria House, Longfield House, Buckingham House, Headingley Office Park, 8 VictoriaSite
Road,
Leeds,
LS6 1PF
135 Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley, Leeds, LS17 7PG
Site with detailed planning permission
60 Upper Basinghall Street, Leeds, LS1 5HR
Site with detailed planning permission
Oak Villa Hotel, 55 Cardigan Road, Headingley, LeedsLS6 1DW
Site with detailed planning permission
Stocks Blocks site, Ninelands Lane, Garforth
Site under construction
Site with
detailed planning permission
Land bound by Grange Avenue, Rudgate Park, Street 5 and Wealstun Prison,
Wealstun
Stonebridge Mills, Farnley
Allocated site without planning permission
Burley Liberal Club, Burley Road/Willow Road
Site with detailed planning permission
Seacroft Crescent, Seacroft
Site under construction
York road/ South Parkway, Seacroft
Site under construction
The Halton Moor PH, Halton Moor
Site under construction
The Fellmonger, North Parkway, Seacroft, Leeds, LS14 6QS
Site with detailed planning permission
Site with detailed planning permission
Site Of The Former Christ Church Vicarage, Armley Ridge Road, Leeds, LS12
101 Commercial Road, Kirkstall, Leeds, LS5 3AD
Site under construction
Site under construction
Site Of Former Spotted Cow, Top Moor Side, Holbeck, Leeds, LS11 9LH
Zicon House, Wade Lane, Leeds, LS2 8NL
Site under construction
Temple Works Mixed Use Site
Site with outline planning permission
Land At David Street, Holbeck
Site under construction
Trafalgar House, 29 Park Place
Site with detailed planning permission
Doncaster Monk Bridge, Whitehall Road, Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
2 The Embankment, Sovereign Street
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Off Carlise Road, Pudsey
Site under construction
1 Union Court, Westgate, Otley
Site with detailed planning permission
Protection House, 16 - 17 East Parade
Site with detailed planning permission
Blenheim Court, Woodhouse
Site with detailed planning permission
Quarry Court, High Street, Morley
Site with detailed planning permission
Valley Mills, Whitehall Road, Drighlington
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Adjacent To 320 Pudsey Road, Bramley
Site under construction
Former Stanks Fire Station, Sherburn Road
Site under construction
Roberts Wharf, Neptune Street, Leeds, LS9 8DX
Site under construction
2 - 8 Brunswick Court, Bridge Street, Sheepscar
Site with detailed planning permission
51 - 53 Great George Street, Leeds
Site with detailed planning permission
The Radius, Springwell Road, Holbeck
Site with detailed planning permission
Global Court, Millshaw Court, Global Avenue
Site with detailed planning permission
The Homestead Wheaters Fold, Stanningley
Site with detailed planning permission
Greencroft Works, Kirk Lane, Yeadon
Site with detailed planning permission
Former Yeoman Public House, Gay Lane
Site with detailed planning permission
West Yorkshire Fire And Rescue Service Stonegate Road
Site with outline planning permission
Salvation Army Church Hall, Opposite 123 Kirkstall Lane, Kirkstall
Site with detailed planning permission
Kimberley House, 11 Woodhouse Square, Woodhouse
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Adj Agfa Graphics Ltd, Coal Road, Whinmoor
Site with detailed planning permission
Lloyds Bank Chambers, Vicar Lane
Site with detailed planning permission
Springhead Park House, Park Lane, Rothwell
Site with detailed planning permission
Westfield House, Westfield Court, Lower Wortley Road, Lower Wortley Site with detailed planning permission
Land Off Old Lane And Moorhouse Avenue, Beeston
Site with outline planning permission
Tingley Mills, Tingley Bar Industrial Estate, Bridge Street, Morley
Site with detailed planning permission
Fearnville House, Dib Lane, Roundhay
Site with outline planning permission
Podium Buildings, Merrion Way
Site under construction
Land At Portland Crescent, Leeds, LS2 8BL
Site under construction
Hume House, Tower House Street
Site under construction
The Midway, 111 Queensway, Yeadon
Site with detailed planning permission
Land To Rear Of 53 Main Street, East Ardsley
Site with outline planning permission
9 - 11 Blayds Yard
Site with detailed planning permission
Warwick House, 58 Wade Lane
Site with detailed planning permission
Belgrave House, 17 Belgrave Street
Site with detailed planning permission
Fairway Court, 171 Elland Road, Beeston
Site with detailed planning permission
Glengarth Hotel, 162 Woodsley Road, Woodhouse
Site with detailed planning permission
Rawdon House, Green Lane, Yeadon
Site with detailed planning permission

MX1-8

HG2-139
HG2-158

Type

20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

5YHLS

25/26

26/27

27/28

To 2028

28/29

29/30

30/31

31/32

32/33

To 2033

2
0
0
20
0
14
16
7
7
26
23
5
5
10
35
0
0
0
49
5
20
12
1
8
17
79
0
72
5
0
0
1
1
0
3
9
0
0
13
14
30
5
0
0
9
8
0
0
12
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
246
312
0
0
0
7
0
0
45
0
0

0
10
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
20
0
0
0
35
26
32
20
0
0
23
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
250
41
0
0
21
0
0
22
9
10
0
15
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
0
0
30
14
0
0
0
54
0
0
0
754
6
0
0
60
60
0
6
66

0
0
100
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
35
35
45
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
250
0
0
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
0
0
0
224
142
0
0
0
12
0
30
11
0
9
7
58
0
6
0
0
0
0
5
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
100
0
36
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
14
35
35
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
215
0
0
157
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
30
0
15
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
26
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
30
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2
10
350
20
36
14
16
7
7
26
43
5
5
10
119
122
112
110
49
5
43
12
1
8
17
79
215
72
5
657
41
1
1
21
3
9
44
9
23
14
45
5
224
142
9
8
5
72
12
45
71
14
9
7
58
54
6
246
312
754
6
5
7
60
60
45
6
66

0
0
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
20
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
28
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2
10
950
20
36
14
16
7
7
26
43
5
5
10
119
142
112
110
49
5
43
12
1
8
17
79
215
72
5
657
41
1
1
21
3
9
44
9
23
14
45
5
224
142
9
8
5
100
12
45
71
14
9
7
58
54
6
246
312
754
6
5
7
60
60
45
6
66

0
0
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
150
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
101
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2
10
1801
20
36
14
16
7
7
26
43
5
5
10
119
142
112
110
49
5
43
12
1
8
17
79
215
72
5
657
41
1
1
21
3
9
44
9
23
14
45
5
224
142
9
8
5
100
12
45
71
14
9
7
58
54
6
246
312
754
6
5
7
60
60
45
6
66

11

Ref

Page 281

5436
5437
5438
5439
5440
5441
5442
5443
5444
5445
5446
5447
5448
5449
5450
5451
5452
5453
5454
5455
5456
5457
5458
5459
5460
5461
5462
5463
5464
5465
5466
5467
5468
5469
5482
5483

Plan Ref

Site

Type

Spencer House, Hollywell Lane, Shadwell
Site with detailed planning permission
Westwood Way, Boston Spa
Site under construction
Land Off Beech Walk And Beech Mount, Gipton
Site under construction
Welburn Cottage, Deighton Road, Wetherby
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Off Wakefield Road, Drighlington
Site with detailed planning permission
374 Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley
Site with detailed planning permission
Leeds College Of Building, The Millwright Building, Millwright Street
Site with detailed planning permission
Bodmin Road, Middleton
Site under construction
Pudsey Sports And Social Club, 8 Parkfield Terrace, Stanningley, PudseySite with detailed planning permission
Troydale Garage, Troydale Lane, Pudsey
Site with detailed planning permission
34 Wakefield Road, Rothwell
Site with outline planning permission
Lamberts Arcade And 162 - 165 Briggate, Leeds, LS1 6LY
Site with detailed planning permission
323 Hunslet Road Hunslet, Leeds, LS10 1NJ
Site with detailed planning permission
Moor Knoll Lane, East Ardsley, WF3 2DX
Site with detailed planning permission
Fairburn House, 44 Park Lane, Allerton Bywater, WF10 2AT
Site with outline planning permission
Lemonroyd Marina, Fleet Lane, Oulton, Leeds, LS26 9EU
Site with detailed planning permission
10 - 18 Bankhouse Lane, Pudsey, LS28 8LR
Site with detailed planning permission
5 Spring Road, Headingley, Leeds, LS6 1AD
Site with detailed planning permission
Pavillion Business Centre, Stanningley Road, Leeds, LS28 6NB
Site with detailed planning permission
18 Woodsley Road, Woodhouse, Leeds, LS3 1DT
Site with detailed planning permission
Former Killingbeck Police Station, Foundry Lane, Seacroft
Site with detailed planning permission
Bridge House, Balm Road, Hunslet
Site with detailed planning permission
Century House, 29 Clarendon Road, Woodhouse
Site with detailed planning permission
Land Off Ings Avenue, Guiseley
Site with detailed planning permission
86A High Street, Yeadon
Site with detailed planning permission
Rawdon Court, 20 Leeds Road, Rawdon
Site with detailed planning permission
Devonshire House, 38 York Place
Site with detailed planning permission
481 Meanwood Road, Meanwood
Site with detailed planning permission
Springwood House Low Lane, Horsforth
Site with detailed planning permission
Leafield House, 107 - 109 King Lane, Moortown
Site with detailed planning permission
15 Park Place
Site with detailed planning permission
The Croft, Harrogate Road, Moortown
Site with outline planning permission
Coburg House, 2 St Andrews Court, St Andrews Street, Burley
Site with detailed planning permission
The Spinney, Harrogate Road, Moortown
Site with outline planning permission
Lion House, 41 York Place
Site with detailed planning permission
6 - 7 South Parade
Site with detailed planning permission

20/21

21/22

22/23

23/24

24/25

5YHLS

25/26

26/27

27/28

To 2028

28/29

29/30

30/31

31/32

32/33

To 2033

0
22
22
0
0
0
0
16
7
5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
17
0
0
0
0
0
6
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

9
22
0
9
13
5
0
16
0
0
0
23
8
27
0
20
0
0
0
6
86
29
9
8
0
12
21
7
27
7
5
0
9
0
6
28

0
0
0
0
0
0
136
0
0
0
9
0
0
0
14
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
5
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

9
44
22
9
13
5
136
32
7
5
9
23
8
27
14
20
5
5
17
6
86
29
9
8
6
12
21
7
27
7
5
5
9
5
6
28

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

9
44
22
9
13
5
136
32
7
5
9
23
8
27
14
20
5
5
17
6
86
29
9
8
6
12
21
7
27
7
5
5
9
5
6
28

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

9
44
22
9
13
5
136
32
7
5
9
23
8
27
14
20
5
5
17
6
86
29
9
8
6
12
21
7
27
7
5
5
9
5
6
28

12

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5

Leeds Site Allocations Plan
Leeds Local Plan

SAP Remittal - Sustainability Appraisal Addendum

Development Plan Document
January 2021

Page 283

CONTENTS
1.

INTRODUCTION

2

2.

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

3

3.

EVIDENCE FOR SAP REMITTAL

4

4.

REASONABLE ALTERNATIVES FOR SAP REMITTAL

5

5.

APPRAISAL METHODOLOGY

7
7

6

Links to Other Policies, Plans and Programmes and
Sustainability Objectives and How These Have Been Taken into
account
Description of the Social, Environmental and Economic
Baseline Characteristics and the Predicted Future Baseline
The Sustainability Appraisal Framework, including objectives,
targets and indicators
How the alternatives have been assessed against the SA
objectives
Were there any difficulties in undertaking the assessment
ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTS

7

REASONS FOR SELECTION OF PREFERRED OPTION

16

8

MITIGATION

18

9

MONITORING

19

LIST OF APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Links to other policies, plans and programmes
Appendix 2: Baseline information
Appendix 3: Sustainability Appraisal Framework
Appendix 4: Assessment of SA effects of reasonable alternatives

20
51
125
130

Page 284

8
8
9
12
12

1 of 148

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The Leeds Site Allocations Plan (SAP) was adopted by Full Council on 10th July 2019.
The SAP provides site allocations and requirements that help to deliver the Local Plan
for Leeds, ensuring that sufficient land is available in appropriate locations for housing
(including Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople), employment, retail and
greenspace.

1.2

The SAP was supported by an SA Report and six iterative SA addendums and it was
concluded by the Inspector that the SAP was “based on an adequate process of SA”
(Inspectors Report para.30).

1.3

Following the adoption of the SAP a challenge was made in August 2019. The case was
heard at the High Court in February 2020 with the Judgment being handed down on
Monday 8th June 2020. The Judge allowed the Claim on three out of the seven grounds
raised. These three grounds related to three legal errors, namely legally deficient
reasons given in the Inspectors Report on: justifying the release of the specific Green
Belt sites and site selection process; and an error of fact relating to the calculated
increase in supply of housing (mainly in the city centre) during the process. Whilst two
of the grounds related to the SA, they were rejected by the Judge. The High Court
judgement does not therefore infect the SAP SA process or framework.

1.4

An Order of Relief was handed down on 7th August 2020, whereby the Judge concluded
that it was appropriate to remit parts of the SAP to the Secretary of State, through the
Planning Inspectorate, and that the SAP process should be taken back to the stage
where the error of law occurred. To that end, other than the 37 sites in question the
remainder of the SAP remains Adopted. The effect of this is that all parts of the SAP
which allocate sites for housing (including mixed use sites) that, immediately before the
adoption of the SAP were in the Green Belt (i.e. 37 sites), will be remitted back to the
Secretary of State and the Planning Inspectorate for further examination.

1.5

In responding to the judgement, as a result of the passing of time since the SAP
adoption, the Council has revised its position on the 37 sites. This has chiefly involved
taking account of revised local plan policies and evidence-base position on housing. A
revised policy position for the Leeds housing requirement was adopted after the SAP,
in the Core Strategy Selective Review in September 2019. This lowered the annual
housing requirement, and was retrospectively effective from 1st April 2017. The Council
considers that a revised housing land supply evidence base position is also required to
support a revised position for the SAP given the passage of time and the fact that the
SAP was originally based on a 1st April 2016 base date. The SAP Remittal Background
Paper provides more details.

1.6

The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 requires
an assessment of the likely significant effects on the environment of “..reasonable
alternatives taking into account the objectives and geographical scope of the plan..”(Part

Page 285

2 of 148

3 12(2)(b)). The objective is to have a fully adopted SAP up to 2028 covering the whole
of the Leeds metropolitan district.
1.7

Taking account of the revised evidence and policy framework of the Council there are 3
reasonable alternatives for remittal, to be considered in this addendum:Option 1: Propose all 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
Option 2: Propose none of the 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP and retain
them all as Green Belt
Option 3: Propose some of the Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP on the basis
that they would help address housing shortfalls within individual Housing Market
Characteristic Areas (This option would retain some of the allocations, namely those in
Aireborough, East, North, Outer North East, Outer South, Outer South East and Outer
South West).

1.8

As set out in the SAP Remittal Background Paper (reference to be added) and in
responding to the updated policy (a lower housing requirement from 2017) and housing
land supply evidence (increased land supply total), and for the reasons set out in full
below, the Council considers that the 37 sites subject to the Court Order are now no
longer required to meet the revised overall housing requirements of Leeds. This would
prioritise development in more sustainable locations away from the Green Belt, thereby
benefitting environmental objectives in relation to the protection of land and resources
and maintaining existing growth in the urban areas reflecting the development principles
of CSSR Policy SP1 and SP6.

1.9

Therefore, the Council is proposing Main Modifications to the SAP to delete the 37 sites
as allocations and retain them all as Green Belt. Further details are provided in the SAP
Remittal Background Paper accompanying the SAP Remittal consultation.

1.10 This Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Addendum has been prepared to support and inform
the choice between reasonable alternatives and preparation of the proposed Main
Modifications.
2

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

2.1

The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 requires
as part of its provisions an assessment of the likely significant effects on the environment
of “..reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and geographical scope
of the plan or programme..”(Part 3 12(2)(b)); “An outline of the reasons for selecting the
alternatives dealt with, and a description of how the assessment was undertaken
including any difficulties (such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how)
encountered in comping the required information”(Schedule 2 para.8); and “The
measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible offset any significant
adverse effects on the environment of implementing the plan or programme” (Schedule
2 para.7).

Page 286

3 of 148

2.2

The Judgement requires that that 37 sites be taken back to a stage of the SAP
Examination process before the identified errors of law were made. In so doing, this SA
Addendum has been prepared in line with the Regulations including an assessment and
outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives and identifying mitigation measures
to address significant effects arising from the proposed alternative. The SA is an iterative
process responding to changes to the SAP and the development of the alternatives have
taken account of the SA findings.

3

EVIDENCE FOR SAP REMITTAL

3.1

The Core Strategy Selective Review (2019) lowered the overall housing requirement in
the CS (2014) from 70,000 homes to 51,952 homes (and from 66,000 homes and 46,352
homes respectively to be found via identified sites and allocations). In updating the
requirement the CSSR also updated the CS plan period from 2012-2028 to 2017-2033.
The housing requirement is therefore for 51,952 (net) between 2017 and 2033. Based
on the adopted housing target to 2033, the SAP is required to allocate sites for 31,867
new homes up to 2028. The SAP plan period is up to 2028. Accordingly, in assessing
the up to date position for the SAP Remittal an apportioned the Core Strategy
requirement is for the allocation of housing land for 2,897 homes per annum up to 2028.

3.2

As noted in the Background paper, updated housing land supply evidence has been
supported through a review of the Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability
Assessment (SHLAA). This commenced in September 2020 and was published in
December 2020. The findings identified a housing land surplus of 11,268 units districtwide within the plan period up to 2028 above what the SAP is required to allocate
(31,867 units). This is made up of units already completed between 1st April 2017 and
31st March 2020 (7,900 units), and an existing supply of deliverable sites (excluding the
remitted Green Belt sites) to 2028 identified in the SHLAA (35,235 units). Further details
are provided within the SAP Remittal Background Paper.

3.3

The Council’s Local Plan has policies which aim to distribute new housing so that all
parts of Leeds have the opportunity for new housing, including to meet specific needs
for older people or affordable housing (for example Core Strategy Spatial Policy 7).
While the most current evidence on housing land supply, when aligned with the most up
to date housing requirement shows an overall surplus of 11,268 homes this surplus is
not evenly distributed throughout all parts of Leeds and some areas are below their
indicative distributional targets. The significant oversupply position is largely as a result
of the recent popularity for housing in the City Centre and Inner Area, supported by the
Council’s regeneration efforts over many years. The fact that these sites are all
brownfield land fits with wider plan policies and the Council’s declared Climate
Emergency.

Page 287

4 of 148

4

REASONABLE ALTERNATIVES FOR SAP REMITTAL

4.1

Following the update of the housing evidence through the SHLAA, it was necessary to
consider the reasonable alternatives for the SAP remittal to determine the proposed
course of action to be taken in relation to the 37 proposed allocations in the Green Belt.
These sites comprise 36 proposed for housing allocation and 1 mixed used allocation
(housing and employment) within nine Housing Market Characteristic Areas. The 37
sites are as follows (NB HG2-174 Wood Lane, Rothwell Garden Centre falls across two
HMCAs (East and Outer South and so is listed twice)):Table 1: Proposed Allocations Affected by SAP Remittal
Aireborough
HG2-1
HG2-2
HG2-4
HG2-9
East Leeds
HG2-119
HG2-123
HG2-174
MX2-38
North Leeds
HG2-36
HG2-38
HG2-42
HG2-43
HG2-46
Outer North East
HG2-26
Outer North West
HG2-17
Outer South
HG2-174
HG2-175
HG2-177
HG2-180
HG2-183
HG2-186
Outer South East
HG2-126
HG2-133
Outer South West
HG2-136
HG2-150
HG2-153
HG2-159
HG2-165

New Birks Farm, Ings Lane Guiseley
Wills Gill, Guiseley
Hollins Hill, Hawkstone Avenue, Guiseley
Victoria Avenue, Yeadon
Red Hall Playing Fields, LS17
Colton Road East Colton
Wood Lane – Rothwell Garden Centre
Barrowby Lane, Manston LS15
Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley, LS17
Dunstarn Lane, Adel LS16
Broadway and Calverley Lane, Horsforth
Horsforth Campus
Horsforth (former waste water treatment work)
Wetherby Road, Scarcroft Lodge, Scarcroft
Breary Lane East, Bramhope
Wood Lane, Rothwell Garden Centre, LS26
Bullough Lane, Haigh Farm, Rothwell LS26
Alma Villas, Woodlesford LS26
Land between Fleet Lane & Methley Lane, Oulton
Swithens Lane, Rothwell, LS26
Main Street, Hunts Farm, Methley
Micklefield Railway Station Car park, LS25
Ninevah Lane, Allerton Bywater
Whitehall Road, Harpers Farm
Land East of Churwell LS27
Albert Drive, Morley
Sissons Farm, Middleton, LS10
Thorpe Hill Farm, Lingwell Gate Lane, Thorpe

Page 288

5 of 148

HG2-166
HG2-167
HG2-233
Outer West
HG2-53
HG2-63
HG2-65
HG2-68
HG2-69
HG2-71
HG2-72
4.2

Long Thorpe Lane, Thorpe, Wakefield WF3
Old Thorpe Lane, Tingley WF3
Land at Moor Knoll Lane, East Ardsley
Calverley Cutting, Apperley Bridge
Woodhall Road, Gain Lane, Thornbury BD3
Daleside Road, Thornbury North
Waterloo Road, Pudsey, LS28
Dick Lane, Thornbury
Tyersal Road,Pudsey
Land off Tyersal Court, Tyersal

Three options were identified. These are reasonable alternatives taking into account the
objectives and geographical scope of the plan. They take account of the matters set out
in the Judgment and the overriding objective to achieve a fully adopted SAP within the
existing plan period to 2028:Option 1: Propose all 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
Option 2: Propose none of the 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP and retain
them all as Green Belt.
Option 3: Propose some of the Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP on the basis
that they would help address housing shortfalls within individual Housing Market
Characteristic Areas (This option would retain some of the allocations, namely those in
Aireborough, East, North, Outer North East, Outer South, Outer South East and Outer
South West).

4.3 A fourth option, to consider an adjusted plan period from 2028 to 2033 as part of the
remittal process, was considered and discounted as a reasonable alternative. It was
discounted, as a matter of planning judgment as the Council considers it is not consistent
with the objective of the Site Allocations Plan, namely to provide for development needs
over a plan period of 2012 to 2028. Further, it is not considered to be justified to plan for
a longer period of time as this is outside of the SAP Remittal scope; limited to 37 sites
within specific geographies of Leeds up to 2028. To that end, planning for housing in
Leeds beyond 2028 would be most appropriately addressed through a future Local Plan
Update. This option is therefore not considered to be a reasonable alternative and has
been discounted from the SA process.
4.4 A number of the remittal sites contain a proportion of Green Belt and non-Green Belt land.
A further option to consider is: for those sites which contain only a proportion of Green
Belt land, only the non-Green Belt land is allocated. However it is considered that this
would not be a reasonable alternative as this goes beyond the scope of the SAP remittal
which is to consider the 37 sites. Should individual site owners or developers wish to

Page 289

6 of 148

pursue development of this non-Green Belt land, this can be delivered through the
development management process.
4.5 The three reasonable alternatives are presented in the table below giving the proposed
housing numbers for each HMCA and the existing balance of housing numbers against
the indicative targets of CS Policy SP7 (distribution of housing land) at the remittal stage
(NB the City Centre and Inner HMCA are unaffected by the SAP Remittal):
Table 2: Reasonable Alternatives for SAP Remittal
Balance
Option 1
Option 2
against
SP7
indicative
targets at
Remittal
Aireborough
-493
475
0
City Centre
8,564
N/A
N/A
East
-690
248
0
Inner
5,769
N/A
N/A
North
-70
575
0
Outer North
-716
100
0
East
Outer North
209
87
0
West
Outer South
-487
735
0
Outer South
-679
83
0
East
Outer South
-281
1,137
0
West
Outer West
142
630
0
Total
11,268
4,070
0
5

Option 3

475
N/A
248
N/A
575
100
N/A
735
83
1,137
N/A
3,353

APPRAISAL METHODOLOGY
Links to Other Policies, Plans and Programmes and Sustainability Objectives and
How These Have Been Taken into account

5.1

In line with the SA Directive, a comprehensive list of policies, plans and programmes
was established for the SA of the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan in 2010.
This has since been revised and updated to inform SA Scoping Reports for the Core
Strategy 2014, the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 2017, Site Allocations Plan 2019,
and the Core Strategy Selective Review (CSSR) 2019. The schedule of Policies, Plans
and Programmes has been updated for this revised position (Appendix 1).

5.2

The most notable Local Plan Update subsequent to the Adoption of the SAP, relates to
the changes brought about to the Core Strategy in September 2019 when the CSSR
was adopted. In particular this relates to Policy SP6 with the lowering of the housing

Page 290

7 of 148

target; and Policy H4 increasing affordable housing targets for the city centre and inner
areas of the District.
5.3

It is noted that the Council is also currently undertaking background work as part of the
scoping exercise for the Local Plan Update. The preferred scope for the Plan will be on
planning policies to help address the Climate Emergency, and this scope will be
consulted on in Spring 2021 as part of the Regulation 18 process for plan-making.

5.4

The most notable wider updates relate to the Planning White Paper (which remains in
draft consultation stage and cannot be used to influence the SA) and the pandemic and
accompanying actions of Government to provide more flexibility and support to the
development industry through initiatives such as widening permitted development rights
and changes to the use classes order.
Description of the Social, Environmental and Economic Baseline Characteristics
and the Predicted Future Baseline

5.5

Baseline information provides the basis for predicting and monitoring effects and helps
to identify sustainability problems and alternative ways of dealing with them. The focus
for information collection should be those aspects of the environmental issues that are
relevant to the SAP or the Sustainability Appraisal objectives.

5.6

The baseline information has been updated for successive sustainability appraisals of
the Core Strategy, the Site Allocations Plan, and the Core Strategy Selective Review
and has been further updated for the SAP Remittal. It is noted that the baseline takes
initial account of the impact of the covid-19 pandemic, as the effects are still being
measured and there remains little consistent evidence on spatial planning impacts.

5.7

This report provides baseline information that relates to the SA objectives. In this way
the process of assessing the plan proposals against the SA objectives can be informed
by a baseline that directly aids understanding of the relevant issues (Appendix 2).
The Sustainability Appraisal Framework, including objectives, targets and
indicators

5.8

The City Council has developed an SA Framework which can be used as the basis for
the appraisal of all Local Development Documents produced under the Leeds Local
Development Scheme. It provides a means by which sustainability effects can be
described, assessed and compared. The preparation of the framework was completed
in 2007 and has been used for the Core Strategy, Natural Resources and Waste, Site
Allocations and Aire Valley Leeds documents The SA Framework provided in Appendix
3 comprises:
•
•
•

SA objectives covering social, economic and environmental themes
Decision making criteria used to inform the consideration of the SA objectives
Indicators from the Best Council Plan (BCP) and the Local Authority Monitoring
Report (AMR)

Page 291

8 of 148

5.9

As part of continuous improvement and development, the most recent plan making
process (the Core Strategy Selective Review) updated the Council’s SA Framework to
clarify the original objectives. As a result of this update the number of SA objectives has
changed from 22 to 23, although the overall range of considerations covered by the SA
objectives remains unchanged from the SA of the Adopted SAP. The SA objectives are
provided below:
Table 3: SA Objectives
Economic Objectives
SA1
Employment
SA2
Business Investment / Economic Growth
Social Objectives
SA3
Health
SA4
Crime
SA5
Culture
SA6
Housing
SA7
Social Inclusion & Community Cohesion
SA8
Green Space, Sports & Recreation
Environment Objectives
SA9
Efficient & Prudent Use of Land
SA10
Biodiversity & Geodiversity
SA11
Climate Change Mitigation (Greenhouse Gas Emissions)
SA12
Climate Change Adaptation
SA13
Flood Risk
SA14
Transport Network (Infrastructure)
SA15
Accessibility to Employment, Services & Facilities
SA16
Waste
SA17
Air Quality
SA18
Water Quality
SA19
Land & Soils Quality
SA20
Amenity
SA21
Landscape & Townscape Quality
SA22
Historic Environment
SA23
Energy & Resource Efficiency

5.10 The SA Framework, which is provided at Appendix 3, includes the Decision Making
Criteria which inform the consideration of the SA objectives. These criteria have also
been revised to facilitate understanding of the type of impacts that need to be
considered.
How the alternatives have been assessed against the SA objectives
5.11 The Council’s process for undertaking an SA assessment of the alternatives (or options)
follows a series of steps applying the SA Framework. This is a logical and systematic
process of assessment to provide the overall SA assessment of each option.

Page 292

9 of 148

Step One
5.12 Each option is assessed against each Primary Decision Making Criteria (PDMC). There
are 75 PDMC (as shown in the SA Framework, Appendix 3), each of which relates to at
least one SA objective, whilst some relate to several SA objectives. For example, DM17
(meet housing delivery targets) is relevant to SA6 Housing only, whilst DM54 (Avoid
exposure to poor air quality) is relevant to 2 objectives, SA3 Health and SA17 Air Quality.
5.13 An extract from the SA database is provided below to show how an option is assessed
against some of the DM criteria. In this example, the option is assessed against DM
criteria relating to housing.

Step Two
5.14 Once the option has been assessed against all of the PDMC, the PDMC scores are
grouped together as Composite Decision Making Criteria (CDMC). CDMC are the
decision making criteria which are related to each other and which together influence
the assessment of the CDMC.
5.15 For example, the overall scoring for DM37 (Increase green infrastructure provision) is
informed by 5 PDMC relating to quantity of greenspace (DM24), habitats (DM34),
nature conservation sites (DM36), flood storage areas (DM43c) and woodland (DM64).
See sample box below:

Step Three
5.16 The next stage of the process sets all relevant PDMC and CDMC against the SA
objectives. The appraising team can see the decision making criteria scores and make
informed judgements on the assessment of the option against the SA objectives. This
results in the final assessment of each option against the SA objectives. An extract of
the assessment of some of the SA objectives (SA1-SA6) against the relevant DMC is
shown below. As can be seen, where different scores are given for the different DMC
informing the SA objective, a judgement has to be given on the overall score for the SA
objective. The reasoning for the scoring for each SA objective is written as a note which
accompanies the SA assessment.

Page 293

10 of 148

Step Four
5.17 The final stage is the production of a table showing the overall assessment of the option
showing the scores for each SA objective. This is accompanied by a written summary
of the effects of the option against the SA objectives.

5.18 A range of 5 scores are used to assess the effects of each option on the SA objectives.
This is based on a judgement of the effects of the option against the SA objectives:
Table 4: SA Scoring
++
+
0
--

Significant positive effect
Positive effect
Neutral effect
Negative effect
Significant negative effect

Page 294

11 of 148

5.19

Appendix 4 provides the assessment of each option by providing the results from step
3 and 4 above. This provides the assessment of each option against the decision making
criteria, then the overall assessment against the SA objectives and accompanying
summary and notes.
Were there any difficulties in undertaking the assessment?

5.20

There were no difficulties in undertaking the assessment. However, it is noted that as
a period of time has elapsed since the original preparation of the SA Report for the SAP,
it was necessary to consider whether the original submitted material should be reviewed
and updated. As a result of this process, the policies, plans & programmes schedule
and baseline information have been updated. The SA methodology was also
considered. The updated approach identified in this SA Addendum was found sound in
the Core Strategy Select Review and is considered to be an appropriate mechanism to
assess the SAP Remittal options as strategic approaches, albeit amended from that
which was used to undertaken the SAP as originally submitted for Examination.

6

ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTS

6.1

The effects of the 3 options have been assessed including the time period, the
secondary, the overall cumulative effects as well as the synergistic effects working
together. As described in section 5, the assessment of options is provided at Appendix
4. This is further summarised below for each reasonable alternative.
Option 1 – Propose all 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
Table 5: Scoring of Option 1 against the SA Objectives
++
+
0

-

SA6 Housing
SA8 Green space, sports & recreation
SA19 Land & soils quality
SA23 Energy & resource efficiency
SA1 Employment
SA2 Business investment / economic growth
SA3 Health
SA4 Crime
SA5 Culture
SA7 Social inclusion & community cohesion
SA16 Waste
SA18 Water quality
SA20 Amenity
SA11 Climate change mitigation
SA12 Climate change adaptation
SA13 Flood risk
SA14 Transport network
SA15 Accessibility
SA17 Air quality
SA22 Historic environment

Page 295

12 of 148

--

6.2

6.3
6.4

SA9 Efficient & prudent use of land
SA10 Biodiversity & geodiversity
SA21 Landscape & townscape quality

In summary, the positive effects on SA objectives of option 1 in relation to housing (SA6),
green space (SA8) and energy & resource efficiency (SA23) arising from the
construction of new housing and the mixed use housing/employment allocation, are
outweighed by the larger number of negative effects relating to the environment and
transport, which affects biodiversity/geodiversity (SA10), landscape & townscape quality
(SA21) and efficient and prudent use of land (SA9) arising from the development of
Green Belt land; and accessibility (SA15), transport network (SA14) and air quality
impacts (SA17) relating to the relatively less sustainable location of the allocations.
Apart from the short term positive effects arising from the construction jobs in the
development of the housing, all other effects of this option are permanent.
The effects of this assessment across all 37 sites are cumulative having regard to the
overall effect of the option.
Option 2 – Propose none of the 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP and retain
them all as Green Belt
Table 6: Scoring of Option 2 against the SA Objectives
++
None
+
SA9 Efficient & prudent use of land
SA10 Biodiversity & geodiversity
SA13 Flood risk
SA21 Landscape & townscape quality
0
SA2 Business investment / economic growth
SA3 Health
SA4 Crime
SA5 Culture
SA6 Housing
SA7 Social inclusion & community cohesion
SA11 Climate change mitigation
SA12 Climate change adaptation
SA14 Transport network
SA15 Accessibility
SA16 Waste
SA17 Air quality
SA18 Water quality
SA19 Land & soils quality
SA20 Amenity
SA22 Historic Environment
SA1 Employment
SA8 Green space, sports & recreation
SA23 Energy & resource efficiency
-None

Page 296

13 of 148

6.5

This option has neutral effects for the majority of SA objectives reflecting the fact that
the deletion of the allocation sites will not affect the majority of the objectives. There are
4 positive effects relating to environmental objectives (efficient & prudent use of land
(SA9), biodiversity & geodiversity (SA10), flood risk (SA13) and landscape & townscape
quality (SA21) as the Green Belt land will remain undeveloped.

6.6

There is a negative impact on employment (SA1) due to loss of a mixed use allocation
which includes 10 ha of employment land and loss of jobs in the construction and
employment sector. The effect on the housing objective (SA6) is neutral overall as
district wide housing delivery will be maintained by this option, however there will be
less provision for meeting local housing needs arising from the deletion of housing sites
in the outer areas (HMCAs) with Green Belt and fewer affordable houses in those areas
(as Policy H5 requires between 15% and 35% affordable housing in these areas
dependent on local housing needs of the HMCAs). As a result of a reduction in the
potential number of housing coming forward a negative effect is identified for energy
and resource efficiency (SA23), as it removes the potential for new more energy efficient
housing in some areas. A negative effect is also identified provision of green space,
sports and recreation since the lack of housing investment would not bring those
benefits alongside new homes (SA8).

6.7

Apart from the short term negative effects arising from a reduction in the number of
construction jobs in the housing development, the effects of this option are permanent.

6.8

The effects of this assessment across all 37 sites are cumulative having regard to the
overall effect of the option

6.9

Option 3 – Propose some of the Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
This option would involve taking an approach to satisfying the Core Strategy’s housing
distribution policy (SP7), within the context of the remitted sites only (as only those sites
are “in scope” with the remittal). This would involve a focus on the 7 HMCAs that have
a housing shortfall against the indicative requirement of Policy SP7 (namely
Aireborough, East Leeds, North, Outer North East, Outer South, Outer South East and
Outer South West) and within which one or more of the 37 remitted sites are situated).
Of the HMCAs affected by the remittal, only Outer North West and Outer West would
not be included in this option because they do not have housing shortfalls. In seeking to
remedy a position between land supply per HMCA and indicative target per HMCA, this
option has been assessed without reference to specific sites. Given that the sites share
a key common attribute of being Green Belt and located on the edge of a relevant
settlement or main urban area, a strategic approach can be taken to assess the overall
effects of this option against the SA objectives. It is also noted that the sites are not
being relied upon to bring forward or unlock specific infrastructure within the local area,
over and above that which would be necessary to serve the development itself.
Therefore, whilst the individual sites within each area may have slightly different
sustainability characteristics it is considered that none has specific and fundamentally
outweighing attributes that would for the purposes of this assessment outweigh SA
objectives.

Page 297

14 of 148

6.10 The effects of Option 3 are similar to Option 1 in that the option proposes the retention
of allocations albeit less than Option 1, so that less Green Belt land will be affected.
Table 7: Scoring of Option 3 against the SA Objectives
++
+
0

-

--

SA6 Housing
SA8 Green space, sports & recreation
SA19 Land & soils quality
SA23 Energy & resource efficiency
SA1 Employment
SA2 Business investment / economic growth
SA3 Health
SA4 Crime
SA5 Culture
SA7 Social inclusion & community cohesion
SA16 Waste
SA18 Water quality
SA20 Amenity
SA11 Climate change mitigation
SA12 Climate change adaptation
SA13 Flood risk
SA14 Transport network
SA15 Accessibility
SA17 Air quality
SA22 Historic Environment
SA9 Efficient & prudent use of land
SA10 Biodiversity & geodiversity
SA21 Landscape & townscape quality

6.11 In summary, the positive effects on SA objectives of option 3 in relation to housing (SA6),
green space (SA8), land & soil qualities (SA21), and energy & resource efficiency
(SA23) arising from the construction of new housing and the mixed use
housing/employment allocation, are outweighed by the larger number of negative effects
relating to the environment and transport, which affects biodiversity/geodiversity (SA10),
landscape & townscape quality (SA21), and efficient & prudent use of land (SA9) arising
from the development of Green Belt land; and accessibility (SA15), transport network
(SA14) and air quality impacts (SA17) relating to the relatively less sustainable location
of the allocations.
6.12 Apart from the short term positive effects arising from the construction jobs in the
development of the housing, the effects of this option are permanent.
6.13 The effects of this assessment across all 37 sites are cumulative having regard to the
overall effect of the option.

Page 298

15 of 148

7

REASONS FOR SELECTION OF PREFERRED OPTION

7.1

Having considered the specific SEA effects which arise from the reasonable alternatives
and before selecting a preferred option each of the 3 options have been assessed
having regard to the objectives and scope of the Adopted SAP and the Adopted Local
Plan as a whole, which includes the Adopted Core Strategy (as amended by the Core
Strategy Selective Review).

7.2

Paragraph 1.6 of the SAP states that “The Site Allocations Plan (the Plan) provides site
allocations and requirements that will help to deliver the Core Strategy policies, ensuring
that sufficient land is available in appropriate locations to meet the targets set out in the
Core Strategy and achieve the Council’s ambitions..”

7.3

The planning policy context for the provision of housing allocations in appropriate
locations is provided by three CS policies: Spatial Policy 1 (Location of Development),
SP6 (The Housing Requirement and allocation of housing land) and SP7 (Distribution
of Housing Land Allocations). These policies are reproduced below:

Page 299

16 of 148

Page 300

17 of 148

7.4

The SA supports Option 2 because it has more positive effects and fewer negative
effects than the other reasonable alternatives. Option 2 is also more in line with Policy
SP1 and SP6 of the Core Strategy. These policies explicitly promote the development
of previously developed land and urban growth by focussing on sustainable locations
with least impact on the Green Belt. The key Core Strategy Policy which Option 2 does
not help fully address is SP7 in relation to the distribution of housing land. However, it
must be noted that neither Option 1 nor Option 3 would fully address SP7 either.
Nevertheless, it is recognised that these options would be more in line with the
indicative targets set out in SP7 than Option 2. The Council’s planning judgement is
that having evidenced that there is sufficient housing land from allocations and
identified sites in the Adopted SAP along with new permissions arising as windfall that
meet Policy SP1 and SP6, it is not possible at this time to fully address Policy SP7 as
this would require the release of Green Belt land, in addition to the 37 remitted Green
Belt sites.

7.5

The overall cumulative impact of the SAP would be less than the cumulative impact
identified in the SA Report accompanying the Adopted SAP given the reduction in the
overall number of sites proposed for allocation. This option would have positive benefits
for example by reducing traffic generation in the outer areas which are comparatively
less sustainable than the city centre and inner areas, and reducing the negative impact
on environmental objectives relating to use of greenfield land, landscape and nature
conservation.

8

MITIGATION

8.1

The deletion of the Green Belt allocations will give rise to two principal negative impacts:
employment and local housing.

8.2

The deletion of the mixed used allocation (MX2-38 Barrowby Lane, Manston) will create
the loss of 10 ha of employment land. However, as part of a future assessment of
employment land needs, the re-provision of employment land could be identified either
through a planning application or as part of a future local plan review.

8.3

Where local housing needs are identified, opportunities for new sites for housing in the
outer areas could be identified by Neighbourhood Plans, in particular for affordable
housing. It is estimated that the effect of the proposed option would result in a reduction
of affordable housing amounting to 904 units (applying the CS policy H5 requirements)
in the HMCAs affected by the Remittal:

Page 301

18 of 148

Table 8: Affordable Housing from Remitted Sites
HMCA

Estimated
Yield
of
Affordable
Housing Units from Remitted Sites
166
37
201
35
30
110
12
171
140
904

Aireborough
East Leeds
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
Total
8.4

There remain opportunities for housing delivery in outer areas through development
proposals to be considered against the Local Plan and NPPF policies. The CS has a
policy on unidentified sites (H2).

8.5

There is also considerable Neighbourhood Plan (NP) activity in the outer HMCAs.
Government guidance notes that Local Authorities should provide indicative housing
need figures for Neighbourhood Areas that take into account factors such as the latest
evidence of local housing need, the population of the neighbourhood area and the most
recently available planning strategy of the local planning authority. This can assist
Neighbourhood Forums in meeting local housing needs themselves. It is also the case
that some NP areas have had Housing Market Assessments prepared to give more
information on local needs. There is therefore both national policy and evidence that
can be used to assist Neighbourhood Groups who wish to proactively plan for local
housing needs.

8.6

Notwithstanding the negative effects on employment land and affordable provision as a
result of the SAP Remittal, these dis-benefits are time limited up until the Council
undertakes a full review of its housing allocations which will have to be before the end
of the SAP plan period (2028).

9

MONITORING

9.1

The SEA Directive requires the monitoring of significant environmental effects arising
from the implementation of the SAP. The Adopted Core Strategy established a
monitoring framework which will be used to assess the effects of the SAP. This was
provided with the Submission draft SA Report (CD1/17).

Page 302

19 of 148

Appendix 1
POLICIES, PLANS AND PROGRAMMES
Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
INTERNATIONAL POLICIES
Kyoto Protocol on Climate Change 1997
The Kyoto Protocol is the international agreement between industrialised nations to lower greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions. The agreement was drawn up in 1997 at the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (UNFCCC). Key objectives:
• Achieve a reduction in anthropogenic CO2 levels to at least 5% below 1990 levels by 2012. Consider
afforestation and reforestation as carbon sinks.

Page 303

The Convention on Biological Diversity, Rio de Janeiro (1992)
Article 6a requires each Contracting Party to develop national strategies, plans or programmes for the
conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity.

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

None.

Ensure all
reasonable
opportunities are
taken forward to
encourage
development reduces
reliance on private
cars.

None

Relevant to the
consideration of
biological diversity in
the assessment of
site allocations

None

Mainly relevant at
national and regional
scale

EUROPEAN POLICIES
European Spatial Development Perspective (1999)
• Development of a balanced and polycentric urban system and a new urban-rural relationship;
• Securing parity of access to infrastructure and knowledge; and
• Sustainable development, prudent management and protection of nature and cultural heritage.
European Biodiversity Strategy to 2020 (COM(2011) 244)
•
•
•
•
•
•

Protect species and habitats
Maintain and restore ecosystems
Achieve more sustainable agriculture and forestry
Making fishing more sustainable and seas healthier
Combat invasive alien species
Help stop the loss of global biodiversity

•

•

By 2020, the assessments of species and
habitats protected by EU nature law show
better conservation or a secure status for
100% more habitats and 50% more species
By 2020, ecosystems and their services are
maintained and enhanced by establishing
green infrastructure and restoring at least 15%
of degraded ecosystems.

SA should consider
biodiversity impacts
on Priority Habitats.
Policy G8 affords
protection to Priority
Habitats.

European 7th Environmental Action Programme to 2020: Living well, within the limits of our planet (November 2013)

20 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

The programme lists nine priority objectives and what the EU needs to do to achieve them by 2020. They are:
•
to protect, conserve and enhance the Union’s natural capital
•
to turn the Union into a resource-efficient, green, and competitive low-carbon economy
•
to safeguard the Union’s citizens from environment-related pressures and risks to health and wellbeing
•
to maximise the benefits of the Union’s environment legislation by improving implementation
•
to increase knowledge about the environment and widen the evidence base for policy
•
to secure investment for environment and climate policy and account for the environmental costs of any
societal activities
•
to better integrate environmental concerns into other policy areas and ensure coherence when creating new
policy
•
to make the Union’s cities more sustainable
•
to help the Union address international environmental and climate challenges more effectively

None

Page 304

European Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)
The main objectives of the WFD are to:
• Enhance the status and prevent further deterioration of aquatic ecosystems and associated wetlands there is a requirement for nearly all inland and coastal waters to achieve ‘good status’ by 2015;
• Promote the sustainable use of water;
• Reduce pollution of water, especially by ‘priority’ and ‘priority hazardous’ substances;
• Lessen the effects of floods and droughts;
• Rationalise and update existing water legislation and introduce a co-ordinated approach to water
management based on the concept of river basin planning.
• Conserving habitats and species that depend directly on water
• Hydromorphology of waterbodies
European Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC)
Sets the basic concepts and definitions related to waste management. The Directive lays down some basic waste
management principles: it requires that waste be managed without endangering human health and harming the
environment, and in particular without risk to water, air, soil, plants or animals, without causing a nuisance through
noise or odours, and without adversely affecting the countryside or places of special interest.

Requires that all surface waters and groundwaters
within defined river basin districts must reach at
least ‘good’ status by 2015 and restore/improve
riverine hydromorphology to help achieve good
status by 2021-27

Implications for
LDF and SA
Relevant to the
consideration of
climate change,
biodiversity, green
infrastructure,
sustainability and
health.

Consider the effects
of flood and use of
water in the location
of development.
Ensure sustainability
objectives include
those relevant from
the Water
Framework Directive.

It incorporates provisions on hazardous waste and
waste oils, and includes two new recycling and
recovery targets to be achieved by 2020: 50%
preparing for re-use and recycling of certain waste
materials from households and other origins similar
to households, and 70% preparing for re-use,
recycling and other recovery of construction and
demolition waste.

European Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC)
• Aim of directive to contribute towards ensuring biodiversity is encouraged through the conservation of natural
habitats and of wild flora and fauna.
• Measures should maintain and restore to a favourable conservation status, natural habitats and species of wild
flora and fauna, accounting for socio-economic and cultural requirements and local characteristics.

No specific targets identified

Consider how plan
can protect natural
habitats.

21 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

• Requires all DPDs to be subject to Appropriate Assessment to consider effects on sites of European
importance.
• Linear structures such as rivers/streams, hedgerows, field boundaries, ponds, etc., that enable movement and
migration of species should be preserved.

Implications for
LDF and SA
Include sustainability
objectives to
conserve important
natural habitats to
improve biodiversity.

European Directive on the conservation of Wild Birds (2009/147/EC ) (codified version)
• The maintenance of the populations of all wild bird species across their natural range with the encouragement
of various activities to that end.
• The identification and classification of Special Protection Areas (SPAs) for rare or vulnerable species, as well
as all regularly occurring migratory species
• The establishment of a general scheme of protection for all wild birds
European Directive on Ambient Air Quality (2008/50/EC)

Page 305

The 2008 ambient air quality directive (2008/50/EC) sets legally binding limits for concentrations in outdoor air of
major air pollutants that impact public health such as particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide
(NO2). As well as having direct effects, these pollutants can combine in the atmosphere to form ozone, a harmful
air pollutant (and potent greenhouse gas) which can be transported great distances by weather systems.

European Directive on Renewable Energy (2009/28/EC)
The Renewable Energy Directive establishes an overall policy for the production and promotion of energy from
renewable sources in the EU.

Key element include:
•
New air quality objectives for PM2.5 (fine
particles) including the limit value and
exposure related objectives–exposure
concentration obligation and exposure
reduction target
•
The possibility to discount natural sources of
pollution when assessing compliance against
limit values
•
The possibility for time extensions of three
years (PM10) or up to five years (NO2,
benzene) for complying with limit values,
based on conditions and the assessment by
the European Commission.
It requires the EU to fulfil at least 20% of its total
energy needs with renewables by 2020 – to be
achieved through the attainment of individual
national targets. All EU countries must also ensure
that at least 10% of their transport fuels come from
renewable sources by 2020.
On 30 November 2016, the Commission published
a proposal for a revised Renewable Energy
Directive recommending that the target of at least

22 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators
27% renewables in the final energy consumption in
the EU by 2030 is met.

Implications for
LDF and SA

European Directive on Urban Wastewater Treatment (31/271/EEC)
Its objective is to protect the environment from the adverse effects of urban waste water discharges and
discharges from certain industrial sectors
European Noise Directive (2002/49/EC)
Preventing and reducing environmental noise where necessary and preserving environment noise quality where it
is good.

Page 306

European Landscape Convention (Florence Convention) (March 2017)
Highlights the need to recognise landscape in law, to develop landscape policies dedicated to the protection,
management and creation of landscapes, and to establish procedures for the participation of the general public
and other stakeholders in the creation and implementation of landscape policies.
The Convention for the Protection of the Archaeological Heritage of Europe (Valetta Convention)
The main purpose of the Convention is to reinforce and promote policies for the conservation and enhancement of
Europe's heritage. Objectives include:
•
The inventory and protection of sites and areas
•
Promoting high standards for all archaeological work
•
The creation of archaeological reserves
•
The protection and recording of archaeology during development.
Energy Performance of Buildings Directive (2018/844/EU)

23 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Promotes the energy performance of buildings within the European Community, taking into account outdoor
climatic and local conditions, as well as indoor climate requirements and cost effectiveness.

Implications for
LDF and SA

The first of 8 legislative acts in the Clean Energy for All Europeans package.

Page 307

The provisions include:
• Requirement for energy performance certificates in all advertisements for sale or rental of buildings
• Inspection schemes for heating and air-conditioning systems
• Minimum energy performance requirements for new buildings, for major renovation of buildings and
replacement or retrofit of building elements
• List of national financial measures to improve energy efficiency of buildings
• Binding obligations on electro-mobility requirements in buildings
• ‘Smartness indicator’ assessing energy self-production and consumption in buildings
• Clearer requirements for national databases on energy performance certificates
• All new buildings must be nearly zero-energy buildings by 2021
European Union (EU) Strategy for Sustainable Development
The European Union’s (EU) strategy for sustainable development, agreed at the 2001 Gothenburg Summit,
amended in 2005 and reviewed in 2009, places a strong emphasis on seven key sustainability themes:
•
Climate change and clean energy
•
Sustainable transport
•
Sustainable consumption and production
•
Conservation and management of natural resources
•
Public health
•
Social inclusion, demography and migration
•
Global poverty and sustainable development challenges.
Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe (2011) sets out the vision for the future:
'By 2050 the EU's economy has grown in a way that respects resource constraints and planetary boundaries, thus
contributing to global economic transformation. Our economy is competitive, inclusive and provides a high
standard of living with much lower environmental impacts. All resources are sustainably managed, from raw
materials to energy, water, air, land and soil. Climate change milestones have been reached, while biodiversity
and the ecosystem services it underpins have been protected, valued and substantially restored.'
New pathways to action on resource efficiency such as enhancing dialogue and developing indicators.
Supporting resource efficiency internationally and improving the delivery of benefits from EU environmental
measures.
This initiative is helping to drive the EC’s review of the 2008 Sustainable Consumption and Production Action
Plan, which will consider:

The roadmap sets out a vision for a number of
areas (listed below) each with milestones towards
achieving more sustainable objectives:
•
Sustainable consumption and production.
•
Turning waste into a resource.
•
Supporting research and innovation.
•
Environmentally harmful subsidies.
•
Taxation.
•
Ecosystem services.
•
Biodiversity.
•
Water.
•
Air.
•
Land and soils.

24 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

enhancing the focus on material resource efficiency within the Sustainable Consumption and Production
Action Plan including:
recyclability
reusability
upgradeability
durability
approaches to introducing a product environmental footprint methodology in the EU
approaches to introducing an organisational environmental footprint methodology in the EU.

Key targets and indicators
•
•
•
•

Marine resources.
Food.
Improving buildings.
Ensuring efficient mobility.

Implications for
LDF and SA

The implementation of an updated Sustainable Consumption and Production Action Plan will contribute to the
EU’s approach to sustainable development and will complement wider actions being considered in relation to:
•
fiscal policies (including taxation and subsidies)
•
structural reform
•
eco-innovation and regional development
•
land use planning
•
energy and mobility.

Page 308

NATIONAL POLICIES
Mainstreaming Sustainable Development 2011
The UK produced its first national sustainable development strategy in 1994. The government produced the latest
national strategy, A Better Quality of Life: Strategy for Sustainable Development for the United Kingdom, in 1999.
This was revised by the publication of Securing the Future: Delivering UK Sustainable Development Strategy in
March 2005.
The UK Sustainable Development Strategy defines sustainable development as being about 'ensuring a better
quality of life for everyone, now and for generations to come'. Doing this requires meeting four key objectives at
the same time:
1.
Social progress that recognises the needs of everyone.
2.
Effective protection of the environment.
3.
Prudent use of natural resources.
4.
Maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and employment.
This strategic definition of sustainable development applies in legislation and guidance concerning the devolved
administrations in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.
The revised 2005 strategy, Securing the Future, recognises that achieving this integration between the four key
objectives is difficult, with the tendency being for agencies to concentrate on one objective rather than all four. To
overcome this, the 2005 strategy provides the following ‘purpose’ to develop the national framework for
sustainable development by showing what a sustainable future will look like.

On 28 February 2011 the coalition government
published Mainstreaming Sustainable
Development, which outlined the government's
vision and a package of measures to deliver it
through:
• the green economy
• action to tackle climate change
• protecting and enhancing the natural
environment
• fairness and improving wellbeing
• building a big society.
• Ministers have agreed an approach for
Mainstreaming Sustainable Development (2011),
consisting of:
• providing ministerial leadership and oversight
• leading by example
• embedding sustainable development into policy
• transparent and independent scrutiny

25 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
'The goal of sustainable development is to enable all people throughout the world to satisfy their basic needs and
enjoy a better quality of life, without compromising the quality of life of future generations. For the UK government
and the devolved administrations, that goal will be pursued in an integrated way through a sustainable, innovative
and productive economy that delivers high levels of employment; and a just society that promotes social inclusion,
sustainable communities and personal wellbeing. This will be done in ways that protect and enhance the physical
and natural environment, and use resources and energy as efficiently as possible.

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Government must promote a clear understanding of, and commitment to, sustainable development so that all
people can contribute to the overall goal through their individual decisions.
Similar objectives will inform all our international endeavours, with the UK actively promoting multilateral and
sustainable solutions to today’s most pressing environmental, economic and social problems. There is a clear
obligation on more prosperous nations both to put their own house in order, and to support other countries in the
transition towards a more equitable and sustainable world.'

Page 309

The 2005 strategy also introduces five principles to form the basis of policy in the United Kingdom. For a policy to
be sustainable it must reflect all five principles, with any departures made explicit and transparent. The inputs to
this approach are a sustainable economy, good governance and sound science while the outcomes are a strong,
healthy and just society that operates within environmental limits.
The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) has overall responsibility for championing
sustainable development, leading on the cross-government Sustainable Development Programme. Working
closely with the Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC) and the Cabinet Office, Defra is responsible
for developing policy, mechanisms and governance arrangements to ensure that all government policies,
operations and procurement take account of sustainable development, balancing social and environmental
considerations as well economic ones. A progress report on mainstreaming sustainable development in
government was published in 2013.
Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013
The Act sets out a series of reforms intended to reduce the red tape that the government considers hampers
business investment, new infrastructure and job creation. It was designed to help the UK recover from recession.
Measures include special measures for councils that underperform dealing with planning applications,
reconsideration of unviable S106 Agreements, reducing information required to be submitted with planning
applications, making it easier to stop-up footpaths affecting development and preventing improper village green
applications from inhibiting development.
Human Rights Act 1998
The Human Rights Act 1998 (the Act or the HRA) sets out the fundamental rights and freedoms that everyone in
the UK is entitled to. The Act has three main effects:
1. It incorporates the rights set out in the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into domestic British
law.
2. It requires all public bodies (including local authorities) to respect and protect human rights.

26 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Page 310

3. It means that Parliament will nearly always seek to ensure that new laws are compatible with the rights set out
in the European Convention on Human Rights.
Infrastructure Act 2015
The Act is designed to promote house building and growth by
• enabling surplus and redundant public sector land and property to be sold more quickly, increasing the
amount of previously used land available for new homes
• reducing delays on projects which have planning permission, by a new ‘deemed discharge’ provision on
planning conditions – this will help speed up house building
• enabling the creation of an allowable solutions scheme to provide a cost effective way for house builders to
meet the zero carbon homes obligation
• promoting “fracking”
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
The planning system has three overarching objectives:
• Economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring sufficient land
available to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the
provision of infrastructure;
• Social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring sufficient number and
range of homes to meet the needs of present and future generations; fostering well-designed and safe built
environment, with accessible services and open spaces to reflect current and future needs and support
communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and
• Environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including a low carbon
economy

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Wide ranging
implications for site
allocations

• Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
• Important that sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that needs of groups
with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without
unnecessary delay
• Informed by local housing need assessment using standard method in national guidance (including size, type
and tenure of housing needs for different groups) and reflected in planning policies
• Where need identified, policies should specify type of affordable housing, to provide on-site unless off-site
provision or appropriate financial contribution robustly justified and agreed approach contributes to mixed and
balanced communities.
• Identify sufficient supply and mix of sites for homes
• In rural areas, housing should reflect local needs. To promote sustainable development, housing should be
located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities.
Building a strong, competitive economy

27 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
Set out a clear economic vision and strategy for the area of the local planning authority, which positively and
proactively encourages sustainable economic growth
• Set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to match the strategy and to meet
anticipated needs over the plan period
• Seek to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate infrastructure, services or housing, or a
poor environment
• Be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow for new and flexible working
practices and a rapid response to changes in economic circumstances
• Recognise and address the specific locational requirements of different sectors
• Enable sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, development and
diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses and sustainable rural tourism and leisure
developments respecting the character of the countryside.
Ensuring the vitality of town centres
•
Planning policies should support the role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a
positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation.
•
Define a network and hierarchy of town centres and the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas,
•
Retain and enhance existing markets and where appropriate, re-introduce or create new ones
•
Allocate a range of suitable sites to meet the scale and type of development needed (retail, leisure, office
and other main town centre uses)
•
Where suitable and viable town centre sites are not available for main town centre uses, allocate appropriate
edge of centre sites that are well connected to the town centre where suitable and viable town centres are
not available. If insufficient edge of centre sites cannot be identified, policies should explain how identified
needs can be met in other accessible locations that are well connected to the town centre.
•
Recognise that residential development often plays an important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and
encourage residential development on appropriate sites.
•
Apply a sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses.
Promoting healthy and safe communities
•
Achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places to promote social interaction, are safe and accessible and enable
and support healthy lifestyles especially where this would address identified local need and well-being needs
•
Provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs
•
Consider the social, economic and environmental benefits of estate regeneration.
•
Important that sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new
communities
•
Promote public safety and take into account wider security and defence requirements
Open space and recreation
•
Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important
for the health and well-being of communities
•
Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields unless assessment
shows a surplus, replacement with equivalent or better provision or development is for an alternative sport
and recreational provision.
•

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Page 311

28 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
Protect and enhance public rights of way and access.
The designation of land as Local Green Space through local and neighbourhood plans allows communities
to identify and protect green areas of particular importance to them.
Promoting sustainable transport
•
Transport issues should be considered from the earliest stage: potential impacts on the transport networks;
opportunities from existing and proposed infrastructure; promote walking, cycling and public transport;
environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be identified, assessed and taken into
account including avoiding and mitigating against any adverse effects, and for net environmental gains;
patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of
schemes and contribute to making high quality places.
Supporting high quality communications
•
Planning policies and decisions should support the expansion of electronic communications networks,
including next generation mobile technology and full fibre broadband connections
Making effective use of land
•
Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and
other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living
conditions.
Achieving well-designed places
•
Plans should set out a clear design vision and expectations to provide as much certainty as possible
Protecting Green Belt land
•
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The
essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence
•
The five Green Belt purposes: To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas; To prevent
neighbouring towns merging into one another; To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and to assist in urban regenerations, by
encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land
•
Once established Green Belts boundaries should only be altered in exceptional circumstances, through the
preparation or updating of plans
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
•
•

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Page 312

29 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
•

•
•
•
•

Planning should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of
flood risk and coastal change, it should help to shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in
Greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience, encourage the reuse of existing
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and
associated infrastructure
LPAs should adopt proactive strategies to mitigating and adapting to climate change, taking into account the
long-term implications for flood risk, coastal change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk
of overheating from rising temperatures.
New development should be planned for in ways that avoids increased vulnerability to the range of impacts
arising from climate change and help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions such as through location,
orientation and design
LPAs should provide a positive strategy for the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and heat
Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away
from areas at highest risk (existing or future). Strategic policies should be informed by a strategic flood risk
assessment and should manage flood risk from all sources. All plans should apply a sequential, risk-based
approach to the location of development.

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Page 313

Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
•

Planning should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment including protecting and
enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils, recognising the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside and the wider natural capital and ecosystem services, minimising
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, preventing new and existing development from
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
soil, air, water or noise pollutions or land instability; remediating and mitigating land.

Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
LPAs should set out in their Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic
environment.
•
LPAs should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a
proposal taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this
assessment into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or
minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.
Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals
•

•
•

It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of material to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and
goods
Minerals planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply of aggregates and industrial
minerals.

30 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
Planning Act 2008
The Act introduces a new system for approving major infrastructure of national importance, such as harbours and
waste facilities, and replaces current regimes under several pieces of legislation. The objective is to streamline
these decisions and avoid long public inquiries
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended by the Planning Act 2008
Section 19 (1A) of the 2004 Act as amended by Section 182 of the 2008 Act put a legal duty on local planning
authorities for them to ensure that, taken as a whole, plan policy contributes to the mitigation of, and adaptation to,
climate change. Section 19(1A) states:
‘Development plan documents must (taken as a whole) include policies designed to secure that the development
and use of land in the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate
change.’

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Page 314

Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017
The planning related parts of the Act cover the following matters:
• Neighbourhood Planning
• Local Development Documents
• Planning Conditions
• Permitted Development Rights Relating To Drinking Establishments
• Development of New Towns By Local Authorities
• Planning Register
Housing and Planning Act 2016
The Housing and Planning Act introduced:
• The promotion of ‘Starter Homes’
• The removal of the right to a lifetime tenancy
• The introduction of Pay to Stay
• The removal of some succession rights
• The sale of higher value council homes
• New powers to tackle rogue landlords of private rented sector homes
National Housing Standards 2015

31 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

The Government created an approach for the setting of technical standards for new housing as set out in ‘The
Ministerial statement’ (25th March 2015). Local planning authorities have the option to set additional technical
requirements exceeding the minimum standards required by Building Regulations in respect of an optional
nationally described space standard and in relation to accessibility only.

The NDSS sets out minimum size standards for
different dwellings in terms of numbers of
bedrooms and numbers of storeys

Nationally Described Space Standard (NDSS): A single standard for minimum space requirements is set out by
national guidance.
In relation to accessible housing, national guidance states that if a LPA choses to adopt standards in relation to
accessible housing, then they can relate only to 2 categories, and a target percentage would need to be set for
each category.

Page 315

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
This sets out the main legislative framework for the protection and management of buildings and areas of
conservation and historic and architectural significance. There have been amendments since 1990 and there are
applicable regulations.
Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act (1979)
The Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act (1979) is still the major piece of legislation concerned with
the protection of archaeological sites and ancient monuments in England. Recommendations are made for
'scheduling' archaeological monuments and “listing” Historic Buildings to the Secretary of State.
The Natural Choice: Securing the Value of Nature (White Paper 2011)
Four themes:
Protecting and improving our natural environment
• Supporting Local Nature Partnerships, working at a strategic level to improve benefits and services from a
healthy natural environment.
• Support establishing new Nature Improvement Areas based on local assessment of opportunities for restoring
and connecting nature on a significant scale, including identifying within local plans.
• The planning system to deliver the homes, business, infrastructure and thriving local places while protecting
and enhancing the natural and historic environment, through planning reform (NPPF).
• Introducing biodiversity off-setting, managed locally.
• Planning for low-carbon infrastructure
• Restoring the elements of our natural network (Protecting and improving woodlands and forests, restoring
nature in rivers and water bodies, restoring nature in towns, cities and villages, including valuing green
infrastructure for communities and managing environmental risks (flooding and heat waves)
Growing a green economy
• Range of initiatives to encourage environmental benefits for business
Reconnecting people and nature
• Local Nature Partnerships and Health and Wellbeing Boards work together in promoting the health benefits of
the natural environment

Implications for
LDF and SA

The Accessible Housing categories are:
M4(2) Category 2: Accessible and adaptable
dwellings is an optional Building Regulation, and as
such would only apply where planning policy allows
and when conditioned on a planning application.
M4(3) Category 3: Wheelchair user dwellings is an
optional Building Regulation.

Listing
Designation of conservation areas
Controls and management arrangements

Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-16
(January 2012) linked to White Paper, includes
wider determinants of health (greenspace and
employment, noise pollution) and health protection
(air pollution)

Consideration of
possible new natural
environment
designations and
initiatives affecting
potential site
allocations.
Closer links between
greenspace
accessibility and
public health.

32 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Promoting the natural environment in schools
Improve access to nature in local neighbourhoods, including measures in the Localism Act (including
neighbourhood plans)
• Improving access to the countryside
International and EU leadership
• Number of key reforms including implementation of the Nagoya commitments on biodiversity
UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework
Covers the period from 2011 to 2020, and was developed in response to two main drivers: the Convention on
Biological Diversity’s (CBD’s) Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and its five strategic goals and 20 ‘Aichi
Biodiversity Targets’ Under the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020, including Aichi Biodiversity Targets, the
“Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England’s Wildlife and Ecosystem Services” was produced
•
•

Page 316

Aichi Biodiversity Target 2 relates most closely to the Development Plan process “By 2020, at the latest,
biodiversity values have been integrated into national and local development and poverty reduction
strategies and planning processes and are being incorporated into national accounting, as
appropriate, and reporting systems.”
The Flood and Water Management Act 2010
This addresses the threats of flooding and water scarcity. Responsibilities set out under the Flood Risk
Regulations make the Environment Agency responsible for managing flood risk from main rivers, the sea and
reservoirs.

Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England’s Wildlife and ecosystem services
Linked to the Natural Environment White Paper, sets out how international and EU commitments (including
Nagoya agreement) will be implemented.
Mission: “to halt overall biodiversity loss, support healthy well-functioning ecosystems and establish coherent
ecological networks, with more and better places for nature for the benefit of wildlife and people”. Sets out high
level outcomes to 2020.
Vision: “By 2050 our land and seas will be rich in wildlife, our biodiversity will be valued, conserved, restored,
managed sustainably and be more resilient and able to adapt to change, providing essential services and
delivering benefits for everyone”.
Priority Action:
• Establish more coherent and resilient ecological networks on land that safeguard ecosystem services for the
benefit of wildlife and people;
• Establish and effectively manage an ecologically coherent network of marine protected areas covering in
excess of 25% of English waters by end of 2016;

Implications for
LDF and SA

Lead local flood authorities are responsible for local
sources of flood risk, in particular from surface runoff, groundwater and ordinary watercourses. Local
authorities are responsible for ensuring that new
requirements for preliminary flood risk
assessments and for approval of sustainable
drainage systems are met.
Outcome 1 –Habitats and ecosystems on land
(including freshwater environments)
1A. Better wildlife habitats with 90% of priority
habitats in favourable or recovering condition and
at least 50% of SSSIs in favourable condition, while
maintaining at least 95% in favourable or
recovering condition;
1B. More, bigger and less fragmented areas for
wildlife, with no net loss to priority habitat and an
increase in the overall extent of priority habitats by
at least 200,000 ha;
1C. By 2020, at least 17% of land and inland water,
especially areas of particular importance for
biodiversity and ecosystem services including

Consideration of
biodiversity value of
land in assessment
of potential site
allocations.
Updated 2014 Leeds
Habitat Network
recognises changes
in Leeds Habitat
Network since 2012,
and site based
designations are
updated on an

33 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
•
•
•
•
•

Take targeted action for recovery of priority species, whose conservation is not delivered through wider
habitat-based and ecosystem measures;
Ensure that ‘agricultural’ genetic diversity is conserved and enhanced wherever appropriate;
Work with the biodiversity partnership to engage significantly more people in biodiversity issues;
Promote taking better account of the values of biodiversity in public and private sector decision making,
including providing tools to help consider a wider range of ecosystem services;
Develop new and innovative financing mechanisms to direct more funding towards achievement of biodiversity
outcomes.

Page 317
Safeguarding our Soils: A Strategy for England 2011
Outlines the Government’s approach to safeguarding our soils for the long term. Provides a vision to guide future
policy development across a range of areas and sets out the practical steps to be taken to prevent further
degradation of our soils, enhance, restore and ensure their resilience, and improve our understanding of the
threats to soil and best practice in responding to them.
Underground, Under Threat - Groundwater Protection: Policy & Practice 2007
Environment Agency’s core groundwater policy:
“To protect and manage groundwater resources for present and future generations in ways that are appropriate for
the risks that we identify”.
The policy supports the EA’s overall vision for “a healthy, rich and diverse environment in England and Wales, for
present and future generations”
Themes of vision:

Key targets and indicators
through management of our existing systems of
protected areas and the establishment of nature
improvement areas;
1D. Restoring at least 15% of degraded
ecosystems as a contribution to climate change
mitigation and adaptation.
Outcome 2 – Marine habitats, ecosystems and
fisheries;
2A. By the end of 2016 in excess of 25% of English
waters will be contained in a well-managed Marine
Protected Area network that helps deliver
ecological coherence by conserving representative
marine habitats;
2B. By 2020 we will be managing and harvesting
fish sustainably;
2C. By 2022 we will have marine plans in place
covering the whole of England’s marine area,
ensuring the sustainable development of our seas,
integrating economic growth, social need and
ecosystem management.
Outcome 3 - Species
By 2020, an overall improvement in the status of
wildlife and prevented further human-induced
extinctions of known threatened species.
Outcome 4 – People
By 2020, significantly more people engaged in
biodiversity issues, aware of its value and taking
positive action.

None identified.

Implications for
LDF and SA
ongoing basis. Policy
G8 and G9 applies.

Awareness of
Environment
Agency’s policy for
groundwater
protection.

34 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Key targets and indicators

Better quality of life
Improved and protected inland and coastal waters
Enhanced environment for wildlife
Reducing flood risk
Restored, protected land
Greener business world
Sustainable use of natural resources
Limiting climate change
Cleaner air

Climate Change Act 2008 & Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009
In the UK, the Climate Change Act 2008 and the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 have established a
statutory requirement to reduce UK emissions of six greenhouse gases to just 20% of their 1990 levels by 2050
(i.e. an 80% reduction from 1990 levels).

Page 318

The Climate Change Act 2008 has two key aims:
Improve carbon management and transition towards a low-carbon economy in the UK.
Demonstrate UK leadership internationally, signalling that it is committed to taking its share of responsibility for
reducing global greenhouse gas emissions.

Implications for
LDF and SA

As part of this process, four carbon budgets (each
covering a five year period) have been approved by
Parliament and are now set in law as follows:
2008 to 2012 – 23% reduction from 1990 levels.
2013 to 2017 – 29% reduction from 1990 levels.
2018 to 2022 – 35% reduction from 1990 levels by
2020.
2013 to 2027 - 50% reduction from 1990 levels by
2025.
Climate Change Act 2008 in England and Wales
The 2008 Act contains the following key provisions:
Legally binding targets of at least an 80% cut in
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, with an interim
target of at least 34% by 2020 (against a 1990
baseline).
A carbon budgeting system to cap emissions over
five-year periods, with three budgets set at any
particular time. The first carbon budget ran from
2008 to 2012. The next three carbon budgets run
from 2013 to 2017, 2018 to 2022 and 2023 to
2027. Government must report to Parliament on its
policies and proposals to meet the budgets.

UK Climate Impacts Programme (UKCP18)
Produced by the Met Office providing UK climate change projections for temperatures, rainfall, cloud cover and
humidity. The aim of the projections is to provide a means to establish risk to changing climate and to plan to
adapt to changes.
The Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning (regularly updated)

35 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
This shows the extent of flood zones 2 and 3. The EA may produce flood models upon request.

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

The Adaptation Sub-Committee of the Committee on Climate Change’s 2015 Report
This assesses the UK’s preparedness for climate change and identifies policy recommendations.

Page 319

Planning & Energy Act 2008
Sets out powers for local authorities to require a proportion of the energy need from new development to be
generated onsite. It also enables local authorities to require standards for energy efficiency in new buildings. In
2015 the energy efficiency requirements were repealed to effectively make Building Regulations the sole authority
regarding energy efficiency standards for residential development. This means that the energy efficiency
standards that local authorities can require are capped. However, the power to require a proportion of energy
need to be met onsite remains.
The Heat Strategy and National Heat Map 2012
Published by the Department for Energy and Climate Change in March 2012, it provides a strategic framework for
low-carbon heat. The map is a spatial plan of building heat demand for all of England, designed to help planners
develop low-carbon heating solutions.
Local Government Act (1999)
Under the Local Government Act 1999, local authorities in England and Wales have a duty to prepare a
community strategy. The overall objective of community strategies is to 'improve the economic, social and
environmental wellbeing of each area and its inhabitants and contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development in the UK'. A local strategic partnership (LSP) will often be created to deliver the community strategy
through partnership working.
Community strategies, drawn up by local authorities in consultation with LSPs, are the key strategic document
setting out the vision for a local area. The Egan Review: Skills for Sustainable Communities (2004) recommended
that these strategies should describe how sustainable communities would be created and maintained and should
therefore explicitly become sustainable community strategies (SCSs).
Local authorities continue to be required to prepare and publish a SCS, with the expectation that this is reviewed
and updated at suitable intervals (no time periods are fixed in the legislation).
The coalition government has made no suggestion that this requirement should be repealed. Repeal is unlikely
since sustainable community strategies also form part of the UK’s international commitments to sustainable
development, originating from the 1992 Rio Earth Summit.
The Sustainable Communities Act 2007 paves the way for the creation of SCSs by amending the Local
Government Act 2000 and the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
Under the 2007 Act the secretary of state will publish guidance to local authorities on how to prepare sustainable
community strategies. The Act also allows local authorities to make proposals to the secretary of state which they

36 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
consider would contribute to local sustainability. These can include proposals to transfer a function from one
organisation to another.

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Page 320

Proposals from local authorities will then be shortlisted by the Local Government Association (LGA) which then
tries to reach an agreement with the secretary of state on which proposals should be taken forward. Possibly the
most interesting part of the 2007 Act is its schedule which indicates what sort of measures the government
believes would contribute to sustainable development. These include:
•
a definition of "local", which is generally taken to mean within 30 miles when referring to matters such as local
food, jobs and energy supplies
•
organic and healthy food production
•
energy conservation and sustainable energy generation
•
reducing road traffic
•
increasing social inclusion and local democracy
•
community projects
•
reducing greenhouse gases
•
affordable housing
• waste re-use.
Local Government Act (2000)
The Local Government Act 2000 provides significant new powers for local government to ‘do anything which they
consider is likely to achieve’ the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of
an area.
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
The Act implements key aspects of the Government’s Rural Strategy published in July 2004; It establishes an
independent body – Natural England – responsible for conserving, enhancing and managing England’s natural
environment for the benefit of current and future generations. It also establishes the Commission for Rural
Communities as an independent advocate, watchdog and expert adviser for rural England

Protection afforded to
UK BAP Priority
Species and Habitats
as per Policy G8

The Act makes provision in respect of biodiversity, pesticides harmful to wildlife and the protection of birds, and in
respect of invasive non-native species. It alters enforcement powers in connection with wildlife protection, and
addresses a small number of gaps and in relation to the law on sites of special scientific interest.
Section 40 places a duty on all public authorities to have regard, in the exercise of their functions, to the purposes
of conserving biodiversity. A key purpose of this duty is to embed consideration of biodiversity as an integral part
of policy and decision-making. Lists Priority Species and Habitats of principal importance for conserving
biodiversity – which are included in Policy G8.
Circular 06/05: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation
Statutory Obligations and Their Impact Within The Planning System.

Surveys for protected
species received
prior to

37 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010
Transposes EU Habitats Directive into UK law and affords protection to European Sites and Species.

Implications for
LDF and SA
determination of
applications.
Relevant to part of
one European Site
within the District and
others outside the
District within
relevant zones of
influence, as per
Core Strategy G8.

Page 321

Localism Act (2011)
The Localism Act 2011 introduced the requirement of local authorities to comply with the ‘Duty to Cooperate’ in the
preparation of Development Plan Documents (the ‘local plan’). The purpose of this is to satisfy both legal
compliance and soundness issues in plan making, to ensure that any ‘cross administrative boundary issues’ are
addressed. The Localism Act also included provisions for the preparation of Neighbourhood Plan and once
adopted, for these to form part of the statutory Development Plan for a local area.
Health & Social Care Act (2012)
Following national reforms to the National Health Service, a number of health responsibilities have been
transferred to local authorities. Central to these, with implications for the preparation of the Development Plan,

Interrelationship
between green
space, green and
blue infrastructure
and improving
public health

is the requirement for local authorities to have a ‘Duty to Improve Public Health’.

Objectively Assessed Need and Housing Targets Technical Advice Note (Planning Advisory Service)(2015)
This advice note offers practical advice to planning authorities in preparing evidence and setting plan targets for
new housing. It is based on existing good practice assembled by the Planning Advisory Service on the
recommendations of planning Inspectors. It is a ‘living' document which will reflect any key decisions made by
Inspectors or in the Courts, in order to keep it current.
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (as amended)
This Act sets out principles and rights for access to the countryside

Defra Rights of Way Circular 01/09

The Act introduces a statutory right of access for
open-air recreation to mountain, moor, heath, down
and registered common land, with a number of
exceptions.

38 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

This circular gives advice to local authorities on recording, managing and maintaining, protecting and changing
public rights of way.

Local authorities should regard public rights of way
as an integral part of the complex of recreational
and transport facilities within their area.

National Biodiversity Climate Change Vulnerability Model (Natural England) (2014)
NBCCVM is a practical way to identify areas of habitat most at risk from climate change.
National Character Areas (Natural England) (2014)
NCAs divide England into 159 distinct natural areas. Each is defined by a unique combination of landscape,
biodiversity, geodiversity, history, and cultural and economic activity. Their boundaries follow natural lines in the
landscape rather than administrative boundaries.

Implications for
LDF and SA

It provides a focus for discussion, helping to
develop shared priorities and inform decisions on
where to focus efforts.

Page 322

Landscape profiles contain a description of the:
• topography
• geology and soils
• rivers and coastal features
• trees and woodland
• field patterns and boundary features
• agricultural uses
• semi-natural habitats
• species closely associated with the area
• history of the area
• settlement and development patterns
• roads, railways and rights of way
• commonly used building materials and
building design
• tranquility and remoteness

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (2018)
Goals for improving the environment within a generation and leaving it in a better state than we found it.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clean air
Clean and plentiful water
Thriving plants and wildlife
Reducing the risks of harm from
environmental hazards
Using resources from nature more
sustainably and efficiently
Enhancing beauty, heritage and
engagement with the natural environment
Mitigating and adapting to climate change
Minimising waste

Wide ranging
implications for
identifying site
allocations, including
consideration of air
and water quality,
conserving
resources, energy
efficiency, built and
natural environment,
and waste

39 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators
•

Managing exposure to chemicals
Enhancing biosecurity

Implications for
LDF and SA

REGIONAL POLICIES
West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan (2011 – 2026)
The Plan sets out 3 objectives:
•
Economy. To improve connectivity to support economic activity and growth in West Yorkshire and the Leeds
City Region;
•
Low Carbon. To make substantial progress towards a low carbon, sustainable transport system for West
Yorkshire, while recognising transport’s contribution to national carbon reduction plans;
•
Quality of Life. To enhance the quality of life of people living in, working in and visiting West Yorkshire

The Plan contains six targets, two relating to each
objective:

Local transport
policy context.

KE1 – Bus journey time reliability
To increase the proportion of the network where
peak journey time variability is equivalent to the
inter peak. (from 33% to 50%)

Page 323

KE2 – Access to employment
To increase the proportion of people able to access
key employment locations within 30 minutes using
the core public transport network (from 71% to
75%)
KC1 – Mode share
To keep the total number of car trips made by West
Yorkshire residents at current (2011) levels and to
increase the proportion of trips made by
sustainable modes (from 33% to 41%)
KC2 – Emission of CO2 from transport
To achieve a reduction of 30% between the base
year (2009) and 2026 in line with the national target
KQ1 – Road casualties – people killed or seriously
injured
To cut the number of KSI by 50% between the
2005-09 baseline and 2026

The Northern Powerhouse: One Agenda, One Economy, One North (2015)

KQ2 – Satisfaction with transport
To increase the combined satisfaction score from
6.6 to 7.0 by 2017. To review thereafter.

40 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Transport for the North report prepared by Government, the Northern City Regions and Local Enterprise
Partnerships.

None

The aim is to transform Northern growth, rebalance the country’s economy and establish the North as a global
powerhouse. The strategy sets out how transport is a fundamental part of achieving these goals and how the longterm investment programmes will be developed.
Transform city to city rail connectivity east/west and north/south through both HS2 and a new Trans-North
system, radically reducing travel times across this intercity network;
•
Ensure there is the capacity that a resurgent North will need in rail commuter services;
•
Deliver the full HS2 ‘Y’ network as soon as possible, including consideration of accelerating construction of
Leeds-Sheffield;
•
Enhance the performance of the North’s Strategic Road Network (SRN) through delivery of the committed
first phase of the Roads Investment Strategy;
•
Further enhance the long-term performance of the Northern SRN through a clear vision and strategy that
embraces transformational investment and technology;
•
Set out a clearly prioritised multimodal freight strategy for the North to support trade and freight movement
within the North and to national/international markets;
•
Pursue better connections to Manchester Airport through TransNorth, whilst city regions consider connectivity
to the North’s other major airports; and
•
Develop integrated and smart ticket structures to support our vision of a single economy across the North.
Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan 2016-36
The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) is led by the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority (Combined Authority) working with and on behalf of partners across the City
Region. The strategy sets out specific initiatives to achieve the Leeds City Region Vision to be “a globally
recognised economy where good growth delivers high levels of prosperity, jobs and quality of life for everyone”.

Implications for
LDF and SA
Regional long term
transport strategy
context

•

Page 324

The SEP sets out 10 headline initiatives to be delivered or on the way to delivery over the next 10 years, arranged
under the 4 priority areas of ‘Growing Business’, ‘Skilled People, Better Jobs’, ‘Clean Energy and Environmental
Resilience’ and ‘Infrastructure for Growth’. Each of the SEP’s four priorities identifies overall goals, a set of action
areas, the strategic rationale and the approach that will be taken. This includes the key partners that will be involved,
how implementation of the priority will support good growth principles and measures of success.

The SEP has the following strategic priorities:
•
•
•
•
•
•

to deliver 35,000 additional jobs
to deliver an additional £3.7 billion of annual
economic output
to become a positive, above average
contributor to the UK economy
to seek to exceed the national average on high
level skills
to become a NEET-free City Region
to make good progress on Headline Indicators
of growth and productivity, employment,
earnings, skills and environmental
sustainability

West Yorkshire Local Sites Partnership Terms of Reference 2011

41 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
Local authority and conservation organisations partnership reviewing existing and new Local nature conservation
designations i.e. West Yorkshire Local Wildlife Sites and Local Geological Sites as per Policy G8.
West Yorkshire Local Wildlife Site Selection Criteria 2011 as amended (last update 09/05/2019)
Guidelines for the identification and selection of Local Geological Sites in West Yorkshire April 2011

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA
Ensures protection of
Local Sites as per
Policy G8

Leeds City Region Green Infrastructure Study (2018)
Sets out how LCR will make the most of the region’s natural assets to help the economy prosper, enable people
to enjoy quality of life and combat the effects of climate change.

Page 325

Priorities:
•
Effective water management and flood risk reduction
•
Build green and blue infrastructure into physical development and housing
•
Enhance green and blue corridors and networks
•
Improve community access to and enjoyment of green and blue infrastructure
•
Plant and manage more trees and woodlands
•
Restore the uplands and manage them sustainably
•
Business growth, jobs, skills and education
Key Projects and Actions
•
LCR natural flood management project
•
Inclusive grown integration
•
Network of off-road, safe cycling and walking routes
•
LCR green and blue infrastructure map
•
Green and blue infrastructure funding
•
White Rose Forest Plan
•
Peatland restoration programme
•
Post-Brexit agricultural and environmental policy
•
Green and blue infrastructure jobs, skills and GVA assessment
•
Green and blue infrastructure skills programme
•
Consistency of green and blue infrastructure planning policy
•
Green and blue infrastructure resource targeting

Wide ranging
implications for
identifying site
allocations including
existing location and
function of land,
assessment of flood
risk and future use of
land incorporating
green space, green
and blue
infrastructure and
other green
considerations.

Nidderdale AONB Management Plan 2009-14

42 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Five themes:
•
Importance of landscape
•
Climate change
•
Ecosystem services
•
Sustainable development
•
Farming and land management
Vision:
•
Landscape
•
Natural environment
•
Heritage and the historic environment
•
Understanding and enjoyment
•
Living and working in the AONB
LOCAL POLICIES

21 indicators used for monitoring, including number
of applications refused on grounds of harm to
AONB landscape

Implications for
LDF and SA
Consider wider
effects of site
allocations on the
environment of the
AONB.

Leeds UDP (Adopted 2001, Review Adopted 2006)

Page 326

Incorporates four specific strategic goals and a number of thematic strategic aims.
•
SG1: to use the mechanism of land use planning to help to coordinate all the aims and aspirations of the
Council’s strategic initiatives, with the intent of improving the quality of life for all the residents of Leeds and
those who use the city;
•
SG2: to maintain and enhance the character of the District of Leeds;
•
SG3: to ensure that the legitimate needs of the community are met;
•
SG4: to ensure that development is consistent with the aims of sustainable development

Existing strategic
policy context for
LDF DPDs and SPDs
until replaced by the
Core Strategy.
Existing policy
context for
sustainable
development in
spatial planning

Leeds Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (Adopted 2013)
The Leeds Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan was adopted by the City Council in January 2013. The plan
sets out where land is needed to enable the City to manage natural resources, like minerals, energy, waste and
water over the next 15 years, and identifies specific actions which will help us use our natural resources in a more
efficient way.

Insert strategic targets for minerals & waste
included within the CS

Consider relevant
policies and
designations in
identifying sites for
allocation

A key target for the Plan is a 52k (net) housing
requirement, with the distribution of growth via 11
Housing Market Characteristic Areas (HMCAs).

Wide ranging
implications for
identifying sites for
allocation

Following a high court challenge, policies minerals 13 and 14 are to be re-examined and cannot be regarded as
adopted policies. On the 16th February 2015 Leeds City Council submitted policies Minerals 13 and 14 to the
Secretary of State for examination.
Leeds Core Strategy (Adopted 2019)
The Leeds Core Strategy, incorporating the selective review was first adopted in November 2014, updated and
adopted in September 2019. (The Plan incorporates a number of UDP Saved Policies which have been carried
forward). The Core Strategy provides the spatial planning framework for the overall scale and distribution of
growth (2012 – 2028), set out through an overall Vision, a Spatial Development Strategy and Thematic Policies.

43 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy 2018-23

Page 327

Sets out how Leeds City Council, the private sector, universities, colleges and schools, the third sector and social
enterprises in the city will work together to grow the Leeds economy ensuring that everyone in the city contributes
to, and benefits from, growth to their full potential. It sets out how the city intends to promote a positive, outward
looking image on the global stage seeking to increase inward investment, exports and tourism.
The strategy presents 12 “big ideas” that will create the underlying conditions for inclusive growth and act as an
action plan for the city, these are focused on supporting people, places and productivity:
•
Best City for health and wellbeing
•
Putting children at the heart of the growth strategy
•
Employers and people at the centre of the education and skills system
•
Working together to create better jobs, tackling low pay and boosting productivity
•
Supporting places and communities to respond to economic change
•
Doubling the size of the city centre
•
Building a federal economy – creating jobs close to communities
•
21st Century infrastructure
•
Leeds as a digital city
•
Backing innovators and entrepreneurs in business and social enterprises
•
Promoting Leeds and Yorkshire
•
Maximising the economic benefits of culture
West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan (2011 – 2026)
The Plan sets out 3 objectives:
•
Economy. To improve connectivity to support economic activity and growth in West Yorkshire and the Leeds
City Region;
•
Low Carbon. To make substantial progress towards a low carbon, sustainable transport system for West
Yorkshire, while recognising transport’s contribution to national carbon reduction plans;
•
Quality of Life. To enhance the quality of life of people living in, working in and visiting West Yorkshire.

Leeds City Council Best Council Plan 2019/20-2020/21

Implications for
LDF and SA
Provides an
overarching vision
for local economic
progress.

15 year target (to 2026)
•
A 77.6% increase in car journey time reliability
by 2026
•
Increase the number of the total accessible
workforce to Leeds to +43,000 by 2026
•
No change in the % of the Principal Road
Network where maintenance should be
considered – 5% by 2026
•
Increase of low carbon trips crossing main
district centre cordons to 70%
•
Increase rail patronage to 38.5m
•
Increase bus patronage to 193.3m
•
33% reduction in road casualties (KSI)
Increase residential population within 30 min of
local centre by public transport to 74% peak and
75% inter-peak period

Local transport policy
context.

44 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Vision for Leeds to be the best city in the UK. Maintains strategic focus on tackling poverty and inequalities
through combination of strengthening the economy and doing this in a compassionate and caring way, allowing
support of most vulnerable children and adults.

•
•
•

Sets out number of interconnected priority areas:
•
Inclusive growth
•
Health and wellbeing
•
Sustainable infrastructure
•
Child-friendly city
•
Age-friendly Leeds
•
Culture
•
Housing
•
Safe, strong communities

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Page 328

Private sector employment in Leeds
GVA per head
Number of new business start-ups and scaleups
Business survival rate
Change in business rates payable since 2017
revaluation
Visitor economy impact for Leeds
Percentage of working-age Leeds residents
with at least a Level 4 qualification
Number of people supported to improve their
skills
Percentages of Leeds residents and Leeds
workers earning below the Real Living Wage
Number of people supported into work
Number of adults of working age affected by
in-work poverty

Implications for
LDF and SA

Leeds 2030: Vision for Leeds 2011 to 2030 (Leeds Initiative, 2011)
Sustainable Community Strategy for Leeds. General objectives:
Leeds will be fair, open and welcoming;
To do this Leeds will be a city where:
•
There is a strong community spirit and a shared sense of belonging, where people feel confident about doing
things for themselves and others;
•
People from different backgrounds and ages feel comfortable living together in communities;
•
Local people have the power to make decisions that affect them;
•
People are active and involved in their local communities;
•
People are treated with dignity and respect at all stages of their lives;
•
There is a culture of responsibility, respect for each other and the environment;
•
The causes of unfairness are understood and addressed;
•
Our services meet the diverse needs of our changing population;
•
People can access support where and when it is needed; and
•
Everyone is proud to live and work.

No specific targets.

As the Community
Strategy it must be
taken into account in
preparing the LDF.

Leeds’ economy will be prosperous and sustainable;
Leeds will be a city that has:
•
A strong local economy driving sustainable economic growth;
•
A skilled workforce to meet the needs of the local economy;

45 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A world-class cultural offer;
Built on its strengths in financial and business services, and manufacturing, and continued to grow its strong
retail, leisure and tourism, health and medical sectors, and its cultural, digital and creative industries;
Developed new opportunities for green manufacturing and for growing other new industries;
Improved levels of enterprise through creativity and innovation;
Opportunities for work with secure, flexible employment and good wages;
Sufficient housing, including affordable housing, that meets the need of the community;
High-quality, accessible, affordable and reliable public transport;
Increased investment in other forms of transport, such as walking and cycling routes, to meet everyone’s
needs;
Successfully achieved targets to make Leeds a lower carbon city;
Adapted to changing weather patterns;
A commitment to find new ways to reuse and recycle;
Increased its use of alternative energy supplies and locally produced food; and
Buildings that meet high sustainability standards in the way they are built and run.

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Page 329

All Leeds’ communities will be successful.
•
To do this Leeds will be a city where:
•
People have the opportunity to get out of poverty;
•
Education and training helps more people to achieve their potential;
•
Communities are safe and people feel safe;
•
All homes are of a decent standard and everyone can afford to stay warm;
•
Healthy life choices are easier to make;
•
People are motivated to reuse and recycle;
•
There are more community-led businesses that meet local needs;
•
Local services, including shops and healthcare, are easy to access and meet people’s needs;
•
Local cultural and sporting activities are available
•
to all; and
•
There are high quality buildings, places and green spaces, which are clean, looked after, and respect the
city’s heritage, including buildings, parks and the history of our communities.
Leeds Air Quality Action Plan (2004)

46 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Presented steps to be taken to address objective exceedences for NO2 and PM10 particles.

No specific targets identified

Key objectives in the plan are:
•
Traffic demand management methods
•
Reducing the need to travel
•
Improvements to the highways network
•
Reducing vehicle emissions
•
Reducing emissions from industrial and domestic sources
•
Raising awareness

Implications for
LDF and SA
Key sustainability
issue

This is complemented by the actions contained within the Clean Air Zone due to be implemented in 2020.
Integrated Waste Strategy for Leeds (2005 – 2035)

Page 330

Key principles:
•
Sustainability - to develop and promote sustainable waste
•
management;
•
Partnership - to work in partnership with communities,
•
businesses and other stakeholders to deliver sustainable
•
waste management;
•
Realistic and Responsive - to ensure that the Strategy
•
is realistic and responsive to future changes.
Key objectives:
•
To move waste management up the waste hierarchy, with particular focus on reduction;
•
To manage waste in ways that protect human health and the environment:
- Without risk to water, air, soil, plants and animals;
- Without causing a nuisance through noise or odours;
- Without adversely affecting the countryside or places of special landscape, townscape, archaeological and
historic interest;
- Disposing of waste at the nearest appropriate
installation, by means of the most appropriate
methods and technologies.
•
To develop integrated and sustainable waste management services, that are flexible and have optimal endto-end efficiency;
•
To exceed Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme (LATS) targets;
•
To meet statutory and local 'stretched' recycling
•
and composting targets;
•
To provide a waste solution that is affordable and delivers
•
best value;

Measurable targets:
WP5 - Reduce the annual growth in waste per
household to 0.5% by 2010 and to 0% per
household by 2020
RC4 - To recycle and compost a minimum of 40%
of municipal waste by 2020
R4 - To recover 90% of municipal waste by 2020
L2 - Landfill no more than 10% of municipal waste
by 2020

Safeguard land for
waste facilities in the
location of new
development

Key theme 8- Planning
To assist with meeting the requirements of
sustainable waste management through the
existing UDP and LDF process
P1 - Assist with and influencing the contents of the
Local Development Framework, particularly the
waste Development Plan Document
P2 - Identify sites and obtain planning permission
for municipal waste facilities
P3 - Explore the development of a Sustainable
Energy Park.

47 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

•
To stimulate long-term and certain markets for outputs
•
in order to promote local and regional self-sufficiency.
Leeds Interim Waste Strategy 2019
The Waste Strategy will be reviewed by 2021, the Council have published an interim strategy for the intervening
period.
Themes:
Reducing excess
• Eliminate all avoidable single-use plastics from our buildings, services and supply chain by 2020
• Work with and influence Government to ensure that tough producer responsibility measures are introduced for
packaging
• Take the lead in bringing together different sectors to enter into common waste reduction commitments for the
City
• Provide support for citywide and community led/based campaigns, initiatives and infrastructure that deliver
substantial and measurable levels of waste reduction and carbon savings

Review planning policy and develop ‘best practice’
planning guidance to ensure waste management
and recycling is designed into new properties, and
that developers are meeting all requirements for
the provision of waste storage and collection at
planning and development stages

Implications for
LDF and SA

Safeguard land for
waste facilities in the
location of new
development

Page 331

Getting the most out of resources
• Make a strong and consistent case for individuals to accept responsibility for the waste produced and the need
to make own changes to reduce environmental impacts
• Launch improved waste and recycling centres to increase the use of these sites and the proportion of items
brought taken there which are then reused and recycled
• Make preparations to expand the range of materials collected for recycling at the kerbside, to include food
waste;
• Invest in and expand the district heating network, continuously improving the carbon performance of the
Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility and delivering wider environmental, economic and social benefits
• Demonstrate leadership in ensuring that the waste strategy is driven by the right environmental targets,
completing a full life-cycle assessment of resources and waste in Leeds, and developing a carbon-based
measure for waste management
All doing our part
• Significantly reduce the amount of waste created by the Council to further the commitment to become a
carbon neutral city.
• Join the Business in the Community ‘Waste to Wealth’ Programme and commit to develop actions to meet the
five themes of this programme
• Increase people’s sense of ownership of and engagement with local waste and recycling issues through
becoming more responsive and locally accountable, using technology to provide more accurate and ‘live’
service performance data

48 of 148

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Implications for
LDF and SA

Achieve zero carbon emissions by 2030. Further
targets and indicators may arise from ongoing
work, including implementation guidance notes,
Supplementary Planning Documents and the Local
Plan Update.

Wide ranging effects
for policy formulation

No specific targets or indicators

Consider the effect of
the proposed site
allocations on
existing landscape
character areas

Reduce uncontained waste and green bin contamination and improve recycling rates through a range of
solutions and interventions in areas of low service engagement, including investment in a dedicated, bespoke
environmental service in parts of the city where the current offer does not work
• Simplify recycling messages to the public so as to increase the quantity and quality of materials collected from
households
• Review planning policy and develop ‘best practice’ planning guidance to ensure waste management and
recycling is designed into new properties, and that developers are meeting all requirements for the provision of
waste storage and collection at planning and development stages
• Develop and agree localised waste crime action plans for Leeds to tackle all aspects of environmental crime.
Leeds Climate Change Strategy
•

The Leeds Climate Change Commission was established in 2017 in conjunction with the University of Leeds.
Leeds City Council declared a climate emergency in March 2019 and has committed to reducing carbon
emissions to net zero by 2030.

Page 332

The Big Leeds Climate Conversation was subsequently launched to engage with the city’s residents about the
climate emergency. The Council has commenced a series of actions including the setting up of a Climate
Emergency Advisory Committee in relation to a) planning, energy and buildings, b) transport and c) biodiversity.
Through these actions all services will clarify their current contribution to the Climate Emergency, look at how to
implement existing policies better and consider how to update policies to meet challenging new targets.
Leeds Landscape Assessment (1994, Review 2011)
•
•

•
•

Describe and analyse landscape character of the district identifying individual landscape types and features /
elements which characterise them
Provide a landscape framework to;
• Guide and inform those responsible for development, landscape change and management of landscape
• Seek to conserve and enhance the characteristic landscape types of the area
• Seek to avoid management methods and forms of development which would be detrimental to landscape
character
• Specify measures to meet landscape management objectives
• Identify areas where little or no original fabric remains, where there are opportunities to create new
landscapes
Identify the factors which have had an influence upon landscape change in the past and those that are likely
to do so in the future, in making recommendations on how to respond to these changes
Have regard to local perceptions of landscape both past and present, ‘sense of place’ and areas of local
landscape value

Leeds Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2009 to 2017

49 of 148

Page 333

Key objectives relevant to Plan and SA

Key targets and indicators

Management plan setting out areas of consideration and improvement across the public rights of way network
within the Leeds district.

Series of statement of action. Relevant to planning:
PA1 Assert and protect rights of the public where
affected by planned development
PA2 Raise profile of public rights of way, and the
need for informal outdoor recreational facilities, in
development sites in conjunction with PPG17
PA3 Seek to secure section 106 planning
agreements for path improvements within
development sites
PA4 Seek to secure section 106 funding for path
improvements in the vicinity of new development
sites
PA5 Seek to secure that developers provide
suitable alternative routes for paths affected by
development
PA6 Seek to secure that non definitive routes are
recognised on planning applications and provisions
made for them

Water for Life and Livelihoods. River Basin Management Plan, Humber River Basin District 2015
Protection, improvement and sustainable use of water environment prepared under the Water Framework
Directive
Aire & Calder section refers to the work of the Aire Action Leeds partnership, householder awareness raising by
Yorkshire Water and bankside and river habitat work at Armley Mills.
Conservation Area Appraisals
There are 79 Conservation Areas in Leeds. 53 have appraisals and management plans which provide a
description of the special character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

Number of indicators for quality of water bodies
(including rivers, surface and groundwater) –
biological, ecological and chemical status.

Implications for
LDF and SA
Consider effect of
site allocations on
existing public rights
of way and
permissive paths

Effect upon water
quality

Consider potential
effect of relevant site
allocations on the
character and
appearance of
Conservation Areas

50 of 148

Appendix 2
BASELINE INFORMATION

The table below shows how the Baseline data link to the SA Objectives
Ref

Name

Decision Making Criteria

SA1

Employment

• Create more jobs (permanent and temporary)
• Improve physical access to jobs
• Improve skills & access to training

Page 334
SA2

Business
investment /
economic
growth

• Promote economic development:
- Offices, industry & distribution
- Retail & commercial leisure
- Tourism & culture
- Energy sector
- Minerals & waste sectors
- Construction sector (e.g. housebuilding)
• Increase/maintain vibrancy of centres
• Promote improved ICT networks & technological innovation
• Promote growth & diversity of rural economy

Baseline
EcP1
EcP2
EcP3
EcP4
EcP5
EcP6
SP9
EcP7
EcP8

Subject
Employment sectors / total
Banking & Finance
Retail
Tourism
Employment take up
Resources, minerals, quarries
Housebuilding
Earnings relative to England
Jobs permanent / temporary

EcP1
EcP2
EcP3
EcP4
EcP5
EcP6
SP9
EcP7
EcP8
EcP9
EcP10
EcP11

Banking & Finance
Retail
Tourism
Employment sectors / total
Employment take up
Resources, minerals, quarries
Housebuilding
Earnings relative to England
Jobs permanent / temporary
Out of centre TC permissions
ICT Networks
Rural diversification

51 of 148

Ref

SA3

SA4

Decision Making Criteria

Health

• Increase energy efficiency of dwellings and reduce energy
bills & fuel poverty
• Increase quality of housing
• Increase access to employment
• Increase provision of and access to green infrastructure
• Encourage more physical exercise
• Promote safer streets
• Reduce poor air quality affecting residents
• Maintain amenity
• Increase/maintain access to health facilities
• Increase/maintain access to fresh food

Crime

• Reduce crime rates
• Reduce fear of crime
• Promote safer streets

Culture

• Increase/maintain arts facilities (museums, galleries,
theatres)
• Increase/maintain community facilities inc. religious
buildings
• Promote tourism
• Promote sports, entertainment and cultural events
• Support university and further education sectors
• Support creative sector

Page 335

Name

SA5

Baseline
SP2
SP11
SP12
SP14
SP15
EvP1
EvP10
EvP12
EvP16
EvP17
EvP18

Subject
Population diversity
New sheltered dwellings
NDSS dwelling comparison
Crime
Health
Greenspace
Air Quality
Accessibility
Noise complaints
Light pollution
Odour

SP14

Crime

EcP3
SP17

Tourism
Indoor Leisure

52 of 148

Ref

SA6

Page 336

SA7

SA8

Name

Decision Making Criteria

Housing

• Meet housing delivery targets
• Provide appropriate mix of housing types & sizes
- Affordable housing
- Size of dwellings
- Specialist needs (older people / independent living)
• Improve quality/standard of housing

Social
inclusion

Green space,
sports and
recreation

Baseline
SP4
SP5
SP6
SP7
SP8
SP9
SP10
SP11
SP12

SP2
SP7
• Provide services & facilities appropriate for the needs of
BME groups, older people, young people and disabled people SP10
SP11
• Reduce economic & social deprivation
SP12
• Reduce disparities in levels of economic and social
SP13
deprivation
SP14
• Create opportunities for people from different communities
SP15
to have increased contact with each other
SP16
• Increase/maintain accessibility to employment and key
SP20
services & facilities:
EvP12
- Employment locations (define)
- Centres and/or food stores
- Schools
- Health facilities
• Increase/maintain quantity of greenspace & indoor
• Increase/maintain indoor and outdoor sports facilities
• Increase quality of greenspace
• Improve accessibility to greenspace
• Increase/maintain the public rights of way network

SP17
EvP1
EvP2

Subject
Housing stock by type
Housing stock by bedrooms
Tenure mix
Affordability by HMCA/type/new/SH
New housing permissions by
type/HMCA
New housing completions by
type/HMCA
New student flats
New sheltered dwellings
NDSS dwelling comparison
Population diversity
Affordability by HMCA/type/new/SH
New student flats
New sheltered dwellings
NDSS dwelling comparison
Education and Skills
Crime (violence, robbery, burglary,
vehicle)
Health
Deprivation / inequality
Areas of Leeds with Neighbourhood
Plans
Accessibility
Indoor leisure
Greenspace
Footpaths and RoW

53 of 148

Ref

Name

Decision Making Criteria
• Promote brownfield development and minimise greenfield
development
• Promote higher density development
• Minimise loss of Green Belt land
• Minimise loss of high quality agricultural land Prevent
unacceptable risk from land instability

Baseline Subject
SP18
Brownfield/greenfield development
SP19
Housing density
EvP5
Agriculture

SA9

Efficient use of
land

• Protect & enhance existing habitats including long term
management
• Protect & enhance protected & important species
• Protect & enhance designated nature conservation sites
• Increase green infrastructure provision
• Protect sites of geological interest

EvP1
EvP3
EvP4

Greenspace
Geology of Leeds
Biodiversity - protected sites

Climate
SA11 Change
mitigation

• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from transport
- Transport infrastructure
- Accessibility of services & facilities
• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from buildings
• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from energy generation
& distribution

EvP11
EvP12

CO2 emissions, energy
consumption
Accessibility

Climate
SA12 Change
adaption

• Increase green infrastructure provision
• Prepare for likelihood of increased flooding

EvP1
EvP9

Greenspace
Flood risk

EvP9

Flood risk

EvP13

Transport Infrastructure

SA10

Bio /
Geodiversity

Page 337

SA13 Flood risk

• Reduce risk of flooding from rivers
• Reduce risk of surface water flooding

Transport
SA14 network
(infrastructure)

• Increase proportion of journeys by non-car modes
• Ease congestion on road network
• Make environment more attractive for non-car users
• Encourage freight transfer from road to rail/water
• Reduce transport-related accidents

54 of 148

Ref

SA15

Name

Decision Making Criteria

Accessibility to
jobs/facilities

• Appropriate provision of key services and facilities
- Schools
- Health facilities
• Increase/maintain accessibility to employment and key
services & facilities:
- Employment locations (define)
- Centres and/or food stores
- Schools
- Health facilities

SA16 Waste
Page 338

SA17 Air Quality
SA18 Water Quality
SA19

Land/soil
Quality

SA20 Amenity

Baseline Subject
EvP12
Accessibility

• Provide or safeguard facilities for waste management
- storage (at source)
- recycling
- recovery
- processing

EvP19

Waste

• Avoid exposure to air pollution
• Impact of policy/proposal on air quality
• Improve the quality of water bodies (rivers, streams, lakes
and groundwater)

EvP10

Air Quality

EvP7

Water Quality

EvP6

Contaminated land

EvP16

Noise complaints & transport noise
maps
Light pollution
Odour

• Promote remediation of contaminated land
• Reduce/avoid exposure to:
- noise pollution
- light pollution
- odour
• Avoid inappropriate development within HSE Major Hazard
Zones

EvP17
EvP18

55 of 148

Ref

SA21

Page 339

SA22

Name

Decision Making Criteria

Landscape &
Townscape

• Maintain/enhance special landscape areas
• Protect enhance landscape features e.g. trees, hedgerows
ponds, dry stone walls
• Increase quality & quantity of woodland
• Maintain/enhance landscape character of the area
• Provide landscape features in new development
• Ensure development in urban areas is appropriate to its
setting
• Encourage innovative and distinctive urban design

EvP14

Historic Environment

Historic
environment

• Conserve and enhance designated and non-designated
heritage assets:
- Listed buildings
- Conservation areas
- Historic parks & gardens
- Scheduled ancient monuments
- Registered battlefields
- Non-designated heritage assets (local list)
• Reduce no of heritage assets ‘at risk’
• Increase energy and water efficiency of
buildings/development
• Increase energy from renewable/low carbon sources
• Promote low carbon energy distribution such as heat
networks
• Safeguard land designated for minerals use and promote
prior extraction.

EvP11

Energy / resource efficiency

Energy /
SA23 resource
efficiency

Baseline Subject
EvP14
Historic Environment
EvP15
Landscape

56 of 148

Sustainability Appraisal – Baseline
Introduction
The presentation of the baseline data is structured to align with the 23 Sustainability
Objectives following the themes of Economic, Social and Environmental
characteristics.

Economic Profile
Employment Sectors (SA1 – EcP1)
Table 1 below provides the breakdown of occupation groups.

The financial and business services account for 38% of total output. Other key sectors
include retail, leisure and the visitor economy, construction, manufacturing and the
creative and digital industries.
Leeds has one of the most diverse economy of the all the UK’s main employment
centres. In 2016, Leeds saw the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any UK
city and has the highest ratio of public to private sector jobs of all the UK’s Core Cities.
The city has the third largest jobs total by local authority area with 480,000 in
employment and self-employment at the beginning of 2015.

Banking, Finance, Legal and Manufacturing ( EcP2)
Leeds is a powerful economy for Yorkshire and Humber and the North of England with
a number of strong economic sectors. It has the biggest Finance and Business
Services sector outside of London with 122,000 employees in 2013. Leeds has 97
individual banks along with significant back office functions in the City Centre. Leeds
also has an important Legal Services sector with over 400 legal firms and 7,100
employees, the 3rd largest centre outside of London. It is the second largest employer
outside of London for Manufacturing with 29,000 employees; engineering and
printing/publishing are particularly strong elements.

Page 340

57 of 148

Retail & Town & Local Centres (EcP3)
Leeds is the regional shopping centre for Yorkshire and the Humber with an estimated
1.9 million people living within a 30 minute drive of the City Centre and a total shopping
catchment population of nearly 3.2 million people. Key City Centre retail characteristics
include:
• Seven indoor shopping centres
o Merrion Centre,
o Trinity Leeds,
o St John’s Centre,
o The Core,
o Victoria Quarter
o Victoria Gate,
o The Light,
• 1061 shops.
• Kirkgate Market, a Grade 1 listed building dating from 1875 and the largest
covered market in England.
• The Corn Exchange, a Grade 1 listed building now converted for speciality
shopping.
• 10,000 people working in retailing, with another 7,200 in bars and hotels
Cushman & Wakeman assessed the most resilient retail areas outside central London
in 2019 and ranked Leeds 9th out of 250 regional town and city centres, a significant
improvement on the 25th position in the previous year. It was the only northern English
city in the UK to fall in the top 10 centres.
Of course, retail is not just consigned to the City Centre. Across the district Leeds has
60 identified town and local centres, which provide an essential local service provision.
Centres such as Morley, Otley and Wetherby also provide services across a large
hinterland which can go beyond the Leeds boundary. Smaller local centres provide a
more localised function but are still essential for day-to-day services. In the main,
centres throughout Leeds are performing well in challenging retail conditions.
Whilst the majority of Leeds’ retail and service provision is located in-centre, Leeds
does also have a number of out-of-centre facilities such as the White Rose Centre and
Crown Point Retail Park.

Tourism ( EcP4)
Research by Visit England showed that in 2013 Leeds was in the top five destinations
for day visitors in the country as well as being the fifth most visited place by UK
residents. Some 1.5 million trips to Leeds are made annually to Leeds by UK residents.
Some 23 million visitors make day-trips to Leeds.
The city centre is a particular attraction. The leisure and tourism offer within the city
centre includes: restaurants, bars and pubs, cafés, comedy clubs, music venues,
theatres, art galleries and museums, casinos, a cinema, a range of temporary outdoor
events, and fitness and sporting options. The opening of the 12,500-seater First Direct
Arena in 2013 has also helped Leeds attract a variety of entertainment acts that
previously only went to other cities.

Page 341

58 of 148

Table 3 - Top visitor attractions run by Leeds City Council for 2013/14
Venues (Free Entry)
City Art Gallery
City Museum
Kirkstall Abbey
Discovery Centre

Visitors

Venues (Entry Charge)

Visitors

447,654
321,529
188,684
4,209

Abbey House
Armley Mills
Lotherton Hall
Temple Newsam House
Thwaite Mills

86,728
38,608
113,164
32,240
24,670

Leeds also has a high profile medical museum (the Thackary Museum) and the Royal
Armouries which displays weaponry associated with the Tower of London.
Leeds is also a great sporting city being home to Yorkshire County Cricket Club, Leeds
Rhinos and Yorkshire Carnegie at Headingley Carnegie Stadium, as well as Leeds
United at Eland Road. Headingley Carnegie Stadium hosts many international
matches and has recently gained permission to host music concerts. Leeds is a host
city for the Rugby Union World Cup and two matches will be played at Eland Road. In
2013 Leeds played host to two matches of the 2013 Rugby League World Cup.
In 2014 the world’s greatest cycle race, the Tour de France, started in Leeds, as part
of the Grand Départ of the 2014 Tour de France. Across Yorkshire, millions of
spectators lined the route, enjoying the celebrations and displays of sporting
excellence, all part of this world famous race. This was the first time the race has come
to the north of England and the county came together to create a truly memorable
programme of events in the weeks leading up to and during the Grand Depart.
Since 2015 the Tour de Yorkshire has been an annual cycling event for Leeds.
Hotels
Leeds currently has over 270 hotels and other forms of accommodation including
guest houses, B&Bs, hostels, camp sites and bunk barns.
With regard to city centre hotels, over three 3 decades from the mid-1990s the number
of hotels quadrupled from only seven hotels with 850 rooms to 26 hotels with 3995
bedrooms now.
In 2012, Leeds’ rooms yield was still below the Regional UK average but since then
the city experienced a modest increase in occupancy (0.2%). This was also coupled
with a 0.8% increase of AARR to £56.79, resulting in Rooms Yield growing by 1% to
£41.34. This was an indicator that Leeds was beginning to show a recovery of sorts
following the economic downturn.

Page 342

59 of 148

Employment Land & Floorspace Completions (EcP5)
The following table sets out the amount of employment land and floorspace developed
over recent years:
Table 2 – Annual Employment Land and Floorspace Completions (2014-19)

Completed development (Leeds)
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
Total
Average

Office
Floorspace
Area (ha.) (sq m)
19,355
2.53
29,188
2.89
48,897
1.47
44,113
1.29
13,028
2.66
10.84
154,581
2.17
30,916

General Employment
Area (ha.)
2.02
19.94
17.08
21.24
14.03
74.31
14.86

Floorspace
(sq m)
6,395
64,428
45,935
46,720
43,249
206,907
41,381

Valuation Office (VOA) data for November 2014 indicates that the Leeds has
1,833,246sqm of office space and 4,937,755sqm of general employment floorspace
(B1c 855,681sqm, B2 1,562,591sqm and B8 2,519,482sqm). This is space that is in
existing use for these purposes. A health warning is that there are many choices for
the way VOA data is ascribed to Use Class Order categories. Different choices may
yield different totals.
Natural Resources, Minerals and Quarries (EcP6)
Building stone, crushed rock aggregate, sand and gravel, brisk clay and coal have
traditionally been produced in Leeds. There are currently no coal working sites except
where coal is removed from development sites. Sand and gravel working ceased in
2013 with no indication of whether there will be new sites.
The other minerals are worked at 8 sites. One brickworks is in production with another
mothballed.
Leeds is a significant producer of masonry, both in limestone (supplied to York
Minster) and quality walling, paving and cladding products from a range of sandstone
quarries. At all locations there are added value facilities such as saw frames to improve
the value of the commodity.
None of the strata in Leeds make a suitable crushed rock aggregate, other than a soft
building sand. Consequently all aggregate for road building and structural concrete
has to be imported from regional neighbours and even further afield. Leeds is
particularly dependant on extraction in North Yorkshire, the Yorkshire Dales National
Park and in Derbyshire. It is likely in the medium to long term that marine sand and
gravel aggregate will be imported via the Humber.
A policy in the Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan encourages the removal of coal
from development sites and there are signs this will prove effective in avoiding the
sterilisation of some shallow coal. However as a climate unfriendly fossil fuel the

Page 343

60 of 148

medium term prospect is that coal extraction will cease except where required to
secure ground stabilisation.
Production
Based on returns provided in 2013 to the Minerals Team at Leeds City Council, Table
5 below show the estimated amount of production in Leeds:
Material Type
Recycled aggregate
Crushed rock sandstone
Sand and gravel

Tonnes
600,000
256,003
44,638

Consumption
Recycled aggregate
There is no means for measuring the consumption of recycled aggregate, however it
is likely to be comparable to the amount of production (approximate 600,000 tonnes).
This is the amount taken off demolition sites for onward sale. A great deal of crushed
material is however retained on many sites for use in redevelopment. No figures are
available for this but it is likely to be a substantial tonnage.
Crushed rock
The figures available are for West Yorkshire, with an import total of around 1.5 million
tonnes in 2009 of which Leeds would have a pro rata per capita share (34%, 510,000
tonnes).
Sand and gravel
The figures available are for West Yorkshire with an import total of 0.81 million tonnes
in 2009 of which Leeds would have a pro rata share (34%, 275,000 tonnes).
Earnings (EcP7)
The figures from the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ONS) show that earnings
for residents of Leeds are lower than the national average for most categories. Female
part-time earnings and all part time earnings are slightly higher for Leeds residents.
Average Annual Earnings 2017 (ONS)
Category
Leeds
All
28,315
Male
33,154
Female
22,836
Full Time
33,137
Part Time
12,577
Male FT
36,072
Male PT
11,190
Female FT
28,502
Female PT
13,078

Page 344

England
29,567
36,511
22,413
36,107
12,144
39,880
13,131
30,193
11,841

61 of 148

Employment (FT/PT) (EcP8)
In 2018, there were a total of 466,000 employees, of which 325,000 were full-time and
141,000 were part-time (UK Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES).
Out-of-centre Town Centre Use Permissions (EcP9)
New A1 Food developments in 2015/16 which consisted of supermarkets and food
stores were all located outside town centres. A2 (financial & professional)
developments were all located within a designated town centre. All other
developments were split between the various town and local centre locations.
Percentage of A1-A5, B1a , C1 and D1-D2 development within and on the edge of
town and local centres
In
0%
33%
100%
55%
80%
25%
25%
0%
22%
37.5%

A1 Food
A1 General
A2
A3
A4
A5
B1a
C1
D1
D2

Edge
0%
33%
0%
12%
20%
50%
25%
0%
34%
25%

Out
100%
33%
0%
33%
0%
25%
50%
0%
44%
37.5%

ICT Networks (EcP10)
Leeds City Region is promoting the spread of superfast broadband across the area.
An open market review survey of providers (source Regeneris) showed that almost all
of Leeds is covered by superfast broadband.
Authority

2014 Position

2016 Position

Change +/-

Leeds

93%

97%

4%

Page 345

62 of 148

Social Profile
Total Population (SP1)
The Government published the 2019 Index of Multiple Deprivation on 26th September
2019. This shows the total resident population for Leeds in 2018 was 789,194 (Source
ONS) of which male estimate is 387,143 (49.1%), female 402,051 (50.9%).
Population Diversity (SP2)
Age
Age group breakdowns for 2018 are given below. Leeds has a diverse age range,
with persons aged 20-24 making up the most populated age group, with 10% of the
overall population, which is higher than national and regional totals. Those in older
age groups are below national and regional totals.

Ethnicity
The following table sourced from the 2011 Census sets out the ethnic diversity of
Leeds. The BME population tends to be concentrated in the inner areas of Leeds.
White

British
Irish
White Gypsy or Irish
Traveller
Other White

Page 346

639,487
609,714
7,031

85.1
81.1
0.9

687

0.1

22,055

2.9
63 of 148

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic
Groups

Asian or Asian British

Black /African /
Caribbean / Black British
Arab or other ethnic
group

Arab

19,632
8,813
2,493
4,906
3,420
58,243
16,130
22,492
4,432
5,933
9,256
25,893
14,894
6,728
4,271
8,230
3,791

2.6
1.2
0.3
0.7
0.5
7.8
2.1
3.0
0.6
0.8
1.2
3.4
2.0
0.9
0.6
1.1
0.5

Other ethnic group

4,439

0.6

Black Caribbean and White
Black African and White
Asian and White
Other Mixed
Indian
Pakistani
Bangladeshi
Chinese
Other Asian
African
Caribbean
Other Black

Students
The 2011 Census lists the following student numbers resident in Leeds:
Census 2011
Economically Active Full-time Students
Economically Inactive Students (including full-time students)

Number
29,810
46,047

Rate
5.3
8.2

Population Change (SP3)
Changes to measuring the Leeds population
Robust population estimation is a difficult task and Leeds is one of the local authorities
where revisions to the population count has been subject of most recent change which
makes long term estimations difficult.
The 2011 Census population total was around 50,000 people lower than that
suggested by the trajectory of growth from the previous Mid-Year Estimates. The
Leeds population was re-based and it was considered by consultants employed by the
Council that errors in the MYEs were around estimates of international migration as
opposed to internal migration or natural change. The re-based figures were used as
part of the assessment of objective housing need for the Core Strategy which has
since been adopted.
The main components of change for the Leeds population:
•
•

As a large and diverse urban community Leeds will continue to be affected by
growth from international migration, however, the exact nature and scale of this
influence remains highly uncertain.
With a rise in the number of students in higher education there has been a
substantial increase in the estimate of the population living in communal
establishments from 10,290 in 2001 to over 20,000 in 2011.
Page 347

64 of 148

•
•
•

There has been a steady increase in the number of recorded births between
2001 and 2011 from just under 8,000 in 2001 to over 10,000 in 2011
In contrast the recorded number of deaths has decreased from just over 7,000
in 2001 to just over 6,500 in 2011
This means that natural change will remain a key driver of growth in the future

Internal Migration
The trend in movement to and from Leeds since 2001/02 suggests a relatively steady
growth in the in-migration flow (average 33,155 per year over the time-period)
countered by an increasing out-migration flow (average 33,245 per year) resulting in
a small annual average net outflow (average -90). The level of in-migration has
reduced since 2009, resulting in a more substantial net out-flow from Leeds.
The internal migration totals hide a complex mix of inflows and outflows from and to a
large number of localities, across different age-groups. However, within this complexity
there are some dominant trends as follows:
• The dominant feature of migration is the exchange between Leeds and its
immediate neighbours, particularly Bradford and Wakefield.
• Whilst inflows and outflows are apparent with the surrounding districts, the
overall balance has been a net loss from Leeds, highest for the loss to
Wakefield (average -610 per year).
• In contrast, the exchange with Kingston upon Hull and Sheffield has resulted in
an average net gain to Leeds (131 and 121 respectively per year).
• The net inflow of migrants has been negative across all age-groups with the
exception of the 15-19 age-range, where the movement of students to higher
education results in a large net inflow of migrants.
International Migration
As a major urban locality, Leeds had well-established migrant streams coming to the
city prior to EU expansion in 2004. After 2004, migrants from the ‘Accession’ countries
provided a significant boost to the number of foreign nationals registering to work in
the city, reducing from a peak in 2007, to approximately 2,460 in calendar year 2011.
In total, there were 7,650 registrations to foreign nationals in 2011, with important
contributions from the ‘New Commonwealth’ countries and a range of different
nationalities under the ‘Other’ category.
Nationally international migration is increasing as the country recovers from recession.
It is not currently known the extent to which these national trends will manifest
themselves in Leeds, but the Core Strategy objective assessment was done on the
basis of a high end growth scenario which should prove flexible in the face of increased
international migration.
Housing Stock by Type (SP4)
According to the 2011 census Leeds had a total of 320,596 households occupying
332,293 dwellings (plus 381 caravans). For comparison England had 22,063,368
households occupying 23,044,097 dwellings (plus 100,228 caravans). The dwellings
are split into the following types:

Page 348

65 of 148

Housetype
Whole house or bungalow
Detached
Semi-detached
Terraced (including end terrace)
Flat, maisonette or apartment
Purpose built block of flats or tenement
Part of a converted or shared house (inc bedsits)
In commercial building
Caravan, mobile or temporary structure

Source: Census Table KS401

Leeds
Number
259,844
48,361
122,757
88,726
72,449
59,519
10,175
2,755
381

%
78
15
37
27
22
18
3
1
0

England
Number
17,847,916
5,128,552
7,076,395
5,642,969
5,196,181
3,854,451
984,284
257,218
100,228

%
78
22
31
25
23
17
4
1
0

Housing Stock by Bedrooms (SP5)
Based on household occupancy, the size of Leeds’ dwellings by numbers of
bedrooms is as follows:
Dwellings by bedrooms
0 Bedrooms
1 Bedroom
2 Bedrooms
3 Bedrooms
4 Bedrooms
5 or More Bedrooms

Source: Census Table KS411

Leeds
Number
736
39,752
97,037
125,874
42,990
14,207

%
0
12
30
39
13
4

England
Number
54,938
2,593,893
6,145,083
9,088,213
3,166,531
1,014,710

%
0
12
28
41
14
5

Tenure Mix (SP6)
Based on household occupancy, the tenure of Leeds’ dwellings is as follows:
Tenure
Owner occupied
Own outright
Owns with a mortgage or loan
Shared ownership
Rented
Social - Council (local authority)
Social - Housing Association
Private - landlord or letting agency
Private - Other Rented
Living rent free

Source: Census Table KS402

Leeds
Number
187,909
83,385
103,082
1,442
127,833
54,122
16,255
53,599
3,857
4,854

%
59
26
32
0
40
17
5
17
1
2

England
Number
14,148,784
6,745,584
7,229,440
173,760
7,619,474
2,079,778
1,823,772
3,401,675
314,249
295,110

%
64%
31%
33%
1%
35%
9%
8%
15%
1%
1%

Affordability by HMCA/Type/New/SH (SP7)
The following table sets out average sale prices for sale of existing houses (ie
excluding new-build) in Leeds broken down by geographic area (Housing Market
Characteristic Area) and type of dwelling.

Page 349

66 of 148

£240,366

£273,793
£258,150
£418,792
£467,513
£476,949
£285,890
£291,634
£262,041
£287,416
£367,744

£180,737
£166,350
£277,674
£268,713
£300,285
£189,464
£177,049
£157,018
£174,701
£209,097

£142,892
£125,429
£223,232
£251,650
£227,820
£145,232
£139,208
£123,290
£146,482
£155,721

£143,660
£167,768
£165,042
£135,456
£147,685
£202,557
£192,560
£133,200
£100,468
£108,285
£107,601
£144,363

Source: Land Registry Sales 2019 – postcode sectors aligned to HMCAs

£296,598
£167,768
£179,077
£145,973
£265,322
£339,284
£329,894
£192,640
£185,032
£155,797
£168,610
£208,311

Total
Sales

£263,878

Overall
average

£485,580

Flat/mais

Terraced

Semidetached

Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
Leeds

Detached

HMCA OLD
DWELLING
SALES (£)

398
151
667
1133
1611
607
288
344
581
1333
1419
8532

£172,954
£205,623
£329,365
£321,058
£299,995
£252,054
£246,062
£181,285
£247,866
£224,538

£251,200
£352,172
£323,195
£237,853
£266,842
£194,359
£267,718
£264,545

£187,491
£146,523
£198,701

Source: Land Registry Sales 2019 – postcode sectors aligned to HMCAs

£454,122
£239,062
£211,618
£222,853
£325,811
£422,309
£534,343
£278,956
£273,550
£213,789
£254,138
£278,299

Total
Sales

£330,693
£305,790
£437,790
£508,940
£544,995
£332,174
£295,511
£276,588
£366,585
£386,208

£356,466
£239,062
£163,029
£185,635
£230,318
£209,212

Overall
average

£484,950

Flat/mais

£515,800

Terraced

Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
Leeds

Semidetached

HMCA NEW
DWELLING
SALES (£)

Detached

The following table sets out average sale prices for sale of new houses in Leeds
broken down by geographic area (Housing Market Characteristic Area) and type of
dwelling.

16
8
79
227
106
98
23
38
87
119
67
868

Terraced

Flat/mais

Overall
average

Total
Sales

Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds

Semidetached

HMCA
ALL DWELLING
SALES (£)

Detached

The following table sets out average sale prices for sale of both existing and new
houses in Leeds broken down by geographic area (Housing Market Characteristic
Area) and type of dwelling.

£488,145

£265,342

£240,366

£286,923
£279,448
£421,114

£180,055
£173,905
£279,060

£142,892
£133,231
£227,179

£166,060
£171,355
£164,649
£147,322
£158,107

£302,686
£171,355
£182,523
£158,805
£269,057

414
159
746
1360
1717

Page 350

67 of 148

Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
Leeds Total

£475,417
£489,321
£293,697
£292,760
£264,354
£293,809
£371,071

£272,573
£300,281
£195,760
£184,451
£159,522
£177,224
£210,299

£261,679
£227,820
£150,635
£145,077
£125,516
£150,247
£160,031

Source: Land Registry Sales 2019 – postcode sectors aligned to HMCAs

£203,335
£192,560
£133,200
£100,468
£111,941
£112,092
£151,576

£350,825
£345,014
£201,226
£196,561
£160,549
£172,466
£214,773

705
311
382
668
1452
1486
9400

New Housing Permissions by Type/HMCA (SP8)
Leeds currently has an outstanding stock of over 29,000 permitted dwellings on sites
with planning approval and around 22,000 units on allocated sites that are yet to obtain
planning permission. More planning permissions have been granted for housing over
the past five years than at any time including a record breaking level in 2018/19 of
nearly 10,000 units in a single year. The number of homes approved are well above
the City’s housing requirement figures.
The Council has consistently made a clear priority to maximise the use of brownfield
land in meeting the need for new homes across the district and we are actively
engaged with incentivising the bringing back into use of brownfield sites. 75% of all
planning approvals in the last 5 years have been on brownfield sites and completions
remain overwhelmingly on previously developed land, which is reflective of the
Council’s overall strategy for sustainable growth focused in the city centre and main
urban area.
The level of construction activity across the district is strong with over 100 sites
currently operating with around 5,200 individual plots actively under construction. The
current pipeline of sites in the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan and Site Allocations
Plans is 50,000 homes on just over 650 sites with nearly 29,000 of these benefitting
from planning permission. Almost 20,000 homes can be accommodated on sites in
the city centre and inner area alone predominately on previously developed land.

Page 351

68 of 148

Figure 1: Stocks of planning permissions and completions 2000 to 2020
35,000

30,000

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

0

2000

5,000

Housing on Greenfield and Brownfield Land (SP18)
The Council has granted more planning permissions for housing over the past five years than
at any time. The number of homes approved are well above the City’s housing requirement
figures. In 2018/19, 9,603 new homes were approved through planning permissions, which is
a record level for the city since monitoring began in the early 1970s. Approvals have been
granted for 46,960 new homes since 2012, well in excess of the target for the same period.
Of these, over 75% are on previously developed land.

Year
2012-13
2013-14
2014-15
2015-16
2016-17
2017-18
2018-19
2019-20
Total

Brownfield
1,672
4,057
6,052
3,395
3,615
5,377
8,300
2,818
35,286

Greenfield
830
991
556
1,633
3,177
2,283
1,303
901
11,674

Page 352

Total
2,502
5,048
6,608
5,028
6,792
7,660
9,603
3,719
46,960

% Brownfield
67%
80%
92%
68%
53%
70%
86%
76%
75%

69 of 148

New Housing Completions by Type/HMCA (SP9)
In total, 23,064 new homes have been delivered since 1 April 2012.

Year

Core
Strategy
Policy
SP6

2012/13

Type
New and
net
converted
units

Empty
homes

Older
persons
housing
(C2)

3,660

1,650

149

2013/14

3,660

2,235

2014/15

3,660

2015/16

Demolition

Total

29

27

1,801

880

86

6

3,195

2,076

215

32

97

2,226

3,660

2,516

755

67

42

3,296

2016/17

3,660

2,878

437

45

54

3,306

2017/18

3,247

2,289

-18

68

6

2,333

2018/19

3,247

3,430

0

94

3

3,521

2019/20

3,247

3,333

0

58

5

3,386

Total

28,041

20,407

2,418

479

240

23,064

In 2019/20, the gross building of completed dwellings was 938 units in Q4. A strong
Q4 was largely supported by the completion of the Dandara scheme at Leodis Square,
representing the start of the large apartment schemes under construction in the city
centre now completing, which put the end of year total for 2019/20 at 3,333.
Period
Q1 1 April to 30 June 2019
Q2 1 July to 30 September 2019
Q3 1 October to 31 December 2019
Q4 1 January to 31 March 2020
Total new and converted units

Brownfield
664
404
714
802
2,584

Greenfield
265
136
212
136
749

Total
929
540
926
938
3,333

As 5 homes were demolished in the process of new development the net total is 3,328
additional homes. The completed care home schemes at Copperfields in Cross Green
(30 beds) and Musgrave Court in Pudsey (86 beds) see an additional 58 units added
to the new build and converted homes figure at a ratio of 2 bedrooms to 1 unit in
accordance with Census data on the release of housing to the market. Accordingly,
final net performance in 2019/20 is 3,386 units – exceeding the Core Strategy target
for a consecutive year by 139.

Page 353

70 of 148

Type
Core
Older
Strategy New and
net
persons
Policy
converted housing
SP6
units
(C2)

Year

2019/20

3,247

3,333

Demolitions

Total

Under/over
delivery

5

3,386

139

58

Construction across 98 separate sites contributed to overall delivery throughout the
year. As at 1 April 2020 there are 108 sites currently operating with 5,188 individual
plots actively under construction. This is a healthy level of activity capable of
contributing to delivery in 2020/21 depending on market conditions. Seven sites have
over 100 units under construction.
The distribution of completed dwellings by Housing Market Characteristic Area HMCA
is as follows:
5,000
4,500
4,000
3,500
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000

Brown

HMCA

Aireborough

City Centre

Outer West

Outer South West

Outer South East

Outer South

Outer North West

Outer North East

North Leeds

Inner Area

East Leeds

City Centre

0

Aireborough

500

Green

Year
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
Page 354

Brown
162
152
155
69
129
89
62
818
298
171
199

Green
0
5
1
0
1
0
0
7
0
0
2

Total
162
157
156
69
130
89
62
825
298
171
201
71 of 148

HMCA

East Leeds

Inner Area

North Leeds

Outer North East

Outer North West

Outer South

Year
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
Page 355

Brown
194
411
289
272
1,834
69
140
155
86
42
14
221
727
326
375
324
692
702
588
1,113
4,120
126
210
207
407
262
264
458
1,934
35
39
40
44
125
71
83
437
5
35
104
40
111
84
61
440
19
11
12

Green
0
0
5
0
7
1
9
44
233
185
34
1
507
96
141
14
36
7
28
67
389
7
2
10
6
31
45
62
163
9
70
73
69
30
46
185
482
0
26
23
0
6
2
4
61
1
3
4

Total
194
411
294
272
1,841
70
149
199
319
227
48
222
1,234
422
516
338
728
709
616
1,180
4,509
133
212
217
413
293
309
520
2,097
44
109
113
113
155
117
268
919
5
61
127
40
117
86
65
501
20
14
16
72 of 148

HMCA

Year
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
TOTAL
ALL HMCA

Outer South East

Outer South West

Outer West

Brown
23
21
10
5
101
63
53
47
54
122
71
74
484
129
185
183
129
262
125
67
1,080
204
298
223
217
211
122
294
1,569
13,544

Green
46
125
104
56
339
2
140
85
27
8
24
65
351
74
166
170
117
58
224
199
1,008
24
4
1
27
29
50
81
216
3,530

Total
69
146
114
61
440
65
193
132
81
130
95
139
835
203
351
353
246
320
349
266
2,088
228
302
224
244
240
172
375
1,785
17,074

As part of the continuous implementation and briefing sessions with relevant officers
regarding Policy H4 an implementation note is being updated with up-to-date
evidence. Monitoring reveals continued prominence of 1 and 2 bed flats in and around
the city centre. The proportion of all new housing per room similar to the previous year
with a small decrease in 3 beds balanced by the increase in 4+ beds (which includes
student clusters)
Proportion of all new housing per room from 2012 to 2020
Year
2012/13
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16

1
22%
21%
21%
26%

Number of bedrooms
2
3
27%
25%
22%
28%
15%
37%
29%
28%
Page 356

4+
27%
29%
28%
17%
73 of 148

2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
Policy H4 target

29%
29%
34%
34%
10%

25%
25%
28%
29%
50%

30%
22%
21%
14%
30%

16%
24%
18%
23%
10%

2020/21 Housing approvals per room
Period
April to June 2020
Policy H4 target
Range

Number of bedrooms approved
1
2
3
4+
62%
22%
12%
5%
10%
50%
30%
10%
0% - 50% 30% - 80% 20% - 70%
0% - 50%

New Student Flats (SP10)
There has been a notable uplift in the number of schemes and the amount of flats
proposed in recent years. In 2018 alone, 7 schemes were approved which will
contribute to a total of 1,610 new student flats in the city centre. This includes the
development of two landmark schemes in the Arena Quarter both of which are
currently under construction.
In total, planning applications have been approved on 34 sites since 2012 with total of
3,508 new studio apartments and cluster flats:Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Total

Schemes
7
2
5
6
2
4
7
1
34

Units
298
151
353
238
110
612
1,610
136
3,508

New Sheltered Dwellings (SP11)
Development of accommodation for elderly people divides between C2 schemes with
care which comprise of bedspaces (such as residential care homes and nursing
homes) and homes designed for elderly people which comprise of single C3 dwellings
(such as sheltered housing). Over the last 10 years Leeds has approved a large
amount of accommodation for elderly people. This includes 17 schemes providing
536 dwellings and 51 schemes providing accommodation with care including over
1099 bedspaces 1.
Four schemes provided both C2 and C3 accommodation. The number of bedspaces will be considerably
higher because the planning application interrogation system only includes the number of bedspaces in some of
the records.

1

Page 357

74 of 148

Education, Skills and Training (SP13)
Leeds has 225 primary schools (including 4 free school), 42 secondary schools (2 free
schools), and a number of different types of specialist provision including five
maintained Specialist Inclusive Learning Centres (SILCs), specialist academies and
specialist free schools.
The main headline measure at key stage 4 is Progress 8. This compares what pupils
achieved in 8 subjects to those with similar starting points nationally. In Leeds, pupils
made progress which was above national and placed Leeds 52nd out of 150 local
authorities for this measure. Leeds has been above or in line with national for the last
three years for this measure. In terms of raw attainment, pupils in Leeds scored less
well overall at the end of key stage 4 than pupils did nationally in 8 subjects. The
percentage of pupils gaining a grade 5 (the equivalent of a B/C grade) in maths and
English in Leeds was 41.2% compared to 43% nationally. However, the gap to national
is reducing.
At key stage 5 the average grade at A level in Leeds was a C grade, compared to a
C+ nationally. For applied general (vocational) qualifications the average grade in
Leeds was a merit compared to a merit+ nationally. However, in Tech levels, pupils in
Leeds outperform pupils nationally, gaining on average a distinction – compared to a
merit +.
Post-16 learning
•

•

There is a wide range of options for post 16 learners in Leeds, including learning
at school, learning at college and work- based learning
Leeds City College is one of the largest Further Education institutions in the
country and operates out of three main campuses. It has 1,267 members of
staff, over 20,000 students and is one of the biggest providers of
apprenticeships nationally.

University of Leeds
• Ranked among the world’s top 100 universities
• It is the city's third largest employer and contributes some £1.3b to the UK
economy
• Has more than 8,700 staff and over 38,000 students from 170 countries
• Top 10 in the UK for research and impact power
Leeds Beckett University
• Has over 28,000 students
• Offers over 150 undergraduate courses
• For those graduating in 2016-17, 93.6% were in employment or further study 6
months after graduating.
•
Leeds Trinity University
• Independent higher education institution with just over 3,500 students
• 95% of graduates are in work or further studies 6 months after graduating
(DLHE 2017)

Page 358

75 of 148

Crime (SP14)
The total number of crime cases during the most recent 12 month period (Nov 2018 –
Oct 2019 was 103,701 (source: data.police.uk). Leeds has the 3rd highest crime rate
out of 8 core cities as shown below:

Crime rates by type are summarised below:

Health (SP15)
Nationally, life expectancy from birth for men is 79.2 years and women 83 years. Life
expectancy at birth in Leeds is 78 years for men and 82.1 years for women, below the
national average. At an hmca level, life expectancy can vary significantly across Leeds
with the most deprived areas of Leeds having a life expectancy 11 year lower for men
and 8.2 years lower for women than the least deprived.
48% of the population in Leeds is in ‘very good’ health, 34% is in ‘good’ health and
13% in ‘fair’ health. 4% were in ‘bad’ health and 1% ‘very bad’ (2011 Census). At the

Page 359

76 of 148

time of the 2011 Census 25% of the households in Leeds were reporting to be living
with a ‘limiting long-term illness’.
Coronary Heart Disease is a common cause of death at 96 per 100,000 population
and is above the national average of 81.1 per 100,000 populations (2010-2012).
Smoking related deaths is also higher than the national average at 369 per 100,000
compared to the national average of 292 per 100,000 (2010-2012). This ties in with
smoking prevalence which is above the national average at 23.6 per 100,000
compared to 16.5 per 100,000 (2012).
On a positive note, the percentage of physically active adults is higher than the national
average with 61.3% of adults achieving at least 150 minutes of physical activity a week
compared to the national rate of 56%. And across Leeds the number of obese adults
is lower than the national average at 19.5% compared to 23% nationally (Active
People Survey 2012).
The level of adult obesity is generally below the national rate at 19.5% compared with
23% nationally, however there are significant variations to this at a local level.
The levels of childhood obesity in year 6 average out across Leeds at 19.7% compared
to 18.9% nationally, however there are significant variations to this at a local level.
Maps 1-3 below show the life expectancy, adult and child obesity rates across the
Leeds district.

Page 360

77 of 148

Page 361

78 of 148

Page 362

79 of 148

Deprivation and Inequality (SP16)

Page 363

80 of 148

Super Output Areas (SOAs) are used as the basis for assessing social deprivation.
The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 contains seven “Domains of Deprivation” each
comprising a number of different indicators (38 in total). The seven domains are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Income deprivation
Employment deprivation
Health deprivation and disability
Education, Skills and Training deprivation
Barriers to Housing and Services
Living Environment Deprivation
Crime

In addition, there are two supplementary indices that are derived from the Income
Deprivation data and which measure Income Deprivation Affecting Children and
Income Deprivation Affecting Older People.
Out of 476 Super Output Areas (SOAs) in Leeds, the 2010 Index of Multiple
Deprivation shows that there are 92 which fall into the most deprived 10% in the
country which equates to over 150,000 people. In 2007, Leeds had 22 SOAs that
were ranked in the most deprived 3% nationally, this number rose to 25 in 2010.
Overall, 154 improved their ranking but 322 fell between 2007 and 2010.
Gipton and Harehills is the only ward with all of its SOAs ranked in the most deprived
20% nationally. Nine wards have 50% or more of their SOAs ranked in the most
deprived 20% The most deprived SOA in the city is ranked 114 on the national scale
(Spencer Place, Bankside Street, Shepherds Lane). The least deprived SOA is ranked
32, 105 nationally (Cookridge, Moseley Woods).
Map 4 below shows rates of multiple deprivation in 2010.

Page 364

81 of 148

Indoor Leisure (SP17)

Page 365

82 of 148

Information from the Inter Departmental Business Register shows that in 2016 there
were 1100 enterprises active in the indoor leisure sector. Data from the Business
Register and Employment Survey suggests that 17,805 people were employed in the
sector in Leeds in 2015.
Previously Developed Land (SP18)
The Council has granted more planning permissions for housing over the past five
years than at any time. The number of homes approved are well above the City’s
housing requirement figures. In 2018/19, 9,603 new homes were approved through
planning permissions, which is a record level for the city. Of these, over 75% are on
previously developed land. Approvals have been granted for over 43,241 new homes
since 2012, well in excess of the target for the same period.
Year

Brownfield

Greenfield

Total

% Brownfield

2012-13

1,672

830

2,502

67%

2013-14

4,057

991

5,048

80%

2014-15

6,052

556

6,608

92%

2015-16

3,395

1,633

5,028

68%

2016-17

3,615

3,177

6,792

53%

2017-18

5,377

2,283

7,660

70%

2018-19

8,300

1,303

9,603

86%

Total

32,468

10,773

43,241

75%

Completions remain overwhelmingly on previously developed land which is reflective
of the Council’s overall strategy for sustainable growth focused in the city centre and
main urban area. The strategy gains support from the NPPF and recognises that a
range of tools and solutions are necessary to stimulate delivery on brownfield sites. In
the last 7 years, over 80% of all new homes have been built on brownfield sites.
12000
10000
Greenfield
permissions

8000
6000

Brownfield
permissions

4000

Net
completions

2000
0

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

Year

Brownfield

Greenfield

Completed

% Delivery

Completed

% Delivery

2012-13

1,590

88%

211

12%

2013-14

2,629

82%

566

18%

Page 366

83 of 148

2014-15

1,799

81%

427

19%

2015-16

2,734

83%

562

17%

2016-17

2,827

86%

479

14%

2017-18

1,771

76%

562

24%

2018-19

2,832

80%

689

20%

Housing Density Achievement (SP19)
The table below sets out the achievement of residential development in Leeds against
the minimum densities expected in Policy H3 of the Core Strategy. It should be noted
that the policy allows for lower densities where there are overriding townscape
reasons, and that the Core Strategy was adopted in November 2014 when the policy
became active. Figures are based on net densities, excluding roads etc.
Density against Core Strategy Policy H3
Year

Meets H3 density guidance

Below Policy H3 density guidance

Schemes

Units

Schemes

Units

2012/13

60

2,394

39

762

2013/14

56

3,395

39

1,545

2014/15

81

5,171

45

1,249

2015/16

60

2,823

51

2,058

2016/17

70

3,781

40

2,800

Total

327

17,564

214

8,414

Housing Densities
Period
2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18
Average
Policy H3 minimum
(dwellings/hectare)
Indicator

City Centre

Main Urban
Area

Major
Settlements

Rural

292.9
354.3
318.3
393.4
358.0
343.4

64.8
87.2
79.8
90.5
94.0
83.3

41.9
109.4
59.6
56.9
78.2
69.2

22.9
35.0
17.5
45.6
20.2
28.2

65

40

35

30

Areas of Leeds with Neighourhood Plans (SP20)
Following the introduction of the Localism Act (2011), communities now have a greater
opportunity to influence the future of the places where they live and work, including
the right to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan. Within Leeds there has been considerable
interest in neighbourhood planning. As at January 2020 there are 13 made
Neighbourhood Plans and a further 24 Neighbourhood Plans in stages of preparation.
Map 5 below illustrates the number of neighbourhood planning designations and
status of plan preparation in Leeds.
Page 367

84 of 148

Page 368

85 of 148

Environmental Profile
Greenspace (EvP1)
Greenspace or sites used for open space, sport and recreation provide a valuable
community asset and are integral to the quality (and liveability) of places and the urban
environment, helping to ensure people can lead healthy lives. Core Strategy Policy G3
sets quantity, quality and accessibility standards for various different types of open
space.
Across Leeds there are 6 city parks, which are complemented by various
neighbourhood parks, large areas of natural green space, city wide sports provision
and smaller areas of local green space publicly available for community enjoyment.
The following table which is taken from the Greenspace Background paper of the Site
Allocations Plan and shows the amount of current greenspace available in each ward:

Ward Name
Adel and
Wharfedale
Alwoodley
Ardsley and
Robin Hood
Armley
Beeston and
Holbeck
Bramley and
Stanningley
Burmantofts
and Richmond
Hill
Calverley and
Farsley
Chapel
Allerton
City and
Hunslet
Cross Gates
and Whinmoor
Farnley and
Wortley
Garforth and
Swillington
Gipton and
Harehills
Guiseley and
Rawdon
Harewood
Headingley
Horsforth
Hyde Park and
Woodhouse

Parks and
Gardens
ha

Amenity
ha

Allotments
ha

Natural
ha

Outdoor
sport
ha

Childrens
play
count

27.49
10.41

8.55
22.12

0.38
0.23

85.99
95.08

33.902
19.08

5
4

23.69
18.33

11.58
21.76

9.90
3.75

111.95
15.09

15.010
10.4

10
5

51.74

15.46

8.75

0.00

16.41

12

73.60

7.16

1.55

68.42

25.76

7

28.39

17.43

2.70

8.32

22.002

18

18.83

5.63

3.14

128.58

26.15

6

19.75

19.31

5.79

21.24

19.46

11.00

14.27

12.79

2.72

2.03

17.420

14

22.52

22.52

0.00

17.09

22.58

10

36.01

25.24

3.88

69.92

23.310

8

10.34

7.91

7.91

464.23

22.84

8

13.30

5.15

6.77

5.27

20.270

14

41.43
57.98
2.02
21.54

22.08
7.69
1.92
5.42

3.84
2.91
4.60
3.60

32.70
38.98
12.00
81.85

22.93
28.93
2.57
37.51

7
8
0
4

28.77

16.62

2.32

6.71

4.46

19

Page 369

86 of 148

Killingbeck and
Seacroft
Kippax and
Methley
Kirkstall
Middleton Park
Moortown
Morley North
Morley South
Otley and
Yeadon
Pudsey
Rothwell
Roundhay
Temple
Newsam
Weetwood
Wetherby

7.60

65.54

0.86

46.41

17.41

2

14.30
59.84
209.90
33.13
23.62
24.54

14.74
11.19
22.26
29.99
10.52
16.87

15.47
14.70
1.60
1.49
2.98
4.15

288.36
19.55
47.91
28.12
39.17
52.32

22.48
24.14
25.7
10
18.600
17.4

16
7
8
4
8
10

28.13
24.74
43.86
150.27

15.10
6.19
2.26
4.48

7.73
1.86
6.12
3.11

201.47
43.98
209.84
150.27

21.47
21.83
23.4
21.260

6
6
13
4

373.69
23.53
14.93

17.26
11.19
24.19

1.65
2.18
3.54

25.69
70.97
23.07

32.86
20.453
29.41

6
4
11

Strategic Green Infrastructure
Leeds has an extensive Green Infrastructure network that is a characteristic feature of
the district. These corridors are important for wildlife, local distinctiveness and
character. They also enable communities to access green space for sport, recreation
and exercise close to where they live, including providing easy access to the
countryside. There are important opportunities to enhance and extend Green
Infrastructure; these are shown on map 6 below.

Page 370

87 of 148

Page 371

88 of 148

Footpaths & Public Rights of Way (EvP2)
The public rights of way network in Leeds is both extensive and varied and includes a
number of key recreational routes. Key aspects to highlight include the Rights of Way
Improvement Plan for Leeds 2009 to 2017:
• Total length of path network of 799 km broken down to specific categories of
public rights of way. In addition, over and above this provision are permissive
paths which also make an important contribution and enhance overall public
access;
• Key strategic and recreational routes, such as the Dales Way Link, Ebor Way,
Leeds Country Way, Trans Pennine Trail and Aire Valley Towpath;
• Local recreational routes such as the Meanwood Valley Trail, Calverley
Millenium Way, Pudsey Link Bridleway, Leeds Links, The Linesway, Harland
Way, Rothway Greenway, Temple Newsam bridlepath, West Leeds Country
Park and Green Gateways and the Wykebeck Valley Way;
• Open access land (total of 350 ha) and Woodland Trust sites.
Geology (EvP3)
Leeds sits astride the River Aire, some 100 km from both the west and east coasts.
To the west the land rises towards the foothills of the Pennines and the Yorkshire
Dales National Park. To the east the landscape flattens out towards the Vale of York
and onwards to Hull and the Humber Estuary. In the south, past and present mineral
extraction has marred an otherwise rural landscape, whilst land to the north remains
largely unspoilt, culminating in the attractive scenery of the Wharfe Valley.
The solid geology in Leeds can be split into three broad categories:
• the Millstone Grit Series is present across the northernmost part of the district;
• the Middle and Lower Coal Measures are present across central and southern
areas;
• the Magnesian Limestone forms a broad band down the eastern part of the
district.
Map 7 and 8 below are taken from the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan.

Page 372

89 of 148

Page 373

90 of 148

Biodiversity – Protected Sites (EvP4)
Designated Internationally and Nationally Protected Sites: SSSIs
The District has 17 nationally important Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).
These are the most important sites in the District and receive statutory protection.
Page 374

91 of 148

The South Pennine Moorlands SSSI lies partly within the north-west part of the District,
(but mainly outside it). It has been designated as part of a larger site of European
level of importance – South Pennine Moorlands Phase 2 Special Protected Area (SPA)
and Special Area of Conservation (SAC). There is also the Kirk Deighton Special Area
of Conservation (SAC) and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in Harrogate.
Locally Protected Sites
As of January 2019 Leeds has the following Local Sites (non-statutory):
•
•
•

Local Wildlife Sites 69
Local Geology Sites 11
Local Nature Reserves 14

There are also the following Local Sites that were carried forward from the UDP which
are currently being assessed against the Local Wildlife Sites Criteria – and will either
become Local Wildlife Sites or removed from the Local Sites Schedule depending on
whether any of the criteria are met.
•
•

Sites of Ecological or Geological Importance (SEGI) 14
Leeds Nature Areas 22

This process is summarised below:

Local Nature Reserves are based on public appreciation and access as well as nature
conservation importance. They fulfil a similar level of importance to other non-statutory
Local Sites and therefore are considered to be of secondary importance in the
hierarchy – alongside LWS and LGS. LNAs are non-statutory Local Sites that
represented a third level of designated site in the UDP and are the lowest level of
importance in the hierarchy of designated sites.
A technical document giving a greater level of detail on the updated schedule of
designated nature conservation sites and the updated 2014 Leeds Habitat Network is
available as an accompaniment to this document.
Page 375

92 of 148

The Leeds Habitat Network map was created in 2012 and was created to help
implement Core Strategy Policy G9 “Biodiversity Improvements” (i) and (iii). The
Network aims to protect the integrity and connectivity of areas in Leeds with nature
conservation value, as well as guiding the best locations for provision of new areas
and opportunities for habitat creation and enhancement.
Between 2013 and 2014 a project between Leeds City Council and West Yorkshire
Ecology was established to update the Leeds Habitat Network and map its
components to a more detailed level to inform the Site Allocations process. This has
led to a subsequent revision of the strategic Leeds Habitat Network Map across all of
Leeds which is based on aerial photo interpretation and site assessments carried out
by a project officer at West Yorkshire Ecology.
The Leeds Habitat Network highlights existing notable ecological links within the
District as well as linking into the surrounding districts (notably Bradford and Wakefield
which have existing Wildlife Habitat Networks). The Leeds Habitat Network should
enable species populations to be sustained by maintaining the existing physical
ecological corridors, which can provide sustainable ecosystem services. This can be
achieved through the use of the Leeds Habitat Network as a guidance tool for decision
making relating to the placing of future developments and priority areas for biodiversity
enhancements.
The main types of habitat included within the Leeds Habitat Network are: broad-leaved
and mixed woodland, scrub, hedgerows, (agriculturally) unimproved/ species-rich
semi-improved grassland, rivers/ becks, ponds, fen/ marsh and features with
restoration potential such as quarries and old allotment sites.
Map 9 below shows the nature conservation designations and Leeds Habitat Network
as of November 2017.

Page 376

93 of 148

Agriculture (EvP5)

Page 377

94 of 148

Map 10 below shows the classification of agricultural land across Leeds. This has
been updated to include the subdivision of grade 3 into 3a and 3b where this
information is available. Hence the map is a composite compiled from different data
sources available. It has been agreed with Natural England. There are areas where
in the absence of detailed data, only agricultural land classification information is
available at a strategic scale.
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that authorities need to take
account of the best and most versatile agricultural land and seek to use areas of poorer
quality where possible. Best and most versatile comprises grade 1, 2 and 3a land.
Leeds has very small areas of grade 1 agricultural land, mostly in East Leeds, quite a
large extent of grade 2, mainly to the east of Leeds, but areas also to the north and
south. There are also areas of grade 3a, again mostly concentrated east of Leeds.

Page 378

95 of 148

Page 379

96 of 148

Contaminated Land (EvP6)
Potentially Contaminating Historical Land Uses
The Council has identified which parts of Leeds have previously been subject to a
potentially contaminating land use. This data has been extracted from historical
mapping and converted into digital format. The land covers approximately 8% of
Leeds Metropolitan District’s surface area. Figure 1 shows how this land is divided
between the eleven Housing Market Characteristic Areas (HMCAs). The Outer South
West HMCA has the largest proportion (19%), followed by Inner Area (17%) and then
Outer West (14%).
Planning Services & the Planning Regime
The council is also collecting data on sites in Leeds where land contamination has
been assessed as part of the development process. The level of assessment will vary
depending on the nature of the site and its proposed end use. Assessment may
involve a desk top study, site investigation, remediation and verification works.
This data represents more than 6,500 planning applications reviewed for potential land
contamination and equates to 10% of the district’s surface area. The figure of 10%
exceeds the total area identified as having a historical potentially contaminated land
use above. This is because planning applications for the most vulnerable end uses,
for example residential housing and children’s play areas, require some degree of land
contamintion assessment regardless of the previous use of the land. Figure 2 shows
how the work is split between the HMCAs with the largest proportion (22%) taking
place in East Leeds, followed by 14% in Outer South West Leeds and then 10% in
Inner Leeds.
The main route for contaminated land assessment and remediation in Leeds is through
redevelopment, with 53km2 of land assessed through the planning system to date.
Figure 1 Land with Industrial Historical Use
– Split by HMCA

Figure 2 Land Assessed for Contamination
During Development - Split by HMCA

Water Quality (EvP7)
Page 380

97 of 148

The Leeds district spans three Water Framework Directive (WFD) management
catchments: the Aire and Calder, the Wharfe and lower Ouse and the Swale, Ouse,
Nidd and Ure.
- 330 km2 (60%) of Leeds is in the Aire and Calder catchment
- 212 km2 (38%) of Leeds is in the Wharfe catchment
- 10 km2 (2%) of Leeds is in the Swale, Ouse, Nidd and Ure catchment
Under WFD river management catchments are divided into smaller ‘sub catchments’
called operational catchments. Leeds includes parts of seven operational catchment:
Lower Aire, Lower Wharfe; Middle Wharfe; Lower Calder; Lower Ouse; Middle and
Lower Nidd; and Middle Aire which are shown on map 11 below.

Page 381

98 of 148

Page 382

99 of 148

Page 383

100 of 148

Page 384

101 of 148

Page 385

102 of 148

Water Resources (EvP8)
Work undertaken as part of the Natural Resources and Waste DPD found that overall
water consumption within Leeds is higher than average. Water availability is assessed
by the Environment Agency through Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies.
Map 12 illustrates water resource availability in Leeds including restricted areas for
water licensing (for water based business and industry).

Page 386

103 of 148

Flood Risk (EvP9)
The National Planning Policy Framework sets the national policy context for
considering flood risk. The Leeds Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) defines
4 flood zones:
Zone 1
Zone 2
Zone 3a
Zone 3b

– areas of low flood probability;
– areas of medium flood probability;
– areas of high flood probability; and
– functional flood plain

The Core Strategy and the Natural Resources and Waste DPD provide policy relating
to development in flood risk zones and sustainable drainage requirements.
Leeds City council will be updating its Strategic Flood Risk Assessment this year. The
Environment Agency provide updates to the Flood Map for Planning every 6 months.
These maps include substantial revisions to flood zones within Leeds in a number of
areas. The latest Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning is available from the
following link:
https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/confirmlocation?easting=429719&northing=433916&placeOrPostcode=leeds
Map 13 below provides a strategic representation of the flood risk areas in Leeds
(source: Environment Agency)

Air Quality (EvP10)

Page 387

104 of 148

The European Ambient Air Quality and Cleaner Air for Europe Directive (2008/50/EC)
consolidated earlier EU Directives dating back to 1996. Through the Air Quality
(England) Regulations, concentration based Air Quality (AQ) objectives linked to a
‘health threshold’ for each of seven pollutants had been incorporated into UK
legislation with supporting guidance published under the Local Air Quality
Management (LAQM) regime.
Where it is satisfied that the AQ objectives are not being met, local authorities are
required to declare Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs). Through monitoring air
quality from the late 1990s, Leeds was able to identify seven relatively small areas
where those objectives were not being met and declared them as AQMAs in 2001.
More recently in 2010, Leeds reviewed those areas, revoking four, reaffirming three
and introducing three new areas.
Map 14 below shows the location of the Air Quality Management Areas in Leeds.

Page 388

105 of 148

All the current AQMAs have been declared on the basis of the exceedance of the
threshold of the annual average nitrogen dioxide (NO2) objective, typically occurring
where residential properties are located very close to heavily trafficked roads or busy
road junctions, often with congested traffic conditions.
Page 389

106 of 148

On a wider scale, the UK is currently facing the prospect of fines imposed by the EU
for breaching limit values set for NO2 concentrations. Areas identified as a result of
modelling by central government and reported to the EU are alongside the most
heavily trafficked and congested section of the primary road network including
motorways. Under the Localism Act, discretionary powers exist to enable these fines
can be passed on to local authorities when it can be shown that they have failed to
adequately tackle the causes.
Actions to improve air quality were detailed in the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan,
published in 2004. It was clear at that time that successfully tackling the exceedances
of the AQ objectives could not be achieved by addressing the AQMA ‘hot spots’ in
isolation. Instead, a variety of initiatives directed mainly at transport related emissions
were proposed to improve AQ throughout the district. In the intervening period the
principles have remained the same while a number of new initiatives have been added
aimed at managing traffic demand, encouraging more sustainable travel and reducing
vehicle emissions.
Leeds is currently working in partnership with the four other West Yorkshire local
authorities to develop a common approach to tackling AQ issues. This work includes
the adoption of an evolving West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy and an
investigation into the feasibility of Low Emission Zones to encourage the earlier uptake
than would otherwise occur of newer, cleaner vehicles where modal shift to other less
polluting forms of transport have not been successful.
More recently, concern has been raised in relation to microscopic particles (PM10 and
PM2.5) because it is now accepted that there is no ‘safe’ threshold. Although
concentrations in Leeds are below the threshold set in the objectives any
concentration reduction offers the opportunity to improve health across the whole
population.
Nationally, it has been estimated that 29,000 deaths are brought forward annually
because of exposure to PM2.5 particles and a more recent report has related this
figure to exposure in each UK local authority area, suggesting that in Leeds,
approximately 350 deaths occur prematurely because of the effects of exposure to
PM2.5 particles.
From around 2000 onwards, the better fuel efficiency of diesel powered vehicles has
been encouraged nationally as a means of tackling climate change and CO2
emissions. Although progressively more stringent emission standards have applied to
newer vehicles, the laboratory based testing regime has not replicated their real-world
performance. As a result these vehicles, ranging from small cars and vans to the
largest buses and lorries are the major source of both NO2 and PM particles, emitting
more of these pollutants than alternatively fuelled and Ultra Low Emission Vehicles.
CO2 Emissions & Energy Consumption (EvP11)
The main greenhouse gas is carbon dioxide (CO2), although other gases including
methane and nitrous oxides are also involved. The scientific evidence is now
overwhelming. Since 1990, global temperatures have risen by 0.2C and atmospheric
carbon dioxide concentrations have increased from 354 parts per million to over 400
parts per million, the highest levels in 20m years, and are still rising. Even with
Page 390

107 of 148

international action to stabilise and reduce emissions, global temperatures are likely
to rise by up to 3oC by 2100, with a devastating impact on our economy and natural
world, in the UK and, above all, in the most vulnerable developing countries.
In 2005, Leeds produced almost 5.1 million tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2). The three
biggest contributors were the commercial and industrial sector (41%), domestic (37%)
and transport (22%). Over the past seven years, total emissions have declined by
13.2% with good progress in all areas. In 2008/09 Leeds City Council produced
136,989 tonnes of carbon dioxide from buildings, street lighting, fleet vehicles and
staff travel. Building emissions (over 70% of council emissions) have been falling
steadily since the 1990s and total emissions were 116,135 tonnes in 2013/14, a
15.2% reduction. The council has committed to reduce total emissions by 40%
between 2008/09 and 2020/21 which we are on track to meet.
In 2008 the Government has adopted the legally binding target in the Climate Change
Act to cut UK emissions by 80% between 1990-2050 and by at least 26% between
2005-20. Given both these factors, we have adopted a target to also reduce emissions
from Leeds by 80% between 2005 and 2050. This means cutting total emissions to
no more than 1.02m tonnes of carbon dioxide which equates to a reduction of 90,000
tonnes every year. These are very tough targets. But cities around the world will face
similar targets over coming years. Early action now to make cost-effective carbon
reductions will put Leeds in a strong position in future.
Accessibility (EvP12)
Census data shows that the population of Leeds grew by 10.4% from 680,700 in 1991
to 751,500 in 2011, whilst car ownership grew from 0.8 cars per household to 1.0 cars
per household. During the same period employment grew by 24.1% and total cars
owned by Leeds residents by 44.2%.
Weekday traffic flows across the central monitoring cordon grew by 10.9% between
1992 and 2004. Between 2004 and 2014, however, traffic flows across the cordon fell
by 2.3% (equating to 17,000 vehicle movements).
In 2014, 743,000 vehicles on an average weekday travelled into/out of central Leeds
and traffic flows on some sections of the Inner Ring Road exceeded 80,000 vehicles
a day.
Annual surveys covering journeys on radial routes approaching the city centre during
the morning peak period (07:30-09:30) show that the number of cyclists rose by 209%
between 2004 and 2014. Rail and walking also showed an increase in use (44% and
66% respectively). In contrast, the number of people travelling by car, bus and
motorcycles all decreased over the same period.
Surveys show that in 2014 the mode of travel for journeys crossing the central cordon
(towards the city centre) in the morning peak period (07:00-10:00) comprised: car
drivers and passengers 53.8% of total flow, bus 24.7%, rail 14.5%, walking 5.1%,
cycling 1.4% and motorcycles 0.4%.
Commuting to work in Leeds has increased rapidly in recent years and is projected to
increase further. The 2001 Census shows that there were 105,000 commuters
travelling into Leeds city centre to work, a figure which rose by 4% in the 2011 Census
Page 391

108 of 148

to just over 109,000. Of these, 46% travelled by car, a fall from 2001, however, this is
still greater than most Core Cities.
Congestion occurs in Leeds, as it does in any major urban centre. However,
Department for Transport data shows that average morning peak period (07:00-10:00)
speeds on local authority A roads in Leeds are faster than other comparable cities in
England, and improved by around 6% between 2006-07 and 2012-13. This compares
with a worsening in two Core Cities and smaller levels of improvement in all the others.
Journey time data for arterial and orbital routes into and around Leeds have been
studied for the 2009-10 and 2011-12 academic years (school days only). This analysis
expresses congestion as a percentage increase in journey times resulting from
congestion (a figure of 100% represents a route where peak time journey times are
twice as long as the daytime free flow). Figure 1 and Figure 2 show the congestion
results for inbound radial links and the orbital routes surveyed.

120%

Congestion Delay (%)

100%
80%
2009-10

60%

2011-12

40%
20%
0%

Figure 1: Leeds Inbound Radial Congestion Delay (08:00-09:00)
Note: A65b affected by quality bus corridor works during 2011-12

Page 392

109 of 148

Congestion Delay (%)

90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

2009-10
2011-12

A6110/A647

A6120a

A6120b

IRR

A6110/A647

A6120a

A6120b

IRR

Clockwise / Anti-clockwise
Figure 2: Leeds Orbital Congestion Delay (08:00-09:00)
Note: A6110/A647= A653-A6120; A6120a = A647-A61; A6120b = A61-M1 (Jn46)

The inbound radials are the most congested, with six routes showing congestion
adding 80% of more to journey times in 2011-12. In comparison only three, radial,
routes exceeded the 80% threshold (A61 N, M621 (E) and A660) outbound during the
peak hour (17:00-18:00).
Leeds is well connected to other towns and cities in the UK with a comprehensive
network of rail services. Long distance services are available to destinations including
London to the south, Newcastle and Edinburgh to the north and Birmingham, Bristol,
Exeter and Plymouth to the south west. Regional services serve destinations including
Manchester, Liverpool, Sheffield and York. There is also an extensive network of local
services serving destinations in Leeds district and West Yorkshire.
The Office of Rail Regulation data shows Leeds City Station is the second busiest
station in the UK outside of London (2013-14). Department for Transport surveys
reveals that in 2013 24,000 people arrived at Leeds during a weekday morning peak
(07:00-10:00). On an average 2013 weekday 67,500 passengers arrive at and 66,500
passengers depart from Leeds. Figure 3 shows the arrival and departure profile of
passengers.

Figure 3: Arrival and Departure Profile for Leeds City Station (2013)
Source: DfT (2014), Rail passenger numbers and crowding on weekdays in major cities in England and Wales:
2013, Chart 14.

Page 393

110 of 148

Leeds also has good connectivity to the strategic road network in the UK with easy
access to the north-south routes of the M1 and A1(M), and the east-west M62.
Leeds has a good bus network, in 2010-11 there were 76 million trips on the network.
Bus patronage has grown across West Yorkshire in recent years. Whilst there is no
updated figure available for Leeds, it is thought that patronage on the Leeds network
has increased. An extensive network serves the Leeds Urban area, with connections
on inter-urban routes to other urban areas in West and North Yorkshire. Coach
connections for longer distance journeys are also available.
In 2019, over 4 million passengers used Leeds Bradford Airport (LBA). There are
now plans to increase the number of passengers using the Airport to 7.1 million
passengers each year by 2030 (Route to 2030 – Strategic Development Plan).
Although car ownership has increased in recent decades, 32.1% of Leeds households
(2011 census) have no car. Table 7 and 8 details levels of car ownership by numbers
and percentages, respectively. Consequently, public transport, walking and cycling
play a vital role in meeting a very significant travel need in the community.
Accessibility to key services and facilities by public transport in Leeds is relatively
high. For example, in 2013, 100% of 16-19 year olds in Leeds were within 30 minutes
of a further education establishment by public transport, and 100% of people of
working age (16-74) were within 20 minutes of an employment centre. For healthcare,
99% and 100% of households in Leeds without a car were within 15 and 30 minutes
respectively of a GP by public transport and 84% and 100% of households without a
car were within 30 and 60 minutes respectively of a hospital.
HMCA Car Ownership (numbers)
After HMCA / LSOA adjustments

HMCA
Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
HMCA Total

Source: 2011 census QS416

Households:
Households: Households: Households Total
3 Cars or
4+ cars or
number of
Number of No Car or
Households: 2 Cars or
Vans
vans
vehicles
Households Van
1 Car or Van Vans
14417
8506
19362
68243
70236
16740
8985
12127
15546
40110
46323
320596

2523
4969
5759
37502
17825
2033
1587
2486
3058
11192
13853
102787

6358
2987
8785
23715
30684
6480
3791
5276
7083
17533
20722
133414

4527
492
3979
5707
17592
6453
2900
3582
4389
9538
9785
68943

767
40
665
957
3131
1299
542
606
791
1435
1518
11751

242
17
174
361
1004
477
165
177
226
413
445
3701

18830
4176
19477
39669
79695
25393
11950
15055
19238
42735
46811
323030

Car ownership by HMCA (numbers)
Source: 2011 census QS416. After HMCA / LSOA adjustments

Page 394

111 of 148

HMCA Car Ownership (%)
Source: 2011 census QS416
After HMCA / LSOA adjustments
Households: Households: Households
Households:
3 Cars or
4+ cars or
Number of No Car or
Households: 2 Cars or
Vans
vans
Households Van
1 Car or Van Vans
HMCA
Aireborough
14417
16.1%
43.9%
32.4%
5.7%
1.8%
City Centre
8506
60.8%
33.1%
5.4%
0.5%
0.2%
East Leeds
19362
33.1%
42.8%
19.7%
3.3%
1.0%
Inner Area
68243
48.6%
37.4%
11.4%
1.8%
0.6%
North Leeds
70236
28.9%
42.4%
23.1%
4.2%
1.4%
Outer North East
16740
14.8%
40.4%
35.2%
7.1%
2.5%
Outer North West
8985
16.0%
41.1%
34.1%
6.7%
2.1%
Outer South
12127
24.1%
43.7%
26.6%
4.3%
1.3%
Outer South East
15546
18.6%
45.2%
29.4%
5.3%
1.5%
Outer South West
40110
31.5%
42.6%
21.7%
3.2%
1.0%
Outer West
46323
30.4%
44.1%
21.2%
3.3%
1.0%
HMCA Total
320596
32.1%
41.6%
21.5%
3.7%
1.2%
Car ownership by HMCA (%)
Source: 2011 Census QS416. After HMCA/LSOA adjustments

Page 395

112 of 148

24
0.1%

7.7%
8.2%
2.9%
2.5%
3.4%
1.2%
3.6%
3.1%
6.6%
1.7%
2.4%
3.2%

754
4.4%

Bus, mini-bus,
coach
Taxi

2812
16.2%

Bus, mini-bus,
coach
Taxi

4.8%
11.2%
14.7%
23.4%
14.2%
4.5%
6.3%
9.3%
7.9%
12.9%
14.7%
14.0%

76
108
148
1053
644
30
25
62
36
363
503
3047

164
0.9%

0.4%
1.0%
0.7%
1.7%
0.8%
0.2%
0.2%
0.4%
0.2%
0.8%
1.0%
0.9%

Source: 2011 census QS703

Working Population aged 16-74 (excluding not in employment)
Source: 2011 census QS703
After HMCA LSOA adjustments
Underground,
light rail, metro,
Working
Bus, mini-bus,
Population
coach
Home working tram
Train
Taxi
17278
1789
29
1334
832
10501
600
21
861
1171
21038
1593
23
616
3092
63084
3823
112
1554
14731
82905
7574
143
2826
11810
18744
2730
16
219
836
10160
1293
12
370
643
14167
1276
11
445
1314
18019
1513
11
1197
1415
46492
3641
30
775
5981
52836
3816
47
1244
7764
355225
29647
454
11440
49589

HMCA
Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
HMCA Total

977
5.6%

Underground,
light rail, metro,
Home working tram
Train

Source: 2011 census QS703

Underground,
light rail, metro,
Working
Population
Home working tram
Train
17278
10.4%
0.2%
10501
5.7%
0.2%
21038
7.6%
0.1%
63084
6.1%
0.2%
82905
9.1%
0.2%
18744
14.6%
0.1%
10160
12.7%
0.1%
14167
9.0%
0.1%
18019
8.4%
0.1%
46492
7.8%
0.1%
52836
7.2%
0.1%
355225
8.3%
0.1%

Working Population aged 16-74 (%) modal share (excluding not in employment)
After HMCA LSOA adjustments

HMCA
Aireborough
City Centre
East Leeds
Inner Area
North Leeds
Outer North East
Outer North West
Outer South
Outer South East
Outer South West
Outer West
HMCA Total

17328
17328

Working
Population

Aire Valley
No adjustments made on LSOAs

Aire Valley
Aire Valley (%)

Bicycle

291
1.7%

1.3%
1.4%
1.3%
2.1%
2.5%
1.3%
1.5%
1.2%
1.0%
1.2%
1.6%
1.8%

Walk

Walk

Motorcycle,
Car/van
scooter, moped Car/van driver passenger
Bicycle
Walk
66
10590
748
227
17
2156
300
147
135
11714
1538
275
228
23590
4181
1340
355
45585
4331
2096
73
12515
818
235
56
6160
462
153
84
9168
838
167
132
11313
1124
175
311
27899
3216
579
281
29952
3499
843
1740
190643
21056
6237

922
5.3%

Car/van
passenger

Motorcycle,
Car/van
scooter, moped Car/van driver passenger
Bicycle
0.4%
61.3%
4.3%
0.2%
20.5%
2.9%
0.6%
55.7%
7.3%
0.4%
37.4%
6.6%
0.4%
55.0%
5.2%
0.4%
66.8%
4.4%
0.6%
60.6%
4.5%
0.6%
64.7%
5.9%
0.7%
62.8%
6.2%
0.7%
60.0%
6.9%
0.5%
56.7%
6.6%
0.5%
53.7%
5.9%

6447
37.2%

Motorcycle,
scooter, moped Car/van driver
66
0.4%

1546
5081
1845
12125
7287
1215
959
761
1058
3551
4712
40140

8.9%
48.4%
8.8%
19.2%
8.8%
6.5%
9.4%
5.4%
5.9%
7.6%
8.9%
11.3%

4796
27.7%

Other

Other

Other

41
39
59
347
254
58
27
41
45
147
174
1232

0.2%
0.4%
0.3%
0.5%
0.3%
0.3%
0.3%
0.3%
0.3%
0.3%
0.3%
0.3%

75
0.4%

113 of 148

Page 396

Transport Infrastructure (EvP13)
Data on travel to work of Leeds residents (excluding work from home) from the 2001
and 2011 censuses is set out in the following table:
Leeds District

Train

Bus

Car

Cycle

Walk

Other

Mode Share 2011
Numbers 2001
Numbers 2011
Change 2001 - 2011

4%
5042
11408
126%

15%
55521
49433
-11%

65%
194495
210933
8%

2%
4180
6210
49%

12%
33840
40003
18%

2%

Historic Environment (EvP14)
Map 15 below gives an indication of the location of Listed Buildings, Conservation
Areas, Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens and
Historic Battlefield within the Leeds district. More detailed maps showing the historic
environment of each HMCA can be found in the subsequent sections of this document.
There are 79 Conservation Areas in Leeds. These range from the City Centre, suburbs
such as Headingley and Roundhay, and some towns and villages, including Otley,
Wetherby and Pudsey.
There are 2363 Listed Buildings in Leeds. These are included in the National List of
Buildings of Special Architectural or Historical Interest and are thereby given special
protection. This list is continuing to grow as further buildings are identified by Historic
England.
The Historic England Heritage at Risk Register now includes all designated heritage
assets with the exception of Grade II Listed Buildings. For Leeds in 2020 the list
includes:
•
•
•
•
•

12 buildings and structures
5 places of worship
9 Scheduled Monuments
2 Historic Parks and Gardens
4 Conservation Areas

Historic England also maintains registers of both Historic Parks and Gardens and
Historic Battlefields. Leeds has 14 historic parks and gardens:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Armley House (Gotts Park) - Grade II
Beckett Street Cemetery – Grade II
Bramham Park – Grade I
Harewood House – Grade I
High Royds Hospital – Grade II
Hunslet Cemetery – Grade II
Lawnswood Cemetery – Grade II
Ledston Hall Park – Grade II*
Lotherton Hall – Grade II
Oulton Hall – Grade II
Page 397

114 of 148

•
•
•
•

Parlington Estate – Grade II
Pudsey Cemetery – Grade II*
Roundhay Park – Grade II
Temple Newsham – Grade II

Leeds also has one historic battlefield at Adwalton Moor near Drighlington.
The most important archaeological sites are designated as Scheduled Monuments.
Consent is required from the Secretary of State for any works to them; there are 59
such sites within the Leeds district.
The designated heritage assets represent part of the total heritage resource of the
District. There are in addition a number of non-designated heritage assets.

Page 398

115 of 148

Page 399

116 of 148

Landscape (EvP15)
The following maps 16 and 17 show the results of the Landscape Character
Assessment Review from 2011; this is the most recent update of this data since the
1996 Landscape Quality Assessment. The maps are supported by a written document
that describes in detail the features of each landscape character area. The written
descriptions are still current.
The map 16 below shows the boundaries of the landscape character areas, as
amended in the 2011 review. The boundaries were revised to reflect the changes that
have taken place since they were first laid out in the 1994 assessment.
The map 17 below illustrates the approximate areas that have been developed since
1994 within the landscape units. These areas are no longer in keeping with the
character of the unit in which they occur and have therefore been deleted from them.
The second map fixes the new boundaries to the landscape character areas.
In addition, the special qualities and the setting of the Nidderdale Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB), which lies to the north of Otley in Harrogate District, will need
to be considered.

Page 400

117 of 148

Page 401

118 of 148

Page 402

119 of 148

Noise Complaints and Transport Noise Maps (EvP16)
The following statistics have been provided by Environmental Health and show the
number of commercial noise complaints in Leeds between between 01/03/2016 and
31/03/2017.
Complaints Type
Noise - Air-Con Units/Ventilation/Chillers Count
Noise - Buskers Count
Noise - Church Bells/Clocks/Calls Prayer Count
Noise - Commercial Alarms (intnl/extnl) Count
Noise - Commercial/Industrial Activities Count
Noise - Construction Sites Count
Noise - Delivery/Collection Vehicles Count
Noise - Fairgrounds Count
Noise - Farming Activities Count
Noise - Farming Bird Scarers Count
Noise - Fireworks (Commercial Premises) Count
Noise - Ice Cream Van Chimes Count
Noise - Licensed Premises Count
Noise - Low Frequency Count
Noise - Major Domestic Building Works Count
Noise - Mobile Plant/Machinery Count
Noise - Motor Vehicles (On Private Land) Count
Noise - PA Systems & Loud Speakers Count
Noise - Patrons Entrng/Extng Buildings Count
Noise - Roadworks Count
Noise - Shooting Count
Noise - Taxis Count
Noise - Transport Not Constructn Related Count
Noise - Vehicle Repairs Count

Number
34
14
3
72
281
183
75
8
5
7
14
8
289
25
16
4
32
58
17
20
1
5
9
5

Road Noise: Lden
These noise maps (Map 18-23) are sourced from the national transport noise
website http://www.extrium.co.uk/noiseviewer.html (18th September 2017).
Lden Day Evening Night Sound Level is the average sound level over a 24 hour
period, with a penalty of 5 dB added for the evening hours or 19:00 to 22:00, and a
penalty of 10 dB added for the nighttime hours of 22:00 to 07:00.
LAeq,16h indicates the annual average noise levels for the 16-hour period between
0700 – 2300.
Lnight is a weighted annual sound level, measured overnight 23.00 - 0700 hours.

Page 403

120 of 148

Road Noise: LAeq,16h

Road Noise: Lnight

Page 404

121 of 148

Rail Noise: Lden

Rail Noise: LAeq,16h

Page 405

122 of 148

Rail Noise: Lnight

Light Pollution (EvP17)
The map 24 is provided by the Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) and LUC.
Further information regarding their methodology and sources can be found at
https://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/
Page 406

123 of 148

Odour (EvP18)
The following statistics have been provided by Environmental Health and show the
number of commercial odour complaints in Leeds between between 01/03/2016 and
31/03/2017.
Number
Complaints Type
25
Odour - Agricultural Count
110
Odour - Commercial/Industrial Premises Count
25
Odour - Cooking at Commercial Premises Count
10
Odour - Sewage Works Count
1
Odour/Light - Licensed Premises Count
Waste (EvP19)
The following statistics have been provided by Environmental Health and show the
amount of domestic and commercial waste complaints in Leeds between 01/03/2016
and 31/03/2017.
SRRECTYPE

Date Range

Total

Commercial Waste Issue 01/03/2016 To 31/03/2017 773
Domestic Waste Issue
01/03/2016 To 31/03/2017 764
Waste in Garden
01/03/2016 To 31/03/2017 2139

Page 407

124 of 148

Appendix 3
SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL FRAMEWORK (OBJECTIVES, DECISION MAKING CRITERIA & INDICATORS)
SA OBJECTIVES
SA1
EMPLOYMENT

SA2
BUSINESS
INVESTMENT /
ECONOMIC
GROWTH

DECISION-MAKING CRITERIA
DM01
Create more jobs (permanent and temporary)
DM02
Improve physical access to jobs
DM03
Improve skills & access to training

DM04

Page 408

DM05
DM06
SA3
HEALTH

DM07
DM02
DM03
DM08
DM10
DM19
DM37
DM50
DM51c
DM54

Promote economic development:
- Offices, industry & distribution
- Retail & commercial leisure
- Tourism & culture
- Energy sector
- Minerals & waste sectors
- Health & education sectors
- Transport & physical infrastructure
- Housebuilding & other residential sectors
Increase/maintain vibrancy of centres
Promote improved ICT networks & technological
innovation
Promote growth & diversity of rural economy
Improve physical access to jobs
Improve skills & access to training
Encourage people to take more physical exercise
Increase/maintain access to fresh food
Improve quality/standard of housing
Increase provision of and access to green infrastructure
Appropriate provision of key services and facilities
(schools, health facilities, retail & commercial leisure)
Increase/maintain access to health facilities
Avoid exposure to poor air quality

INDICATORS
BCP: 10, 11, 14,
15, 18, 19

COMMENTS

AMR: 2, 3, 11, 15,
16, 17, 18, 19, 23,
32, 33, 34, 36
BCP: 13
AMR: 2, 3, 11, 15,
16, 17, 18, 19, 20,
21, 22, 23, 31, 34,
40

BCP: 4, 5, 10, 11,
14 16 & 18

Crossing cutting objective

AMR: 23, 24, 25,
31, 32, 33, 34, 35,
36, 38

DM55
Impact of policy/proposal on air quality
DM71a Increase energy efficiency of housing and reduce energy
bills & fuel poverty

125 of 148

SA OBJECTIVES
SA4
CRIME
SA5
CULTURE

SA6
HOUSING

Page 409

SA7
SOCIAL INCLUSION
& COMMUNITY
COHESION

DECISION-MAKING CRITERIA
DM11
Reduce crime / fear of crime

INDICATORS
BCP: 3

DM04c

BCP: 20

DM24

Development of tourism and cultural facilities (hotels,
museums, galleries, theatres etc)
Increase/maintain arts facilities
Increase/maintain community facilities inc. religious
buildings
Promotes sports, entertainment and cultural events
Supports further and higher education sectors
Promotes creative industries
Meet housing delivery targets
Provide appropriate mix of housing types & sizes
- Affordable housing
- Size of dwellings
- Specialist needs (older people / independent living)
Improve quality/standard of housing
Improve physical access to jobs
Provide services & facilities appropriate for the needs of
BME groups, older people, young people and disabled
people
Reduce overall levels of economic & social deprivation
Reduce disparities in levels of economic and social
deprivation
Create opportunities for people from different
communities to have increased contact with each other
Increase/maintain accessibility to employment and key
services & facilities (centres/food store; schools & health
facilities)
Increase/maintain quantity of greenspace & indoor

DM25
DM26
DM27
DM28

Increase/maintain indoor and outdoor sports facilities
Increase quality of green space
Improve accessibility to greenspace
Increase/maintain the public rights of way network

DM12
DM13
DM14
DM15
DM16
DM17
DM18

DM19
DM02
DM20
DM21
DM22
DM23
DM51

SA8
GREEN SPACE,
SPORTS &
RECREATION

COMMENTS

AMR: 2, 20, 31

BCP: 15, 16
AMR: 3, 4, 4A, 5, 6,
7, 8, 9, 9a, 10, 11,
12, 13 & 14
BCP: 10, 12, 16, 18
AMR: 4A, 9, 10, 11,
12, 13, 18, 21, 22,
23, 24, 29, 30, 32,
33, 34, 36
National Indices of
Deprivation (IoD)

BCP: 4
AMR: 23, 24, 25 &
31

126 of 148

SA OBJECTIVES
SA9
EFFICIENT &
PRUDENT USE OF
LAND

Page 410

DECISION-MAKING CRITERIA
DM29
Promote brownfield development and minimise
DM30
Promote higher density development
DM31
Minimise loss of Green Belt land
DM32
Minimise loss of high quality agricultural land
DM33
Prevent unacceptable risk from land instability
SA10
DM34
Protect & enhance existing habitats including long term
BIODIVERSITY &
management
GEODIVERSITY
DM35
Protect & enhance protected & important species
DM37
Increase green infrastructure provision
DM38
Protect sites of geological interest
SA11
DM39
Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from transport
CLIMATE CHANGE
DM40
Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from buildings
MITIGATION
DM41
Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from energy
(GREENHOUSE GAS
generation & distribution
EMISSIONS)
SA12
DM37
Increase green infrastructure provision
CLIMATE CHANGE
ADAPTATION
DM42
Prepare for likelihood of increased flooding
SA13
DM43
Reduce risk of flooding from rivers
FLOOD RISK
DM44
Reduce risk of surface water flooding
SA14
DM45
Increase proportion of journeys by non-car modes
TRANSPORT
DM46
Ease congestion on road network
NETWORK
DM47
Make environment more attractive for non-car users
(INFRASTRUCTURE) DM48
Encourage freight transfer from road to rail/water
DM49
Reduce transport-related accidents
SA15
DM02
Improve physical access to jobs
ACCESSIBILITY TO
DM50
Appropriate provision of key services and facilities
EMPLOYMENT,
(schools, health facilities, retail & commercial leisure)
SERVICES &
DM51
Increase/maintain accessibility to key services & facilities
FACILITIES
(centres/food store; schools & health facilities)
SA16
DM52
Provide or safeguard facilities for waste management
WASTE
(storage at source; recycling, recovery; processing;
disposal)
DM53
Reduce waste sent to landfill (recycling & recovery)

INDICATORS
AMR: 5, 8

COMMENTS

AMR: 23, 24, 25,
31, 37, 38

BCP: 16, 18 & 19

Cross cutting objective

AMR: 32, 33, 34,
35, 36, 42
AMR: 23, 24, 25,
31, 38, 39, 40

Cross cutting objective

AMR: 23, 24, 38,
39, 40
BCP: 18 & 19
AMR: 23, 32, 33,
34, 35, 36
BCP: 18 & 19
AMR: 19, 20, 21,
22, 23, 32, 33, 34,
36
BCP: 17
AMR: 44 & 45

127 of 148

Page 411

SA OBJECTIVES
SA17
AIR QUALITY

DECISION-MAKING CRITERIA
DM54
Avoid exposure to poor air quality
DM55
Impact of policy/proposal on air quality

INDICATORS
BCP: 6

SA18
WATER QUALITY
SA19
LAND AND SOILS
QUALITY
SA20
AMENITY

DM56

AMR: 39

SA21
LANDSCAPE &
TOWNSCAPE
QUALITY

DM62
DM63

SA22
HISTORIC
ENVIRONMENT

SA23

DM57
DM58
DM59
DM60
DM61

DM64
DM65
DM66
DM67
DM68
DM69

DM70
DM71
DM72

Improve the quality of water bodies (rivers, streams, lakes
and groundwater)
Promote remediation of contaminated land
Reduce/avoid exposure to noise pollution
Reduce/avoid exposure to light pollution
Reduce/avoid exposure to odour nuisance
Avoid inappropriate development within HSE Major
Hazard Zones
Maintain/enhance special landscape areas
Protect/enhance landscape features e.g. trees,
hedgerows ponds, dry stone walls
Increase quality & quantity of woodland
Maintain/enhance landscape character of the area
Provide landscape features in new development
Ensure development in urban areas is appropriate to its
setting
Encourage innovative and distinctive urban design
Conserve and enhance designated and non-designated
heritage assets and their setting:
- Listed buildings
- Conservation areas
- Historic parks & gardens
- Scheduled ancient monuments
- Registered battlefields
- Non-designated heritage assets (local list)
Reduce number of heritage assets ‘at risk’
Increase energy efficiency of buildings/development
Increase water efficiency of buildings/development

COMMENTS

AMR: 32, 33, 34,
35, 36, 38, 41

AMR:43

AMR: 24, 25, 31,
37, 38

AMR: 26, 27, 28

BCP: 16

128 of 148

SA OBJECTIVES
ENERGY &
RESOURCE
EFFICIENCY

DECISION-MAKING CRITERIA
DM73
Increase proportion of energy generated from
renewable/low carbon sources
DM74
Promote low carbon energy distribution & storage e.g.
heat networks
DM75
Safeguard land designated for minerals use and promote
prior extraction

INDICATORS
AMR: 23, 42, 43

COMMENTS

Page 412
129 of 148

Appendix 4
Assessment of SA effects of reasonable alternatives
Option 1:

Propose all 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP

Page 413
130 of 148

Page 414
131 of 148

Page 415
132 of 148

Page 416
133 of 148

Page 417
134 of 148

Option 2:

Propose none of the 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP and retain them all as Green Belt

Page 418
135 of 148

Page 419
136 of 148

Page 420
137 of 148

Page 421
138 of 148

Page 422
139 of 148

Option 3:

Propose some of the Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP

Page 423
140 of 148

Page 424
141 of 148

Page 425
142 of 148

Page 426
143 of 148

Page 427
144 of 148

Notes accompanying the assessment of SA effects of reasonable alternatives
Option

Option 1

Option 1

Option 1
Option 1
Option 1

Option 1

SA Objective Comment for Assessment of Option Against SA Objective
Overall neutral effect for employment as positive score for DMO1 (as more temporary jobs would be created in construction industry if more more housing built and job creation from mixed use
allocation including employment use) evened out by negative effect for DM02 (given the accessibility of new housing to employment (places of work)) and neutral effect on DM03 - improve skills
and access to training.
SA1
Neutral score overall. More housing would create construction jobs and help promote economic development (positive scores for DM02 ). A negative score is given for access to employment
reflecting the relative accessibility of housing allocations to employment (DM04). Neutral scores for remaining decision making criteria as effects of more housing on vibrancy of town centres
(DM05), promotion of ICT (DM06) and growth and diversity of the rural economy (DM07) unknown.
SA2
Scores overall neutral as positive scores for improved quality/standard of housing (in new developments) (DM19), and increased energy efficiency (in new builds) (DM71a) is balanced with negative
scores for increased provision of green infrastructure (DM37) and access to employment (transport) (DM02) and encourage people to take more physical exercise (DM08). The remaining decision
making criteria are neutral.
SA3
Overall neutral score as decision making criteria DM11 for reduction in crime rates/fear of crime scores neutral as the effect is unknown.
SA4
Neutral effect on culture as unknown effects on for example tourism, cultural, sports and entertainment facilities.
SA5

SA6

Page 428

Option 1

SA7

Option 1

SA8

Option 1

SA9

Option 1

SA10

Option 1

SA11

Significant positive effect on housing overall reflecting effects for meeting housing delivery targets (DM17). A single positive effect on provision of appropriate mix of housing types and sizes (DM18)
and improvement of the quality/standard of housing (DM19) as a result of providing new housing to meet local housing needs including affordable housing. Significant positive effect overall.
Overall neutral effect, as the positive effects for providing services/facilities for different groups (DM20) and reduce overall levels of economic and social deprivation (DM21) are counterbalanced
by the negative effects for access to employment(transport)(DM02) and increase/maintain accessibility to key services & facilities (DM51). Neutral effects for safe local environment (DM09) reduce
disparities in levels of economic & social deprivation (DM22) and create opportunities for people with different communities to have increased contact with each other (DM23).
Overall positive effect, as the 37 housing allocations will enable an increase/maintenance of the quantity of green space (DM24), indoor and outdoor sports provision (DM25), increase in quality of
greenspace (DM26)and improving accessibility of green space (DM27) (single positive scores are gained for all 4 of these decision making criterion). DM28 increase/maintenance of public rights of
way scores neutral as the effects are unknown
Overall significant negative effect reflecting assessment of promoting brownfield/minimising greenfield (DM29), minimising loss of Green Belt land (DM31) and agricultural land (DM32). This is
because the provision of the allocations will create the loss of Green Belt and greenfield land. There is a single negative score for promotion of higher density development (DM30) as housing
allocations in the outer areas of Leeds are likely to have lower densitiesl than sites in the city centre or inner areas. A single negative score is also given for preventing unacceptable risk from land
instability (DM33) as this is a potential risk.
Overall score is significant negative reflecting the potential effect on protecting and enhancing/creating new habitat (DM34).protecting and enhancing protected/important species (DM35),
designated nature conservation sites (DM36) and geological interest sites (DM38).Single negative effect on increasing green infrastructure provision (DM37.
Whilst there is a single positive effect on reduced greenhouse gas emissions from buildings (DM40) arising from the new construction of buildings and neutral effect on emissions from energy
generation and distribution (DM41), this effect is likely to be exceeded by the negative effect from reduced greenhouse emissions from transport (DM39) due to the location of the allocations. The
overall effect on SA11 is assessed as negative.

Option 1

SA12

Option 1

SA13

Option 1

SA14

Option 1

SA15

Option 1

SA16

Overall negative effect. Negative score for DM37 increasing green infrastructure provision as the allocations could take up green infrastructure land and preparation for likelihood of increased
flooding (DM42) as some allocations affect flood risk zones. Neutral effect for building capacity for biodiversity to adapt to climate change (DM76) as effect unknown.
Overall negative effect on flooding as reduced risk from flooding of rivers (DM43) is assessed as negative given that some allocations affect flood risk zones. The effect on reduced risk from surface
water flooding is neutral DM44).
Overall negative effect on the transport network reflecting the negative scores for increase proportion of journeys by non-car modes(DM45) and ease congestion on the road network (DM46) as
the relatively less sustainable location of the allocations will add to the road nework and will not in itself increase non car modes of transport. Neutral scores for other criterion as effects of the
allocations are unknown or will have no effect on making the environment attractive for non car users (DM47), encouraging freight transfer from road to rail/water (DM48) and reducing transport
related accidents (DM49).
Overall negative effect. The relatively less sustainable location of the allocations in the outer areas means that access to employment(transport)(DM02) (albeit some employment is provided by one
mixed use allocations) and increase/maintain accessiblity to key services/facilities (DM51) is likely to be negative. A neutral score is given for appropriate provision of key services & facilities (DM50)
as this is unknown.
Overall neutral score as both decision making criterion score neutral. The effects of new development on provision or safeguarding of facilities for waste management (DM52) and on reducing
waste sent to landfill, recycling and recovery facilities (DM53) are unknown/there is no strong link.

SA17

Overall negative score as the location of the allocations will impact on air quality negatively (DM55) given the relatively less sustainable location of sites in the outer areas. Other criterion both score
neutral as effects unknown or no link to avoiding exposure to poor air quality (DM54) and reducing/avoiding adverse air quality impacts on nature conservation sites (DM77).

Option 1

145 of 148

Option 1

SA Objective Comment for Assessment of Option Against SA Objective
Overall neutral effect as both criterion score neutral. The effects of the allocations on improving quality of water (rivers, streams, groundwater etc) (DM56) and reducing/avoiding adverse water
quality impacts on nature conservation sites (DM78) are unknown or not directly linked.
SA18

Option 1

SA19

Option 1

SA20

Option 1

SA21

Option 1

SA22

Option 1

SA23

Option 2

SA1

Option 2

SA2

Option

A positive effect identified because a number of the sites were identified as potentially contaminated. Development of the land would be positive if the land could be remediated (DM57).
Overall neutral effect as all criterion score neutral - there are no effects or effects are unknown from the allocations reducing/avoiding exposure to noise pollution (DM58), light pollution (DM59)
and odour nuisance (DM60) and avoiding inappropriate development within major hazard zones (DM61)
Overall significant negative score as 4 out of 7 decision making criteria have significant negative or negative scores. The allocations will have significant negative effects upon
maintenance/enhancement of special landscape areas (DM62) and protection/enhancement of landscape features (hedges, trees, walls etc) (DM63). Maintenance or enhancement of landscape
character (DM65) or increase the quality and quantity of woodland (DM64) have a single negative score. Neutral scores are given for provision of landscape features in new development (DM66),
ensuring development in urban areas is appropriate to its setting (DM67) and encouraging innovative and distinctive urban design (DM68) as whilst these criteria would all be encouraged in new
developments, it is unknown at this stage whether new development would enable this..
Overall negative effect reflecting negative effect on conserving/enhancing designated and non designated heritage assets (DM69) of some of the allocations. The effect on reducing the number of
heritage assets at risk (DM70 is assessed as neutral.
Overall positive effect, as decision making criterion score positively: new developments now deal with climate change/are more energy efficient, so increasing energy efficiency of
buildings/development (DM71), and water efficiency (DM72) and the proportion of energy generated from renewable/low carbon sources (DM73) all score single positive. There are neutral scores
for provision of low carbon energy distribution and storage eg. heat networks (DM74) and for safeguarding land designated for minerals use and promotion of extraction (DM75) as whilst the
Council promotes the former and has policies for the latter links are not apparent or unknown.

Page 429

The overall effect is considered to be be negative reflecting loss of mixed use (housing/employment) allocation and loss of temporary construction jobs (DM01). Neutral effect for access to
employment (transport)(DM02) and improve skills & access to training (DM03), negative effect identified for more jobs (DM01)
Neutral scores for the majority of decision making criteria as deletion of the 37 allocations . Will not have an effect on access to employment (transport) (DM02), increasing the vibrancy of centres
(DM05), promotion of improved ICT networks (DM06) and growth and diversity of the rural economy (DM07). However there will be a negative effect on promote economic development (DM04)
due to loss of employment site.

Option 2
Option 2

SA3
SA4

Option 2

SA5

Option 2

SA6

Neutral scores for the majority of decision making criteria as deletion of 37 allocations will not increase the impact of the Plan on the criteria, which include safe local environment (DM09),
increase/maintain access to fresh food (DM10) and avoid exposure to poor air quality (DM54). There will be a positive score for increase green infrastructure povision (DM37) as the retention of the
Green Belt will retain more open areas suitable for green infrastructure and a negative score for increased energy efficiency for domestic buildings (DM71a) due no new houses being built.
Overall neutral score as decision making criteria DM11 for reduction in crime rates/fear of crime scores neutral as the effect is unknown.
Overall neutral score. Neutral scores for all 6 decision making criteria as deletion of 37 allocations will not increase the impact of the Plan on the criteria, which include development of tourism and
cultural facilities (DM04c) and supporting further and higher education sectors (DM15).
Positive score for meeting housing delivery targets (DM17) as overall targets met even with deletion of the 37 allocations, although distribution across HMCAs is made more uneven through the
deletion of the sites. There is a negative score for provide appropriate mix of housing types & sizes (DM18) due to loss of affordable housing through not developing these sites and a neutral score
for improve quality/standard of housing (DM19). Therefore overall a neutral score is given.

Option 2

SA7

Overall neutral score. Neutral scores for all 7 decision making criteria as deletion of 37 allocations will not increase the impact of the Plan on the criteria, which include provision of services and
facilities for BME, older, young and disabled people (DM20) and creating opportunities for people from different communities to have increased contact (DM23).

Option 2

SA8

Option 2

SA9

Option 2

SA10

Option 2

SA11

Option 2

SA12

Negative score for the majority of decision making criteria including increase/maintaining quality of green space (DM24) and increase/maintain quality of green space (DM26) as no green space will
be delivered as the housing allocations are deleted. There will be a neutral effect on increase/maintain public rights of way (DM28) as the effects are unknown.
Overall positive effect reflecting positive effects of minimising the loss of Green Belt land (DM29) and minimising loss of high quality agricultural land (DM32). Remaining criteria score neutral,
including promotion of higher density development (DM30) as deletion of 37 allocations will not increase the impact of the Plan on these criteria.
The overall effect is positive as all criteria have a positive score including protection and enhancing/creating new habitat (DM34) and protect/enhance all designated nature conservation sites
(DM36) as retaining 37 sites as Green Belt will retain existing biodiversity and geodiversity.
Neutral scores for the majority of decision making criteria (including reduce greenhouse gas emissions from transport (DM39) and reduce greenhouse gas emissions from energy generation and
distribution (DM41) except reduce greenhouse gas emissions from buildings (DM40) if the 37 sites are not released as allocations.Therefore overall neutral score given.
Neutral scores for majority of decision making criteria as reliance on existing allocations and sites with planning permission will not increase the impact of the Plan on, preparation for likelihood of
increased flooding (DM42) and building capacity for biodiversity to adapt to climate change (DM76). There is a positive effect on increasing green infrastructure provision (DM37) due to the
retention of the Green Belt arising from deletion of the allocations.
146 of 148

Option
Option 2
Option 2
Option 2
Option 2

SA Objective Comment for Assessment of Option Against SA Objective
Overall positive score reflecting the reduced risk of flooding through deletion of allocations (reducing the risk of flooding from rivers (DM43)). The effect on risk to surface water flooding (DM44)
unknown).
SA13
Neutral score for all decision making criteria (including increase proportion of journeys by non-car modes (DM45), ease congestion on road network (DM46) and reduce transport-related accidents
(DM49) as the deletion of the 37 allocations will not the impact the transport network.
SA14
Neutral score for all decision making criteria (including appropriate provision of key services & facilities (DM50) and increase/maintain accessibility to key services/facilities (DM51) as deletion of the
37 allocations will not affect the accessibility considerations.
SA15
Neutral score for all decision making criteria (provide or safeguard facilities for waste management (DM52) and reduce waste sent to landfill (DM53) as deletion of the 37 allocations will not affect
this SA objective related to waste.
SA16

Option 2

SA17

Option 2

SA18

Neutral scores for all decision making criteria as deletion of 37 allocations will not increase the impact of the Plan on the criteria. All 3 criterion score neutral as effects unknown or no link to;
avoiding exposure to poor air quality (DM54), impact of policy/proposal on air quality (DM55) and reducing/avoiding adverse air quality impacts on nature conservation sites (DM77).
Overall neutral score. Neutral scores for both decision making criteria as deletion of 37 allocations will not effect the impact of the Plan on the criteria (improving quality of water (DM56) and
avoiding/reducing adverse water quality impacts on nature conservation sites (DM78)).

Option 2

SA19

Overall neutral score as promotion of remediation of contaminated land (DM57) scores neutral because deletion of 37 allocations will not effect the impact of the Plan on the criterion.

SA20

Overall neutral score. Neutral scores for all 4 decision making criteria as deletion of 37 allocations will not effect the impact of the Plan on the criteria, which include reduction/avoidance of
exposure to noise pollution (DM58), light pollution (DM59), odour nuisance (DM60) and avoiding inappropriate development in major hazard zones (DM61).

Option 2

Page 430

Option 2

SA21

Option 2

SA22

Option 2

SA23

Half of the decision making criteria score positive (maintain/enhance special landscape areas (DM62), protect/enhance landscape features (DM63) and maintain landscape character of the area
(DM65) and the remainder score neutral (provide landscape features in new development (DM66), ensure development in urban areas appropriate to its setting (DM67) and encourage innovative
and distinctive urban design (DM68). Overall the effect is considered to be positive due to the deletion of 37 allocations from the Green Belt which will maintain existing landscape and townscape.
Neutral score for all decision making criteria (conserve / enhance designated & non designated heritage assets and their setting (DM69) and reduce number of heritage assets ‘at risk’ (DM70) due to
deletion of 37 allocations
Negative effect on increase energy efficiency of buildings/development (DM71), increase water efficiency of buildings/development (DM72) and increase proportion of energy generated from
renewable/low carbon sources (DM73) due to the deletion of 37 allocations means that less energy and resource efficient houses will be developed. Neutral score for promote low carbon energy
distribution & storage such as heat networks (DM74) and safeguard land designated for minerals use and promote prior extraction (DM75) as the effects are unrelated. The effect on SA23 is
negative overall.

Option 3

SA1

Option 3

SA2

Option 3
Option 3
Option 3

SA3
SA4
SA5

Overall neutral effect for employment as positive score for DMO1 (as more temporary jobs would be created in construction industry if more housing built and job creation from mixed use
allocation including employment use) evened out by negative effect for DM02 (given the accessibility of new housing to employment (places of work)) and neutral effect on DM03 - improve skills
and access to training.
Neutral score overall. More housing would create construction jobs and help promote economic development (positive scores for DM02 ). A negative score is given for access to employment
reflecting the relative accessibility of housing allocations to employment (DM04). Neutral scores for remaining decision making criteria as effects of more housing on vibrancy of town centres
(DM05), promotion of ICT (DM06) and growth and diversity of the rural economy (DM07) unknown.
Scores overall neutral as positive scores for improved quality/standard of housing (in new developments) (DM19), and increased energy efficiency (in new builds) (DM71a) is balanced with negative
scores for, increased provision of green infrastructure (DM37) and access to employment (transport) (DM02) and encourage people to take more physical exercise (DM08). The remaining decision
making criteria are neutral
Overall neutral score as decision making criteria DM11 for reduction in crime rates/fear of crime scores neutral as the effect is unknown.
Neutral effect on culture as unknown effects on for example tourism, cultural, sports and entertainment facilities.

SA6

Significant positive effect on housing overall reflecting effects for meeting housing delivery targets (DM17). A single positive effect on provision of appropriate mix of housing types and sizes (DM18)
and improvement of the quality/standard of housing (DM19) as a result of providing new housing to meet local housing needs including affordable housing. Significant positive effect overall.

SA7

Overall neutral effect, as the positive effects for providing services/facilities for different groups (DM20) and reduce overall levels of economic and social deprivation (DM21) are counterbalanced by
the negative effects for access to employment(transport)(DM02) and increase/maintain accessibility to key services & facilities (DM51).Neutral effects for safe local environment (DM09) reduce
disparities in levels of economic & social deprivation (DM22) and create opportunities for people with different communities to have increased contact with each other (DM23).

Option 3

Option 3

147 of 148

Option

Option 3

Option 3

SA Objective Comment for Assessment of Option Against SA Objective
Overall positive effect, as more housing will enable an increase/maintenance of the quantity of green space (DM24) and indoor and outdoor sports provision (DM25), as well as increase in quality of
greenspace (DM26) (single positive scores are gained for all 3 of these decision making criterion) and DM 27 improving accessibility of green space. DM28 increase/maintain public rights of way
score neutral as effects are unknown
SA8
Overall significant negative effect reflecting assessment of promoting brownfield/minimising greenfield (DM29), minimising loss of Green Belt land (DM31) and agricultural land (DM32). This is
because the provision of the allocations will create the loss of Green Belt and greenfield land.There is a single negative score for promotion of higher density development (DM30) as housing
allocations in the outer areas of Leeds are likely to have lower densitiesl than sites in the city centre or inner areas. A single negative score is also given for preventing unacceptable risk from land
instability (DM33) as this is a potential risk.
SA9

Option 3

SA10

Option 3

SA11

Page 431

Option 3

SA12

Option 3

SA13

Option 3

SA14

Option 3

SA15

Option 3

SA16

As a result of the allocation of GB land, the overall score is significant negative reflecting the potential effect on protecting and enhancing/creating new habitat (DM34), protecting and enhancing
protected/important species (DM35), designated nature conservation sites (DM36) and geological interest sites (DM38). Negative effect on increasing green infrastructure provision (DM37).
Whilst there is a positive effect on reduced greenhouse gas emissions from buildings (DM40) arising from the new construction of buildings and no anticipated effect on emissions from energy
generation and distribution (DM41),this effect is likely to be exceeded by the negative effect from reduced greenhouse emissions from transport (DM39) due to the location of the allocations. The
overall effect on SA11 is assessed as negative.
Overall negative effect. Negative score for DM37 increasing green infrastructure provision as the allocations could take up green infrastructure land and preparation for likelihood of increased
flooding (DM42) as some allocations affect flood risk zones. Neutral effect for building capacity for biodiversity to adapt to climate change (DM76) as this is unknown.
Overall single negative effect on flooding as reduced risk from flooding of rivers (DM43) is assessed as single negative given that some allocations affect flood risk zones.The effect on reduced risk
from surface water flooding is neutral.
Overall negative effect on the transport network reflecting thenegative scores for increase proportion of journeys by non-car modes(DM45) and ease congestion on the road network (DM46) as the
relatively less sustainable location of the allocations will add to the road nework and will not in itself increase non car modes of transport. Neutral scores for other criterion as effects of the
allocations are unknown or will have no effect for making the environment attractive for non car users (DM47), encouraging freight transfer from road to rail/water (DM48) and reducing transport
related accidents (DM49).
Overall single negative effect. The relatively less sustainable location of the allocations in the outer areas means that access to employment (transport) (DM02) (albeit some employment is provided
by one mixed use allocation) and increasing or maintaining accessibility to key services/facilities (DM51) is likely to be negative. A neutral score is given for appropriate provision of key services &
facilities (DM50) as this is unknown.
Overall neutral score as both decision making criterion score neutral. The effects of new development on provision or safeguarding of facilities for waste management (DM52) and on reducing
waste sent to landfill, recycling and recovery facilities are unknown/there is no strong link.
Overall single negative score as new development will impact on air quality negatively (DM55) given the relatively less sustainable location of the sites in the outer areas. Other criterion both score
neutral as effects unknown or no link to avoiding exposure to poor air quality (DM54) and reducing/avoiding adverse air quality impacts on nature conservation sites (DM77).
Overall neutral effect as both criterion score neutral. The effects of the allocations on improving quality of water (rivers, streams, groundwater etc) (DM56) and reducing/avoiding adverse water
quality impacts on nature conservation sites (DM78) are unknown or not directly linked.

Option 3

SA17

Option 3

SA18

Option 3

SA19

Option 3

SA20

Option 3

SA21

Option 3

SA22

A positive effect identified because a number of the sites were identified as potentially contaminated. Development of the land would be positive if the land could be remediated.
Overall neutral effect as all criterion score neutral - there are no effects or effects are unknown from allocating land on reducing/avoiding exposure to noise pollution (DM58), light pollution (DM59)
and odour nuisance (DM60) and avoiding inappropriate development within major hazard zones (DM61)
Overall significant negative score as 4 out of 7 decision making criteria have significant negative or negative scores. The allocations will have significant negative effects upon
maintenance/enhancement of special landscape areas (DM62) and protection/enhancement of landscape features (hedges, trees, walls etc) (DM63). Maintenance or enhancement of landscape
character (DM65) or increase the quality and quantity of woodland (DM64) have a single negative score. Neutral scores are given for provision of landscape features in new development (DM66),
ensuring development in urban areas is appropriate to its setting (DM67) and encouraging innovative and distinctive urban design (DM68) as whilst these criteria would all be encouraged in new
developments, it is unknown at this stage whether new development would enable this.
Overall negative effect reflecting negative effect on conserving/enhancing designated and non designated heritage assets (DM69)of some of the allocations. The effects on reducing the number of
heritage assets at risk (DM70) is assessed as neutral.

SA23

Overall positive (single positive) effect, as decision making criterion score positively: new developments now deal with climate change/are more energy efficient, so increasing energy efficiency of
buildings/development (DM71), and water efficiency (DM72) and the proportion of energy generated from renewable/low carbon sources (DM73) all score single positive. There are neutral scores
for provision of low carbon energy distribution and storage eg. heat networks (DM74) and for safeguarding land designated for minerals use and promotion of extraction (DM75) as whilst the
Council promotes the former and has policies for the latter links are not apparent as no specific sites have been identified.

Option 3

148 of 148

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 6

Leeds Site Allocations Plan
Leeds Local Plan

D

ra

ft

SAP Remittal – Habitats Regulations
Assessment Addendum:
Screening & Appropriate Assessment

Development Plan Document

November 2020
Page 433

Contents

1. Introduction - Purpose of the Addendum
2. Background
3. The SAP Inspectors’ Report
4. Summary of the Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening &
Appropriate Assessment, Nov 2018
5. Main Issues – SAP Remittal
6. Conclusion

ra
ft

Appendix 1 – Extract from the SAP Inspectors’ Report, June 2019

D

Appendix 2 – Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening & Appropriate
Assessment, November 2018

Page 434

1

Site Allocations Plan Remittal
Habitats Regulations Assessment (Addendum November 2020)

Purpose of the Addendum

1.1

The Leeds Site Allocations Plan (SAP) was Adopted in July 2019 and subject to
challenge in the High Court. The High Court Judged that errors had been made on
3 grounds and a Judge granted relief in respect of 37 SAP sites via a High Court
Order.

1.2

The Order is that allocated housing and mixed use sites that immediately before the
adoption of the SAP were in the Green Belt, be remitted back to the Secretary of
State and the Planning Inspectorate for further examination. The effect of the Order
is that the SAP examination remains open with a narrow focus upon the options for
37 remitted Green Belt sites.

1.3

The Council has agreed a revised position on these 37 sites, expressed through
Main Modification to the Adopted SAP. This position is that the 37 sites be deleted
as allocations from the SAP and remain as Green Belt.

1.4

As the remittal process involves a specific and limited re-opening of the SAP
Examination it is necessary to consider the implications of the revised position on
the Habitat’s Regulations Assessment (HRA) process.

2

Background

2.1

The SAP has been supported by a HRA process from the beginning, with the
following documents at key milestones as follows:

D

ra
ft

1

•

Publication of Draft Plan (2015)
o Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening: Publication Draft Plan, Sept
2015 1

•

Examination (2018)

o Revised Habitats Regulations Screening Stage Assessment, June 2018 2
o Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening & Appropriate Assessment,
November 2018

1
2

Core Document Reference CD1/19
Examination Document Reference EX35

Page 435

2

Having initially considered that the SAP should be subject to a screening
assessment only, further work was completed during the Examination of the Plan
which took into account the European Court of Justice Judgment in “People over
Wind”. This resulted in a revised screening and appropriate assessment being
carried out and documented in Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening &
Appropriate Assessment, November 2018.

3

The SAP Inspectors’ Report

3.1

The SAP Inspectors’ Report was published on 7th June 2019 and concluded in
paragraph 35 that “subject to Main Modifications, the requirements of the Habitats
Directive and in particular, Article 6(3) have been addressed and the conclusions
are in accordance with the Judgment. Appropriate Assessment has been carried
out on the relevant SPA, and Natural England supports the findings of both the
Screening Assessment, the HRA and mitigation. The Screening Assessment and
HRA adequately addresses the full range of potential impacts on the Plan”. An
extract from the Inspectors’ Report is included at Appendix 1.

3.2

The Main Modifications to the SAP required the insertion of the following text into
the Aireborough, Outer North West and Outer West chapters.

ra
ft

2.2

D

“The Habitat’s Regulations Assessment has concluded that measures will be required regarding
the provision and enhancement of green spaces within the HMCA so as to help avoid visitor
pressure on the South Pennine Moors SPA/SAC. The Council will monitor these through
monitoring indicator 24 of the Council’s Monitoring Framework which supports preparation of
the Authority Monitoring Report. This will quantify the delivery of green space and green
infrastructure delivered in the area along with the amount of commuted sums collected and
spent on green space projects. Moreover, for the purposes of monitoring this measure the AMR
will also report on specific improvements to green spaces in this HMCA, which arise as a result of
the North West Leeds Green Gateways and Country Park project”.

4

Summary of the Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening & Appropriate
Assessment, Nov 2018
Screening Stage

4.1

The Screening Stage of the HRA (Appendix 2 paragraph 4.6) identifies the prospect
for Likely Significant Effects (LSE) in relation to the South Pennine Moors (Phase 2)
SPA and SAC. These LSEs are:
•

impacts on qualifying bird species and breeding bird assemblage:
o recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying bird
species and bird assemblage from increased visitor numbers to the SPA
resulting from any allocations within 7km of the SPA boundary Impacts on
qualifying habitats

•

impacts on qualifying habitats:

Page 436

3

o recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying habitats
from increased visitor numbers to the SAC resulting from any allocations
within 7km of the SAC boundary
4.2

These LSEs are considered further by way of an Appropriate Assessment (AA).
Appropriate Assessment stage

4.3

The AA considered the 2 potential recreational impacts (paragraph 5.2) as follows:
•
•
•

first, the number of additional houses arising from the SAP in the 7km zone of
influence, then
second, the impacts on Site Integrity arising from any increase in recreational
visits, then
third, if there was found to be an impact on Site Integrity, new measures will
need to be agreed with Natural England and put in place as part of this SAP
through a Main Modification

It was noted that the SAP proposed 627 homes within the 7km zone (paragraph
5.4).

4.5

In addressing the LSEs of the proposed housing the HRA notes (paragraph 5.11)
that it was agreed by Natural England that continued management and
improvement of existing open spaces in North West Leeds would provide sufficient
certainty that any LSEs would be avoided.

4.6

As noted (paragraph 5.12) the predominant existing measures that provide the role
in deflecting recreational visits from the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC
are the management and enhancement of the following alternative accessible green
spaces in North West Leeds:
the Chevin Forest Park Local Nature Reserve
the North West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways project

D

•
•

ra
ft

4.4

4.7

The HRA (paragraph 5.16) also notes in addition to the management of the above
that existing Core Strategy policies on green space and green infrastructure can
also make a contribution to helping to deflect visitors from the SPA and SAC.

4.8

A Main Modification to the SAP clarified this and noted existing means of monitoring
the delivery of policies (as noted in paragraph 3.2 above).

4.9

It was also recognised that when the initial HRA for the SAP was done these
measures were considered as part of the HRA Screening Stage, but since the
judgment in “People over Wind” these existing measures are now being considered
under the AA stage rather than being screened out at the Screening Stage.

Page 437

4

Main Issues – SAP Remittal

5.1

The Council is proposing a revised position on the SAP in relation to 37 sites in line
with a High Court Order. The revised position involves removing the sites from the
submitted SAP as allocations and leaving them designated as Green Belt. The SAP
remittal therefore proposes no development on these sites.

5.2

This will require Main Modifications to the submitted SAP and this addendum to the
HRA to consider whether the conclusions of both the screening and the appropriate
assessment comply with the European Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC and
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

5.3

The proposed Main Modifications are positive changes in the context of the HRA,
which serve to lessen any LSE in relation to the South Pennine Moors (Phase 2)
SPA and SAC.

5.4

There are 4 proposed Main Modifications that will impact on the HRA. These relate
to the proposed deletion of 4 sites within the Green Belt and the 7km zone of
influence for potential recreational disturbance (7km Zone of Influence), of the South
Pennine Moors Phase 2 (SPMP2) SPA/SAC European Site.

ra
ft

5

Name of
allocation

Distance from S
Pennine Moors
Phase 2
SPA/SAC in km

Capacity in units

HG2-1
HG2-2
HG2-4
HG2-6
HG2-7
HG2-8
HG2-9
HG2-13
HG2-229
MX2-1
MX2-2

New Birks Farm
Wills Gill
Hollins Hill
Silverdale Av
Swaine Hill Terr
Kirkland House
Victoria Av
White Croft Garth
Old Mill Miry Lane
Ashfield Works
Westgate

3.0
4.6
3.8
4.4
5.5
5.6
6.8
4.6
6.0
4.6
4.7

160
133
80
32
7
17
102
16
15
50
15
627 152

D

Allocation Ref.

5.5

The table above is taken from the HRA (2018) and updates it to show that the
proposed MMs and deletion of 4 sites have a combined effect of lessening house
building in the 7km zone by 475 homes (from 627 homes (as in the existing HRA)
to 152 homes).

5.6

Whilst not removing proposed house building entirely, within the 7km catchment, it
can be concluded that:
•

the number of additional houses arising from the SAP in the 7km zone of
influence has reduced significantly - by 76%

Page 438

5

•
•

the impacts on Site Integrity arising from any increase in recreational visits
generated by the 152 homes, will also have a commensurate reduction
the measures agreed with Natural England, and put in place as part of the
Adopted SAP through Main Modification, remain relevant and able to address
any LSEs that may now arise from the 152 homes, albeit at a far lower
potential level

It is noted that the predominant existing management measures for the existing
parks that provide the role in deflecting recreational visits (paragraph 4.6 above),
are not dependent on funding from housing development. Fewer homes, as a result
of the SAP Remittal MMs, will therefore not have a direct impact on the effectiveness
of these management measures. There will be an impact on the direct provision of
additional green space and green infrastructure (as noted in paragraph 4.7 above)
which will now not arise in association with new homes at the scale envisaged in
the zone of influence. However, this was both (a) an additional measure to the
predominant measure of management of existing recreation areas and (b) provision
which directly would have met the needs of homes, which will now not be built.

6

Conclusion

6.1

The SAP Remittal process, following a High Court Order to reconsider the allocation
of 37 sites, intends to delete 37 sites as housing allocations. This will be achieved
through Main Modification to the SAP and involves reducing the housing released
from the Green belt by 4,070 homes and returning the 37 sites to the Green Belt.

6.2

An addendum to the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) supports the Main
Modifications as part of the remittal process. This concludes that:
The MMs will delete 4 sites in the 7km zone previously identified in the HRA
where there is potential for Likely Significant Effects arising from additional
recreational pressure on SPAs and SACs
The MMs will have the effect of reducing any potential LSEs as a result of 475
fewer homes
The existing HRA remains adequate and appropriate in addressing the
reduced potential LSEs from the homes that remain in the Adopted SAP
chiefly from the management of existing parks and green spaces

D

•

ra
ft

5.7

•
•

Page 439

6

Appendix 1 – Extract from the SAP Inspectors’ Report, June 2019

“Habitats Regulations Assessment
31. As part of the Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Assessment the Council
assessed Special Protection Areas (SPA) and Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)
within 10 km of the Leeds City Council MD boundary and also the Humber
Estuary, alone and in combination with other known plans or projects, including
the Bradford area. This identifies elements of the Plan that have the potential to
cause an adverse effect on areas designated for their special habitats.
32. Pursuant to the European Court of Justice Judgment in, People over Wind, Peter
Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta1[Case C323/17] (“the Judgment”), the Council
revisited the Screening Assessment, and have undertaken a Habitat Regulations
Assessment (HRA) (Appendix 1 SAP-HRA-Response to Inspectors’ Questions Final)
in relation to the South Pennine Moor SPA (Phase 2).

ra
ft

33. This follows the stages of HRA with evidence gathering, assessing likely significant
effects for the SPAs and SACs, having regard to the conservation objectives of
each protected site. Mitigation for adverse effects is considered, in particular the
measures based on existing projects in Chevin Forest Park and North West Leeds
Country Park, both of which require maintenance and enhancement to reduce any
recreational impacts on the SPA to an acceptable level.
34. MMs are necessary for clarity to set out the conclusions of the HRA in the SAP in
respect of the HMCAs of Aireborough, Outer North West and Outer West as they
relate to the South Pennine Moor SPA (Phase 2). Monitoring of the measures will
be necessary and this is to be undertaken through the Council’s Monitoring
Framework and the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) which will quantify spending
and improvements to green spaces in the relevant HMCAs [MM38, MM84 and
MM148].

D

35. To conclude subject to the MMs, the requirements of the Habitats Directive and in
particular, Article 6(3) have been addressed and the conclusions are in
accordance with the Judgment. Appropriate Assessment has been carried out on
the relevant SPA, and Natural England supports the findings of both the Screening
Assessment, the HRA and mitigation. The Screening Assessment and HRA
adequately addresses the full range of potential impacts on the Plan.”

Page 440

7

D

ra
ft

Appendix 2 – Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening & Appropriate
Assessment, November 2018

Page 441

8

Site Allocations Plan
Leeds Local Plan

D

ra
ft

Habitats Regulations Assessment:
Screening & Appropriate Assessment

Development Plan Document

November 2018
Page 442

Contents

1. Introduction
2. European Designations. Conservation Objectives and Qualifying Features
3. Site Allocations Plan Scope and Objectives
4. Screening Stage
5. Appropriate Assessment
6. Conclusion

Appendices

ra
ft

Appendix 1: European Designations, Conservation Objectives & Qualifying
Features which relate to sites
Appendix 2: Screening Stage Assessment

Appendix 3: Appropriate Assessment – assessment of impacts on Site Integrity
Appendix 4: Leeds City Council, Parks & Countryside Service positive
management of green space in north-west Leeds

Appendix 5: Leeds City Council, Parks & Countryside Service – Chevin Forest
Park Action Plan (extract)
Appendix 6: Assessment of LSEs in-combination

D

Appendix 7: Visitor Survey 2013 - Significant overlapping postal districts
Appendix 8: Visitor Survey 2013 – Postcode sectors

Appendix 9: Formal response from Natural England confirming capacity of
existing green spaces to absorb additional recreational pressure
Appendix 10: Request from Natural England to use Bradford City Council 2013
Visitor Survey data
Appendix 11: Distance of road network to Kirk Deighton SAC
Appendix 12: North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateways project leaflet

Page 443

1 of 45

1.

Introduction

1.1

This Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening & Appropriate
Assessment has been carried out to determine if the policies and site allocations
of the Submission Draft Leeds Site Allocations Plan (2017) (SAP) as amended by
proposed Main Modifications give rise to any Likely Significant Effects (LSEs), and
further, in respect of any LSEs, whether mitigation (or other measures) as such,
are required to ensure that no adverse impacts on Site Integrity will occur.

1.2

The following HRA Screening Determinations are superseded by this HRA
Screening & Appropriate Assessment:
o Site Allocations Plan Updated Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening
Submission Draft May 2017;
o Site Allocations Plan Revised Publication Draft: Area Proposals for Outer
North-East HRA Screening Determination September 2016;
A Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening & Appropriate Assessment is
provided for under the European Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC and Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

1.4

Article 6.3 of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC provides that any plan or project
not directly connected with or necessary to the management of a European
protected or Ramsar site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either
individually or in combination with other plans or projects, shall be subject to
Appropriate Assessment of its implications for the site in view of the site's
conservation objectives. With regard to this HRA Screening & Appropriate
Assessment, the European Designations, Conservation Objectives and Qualifying
Features relating to sites, are included at Appendix 1.

1.5

This approach reflects the LSE test provided for by the Habitats Directive, the
precautionary principle and effects in combination. The assessment of each plan’s
effects (Policies and allocations) on Site Integrity will be undertaken within the
Appropriate Assessment, if necessary. The focus of the initial Screening
Assessment stage is restricted to assessing whether a LSE may occur, which is a
‘filter’ rather than a detailed assessment of effects on site integrity. Within this
context, LSE can be defined as follows: “A likely significant effect (LSE) is any
effect that may reasonably be predicted as a consequence of a plan or project that
may affect the achievement of conservation objectives of the features for which
the site was designed, but excluding trivial or inconsequential effects (de minimis)”
(Source: Natural England).

D

ra
ft

1.3

1.6 It is confirmed also that this HRA Screening and subsequent Appropriate
Assessment has been undertaken with due regard to the judgment of the Court of
Justice of the European Union (CJEU) C-323/17 dated 12 April 2018 in People
over Wind, Peter Sweetman v Coillite Teoranta.

Page 444

2 of 45

European Designations, Conservation Objectives and Qualifying Features
(relating to Leeds Metropolitan District)

2.1

Appendix 1 sets out the European Designations, Conservation Objectives and
Qualifying Features of potential relevance to the SAP. This includes all sites within
10 km of the Leeds City Council MD boundary and in addition, due to its strategic
significance, the Humber Estuary has also been taken into account.

2.2

Information for each site has been obtained from the Joint Nature Conservation
Committee website and Natural England. These sites are designated at the
European Level as Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and/or Special Areas of
Conservation (SACs). This means they have a very high level of conservation
protection by virtue of their importance as key habitats of European significance.
Sites can be designated as both an SPA and a SAC and they are also
simultaneously designated for their national importance as Sites of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSIs). Within this overall context, it should be noted that the
Humber Estuary is identified as a site that may be affected (the Humber Estuary
is also a Ramsar site).

2.3

Although only a small part of the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA and SAC,
(known locally as Hawksworth Moor or Rombalds/Ilkley Moor) is located within the
Leeds City Council boundary (to the far north west of the District), the potential
impact on remaining areas of this site (and others) outside the administrative area
of Leeds MD must also be assessed. The Humber Estuary is 26.5 km from the
Leeds MD boundary and is therefore not close enough for any individual sites
allocated in the SAP, to directly impact on it. However, the cumulative effect of
sites needs to be considered because of the potential for effects on the River Aire
and River Wharfe (that join the River Ouse and ultimately flow into the Humber
Estuary).

2.4

Within this context, the list of European sites considered by this HRA Screening &
Appropriate Assessment are summarised as follows:

D

ra
ft

2.

•

The North Pennine Moors SPA/SAC: This is over 103,000 ha in size and exists
in parts of County Durham, Northumberland, Cumbria and North Yorkshire.
Located over 3km north-west of Leeds MD;

•

The South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC, most of which lies outside the
Leeds MD. It is part of a wider European Site (South Pennine Moors) which
totals 64,000 ha covering other parts of West and South Yorkshire and the
Pennine areas of Lancashire;

•

Kirk Deighton SAC: This is approximately 4 ha in size and is located to the
north of Wetherby – 500 metres north of Leeds MD;

•

Denby Grange Colliery Ponds SAC: This is nearly 19 ha in size and located
over 7km south of Leeds MD near the A637 in Wakefield District;

•

Humber Estuary SPA/SAC (and Ramsar site), which is approximately 37,000
ha covering Humberside and Lincolnshire located 26.5km east of Leeds MD.

Page 445

3 of 45

SAP Scope and Objectives

3.1

The SAP forms part of the Local Development Framework or ‘local plan’ for Leeds.
The Plan follows on and is set within the overall strategic context of the Leeds Core
Strategy, which sets out an overall vision for the District to 2028, together with the
overall approach to the scale and distribution of housing growth. The Core
Strategy was adopted by the City Council on 12th November 2014 (following
independent examination, where the Plan was found to be sound) and identifies a
series of strategic and thematic policies for Leeds incorporating priorities for
regeneration, Housing, Employment, environmental protection and enhancement
(including Green space, Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure) and infrastructure
delivery.

3.2

In meeting the requirements of the Habitats Directive, the Core Strategy was
subject to its own Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening Determination. This
was subsequently agreed by Natural England. As part of this process, a number
of Policies were strengthened (including Spatial Policy 1: Location of Development
and G1: Green Infrastructure), to help mitigate any adverse nature conservation
impacts upon SPAs and SACs. This approach was also considered to be sound
by the Core Strategy Inspector.

3.3

In taking the requirements of the Core Strategy forward, the SAP identifies land
allocations for Housing, Employment, Green space and Retail. Through Spatial
Policies 6, 7, 8 and 9, the Core Strategy identifies the overall requirements for the
scale and distribution of housing and economic growth. In addition, specific
Policies are incorporated relating to Green space provision and the identification
of Town and Local Centres. The Core Strategy also contains Policies relating to
Natural Habitats and Biodiversity including Policy (G8) relating to the Protection of
Important Species and Habitats (see below).

D

ra
ft

3.

Page 446

4 of 45

POLICY G8: PROTECTION OF IMPORTANT SPECIES AND HABITATS
Development will not be permitted which would seriously harm, either directly or indirectly, any
sites designated of national, regional or local importance for biodiversity or geological
importance or which would cause any harm to internationally designated sites, or would cause
harm to the population or conservation status of UK or West Yorkshire Biodiversity Action Plan
(UK BAP and WY BAP) Priority species and habitats. In considering development proposals
affecting any designated sites and UK or WY BAP Priority species or habitats, the needs of
the development and the requirements to maintain and enhance biological and geological
diversity will be examined.
Other than the above requirement particular account will be taken of:

•
•

The extent and significance of potential damage to the interest of any national, regional
or local site, or UK or WY BAP Priority species or habitat; and
Demonstration that the need for the development outweighs the importance of any
national, regional or local site, or UK or WY BAP Priority species or habitat; and
The extent that any adverse impact could be reduced and minimised through protection,
mitigation, enhancement and compensatory measures imposed through planning
conditions or obligations and which would be subject to appropriate monitoring
arrangements.

ra
ft

•

The focus of the SAP is to identify allocations for Housing, Employment, Green
space and Town and Local Centre boundaries. In identifying sites, consistent with
Core Strategy Policy SP7, the District is sub divided into 11 Housing Market
Characteristic Areas (HMCAs). Each HMCA has a specific housing target (in
contributing to the overall District wide total) and also contributes to the overall
target for General Employment Land. The green space allocations help to meet
the standards set for different types of green space in Core Strategy Policy G3.

4.

Screening Stage consideration for LSEs

D

3.4

4.1

Within the context of the only European Designation (part of the South Pennine
Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC) that occurs within Leeds MD (identified in para. 2.4
above), Plan 1 sets out the proposed SAP allocations (for Housing, Employment
and Protected Areas of Search/safeguarded land) in relation to Aireborough/North
West Leeds (Green space allocations within Leeds MD are also identified for
information). For completeness, Plan 1 also includes existing identified sites,
together with 2.5 km and 7km zones of influence in relation to the SPAs and SACs.
It should be noted that the 7km zone of influence for recreational impacts is derived
from the Bradford City Council’s HRA prepared for it’s Core Strategy, which was
based on 2013 visitor survey information with regard to the South Pennine Moors
Phase 2 SPA/SAC.

4.2

With regard to the Kirk Deighton SAC (which occurs 500 metres north of the Leeds
MD and is situated with the administrative area of Harrogate Borough Council), the
proposed housing, employment and green space SAP allocations are identified on
Plan 2 for information, showing the nearest allocation being 1.01km away.

Page 447

5 of 45

As stated in para. 1.5 above, the focus of the Screening Stage, is upon the
identification of LSEs arising from proposed allocations associated with their
proximity/likely impact upon European Designations/Conservation Objectives. In
reflecting this approach, Appendix 2, provides consideration of whether a LSE is
identified in respect of each European Site. Where a LSE is identified at the
Screening Stage then an Appropriate Assessment is required to consider in more
detail any adverse impacts on Site Integrity and potential threats to Conservation
Objectives.

4.4

The identification of LSEs for consideration has been informed by the Core
Strategy HRA Screening Determination (previously approved by Natural England
and subsequently found to be sound by the Core Strategy Inspector), further
advice received from Natural England on the draft HRA Screening determination
for the SAP (11th May 2015), the Bradford Core Strategy and Waste Management
DPD and HRA Screening and the Kirk Deighton SAC Site Improvement Plan
(included at Appendix 1).

4.5

Advice from Natural England dated 24th August 2016 stated that the distance
normally considered for acid and nitrogen deposition is 200 metres, and that
specifically in the case of Kirk Deighton SAC because allocations are to the east
of the SAC emissions will normally go in the opposite direction (from predominantly
westerly UK winds). Therefore consideration is only required of roads within 200m
of European Sites that are expected to experience an increase in traffic. Appendix
11 shows the nearest road that is likely to receive any increase in traffic being
382.5 metres away.

4.6

The Screening Stage (see Appendix 2 last column) has identified the prospect
for the following LSEs in relation to the South Pennine Moors (Phase 2) SPA and
SAC and following recent case-law these may not be screened out and will need
to be considered further by way of an Appropriate Assessment:

ra
ft

4.3

D

Impacts on qualifying bird species and breeding bird assemblage
•

Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying bird species
and bird assemblage from increased visitor numbers to the SPA resulting from
any allocations within 7km of the SPA boundary

Impacts on qualifying habitats

•

Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying habitats from
increased visitor numbers to the SAC resulting from any allocations within 7km
of the SAC boundary.

Section 5 will now proceed to consider the above LSEs as part of the Appropriate
Assessment Stage.

Page 448

6 of 45

Plan 1 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals

HG1-15
HG1-16

North Pennine Moors

Kirk Deighton

HG1-17
MX1-1

South Pennine Moors

EG2-2
EG2-3 HG1-21

HG1-18
HG1-19
MX2-1 HG1-20
MX2-2

MX1-26

HG1-22
HG1-23

HG2-13

Outer North West

ft

Denby Grange Colliery Ponds

Otley and Yeadon

Adel and Wharfedale

HG1-1

HG2-1

ra

Page 449

HG1-2

Aireborough

EG1-72 HG1-3

HG1-4

Guiseley and Rawdon

HG1-5

HG1-6

HG2-6

HG1-8
HG2-8
HG2-7

HG2-9

HG1-9
HG2-229
EG1-4

HG1-10

HG1-11
HG1-12
EO1-2
HG1-13 HG1-14

North Leeds

Horsforth

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 21/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 1.mxd

EO1-1

HG2-4

D

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 2.5km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 2.5km buffer
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
Denby Grange Colliery Ponds
Kirk Deighton
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
k k kHG2 - Housing allocation
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kGk
kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGG
G Gk
GHG3 - Safeguarded land
kGGk
GGG
Green Space

EG1-1

HG2-2
HG1-7

Created by: NF

Calverley and Farsley
Outer West

Weetwood

Plan 2 - Kirk Deighton SAC and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals

km

Page 450

ra

1.
01

km

ft

1.44

HG1-28
Legend

D

HG2-19

Leed MD Boundary
Kirk Deighton distance to sites
Allocated for school
HG1 - Identified housing
HG2 - Housing allocation
Kirk Deighton (SAC)

HG1-34

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 21/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 2.mxd

Created by: NF

HG2-226

Appropriate Assessment Stage

5.1

An integral requirement of the HRA Appropriate Assessment process, is to provide
an Assessment of Likely Significant Effects (LSEs) on Site Integrity both alone and
in–combination with other plans and projects.

5.2

The two potential recreational impacts on Site Integrity of the South Pennine Moors
Phase 2 SPA/SAC identified in para. 4.6 are assessed in this section. Firstly there
is a consideration of the number of additional houses arising from the SAP in the
7km zone of influence. Secondly there will be consideration of the impacts on Site
Integrity arising from any increase in recreational visits. Thirdly, if there was found
to be an impact on Site Integrity new measures will need to be agreed with Natural
England and put in place as part of this SAP through a Main Modification.

5.3

Plan 3 shows the new housing growth in Leeds MD within the 7km zone of influence
for potential recreational disturbance (identified by the South Pennine Moors Visitor
Survey). There are currently 20,019 existing or already committed homes in this
area. Plan 3 shows that through the Site Allocations Plan there are a further 11 sites
proposed to 2023, with a total capacity of 627 units. Plan 3 also shows in blue (for
information) the 4 previously proposed housing allocations which were proposed to
be removed from the Green Belt but are now proposed to be deleted via Main
Modifications. The effect of this is that 586 units less will be allocated for housing
than that initially proposed. Therefore, since the Examination in Public the number
of units in the 7km zone of influence for recreational disturbance has been reduced
from 1213 to 627 units.

ra
ft

5.

Allocations in 7km recreational zone of influence
Name of
allocation

D

Allocation Ref.

HG2-1
HG2-2
HG2-4
HG2-6
HG2-7
HG2-8
HG2-9
HG2-13
HG2-229
MX2-1
MX2-2

New Birks Farm
Wills Gill
Hollins Hill
Silverdale Av
Swaine Hill Terr
Kirkland House
Victoria Av
White Croft Garth
Old Mill Miry Lane
Ashfield Works
Westgate

Distance from S
Pennine Moors
Phase 2
SPA/SAC in km

Capacity in units

3.0
4.6
3.8
4.4
5.5
5.6
6.8
4.6
6.0
4.6
4.7

160
133
80
32
7
17
102
16
15
50
15

Page 451

7 of 45

HG1-15

Plan 3 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals

HG1-16
HG1-17

North Pennine Moors

MX1-1
HG1-18
HG1-19
MX2-1 HG1-20

South Pennine Moors

EG2-2
EG2-3

Outer North West

MX2-2

HG1-21
HG1-22
HG1-23

ft

HG2-13

ra

Page 452

HG1-1

MX1-26

Adel and Wharfedale
Otley and Yeadon

BL1-6

HG2-1

HG1-2

Guiseley and Rawdon

EG1-72 HG1-3

HG1-4

D

Aireborough

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
BL1 - Broad Location
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
k k kHG2 - Housing allocation
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kGk
kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGG
G Gk
GHG3 - Safeguarded land
kGk

HG1-5

HG1-6

EG1-1

HG2-2
BL1-7

HG1-7

EO1-1
EO1-41

EG3

EG1-3

HG1-8
HG2-8
HG2-6
HG2-4

HG2-9

HG2-7

BL1-8

HG1-9
HG2-229
EG1-4
BL1-9
HG1-10

HG1-11
HG1-12
EO1-2

GGGG

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 19/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 3.mxd

Created by: NF

HG1-13 HG1-14

North Leeds Horsforth

In terms of future housing growth across Leeds (including within Aireborough and
North West Leeds HMCAs) integral to the Core Strategy is the aim to meet a variety
of housing needs over the plan period. This includes meeting the needs of older
people (less likely to travel for recreational opportunities) and single person
households as well as family housing. Policy H4 of the Core Strategy therefore
incorporates a requirement for an appropriate Housing Mix to be provided in the
delivery of residential development. This Policy will therefore apply to the 11 new
sites within Aireborough and North West Leeds where a variety of needs (consistent
with the Strategic Housing Market Assessment evidence) will need to be addressed.
Consequently, the increase in housing will comprise a variety of types to meet
identified needs. It can be assumed therefore that a proportion of these will not
generate additional visitor trips to the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC due
to the demographic profile of new residents. Therefore it is considered that although
627 housing units will be delivered in the 7km zone of influence (this equates to an
additional population of approximately 1379 at a rate of 2.2 persons per household)
some of those are unlikely to generate additional visits to the South Pennine Moors
Phase 2 SPA/SAC.

5.5

In order to understand the contribution that visitors from Leeds MD make to
recreational visits to the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC Natural England
advised that the Bradford City Council Visitor Survey results from 2013 should be
analysed (see Appendix 10 for Natural England advice dated 15th July 2015 on the
relevant 2013 Visitor Survey dataset and analysis, together with subsequent
response received from Natural England Appendix 9). 1,378 adult visitors in 806
groups to the SPA/SAC were surveyed, these visitors came with 543 dogs. Of the
visitors surveyed the contribution from Leeds was able to be identified using the
postcode data provided.

5.6

The postcodes around the Leeds / Bradford border do not align with the local
authority administrative boundaries but in general they are largely within one
authority or another. The exceptions are shown in Appendix 7 and 8, where it is
proposed that for the purposes of this Appropriate Assessment, visitors from LS29
should be included within the Bradford visitor figures and visitors from LS21 within
the Leeds figures on the basis of their larger settlements. Those visitors from
postcodes within Leeds total 107 adults bringing 17 dogs. This equates to 8% of
visitors and 3% of dogs.

D

ra
ft

5.4

5.7

This is a relatively small proportion of the overall total number of visitors, and helps
provide an understanding of the existing base-line scenario. This Appropriate
Assessment provides consideration whether any new measures are required to
avoid any adverse impacts on Site Integrity of the South Pennine Moors Phase 2
SPA/SAC from any increase in numbers of visitors arising from the new 627
allocations in the 7km zone of influence.

5.8

The relation between any potential additional recreational impacts on Site Integrity
is explained below:
Recreational impacts on qualifying birds and the breeding bird assemblage (as per
Appendix 1 column 4)

Page 453

8 of 45

•

South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA - the recreational impacts arising from
additional visits from residents of the 627 new homes (from public access and
dogs off leads) are potentially to feeding and breeding birds on the ground
(relevant bird species in this case being the qualifying species Merlin and
Golden Plover, together with all the breeding bird assemblage Lapwing, Curlew,
Dunlin, Snipe, Redshank, Common Sandpiper, Short-eared Owl, Whinchat,
Wheatear, Ring Ouzel and Twite).

Recreational impacts on qualifying habitats (as per Appendix 1 column 4)
•

South Pennine Moors SAC - the recreational impacts arising from additional
visits from residents of the 627 new homes (from public access) are potentially
degradation to the structure and function of the qualifying habitats features
(Atlantic wet heaths, Wet heathland, Dry heathland, Blanket bogs, Transition
mires and Quaking bogs, Very wet mires, and Old sessile Oak woods).

When considering whether the 627 new homes in the 7km zone of influence will
impact on Site Integrity it is also necessary to consider whether there is existing
green space in Leeds MD of a scale and typology that can deflect recreational visits
from the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC. In 2015 the HRA Screening
Stage of the SAP considered the role of existing green space in North West Leeds
and whether this provides a role in absorbing recreational visits from nearby
residents. At that time the number of proposed allocations in the 7km zone of
influence was 1 213 new homes (higher than the current 627 figure).

5.10

A meeting with Natural England took place on 21st May 2015 (see Appendix 10) to
consider whether the existing green spaces managed by Leeds City Council (Otley
Chevin Forest Park and the North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateways
project) could be considered to play an acceptable role in diverting and deflecting
visitors away from visiting the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC.

5.11

It was agreed by Natural England that continued management and improvement of
existing open spaces in North West Leeds would provide sufficient certainty that
any LSEs would be avoided – it should be noted that in 2015 these measures were
considered as part of the HRA Screening Stage but since the judgment in People
over Wind (referred to in para. 1.6) these existing measures (stated below) are now
being considered under the Appropriate Assessment stage for this SAP rather than
being screened out at the Screening Stage.

D

ra
ft

5.9

5.12

The existing measures that provide the role in deflecting recreational visits from the
South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC are the management and enhancement
of the following alternative accessible green spaces in North West Leeds:
• The Chevin Forest Park Local Nature Reserve (Plan 4)
• The North West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways project (Plan 5)

5.13

The Chevin Forest Park LNR is a significant area of accessible green space (180
hectares) providing residents of Leeds with access to natural green space that is a
viable alternative to visiting the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC. Visitor
Survey information (see Appendix 4) from annual surveys of visitors to Chevin
Forest Park between 2004 and 2006 concluded that the Chevin Forest Park has

Page 454

9 of 45

Plan 4 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals in relation to Chevin Forest Park Local Nature Reserve
HG1-15
HG1-16
HG1-17
MX1-1
HG1-18

EG2-2
EG2-3 HG1-21

HG1-19
MX2-1 HG1-20
MX2-2

MX1-26

EG1-7
BL1-1

HG1-22
HG1-23

HG2-13

HG3-5

ft

Outer North West

Page 455

ra

Chevin Forest Park Local Nature Reserve

Adel and Wharfedale

Otley and Yeadon

BL1-6

HG1-1

HG2-1

HG1-2

EG1-72 HG1-3

Aireborough

HG1-5

D

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
BL1 - Broad Location
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
k k kHG2 - Housing allocation
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kGk
kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGG
G Gk
GHG3 - Safeguarded land
kGGk
GGG
Chevin Forest Park Local Nature Reserve

HG2-4

HG1-6

HG2-2
HG1-7

EG1-1
BL1-7

EO1-1
EO1-41

HG2-6
BL1-8

HG2-8
HG2-9

HG2-7
HG1-9
HG2-229
EG1-4
BL1-9

HG1-11
HG1-12
EO1-2
HG1-13 HG1-14

Created by: NF

EG3

EG1-3

HG1-8

HG1-10

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 20/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Map 4.mxd

HG1-4

Guiseley and Rawdon

HG2-11

HG1-58
North Leeds
Horsforth

34 16
14
10
13

1 17
29
9

Outer North West

18

20
19

11

25

ft

24

7

5

Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
BL1 - Broad Location
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
HG2 - Housing allocation
kkk
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kGk
kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGG
G Gk
GHG3 - Safeguarded land
kGGk
GGG
North West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways Project
! ! North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateway Trail

Aireborough

D

Page 456

1 Titty Bottle Park
2 Engine Fields
3 Kirk Lane Park
4 Micklefield Park, Rawdon
5 Nethermore Park, Guiseley
6 Nunroyd Park, Guiseley
7 Otley Chevin Country Park
8 Tarnfield Park, Yeadon
9 Wellcroft
10 Wharfemeadows Park
11 Grove Hill Park, Otley
12 Fairfax Grove POS
13 Manor Garth
14 Farnley Lane
15 Shaw Lane Recreation Ground
16 Weston Drive Sports Field
17 Garnetts Field
18 Pegholme Drive POS
19 Cayton Road Playing Field
20 Grove Hill Cricket Ground
21 Henshaw Oval
22 Nunroyd Beck (Shaw Lane)
23 Hawkhill Avenue
24 Old Railway Line Off Bradford Road
25 Old Railway Off Otley Road
26 New Road Side Playing Fields
27 Little Moor
28 Hawksworth Recreation Ground
29 Stephencroft Park
30 Hawthorn Crescent POS
31 Engine Fields
32 Harper Terrace
33 Swaine Hill Terrace
34 Weston Drive - Playground
35 Engine Fields

Plan 5 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals in relation to
North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateways project

ra

North West Leeds Country Park and
Green Gateways Project

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 19/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 5.mxd

Created by: NF

28

15

23
2

12

22
6

3

30

8

33

31 31 31
31 35

26

32
21

27
4

North Leeds

approximately 480 000 visitors per year and most visitors come from within 10km
(60% arriving by car).
The North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateways project covers 35 sites
(including Chevin Forest Park) of green space in the 7km zone of influence, all of
which are managed by Leeds City Council (see Appendix 12 for the latest
promotional leaflet for this project – note that it only shows fewer main sites). These
areas of green space are predominantly natural green space, and all offer
accessible recreational opportunities near to local communities. There is also a
walking trail route that connects many of these sites, and it should be noted that the
South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC is not promoted or signposted in any
Leeds City Council recreational marketing information.

5.15

The agreement with Natural England that the above green spaces in North West
Leeds have a key role in absorbing/deflecting visitor pressure away from the South
Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC has been established since July/August 2015
(see Appendix 9), and therefore forms the focus of any subsequent assessment of
impacts on Site Integrity.

5.16

In addition to the above existing measures (para. 5.12) there are also existing Core
Strategy Policies that relate to:

ra
ft

5.14

•
•
•

Policy G1 and SP13 apply to the Green Infrastructure (GI) Corridors shown on Plan
6. The supporting text in para. 5.5.2 of the Core Strategy seeks to maintain and
enhance GI whilst considering any significant effects on the South Pennine Moors
Phase 2 SPA/SAC.

D

5.17

Maintaining and enhancing Green Infrastructure (Policy G1 and Spatial
Policy 13)
Standards for Open Space, Sport and Recreation (Policy G3)
New Green Space Provision (Policy G4).

5.18

Policy G3 sets out standards for Open Space, Sport and Recreation in relation to
appropriate provision of new open space. The most relevant type of open space to
provide an alternative to visiting the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC is
Natural Green Space and this is shown on Plan 7.

5.19

Policy G4 seeks provision of 80sqm of green space for every new dwelling.
Following an operational review, Policy G4 is being proposed for revision in the Core
Strategy Selective Review which was submitted for examination on 9th August 2018.
The proposed revision sets a requirement based on the size of dwellings (5 bed
dwellings provide more than 1 bed dwellings) which equates to an equivalent
contribution of 40sqm of green space per dwelling. If it is not appropriate or possible
to deliver all the green space on-site, equivalent financial contributions will be
required. Indicator 24 of the Authority Monitoring Report (AMR), underpinned by
the Monitoring Framework, provides a basis to monitor the effectiveness of these
Policies.

Page 457

10 of 45

Plan 6 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals in relation to Strategic Green Infrastructure
North Pennine Moors

HG1-15

HG1-16
HG1-17
MX1-1

South Pennine Moors

EG2-2
EG2-3 HG1-21

HG1-18
HG1-19
HG1-20
MX2-1
MX2-2

MX1-26

EG1-7
BL1-1

HG1-22
HG1-23

HG2-13

HG3-5

ft

Outer North West

Page 458

ra

Otley and Yeadon
Adel and Wharfedale

BL1-6

HG1-1

BL1-2

HG2-1

Aireborough

Guiseley and Rawdon

HG1-5

D

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
BL1 - Broad Location
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
HG2 - Housing allocation
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kkk
MX2 - Mixed use allocation
kGk
k
G G GHG3 - Safeguarded land
GGGG
Strategic Green Infrastructure
Hawksworth Woods & Moor
The Wharfe Valley and Chevin Ridge
The Aire Valley

HG1-2
EG1-72 HG1-3

HG2-4

HG1-6

HG2-6
BL1-8

EG1-1

HG2-2
BL1-7
HG1-7

EO1-1
EO1-41
EG1-3

HG1-8
HG2-8

EG3

HG2-9

HG2-7
HG1-9
HG2-229
EG1-4
BL1-9 HG1-11
HG1-12
HG1-10
EO1-2

HG2-29
HG1-58

HG1-13 HG1-14
North Leeds

HG2-11

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 19/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 6.mxd

HG1-4

Created by: NF

Horsforth
BL1-10

HG2-37
HG1-65
HG1-64 HG1-66

Weetwood

Plan 7 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals in relation to Accessible Natural Greenspace
Accessible Natural Greenspace

3

1 Fulford Grange Meadow
2 Burras Drive (adjacent to allotments)
3 Newall Carr Road
4 Westbourne House Woodland
5 Gallows Hill Nature Reserve
6 Otley Bypass (Adjacent to)
7 Rawdon Littlemoor Primary School
8 Hawksworth Wood (Guiseley)
9 Otley Chevin Country Park
10 Little Moor
11 Orchard Hill
12 Yeadon Banks
13 Knotford Nook
14 Westbourne Close woodland.
15 Cairn Garth
16 Ilkley Road Verge
17 Cragg Wood North
18 Old Railway Off Otley Road
19 Springwood Road (Rear of)

5

16
Outer North West

13

414 2
6

ft

18
9

Page 459

ra

Otley and Yeadon
Adel and Wharfedale

15

Aireborough

Guiseley and Rawdon

8

D

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
BL1 - Broad Location
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
k k kHG2 - Housing allocation
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kGk
kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGG
G Gk
GHG3 - Safeguarded land
kGGk
GGG
Accessible Natural Greespace

7

10
North Leeds

19 1
Weetwood

11

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 19/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 7.mxd

12

Created by: NF

17

Outer West
Calverley and Farsley

Horsforth

5.20

The 40sqm/dwelling requirement is expected to deliver 2.5ha of new green space
from the proposed allocations within the 7km zone. Green space is expected to be
publicly accessible, and the most commonly favoured typology of green space is
“Amenity” which allows for a range of outdoor activities including strolling, sitting,
playing, dog walking etc. Further, it is reasonably concluded that provision of any
additional new on-site green space (regardless of typology) will have a role to some
degree in providing a recreational experience and therefore make a small additional
contribution to deflecting visitors from the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC.
Site
Ref
HG2-1
HG2-2
HG2-4
HG2-6

New Birks Farm
Wills Gill
Hollins Hill
Silverdale Av
Swaine
Hill
Terrace
Kirkland House
Victoria Av
White Croft Garth
Old Mill Miry Lane
Ashfield Works
Westgate

Dwelling
Capacity
160
133
80
32

Green
Space
6400
5320
3200
1280

7
17
102
16
15
50
15
627

01
680
4080
640
600
2000
600
24800

ra
ft

HG2-7
HG2-8
HG2-9
HG2-13
HG2-229
MX2-1
MX2-2
Total

Site Name

Plan 8 shows all the accessible natural green space together with the Chevin Forest
Park and North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateways project in relation to
proposed site allocations. This shows that there is a substantial network of green
space resource infrastructure (predominantly of a natural typology) and much of it
is in close proximity to the new housing sites.

5.22

On the basis of previous assessment and agreement with Natural England
(July/August 2015) it can be reasonably assumed that the Chevin Forest Park due
to its size and location in relation to the new allocations when compared to the South
Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC would, like existing properties in that similar
location, be the preferred destination for recreational visits. This is further supported
when the nature of the road network is considered, which provide better and more
direct access to the Chevin Forest Park than the Hawksworth Moor part of the South
Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC.

5.23

It is considered that the above existing measures will reduce, to an acceptable level,
the number of recreational visits to the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC
arising from the SAP. This is a conclusion agreed by Natural England in their
response dated 20th August 2015 (see Appendix 9) and given the reduction in
housing allocations now proposed by the SAP this conclusion still applies. This will
avoid any of the impacts on Site Integrity (stated in para. 5.8) from occurring.

D

5.21

1

Developments of less than 10 dwellings are exempt from the provisions of Policy G4

Page 460

11 of 45

HG1-15

Plan 8 - European Designations and Leeds Site Allocations Proposals
in relation to Accessible Natural Greenspace & other projects

HG1-16
HG1-17
MX1-1

EG2-2
EG2-3 HG1-21

Outer North West

HG1-18
HG1-19
HG1-20
MX2-1
MX2-2

MX1-26

EG1-7
BL1-1

HG1-22
HG1-23

HG2-13

HG3-5

ft

Chevin Forest Park Local Nature Reserve

Otley and Yeadon

HG1-1

BL1-3
HG1-25
HG2-17

Adel and Wharfedale BL1-2

BL1-6

HG2-1

ra
Guiseley and Rawdon

HG1-5

HG1-4

HG1-6

HG2-4

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA)
North Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
South Pennine Moors (SAC/SPA) - 7km buffer
BL1 - Broad Location
EO1 - Identified office employment
EO2 - Office allocation
EG1 - Identified general employment
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG1 - Identified housing
HG2 - Housing allocation
k k kMX1 - Identified mixed use
kkk
kGk
kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
G G GHG3 - Safeguarded land
GGGG
GGGG
Accessible Natural Green Space
North West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways Project
! ! North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateway Trail

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 16/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Plan 8.mxd

Created by: NF

EG1-1

HG2-2
BL1-7
HG1-7

EO1-1
EO1-41
EG1-3

HG1-8
HG2-8

HG2-6

D

Page 461

Aireborough

HG1-2
EG1-72 HG1-3

HG2-9

HG2-7

BL1-8

EG3

HG1-9
HG2-229
EG1-4

BL1-9 HG1-11
HG1-12
HG1-10
EO1-2

HG2-29
HG2-30

HG1-58

HG2-31
HG2-33
HG2-32

HG1-13 HG1-14
HG2-11

BL1-10
Horsforth

Outer West
HG2-53
HG1-130

Calverley and Farsley

EG1-5
BL1-11
BL1-12 BL1-13

HG2-37
HG1-65
HG1-64 HG1-66
North Leeds

Weetwood

HG1-67 EO1-4 HG1-68
HG1-69 MX1-2
HG1-85
HG1-84

BL1-14
HG1-96
HG1-97

HG1-70

HG2-42 HG1-100

Kirkstall
EO1-5
HG1-500
HG1-87
HG1-86

As there are no adverse impacts on Site Integrity identified (see Appendix 3) there
are no new mitigation measures required and therefore no Main Modifications
proposed in response to this HRA.

5.25

Having regard to the judgment in People over Wind (referred to in para. 1.6) it is
confirmed that the impact of visits and the existing measures are amongst the
matters that the Council has also had regard to as part of this Appropriate
Assessment in order to reinforce what is already a comprehensive assessment of
the measures that may be required to ensure there are no adverse impacts on the
integrity of any European site.

5.26

This Appropriate Assessment has had regard to the preparation and status of
development plans from the neighbouring authority of Bradford City Council in
relation to the LSEs identified and considered in para. 4.5 (see Appendix 6).

5.27

Through duty to cooperate mechanisms and consultation with the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA), the City Council will continue to work collaboratively
with neighbouring authorities including Bradford City Council as a basis to address
any strategic or localised ‘cross boundary’ issues.

D

ra
ft

5.24

Page 462

12 of 45

Conclusion

6.1

As outlined above, the preparation of the SAP is set within the context of the adopted
Core Strategy and the targets identified for the overall scale and distribution of
growth across the District. As noted above, the Core Strategy was subject to a
Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening and a number of Policies were
strengthened (e.g. Spatial Policy 1: Location of Development) as a consequence of
this process. The focus of these changes was to strengthen the balance between
the need to plan for housing and economic growth, whilst ensure that there are no
adverse impacts arising from this in relation to Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and
Special Areas of Conservation. (SACs). The SAP needs to be in conformity with
the Core Strategy and as a consequence, will need to reflect the policy requirements
set out. Within this overall context Core Strategy Policies G1, G2, G3, G4, G6 G8
and G9, provide a comprehensive framework to protect, enhance Green space,
Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity across the District. A key focus of these
Policies is to require improvements to existing and/or new Green space provision
as an integral component of development proposals. The use of both on site and off
site green space enhancement and provision (via the Section 106 Agreements and
as appropriate the use of CIL monies) help to implement these Policies.

6.2

Consistent with the HRA Screening an Appropriate Assessment has been
undertaken. This HRA has focused upon the consideration of identified potential
recreational LSEs in relation to Conservation Objectives and how these can be
addressed. This consideration is based upon existing measures Leeds City Council
has in place to maintain and enhance accessible green space within Leeds MD,
specifically the positive management of the Chevin Forest Park (which also has
Green flag status) and the North West Leeds Country Park & Green Gateways
project. These are extensive and comprehensive initiatives which are maintaining
and enhancing networks of green space and green infrastructure for the benefit of
local communities. Through partnership working, these projects include the
provision of countryside walking trails and interpretation facilities – to help enhance
these resources as positive experiences for recreation.

D

ra
ft

6.

6.3

These existing measures serve to conclude that there are adequate recreational
opportunities provided by existing green space in North West Leeds to reduce any
recreational impacts on the Site Integrity of the South Pennine Moors Phase 2
SPA/SAC to an acceptable level (in helping to divert and deflect recreation visits
away from more sensitive areas) and therefore will not result in any adverse impacts
on the Site Integrity of the South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA/SAC alone or incombination. Consequently, the SAP will not adversely affect the site integrity of
SPAs and SACs and because of this no modification to the SAP or other measures
are considered necessary.

Page 463

13 of 45

APPENDIX 1: EUROPEAN DESIGNATIONS, CONSERVATION OBJECTIVES & QUALIFYING
FEATURES WHICH RELATE TO SITES
European Site

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

*also a Ramsar Site

•

•

Partly within the
Leeds MD Boundary,
north eastern corner
at Ilkley Moor

Falco columbarius; Merlin (Breeding)
Pluvialis apricaria; European golden plover (Breeding)
Breeding bird assemblage – Golden Plover; Lapwing; Dunlin; Snipe; Curlew; Redshank;
Common Sandpiper; Short-eared Owl; Whinchat; Wheatear; Ring Ouzel; Twite.

ra

Page 464

Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
aims of the Wild Birds
Directive, by maintaining or
restoring;

The extent and
distribution of the
habitats of the qualifying
features
The structure and
function of the habitats of
the qualifying features
The supporting
processes on which the
habitats of the qualifying
features rely
The population of each of
the qualifying features,
and,

D

SOUTH PENNINE
MOORS PHASE
2

ft

SPECIAL PROTECTION AREAS (SPA)

•

•

14 of 45

European Site

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

Over 3km north west
of Leeds

Circus cyaneus; Hen harrier (Breeding)
Falco columbarius; Merlin (Breeding)
Falco peregrinus; Peregrine falcon (Breeding)
Pluvialis apricaria; European golden plover (Breeding)

*HUMBER
ESTUARY

D

Page 465

ra

NORTH
PENNINE
MOORS

The distribution of the
qualifying features within
the site.
Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
aims of the Wild Birds
Directive, by maintaining or
restoring:
• The extent and
distribution of the
habitats of the qualifying
features
• The structure and
function of the habitats of
the qualifying features
• The supporting
processes on which the
habitats of the qualifying
features rely
• The population of each of
the qualifying features,
and,
• The distribution of the
qualifying features within
the site.

ft

•

Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and

Approx. 26.5 km east
of Leeds,
downstream of the

Botaurus stellaris; Great bittern (Non-breeding)
Botaurus stellaris; Great bittern (Breeding)
Tadorna tadorna; Common shelduck (Non-breeding)

15 of 45

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
aims of the Wild Birds
Directive, by maintaining or
restoring;
• The extent and
distribution of the
habitats of the qualifying
features
• The structure and
function of the habitats of
the qualifying features
• The supporting
processes on which the
habitats of the qualifying
features rely
• The population of each of
the qualifying features,
and,
• The distribution of the
qualifying features within
the site.

River Aire and River
Wharfe

Circus aeruginosus; Eurasian marsh harrier (Breeding)
Circus cyaneus; Hen harrier (Non-breeding)
Recurvirostra avosetta; Pied avocet (Non-breeding)
Recurvirostra avosetta; Pied avocet (Breeding)
Pluvialis apricaria; European golden plover (Non-breeding)
Calidris canutus; Red knot (Non-breeding)
Calidris alpina alpina; Dunlin (Non-breeding)
Philomachus pugnax; Ruff (Non-breeding)
Limosa limosa islandica; Black-tailed godwit (Non-breeding)
Limosa lapponica; Bar-tailed godwit (Non-breeding)
Tringa totanus; Common redshank (Non-breeding)
Sterna albifrons; Little tern (Breeding)
Waterbird assemblage - in the non-breeding season, the area regularly supports 153,934
individual waterbirds (five year peak mean 1996/97 – 2000/01), including dark-bellied
brent goose Branta bernicla bernicla, shelduck Tadorna tadorna, wigeon Anas penelope,
teal Anas crecca, mallard Anas

ra

Page 466

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

ft

European Site

NORTH
PENNINE
MOORS

D

SPECIAL AREAS OF CONSERVATION (SAC)

Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation
Status of its Qualifying

Over 3km north west
of Leeds

Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix; Wet heathland with cross-leaved heath
European dry heaths
Juniperus communis formations on heaths or calcareous grasslands; Juniper on heaths
or calcareous grasslands
Calaminarian grasslands of the Violetalia calaminariae; Grasslands on soils rich in heavy
metals
Siliceous alpine and boreal grasslands; Montane acid grasslands

16 of 45

Features, by maintaining or
restoring;
• The extent and
distribution of qualifying
natural habitats and
habitats of qualifying
species
• The structure and
function (including typical
species) of qualifying
natural habitats
• The structure and
function of the habitats of
qualifying species
• The supporting
processes on which
qualifying natural
habitats and the habitats
of qualifying species rely
• The populations of
qualifying species, and,
• The distribution of
qualifying species within
the site.
Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation
Status of its Qualifying

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies: on calcareous substrates (FestucoBrometalia); Dry grasslands and scrublands on chalk or limestone
Blanket bogs
Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion); Hard-water springs depositing lime
Alkaline fens; Calcium-rich springwater-fed fens
Siliceous scree of the montane to snow levels (Androsacetalia alpinae and Galeopsietalia
ladani); Acidic scree
Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation; Plants in crevices in base-rich
rocks
Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation; Plants in crevices on acid rocks
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles; Western acidic oak
woodland
Saxifraga hirculus; Marsh saxifrage

ft

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

KIRK DEIGHTON

D

Page 467

ra

European Site

Approx. 500 m north
of Leeds (north east
corner)

Triturus cristatus; Great crested newt

17 of 45

European Site

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

Features, by maintaining or
restoring;

ra
Within the Leeds MD
Boundary, north
eastern-most corner
at Hawksworth Moor

D

Page 468
SOUTH PENNINE
MOORS

The extent and
distribution of the
habitats of qualifying
species
• The structure and
function of the habitats of
qualifying species
• The supporting
processes on which the
habitats of qualifying
species rely
• The populations of
qualifying species, and,
• The distribution of
qualifying species within
the site.
Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation
Status of its Qualifying
Features, by maintaining or
restoring;
• The extent and
distribution of the
qualifying natural
habitats

ft

•

Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix; Wet heathland with cross-leaved heath
European dry heaths
Blanket bogs*
Transition mires and quaking bogs; Very wet mires often identified by an unstable
`quaking` surface
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles

18 of 45

European Site

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

Triturus cristatus; Great crested newt

Page 469

ra

Approx. 7 km to the
south of the Leeds
District boundary.

D

DENBY GRANGE
COLLIERY
PONDS

The structure and
function (including typical
species) of the qualifying
natural habitats, and,
• The supporting
processes on which the
qualifying natural
habitats rely
Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation
Status of its Qualifying
Features, by maintaining or
restoring;
• The extent and
distribution of the
habitats of qualifying
species
• The structure and
function of habitats of
qualifying species
• The supporting
processes on which
qualifying natural
habitats rely
• The populations of
qualifying species, and,

ft

•

19 of 45

European Site

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

Location Relative
to Leeds

Qualifying Features

Approx. 26.5 km east
of Leeds,
downstream of the
River Aire and River
Wharfe

Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the time; Subtidal sandbanks
Estuaries
Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide; Intertidal mudflats and
sandflats
Coastal lagoons
Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand; Glasswort and other annuals
colonising mud and sand
Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae)
Embryonic shifting dunes

ra

Page 470

Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria ("white dunes"); Shifting
dunes with marram
Fixed dunes with herbaceous vegetation ("grey dunes"); Dune grassland
Dunes with Hippophae rhamnoides; Dunes with sea-buckthorn
Petromyzon marinus; Sea lamprey
Lampetra fluviatilis; River lamprey
Halichoerus grypus; Grey seal

D

*HUMBER
ESTUARY

The distribution of
qualifying species within
the site.
Ensure that the integrity of
the site is maintained or
restored as appropriate, and
ensure that the site
contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation
Status of its Qualifying
Features, by maintaining or
restoring;
• The extent and
distribution of qualifying
natural habitats and
habitats of qualifying
species
• The structure and
function (including typical
species) of qualifying
natural habitats
• The structure and
function of the habitats of
qualifying species
• The supporting
processes on which
qualifying natural
habitats and habitats of
qualifying species rely
• The populations of
qualifying species, and,

ft

•

20 of 45

European Site

National (SSSI) and
European Conservation
Objectives for Each
SAC/SPA

Qualifying Features

The distribution of
qualifying species within
the site.

D

Page 471

ra

ft

•

Location Relative
to Leeds

21 of 45

Kirk Deighton Special Area of Conservation (SAC) - Site Improvement Plan
Action No.

Action Wording

Change in Land management

1A

Restoration of the over-mature hedgerows within the SAC to improve
commuting, hibernation, resting and foraging habitat for Great
crested newts.

1B

Aim to protect (through the planning process) terrestrial habitat and
ponds outwith the SAC which are considered likely to support the
metapopulation of Great crested newts linked to the SAC.
Conduct a survey to identify great crested newt breeding/feeding
ponds outwith the SAC which are likely to support newts from the
SAC's metapopulation. This will add to our understanding of the
habitat requirements of the SAC great crested newt population

2A

2B

Once the metapopulation investigation data is available consider the
need for new pond/s, suitable for breeding great crested newts,
within the SAC, working with the Environment Agency who will act in
an advisory role.

D

Page 472

ra

Habitat Fragmentation

ft

Priority and issue

22 of 45

APPENDIX 2: SCREENING STAGE ASSESSMENT
Potential Likely Significant Effect (LSE) to consider
•
•
•

•
South Pennine
Moors SPA
(Phase 2)

Environmental Consideration

Taken from:
Core Strategy HRA Screening Determination (previously approved by
NE)
NE letter dated 11 May 2015
Bradford MDC Core Strategy and Waste Management DPD HRA
Screening
Site Improvement Plan for Kirk Deighton SAC

ft

European
Site

No proposed site allocations within
2.5km.
No proposed site allocations within
2.5km.
Site allocations are proposed within
7km of the SPA boundary and
existing road infrastructure
connectivity exists therefore there
may be an LSE through the following
recreational impacts: disturbance to
ground-nesting birds; disturbance of
feeding birds; and degradation of
supporting habitat.

No

No proposed allocations within
2.5km.
No proposed allocations within
2.5km.

No

North Pennine
Moors SPA

D

Page 473

ra

Loss of land providing feeding sites for qualifying bird species and bird
assemblage within 2.5km of SPA boundary.
Predation by pets on qualifying bird species and bird assemblage and
their nests.
Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying bird
species and bird assemblage (see Appendix 1 Column 4) from increased
visitor numbers to the SPA resulting from any allocations within 7km of
the SPA boundary

Loss of land providing feeding sites for qualifying bird species and bird
assemblage within 2.5km of SPA boundary
Predation by pets on qualifying bird species and bird assemblage and
their nests.

Does it
give rise to
potential
LSE?

No
Yes

No

23 of 45

European
Site

Potential Likely Significant Effect (LSE) to consider

•
•

•

No

The River Aire and Wharfe is
connected to the Humber Estuary
but the site is 26.5km to the east of
Leeds.
The site is 26.5km to the east of
Leeds.

No

Allocations are proposed within 7km
of the SAC boundary and therefore
there may be adverse impacts
through habitat degradation.
Distance of over 2.5km from site
boundary for housing and
employment allocations - no roads
within 200metres of SAC affected by
proposed allocations.

Yes

ft

ra

Loss of land providing feeding sites for qualifying bird species and bird
assemblage in close proximity of SPA boundary.

Page 474

Distance of over 5km from site
boundary for any housing allocations
together with poor existing road
infrastructure connectivity in
direction of SPA site from any
proposed allocations.

Core Strategy HRA Screening Determination (previously approved by
NE)
NE letter dated 11 May 2015
Bradford MDC Core Strategy and Waste Management DPD HRA
Screening
Site Improvement Plan for Kirk Deighton SAC

Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying bird
species and bird assemblage from increased visitor numbers to the SPA
resulting from any allocations.

Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying bird
species and bird assemblage from increased visitor numbers to the SPA.
South Pennine
Moors SAC

Does it
give rise to
potential
LSE?

Taken from:
•

Humber
Estuary SPA

Environmental Consideration

D

Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying habitats
(see Appendix 1 Column 4) from increased visitor numbers to the SAC
resulting from any allocations within 7km of the SAC boundary
Increased acid and nitrogen deposition from industrial sites giving rise to
emissions

No

No

North Pennine
Moors SAC

24 of 45

European
Site

Potential Likely Significant Effect (LSE) to consider

Environmental Consideration

Does it
give rise to
potential
LSE?

Distance of over 5km from SAC
boundary for housing allocations together with poor existing road
infrastructure connectivity in
direction of SAC site from any
proposed allocations.

No

Increased acid and nitrogen deposition from transport or industrial sites
giving rise to emissions

Distance of over 5km from site
boundary for housing and
employment allocations - no roads
within 200metres of SAC affected by
proposed allocations.

No

Change in land management within the site
Habitat fragmentation caused by loss of ponds and terrestrial habitat
used by GCN metapopulation outside the site (within 500m of site
boundary).

Not affected.
No
Nearest allocation in Leeds is
No
1.01km from SAC boundary and
therefore it is reasonable to assume
no impact on the metapopulation. A
precautionary check of GCN records
has not revealed any GCN between
SAC boundary and any proposed
allocations in Leeds (north and
north-west of Wetherby). Habitat
suitability of land between SAC and
nearest two proposed allocations
has revealed sub-optimal habitat and
a number of main roads as

Taken from:
•
•
•

•

Core Strategy HRA Screening Determination (previously approved by
NE)
NE letter dated 11 May 2015
Bradford MDC Core Strategy and Waste Management DPD HRA
Screening
Site Improvement Plan for Kirk Deighton SAC

D

Page 475

Kirk Deighton
SAC

ra

ft

Recreational impacts through increased disturbance to qualifying habitats
from increased visitor numbers to the SAC

25 of 45

European
Site

Potential Likely Significant Effect (LSE) to consider

Environmental Consideration

Taken from:
•
•
•

•

Core Strategy HRA Screening Determination (previously approved by
NE)
NE letter dated 11 May 2015
Bradford MDC Core Strategy and Waste Management DPD HRA
Screening
Site Improvement Plan for Kirk Deighton SAC

Does it
give rise to
potential
LSE?

ft

obstructions to expand the
metapopulation.

Page 476

No

Distance of 1.01km from nearest site
boundary for housing and further for
employment allocations - no roads
within 200metres of SAC affected by
proposed allocations (see Appendix
11).

No

Change in land management within the site
Habitat fragmentation caused by loss of ponds and terrestrial habitat
used by GCN metapopulation outside the site (within 500m of site
boundary).
Increased water abstraction from new dwellings or economic
development.

Not affected.
Not affected.

No
No

Distance of 7km from Leeds
boundary and lack of hydrological
connectivity to any proposed
allocations.

No

Increased acid and nitrogen deposition from transport or industrial sites
giving rise to emissions

Distance of 7km from Leeds
boundary - no roads within

No

D

Increased acid and nitrogen deposition from transport or industrial sites
giving rise to emissions

Denby Grange
Colliery Ponds
SAC

Distance of 1.01km from nearest site
boundary and lack of hydrological
connectivity to any proposed
allocations.

ra

Increased water abstraction from new dwellings or economic
development.

26 of 45

European
Site

Potential Likely Significant Effect (LSE) to consider

Environmental Consideration

Taken from:
•
•
•

•

Core Strategy HRA Screening Determination (previously approved by
NE)
NE letter dated 11 May 2015
Bradford MDC Core Strategy and Waste Management DPD HRA
Screening
Site Improvement Plan for Kirk Deighton SAC

Does it
give rise to
potential
LSE?

200metres of SAC affected by
proposed allocations.

ft

Humber
Estuary SAC

Increased water abstraction from new dwellings or economic
development.

ra

Additional barriers to fish movement.

D

Page 477

Increased waste water production from new dwellings or economic
development.

Reduction in volume of freshwater
reaching Humber Estuary. The site
is 26.5km to the east of Leeds.
Decrease in water quality of
freshwater reaching Humber
Estuary. The site is 26.5km to the
east of Leeds.
Barriers to River Lamprey moving
up-river from Humber Estuary. There
are no records of River Lamprey in
Leeds waterways connected with the
River Aire.

No

No

No

No new barriers to fish movement
proposed.

27 of 45

APPENDIX 3: ASSESSMENT OF IMPACTS ON SITE INTEGRITY
South Pennine Moors Phase 2 SPA
Conservation
Objectives
To maintain or
restore the:

Are there measures that will
reduce, to an acceptable
level, the number of
recreational visits to the
South Pennine Moors Phase
2 SPA/SAC arising from the
SAP?

Will there be
an impact in
Site Integrity?

No
Yes – the existence and
There is potential for continued enhancement of
additional
the green spaces provided
recreational
by Chevin Forest Park LNR
pressure having
and the North West Leeds
adverse effects on
Country Park & Green
the
Gateways project, together
populations of Annex with Core Strategy policies
SP13, G1, G3 and G4 have
1 (Golden Plover
and Merlin) and
the capacity to reduce
regularly occurring
recreational visits to the
migratory birds
South Pennine Moors Phase
(assemblage of
2 SPA to acceptable levels
breeding birds)
within the South
Pennine Moors
Phase 2 SPA in
relation to all these
Conservation
Objectives

No

D

ra
ft

Extent and
distribution of the
habitats of the
qualifying features
Structure and
function of the
habitats of the
qualifying features
Supporting
processes on
which the habitats
of the qualifying
features rely
Populations of the
qualifying features
Distribution of the
qualifying features
within the site

Potential impact on
Site Integrity as
identified in
Appendix 2
Screening Stage

No

No
No

South Pennine Moors SAC

Conservation
Objectives

To maintain or
restore the:

Extent and
distribution of the
qualifying natural
habitats

Potential impact on
Site Integrity as
identified in
Appendix 2
Screening Stage

Are there measures that will
reduce, to an acceptable
level, the number of
recreational visits to the
South Pennine Moors Phase
2 SPA/SAC arising from the
SAP?

Will there be
an impact in
Site
Integrity?

No
There is potential for
additional
recreational

Yes – the existence and
continued enhancement of
the green spaces provided
by Chevin Forest Park LNR

Page 478

28 of 45

Structure and
function of the
qualifying natural
Habitats

and the North West Leeds
Country Park & Green
Gateways project, together
with Core Strategy policies
SP13, G1, G3 and G4 have
the capacity to reduce
recreational visits to the
South Pennine Moors Phase
2 SPA/SAC to acceptable
levels

No

No

D

ra
ft

Supporting
processes on
which the
qualifying natural
habitats rely

pressure having
adverse effects
through disturbance
to qualifying habitats
of the South Pennine
Moors SAC in
relation to all these
Conservation
Objectives

Page 479

29 of 45

APPENDIX 4: LEEDS CITY COUNCIL, PARKS &
COUNTRYSIDE SERVICE POSITIVE MANAGEMENT OF GREEN
SPACE IN NORTH WEST LEEDS
Existing Natural Green space Provision in Aireborough

ra
ft

LCC’s Parks & Countryside Section positively manages a network of green space sites in
North West Leeds all of which are promoted to encourage public access. These sites are a
mixture of typologies and sizes but are managed to provide a high quality visitor experience
(individual site assessments of all Parks & Countryside parks in line with Green Flag scoring
have taken place annually since 2005 to ensure improvements are taking place). Where a
site meets the nationally recognised Green Flag Criteria it is classed as a Leeds Quality
Park. A “Parks & Green space Strategy for Leeds” has been produced in 2008 and can be
seen at http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Small%20PGS%20strategy%5B2%5D.pdf Page 32
of this Strategy shows Community Parks in blue and other sites in red that have met Green
Flag scoring criteria – such sites in North-West Leeds include Yeadon Tarnfield Park,
Rawdon Micklefield Park, Horsforth Hall Park, Guiseley Nunroyd Park and Otley Chevin
Forest Park. These Community Parks and Leeds Quality Parks or Green Flag sites all
provide a locally significant catchment for visitors across the urbanised areas of Guiseley,
Rawdon, Yeadon, Horsforth and Otley.

D

In relation to providing natural green space close to the proposed allocation sites and
existing residential population of North West Leeds the most significant Parks & Countryside
site is a Local Nature Reserve that is on the boundary of the Aireborough and Outer NorthWest HMCAs – Otley Chevin Forest Park. This site provides a park of natural green space
for dog walkers and other recreational activities that is of a similar level of attractiveness to
Ilkley Moor and Hawksworth Moor in terms of a relatively remote natural setting for visitors.
Otley Chevin Forest Park (the Chevin)
This Local Nature Reserve has been publicly accessible since the 1950s. Since 1950 it has
increased in size due to LCC purchasing additional portions of land to the 180ha. available
today. The Chevin is very popular with a wide range of recreational users because it has
very good free access by car (including 5 car parks), public transport and an extensive
network of paths. There is a visitor centre and café available at the White House buildings.
Parks & Countryside manage The Chevin specifically for people and wildlife to co-exist sideby-side a Management/Action Plan is attached as Appendix 5 to this document/available to
view at http://chevinforest.co.uk/uploads/pdfs/Downloads/Management%20Plan.pdf
Page 167 of this has an Aim “To Provide Suitable Opportunities For A Range of Visitors”
and a number of Objectives to achieve this Aim. There is a section which summarises visitor
survey results (Page 133). Parks & Countryside carried out a Residents Survey across
Leeds to understand which parks Leeds residents visit of why – this was done for three
consecutive years between 2004 and 2006 (30 000 random questionnaires sent every year).
Specific comments that relate to The Chevin are included on Page 134 and 135 of the

Page 480

30 of 45

Management Plan. From this visitor survey it is estimated that The Chevin has 480 000
visitors per year. A significant proportion of management resources are dedicated to
keeping the site clean and attractive to visit, with numerous dog bins and information on the
wildlife that is present.

D

ra
ft

From various surveys and from communication with the Estate Manager of The Chevin
between 2009 and 2012 it seems clear that The Chevin attracts local people from the
catchment area of Yeadon, Rawdon, Guiseley and Otley. One survey from 1983 reveals
out of 216 visitors: 166 came from within the district of Leeds; 36 from the district of Bradford;
and 14 from over 20 miles away. A more recent analysis of the Parks & Countryside Leeds

Page 481

31 of 45

Residents Survey in 2005 indicates that 60% of visitors arrive at The Chevin by car, and that
most visitors come from within 10km – see below screenshot from this survey:

ra
ft

Data from the 2005 Leeds Residents Surveys is available to understand why Leeds
residents visit the Chevin rather than their nearest park – this data is available on request.
As well as a Management Plan, Parks & Countryside also have a detailed Service
Improvement Plan for the Chevin – an example from 2008 is available upon request. Below
is an extract from this Service Plan:

D

The above survey information and commitment to manage the Chevin to a high quality leads
to the conclusion that Otley Chevin Forest Park has a wide enough catchment to attract
people for a natural green space experience from the Otley, Guiseley, Yeadon, Rawdon and
Horsforth area on a regular basis.
According to the Estate Manager of the Chevin between 2009 and 2012 the Chevin is
capable of receiving a relatively high number of visitors from nearby urban areas and
although there are wildlife habitats and species of a sensitive nature it is more desirable to
allow low level damage to these features at the Chevin than the more sensitive habitats of
a European nature at Ilkley Moor and Hawksworth Moor.
North West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways Project
In addition to the level of recreational provision at Otley Chevin Forest Park, Parks &
Countryside also have a North-West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways Project
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/leisure/Pages/country-parks-and-green-gateways.aspx

Page 482

32 of 45

This initiative promotes the green spaces in north and north-west Leeds and links these
through a recreational path network. It should be emphasised that none of these sites or
paths directs users to Hawksworth Moor, instead it is focussed on a circular trail route from
the City Centre of Leeds along the Meanwood Valley and across the Chevin before
connecting southwards to Rawdon, Yeadon, Guiseley and Rodley before returning to the
City Centre (as part of a wider integrated network of Green Infrastructure, within Leeds MD
– see the following Plan).

D

ra
ft

The promoted route for the North West Leeds Country Park and Green Gateways Trail is
shown above in pink (note the paths joining with Hawksworth Moor are the existing definitive
or permissive ones). This Project will actively promote the existing green spaces owned
and managed by Leeds City Council in Otley, Yeadon, Rawdon, Guiseley and Horsforth and
how they link together, it will not be promoting Hawksworth Moor as it is not owned or
managed by Leeds City Council.

Page 483

33 of 45

{
. f j - - -W-n DrllraRHrMtlan BIDUid

(

);
7

* I ---~ ~~~~
"""'----='=

ill

\

IIJr--OdayC.m-.y

,;,

--

1..--"'

.
,J '

\\T-----at.ph-=rofi:Park.

,.;::w•..., _. , - - - - --'..tt

-- --

18

~--

_,_

\o

-' r
u,

~---,

'

'

"\-~

l

l

9~

/ 7 ""

""

__.

.

-

--

._~._.-.-._.

__...t

I

J

\
\

J

.

~

Cl>

{~

';

Gi• /

,<'

·~j

/

,~--- ~

'!"______ _

\

'?;]

•

"' '

\

""

®·.

{j'" - - ....... / /

~

f
\

•

\

\
I

.-

I
I

'~
'---- I ---

18-.

/

/

p

/

(

•
@

ft

~,,

'I

--~

I

>®

......

Kirk lalla Allatmanlll

ra

"" '

•

'\::, , -

00

t

Crow TnR Alllltm-*

D

LEGEND

•

•

~

I

I

@

Nurlll Wwt l.wd& Qli.Wy Park

tmd Grwn Gi!Wvni}la Tlilll

[-

~----1::---L..ytor!Awonue

r ...... f_

- - Wast Lead& Country F'arl<.

•

l.J

Privutel;'gwned Nall.n FleHrve

- Cou~Padc

-

CommY~Park

-

CityF'ark

-

Woodlands

-

1\emtdon Ground

Hanforth HIIIIIPark

- Camnrea
-

Aiil ln'I IP'I !I

-

EduwllonaY Lebsure Faclllly

-++
-

-

-

• ,(<

k

' 'r~-

FOC!lpati1/Rightof->'

Bridlewlly

--~opanteallll'llllh

Scale Bar

0

1000

2000 in metres

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery@Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Leeds City Council 100019567

Environment and Housln
ParkS & Countrysld
7th FloOI'"We!
Merrion Haus
11 0 Merrion Centr
Leed

North West Country Park

LS280

I

Proltld North West Country Park

Location Plan - Map 1 of 2

I

Uo

~ocation Plan

~~~~~Q1f1411Cha~

"You are not permitted to copy, sub licence, distributeor sell any of this data to third parties at anytime"
Page 484

I

0

""'"'""'"\D1376103

34 of 45

II •••"""

APPENDIX 5: LEEDS CITY COUNCIL, PARKS &
COUNTRYSIDE SERVICE - CHEVIN FOREST PARK ACTION
PLAN (EXTRACT)
Extract from Chevin Forest Park Management Plan showing Aim and Objectives in relation
to “Recreational Use Of The Site” (other Aims and Objectives exist for other issues such
as “Biodiversity”, “Local Community Involvement”, “Marketing” etc.).

D

ra
ft

The full Management Plan can be viewed at:
http://chevinforest.co.uk/uploads/pdfs/Downloads/Management%20Plan.pdf

Page 485

35 of 45

APPENDIX 6: ASSESSMENT OF LIKELY SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS (LSEs) IN-COMBINATION

Relevant Plans, Strategies
etc. (other than Leeds)

South Pennine
Moors SPA
(Phase 2)

Recreational impacts
through increased
disturbance to qualifying
bird species and bird
assemblage from
increased visitor numbers
to the SPA resulting from
any allocations within 7km
of the SPA boundary

Bradford City Council Core
Strategy

Recreational impacts
through increased
disturbance to qualifying
habitats from increased
visitor numbers to the SAC
resulting from any
allocations within 7km of
the SAC boundary

Bradford City Council Core
Strategy

ra

South Pennine
Moors SAC

In Combination Effect -after consideration of
Relevant Plans, Strategies etc. (other than Leeds)
will a LSE occur?
No – Bradford have put measures in place through their
Appropriate Assessment and Leeds City Council have
measures in place through provision of accessible
natural green space and positive
management/promotion of natural green space sites
closer to any relevant allocated sites in Leeds

ft

Identified Likely
Significant Effect (LSE)

D

Page 486

EUROPEAN
SITE

No - Bradford have put measures in place through their
Appropriate Assessment and Leeds City Council have
measures in place through provision of accessible
natural green space and positive
management/promotion of natural green space sites
closer to any relevant allocated sites in Leeds

36 of 45

APPENDIX 7: VISITOR SURVEY 2013 - SIGNIFICANT
OVERLAPPING POSTAL DISTRICTS

ra
ft

LS29 Postal District

The LS29 postcode District contains very few properties in Leeds and the only main
area of housing is the former Highroyds Hospital comprising around 500 units to the
north east of Guiseley. The remainder of the area contains the settlements of Ilkley,
Addingham, Menston and Burley in Wharefdale. Visitors from this postcode are not
included in the Leeds figures.

D

LS21 Postal District

The LS21 postcode District stretches significantly into Bradford and Harrogate
Districts. However, for the purposes of the analysis and given that Otley and Pool –
in-Wharefdale are within this postal district all returns for LS21 have been counted
towards the Leeds figures.

Page 487

1
37 of 45

ra
D

Page 488

ft

APPENDIX 8: VISITOR SURVEY 2013 - POSTCODE SECTORS

2
38 of 45

APPENDIX 9: FORMAL RESPONSE FROM NATURAL ENGLAND CONFIRMING THE
CAPACITY OF THE CHEVIN FIREST PARK AND OTHER GREEN SPACES TO ABSORB
ADDITIONAL RECREATIONAL USE ARISING FROM NEW ALLOCATIONS

Date:
20 August 2015
Our ref: 161748
Your ref:
David Feeney
Head of Forward Planning & Implementation
City Development
Leeds City Council

Customer Services
Hornbeam House
Crewe Business Park
Electra Way
Crewe
Cheshire
CW1 6GJ

david.feeney@leeds.gov.uk
BY EMAIL ONLY

T 0300 060 3900

Dear David
Planning consultation: Habitats Regulations Assessment: Screening Determination for Leeds Site
Allocations Plan and Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan (August 2015)
Location: Leeds

ra
ft

Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 05 August 2015 which was received by Natural
England on the same day.
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the
natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.
Previous Advice

Within my email to you dated 15 July 2015 we welcomed the addition information regarding the
Council’s green space and parks management programmes and the capacity of the Chevin to
absorb increased levels of public use and intercept visitors who would otherwise use the South
Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA).

D

We advised however that to determine whether the existing green spaces and management
programmes would accommodate an increase in recreational use and therefore rule out likely
significant effects (LSE), greater certainty regarding the likely increase in visitor numbers was
required. This information could be obtained through the analysis of Rombalds/Ilkley Moor visitor
data collected by Bradford City Council.
Habitats Regulations Assessment (August 2015)
The updated Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) contains additional paragraphs 5.3 to 5.7 and
new appendices 6 and 7. Having reviewed the additional analysis of Leeds’ current contribution to
recreational pressure on the South Pennine Moors (extracted from Bradford’s data) and the likely
increase as a result of allocations within the 7km zone, Natural England is satisfied with the HRA’s
conclusion that the open space improvement measures identified provide sufficient certainty that
LSE alone and in combination will be avoided.
We would be happy to comment further should the need arise but if in the meantime you have any
queries please do not hesitate to contact us.
For any queries relating to the specific advice in this letter only please contact John King on
Page 1 of 2

Page 489

39 of 45

03000604129. For any new consultations, or to provide further information on this consultation
please send your correspondences to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.
We really value your feedback to help us improve the service we offer. We have attached a
feedback form to this letter and welcome any comments you might have about our service.
Yours sincerely

D

ra
ft

John King MRTPI
Yorkshire and Northern Lincolnshire

Page 2 of 2

Page 490

40 of 45

APPENDIX 10: REQUEST FROM NATURAL ENGLAND TO USE
2013 BRADFORD COUNCIL VISITOR SURVEY DATA &
CONFIRMATION THAT LEEDS GREENSPACE QUALITY AND
CAPACITY CAN DEFLECT VISITORS FROM SOUTH PENNINE
MOORS PHASE2 SPA/SAC
From : Feeney, David [mailto:David.Feeney@leeds.gov.uk]
Sent: 05 August 2015 09:20
To: King, John J (NE)
Cc: Ash, Merlin (NE); Marsh, Richard
Subject: RE: Leeds Allocations and Area Action Plan HRA

Dear John

ra
ft

Further to your helpful reply below, please find attached a revised draft of the HRA Screening to reflect
your further advice. These are covered in additional material in paras. 5.3 – 5.7 and new Appendix 6 and
7. Appendix 5 has also been updated to reflect your comments.
We are planning to commence our formal public consultation on 10th September, your urgent response by
end of August at the latest) would therefore be appreciated. In the meantime, if you have any further
questions please give me a ring or email.
Many thanks

David Feeney

Head of Forward Planning & Implementation
City Development

Leeds City Council

D

0113 2474539

From : King, John J (NE) [mailto:John.King2@naturalengland.org.uk]
Sent: 15 July 2015 14:36
To: Feeney, David
Cc: Ash, Merlin (NE)
Subject: Leeds Allocations and Area Action Plan HRA
Dear David,
Both Merlin and I have reviewed the revised HRA (July 2015). Please accept this email as Natural
England’s interim advice.
The HRA has been amended significantly and addresses many of our previous concerns as set out in our
letter dated 11 May 2015 and discussed at the meeting on the 21 May 2015.
Natural England welcomes the additional information regarding the Council’s green space and parks
management programmes in North West Leeds and the capacity of the Chevin to absorb existing levels of
public use and further increases as a result of the allocations. As discussed the existence of these areas of

Page 491

41 of 45

open space and the rights of way network provide opportunities to intercept visitors who would otherwise
use the South Pennine Moors SPA/SAC for recreation.
In order to avoid LSE and avoid an appropriate assessment of adverse effects, greater certainty regarding
likely visitor numbers to the SAC/SPA is required.
As advised the HRA should be supported by the visitor data collected by Bradford to determine what
contribution residents of Leeds make to disturbance and trampling within the site. References to Bradford’s
HRA are made, however discussions regarding numbers are absent. Without this data within the HRA, the
judgement that the existing greenspace has capacity to deflect visitors away from the SPA and SAC are
entirely subjective.
Alongside visitor numbers on the site, an analysis of those allocations within the 7km zone and the likely
population increase would support a determination of LSE and establish whether the capacity of existing
open spaces is sufficient. This was discussed at the meeting. If the population increase is low it would
seem likely that the Chevin and other areas are likely to have sufficient capacity (provided improvement
programmes are in place).

ra
ft

The in combination assessment would benefit from the above evidence, particularly the visitor data held by
Bradford. The HRA appears to rely on Bradford’s own mitigation measures which address their
contribution. Leeds cannot rely on Bradford’s measures as these address their effects, not Leeds. Leeds
should rely on its own measures to avoid LSE in-combination.
If the HRA confidently determines that the avoidance measures can absorb the likely increase in visitors
and no net additional visitors will be generated (current facilities and improvements will deflect existing as
well as future residents resulting in no net increase) then in combination would be avoided.
In summary, whilst the HRA requires further evidence to support the assumptions already made, provided
this evidence is included a determination of no LSE could be made.
Regards

John King
Lead Adviser Sustainable Development and Marine

D

Yorkshire and Northern Lincolnshire
Natural England
8 City Walk Leeds LS11 9AT

Page 492

42 of 45

Appendix 11 - Distance from Kirk Deighton SAC to road network

HG2-19 HG2-226

418.13m

D

Page 493

ra

382
.5m

HG1-34

ft

HG1-28

Leed MD Boundary
Kirk Deighton SAC

Kirk Deighton SAC 200m buffer
Distance to road network
Allocated for school
Identified housing

HG2-19

Housing allocation

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 19/11/2018
Path: L:\CGM\Nazia Fazal\Projects\Richard Marsh\SAC_SAP 2018 Appendix 11.mxd
Date: 19/11/2018
0

0.03

0.06

0.12

0.18 Miles

D

ra
ft

APPENDIX 12: PARKS & COUNTRYSIDE SERVICE
LEAFLET FOR NORTH WEST LEEDS COUNTRY PARK
AND GREEN GATEWAY PROJECT

Page 494

43 of 45

ra
ft
D
Page 495

44 of 45

ra
ft
D
Page 496

Appendix 7

Leeds Site Allocations Plan
Leeds Local Plan
Page 497

SAP Remittal – Proposed Modifications to the Remitted part of the Plan

January 2021

FURTHER PROPOSED MAIN MODIFICATIONS RELATING TO THE REMITTED PART OF THE SITE ALLOCATIONS PLAN
Please note that this is a table of proposed main modifications to the part of the Site Allocations Plan that is subject to Remittal (sites listed in the court
order) and does not relate to main modifications made prior to adoption of the SAP in July 2019.
Additional modifications to the Plan (changes which do not affect the soundness of the Plan, including consequential numbering and referencing) and
amendments to supporting documents are not included.
The main modifications (‘mod’) proposed to the Remitted part of the Plan CD1/1 are as detailed in the table below:

Page 498
1 of 13

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason

Delete the following sites from Policy HG2: Housing Allocations:
AIREBOROUGH
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 499

1

HG2-1 New Birks Farm, Ings Lane, Guiseley

2

HG2-2 Wills Gill, Guiseley

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

3

HG2-4 Hollins Hill and Hawkstone Avenue, Guiseley

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

4

HG2-9 Land at Victoria Avenue, Yeadon

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

2 of 13

HG2-13

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es

HG3-5

Outer North West

Adel & Wharfedale

HG2-1

Aireborough

Guiseley & Rawdon

Otley & Yeadon
Guiseley, Oxford Road

HG2-2

EG2-24

Guiseley, Otley Road
HG2-6

HG2-8
HG2-7
Yeadon

HG8-2
HG2-229

Page 500

HG2-4

HG2-9

HG2-29

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons
Remitted to Secretary of State
EO2 - Office allocation

Rawdon, Leeds Road

EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

W
"
)

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

HG2-11

HG5 - Allocated for schools
HG5 - Allocated for schools

HG2-37

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk
kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGGG

North Leeds

Green Space
Green Belt

Weetwood

Horsforth Station Road

Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Horsforth

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas

Horsforth, Town Street

Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS

HG2-53

Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

Calverley & Farsley

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

Outer West

HMCA AREA
Aireborough

HG2-42
HG2-43

HG2-44

¯

HG2-45
HG2-46

HG2-13

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al

HG3-5

Outer North West

Adel & Wharfedale

Otley & Yeadon

Aireborough

Guiseley & Rawdon

Guiseley, Oxford Road

EG2-24

Guiseley, Otley Road

HG2-6

HG2-8
HG2-7

Page 501

Yeadon
HG8-2
HG2-229

HG2-29

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons
EO2 - Office allocation

Rawdon, Leeds Road

EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

W

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

HG2-11

HG5 - Allocated for schools

"
)

HG2-37

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk

Weetwood

kk
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kk
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGG

North Leeds

Green Space
Green Belt

Horsforth Station Road

Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Horsforth

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas

Horsforth, Town Street

Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS

Calverley & Farsley

Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

Outer West

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HMCA AREA
Aireborough

Horsforth New Road Side
HG2-45
HG2-44

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-1
Site Name: New Birks Farm, Ings Lane, Guiseley
HMCA: Aireborough

Page 502

Aireborough
HG2-1

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-2
Site Name: Wills Gill, Guiseley
HMCA: Aireborough

Page 503

HG2-2

Aireborough

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-4
Site Name: Hollins Hill and Hawkstone Avenue, Guiseley
HMCA: Aireborough

Aireborough
Page 504

HG2-4

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-9
Site Name: Land at Victoria Avenue, Leeds
HMCA: Aireborough

Page 505

Aireborough

HG2-9

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason
EAST LEEDS
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

HG2-119 Red Hall Offices & playing field LS17

6

HG2-123 Colton Road East, Colton LS15

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

7

HG2-174 Wood Lane - Rothwell Garden Centre LS26

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement
(NB. This site falls within the East and Outer South HMCAs)

8

MX2-38

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 506

5

Barrowby Lane, Manston LS15

3 of 13

Alwoodley
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
o
nsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es

HG2-38

HG2-40
Moortown Corner

Moor Allerton

Moortown

Street Lane

Outer North East

HG2-51

North Leeds
Meanwood

Weetwood

Roundhay
HG2-85
HG2-86

HG2-90

Montreal (Harrogate Road)

Headingley & Hyde Park
Hyde Park Corner

Little London & Woodhouse

HG2-211

HG2-108

Chapeltown Road
HG2-99

Oakwood

MX2-7

Page 507

HG2-109 HG2-187

HG2-188
MX2-15

MX2-37

MX2-18

MX2-17
HG2-189
MX2-16
HG2-191
MX2-16
MX2-9
MX2-19
MX2-20
MX2-9
MX2-23
MX2-25 MX2-27
EO2-6
Armley MX2-10
MX2-22
EO2-2
HG2-111
MX2-36
MX2-29
HG2-112
HG2-113 MX2-34
MX2-11
EG2-36
HG2-208
Key

HG6-5Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

HG2-195
HG2-194
Remitted to Secretary of State

MX2-32

MX2-35

EO2 - Office allocation
EG2-10
EG2 - General employment
allocation
Holbeck
HG2-199

HG2-103

HG2-28

HG2-93 HG2-210

HG2-95

Cross Gates & Whinmoor

HG2-214

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Inner Area

HG3-13

Seacroft

HG2-98

MX2-8

EG2-27

Cross Gates

HG2-120

HG2-121

MX2-38

HG2-104
HG2-105

HG2-107

HG2-106

City Centre
EO2-9

HG2-96

Gipton & Harehills

Harehills Lane

HG2-212
HG2-213

HG2-88

HG3-12

HG2-216

HG2-92

HG2-91
Hollins Park
HG2-87
HG2-87

Harehills Corner

HG2-100

CC Parade Woodhouse Lane

HG2-209

Harewood Ward

Chapel Allerton

Chapel Allerton

Headingley

Royal Parks
Cardigan Road

HG2-119

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

East Leeds

Halton
HG2-215

HG2-122

HG2-123

HG3-18

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG5 - Allocated for schools

"
)

HG5 - Allocated for schools

HG2-114

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
Hunslet
- new sites
allocated
EG2-12
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers
Beeston
Hill
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk
Dewsbury Road EG2-13
MX2 -&
Mixed
use allocation
Beeston
Holbeck
kG k
kk
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGGG

Garforth & Swillington

Outer South East

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

Hunslet & Riverside

Beeston
HG2-138
Green Belt
Green Space

HG2-235

Temple Newsam

EG2-22

HG2 - Housing allocation

W EG2-11

Garforh

Kippax & Methley

Town & Local Centres

Local ConvenienceHG2-139
Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on

HG2-129
HG2-130 Kippax

EG2-16

HG2-140
Leeds City
Council Wards
EG2-26

Housing Market Characteristic Areas

Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Tommy Wass
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
HG2-150

Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS

Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
Morley
North
"
Primary Schools

!

Outer South

Rothwell

Middleton Park

Outer South West

Secondary Schools

HG2-116

HG6-13

HG2-174

HG2-175

HG2-177
HG2-176

MX2-14

Morley South

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

HMCA AREA
East Leeds

HG2-178
HG2-134

HG2-133

HG3-20

¯

Alwoodley
HG2-40
Si
t
eAl
l
oca
t
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–
postRemi
t
t
al
Moortown Corner

Moor Allerton

Street Lane

Moortown
HG2-51

North Leeds
Chapel Allerton

Meanwood HG2-85

Weetwood

Roundhay

HG2-86

HG2-90

Montreal (Harrogate Road)

Headingley & Hyde Park

Chapeltown Road

Hyde Park Corner

Royal Parks
Cardigan Road

Kirkstall

Harehills Corner

MX2-7 HG2-100
CC Parade Woodhouse Lane

London & Woodhouse

Page 508

MX2-18
MX2-17
Lincoln Green
HG2-189
MX2-16
MX2-16

OuterEO2West
- Office allocation

EG2-10 Holbeck
HG2-199

EG2 - General employment allocation

HG6-2

EG2-11
"
)

HG2-214

HG2-96

Cross Gates & Whinmoor

Killingbeck & Seacroft
Cross Gates

EG2-27
HG2-120

HG2-121
HG2-104

HG2-103

HG2-105

Halton

East Leeds

HG2-106 HG2-107
HG2-215

& Richmond Hill

HG3-13
HG2-28

HG2-98

Inner Area

MX2-37

Harewood Ward

HG2-210

HG2-122

Garforh

HG2-235

Temple Newsam

EG2-22

HG2 - Housing allocation

W

HG2-95

HG2-88

Harehills Lane
MX2-8

HG2-187 MX2-15
HG2-188
MX2-9 HG2-109
MX2-20
MX2-9
MX2-23
EO2-6 MX2-19
MX2-25 MX2-22
MX2-10
HG2-191
EO2-2
HG2-112
MX2-27
EG2-36
MX2-11 HG2-113
MX2-34 MX2-29
HG2-111
HG2-208
MX2-36
HG2-194 MX2-32
Armley
Key
HG2-195
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons
Burmantofts
MX2-35
EO2-9

City Centre

HG2-212 Seacroft
HG2-93

HG2-213

Gipton & Harehills

HG2-99

HG2-211 Burley Lodge
HG2-108
HG2-209 Little

HG2-92

Hollins Park
HG2-87
HG2-87

HG3-12

HG2-216

HG2-91

Oakwood

Chapel Allerton

Headingley

Outer North East

HG3-18

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

HG2-114

HG5 - Allocated for schools

Garforth & Swillington

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
Beeston
Hill
- sites
allocated
EG2-12k HG8 - Travelling Showpeople
kkkk

Beeston
& Holbeck
GGGGG
kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
HG3 - Safeguarded land

Hunslet

Outer South East

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

Dewsbury Road EG2-13
HG6-3

Hunslet & Riverside

Green Space

Green
Belt
Beeston

HG2-138

Kippax & Methley

Town & Local Centres

Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on

HG2-139

Leeds City Council Wards

HG2-140

Housing Market Characteristic Areas

Aire Valley AAP Boundary EG2-26

HG2-129
HG2-130
Kippax

EG2-16

Core Strategy
MAINWass
URBAN AREA
Tommy

HG6-13

Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS

"
Morley
North
Primary
Schools

Indicative Proposed HS2 Route

!

Secondary Schools

HG2-116

Middleton Park

Outer South West

Outer South
Rothwell

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HG2-178

HG2-176
MX2-14

HMCA AREA
East Leeds

HG2-134

HG3-20

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-119
Outer North
EastOffices & Playing Field LS17
Site Name:
Red Hall
HMCA: East Leeds

Page 509

HG2-119

East Leeds

North Leeds
Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-123
Site Name: Colton Road East, Colton
HMCA: East Leeds

Page 510

East Leeds

HG2-123

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-174
Site Name: Wood Lane - Rothwell Garden Centre LS26
HMCA: East Leeds, Outer South

East Leeds

Page 511

HG2-174

Outer South

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: MX2-38
Site Name: Barrowby Lane, Manston LS15
HMCA: East Leeds

Page 512

East Leeds

MX2-38

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason
NORTH LEEDS
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 513

9

HG2-36 Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley, LS17

10

HG2-38 Dunstarn Lane (land south), Adel

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

11

HG2-42 Broadway and Calverley Lane, Horsforth

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

12

HG2-43 Horsforth Campus

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

13

HG2-46 Horsforth (former waste water treatment works)

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

4 of 13

HG2-17

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es
EG2-24

Outer North West

Otley & Yeadon
Yeadon
HG2-229

HG2-9

Adel & Wharfedale

Aireborough

HG2-29

Alwoodley

Guiseley & Rawdon

HG2-32

HG2-11

HG2-33

HG2-217

HG2-34

HG2-38

Moortown

Horsforth, Town Street

Page 514

HG2-42

Butcher Hill

HG2-45

HG2-44

HG2-46

HG2-43

Hawksworth Estate

HG2-234

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

EO2 - Office allocation

EG2 - General employment
allocation
HG3-15

HG2-236

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG5 - Allocated for schools

and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG6 - GypsiesFarsley
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk
HG5 - Allocated for schools

Bramley & Stanningley
Bramley

Outer West

Green Space
Green Belt

Town & Local Centres

Local Convenience Centres
HG2-204
Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on Stanningley Bottom
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
HG2-66
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS

Pudsey

Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route

"

Primary Schools

Schools
! Secondary
Chapeltown
(Pudsey)

HG2-85

HG2-86

EG2-6

HG2-75

Pudsey

HG2-77

HG2-200

Farnley & Wortley
HG7-2

HG2-206

HG2-74
HG2-205
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
HG2-82
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

Armley
HG2-83

MX2-7

Harehills Lane

Burley Lodge
Little London & Woodhouse
HG2-108
HG2-209
MX2-37
HG2-188
MX2-18
MX2-15
HG2-187
MX2-17 Lincoln Green
HG2-189
HG2-109
MX2-16
MX2-16
MX2-9
MX2-19
MX2-20
MX2-9
Burmantofts
MX2-23
EO2-6 HG2-191
MX2-10
MX2-22
EO2-2
MX2-25
HG2-111
MX2-27
MX2-36
HG2-112
MX2-29
HG2-113
MX2-34
HG2-110
MX2-11
EG2-36
HG2-208

HG2-84

HG6-5

HMCA AREA
North Leeds

HG2-195
HG2-194

MX2-32
MX2-35

EO2-9

HG2-96

HG2-95

HG2-98

MX2-8

HG2-121

HG2-103

& Richmond Hill

City Centre

Hunslet & Riverside

HG2-216

HG2-212
HG2-93
HG2-213

HG2-87

HG2-88

Gipton & Harehills
HG2-100

CC Parade Woodhouse Lane

HG2-92

HG2-91

HG2-87

Harehills Corner

HG2-99

Inner Area

Kirkstall Road HG2-211

Armley

Oakwood
Hollins Park

Chapeltown Road

Royal Parks
Cardigan Road

EG2-7

HG2-207

Montreal (Harrogate Road)

Hyde Park Corner

MX2-4

HG2-90

Chapel Allerton

Chapel Allerton

Headingley

HG2-61

Leeds City Council Wards

HG2-68

Meanwood

Headingley & Hyde Park

Kirkstall

MX2-5

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG

HG2-67

Roundhay

Weetwood (Far Headingley)

HG2-47

HG2-119

Cross Gates & Whinmoor

HG2-48

HG2 - Housing allocation

W
Calverley & Farsley

Street Lane

Weetwood

Kirkstall

HG2-58

HG2-40

HG2-51

HG2-234

Remitted HG3-14
to Secretary of State

Moortown Corner

Moor Allerton

North Leeds

Horsforth

GGGGG

Slaid Hill

Alwoodley King Lane

HG2-37
Horsforth Station Road

"
)

Outer North East

HG2-18

HG2-30
HG2-31 Holt Park

Rawdon, Leeds Road

Harewood Ward

HG2-36

HG2-104

Temple Newsam

HG2-105

HG2-107

HG2-106

East Leeds

HG2-122

¯

Halton
HG2-215

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al
EG2-24

Yeadon
HG2-229 HG8-2

Outer North West

Otley & Yeadon

Aireborough

HG2-29

Adel & Wharfedale

HG2-11

Page 515

Butcher Hill HG2-236

Horsforth New Road Side
HG2-45
HG2-44

HG3-14

EO2 - Office allocation
HG3-15

Hawksworth Estate

HG2-47

HG2-234
HG2-58

HG2 - Housing
Calverley
&allocation
Farsley

Kirkstall

EG2 - General employment allocation

"
)

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG5 - Allocated for schools

Farsley
HG5 - Allocated
for schools

Bramley & Stanningley
MX2-5
Bramley

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
k HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
kkkk

HG2-40
Moortown Corner

Street Lane

Cross Gates & Whinmoor

Moortown

Horsforth, Town Street

HG2-234

Moor Allerton

North Leeds

Horsforth

W

HG2-217

HG2-37
Horsforth Station Road

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Slaid Hill

Alwoodley King Lane

Holt Park
HG2-31
HG2-34
HG2-33
HG2-32

Guiseley & Rawdon

Outer North East

HG2-18

HG2-30

Rawdon, Leeds Road

Harewood Ward

Alwoodley

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG

MX2-4
Kirkstall
HG2-61

HG2-51

Weetwood

Roundhay

HG2-48

Weetwood (Far Headingley)

Meanwood

Chapel Allerton

HG2-85
HG2-86

HG2-90

Montreal (Harrogate Road)

Oakwood

Chapel Allerton

Headingley

Headingley & Hyde Park
Hyde Park Corner

Royal Parks
Cardigan Road

Chapeltown Road

Harehills Corner

MX2-7 HG2-100

HG2-92

Hollins Park
HG2-87
HG2-87

HG2-216
HG2-212
HG2-93

HG2-213

HG2-95

HG2-88

HG2-96

Gipton & Harehills

HG2-99

Inner Area

HG2-91

HG2-98

Harehills Lane
MX2-8

CC Parade Woodhouse Lane
Kirkstall Road
EG2-7
HG2-211 Burley Lodge Little London & Woodhouse
Town & Local Centres
HG2-108
MX2-18
HG2-209
HG2-121
Local
Convenience
Centres
MX2-37
Stanningley
Bottom
HG2-204
MX2-17
HG2-104
HG2-103
Lincoln
Green
Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
HG2-189
HG2-187 MX2-15
Armley
HG2-66 Leeds City Council Wards
MX2-16
HG2-188
MX2-9 HG2-109
MX2-16
HG2-77
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
MX2-20
MX2-9
HG2-67
HG2-200
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
MX2-23
HG2-207
HG2-105
EO2-6 MX2-19
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
MX2-22
MX2-10
Burmantofts & Richmond Hill Temple Newsam Halton
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
HG2-206
HG2-191 MX2-25 MX2-27
Pudsey
EO2-2
Pudsey
HG2-112
Armley
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
EG2-36
HG2-106 HG2-107
MX2-11 HG2-113
MX2-34 MX2-29
HG2-110
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
HG2-111
HG2-215
HG2-75
"
HG2-208
Primary Schools
MX2-36
Hunslet
&
Riverside
Farnley
&
Wortley
HG2-205
HG2-194
Secondary
Schools
Chapeltown
(Pudsey)
!
HG2-83
MX2-32
HG6-5
HG2-82
HG2-195
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary
HG2-122
HG2-74
HG2-84
MX2-35
EO2-9
Beeston & Holbeck
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
HG6-2
GGGGG

Outer West
Green Belt
HG3 - Safeguarded land
Green Space

EG2-6

City Centre

East Leeds

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HMCA AREA
North Leeds

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-36
Site Name: Alwoodley Lane, Alwoodley LS17
HMCA: North Leeds

Outer North West
Page 516

North Leeds

HG2-36

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-38
Site Name: Dunstarn Lane (land south), Adel LS16
HMCA: North Leeds

Page 517

North Leeds

HG2-38

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-42
Site Name: Broadway and Calverley Lane, Horsforth
HMCA: North Leeds

Page 518

North Leeds

HG2-42

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-43
Site Name: Horsforth Campus
HMCA: North Leeds

Page 519

North Leeds

HG2-43

Remitted site

Outer West

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-46
Site Name: Horsforth (former waste water treatment work)
HMCA: North Leeds

Page 520

North Leeds
HG2-46

Outer West

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.
14

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason

OUTER NORTH EAST
HG2-26 Wetherby Road - Scarcroft Lodge, Scarcroft
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 521
5 of 13

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es

HG2-226
HG2-19

Wetherby
HG3-7 HG2-20

HG2-227

Thorp Arch Trading Estate

HG3-9

Collingham Village Centre

Boston Spa
HG2-22

Wetherby Ward
HG3-11

Outer North West
HG2-17

Outer North East

Page 522

Adel & Wharfedale

HG2-29
HG2-30

Key
HG2-31
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Alwoodley

HG2-18

Harewood Ward

HG2-36

Alwoodley King Lane
HG2-217

HG2-26

Slaid Hill

HG2-32
HG2-34
Remitted
to Secretary of State
HG2-33

EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent
HG2-38 living

HG5 -Leeds
Allocated for schools
North

W

Weetwood
k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
"
)

Moor Allerton

HG5 - Allocated for schools

Horsforth
k HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
kkkk
k

HG2-51

HG2-119

HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated

HG2-48
MX2 - Mixed use
allocation

kButcher
k Hill
Gk
G Gk
GG
G G G G G HG3 - Safeguarded land
GGGGG

HG2-40
Street Lane
Moortown Corner

HG2-236
Green Space

Moortown

Meanwood

Green Belt

TownHG2-47
& Local Centres

HG2-234

Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards

Kirkstall

Headingley

Roundhay

Inner Area

Chapel Allerton
HG2-85
Montreal (Harrogate Road)
HG2-86
Oakwood

Chapel Allerton

Hollins Park

HG2-90
HG2-91

Killingbeck & Seacroft
HG2-216

HG2-92

HG2-212
HG2-93
HG2-213
HG2-210

HG3-12
HG2-28

HG3-13

HG2-87
HG2-87
Chapeltown Road Harehills Corner
Cross Gates
HG2-95
Hyde Park Corner
HG2-214
HG2-99
Thorpe Arch Trading Estate
HG2-88
Kirkstall MX2-4
HG2-96
Royal Parks
MX2-5
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
HG2-100
HG2-98
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS HG2-188 HG2-109 MX2-16
EG2-27
MX2-8
Cardigan Road
HG2-61 Core Strategy SMALL
SETTLEMENTS
HG2-187 MX2-20
MX2-18 MX2-7
Harehills Lane
Cross
Gates
HG2-211
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
HG2-108 HG2-209 HG2-189
MX2-37
Kirkstall Road
"
Primary Schools
HG2-120
EO2-6
HG2-121
MX2-15
Secondary
Schools
EO2-2 MX2-9
Armley
!
MX2-17
HG2-112
HG2-104 Temple Newsam
HG2-103
MX2-16
EG2-36 MX2-9
MX2-19
Halton
HG2-200 and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey
MX2-23
©HG2-206
Crown copyright
100019567
Date: 26/11/2020
HG2-105
MX2-22
MX2-11
MX2-10
MX2-25
HG2-107
HG2-191
MX2-27
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

& Whinmoor

East Leeds

HMCA AREA
Outer North East

MX2-38

Outer South East Kippax & Methley
Garforth & Swillington

Garforh

¯

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al
HG2-19 HG2-226

Wetherby
HG2-20
HG3-7

HG2-227
Thorp Arch Trading Estate

HG3-9

Collingham Village Centre

Boston Spa
HG2-22

Wetherby Ward
HG3-11

Outer North West

Outer North East

Page 523

Adel & Wharfedale

Harewood Ward

Alwoodley

HG2-29
HG2-30
Key Holt Park
HG2-31
Si
t
eHG2-33
Al
l
ocat
i
ons
HG2-34
HG2-32

HG2-18

Alwoodley King Lane

Slaid Hill

HG2-217

EO2 - Office allocation
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

W

HG5 - Allocated forLeeds
schools
North

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

Weetwood
k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
"
)

HG5 - Allocated for schools

Horsforth
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kkk k
k

HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated

- Mixed use allocation
kG k
kMX2
G Gk
GG
HG2-48
HG2-236
HG3
- Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
kGG k
k
GGGG
Green Space

HG2-40
Moor Allerton Moortown Corner Street Lane

Moortown
HG2-51

Roundhay

Inner Area

HG2-90
Meanwood HG2-85 Chapel Allerton
Town & Local Centres
HG3-12 HG3-13
HG2-47 Weetwood (Far Headingley) HG2-86 Montreal (Harrogate Road)
HG2-216
Local Convenience Centres
HG2-91
HG2-28
Oakwood
Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
HG2-234
HG2-92 HG2-212
Chapel
Allerton
Hollins Park
Leeds City Council Wards Headingley
HG2-210
HG2-93
HG2-87
Housing
Market Characteristic Areas
HG2-87
HG2-213
Kirkstall
Harehills Corner
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
HG2-214 Cross Gates & Whinmoor
HG2-95
Chapeltown Road
HG2-88
MX2-4
Thorpe Arch Trading Estate
Hyde Park Corner
HG2-96
HG2-99
Killingbeck & Seacroft
MX2-5
CoreKirkstall
Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA Royal Parks
HG2-98
HG2-100 Harehills Lane
HG2-61
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Cardigan Road
MX2-7
EG2-27
MX2-8
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Gipton & Harehills
CC Parade Woodhouse Lane
Cross Gates HG2-120
Indicative Kirkstall
Proposed HS2
Route
Road
HG2-211
HG2-108 HG2-209
"
Primary Schools
MX2-18
MX2-37
MX2-17
HG2-121
Secondary Schools
! Armley
HG2-103 HG2-104
MX2-15
HG2-187
MX2-16 Lincoln Green
HG2-188 HG2-189
MX2-16
MX2-9
HG2-109
Temple Newsam
HG2-200
MX2-20
MX2-23
MX2-9
MX2-19
HG2-105
EO2-6
© Crown copyright
and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Armley
MX2-22
MX2-10
MX2-25
HG2-206
HG2-107 Halton
EO2-2 HG2-191 MX2-27
HG2-112
MX2-11
EG2-36
Green Belt

East Leeds

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer North East

Outer South East Kippax & Methley
Garforth & Swillington

Garforh

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-26
Site Name: Wetherby Road - Scarcroft Lodge, Scarcroft
HMCA: Outer North East

Page 524

Outer North East

HG2-26

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.
15

Remittal Proposed Modification
HG2-17 Breary Lane East, Bramhope LS16

Reason
OUTER NORTH WEST
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 525
6 of 13

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es

HG6-7
MX2-1
Otley
MX2-2

EG2-2
EG2-3
HG2-13

HG3-5

Harewood Ward

Page 526

Otley & Yeadon
HG2-1

Adel & Wharfedale

Guiseley & Rawdon

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Guiseley, Oxford Road

Guiseley,
EG2 - General employment
allocation Otley

EG2-24

Road

- Older persons housing/Independent living
HG2-6
W HG4
Aireborough
HG5 - Allocated for schools

HG2-8

HG2 - Housing allocation

"
)

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
HG2-4and Travellers - new sites allocated
k HG7 - Gypsies
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k
kkkk

HG2-7
Yeadon HG8-2

HG2-9

Alwoodley

HG2-229

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGGG

HG2-17

HG2-2

Remitted to Secretary of State
EO2 - Office allocation

Outer North East

Outer North West

HG2-29

Green Space
Green Belt

HG2-18

HG2-30

Town & Local Centres

HG2-31 Holt Park

Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas

Rawdon, Leeds Road

Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS

HG2-11

HG2-37

Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

North Leeds

Horsforth
Calverley & Farsley

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

Horsforth Station Road

HG2-32

HG2-33

Weetwood

Horsforth, Town Street

HMCA AREA
Outer North West

HG2-36

HG2-34

HG2-217

HG2-38

Alwoodley King Lane

Moor Allerton

HG2-40
Moortown Corner

Moortown

¯

Street Lane

Roundhay

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al

HG6-7

EG2-2
EG2-3

MX2-1 Otley
MX2-2
HG2-13

HG3-5

Harewood Ward

Outer North East

Outer North West

Page 527

Otley & Yeadon

Adel & Wharfedale
Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Guiseley
& Rawdon
EO2 - Office allocation

Guiseley, Oxford Road

Guiseley,
EG2 - General employment
allocation

- Older persons housing/Independent living
W HG4
Aireborough
HG5 - Allocated for schools
HG2 - Housing allocation

HG2-6

"
)

EG2-24

Otley Road

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
k HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
kkkk

HG2-8

HG2-7

Yeadon
HG2-229 HG8-2

Alwoodley

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
GGGGG

HG2-29

HG3 - Safeguarded land
Green Space

HG2-30

Green Belt
Town & Local Centres

Holt Park
HG2-31
HG2-34
HG2-33
HG2-32

Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA

Rawdon, Leeds Road
HG2-11

Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS

HG2-37

North Leeds

Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

Outer West

Horsforth

Calverley & Farsley

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

Horsforth Station Road

HG2-18
Alwoodley King Lane
HG2-217

Weetwood
Moor Allerton

HG2-40
Moortown Corner

Moortown

Horsforth, Town Street

HMCA AREA
Outer North West

¯

Street Lane

Roundhay

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-17
Site Name: Breary Lane East, Bramhope
HMCA: Outer North West

HG2-17

Page 528

Outer North West

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason
OUTER SOUTH
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement.
(NB. This site falls within the East and Outer South HMCAs)

Page 529

16

HG2-174 Wood Lane - Rothwell Garden Centre, LS26

17

HG2-175 Bullough Lane - Haigh Farm (land adjacent to), Rothwell
LS26

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

18

HG2-177 Alma Villas (site at), Woodlesford LS26 8PW

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

19

HG2-180 Land between Fleet Lane & Methley Lane, Oulton

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

20

HG2-183 Swithens Lane, Rothwell LS26 0BS

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

7 of 13

Mod
No.
21

Remittal Proposed Modification
HG2-186 Main Street, Hunts Farm, Methley

Reason
OUTER SOUTH
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 530
8 of 13

Temple Newsam

Hunslet

Si
t
eA
l
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es
EG2-13
HG6-3

Hunslet & Riverside

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

East Leeds

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

HG2-129

EG2-16

HG2-130 Kippax

Garforth & Swillington

HG6-13
HG2-116

Inner Area
Middleton Park

Outer South East

HG2-175

HG2-174

HG2-177

HG2-178

HG2-176

HG2-134

MX2-14

MX2-13
Middleton (Ring Road)

Rothwell
HG2-183

Outer South
Page 531

HG2-164

HG2-231

HG2-232

EG2-21

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

HG2-233

Rothwell

HG3-20

Kippax & Methley

HG2-180

HG2-135
HG2-186

HG2-182

HG2-165

HG2-133

HG3-26

Outer South West

HG2-166

Ardsley
& Robin Hood
EO2 - Office allocation
Remitted to Secretary of State

EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

HG3-25
HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG2-172
HG5 - Allocated
for schools

W
"
)

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
East Ardsley
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk
kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGGG

Green Space
Green Belt
Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer South

¯

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

Hunslet

Temple Newsam

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al
EG2-13

HG6-3

Hunslet & Riverside

East Leeds

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

HG2-129

HG2-130

EG2-16

Kippax

Beeston & Holbeck

Garforth & Swillington

HG6-13

Outer South East

HG2-116

Inner Area

Middleton Park

HG2-178

HG2-176

MX2-14
MX2-13

Rothwell

Middleton (Ring Road)

Outer South

Page 532

HG2-164
HG2-232
HG2-231

HG3-20

Kippax & Methley
HG2-135

HG2-182

Outer South West
Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Rothwell

HG2-134

HG3-26

EG2-21

Ardsley & Robin Hood

EO2 - Office allocation
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

HG3-25
W

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG5 -HG2-172
Allocated for schools

HG5-8

"
)

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk
MX2 - Mixed use allocation
East
kk
k kArdsley
GGGG
kk
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGG

Green Space
Green Belt
Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer South

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-174
Site Name: Wood Lane - Rothwell Garden Centre LS26
HMCA: East Leeds, Outer South

East Leeds

Page 533

HG2-174

Outer South

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-175
Site Name: Bullough Lane - Haigh Farm (land adjacent to), Rothwell LS26 0JY
HMCA: Outer South

Page 534

Outer South

HG2-175

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-177
Site Name: Alma Villas (site at), Woodlesford LS26 8PW
Outer South East
HMCA: Outer South

Page 535

HG2-177

Outer South

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-180
Site Name: Land between Fleet Lane & Methley Lane Oulton
HMCA: Outer South

Page 536

Outer South
HG2-180

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-183
Site Name: Swithens Lane, Rothwell, Leeds LS26 0BS
HMCA: Outer South

Page 537

Outer South

HG2-183

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-186
Site Name: Main Street, Hunts Farm, Methley
HMCA: Outer South

Page 538

Outer South

HG2-186

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.
22

23

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason

OUTER SOUTH EAST
HG2-126 Micklefield Railway Station Car Park (land to north of),
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
Micklefield LS25
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement
HG2-133 Ninevah Lane, Allerton Bywater

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 539
9 of 13

HG2-95

HG2-96

HG2-88

HG2-214

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es
Inner Area

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Cross Gates

HG2-120

MX2-38

HG2-104

HG2-105

Halton

HG2-107

HG2-106

Outer North East

EG2-27

HG2-121

HG2-103

Harewood Ward

Cross Gates & Whinmoor

HG2-98

Garforh

HG2-215

East Leeds

HG2-122

HG2-123

HG2-235

Temple Newsam

HG8-3

HG2-126

HG2-125

HG3-18

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

Garforth & Swillington

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

Page 540

Outer South East
HG2-129

Hunslet & Riverside

HG2-130 Kippax

Kippax & Methley

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons
Remitted to Secretary of State
EO2 - Office allocation

HG2-175

HG2-177

EG2 - General employment allocation

HG2-174

HG2 - Housing allocation

W
"
)

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG5 - Allocated for schools
HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk
kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
land
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded
Rothwell
G Gk
GRothwell
G
GGGGG

Green Space

HG2-178

HG2-176

HG2-134

MX2-14

HG2-133
HG2-180

Green Belt

Town & Local
Centres
HG2-183

HG2-135

Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on

HG2-182

HG2-186

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary

HG3-26

Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA

HG3-20

Outer South

Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route

"

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

Ardsley & Robin Hood
!

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer South East

¯

HG2-95

HG2-214

HG2-96
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al

Inner Area

HG2-98

Harewood Ward

Cross Gates & Whinmoor

Killingbeck & Seacroft

Outer North East

EG2-27

Cross Gates

HG2-120

HG2-121
HG2-104

HG2-105

Halton
Garforh

HG2-106 HG2-107
HG2-215
HG2-122

East Leeds

HG2-235

Temple Newsam

HG8-3 HG2-125

HG3-18

Garforth & Swillington

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill
Page 541

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

Outer South East
HG2-129

Hunslet & Riverside

HG2-130

Kippax

Kippax & Methley

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons
EO2 - Office allocation
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

HG2-178

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living HG2-176

W

HG5 - Allocated for schools

"
)

HG5 - Allocated for schools

MX2-14

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk

HG2-134
HG3-20

kk
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
land
kk
kHG3 - Safeguarded
Rothwell
G Gk
GG
GGGG

Green Space
Green Belt
Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards

Rothwell

HG2-135

Outer South

Housing Market Characteristic Areas
HG2-182

HG3-26

Aire Valley AAP Boundary

Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

Ardsley & Robin Hood
!

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer South East

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-126
Site Name: Micklefield Railway Station Car Park (land to north of), Micklefield, LS25
HMCA: Outer South East

Page 542

Outer South East
HG2-126

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-133
Site Name: Ninevah Lane, Allerton Bywater
HMCA: Outer South East

Page 543

Outer South East

HG2-133

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason
OUTER SOUTH WEST
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

HG2-136 Whitehall Road (south of) - Harpers Farm

25

HG2-150 Churwell (land to the east of) LS27

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

26

HG2-153 Albert Drive, Morley

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

27

HG2-159 Sissons Farm, Middleton, LS10

28

HG2-165 Thorpe Hill Farm, Lingwell Gate Lane, Thorpe

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

29

HG2-166 Long Thorpe Lane (land off), Thorpe, Wakefield WK3
3BZ

Page 544

24

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

10 of 13

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

30

HG2-167 Old Thorpe Lane (land at), Tingley WF3

31

HG2-233 Land at Moor Knoll Lane, East Ardsley

Reason
OUTER SOUTH WEST
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 545
11 of 13

HG2-74

HG2-72

HG2-82 HG2-82

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es
HG2-72
EG2-9
Pudsey

EG2-10

Lower Wortley

Outer West

HG2-73

Armley

HG2-84

HG2-137

Farnley & Wortley

Holbeck

Inner Area

HG2-114

EG2-12

Beeston Hill

EG2-14

Beeston & Holbeck
HG6-11

Dewsbury Road EG2-13

HG2-140

HG6-8

Morley North

Drighlington
HG2-142

Middleton Park
EG2-23
HG2-153

Outer South West
Page 546
Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Morley South

HG7-1

HG2-155
Morley

Middleton (Ring Road)
Middleton Park Circus

HG2-156

HG2-157

MX2-13

HG2-160
HG2-161
EG2-19
HG3-23

HG2-158

EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation
HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk

HG3-25

HG5-8

HG2-169

HG2-172
East Ardsley

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGGG

Green Space
Green Belt
Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer South West

HG2-183

HG3-26

HG2-166

HG2-233

Rothwell

HG2-182

HG2-165

HG2-171

HG2-168

HG5 - Allocated for schools

Outer South

EG2-21

HG2-159

Ardsley & Robin Hood

EO2 - Office allocation

Rothwell

HG2-164
HG2-232
HG2-231

HG2-167

Remitted to Secretary of State

"
)

HG2-175
HG2-174

HG2-146

HG6-4

W

HG6-13

HG2-116

HG2-149

HG5-9

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

EG2-16

EG2-26

HG2-150
HG2-143

East Leeds
Garforth & Swillington

Tommy Wass

HG3-22

HG8-1

Temple Newsam

Hunslet & Riverside

HG2-139

HG6-1

HG2-122

Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

Hunslet

HG2-138 Beeston

HG6-12

City Centre

MX2-35 HG6-2
EG2-22
HG2-199

EG2-11

EG2-25

HG2-136

EO2-9

HG2-195

¯

HG2-82

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al
Pudsey

HG2-73

HG2-84

Lower Wortley
EG2-25

Outer West

Armley
EG2-11

HG6-8

Dewsbury Road EG2-13
HG6-3

Hunslet & Riverside

HG6-13
HG2-116

HG5-9

Morley North
HG2-149

Middleton Park

HG2-146
EG2-23

MX2-13

Page 547

Outer South West

HG7-1

Morley HG2-155

HG2-160

HG2-156

Morley South

HG2-157

HG2-161

Outer South

HG2-164
HG2-232
HG2-231

HG2-182
HG3-26
EG2-21

HG3-23

HG2-158

Rothwell

Middleton (Ring Road)
Middleton Park Circus

EG2-19

HG6-9
HG6-16

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Ardsley & Robin Hood

EO2 - Office allocation
EG2 - General employment allocation

HG2-171

HG2 - Housing allocation

"
)

Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan Boundary

EG2-16

EG2-26
Tommy Wass

HG6-4

W

East Leeds

Garforth & Swillington

Inner Area

HG2-140

HG3-22

HG8-1

Temple Newsam
Burmantofts & Richmond Hill

Hunslet

HG2-139

HG6-1

HG2-122

City Centre

Beeston Hill

Beeston
HG2-138

HG6-12

HG2-142

EG2-22

HG2-114

Beeston & Holbeck

HG6-11

Drighlington HG2-143

EG2-10 Holbeck
HG2-199

HG2-137
EG2-12
EG2-14

Farnley & Wortley

EO2-9
HG6-2

MX2-35

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

HG2-168

HG5 - Allocated for schools
HG5 - Allocated for schools

HG2-169

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
k HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
kkkk

HG3-25
HG2-172

HG5-8

East Ardsley

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
GGGGG

HG3 - Safeguarded land
Green Space

Green Belt
Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas
Aire Valley AAP Boundary
Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS
Indicative Proposed HS2 Route
"

!

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

HMCA AREA
Outer South West

¯

Rothwell

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-136
Outer
West
Site Name: Whitehall Road (south
of)
- Harpers Farm
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 548

Outer South West
HG2-136

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-150
Site Name: Churwell (land to the east of) LS27
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 549

Outer South West

HG2-150

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-153
Site Name: Albert Drive Morley
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 550

HG2-153

Outer South West

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-159
Site Name: Sissons Farm, Middleton LS10
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 551

Outer South West

HG2-159

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-165
Site Name: Thorpe Hill Farm, Lingwell Gate Lane, Thorpe
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 552

Outer South West

HG2-165

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-166
Site Name: Long Thorpe Lane (land off), Thorpe, Wakefield WF3 3BZ
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 553

Outer South West

HG2-166

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-167
Site Name: Old Thorpe Lane (land at), Tingley WF3
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 554

HG2-167

Outer South West

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-233
Site Name: Land at Moor Knoll Lane East Ardsley
HMCA: Outer South West

Page 555

Outer South West

HG2-233

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Mod
No.
32

Remittal Proposed Modification

Reason

OUTER WEST
HG2-53 Calverley Cutting / Leeds Liverpool Canal, Apperley
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
Bridge
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement
HG2-63 Woodhall Road (land adjoining) - Gain Lane, Thornbury
BD3

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

34

HG2-65 Daleside Road, Thornbury North

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

35

HG2-68 Waterloo Road (land at), Pudsey LS28

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

36

HG2-69 Dick Lane, Thornbury

The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 556

33

12 of 13

Mod
No.

Remittal Proposed Modification

37

HG2-71 Land off Tyersal Road, Pudsey

38

HG2-72 Land off Tyersal Court, Tyersal

Reason
OUTER WEST
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement
The Council has now carried out further evidence work and has
concluded that exceptional circumstances do not exist to justify
releasing any of the sites listed in the Court Order for housing. This
is because the supply from non-Green Belt sites exceeds the plan
requirement

Page 557
13 of 13

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–asadopt
ed10t
hJul
y2019–hi
ghl
i
ght
i
ngr
emi
t
t
edsi
t
es
Aireborough
Horsforth
HG2-53

Adel & Wharfedale

Horsforth, Town Street
HG2-42

Butcher Hill

HG2-45

HG2-44

HG2-46

HG2-43

Hawksworth Estate

HG2-234

Bramley & Stanningley

Page 558

HG2-66

HG2-65

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons
Remitted to Secretary of State
EO2 - Office allocation
EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

W
"
)

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living
HG5 - Allocated for schools

HG2-69
EG2-9

HG2-72

EG2-6

Stanningley Bottom

HG7-2

HG2-74

HG2-205

Pudsey

HG5 - Allocated for schools

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk

HG2-73

Farnley & Wortley

HG2-136

kG k
k kMX2 - Mixed use allocation
GGGG
kG k
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG
GGGGG

Hyde Park Corner

HG2-82

HG6-5

HG2-84

MX2-32
MX2-35

Holbeck

HG2-199

HG6-2

EO2-9
EG2-22

EG2-11

EG2-25
HG2-137

HG2-114

EG2-12
EG2-14

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on

Beeston Hill

EG2-13
Dewsbury Road
HG6-3

Beeston & Holbeck
HG2-138 Beeston

Leeds City Council Wards
Housing Market Characteristic Areas

HG6-11

Aire Valley AAP Boundary

HG6-12

Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS

HG6-8

Indicative Proposed HS2 Route

Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Remittal 2.mxd

City Centre MX2-7

HG2-195
HG2-194
EG2-10

Lower Wortley

Local Convenience Centres

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020

HG2-99

CC Parade Woodhouse Lane
Burley Lodge
HG2-108
HG2-209
HG2-188
MX2-18
Little London & Woodhouse
MX2-15
HG2-187
MX2-17
Armley
HG2-189
HG2-109
HG2-191 MX2-16 MX2-16
MX2-9
MX2-19
MX2-20
HG2-200
MX2-9
MX2-23
EO2-6
MX2-25 MX2-22
MX2-10
EO2-2
Armley
HG2-111
MX2-27
HG2-206
MX2-36
HG2-112
MX2-29
HG2-113
MX2-34
HG2-110
MX2-11
HG2-83
EG2-36
HG2-208

Town & Local Centres

!

Chapel Allerton

Royal Parks
Cardigan Road

Green Space

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

HG2-86

Headingley

MX2-4

Green Belt

"

Chapel Allerton

HG2-85

Inner Area

HG2-77

Chapeltown (Pudsey) HG2-75

HG2-72

Meanwood

Kirkstall Road HG2-211

Pudsey

HG2-68

HG2-71

North Leeds

Weetwood (Far Headingley)

HG2-61

EG2-7

HG2-207

HG2-67

HG2-70

Roundhay

Headingley & Hyde Park

Kirkstall

MX2-5

Outer West
HG2-64

HG2-236

Moortown Corner

HG2-51

HG2-48

Kirkstall

Bramley

HG2-204

Moortown

Weetwood

HG2-47

HG2-58

HG3-15

Farsley

HG2-63

Moor Allerton

HG2-234

HG3-14

Calverley & Farsley

Alwoodley

HG2-38

Horsforth Station Road

Morley North

HG8-1

HMCA AREA
Outer West

HG2-139
HG6-1

Outer South West

HG2-140

EG2-26

EG2-16

Tommy Wass

HG3-22
HG2-150

Middleton Park

¯

HG2-116

Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
onsPl
an–Pr
oposed–postRemi
t
t
al
Aireborough
Horsforth

Horsforth, Town Street

North Leeds

Calverley & Farsley

Hawksworth Estate

Kirkstall
Bramley & Stanningley

EG2-6

Page 559

HG2-204

EG2-9

EG2 - General employment allocation
HG2 - Housing allocation

W

HG2-211 Burley
HG2-108

Armley

HG2-77

HG2-206

Armley

HG2-205

HG2-74

HG2-83

HG2-82

k HG6 - Gypsies and Travellers - sites safeguarded
k HG7 - Gypsies and Travellers - new sites allocated
HG8 - Travelling Showpeople - sites allocated
k kk
kk

HG2-73

EG2-25

Farnley & Wortley

HG2-137

Green Space
Town & Local Centres
Local Convenience Centres

HG6-12

Core Strategy MAIN URBAN AREA
Core Strategy MAJOR SETTLEMENTS
Core Strategy SMALL SETTLEMENTS

HG6-8

Indicative Proposed HS2 Route

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567 Date: 26/11/2020
Path: L:\FPI\GIS Team\01Policy and Plans Group\Site Allocations Plan\SAP Post EiP Mods\SAP Post Remittal 3.mxd

MX2-23
MX2-22
MX2-25
MX2-27
MX2-29
MX2-34

HG2-208
MX2-36
HG2-194 MX2-32

HG2-195
MX2-35

Holbeck

Hunslet & Riverside
EG2-14 EG2-12

HG2-189
MX2-16
MX2-16

HG2-191

EG2-11

EO2-9

HG6-2
HG2-199

EG2-22

HG2-114

Beeston Hill

Dewsbury Road EG2-13
HG6-3

HG2-138

HG6-11

Aire Valley AAP Boundary

Primary Schools
Secondary Schools

MX2-18
MX2-17

Beeston

Housing Market Characteristic Areas

!

MX2-10

HG6-5

Ot
herI
nf
or
mat
i
on
Leeds City Council Wards

City Centre

MX2-20
EO2-6 MX2-19

Beeston & Holbeck

Green Belt

HG2-209

HG2-187 MX2-15
HG2-188
HG2-109

HG2-84

Lower Wortley

kk
kk
GGGG
kk
kHG3 - Safeguarded land
G Gk
GG

"

MX2-9

EG2-10

MX2 - Mixed use allocation

GGGG

Lodge

EG2-36 EO2-2
HG2-112 MX2-11 HG2-113
HG2-111

HG2-110

HG7-2

Chapeltown (Pudsey)

Inner Area

HG2-200

HG2-207

CC Parade Woodhouse Lane

MX2-9

HG4 - Older persons housing/Independent living

HG5 - Allocated for schools

HG2-99

MX2-7

Little London & Woodhouse

HG5 - Allocated for schools

"
)

Chapeltown Road

Royal Parks
Cardigan Road
Kirkstall Road

HG2-75

Pudsey

Chapel Allerton

Hyde Park Corner

HG2-61

Pudsey

EO2 - Office allocation

HG2-86

Headingley & Hyde Park

EG2-7

HG2-66

HG2-70

Chapel Allerton

HG2-85

Headingley

Kirkstall MX2-4

Stanningley Bottom

HG2-67

Key
Si
t
eAl
l
ocat
i
ons

Meanwood

MX2-5

Bramley

HG2-64

Weetwood (Far Headingley)

HG2-47

HG2-58

HG3-15

Roundhay

HG2-48

HG2-234

Farsley

Outer West

HG2-51

HG2-45

HG2-234

HG3-14

Moortown Corner

Moor Allerton

Moortown

Weetwood

Butcher Hill HG2-236

Horsforth New Road Side
HG2-44

Alwoodley

Adel & Wharfedale

Horsforth Station Road

Morley North

HG8-1

HMCA AREA
Outer West

HG2-139

HG6-1

Outer South West
HG3-22

EG2-16

HG2-140

Tommy Wass

EG2-26

Middleton Park

¯

HG2-116

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-53
Site Name: Calverley Cutting / Leeds Liverpool Canal, Apperly Bridge
HMCA: Outer West

Page 560

Outer West

HG2-53

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-63
Site Name: Woodhall Road (land adjoining) - Gain Lane, Thornbury BD3
HMCA: Outer West

Page 561

Outer West
HG2-63

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-65
Site Name: Daleside Road, Thornbury, North
HMCA: Outer West

Page 562

Outer West
HG2-65

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-68
Site Name: Waterloo Road (land at), Pudsey LS28
HMCA: Outer West

Page 563

Outer West

HG2-68

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-69
Site Name: Dick Lane Thornbury
HMCA: Outer West

Page 564

HG2-69

Outer West

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-71
Site Name: Land off Tyersal Road, Pudsey
HMCA: Outer West

Page 565

Outer West

HG2-71

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Site Allocations Plan Remitted sites
Site Ref: HG2-72
Site Name: Land off Tyersal Court, Tyersal
HMCA: Outer West

Page 566

Outer West

HG2-72

Remitted site
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Date: 26/11/2020

¯

Appendix 8
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Policy & Plans

Lead person:
Nasreen Yunis

Contact number:
01133787640

1. Title:
Remittal of the Site Allocations Plan
Is this a:
x

Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This Equality Impact Assessment Screening (EIA) relates to the Leeds Site Allocations Plan
(SAP), previous EIA screenings have been undertaken at key appropriate stages of the
SAP process and this EIA is consistent with previous ones. The Site Allocations Plan is one
of a series of Development Plan Documents (DPD) prepared by the City Council, as part of
the Local Development Framework (LDF). The scope and purpose of the Site Allocations
Plan includes setting out the detailed location of new housing for the whole of the District.
The Site Allocations Plan (SAP) was adopted by Full Council on 10th July 2019. Following
a successful Legal Challenge by Aireborough Neighbourhood Forum in relation to
allocations on Green Belt land proposed for housing within Aireborough the Council is
required to remit 37 Green Belt sites (including one mixed use allocation) back to the
Secretary of State and the Planning Inspectorate for further examination. This equality
screening considers the equality implications of the removal of the 37 sites from the Plan in
the context of new housing need evidence.
EDCI Screening
Template updated January 2014
1
Page 567

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
• Advancing equality of opportunity
• Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No

x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
• Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 568

2

potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
Following a successful Legal Challenge by Aireborough Neighbourhood Forum in relation
to allocations on Green Belt land proposed for housing within Aireborough, the Council is
ordered to remit 37 Green Belt sites (including one mixed use allocation) back to the
Secretary of State and the Planning Inspectorate for further examination. The
implications of this are that the 36 site allocations for housing and 1 mixed use allocation
would be removed from the Site Allocations Plan. In considering the equality implications
and giving due regard, there are a number of considerations.
At previous stages of the SAP equality considerations have been an integral part of the
process. A reduction in sites has now meant a lower number of sites, in particular all
these sites are within the greenbelt. Leeds’ housing needs is still met despite this
reduction, there is currently around a 6.8 years housing land supply and a district wide
surplus of approximately 11,000 units to 2028. The proposal for remittal to the Secretary
of State is to delete all 37 allocations and retain each as Green Belt to 2028 is informed
by up-to-date housing evidence.
The SAP has undergone public consultation at all key stages and subject to Executive
Board approval the proposed Main Modifications and supporting documents will be
subject to 6 weeks public consultation (week beginning 4th January 2021) before the
SAP is remitted to the Secretary of State for further examination.
The Site Allocations Plan needs to be in conformity with the Core Strategy. It directly
builds on the parameters for growth, including the broad distribution across the District as
set out in the Core Strategy (adopted on 12th November 2014), and its key focus is to
deliver on the Core Strategy’s principles of sustainable development. In addition the
Core Strategy sets out planning policies for the District and has undertaken Equality
Impact Assessment Screenings at appropriate stages, to ensure as far as is possible,
any negative consequences for a particular group or sector within the community are
minimised or counter balanced by other measures.
• Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
This section examines in more detail how equality considerations in relation to the
protected characteristics have been considered at this stage of the SAP. The policy
objectives of the Adopted SAP remain. The revised approach in respect to the 37 Green
Belt allocations reflects the updated housing supply evidence since SAP adoption and
maintains the focus of development on more accessible locations and rebalances the mix
of brownfield and greenfield housing land supply. In considering the impact on the
protected characteristics in terms of mitigation a number of key areas have been
considered.
All sites make a contribution to planning policy requirements. The need for affordable
housing (which in particular can impact those on lower incomes, ethnic minorities, and the
young), is generated by all sites. However given the overall number of sites has been
reduced then lower affordable housing is generated because the supply from non-Green
Belt sites exceeds the plan requirement for housing. Up to date evidence on housing need
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 569

3

has informed the current process. Site allocation through the SAP is not the only means of
securing affordable housing, provision through other routes such as regeneration
programmes, housing programmes and neighbourhood plans for local need also exist.
In terms of the impact on other protected characteristics, three of the allocations are
identified as potentially suitable for older persons housing/independent living. The
removal of the sites from the greenbelt is based on evidence that the supply from nonGreen Belt sites exceeds the plan requirement and consequently there are fewer
opportunities in those local areas that are affected by the removal of the allocations. In
terms of mitigation the SAP identifies a range of sites across Leeds that exceed overall
housing needs. In addition there are other routes of delivery such as regeneration
schemes, neighbourhood plans, and policy support (policy H8) within the Core Strategy.
Core Strategy Policy H4 also requires that all residential applications provide an
appropriate housing mix. This provides the opportunity to create a range of different
housing types and sizes in different locations across the district.
One site was allocated as a mixed use allocation for housing and employment. In terms of
the protected characteristics employment use can impact all protected characteristics
however it is noted that the Judgment made no determination on the suitability of the 37
sites, but concluded that the release from Green Belt was to be dependent upon the reexamination of the policy status of need for sites to be released at this time based on
district-wide requirement.
Any future delivery of development on sites will be dependent upon all relevant planning
considerations, including the need to meet any updated housing or employment needs.
Five of the 37 allocations include school allocations, however these sites (along with a
number of other school allocations) were allocated to respond to the need for school places
arising specifically from the new housing proposed by the SAP. As a result of the 37
allocations being proposed to be removed (amounting to an indicative capacity of 4,070
units) Childrens Services have been consulted on the option to remove the school
allocations. They have advised that the school allocations were identified to accommodate
additional school places arising from the new housing itself. As such, should the housing
sites not be allocated, the school allocations will not be needed.
In addition a Sustainability Appraisal has been undertaken. The Sustainability Appraisal
of the SAP assesses the effects of the site allocations against the SA objectives. It is a
necessary legal requirement to assess all reasonable alternatives taking into account the
objectives and geographical scope of the plan. In conclusion due regard has been given
at this stage of the SAP to all key areas affecting protected characteristics, the original
evidence base has changed and there is not a disproportionate effect on any particular
equality characteristic.
5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 570

4

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
M Elliot
Head of Strategic Planning 27/11/20
City Development
Date screening completed
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions
or a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant
Operational Decisions – sent to appropriate
Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 571

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
Report author: Samuel Lewis
Tel: 0113 378 6965
Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16 December 2020
Subject: Morley Town Deal
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Morley North & Morley South wards

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


In 2019 Morley was selected as one of 100 towns across England to be eligible for
investment of up to £25m from the Towns Fund programme. The Towns Fund is a
national government funding programme focused on ‘levelling up’ places across the
country through interventions focused across a broad range of areas including
connectivity, regeneration, employment and skills, green space and wider
improvements.



Nomination to the national programme had not been subject to an open bidding
process, and neither the Council nor other local stakeholders have previously been
in a position to consider or put resources behind a comprehensive plan for
regeneration of Morley. This however represents a significant and unforeseen
opportunity to deliver on Best Council Plan and Inclusive Growth Strategy priorities
for the city, in so far as they relate to Morley.



A Morley Town Deal Board has been established in line with Council governance
procedures to provide oversight, input and ownership to the development of a Town
Investment Plan, a strategy for the economic growth of Morley which will act as a
bidding document for Towns Fund investment.



The Town Investment Plan document is a bidding document which will seek funding
from government of up to £25 million to support the Council and delivery partners in
Morley to deliver an exciting and ambitious series of projects in the town, to have a

Page 573

combined impact on the connectivity, the town centre environment, community
health, and the jobs and skills of the local population.


This is a valuable opportunity to secure investment and deliver regeneration in
South Leeds, to leverage wider investment in the city and to enable positive social
and economic impacts to be realised.



Through the Morley Town Deal Board an emerging vision and priority objectives
have been developed. These have been informed through consultation and
engagement activity to establish key priorities for investment and to seek views on
proposed projects in the town. This engagement activity has been supplemented by
an in-depth socio-economic analysis, which has explored areas of challenge and
opportunity in Morley.



This Vision sets out an ambition to deliver a vibrant, well-connected town which
builds upon its industrial heritage to create a healthy, sustainable and successful
place for people of all ages. Through the delivery of a suite of key projects, the
Vision seeks to connect Morley to skills and employment opportunities, maximise
the positive impact of the town’s heritage buildings, create and upgrade the quality
of greenspace and uplift the town centre economy.



A final list of projects for inclusion in the Town Investment Plan will be formed in late
December and early January. An intermediate list has been developed, and a
process of due diligence is underway to assess the deliverability, impacts and
strategic fit of proposed projects in order to refine this list.



The deadline for submission of the Town Investment Plan is 31 January 2021. The
Draft Town Investment Plan will be presented to the Morley Town Deal Board in
December 2020 and it will be asked to agree the Plan and recommend it to the
Council as lead accountable body for the Towns Fund bid in Morley for submission
to government. Due to the very constrained timescales associated with the bidding
programme, delays and uncertainty caused by Covid 19 and the Executive Board
reporting and meeting cycle it will not be possible to present a final Town
Investment Plan to Executive Board prior to submission in January. However, a
summary of key issues and the ambition of the Town Investment Plan is detailed in
this report, and a final Investment Plan will be published in January 2021.



On this basis, delegated authority is sought from Executive Board to the Director of
City Development, in consultation with the Executive Member for Climate Change,
Transport and Sustainable Development and the Chair of the Morley Town Deal
Board, to submit the Morley Town Investment Plan to government.

2. Best Council Plan implications (see the latest version of the Best Council Plan)
 The Town Investment Plan for Morley will provide a major opportunity to bid for £25
million of funding to Leeds City Council to undertake a programme of investment
and regeneration in this part of South Leeds.
 The combined impact of projects delivered through the Town Investment Plan will
have wide ranging and substantial Best Council Plan positive impacts, including the
delivery of inclusive growth benefits.
 This will encompass skills, employment and business growth outputs; positive
environmental and climate change impacts; health and wellbeing benefits;
supporting the city’s COVID-19 recovery and wider impacts. These are detailed at
4.3 below.
Page 574

3. Resource implications


The Morley Town Investment Plan seeks to secure £25 million of capital funding to
support a number of projects and interventions in Morley. Where revenue may be
required in addition to Towns Fund capital this will be costed within project plans
and a source of revenue funding identified and secured to fund this cost.



The Town Investment Plan will act as a strategic business case document to bid for
funding. In order to finalise a funding ask from government, and to agree funding
terms, substantial project development work will be required over the next year.
This will be led by the Council, and will require officer time to be committed to
enable project development work to be undertaken.



While this will represent a significant commitment of officer time and capacity,
diverting from other areas of planned work, this is an opportunity to secure
substantial investment in the regeneration of a key area of South Leeds.



Project development work will be led by Regeneration officers, with support from
officers in Planning, Highways and Transportation, Culture and Sport, Land and
Property, Economic Development and wider services.



Capacity funding has also been provided by government to support the
development of the Town Investment Plan bid for Morley. £162,000 of revenue was
offered to Leeds City Council to support this work and £93,183 has been committed
to bid development work to date. Remaining capacity funding may be utilised to
secure further external support and to underwrite officer time on this programme.



The Council has already been granted £750,000 of capital funding from government
for initial projects in advance of the Town Investment Plan submission. Schemes to
upgrade town centre public realm and parks in Morley are now being brought
forward.



It should be noted that the wider budget pressures faced by the Council will
undoubtedly constrain the opportunities that may be realisable through this fund,
both in terms of potential for Council co-investment and for resourcing or revenue
support to the bid. As such there will be no Council commitment to additional
ongoing revenue of projects unless this can be funded through alternative sources
or through sustainable income generation in relation to the developed projects.

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to
a) note the content of this report, agree the emerging vision for a Town Investment
Plan in Morley and the priority objectives of this funding programme;
b) On the basis of recommendation from the Morley Town Deal Board, to delegate
authority to the Director of City Development in consultation with the Executive
Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development and the
Chair of the Morley Town Deal Board to approve the submission of the Town
Investment Plan to government in January 2021;
c) Subject to the success of this bid, and on the basis that there will be a brief window
for response to government’s assessment of the Town Investment Plan, to delegate
authority to the Director of City Development in consultation with the Executive

Page 575

Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development to agree
terms of a grant funding settlement;
d) To delegate authority to the Director of City Development in consultation with the
Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development to
agree partner contributions including in-kind and match funding, or wider
arrangements in order to maximise the impact of the Towns Fund bid.
e) In line with the timescales outlined at 4.5.4, agree that this decision be exempt from
call-in, in order to meet the deadline for submission of the Town Investment Plan to
government.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The report sets out the work that has been undertaken to develop an ambitious and
visionary bid to the government’s Towns Fund to support a programme of capital
regeneration projects in Morley. These projects have the potential to deliver major
inclusive growth benefits for the town and wider district

1.2

The report summarises the contents of the Draft Town Investment Plan, a bid
document which will be submitted to government in January 2021, which has been
informed through substantial public engagement and consultation

1.3

The report seeks a delegation from the Executive Board to the Director of City
Development and the Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and
Sustainable Development to approve for submission a final version of this Town
Investment Plan

2.

Background information

2.1

In 2019 Morley was selected as one of 100 places across England eligible to bid for
Towns Fund money to support the regeneration and ‘levelling up’ of the country.
The process for identifying and selecting eligible places was undertaken by central
government, and Morley was the only place in the Leeds district to be confirmed as
part of the programme. The Council was not given any prior awareness or
involvement in this process. Across West Yorkshire a number of other towns have
been selected to bid.

2.2

Morley has a population of approximately 31,600 (2019) and accounts for
approximately 4% of the Leeds population. Morley is a key local centre and is the
location of two key employment hubs - - White Rose Office Park and Shopping
Centre, and Capitol Business Park. The town is well connected to the city centre
and is the outer edge of an economic corridor running from Leeds South Bank
through Holbeck and Beeston and encompassing the White Rose cluster and
Morley town centre. This corridor of economic assets and employment centres have
a significant role in the economy of South Leeds, and the uplifting of Morley has the
potential to generate wider inclusive growth outcomes in this part of the city.

2.3

In March 2020 a report was presented to the Council’s Executive Board outlining an
approach to developing a Town Investment Plan and the boundary of the area to be
covered by this. In line with the government’s Towns Fund guidance, the report
outlined a governance structure that would be established to support the
development of the Town Investment Plan, to be overseen by a cross-sector
partnership Board; £162,000 of revenue had been made available to the Council to
support this work.

Page 576

2.4

Progress on establishing this board was delayed due to the impacts of the initial
Covid 19 wave, and a period of uncertainty over timescales and the future of the
Towns Fund process.

2.5

In June 2020 Towns Fund guidance was published and in August an open
recruitment exercise was undertaken by the Council to advertise and appoint to the
Morley Town Deal Board. This exercise resulted in the appointment of a Board
constituting 15 representatives in line with the governance requirements set out in
the Towns Fund Guidance. This sets out that the Board should include
representatives from all levels of local and regional government; the private sector;
community, voluntary and faith groups; and the local MP’s office, with the Chair to
come from the private sector. The Morley Town Deal Board has elected Gerald
Jennings as Chair. Mr Jennings runs his own property consultancy and investment
business and is also a Non-Executive Director at Yorkshire based businesses,
Henry Boot Plc, The Ahead Partnership, PDR Construction and Social Group.

2.6

As agreed though Member Management Committee and in accordance with the
Outside Bodies Procedure Rules the Morley Town Deal Board is a Strategic
Partnership. The boundaries of the area of focus substantively sit within Morley
North and Morley South wards and a member from each of these has been
nominated to the Board by MMC, with a further nomination for the Executive
Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development.

2.7

A series of Board meetings and focused sessions have been held in the period
since the formation of the Morley Town Deal Board. Informed by an extensive
consultation and engagement exercise and by a socio-economic baselining report,
the Board have guided the development of a Town Investment Plan for Morley. The
Town Investment Plan will aim to set out an ambitious vision for Morley which will
encompass a funding ask of government of up to £25 million as well as joining up
with wider planned projects and interventions in the town.

2.8

This represents a valuable opportunity to secure investment in Morley, with the
potential to generate benefits for wider South Leeds.

2.9

As a pre-cursor to the Town Investment Plan, in August government also made
available a separate capital grant of £750,000 for accelerated projects to make
some initial positive impacts in the town, for delivery and spend this financial year.
Following consultation with Ward Members the Council submitted proposals for
pedestrianisation and public realm schemes at Queen Street and Morley Bottoms,
parks improvements and delivery of new public artworks. Funding has been
awarded and injected into the capital programme under delegated approvals.
These projects are now at the detailed design stage and are programmed for
delivery in the coming months.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The Town Investment Plan will act as a strategic document, setting out a business
case to government for funding and outlining key projects that will be delivered in
Morley and the outputs and impacts anticipated as a result of this delivery.

3.2

The submission deadline for Town Investment Plans to government is 31 January
2021. The Council, commissioned consultants and the Morley Town Deal Board
are working within an extremely tight programme to develop the Town Investment
Plan and a draft is not yet available to be viewed. The relationship of the reporting
cycle for Executive Board, the constrained programme for development of the plan
and the submission deadline means that this December meeting is the only
Page 577

opportunity to set out the scope and likely content of the Town Investment Plan
before submission. As such a delegation is sought to the Director of City
Development in consultation with the Executive Member for Climate Change,
Transport and Sustainable Development to approve the final bid as may be
recommended to them by the Morley Town Deal Board.
3.3

It is understood that Town Investment Plans submitted in January 2021 will be
assessed by government over the following 2-3 months, and where successful will
result in funding offers being extended to lead accountable bodies. There is likely to
be a brief window during which this offer may be accepted by the Council, and no
control over when such response will be received and on this basis a further
delegation is being sought in advance to ensure that the Council can respond
rapidly to this opportunity on behalf of the Morley Town Deal Board, to secure any
approved funds. Delegation is therefore sought for the Director of City Development
in consultation with the Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and
Sustainable Development and on the basis of discussion with the Town Deal Board,
including the Town Deal Board Chair, for the Council as accountable body to enter
into heads of terms for any funding offer from government.

3.4

The Town Investment Plan will include a vision for Morley, a detailed evidence base
with the outcomes of public engagement activity, and a series of projects that
demonstrate how they address the evidence, needs and ambitions for the town,
which will be delivered subject to government investment being secured.

3.5

The vision for the Town Investment Plan has been developed through the Town
Deal Board, informed by two key areas of work commissioned by the Council
through the revenue support made available for the programme and reported
through the Morley Town Deal Board - the development of the socio-economic
evidence base and public consultation.
Social and Economic Evidence

3.6

A socio-economic baselining report has been produced by the Council’s
commissioned consultants Mott MacDonald, which sets out a comprehensive
analysis of the areas of need and opportunity in Morley, forming an evidence base
for government investment. It should be noted that this evidence is largely ‘preCovid’ and there are difficulties in reflecting the full impacts of the current public
health crisis on the local economy through available quantitative evidence.
Appendix 1 presents a summary of this baseline report.

3.7

This has established that Morley has a strong employment base of retail, financial
and professional services with notable growth particularly in financial services
employment. The town has a large working age population and provides a
significant jobs market for the wider South Leeds catchment area and the region.
This role in the wider economy is strengthened through strong connectivity,
particularly in terms of rail.

3.8

The Towns Fund boundary for Morley contains both the White Rose Office Park and
Shopping Centre, and Capitol Business Park. This is consistent with ward
boundaries. These employment hubs create a substantial jobs base in this area of
South Leeds as well as skills development and education provision. Improvements
to transport infrastructure will make the White Rose more accessible, however there
may be additional scope to strengthen the connectivity and local impact of these
assets.

Page 578

3.9

Morley has high labour market participation rates with higher levels of employment
and economic activity than comparator locations.

3.10

While Morley is a relatively affordable location to live, with house prices on average
lower than Leeds, there remains a need to provide affordable housing in Morley and
across the city. As a town Morley has a number of assets that make it an attractive
visitor location, particularly in terms of heritage buildings, including the Grade I listed
Town Hall which is underutilised and has potential for investment.

3.11

However, while rail connectivity is strong, there remain public transport cold spots
and the local job opportunities in Morley may be difficult to access for some wider
South Leeds residents as a result.

3.12

While the retail employment base is strong, this is a sector facing a number of short
term shocks and longer term underlying structural changes. In spite of Morley’s
strong labour market participation rates, the town has a lower skills base profile than
the city as a whole. There are also fewer residents in the most highly skilled jobs.

3.13

Morley has a number of pockets of deprivation and there has been a recent steep
rise in unemployment due to COVID-19. Unemployment has already risen steeply to
more than double the rate pre COVID-19.

3.14

Morley’s population exhibits poorer health indicators than the city as a whole, in
particular relating to obesity, diabetes and cancer. In relation to this, the town also
has a higher proportion of its working age population out of work due to long term
sickness. In combination these health challenges impact on the ability of people to
live full, active and independent lives, and has economic impacts in terms of
productivity.

3.15

Morley’s age profile is also older than the Leeds average, which implies a specific
set of needs in terms of the local environment, housing, transportation and amenity
provision.

3.16

In spite of the local asset base, there are a number of vacant or underused heritage
buildings in the town centre as well as a number of vacant sites. This has a visual
impact on the townscape as well as representing an under-utilisation of potential
economic assets.
Public and Stakeholder Consultation

3.17

Consultation and engagement work has been undertaken and is detailed more
thoroughly under item 4.1. This engagement included public consultation through
the on-line Commonplace platform, which has been promoted through Council
communications channels as well as through stakeholder networks and the Town
Deal Board. There have been 1,517 contributions to this consultation from 550
respondents and the site received 2,299 visitors.

3.18

The first phase of public consultation concluded in early November and highlighted
key priorities for the community including; the quality and provision of greenspace,
the quality of public realm, town centre retail vacancies, vacant and underutilised
heritage buildings, road safety, community space, vocational learning opportunities,
improved pedestrian and cycle routes, and train station accessibility and
improvements.

Page 579

Emerging Vision and Priority Objectives
3.19

Following consideration of the evidence base and initial consultation and
engagement responses a vision and clear objectives for the Town Investment Plan
have been developed.

3.20

These will be further refined in advance of the finalisation of the Town Investment
Plan, but provide a clear statement of ambition for the town and set out areas for
potential focus and intervention.

3.21

The draft vision sets out an ambition to deliver a vibrant, connected town with an
independent spirit, where the buildings of the past will help to pioneer an exciting
and modern future, creating a healthy, sustainable and successful place for people
of all ages.

3.22

From this four thematic areas have been formed. These relate to: skills and
employment opportunities and business growth, Morley’s historic buildings and
townscape, the natural environment and health challenges, and the town’s
connectivity and public realm.

3.23

A series of priority objectives have also been developed, which respond to the
challenges and opportunities set out in the economic evidence base. These include:

3.24

a)

Improving connections to employment hubs

b)

Building on and diversifying local employment opportunities

c)

Addressing skills gaps

d)

Bringing heritage buildings into modern appropriate use

e)

Creating economic anchors in the town centre and diversifying the town
centre offer

f)

Creating a network of parks and greenspaces

g)

Improving the level of tree coverage

h)

Improving health and wellbeing indicators

i)

Improving connections between Morley train station and the town centre

j)

Creating an inclusive, accessible and walkable town with high quality public
realm.

The Vision and Priority Objectives are set out in Appendix 2.
Emerging Projects

3.25

To deliver this vision and the objectives, an initial project longlist of 180 ideas was
formed from the socio-economic analysis, public and stakeholder consultation and
Town Deal Board discussions. This was refined through the removal of duplicate
projects and overlapping projects, and the removal of projects that are beyond the
scope of the Morley Town Deal. An initial packaging of projects has further reduced
this to an intermediate list that covers the following broad areas:

3.25.1 The uplifting of Morley town centre, including the civic and heritage asset base
and the leveraging of these assets for economic and social impact in the town.
Projects are being developed focused on the sustainable future use of
underused heritage buildings, the use of vacant or underdeveloped land in the
town centre, public realm provision, and on supporting the arts, culture, retail
and leisure offer in the town through capital intervention. The Town Hall
Page 580

represents one such heritage asset, which has a prominent role at the heart of
the town centre and where there is opportunity to leverage this building to
generate economic activity and growth in Morley.
3.25.2 Connectivity improvements including active travel opportunities, the rail station
and other public transport provision in the town. Projects are being developed
focused on the connectivity of the town to economic centres and employment
opportunities, cycle and walking infrastructure and rail station improvements
including accessibility and ticketing machine provision.
3.25.3 Green space quality and provision including opportunities for tree planting,
community gardens, pocket parks and active recreational infrastructure for the
use of the Morley community. In parallel to this projects will seek to address
health challenges and align with local health service provision where
appropriate
3.25.4 Employment creation and economic resilience including schemes that may
generate sustainable jobs and support local skills development, sectoral
diversity and innovation. Projects are being developed focused on new
innovation hubs, learning provision, employment workspace, and employer-led
skills development.
3.26 The intermediate project list is set out in Appendix 2.
3.27 This list sets out those projects currently in scope and under consideration and a final
list will come forward in line with these themes and with the Intervention Framework
of the Towns Fund. Further stages of project prioritisation will consider further
opportunities to package projects and will assess deliverability, value for money,
cost, impacts and strategic alignment with the emerging Vision and Priority
Objectives of the Town Deal.
3.28 A robust appraisal process will check and challenge projects to ensure the final Town
Investment Plan comprises a programme of interventions which will provide
maximum benefit to the town, reflecting local needs and desires and secure
maximum Towns Fund investment whilst leveraging other investment and wider
funding opportunities.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 A major consultation exercise has been undertaken in Morley to inform the
development of the Draft Town Investment Plan bid for Towns Fund monies.
4.1.2 Locality (the consultancy arm of the national membership network for community
organisations) was procured to support the Council and the Morley Town Deal
Board to engage the Morley community in the development of a vision for the town.
This work has been progressed both through a public open consultation and
through focused stakeholder interviews.
4.1.3 Due to the ongoing social distancing guidance and the public health considerations
brought about by COVID-19 it was determined that digital platforms would be
utilised for public consultation. Consideration was given to maximising the reach of
digital engagement to ensure all members of the community would be reached.

Page 581

4.1.4 The Commonplace platform provided an online engagement tool based upon a map
of Morley, which participants can place pins on to identify places of value to them
and places which they are concerned about which could be priorities for Towns
Fund investment. This was supported by a parallel marketing campaign, which
drove traffic towards the site. Respondents were also asked some basic questions
to get an early understanding of the perception of the strengths and weaknesses of
Morley, and the community’s priorities for investment.
4.1.5 In order to ensure this opportunity to provide feedback reached the widest and most
representative audience in Morley hard copy leaflets were also printed and were
displayed at the Town Hall and other town centre locations. These leaflets offered
the opportunity for the community to respond in writing by post, as well as utilising
the Commonplace platform.
4.1.6 There have been 1,517 contributions to this consultation from 550 respondents and
the site received 2,299 visitors.
4.1.7 The government has also run an online consultation exercise using a website called
My Towns. The Morley section of this site has received 27 comments and ideas,
which have been included in the wider analysis of public engagement.
4.1.8 In parallel 15 stakeholder and resident interviews were undertaken, following a
structured interview schedule. These were undertaken via digital platforms and
captured in-depth feedback on the vision and priorities for investment in Morley.
Resident interviews were undertaken to reach seldom heard from individuals and
groups.
4.1.9 Wider community input was provided through an exercise undertaken
independently by Churwell Primary School which explored the ideas and priorities
for Morley primary school children. These ideas and considerations were captured
as part of the wider analysis of community feedback and opportunities for further
engagement with young people in the town are being explored.
4.1.10 In mid-November a second phase of consultation was launched, through which
project areas were presented to the community for feedback and input. The
information captured through this consultation informed the prioritisation of themes
and projects for inclusion in the Town Investment Plan.
4.1.11 Detailed consultation will be undertaken at every stage of the process, and
particularly during 2021 as projects are designed in detail, subject to the
government’s response to the submitted Town Investment Plan.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 It is recognised that this bid and subsequent investment programme has the
potential to create positive equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impacts.
4.2.2 In recruiting to the Morley Town Deal Board efforts were made to ensure that
opportunities on this group were accessible to all residents and representatives of
Morley, and reflected the governance requirements set out by government.
Positions on the Board were promoted through social media channels, and through
networks including the Council’s equalities networks and groups.
4.2.3 Board recruitment will be reconsidered by the Morley Town Deal Board following
the January submission date for the Town Investment Plan and membership may
be supplemented or refreshed at this time with due consideration to the diversity
and representativeness of this group.

Page 582

4.2.4 The Town Investment Plan will comprise a number of proposed projects and
interventions in Morley. These will be determined through engagement with the
Board and through consultation and engagement as outlined above. An EDCI
screening will be undertaken to assess potential impacts from proposed projects
and as appropriate, further equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact
assessments may be undertaken on specific projects. These assessments will be
reviewed and updated through the process of developing projects during the
development of the Town Investment Plan and through the detailed design process
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Morley Town Deal offers a key opportunity for Leeds City Council to secure up
to £25 million of funding to invest in an ambitious regeneration programme in this
part of South Leeds with major Best Council Plan implications.
4.3.2 The Morley Town Investment Plan will deliver substantially against the Best Council
Plan and Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy, with particular benefits at a local level in
Morley, and wider impacts across South Leeds, the wider district and region
4.3.3 The Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy (LIGS) sets out an ambition to ensure all
people and communities can contribute towards and benefit from our economy,
tackling inequality and supporting all sections of our society into better jobs. The
LIGS also sets out an objective to support people to live healthy and active lives,
providing the necessary infrastructure to enable this, and to raise skills levels and
increase productivity.
4.3.4 These ambitions are aligned to the overall objectives of the Towns Fund, and can
be specifically realised through the Town Investment Plan for Morley. This Plan
identifies low skills levels, low levels of greenspace provision, connectivity
challenges and poor health outcomes as key areas of focus for the town. The
Investment Plan seeks to address these challenges through a programme of
projects and interventions which will create long term and sustainable change.
4.3.5 The Town Investment Plan for Morley will address health challenges through the
provision and improvement of infrastructure which will enable the population of the
town to live healthier and more active lives. In addition, specific interventions may
be targeted at improving local infrastructure for the elderly, including the
accessibility of the train station, housing provision and the town centre environment.
This will build upon existing local strategies to create a dementia friendly town.
4.3.6 Morley also has lower overall skills levels than the wider district. Projects and
interventions are being explored which may address this through employer backed
programmes and local skills initiatives.
4.3.7 A key objective of the Town Investment Plan will also be to improve local economic
resilience, supporting recovery from COVID-19. Projects and interventions will focus
on supporting the creation of employment opportunities, and improving the
accessibility of employment for the local community.
Climate Emergency
4.3.8 Morley has lower green space provision than many other parts of the city and has
among the lowest tree canopy coverage. These deficits have an impact on health
and wellbeing and on local air quality and the city’s carbon emissions. The Town
Investment Plan will explore opportunities to address this challenge through the
provision of new and high quality greenspace, tree planting and encouraging modal
shift.
Page 583

4.3.9 The Morley Town Investment Plan will directly seek to address the quality and
provision of green space and tree coverage in Morley, in addition to exploring
opportunities to encourage modal shift and create green infrastructure routes from
the town to wider economic centres
4.3.10 In addressing these areas of need the Town Investment Plan will have positive
impacts on biodiversity and carbon emissions and will uplift the quality of the local
environment for residents and visitors to the town.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The Morley Town Investment Plan seeks to secure up to £25 million of capital
funding to support a number of projects and interventions in Morley. Where revenue
may be required in addition to Towns Fund capital this will be costed within project
plans and a source of revenue funding will be identified and secured to fund this
cost.
4.4.2 However, it should be noted that the wider budget pressures faced by the Council
will undoubtedly constrain the opportunities that may be realisable through this
fund, both in terms of potential for Council co-investment and for resourcing or
revenue support to the bid. As such there will be no Council commitment to
additional ongoing revenue of projects unless this can be funded through alternative
sources or through sustainable income generation in relation to the developed
projects.
4.4.3 The Town Investment Plan will act as a strategic business case document to bid for
funding. In order to finalise a funding ask from government, and to agree funding
terms, substantial project development work will be required over the next year.
This work will be led by Council officers, and this will require resource to be
committed to enable project development work to be undertaken.
4.4.4 While this will represent a significant commitment of officer time and capacity, this is
an opportunity to secure substantial investment in the regeneration of a key area of
South Leeds.
4.4.5 Project development work will be led by Regeneration officers, with support from
officers in Planning, Highways and Transportation, Culture and Sport, Land and
Property, Economic Development and wider services.
4.4.6 Capacity funding has also been provided by government to support the
development of the Town Investment Plan bid for Morley. £162,000 was offered to
Leeds City Council to support this work and £93,183 has been committed to bid
development work to date. Remaining capacity funding may be utilised to secure
further external support and to underwrite officer time on this programme
4.4.7 Subject to the success of the bid for Towns Fund investment, Leeds City Council
will be the recipient of up to £25 million in capital to spend against projects in Morley
4.4.8 Delivery of projects in Morley and the monitoring and evaluation of the Towns Fund
programme will require significant officer resource. Where appropriate wider
partners and private sector organisations will be drawn upon to support this work.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The submission of the Town Investment Plan does not immediately present any
legal implications. The subsequent agreement of terms with government may,
Page 584

through grant agreement, contractually oblige the Council and partners to deliver
projects in Morley
4.5.2 The Town Investment Plan has been developed transparently and the meeting
papers of the Town Deal Board have been published in the public domain through
the modern gov platform
4.5.3 The Town Investment Plan will also be published and will be a publicly owned
strategy for the regeneration of Morley
4.5.4 The deadline for submission of the Town Investment Plan to government is 31
January 2021. Call-in of the Executive Board decision recommended in this report
would create a high risk that the Town Investment Plan would not be submitted by
this deadline, as the call-in and scrutiny process - with potential requirement to
report back to Executive Board on its outcomes - would extend the decision making
timetable beyond the submission deadline, missing this opportunity to bid for and
secure up to £25m in regeneration funds.
4.5.5 The decision to submit the plan under the arrangements set out in this report could
not have been taken sooner as the constrained timescale for developing the Town
Investment Plan has not allowed for any of the vision, outline scope or project detail
to be developed and presented to prior meetings of the Executive Board. On this
basis it is recommended that this decision be exempt from call-in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 Primary risks through this programme relate to the delivery of projects and the
potential revenue implications for the Council as lead accountable body for this
Investment Plan. It will be critical to ensure that risks and liabilities to the Council
are minimised, particularly where this may have a budget implication for the
authority.
4.6.2 While these risks cannot currently be assessed due to the present stage of project
development, a risk management plan will be produced in parallel to the Town
Investment Plan. Revenue implications to the Council will be mitigated and it will be
a key objective of project development to ensure interventions are revenue neutral.
4.6.3 More broadly it is clear that the development of a Town Investment Plan and
subsequent detailed project development will require significant Council resource.
This will be supplemented through consultancy support, funded through capacity
funding received from government. In addition wider partners will be drawn upon to
support project development where appropriate and relevant.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

The Towns Fund is an exciting opportunity for the Council, working closely with
local Stakeholders and the Town Deal Board to secure significant funding for
Morley, with the chance to achieve transformational uplift to the economic
performance of the town and to benefit the wider community across multiple
indicators including skills, health and employment access.

5.2

Timescales for the submission of a bid are constrained and it is therefore necessary
to seek a delegation from the Council’s Executive Board to the Director of City
Development and the Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and
Sustainable Development to approve a final Town Investment Plan for submission.

Page 585

5.3

In spite of limited timescales it is clear that an ambitious and highly impactful bid
can be developed which will have the potential to provide both local and regional
benefits. This has strong strategic alignment with the Council’s Best Council Plan,
Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy, Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the
Recovery Framework and the declaration of a Climate Emergency.

6.

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to
a) note the content of this report, agree the emerging vision for a Town Investment
Plan in Morley and the priority objectives of this funding programme;
b) On the basis of recommendation from the Morley Town Deal Board, to delegate
authority to the Director of City Development in consultation with the Executive
Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development and the
Chair of the Morley Town Deal Boardto approve the submission of the Town
Investment Plan to government in January 2021;
c) Subject to the success of this bid, and on the basis that there will be a brief window
for response to government’s assessment of the Town Investment Plan, to delegate
authority to the Director of City Development in consultation with the Executive
Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development to agree
terms of a grant funding settlement;
d) To delegate authority to the Director of City Development in consultation with the
Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and Sustainable Development to
agree partner contributions including in-kind and match funding, or wider
arrangements in order to maximise the impact of the Towns Fund bid
e) In line with the timescales outlined at 4.5.4, agree that this decision be exempt from
call-in, in order to meet the deadline for submission of the Town Investment Plan to
government.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Socio-Economic Baseline Summary Report

8.2

Appendix 2: Morley vision statement and priority objectives

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 586

Morley Towns Fund
Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary
October 2020

Page 587

Page 588

Mott MacDonald
Floor 3
1 Whitehall Riverside
Leeds LS1 4BN
United Kingdom
T +44 (0)113 394 6700
mottmac.com

Morley Towns Fund
Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary
October 2020

Mott MacDonald Limited. Registered in
England and Wales no. 1243967.
Registered office: Mott MacDonald House,
8-10 Sydenham Road, Croydon CR0 2EE,
United Kingdom

Page 589

Page 590

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

Issue and Revision Record
Revision

Date

Originator

Checker

Approver

Description

A

16/10/2020

Katie Bell
Max Lavan

Jon Barlow
Craig Walley
Lisa Littlefair

Stephen Cox

Document created separate to
main report

Document reference:
Information class: Standard
This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the abovecaptioned project only. It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose.
We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being
used for any other purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied
to us by other parties.
This document contains confidential information and proprietary intellectual property. It should not be shown to other
parties without consent from us and from the party which commissioned it.

October 2020

Page 591

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

Contents
1

Executive summary
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.6
1.7
1.8
1.9
1.10
1.11

1

Study purpose
Morley
Population
Key employment sectors and business base
Labour market characteristics
Housing, health and quality of life
Heritage assets
COVID-19 impacts
Opportunities
Constraints
Recommendations

1
2
2
3
5
7
9
10
11
11
12

Tables
Table E.1: Potential interventions for Morley – emerging thoughts
Table E.2: Strengths, challenges and interventions

12

Error! Bookmark not defined.

Figures
Figure E.1: Index of population growth, 2011-2019 (2011=100)

3

Figure E.2: Productivity (GVA per worker), 2002-2018, nominal prices

5

Figure E.3: Average house prices, 2000-20

8

Figure E.4: Total claimant counts, as a proportion of all residents ages between 16 and 64,
March to August 2020

10

Maps
Map E.1: Morley study area within Leeds district boundary

2

Map E.2: Average claimant count as a proportion of the total working age population (1664), 2019

6

Map E.3: Average claimant count as a proportion of the total working age population (1664), 2020

6

Map E.4: Travel to work, outbound from Morley, 2011

7

Map E.5: Listed Buildings within Morley town centre

9

October 2020

Page 592

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

Charts
Chart E.1: Employees by broad sector, as % of total, 2018

October 2020

Page 593

4

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

1

1 Executive summary
1.1

Study purpose

Mott MacDonald was appointed by Leeds City Council (LCC) in August 2020 to undertake a
socio-economic baseline assessment of the town of Morley. This report provides an executive
summary of the socio-economic assessment to assist and support Leeds City Council with the
development of a Town Investment Plan for Morley and subsequent business case
development. The purpose is to provide a robust evidence base that can be used to underpin
subsequent project development and prioritisation for the town centre as part of the Morley
Towns Fund submission.

1.2

Headline summary

Error! Reference source not found. below summarises the links between the strengths and
challenges identified across Morley in this executive summary document and the full socioeconomic baseline report. This table also highlights key intervention recommendations.
Table E.1: Strengths, challenges and interventions
Theme

Strengths

Challenges

Interventions

Employment
sectors and
business
base

● Strong employment
base of retail, financial
& professional services.
● Key growth in financial
services.
● Large working age
population.

● Retail vulnerable to online retail
trends and COVID-19.
● Business start-ups are low.

● Provide the infrastructure to support and
encourage business entrepreneurship
and diversify the sector base could help
boost start-up rates and improve
resilience.

Labour
market

● Net importer of labour,
localised employee
base.
● High labour market
participation rateshigher levels of
employment and
economic activity.
● Good public transport
service and higher
usage outbound to
Leeds

● Morley has a low skills base
profile. Fewer residents are
employed in the most highly
skilled jobs. Morley has lower
proportions of residents qualified
to NVQ4+.
● Pockets of deprivation persist.
● Higher rates of commuting by car
for inbound travel to work
● Steep rise in unemployment due
to COVID-19. Unemployment has
already risen steeply to more than
double the rate pre-COVID-19.

● Supporting infrastructure to upskill the
labour force with both basic skills levels
and to attract higher skilled employees
within Morley
● Providing an agile working offer within
Morley could prove attractive where the
home working set-up is not efficient, and
to people starting out as entrepreneurs.
● Supporting wider travel mode options for
inbound commuters could bring benefits
(environmental, inclusivity and health).

Housing,
health,
quality of life

● Morley is relatively
affordable as a place to
live. In 2020, average
house prices in Morley
are lower than Leeds,
West Yorkshire and
Yorkshire & the
Humber.

● Health indicators for Morley are
generally poor. Within the town
centre, obesity & cancer rates are
higher than the Leeds average.
● Across Morley, access to
Superfast broadband is generally
good although there are some
areas within the town centre with
more limited availability.

● Improved cycling and walking
infrastructure. Encouraging active
modes may help improve Morley
resident health outcomes.
● Exploring barriers and need for digital
infrastructure to ensure businesses and
residents have access to fast reliable
broadband.

Heritage
assets

● Morley stands to benefit
from tourism in Leeds
and Yorkshire & the
Humber.

● Few heritage assets are utilised
for visitor economy. Scope for
repurpose of these assets to
strengthen heritage offer.

● Pocket parks and designed space
● Morley has heritage sites that could be
leveraged to better represent the history
and heritage of Morley.
● Consider other leisure attractions into
the town centre – e.g. museums/event
space, dining/restaurants.

Source: Mott MacDonald

October 2020

Page 594

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

1.3

2

Morley

Morley is a medium sized town, located less than 5 miles south-west of Leeds within the
metropolitan borough of the City of Leeds. The metropolitan district is comprised of the
administrative centre and city of Leeds, alongside smaller towns and villages, including Morley.
Morley is one of eight main towns within Leeds alongside Garforth, Guiseley, Otley, Pudsey,
Rothwell, Wetherby and Yeadon. The city centre of Leeds is the economic and administrative
hub of West Yorkshire and Leeds City Region.
Map E.1: Morley study area within Leeds district boundary

Source: Mott MacDonald

1.4

Population

Morley’s population consists of 31,600 people, which represents 4.0% of Leeds’ total. Morley,
similar to Leeds, has a working age (16-64) proportion that is larger than Yorkshire & the
Humber and Great Britain respectively. Whilst the town struggles to retain some of its young
population cohorts, this implies it is an attractive location for working age households, and
adults who typically work in Leeds city centre. Since 2011, Morley’s population growth has
lagged behind all comparator areas. In contrast, Leeds has shown consistent, rapid population
growth, in comparison to national rates, between 2011 and 2019.

October 2020

Page 595

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

3

Figure E.1: Index of population growth, 2011-2019 (2011=100)

Source: Population Estimates, ONS, 2011-2019. LSOA data only available from 2011 as this was the inception of the
LSOA boundary geography system used from the 2011 Census.

1.5

Key employment sectors and business base

In Morley, the key employment sectors are in Professional services (33.0% of employees),
Wholesale & retail trade (25.0%) and the Public sector (10.6%). The employment structure is
similar to that of Leeds and reflects Morley’s role as a key service centre for public
administration, retail and other key services for the surrounding metropolitan population, and as
a satellite town for Leeds.

October 2020

Page 596

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

4

Chart E.1: Employees by broad sector, as % of total, 2018

Source: BRES, ONS, 2018. Note: Professional services includes Information and Communication, Financial and
Insurance, Property, Professional, Scientific and Technical and Business Administration & Support Services.
Public sector includes Public Administration and Defence, Education and Health.

Exploring Morley’s employee base in more detail shows the town’s important economic role as a
key service centre for Wholesale & retail trade and the Public sector, but also shows substantial
employee growth in Financial services and wider Professional services. This is based around
key logistical offices for Hermes, and offices for HSBC, WSP and HMRC at the White Rose
office park, and retail services at White Rose shopping centre, both located in Morley.
In 2018, the Morley economy generated an estimated £1.3 billion of GVA, which was principally
driven by Distribution & transport, Accommodation & food, Financial & insurance and Business
services sectors. Morley is over-represented in Financial and insurance activities and makes a
greater contribution to Leeds’ GVA within the sector.
In 2018, the Leeds economy generated £26.2 billion of Gross Value Added (GVA)1 which was
principally driven by the Public sector, Professional services, Distribution & transport and
Accommodation & food, with an overrepresentation in the Financial services sector. The Leeds
economy has remained consistently more productive than West Yorkshire and Yorkshire & the
Humber levels since 2002. Leeds was home to around 28,600 businesses in 2019, and the
business base is dominated by micro businesses. Enterprise levels are low with high survival
rates highlighting a relatively static business base.

1

GVA is the local counterpart to national measures of Gross Domestic Product

October 2020

Page 597

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

5

Figure E.2: Productivity (GVA per worker), 2002-2018, nominal prices

Source: GVA (B) per filled worker, Sub-regional productivity, ONS, 2002-2018

1.6

Labour market characteristics

Using 2011 Census data to examine economic activity in Morley highlights that labour market
participation rates are higher than at the district and national levels with higher incidences of
employment and economic activity. While Morley has overall low levels of economic inactivity,
amongst those who are economically inactive, the primary reason is retirement which accounts
for 55.1% of the economically inactive working age population, compared to 45.6% nationally.
Examining unemployment rates by location, as displayed in Map E.2 below, demonstrates that
there are significant disparities in the prevalence of claimants across Leeds district. The higher
proportion of claimants are concentrated in the centre of the district, around Leeds City centre
and surrounding areas such as Headingley, Harehills and Beeston.
The unemployment rate has risen rapidly throughout 2020 as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. Comparing Map E.2 below to map E.3, it is clear that proportions of claimants are
rising throughout the district. This is also the case in Morley, where the average claimant count
proportion was 2.0% in 2019, compared with an average of 4.0% in 2020 to date, with the
figures rising month on month.

October 2020

Page 598

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

6

Map E.2: Average claimant count as a proportion of the total working age population (1664), 2019

Source: Claimant count 2019 and mid-year population estimates, 2019

Map E.3: Average claimant count as a proportion of the total working age population (1664), 2020

Source: Claimant count 2020 and mid-year population estimates, 2019

October 2020

Page 599

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

7

Morley is a net importer of labour, with more people travelling into the area for work than
travelling out for work. In 2011, approximately 33% of jobs in Morley were filled by Morley
residents, with the remaining two-thirds filled by residents in neighbouring local areas. This is
highlighted in Map E.4, which shows the localised nature of the Morley labour market, and the
reliance on Leeds city centre as an outbound work location. When the major employment
centres of the White Rose Shopping Centre and Business Park, and Capitol Park, are removed
from the data, Morley is still a net importer of labour.
Map E.4: Travel to work, outbound from Morley, 2011

Source: Census 2011, ONS

There are fewer residents employed in the most highly skilled (SOC 1-3) jobs compared to
England and more people employed in administrative & secretarial and sales & retail jobs. This
reflects the economic structure of the town and surrounding area which is more geared towards
administrative support, retail and sales. The White Rose Shopping Centre and Office Park and
Millshaw Park Industrial Estate and Howley Park Industrial Estate to the south contribute
significantly to these occupations.
In 2019, average workplace-based earnings in Leeds are around £1,700 higher than residencebased earnings, demonstrating that workers in Leeds travel into the district for work and reside
elsewhere, and that those who travel into the district for work have better paid work than those
who live in Leeds. This suggests those who travel into the district for work have better paid work
than those who live in Leeds such as the residents of Morley (on average).

1.7

Housing, health and quality of life

Data from the Morley Housing Market Assessment show that in 2020 there were around 17,000
dwellings in the Morley area. Of these dwellings, the majority are terraced and semi-detached

October 2020

Page 600

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

8

housing, which cumulatively account for 59.9% of the housing market. In 2020, average house
prices in Morley are considerably lower than Leeds, West Yorkshire and Yorkshire & the
Humber. Since 2000, average house prices in Leeds have been lower than national rates but
higher than regional rates, reflecting its status as a major city and desirable living location.
Figure E.3: Average house prices, 2000-20

Source: House Price Index, 2000-2020, HM Land Registry, 2020, both ONS. Great Britain not available for HPI data.

Generally, Morley has good road connectivity with Leeds, Huddersfield, Barnsley and Doncaster
accessible within 45 minutes. The town is also well served by public transport with hourly direct
rail services to Huddersfield and twice hourly direct services to Leeds (that are 12 minutes in
duration). Bus connections in the town are also good with frequent services in and out of the
town centre, along key corridors such as the A643 and to key employment site such as the
White Rose Shopping Centre and Office Park to the north and Howley Park Industrial Estate to
the south.
In the district of Leeds, there is good digital connectivity, with the district performing better
across all indicators than the United Kingdom. There are also fewer issues relating to existing
digital skills. Across Morley, access to Superfast broadband is good although some areas within
the town centre have limited availability.
Health indicators are poor within Morley, with GP-reported adult obesity and cancer rates
exceeding the average across Leeds, which indicates potential health problems. This may be
linked to deprivation levels and the older age profile of the area.

October 2020

Page 601

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

1.8

9

Heritage assets

Morley is well served by heritage sites, with a Grade I listed town hall and many Grade II listed
buildings. All of these buildings remain occupied, however, many of these buildings are not in
their original use. This leaves scope to repurpose these buildings in order to maximise the
tourist potential and heritage offer within Morley.
Conversely, Leeds’ visitor economy is established and growing in size, with a reliance on day
trips for visitors. Direct expenditure and total employment was increasing up to the period of
COVID-19 restrictions, with over 30 million visitors during 2019, highlighting the importance of
the sector for Leeds. The large visitor economy gives an indication of the potential market size
available to Morley, if the town can expand on its heritage offer. Visit Leeds highlights the city as
a destination for culture, shopping, conferences and sporting events which Morley could take
advantage of to attract visitors.
Map E.5: Listed Buildings within Morley town centre

Source: Heritage England

Morley’s tourism sector consists of around 1,800 employees, representing 7.3% of total
employees. This is a smaller proportion of employment than in Leeds, or nationally, and has
fallen in the last year, whilst the sector is expanding in Leeds, West Yorkshire and Yorkshire &
the Humber. This suggests that the sector has potential to tap into Leeds’ expanding tourism
sector to benefit Morley in the future.

October 2020

Page 602

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

1.9

10

COVID-19 impacts

Morley, like many towns, is likely to be significantly impacted given the high proportion of
economic activity within the retail and food & beverage industries. Morley also lacks strong
employment in sectors with good prospects, such as healthcare (there is no hospital in Morley),
that ensure employment in the current COVID-19 pandemic. Unemployment, based on the
claimant count measure, has already risen steeply to more than double the rate pre-COVID-19,
which represents a similar rate to all comparator areas, but has stayed below district and
national levels. Examining unemployment by age shows that the 25-49 and 50+ age cohorts
experienced the greatest growth in claimant counts, rising by circa 50% each since 2019. This
differed from Leeds, where the young adult (16-24) population saw a 52% rise in
unemployment, the largest of all age cohorts.
Figure E.4: Total claimant counts, as a proportion of all residents ages between 16 and
64, March to August 2020

Source: Claimant count for residents aged between 16 and 64, January to August 2020 and 2019 mid-year population
estimates

COVID-19 is already accelerating many existing retail and leisure trends, including the shift to
greater online spending and changing demands around a modern leisure offer, which will
fundamentally change the role of town centres moving forwards. Morley also lacks strong
employment in sectors with good prospects such as healthcare, though a high level of
employment within the warehousing sector is beneficial.
Confidence can be taken from a very gradual return to work in Leeds City Region, reflected in
early results from the Quarterly Economic Survey, but this is likely to dampened by the return to
lockdown measures nationally in the United Kingdom in late September. In terms of

October 2020

Page 603

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

11

redundancies to date 2, in most cases for businesses in Leeds City Region, this accounted for
less than 10% of the workforce, and only 10% of businesses had made 10-50% of their
workforce redundant.

1.10

Opportunities

The key opportunities for Morley are as follows;
● Morley, as in Leeds, has a large working age population proportion that is larger than
Yorkshire & the Humber and Great Britain respectively.
● Morley’s economy is supported by a diversified employment base of retail, financial &
professional services, with growth in financial and professional services over the last three
years.
● Morley is well connected. It has good road connectivity and strong public transport routes
with direct services to Leeds via rail. Bus connections in the city are also strong with frequent
services in and out of the town centre, along key corridors such as the A643 and to key
employment sites such as the White Rose Shopping Centre and Office Park to the north and
Howley Park Industrial Estate to the south.
● Morley, as well as Leeds, is a net importer of labour, with more people travelling into the
area for work than travelling out for work. Journeys into Morley for work tend to originate
from a localised area around the town in the south west of the district.
● Morley is well represented by major employers in the town. Key logistical offices for Hermes,
offices for HSBC, WSP and HMRC at the White Rose office park, and retail services at
White Rose shopping centre are all located in Morley.

1.11

Constraints

Conversely, the key challenges for Morley are as follows;
● Morley’s retail industry is simultaneously vulnerable to the rising trends in online retail and to
social distancing measures and industry scarring resulting from COVID-19. COVID-19 is
already accelerating retail trends, which will result in fundamental changes to the role of
retail in town centres moving forwards. The demand for experiential leisure is significantly
affecting the demand profile, with more diverse and changing consumer demands. This has
resulted in increased vacancy in town centres similar to Morley.
● The town centre is well served by heritage assets, however, few heritage assets are used for
the visitor economy. All of these buildings remain occupied, however, many of these
buildings are not in their original use, which leaves scope to repurpose these buildings in
order to maximise their tourist potential and heritage offer.
● Health indicators for Morley are generally poor. Within the town centre, obesity & cancer
rates are higher than the Leeds average.
● Morley has suffered from a steep rise in unemployment due to COVID-19. Unemployment,
based on the claimant count measure, has already risen steeply to more than double the
rate pre-COVID-19.
● Morley suffers from a low skills base profile. There are fewer residents employed in the most
highly skilled jobs compared to England and more people employed in administrative &
secretarial and sales & retail jobs. In terms of qualifications. there persists a north-south
divide within Leeds district, whereby areas in the south (including Morley) have lower
proportions of residents qualified to NVQ4+.
2

West Yorkshire Combined Authority, ‘COVID-19 Fortnightly Insights Report’, (2020). Available at: https://www.westyorksca.gov.uk/media/5074/fortnightly-economic-transport-report-2020-09-18-final-002.pdf

October 2020

Page 604

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

12

● Road safety appears to be an issue for Morley with a higher rate of accidents than average.

1.12

Recommendations

Based on the socio-economic evidence base an assessment of the potential types and scope of
project interventions that may fit with the Morley Towns Fund has been undertaken. These are
emerging recommendations based on the study team’s3 experience of economic development
and regeneration across the UK, particularly as part of the Future High Street Fund and Towns
Fund process and work undertaken for local authorities to help them with understanding and
mitigating against the adverse impacts of COVID-19.
Potential interventions that could be explored are considered below in Error! Reference source
not found., under a number of key themes:
Table E.2: Potential interventions for Morley – emerging thoughts
Theme

Potential
intervention

Details

Urban
regeneration
planning and
land use

Pocket parks
and designed
space

● Pocket parks and designed space with areas for people to dwell, rest and meet can enhance
personal fulfilment of an area.
● This can be particularly appreciated by older people, young families and young people, who
will benefit from greenspace provision.
● This will support the wider placemaking interventions and support extended dwell time in the
town centre thereby supporting the retail sector.
● Open public space has become increasingly important given COVID and that some town
residents will not have access to private gardens.
● More analysis of employment and housing land supply/demand needed to identify sites for
development (if appropriate)

Economy

Skills
infrastructure

● Morley has a low proportion of working age inhabitants qualified to NVQ4+ and above.
Simultaneously, Morley should look to upskill its residents and retain them and attract
graduates and post-graduates from the Leeds universities to businesses in Morley.
● Morley would require accessible training programmes for adults and the provision of graduate
level roles, possibly created by businesses within the White Rose office park, to diversify the
employment offer. This would help Morley take advantage of its expanding employment
sectors, such as Financial and Professional services, and move away from sectors vulnerable
to COVID-19.
● Supporting facilities for entry level training schemes will help Morley to retain a greater share
of its young adults (16-24 year olds).

Enterprise
infrastructure

● There is some success in survival rates of new enterprise start-ups, but this likely reflects that
start up rates are generally low, with the exception of skilled labour transitioning from years of
experience in a particular field with another organisation. Interventions to provide the
infrastructure to support and encourage business entrepreneurship could help boost the startup rates.

Flexible/
remote
working

● In a post-COVID-19 era there could be demand for more agile working as people base
themselves in corporate offices less and have more time at home with an option for a local
agile office space on an ad-hoc basis.
● Providing this offer within Morley could prove attractive to homeworkers where the home
working set-up is not efficient, and to people starting out as entrepreneurs.
● This could also attract higher skilled residents to Morley who historically may have located to
those areas in Leeds city centre with better accessibility to major employment centres.

Cycling and
walking

● Improved cycling and walking infrastructure could provide a feasible and healthy commuting
option to Leeds city centre, for example, in the form of a dedicated cycling corridor to Leeds.
This would, in tandem, meet the connectivity objective of the Towns Fund.
● Encouraging active modes may help improve Morley resident health outcomes.
● The pedestrianisation of towns has been a common feature of towns and cities following
COVID-19, as the requirement for direct roads through towns and high streets is no longer
deemed necessary. Targeted temporary/permanent expansion of pedestrianised areas could
be considered.

Local
Transport

3

Mott MacDonald’s Economic and Social Development (ESD) team who have undertaken this socio-economic assessment.

October 2020

Page 605

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

13

● Local transport interventions should support getting around Morley and to/from key strategic
transport infrastructure (road and rail) as well as key employment sites to help the town build
on its strategic location.
● Road safety could be a determining factor for where improvements are needed.
Arts, culture
and

Heritage

● Morley has a Grade I listed Town Hall and several Grade II listed buildings in town centres that
could be leveraged to better represent the history and heritage of Morley.
● Consider other leisure attractions into the town centre – e.g. museums/event space,
dining/restaurants

Infrastructure

● Broadband connectivity is strong in Leeds relative to national position, however, local
coverage is less comprehensive. Recent Ofcom data shows patchy coverage across Morley,
this could be an area to investigate further.
● Exploring barriers and need for digital infrastructure to ensure businesses and residents have
access to fast reliable broadband.

heritage
Digital
connectivity

Source: Mott MacDonald

October 2020

Page 606

Mott MacDonald | Morley Towns Fund Socio-economic baseline
Executive summary

14

mottmac.com
October 2020

Page 607

This page is intentionally left blank

MORLEY TOWN INVESTMENT PLAN
Draft vision
Connected we are stronger:

Page 609

Connected to opportunities
Connected to our past
Connected to nature
Connected to each other

Connected we are more than a place, we are
Morley

Morley will be a vibrant, connected town with
an independent spirit. The buildings of our
past will help us pioneer an exciting modern
future, creating a healthy, sustainable,
successful place where all ages can live, work
and play.

Theme
Connected to
opportunities

Priority Objectives
• Improve connections to
employment hubs
• Build and diversify job
opportunities
• Address skills gaps

Connected to
our past

• Bring heritage buildings
into appropriate use
• Create anchors and
diversity in the town
centre

Connected to
nature

• Create a network of parks
and greenspaces
• Improve the level of tree
cover
• Improve health and
wellbeing indicators

Connected to
each other

• Improve connections
between the station and
town centre
• Create an inclusive,
accessible, walkable place
with high quality public
realm

MORLEY TOWN INVESTMENT PLAN
Intermediate project list

Events and arts space provision
Skills hub/campus

Town Square / new heart to the Town Centre
Business space development
Heritage building improvements and public realm
Morley Town Hall upgrades and repurposing
The New Pavilion
Page 610

Housing
Specialist housing
Skills and Innovation Hub
Greenspace package

Shared Community hub
Morley high street improvements
Morley train station improvements
Morley public transport improvements
Highways improvements
Cycling and pathway schemes
Public realm enhancements within the town centre

Agenda Item 14
Report author: F Campbell/P Foster
Tel: 0113 3787518
Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16 December 2020
Subject: Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy – Draft for consultation
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


This report provides an overview of the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy,
which is included within Appendix 1 and details how we are going to achieve our
vision for Leeds, “to be a city where you don’t need a car”.



The strategy outlines the key challenges and opportunities facing the city, our “big
moves” and targets for 2030 in order to achieve the city wide vision, support the
three overarching objectives as detailed previously to tackle Climate Change,
deliver Inclusive Growth and improve Health and Wellbeing.



In order to realise our vision, meet our objectives and continue to deliver
transformational change we need to work with individuals and businesses, regional
bodies including the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Transport for the
North as well as Central Government.



Our ambitious mode shift targets combined with the big moves will not only
transform our city but will make significant progress towards our pledge to become
a carbon neutral city by 2030.



It is clear however that these actions alone will not be enough to meet the scale of
the climate emergency challenge facing us all and that further measures need to be
considered as part of the Transport Strategy’s development. The draft strategy
therefore presents options to allow the continuation of our transport conversation
with everyone in the city to agree the Connect Leeds Transport Strategy.

Page 611



The public consultation and engagement exercise is planned following executive
Board through to February 2021 to obtain feedback and inform the development of
the Strategy ahead of publication in summer 2021.



The Council cannot achieve this level of change on its own and alongside the
publication of the draft strategy and the following consultation we will also be asking
for commitment from other businesses, organisations and individuals to help us
achieve our objectives in the strategy.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy sets out a strategy for contributing to
inclusive growth, improved health and wellbeing and sustainable infrastructure
which are values of the best council plan.



The Strategy will support the best city priorities for becoming a child friendly and an
age friendly city.



The Strategy will help deliver the outcomes of the Best Council Plan by allowing
everyone in Leeds to move around a well-planned city easily, enjoy happy, healthy
and active lives and have equal access to a strong economy.

3. Resource Implications


To achieve the vision and targets set out in this report will require significant
investment beyond current programmes and we will continue to work with WYCA
and call on national government for the support, powers and funding to deliver the
Connecting Leeds Strategy.

Recommendations
Executive Board is recommended to
a) Endorse the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy as contained within
appendix 1.
b) To note that a public consultation and engagement exercise will follow executive
Board through to February 2021 to help inform the final strategy.
c) Note that the Director of City Development continues to be the lead officer for the
delivery of the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy and will report back to
Executive Board in summer 2021 following public consultation with a final strategy.

Page 612

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

To update and present the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy to Executive
Board, ahead of the public consultation and engagement exercise to be undertaken
in early 2021.

2.

Background information

2.1

An update on the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy was provided to Executive
Board in January 2020 which outlined a background to the development of the
transport strategy following on from the Leeds transport conversation and
subsequent interim Transport Strategy in 2016.

2.2

Since the publication of the interim Transport Strategy, significant progress has
been made through the Connecting Leeds programme works including the delivery
of world class city centre gateways, park & ride, public transport enhancements,
new cycle superhighways and rail stations. The Connecting Leeds programme of
works over the forthcoming years will continue to deliver transformational schemes
across the city including the closure of city square to private vehicles, more rail
stations and public transport infrastructure. The future pipeline of schemes across
the district will transform how we travel and ensure the city is ready for the delivery
of High Speed 2 (HS2) and has the ability to spread the benefits of both HS2 and
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) across the city and city region.

2.3

In terms of context the following are a some key facts relating to travel and transport
in Leeds:



In 2018 there were 1,995 road casualties in Leeds, with 337 people killed or
seriously injured. Alongside street design, we must work closely with partners
including the emergency services to address road safety.



Air quality in Leeds continues to improve with the initiatives to modernise fleets
undertaken especially with bus, taxi and private hire operators. These measures
have been successful in bringing Leeds air quality below the targets set by
government. Leeds has six Air Quality Management Areas which need a continued
focus.



34% of children aged 11 in Leeds have an unhealthy weight. One in five adults in
Leeds is inactive and physical inactivity is our 4th largest cause of disease and
disability. Using travel to build exercise into our daily routines is an effective way to
address these health issues.



81% of trips up to a mile are already being undertaken on foot and 30% of trips
between 1 and 2 miles. Using planning to bring services closer to people will allow
these trends to continue



Commuting only makes up 16% of all journeys on the network. The strategy
therefore must focus on all journeys rather than purely tackling the most congested
routes and time of day.



23% of all trips account for 68% of total distance travelled. It is these longer trips
which are going to be the most challenging to reduce. We need to work with
national, pan-northern and regional partners to align our transport policies for these
longer journeys.



Younger people are less likely to get a driving license than before. Nationally in
2000 75% of 21-30 year olds had a driving licence, this figure has dropped to only
Page 613

62% in 2019. In urban areas such as Leeds this will be lower still, which points to a
generational shift in travel choices potentially through a range of issues including
the advent of technology, the increased cost of motoring and concern for the
environment.


Members will be aware of the government announcement to ban the sale of new
petrol and diesel cars from 2030. This policy proposal from national government is
complementary to the ambitions outlined in the draft strategy.

2.4

The strategy document at appendix A gives a much more detail on the current
context and discusses the future challenges facing the city’s transport system.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The overarching Connecting Leeds vision is for “Leeds to be a city where you don’t
need a car”. Achieving this vision of moving our transport system away from
personal car ownership, towards more efficient, low carbon, shared, active and
public transport based system will:







Allow individuals to choose the most suitable transport option for each journey.
Dramatically reduce the number of vehicles needed.
This efficiency will translate into reduced cost of travel for all.
Reduce congestion by making more efficient use of the road space available.
Reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality.
Allow more efficient use of land, with less space needed for parking.

3.2

The Transport Strategy will enable Leeds to retain its role as local, regional and
national transport hub and prepare the city for the arrival of Northern Powerhouse
Rail and High Speed 2. HS2 in combination with Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR)
is expected to help transform the economy of the North of England by significantly
improving the capacity, frequency and journey time of rail links between the region's
main economic centres. The Strategy will ensure these benefits are distributed
across city and wider city region maximising the investment.

3.3

Our vision is aligned to three key objectives:


Tackling Climate Change



Delivering Inclusive growth



Improving health and wellbeing

Tackling Climate Change
3.4

Tackling Climate Change and meeting our City pledge for carbon neutrality by 2030
is one of the greatest challenges we face .The way we manage transport over the
next decade has important implications for our streets, public places, our future
growth as a city and future generations in terms of addressing the climate
emergency. Motorised traffic makes a significant contribution to environmental
challenges we face as a city To begin to resolve these problems, Leeds must
become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport become the most
appealing and practical choices for many more journeys. For us every journey
matters and our aim is to change the transport mix and reduce the number of car
journeys. Therefore we need to:

Page 614



Reduce the need for travel and the number of car journeys



Shift people from cars to public transport and active travel



Improve the efficiency of the transport network through public transport
investment to make best use of our road space and tackle congestion

Delivering Inclusive growth
3.5

The Inclusive Growth Strategy acknowledges the role of Transport in supporting
and delivering inclusive growth in the city. Transport can help develop and
regenerate places supporting the economy with the efficient movement of goods
and people.

3.6

The Transport Strategy aims to improve connectivity for all communities and their
access to opportunities through reducing cost barriers associated with transport.
The delivery of new infrastructure will enable walking and cycling, the cheapest
modes of travel, will expand opportunities in the most deprived localities.

3.7

Embedded in the strategy is the requirement to ensure the accessibility of the
transport system works for everyone in the city. Throughout the development of
schemes and the strategy we engage with accessibility groups to ensure their
needs are catered for in the design of our streets and the services which operate in
the city.
Improving the Health and Wellbeing of Residents

3.8

The streets of Leeds bind our city together – connecting communities, businesses,
families and friends. They can improve our health and wellbeing, by reducing social
exclusion and loneliness as well as promote physical activity such as walking and
cycling. Healthy streets provide everyone with better access to education, services
and employment opportunities as well as creating an environment where
businesses can thrive. A healthy street environment will have far reaching benefits
across all our daily lives. In essence streets provide an enormous opportunity for
transport to improve everyone’s quality of life and broader experience of our city.

3.9

The Connecting Leeds Vision combined with the three overarching objectives have
guided the development of the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy attached
at Appendix 1. The strategy outlines the key challenges and opportunities facing the
city, our “big moves” and what further measures may need to be considered.
Big Moves

3.10

To achieve the vision and enable our objectives to be achieved, the strategy
outlines six big moves, which will be our focus areas for the strategy going forward:




Decarbonising Transport – Reducing the need to travel, re-mode how we
travel away from private car use and encouraging the further uptake of
Alternative Fuelled vehicles and associate infrastructure.
Creating healthier streets and communities – ensuring walking and cycling
are the first choice for the shortest trips, creating places and spaces where
people want to spend time which are inclusive and accessible to all.
Transform the city centre – continue to deliver and develop transformational
change in the city centre, from world- class gateways to ensuring all modes
are integrated, supporting Leeds role as a local, regional and national
transport hub.

Page 615





Enhance public transport – build on the successes we have had in recent
years at improving the bus network and working with partners to expand and
enhance the offering in the future.
New mobility solutions – thinking about transport differently, encouraging the
use of shared transport, paying for transport differently and the use of
technologies to improve mobility in the city.
Deliver a mass transit network –delivering a low carbon mass transit in
Leeds, enhancing the transformational work already going on in the city
centre through partnership with the Combined Authority.

Covid-19 Pandemic
3.11

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought about fundamental changes to how we live,
work and enjoy our city. It is true that we do not know the long term impacts of
Covid-19 on how we travel in the city. We do know that traffic levels peaked at 80%
of normal levels in September and October, and that there will be some return to
offices in the forthcoming years.

3.12

The Leeds Economic Recovery Framework sets out how we adapt and respond to
coronavirus and seek to build resilience into the economy. The transport strategy
and policies measures detailed will help contribute towards a greener and more
resilient economy.
Targets

3.13

The targets for the transport strategy are set out into three distinct areas:


Net Zero Carbon Emissions by 2030



Vision Zero



Mode shift

Vision Zero
3.14

Our Vision Zero target is for no one to be killed or seriously injured on our roads by
2040. We know that incidents are preventable and Vision Zero shares responsibility
for fatalities from road users, to engineers to road operators.
Mode Shift

3.15

The January 2020 update on the Transport Strategy set out ambitious 10 year
mode split targets to 2027 from the 2017 baseline. For the Transport Strategy,
these have been extrapolated out to 2030The revised 2030 are proposed below


Bus Increase +130%



Rail Increase +100%



Walking Increase +33%



Cycling Increase +400%



Car Decrease -30%

3.16 This means by 2030, travel choices need to change, so trips in Leeds are only 41
per cent by private car, walking 31 per cent, 22 per cent by public transport, four per
cent cycling and two per cent other modes.
3.17

These targets were considered ambitious pre-covid pandemic. Whilst covid-19
pandemic has changed how we travelled over the last year, the long term effects on

Page 616

travel behaviour are not known. Recent research by the RAC1 has suggested that
attitudes to public transport have regressed 18 years as a result of pandemic, with
more people choosing to travel by car. Retaining these ambitious targets is required
in order to achieve the scale of change required to meet the Climate Emergency
pledge. When the targets are combined with the expected population growth and
technology change would reduce the transport carbon emissions by up to 43%.
Consideration of additional measures
3.18

Our targets combined with the big moves will not only transform our city but will
make significant progress towards our pledge to become a carbon neutral city by
2030. It is clear however that these actions alone will not be enough to meet the
scale of the challenge facing us all and we will require input from regional and
national bodies.

3.19

The Transport Strategy sets out a range of measures that we will need to consider
beyond our existing measures if we are to meet this pledge. As part of the planned
consultation exercise feedback will be requested on which measures we should be
considered going forward.

3.20

The council’s has a role in every measure we consider however the nature of that
role is dependent on the measure themselves. The role of the council can be set
out as follows:


Influence and encourage – influence individuals, businesses to make low
carbon choices



Lead – lead on local Leeds specific measures



Support – Support measures which need to be brought in at either a West
Yorkshire, City Region or Northern scale



Lobby – Lobby for measures which can only be introduced at a national
or international level

Collaborative Working
3.21

The extent to which we are able to deliver this vision will be influenced by the action
we take to transform transport in the city, the region and wider north of England. In
order to realise our vision, meet our objectives and deliver transformation change
we need to work with individuals, businesses, local employment, regional bodies
including the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Transport for the North as
well as Central Government. Without collaborative working and support, we will be
unable to meet the scale of challenges facing us collectively.

3.22

The Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy focuses on surface based Transport and
it does not therefore cover aviation travel within the City Region, recognising that
aviation targets and policies are established at a national level to ensure that all
regional airports operate within a common and national policy framework. We have
called upon central government to include aviation in national carbon reduction
targets, to invest in research and design, which would create new jobs in cleaner
aviation technology and to invest in HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail to provide
reliable alternatives to domestic flights and flights to near European Neighbours
alongside the introduction of a frequent flyer levy.

1

RAC 2020 - https://www.rac.co.uk/drive/news/motoring-news/huge-role-for-cars-in-2020-as-publictransport-confidence-hits-18-year-low/

Page 617

Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy – the next steps
3.23

Public Engagement is planned through to February 2021, to enable everyone to
participate to help shape Transport over the next decade and input to how we
should be looking to meet our Climate targets. The consultation will inform the final
Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy will be presented to executive board during
summer 2021.

4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy is a unique opportunity to change the
way our city works for the better - but to do this we need the support of the citizens
of Leeds. Public consultation events and key stakeholder engagement is planned
for early 2021. Online engagement will be undertaken via Commonplace, building
on existing successes with this service for engagement on previous Connecting
Leeds schemes and plans.
4.1.2 Following the publication of the draft transport strategy we will continue our
engagement through the Connecting Leeds transport conversation to explore
individual’s motivation and barriers to changing their travel behaviour as well as
explore what residents, communities, businesses, and key stakeholders think about
our future transport proposals for Leeds.
4.1.3 As highlighted above the Council cannot achieve this level of change on its own and
alongside the publication of the draft strategy and the following consultation we will
also be asking for commitment from other businesses, organisations and individuals
to help us achieve our objectives in the strategy.

4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 Themes running through this report have an impact on equality and diversity. The
Council aims to improve the lives of all its citizens and foster good relations
between different groups in the community. The Connecting Leeds Transport
Strategy encourages inclusive growth, aiming to ensure that the benefits of a
prosperous economy impact on all Leeds citizens, this includes supporting young
people, people with disabilities and those suffering from mental health issues.
4.2.2 An Equality Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been undertaken to
assess the impact of this report on equality and diversity and is provided in
appendix 2.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy sets out a strategy for contributing to
inclusive growth, improved health and wellbeing and sustainable infrastructure
which are values of the best council plan.
4.3.2 The Strategy will help deliver the outcomes of the Best Council Plan by allowing
everyone in Leeds to move around a well-planned city easily, enjoy happy, healthy
and active lives and have equal access to a strong economy.
Page 618

4.3.3 The big moves of the draft Transport Strategy are aligned with the adopted Local
plan. The Strategy is also supportive of the principles of the emerging local plan
and ongoing local plan review. It is recognised that the council’s lead role in land
use planning will be an important factor in delivering the outcomes proposed in this
strategy.
Climate Emergency
4.3.4 In March 2019 the Council declared a “Climate Emergency”. The West Yorkshire
Combined Authority, Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees and others have also done so
highlighting the importance of this issue across the Leeds City Region and the rest
of the country.
4.3.5 Although Climate Emergencies have been declared elsewhere, the time scales for
achieving carbon neutrality targets differ. Our pledge is for 2030 however the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority are working towards a 2038 target and the
Department for Transport’s national target is for 2050. This will ultimately mean that
different targets are set in relation to transport at the local, regional and national
scale.
4.3.6 The Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy sets out our response to the Climate
Emergency declaration in transport terms and details what measures and further
measures are required to meet our 2030 carbon neutrality pledge.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 To achieve the vision and targets set out in this report will require significant
investment beyond current programmes and we will continue to work with WYCA
and call on national government for the support, powers and funding to deliver the
Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There are no significant legal issues relating to the recommendations in this report.
This report is eligible for Call-In.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The Transport Strategy and the implementation of the schemes and policies which
it will guide have a fundamental part to play in addressing the corporate risk on
Keeping the City Moving.
4.6.2 There is always a risk to the Leeds economy through both policies and external
pressures. The Council recognises that growing the economy has positive benefits
to the city and that the enhanced connectivity through the Connecting Leeds
Transport Strategy is a crucial component of delivering our Inclusive Growth
Strategy ambitions.
4.6.3 The risks relating to the Climate Emergency are that the actions of the Connecting
Leeds Transport Strategy do not adequately address the need to reduce carbon
emissions in-line with the Council’s and national objectives.

Page 619

5

Conclusions

5.1

This report updates Executive Board on the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy,
our vision, overarching themes and big moves. The report highlights the focus on
current Strategy development work in terms of articulating the scale of the challenge
in meeting carbon reduction targets, alongside potential policy options and
infrastructure investment, needed to meet these targets and our wider transport
strategy objectives.

5.2

Secondly, it launches the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy, with a draft
strategy for Executive Board consideration and public engagement. This will ensure
that we deliver a people first transport strategy that reflects the views, experiences
and needs of the citizens of Leeds.

6

Recommendations
Executive Board is recommended to
a) Endorse the draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy as contained within
appendix 1.
b) To note that a public consultation and engagement exercise will follow executive
Board through to February 2021 to help inform the final strategy.
c) Note that the Director of City Development continues to be the lead officer for the
delivery of the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy and will report back to
Executive Board in summer 2021 following public consultation with a final strategy.

7

Background documents2

7.1

None.

8

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1 - Transport Strategy

8.2

Appendix 2 - Equality Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening

2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 620

Page 621

Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy

Contents
34

Page 622

3

Foreword

4

Our Vision

5

Objectives & Targets

7

Together we can do this

9

Context

13

Challenges and Opportunities

24

Big Moves

29

Creating healthier streets, spaces and communities

26

De-carbonising Transport

32

Transform the City Centre

34

Enhance public transport

37

New Mobility Solutions

39

Deliver a Mass Transit Network

41

Policy Areas

44

Achieving the vision

46

Working Together

50

Next Steps

12

26

22

2

Foreword
Our ambition for Leeds is to have a strong economy within a compassionate city.

Page 623

To achieve this goal we are
committed to delivering
the priorities set out in our
Inclusive Growth and Health
and Well-Being Strategies,
and doing all that we can to
tackle climate change. The
extent to which we are able
to deliver success in these
areas will be influenced by the
action we take to transform
mobility and connectivity in
the city, the region and wider
north.

and communities has become ever clearer. It has contributed to an increase in
poor public health across our city, with streets that can often be polluted and
unwelcoming places to live, walk or cycle. It is also bad for business with millions
of pounds of lost productivity caused by congestion.
The Covid-19 pandemic has changed the way we live our lives, from how and
where we work to how we spend our leisure time. Whilst we do not know the
long term effects that this will have on our lives we do know that people want to
walk and cycle more.

Our vision for Leeds is for a city where walking, cycling and
green public transport become the most appealing, practical
and best value choices for many more journeys. Where
streets are attractive spaces for everyone to enjoy.

We are a city ready to move
forward together - sitting
proudly at the heart of the
Northern Powerhouse. With
the arrival of High Speed 2
and Northern Powerhouse
Rail transforming our intercity
connections we need to
ensure that mobility in Leeds in the next decade supports sustainable economic
development for everyone. Delivering transformational economic growth not only
in Leeds but across the city region and the north; creating a strong labour market
with increased access to jobs and talent and opportunities for everyone is at the
heart of our strategy.

This strategy outlines how we aim to put walking, cycling and green public
transport infrastructure first, the challenges we face as a city but also the
opportunities there are to continue to transform travel in Leeds. The strategy will
also set out big moves and how we are going to deliver the change required.
With the Climate Emergency declaration, how we manage and plan transport
has important implications for our streets, public places, and future growth as a
city but most importantly for everyone, who lives, works or travels in Leeds. We
have started to take action to address the levels of congestion, crowding and
unreliability on our transport network. However, there is more that can be done
to improve everyone’s experience of travel in our city.
There is no single solution. We need to continue to get people to move away
from their cars to deliver an affordable, reliable, safe and zero carbon public
transport network for the city which supports streets for people and unlocks the
power of transport for a fairer, greener and more prosperous Leeds.

Over the last few years we have seen significant transport investment which
has made our city easier to walk, cycle and travel by public transport in. At the
same time, the effect of overdependence on private cars on us, our families

Councillor Judith Blake. Leader Leeds City Council

3

Visi

n

Our

Our vision for Leeds is to be a city where you don’t need a car.

Page 624

Where everyone has an affordable zero carbon choice in how they travel.
We want to Connect Leeds, Connect Communities, and Connect Businesses together in the most sustainable ways.

This means a city:
Where walking and cycling
are the first and easy
choice for short journeys,
creating safe and healthy
environments where active
travel is prioritised and road
danger is eliminated.

With a fully integrated low carbon transport network
with a network of modes – each of them accessible,
viable and sustainable, which together will connect
everybody with everything. By reducing transport’s
damaging impact on the environment, we will
support Leeds’ commitment to becoming a carbon
neutral city by 2030.

With decreased car dependence, and with a
“go anywhere” active and public transport
network. Enabling people to make choices that
are right for them by providing smart, reliable,
real time, multi-modal travel information, or
making use of technology to decide not to
travel at all.

4

With efficient land use for a
well-connected, productive city
centre, moving more people,
not more vehicles – prioritising
mass transit, buses and active
modes of travel.

That enables everyone
to have equal
access to the same
opportunities. Where
the cost of travel is
reduced and people
need to travel less.

The Objectives
We want to ensure economic opportunities are available to everyone, create a healthy and caring city for all and through a range of travel choices address the climate emergency, by
moving away from personal car ownership, towards a shared, “go anywhere” low carbon transport network. To support our vision for Leeds we have three over-arching objectives in
the transport strategy.

Page 625

TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE

DELIVERING INCLUSIVE GROWTH

IMPROVING HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges we
face globally and as a major city we have a key role
to play. We declared a Climate Emergency in 2019
and pledged to make Leeds carbon neutral by 2030.
In order to meet our 2030 target we must persuade
people to adopt more sustainable travel choices by:

Ensuring that as Leeds continues to grow, that this is
inclusive and benefits all our citizens and communities.
The Leeds Inclusive Growth strategy sets outs 12 big
ideas to encourage inclusive growth. In order to support
the delivery of inclusive growth and make Leeds an
attractive city for business to grow and invest in, we are
going to:

The Health and Wellbeing strategy sets out 12 priority
areas to help Leeds become the best city for health and
wellbeing. “We want Leeds to be the most active city in
England” and our priority is to get more people active
more often. To improve health and wellbeing we are
going to:

Reducing the need for travel and the number of car
journeys, especially at peak times
Encouraging people to choose active travel and
public transport
Improving the efficiency of the transport network
and making better use of our road space
Encouraging and leading the uptake of zero
emission vehicles in freight, public and private
transport

Support individuals to access more employment
opportunities through a comprehensive transport
network
Develop and regenerate places through continued
investment in transport infrastructure
Improve productivity by investing in a more time
and cost-efficient transport system
Lower the cost of mobility, ensuring transport is
affordable and accessible for everyone

5

Ensure walking and cycling are the first choice for
the shortest journeys improving physical and mental
health
Reduce the negative effects of transport on our
local communities, improving air quality and
reducing CO2 emissions
Help make Leeds the best city to grow old in and a
child friendly city through making streets accessible
to all
Eliminate road danger by adopting a Vision Zero
approach to road accidents

Targets
In order to achieve our strategic vision for Leeds
to be a city where you don’t need a car, our
overall target comprises of four components:

Climate Emergency
The Council is
committed to making
Leeds carbon neutral
by 2030.

Distance Travelled

Mode Split
Page 626

To support our mode
split targets, we need
to reduce the length of car
trips made in the city by 30%.
That is on average 900 car
miles per year.

Increase
100%
Increase
400%

Increase
33%

Vision Zero

Increase
130%

Zero people killed
or serious injured on
Leeds roads
by 2040.

Decrease
30%

6

Together we can do this
We know that we can only achieve our vision and overarching objectives if everyone works together collectively.

What can you do to be 10% better?

The Big Leeds Climate Conversation identified that 94.8% or respondents believe that the
climate is changing and that 93.5% believe that climate change is due to our own human
activity. We know we must act now, together we can do this. We already know that people
are helping reduce CO2 emissions from transport, with 67.1% of people already walking
and cycling the shortest journeys less than a mile. We also know people are travelling less
to work with more people working from home as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic reducing daily traffic levels throughout the city.

In 2030, we need private car trips to account for only 41% of trips you make in Leeds if we
are meet our targets. That means we need to walk, cycle and use public transport more.
Our average trip type across the district needs to be:

Page 627

94.8% believe that the
climate is changing

13.2% would take the bus
or train more often

93.4% believe that
climate change is due to
human activity

33.2% would pick up
deliveries from a central
location

More than two-thirds of
respondents (67.1%) say
that they already walk or
cycle journeys less than
a mile.

The exception to this
is that more than a
quarter (26.5%) of
respondents say that
they would consider
switching to an electric
or hybrid car

The average CAR IS
ONLY USED 5% of time.

22%
public
transport

31%
walking

Our targets are ambitious and may seem out of reach but if everyone makes a small
change then it will equal a bigger change. Our targets are set across Leeds but we know
that the different characteristics of our district will mean different choices in different
locations. For those living in rural communities, it may be too long to walk or cycle to the
local shop but your contribution could be that your next vehicle is electric. For those who
live in urban locations, you may be able to walk, cycle and use public transport more and
use the car less than our targets set out to reach the amenities you need. We know that
people are willing to change, the Big Leeds Climate Commission identified that people
were willing to change to an electric vehicles, use public transport more and collect
deliveries from a central location.

41%
private car

4%
cycling

2%
other

We know that changing how you travel can be difficult, but the measures detailed in the
strategy are designed to help make changing how you travel easier. Making even the
smallest of changes can make a difference to reduce carbon emissions and we are working
hard to ensure we help make this happen. If we all made one small change change every
day this will make one larger change, together we can do this.

Leave the car
at home one
day a week

7

Walk the
children to
school

Visit places
by public
transport

Have a web
meeting instead
of travelling
to the meeting

A cyclists using new cycle facilities on the Outer Ring Road.

Page 628
8

Context
This Strategy outlines how we propose to plan and invest in the transport system of
Leeds to meet the mobility needs of our citizens, workers and businesses in the future.

It also fits with the Government’s and Transport for
the North’s strategic plans for the North of England,
which are needed to achieve a levelling up of the
UK economy, increasing productivity and talent.
The strategy is also aligned with the Department of
Transport plans for the decarbonisation of transport,
future mobility and walking and cycling strategies.

r
ou p
er hi
liv ers
de tn e
r
to par shi nd
a
k
m
ai g in Yor ity
e
r
w kin st ho t.
w or e ut en
ho w W A m
s y, the ed ern
g
ow te th in ov
Sh tra wi mb G
s
Co

The strategy also outlines at a city level how we
will work in partnership with the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority to deliver the West Yorkshire
Transport Strategy ‘for the Leeds City Region to be
a globally recognised economy where good growth
delivers high levels of prosperity, jobs and quality of
life for everyone’.

Connecting
Leeds
Transport
Strategy

The strategy supports our Child Friendly
and Age Friendly Leeds aspirations.

9

D
e
th scr
tr at ibe
an w s
sp ill th
o h e
th rt d elp bi
g
e
fu em me mo
tu an et v
re d o es
. s f ur
or

Page 629

This strategy, alongside the Inclusive Growth and
Health and Well-being strategies is one of a series of
policies that outline how the Council plans to deliver
its aim for Leeds to be the best city in the UK, with
a compassionate and caring strong economy, which
tackles poverty and reduces inequalities. The diagram
on page 8 demonstrates where the transport strategy
sits amongst wider Council and regional strategies.

Pr
o
o
vi f p vid
si
a e
tr on st, s a
an fo p n
sp r t re ov
or he se er
t i f nt vie
n ut an w
Le ur d
ed e o
s. f

Purpose

Consultation
re
tu
fu d
e an or
th es s f
es g tie
lin len ni ty.
ut al tu ci
O ch or he
p t
op

This document contains a set of principles which will
guide investment in transport so that it will serve a
future Leeds that will be home to more people who
enjoy living and working in a better environment. In
Leeds, we aim to put people first and create a city
that is distinctive, sustainable, ambitious, fun and
creative for all.

This is a draft strategy, highlighting the main
themes and types of interventions we believe
are needed to meet our overarching goals for
Leeds. It is a unique opportunity to engage
and inform the way we plan and develop our
transport system to work better - but to do this
we need the involvement and the support of the
citizens and businesses of Leeds.
In 2016, we started a transport conversation
because we wanted to hear how transport is
personal to you and what you think the priorities
for improving transport in Leeds should be. In
developing this draft strategy we have taken
on board your feedback. You made it clear
that congestion is a real problem, making you
late for work and appointments as well as
impacting on the movements of goods and
the reliability of public transport. A reliable
journey is important for quality of life, access to
employment, education and opportunities, as
well as your health and wellbeing.
We will continue the transport conversation
to understand the different choices and
barriers that influence travel behaviour as well
as exploring what residents, communities,
businesses, and key stakeholders think about
our future transport proposals for Leeds, before
a final strategy is formally adopted by Leeds
City Council.

Policy Setting
This page sets out how the Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy informs, and is informed by other Leeds City Council strategies and wider West Yorkshire Combined Authority strategies.

West
Yorkshire
Regional
Strategies

West Yorkshire Connectivity Strategy
West Yorkshire
Transport Strategy 2040

Climate Emergency
Declaration: 2038

Future Mobility
Strategy

Rail Connectivity
Vision

Mass Transit
Case making

Bus Strategy

Page 630

Best Council Plan

Leeds
Strategies
Climate Emergency
Declaration: 2030

Leeds Inclusive
Growth Strategy

Highways Infrastructure Asset
Management Strategy

Connecting Leeds
Transport Strategy

Health and
Wellbeing Strategy

Transport Supplementary Planning
Document.

10

Our Spaces
Strategy

Cycling Starts Here Strategy
Physical Activity Ambition for walking
and cycling

Leeds: The gateway to the north
Leeds is the biggest city in Yorkshire and also its economic hub. The city
is a strategic transport hub and a centre for local, regional, national and
international travel.

To Scotland

To Scotland

Northern Powerhouse Rail
HS2 Rail

Carlisle

Leeds is central to the north of England, connecting the city region with the
north, to Manchester, Newcastle and beyond. Leeds Station is already the
busiest station in the north of England, and through planned enhancement
of existing links and delivery of new ones, the station’s role as a hub
providing long distance, low carbon mobility, will be enhanced. The city
is also central to the Motorway network with the M1, A1(M) and M62 all
converging within the Leeds District.

Motorway

Transpennine Route upgrade

Newcastle

Rail

Sunderland

Ports

Durham
Penrith
Middlesbrough

Darlington

Page 631

High Speed 2 will see enhanced connections with London, Birmingham
and Sheffield making it easier and quicker to travel. Northern Powerhouse
Rail will unlock the true economic potential of the north and will transform
connectivity to other northern cities, reducing journey times and improving
access to the Leeds City Region. The Transpennine Route Upgrade will
enhance connections to Huddersfield and Manchester, providing reliable
connections and quicker services.

Kirkby Stephen
Northallerton

Oxenholme

Scarborough

Lancaster

Leeds Bradford Airport is the international gateway to Leeds and wider
city region performs a key role enabling economic growth. We know
that aviation growth and meeting zero carbon targets are fundamentally
incompatible until such a time as new technologies are developed.
However, as this is not just an issue effecting Leeds, we have called upon
central government to include aviation in national carbon reduction targets,
to invest in research and design, which would create new jobs in cleaner
aviation technology and to invest in HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail
to provide reliable alternatives to domestic flights and flights to near
European Neighbours alongside the introduction of a frequent flyer levy.

Harrogate

Settle

York

Skipton
Blackpool

LEEDS

Preston

Manchester

Liverpool

Huddersfield

Scunthorpe
Barnsley

Doncaster

Sheffield

To North Wales

Chesterfield
Crewe

To Midlands and London

11

Hull

Wakefield

Warrington

Chester

Beverley

Bradford
Halifax

Wigan

Selby

Grimsby

Transport in Leeds
Alongside this, we have been working hard to make active travel the preferred choice for
short journeys. Walking now accounts for 81% of the shortest journeys made. The city
now has 172km (over 107miles) of cycle network including the city connect superhighway
between East Leeds and Bradford. The council’s educational work encourages safe and
sustainable active travel, across the city.

The development, growth and success of Leeds shows how major investment in
transport infrastructure has supported the development of the city we have today
- from the completion of the Leeds Liverpool Canal in 1816, to the Victorians who
secured the city’s central position on the railway network.

For us, every journey matters and we are already working hard to continue delivering the
step change in people’s end to end journey experience. Through the work of Connecting
Leeds we are investing in our public transport experience, delivering new gateways in the
city centre, public transport corridors, park and ride options and more walking and cycling
facilities.

With the emergence of the ‘motorway city’ in the 1970s, and the car centric planning
that followed, Leeds also became well connected to the rest of country via the motorway
network. This allowed people, goods and services to travel easily and allowed Leeds to
grow.

What is clear is that the way we manage this transformation towards a more active and
green city by decreasing dependence on the private car over the next decade will need
further significant investment to ensure that people can get to where they need to go by
the lowest carbon and most efficient forms of transport.

Over the last decade our city has experienced a rapid transformation, with urban
regeneration accompanied by a flourishing cultural scene, thriving entertainment and
nightlife, an unrivalled retail offer alongside a growing reputation for independent food
and drink all of which is set within a city centre with a stunning heritage, with over 3,300
listed buildings in the city.

Page 632

However, the transport mix now needs to change to become more inclusive and
sustainable. Leeds is in a new era where no single type of transport will be dominant. We
want to enable individuals to have access to a range of affordable low carbon mobility
choices which, together, will connect everybody with everything.
Our investment in the transport system must support the development, growth and
success of the city continuing our investment over the past decade to improve the quality
of travel within Leeds. Our highly successful new park & ride facilities at Elland Road and
Temple Green offer a real alternative to bringing the car into the city centre, thereby
reducing congestion. The opening of Leeds Southern Station Entrance and Kirkstall Forge
railway station has supported the growth in rail use and regeneration of communities. Over
400 parking spaces have been delivered at Apperley Bridge and Kirkstall Forge to provide
rail Park and Ride provision.

172km
of cycle
network

4

NEW
Park &
Ride Sites

12

Greek Street Pedestrianisation
Greek Street was pedestrianised and
subsequently re-surfaced to become a
destination street. This has resulted in the
creation of over 250 new jobs and 100%
occupancy of bars and restaurants.

100%
occupancy
of bars and
restaurants

Page 633

250

new jobs
created

Note: These figures were produced pre Covid-19 pandemic.

13

Major investment in transport infrastructure timeline
Our past has shown how our transport has met the needs of our city and adapted as our city has grown. For us, every journey matters and we are
already working hard to continue to deliver the level of investment into the future required to provide a step change in people’s end to end journey
experience. Through the work of Connecting Leeds we are investing in our public transport experience delivering new gateways in the City Centre,
public transport corridors, park and ride options and more walking and cycling facilities.

1770

1891-1959

1993

2012

2016

2021

2022

2030-2035

2035-2040

Leeds and
Liverpool
Canal

Leeds
Tram
Network

Briggate
Pedestrianisation

A65 Quality
Bus Corridor

City
Connect 1

Active and
public
transport
corridors

City
Square pedestrianisation

Mass
Transit

HS2

Page 634

2020

Leeds
Bridge

Motorway
City

Expansion of
Leeds City
Station

Elland Road
Park and
Ride

1880

1970’s

2002

2014

The Headrow
and Corn
Exchange
Gateways

2021

East Leeds
Orbital
Route

Trans Pennine
Route
Upgrade

Northern
Powerhouse
Rail

2022

2026

2025-2035

Over the next decade the way we manage the transformation
towards a more active and green city, with reduced dependency
on the private car, will need further significant investment, to
ensure people can get to where they need to go by the lowest
carbon and most sustainable forms of transport.

14

Challenges and Opportunities

43%

There are a number of challenges that face the city, that transport must play a part in
tackling. We’ve made some really good progress so far in tackling them but there also
further opportunities which will enable us to achieve our vision for Leeds.

Addressing the Climate Emergency

REDUCTION IN

Climate change, which is primarily caused by CO2 emissions, is one of the to humanity
today, having detrimental impacts on both society and the environment internationally,
nationally and locally.

The work of the Leeds Climate Commission indicates
OVERALL CO2
that only changing vehicles to zero emission can
deliver the carbon reduction targets. However,
EMISSIONS
decarbonisation of the vehicle fleet is unlikely to
SINCE 2005
happen at the required rate without intervention and
the electricity required would need to be produced
from non-carbon sources which isn’t likely to be achieved by 2030, as the government is
working to a 2050 carbon neutral target. This means we need to do more to encourage
the uptake of zero emission vehicles whilst also reducing the number of vehicles.

In March 2019 the Council declared a “Climate Emergency”. The West Yorkshire Combined
Authority alongside the four other West Yorkshire authorities and other UK authorities
have also done so, highlighting the urgent need to address these impacts. In Leeds, we
have an ambition to become a net zero carbon city by 2030.

Page 635

Transport contributes up to 40% of carbon emissions in Leeds, so it is clear that we need to
take action to reduce these emissions.

At the same time current levels of public transport infrastructure investments are unlikely
to alone deliver sufficient incentives to significantly change behaviours or deliver the
desired modal shift to reduce carbon emissions.

Leeds City Council are working with the independent Leeds Climate Commission, who has
developed science-based carbon reduction targets that are based on Leeds’s per capita
‘share’ of the global carbon budget. These targets show the extent of action that will need
to be taken across all sectors.

Transport must therefore respond to the Climate Emergency. To reduce the contribution
that transport currently makes to carbon emissions in Leeds, we need to reduce the need
to travel, reduce our reliance on private cars and increase travel by actives modes
and public transport.

Leeds has achieved a reduction of 43% in emissions from its 2005 baseline, largely as a
result of decarbonisation of the electricity grid.

“

Addressing the Climate Emergency is an unprecedented challenge
of the scale we have not faced before and Leeds City Council
alone will be unable to ensure we hit our Climate targets
without the support of the citizens and businesses of
Leeds.

Leeds can become carbon neutral by 2030. In order to
do this we must achieve a further reduction of 27% by
2025 and an additional 15% by 2030, equating to an
overall reduction of 85% from our 2005 baseline.
Leeds Climate Commission

15
13

Trends in travel
We need to facilitate a reduction in longer trips, to help to encourage a shift to active modes.
We are already walking and cycling more, with 81% of trips up to amile already being undertaken on foot and 30% of trips between 1 and 2 miles. We need to reduce the average mileage of
car trips per year by 30%, that’s an average of 900miles per annum per person.

e ll e d

77% are less
than 10 Miles
long.

av

56% are less
than 5 miles
long.

68%

n ce t
r

77%

of
d

a
ist

Page 636

56%

23%

ips

of t
r

Trips by car.

Car trips of 10 miles or more account for only
23% of car trips, but 68% of total distance
driven. It is these longer trips which are
going to be the hardest to transfer to active
modes and public transport.

Sources: National Travel survey.

79%

79% of
total
distance
travelled
within West
Yorkshire
was by car.

81%

81% of
short trips
are already
made on
foot.

Distance Travelled

We want to reduce the average distance travelled per person by 10%. This equates to 630 miles per year per person.

% of trips undertaken on foot

30%

81% of trips up to 1 mile
of trips between 1 and 2 miles

16

Economic growth that benefits everyone

challenge especially as Leeds has a vision for significant future growth, increasing the size
of the city centre through the South Bank regeneration project, but also spreading growth
beyond the centre throughout the district, whether that is to strategic growth locations or
local centres.

As one of the most diverse economies of the UK’s main employment centres Leeds, like
the rest of the UK has been impacted by the coronavirus pandemic. Large cities have been
especially hit by the pandemic, with forecasts predicting it take between 1 – 4 years to
return to pre-crisis levels of economic activity.

In many cases poor transport acts as a barrier to mobility and the effectiveness of the
labour market. What is increasingly clear is that we simply cannot return to the level of
congestion, crowding and unreliability on our transport network pre-pandemic if we are to
deliver economic growth, increase our productivity and job density, and tackle deprivation.
Investment in transport infrastructure is a key driver of a city’s ability to continue to grow
and prosper.

The transport sector specifically faces amongst the most significant impacts of all sectors
of the economy. Not only has the sector already faced a significant drop in demand, with
consumers limiting travel, the pandemic has the potential to result in future impacts upon
the transport sector through changing the way individuals work and travel. We know that
employers are already investigating hybrid models of working, maximising the use of
technology to best serve their needs reducing the need for people to travel regularly. We
simply don’t know what the long term impacts on business and individual travel behaviour
will be, but we do know but we do know that people need to be connected and have
access to opportunities.

KEY

Page 637

Leeds has one of the most diverse economies of the UK’s main employment centres and
has seen the fastest rate of private-sector jobs growth of any UK city. The city has key
strengths in financial and business services, advanced manufacturing, health, and creative
and digital industries. The city’s universities and teaching hospitals are major innovation
assets and Leeds performs well in terms of business start-ups, with strong growth in digital
and medical technologies, telecoms and creative industries.

FACTS

Northern cities like Leeds have faced decades of under investment as a disproportionate
amount of funding has been directed to London and the South East. Rebalancing the
national economy is needed more than ever and remains a huge priority and we are
working closely with our neighbouring towns and cities to make the case for change.
Our cities and regions are drivers of growth, as well as international hubs and centres of
innovation where local people know what is best for their communities.

Density
Long term, increasing
density of the city centre
will be important. The
effective density of the
city centre increases if
its level of accessibility
increases, since it becomes
easier to travel between
areas of employment. This
can lead to an increase in
productivity and support a
comprehensive transport
system that increases
both connectivity and
accessibility.

Investment in the transport network has supported a 17% increase in jobs between 2009
and 2018. Investment in rail infrastructure has enabled the city centre to grow, with a 70%
increase in rail commuting between 2001 and 2011. Despite this growth Leeds suffers
from underperformance in terms of productivity and job density in the city centre, as well
as high levels of deprivation in some neighbourhoods. Raising productivity remains a big

Covid-19 Pandemic

The coronavirus pandemic has brought about immediate effects on the Leeds economy:

115,000

workers
furloughed.

92% increase

in claimants of Universal
credit between March
and August.

35% reduction
in city centre
footfall levels.

Transport and the Economy

60% reduction

Productivity
Productivity is commonly defined as a
ratio between the output volume and
the volume of inputs.

Each worker within Leeds produced
an average of £51,300 annually which
is higher than the Leeds City Region
average of £46,400, but lower than the
national average of £54,300.

Deprivation
Leeds is ranked 31 out of 326 local
authority districts for deprivation, where
1 is most deprived. The 2011 census
showed that 32% of households in
Leeds do not have access to a car and
in many cases poor transport acts as a
barrier to mobility and the effectiveness
of the labour market.

in traffic levels in
April 2020.

1

17

Economic Drivers for Transport Strategy – Volterra 2020

Capacity

The rail and road networks in Leeds are already at or near capacity during peak times
on weekdays. We need to provide additional capacity on public transport and for active
modes in the city to allow the city to continue to grow.

by re-balancing the way we allocate transport capacity. Moving people more efficiently
means giving priority to modes of transport that deliver the most benefit in terms of
efficiency, reliability and space, as well as supporting safe and sustainable environments
– such as the train, bus and mass transit. It also means giving more space to walking and
cycling which are carbon neutral.

You have made it clear that congestion is a real issue, making you late for work and
appointments as well as impacting on the movements of goods. Unreliable public transport
also impacts your travel choice with a reliable journey essential for quality of life, access to
employment, education and opportunities; as well as your health and wellbeing.

The road space allocation diagram (below) shows that private vehicles are inefficient at
moving people around the city. Through prioritising public transport and active modes, we
can improve capacity and also encourage people to move around the city more efficiently.
We want to focus on moving more people around the city, rather than more vehicles.

We need to ensure that our network is resilient and has the ability to adapt to changes.
Our planned infrastructure investment will pose further network resilience challenges in the
years to come. The Council will balance the impact of construction with the future benefits
of a scheme whilst ensuring the city is kept moving and open for business.

Waking and cycling capacity in key areas through the city are restricted from vehicle
dominated environments and a lack of available space for dedicated facilities. We know
this will constrain further growth in walking and cycling and have already started work to
increase capacity through investment in active travel infrastructure across the city and the
Our Spaces strategy.

With our transport network full and space in our city limited, responding to the future
demands of increased mobility in the city has to start with making more of what we have

Road space allocation
Page 638

PRIVATE MOTOR VEHICLES
2,000 people per hour

DEDICATED BUS LANES
9,000 - 17,000 people per hour

BIKE LANES
3,600 - 7,200 people per hour

FOOTWAY
19,000 people per hour

MASS TRANSIT
18,000 to 20,000 people per hour

18

A5

Accommodating Future Growth

A65
The population of Leeds is forecast to rise from about 780,000 in 2017 to 860,000
(+10%) in 2033. This raises major challenges for Leeds in seeking to meet the
complex demographic needs of this growth together with the implications of an
ageing and growing population.

MAIN GROWTH LOCATIONS
IN LEEDS CITY CENTRE

Leeds has an ambitious strategy to expand the size of the city centre. With major
investments at Quarry Hill, Leeds Dock, Wellington Street the Innovation District
and the South Bank including:

CU

MABGATE

UR

INNOVATION

LT

New jobs, new homes, a new city park and a revitalised waterfront in the
South Bank, as one of the most significant regeneration projects in Europe

AL

An Innovation District around the universities and hospital

WEST END

RETAIL

EA
SI
DE

SOUTH BANK

Supporting development and regeneration of Quarry Hill, Eastgate,
and the West End

ST

Page 639

Rebuilding Leeds Station, the busiest transport hub in the north, including
HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail

A6110

Infrastructure to connect people and communities in the city centre
fringe to the city centre

10% rise in population by 2033

Reducing reliance on cars and promoting high density city centre developments will also
M621
serve to reduce the demand for car parking, releasing land for more productive use, for
example pedestrianised streets, new homes and new employment sites.

19

MAIN GROWTH LOCATIONS
OUTSIDE THE CITY CENTRE

Supporting growth and regeneration throughout
the city.

EDINBURGH

Our focus is also centred on creating jobs close to communities enabling
walkable and cycle-able neighbourhoods. We will do this by:

Thorpe Arch

Strengthening transport links to enable people to access jobs
Leeds/Bradford
Airport

Supporting growth and investment in main economic hubs outside of
the city centre in the north, south, east and west of the city including:
Aire Valley Enterprise Zone

East Leeds Extension

Thorpe Park

Kirkstall Forge

Page 640

Thorp Arch
White Rose

LEEDS
Thorpe Park

A1(M)

Capitol Park

Enterprise Zone

Kirkstall Forge
Leeds Bradford Airport

White Rose

MANCHESTER

Capitol Park

LONDON

Focusing on district and local centres, ensuring economic growth is within
local communities through local job creation, thus helping to reduce commute
distances.

HULL

LONDON

The Local Plan identifies a significant new housing requirement of just over 54,000
dwellings by 2033.

54,000
dwellings
by 2033

We will ensure housing growth is linked to the creation of healthier, better connected
neighborhoods throughout Leeds. We will also ensure that the extensive planned
growth will be inclusive for all and will ensure alternative modes of travel are
accommodating for all user groups.

20

Creating a healthy and caring city for all

KEY

Leeds has a relatively strong position on a number of health and social care indicators
compared to other Core Cities, and there have been some notable improvements such as
smoking reduction and people surviving longer with long term conditions.
But some issues remain, particularly the stalling of improvements in life expectancy for people
living in our deprived areas who continue to have poorer health outcomes and, in some cases,
in line with national trends, progress has slowed and the gaps have widened.

FACTS

The health and
wellbeing of our city

We acknowledge the importance of improving mental health and the impact it can have on
individuals throughout the city. Over reliance on car travel – particularly for short journeys – is
one of the main contributors to physical inactivity which is linked to long term conditions such
as heart disease and cancer, the biggest causes of premature death.
Overall, health in Leeds remains worse than the English average and, therefore, improving
public health outcomes for the citizens of Leeds is a key priority of the City Council.

Addressing Poor Air Quality

Page 641

Road transport is by far the largest source of air pollutants that are most harmful to health
– nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter. Air pollution affects everyone, but has a
disproportionate impact on the most vulnerable in or society: young people, old people and
people experiencing illness or poverty. The annual health cost to society of the health impacts
of particulate air pollution alone in the UK is estimated to be around £16 billion. Polluted air
is the biggest environmental risk to our health in the UK. It is estimated that up to 36,000
people die early every year as a result of long term exposure to air pollution. (Source: Public

34% of children aged
11 in Leeds have an
unhealthy weight.

105,000

Health England, 2019)

37,000 older people in
Leeds experience social
isolation or loneliness.

In recent years, we have taken action to improve air quality across the city through initiatives
to modernise fleets especially with bus, taxi and private hire operators. These measures have
been successful in bringing Leeds air quality below the targets set by government.

Improving the local environment

Road transport is dominating our local communities, discouraging people from walking
and cycling and using streets as places to connect. A reduction in the number of vehicles
can allow for road space to re-allocated to to allow tress to be planted, creating a greener,
healthier city. The re-allocation of space can also create safe environments for communities to
use, to walk and cycle in and enjoy.

Road Safety

6
Leeds has six Air Quality
Management Areas.

In Leeds, road safety has been improving with a reduction in the number of road casualties
for the third consecutive year however the number of people killed or seriously injured
has been increased by 4% by 2018. We have started taking action through the delivery of
20mph zones across Leeds, an annual programme of education, training and campaigns and
provision of new infrastructure for the most vulnerable users, pedestrians and cyclists.

One in five adults in Leeds is
inactive and physical inactivity is
our 4th largest cause of disease
and disability

105,000 people in the city
suffer from anxiety and
depression.

In 2018 there were 1,995
road casualties in Leeds,
with 337 people killed or
seriously injured.
Sources: Leeds City Council.

21

Responding to the impacts of
the Covid-19 pandemic

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought about unprecedented changes to the way we
live our lives. It is a new challenge upon our existing challenges but it also offers
opportunities to do things differently and bring forward our plans detailed in this strategy.
It is true that we simply do not know the long term impacts of this pandemic on how we live
and work and our mobility patterns and choices. But what we do know is that Leeds can grow back
with a stronger economy, a more inclusive society, and as a greener, healthier city than before.
Cities are crucial in delivering the UK’s economic growth. While cities form only 9% of the UK’s land
mass, they account for 54% of its population, 60% of jobs and businesses, and 62% of economic
output.
The Leeds Economic Recovery Framework sets out how Leeds can respond to the Covid-19
pandemic – setting out how investment in transformational infrastructure projects will enable more
people to access more jobs and allow enterprise to start in the city. The recovery approach is
centred on the need to:
Respond.
Where required, continue to take immediate actions to support businesses, workers and the
economy as we have done since lockdown in March 2020.

Page 642

Reset and Renew.
Ensure we understand the challenges and opportunities that we face in recovery and that we
have a clear focus and direction on the projects and partnerships that will address them.
Build Resilience.
Maintain a long term view of our aspirations to deliver inclusive growth, address the climate
emergency and be the best city for health and wellbeing. Ensure that our decisions lead us
towards these goals.

We have adopted this approach to our immediate transport priorities and investment into the city
as outlined over the page.
The way we travel has changed during the Covid-19 pandemic, but whether these changes are
temporary or permanent is still uncertain. In April 2020, we witnessed a 60% reduction in vehicle
trips in comparison to the same week in 2019 across the city as a result of lockdown. By September
2020, weekly traffic flows had increased but were still down 15% on the same week in 2019. What
hasn’t happened is a return in public transport patronage. Nevertheless, the pandemic does
present opportunities to encourage use of a broader range of transport modes than before and
importantly to reduce the overall need to travel as people continue to work from home. Reducing
the need to travel and changing how we travel will allow us to accelerate progress towards
achieving our net zero carbon goals. The pandemic has also placed renewed focus on the role of
local centres and a need for these centres to provide all services for the communities they support.

22

The implementation of active travel neighbourhoods.

Wand orcas have been implemented in several locations in the city during the pandemic as a quick
way to provide segregation between cyclists and motorists.

Respond

We have followed the Leeds Economic Recovery Framework of Respond, Reset and Renew and Building Resilience to our Covid response. Our initial response to Covid-19
has enabled us to accelerate change we were already planning within our transport strategy, this includes:

Open for

Delivered school streets, restricting
vehicle movements around our schools.

Provided a light segregation trial of
some ‘orca Wands’ along our city’s
busiest roads.

Opened a bike hub at Kirkgate Market

In May 2020, our initial public consultation relating to our response to the Covid-19 pandemic saw over 25,000 contributions wanting to see more walking and cycling
infrastructure across the city. This has informed the next phase of our response which will build on the successes of phase 1 and the work we are already doing across
the city. Our Phase 2 response will include;

Road-Space reallocation

Build Resilience

Page 643

Reset and Renew

Widened footways at key location
throughout Leeds

New cycle parking opportunities

Active Travel Neighbourhoods

Light Segregation of further cycle routes

We are maintaining a long term view: these interventions are consistent with our emerging strategy for travel in the city, where walking, cycling and public transport are prioritised.
We know that commitment to investment in transport can help Leeds bounce back and recover from this pandemic. These actions will contribute to the Leeds Economic
Recovery Framework and the West Yorkshire Economic Recovery Plan enabling Leeds to support and lead the regions recovery.

23

Big Moves
In order to make Leeds, a city where you don’t need a car, we have identified six big moves which will be the areas of focus
for the Transport Strategy. We believe these six big moves will help us achieve our ambition and our targets.

Page 644

De-carbonising
Transport

Creating healthier
streets, spaces
and communities

Transform the
city centre

Enhance public
transport

New Mobility
Solutions

Deliver a Mass
Transit Network

Our six big moves are supported by 12 policy areas. It is a combination of measures from these
different policy areas that will deliver and ultimately allow our big moves to become successful.

Smart ticketing
and technology

Shared mobility and
personal mobility

Alternative
fuelled vehicles

Rail

Active travel
Infrastructure

Parking
management

Public transport
priorities

Spatial planning and
place making

Freight

Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change

Park and Ride /
mobility hubs

Efficiently managing
the network

24

Our approach to the Big Moves

CARBON
NEUTRAL
BY 2030

The scale of the challenge

Meeting our pledge for Leeds to become carbon neutral by 2030 will be challenging. Our current policy projection will contribute to a reduction in CO2 emissions, however we need to do
more to further reduce emissions. Our policies including our Bold and Big Moves detailed in this strategy will contribute up to a 43% reduction in CO2 emissions from transport by 2030.
The challenge in achieving net-zero carbon emissions is not one just facing Leeds, it is also facing regional and national government. The Department for Transport are currently working to
a 2050 ambition for carbon neutrality and their policy projections are set out in Decarbonsing Transport: Setting the challenge report. Recent announcements, bringing forward the ban on
the sale of fossil fuelled vehicles to 2030 will help reduce carbon emissions however further policy actions are required.
Our Bold and Big Moves set out our focus
areas for the transport strategy. To outline our
proposals for each of the Big Moves, we have
broken down each move into the following
components:

700

600

WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:

WE ARE GOING TO:
Measures we are going to introduce as
part of this strategy to work towards our
targets
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
Measures we need to consider going
forward in order to achieve our targets
We will require support from Central
Government to enable us to make these
steps and changes to national policy to
enable this to be achieved

500
100,000s tonnes of CO2

Page 645

This is where we outline what measures
we are going to continue to do

Current Policy Projection:
17% reduction in CO2 Emissions

Up to 43% reduction in
C02 emissions through
Big Moves and current
ambitious targets

400

300
We need to consider
further measures to
reduce CO2 emissions
further in order to
achieve our 2030
Climate Emergency
target

200

100

0
2016

2018

2020

2022

Ambitious Targets

2024
Year

Net Zero

2026

Current Policy Projection

Projections produced using National Travel Survey, Office for National Statistic data

25

2028

2030

Net-Zero Carbon
emission projection

We need to de-carbonise transport in order to achieve our Climate
Emergency targets. Our planned low carbon interventions will
accelerate further reduction in carbon emissions from transport but
we need to continue to do more. National research has shown that
cars and taxi accounted for 55% of all domestic carbon emissions
in 2018.

De-carbonising
Transport

We will continue to investigate the opportunity of carbon capture
technologies and support them through the delivery of our schemes.
At this moment in time, current and upcoming technologies do not
have the capacity to substantially reduce carbon emissions within
the next ten years therefore we cannot heavily rely on these to meet
our net-zero target. We have set out an ambitious green initiative to
plant 5.8million trees planted across the city over the next 25 years.

This will support the development of the White Rose Forest, which
aims to double tree cover across the city region by 2050 and our own
commitment to replace each tree with at least three new ones.

Reducing the need to travel

We want everyone to be able to access the amenities they need,
from places to work, to places to shop, places of education and and
to leisure destinations. We want to make it easier to access these
amenities in one trip through how we plan the city to ensure everyone
can access the destinations they want to. We also want to make these
trips shorter, where more amenities can be accessed closer to home,
work or school without impacting on the choice of amenities.

= Grams of CO2 per person kilometre travelled.

243.8

209.1

Page 646

Shared mobility and
personal mobility

= Space in square metres required per occupant.

121.9

119.6

Alternative fuelled
vehicles

28.6

20.2

Train

Tram

17.7

Rail
Active travel
Infrastructure
Parking management
Public transport
priorities

Average
car

Top Range
EV

Dual
occupancy
car

Motorcycle

Bus

Top Range
EV

Cycle

Walking

(Sustainable Energy)

DIRTY

CLEAN
1.9

0.5

0.6

1.5

0.8

Freight

4.9

Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change

9.7

9.7

9.7

26

0.5

De-carbonising Transport

Mode Shift

Following publication of the strategy we will undertake further research and in the next
12 months will set out a clear action based delivery plan that will allow us to achieve
our objectives, whilst being mindful of the need for flexibility and adaptability in light of
technological change and innovation.

Getting more people travelling by public transport, walking or cycling rather than higher
carbon emitting modes such as cars is a priority. Walking and cycling are the most
sustainable forms of travel and are carbon neutral. Motorcycles take up less space than
cars and can help reduce congestion by more efficient use of road space. However, they
can still emit similar levels of CO2 to private cars. Whilst switching to alternative fuelled
vehicles such as electric cars will also help, electric cars still produce more emissions per
person than public transport, walking and cycling, and do not address other issues such as
congestion. Encouraging behaviour change is not just about reducing car use, it also offers
wider benefits for everyone’s health, for the urban realm through a reduction of vehicles on
our streets, and for the environments.

Electric Vehicles: Leeds Case Study

Leeds City Council has the largest Electric Vehicle Fleet of any local authority in the
United Kingdom and has ambitions to expand this further. With a fleet of over 300
electric vehicles in Leeds this has already reduced carbon emission within the city.
We are also leading by example and are offering 40 vans on trial for local businesses
to see the benefit of using an electric van #Leedsbyexample. We are also offering
E-bikes and E-cargo solution for businesses and individuals to trial.

Alternative Fuels

We are also working with partners to deliver a network of over 30 rapid charge
points across the city and we are also offering grants for associated infrastructure for
businesses to help make the switch to Electric Vehicles.

Page 647

The shift away from fossil fuels such as petrol and diesel to alternative fuels such as
hydrogen and electricity will be fundamental to de-carbonising transport. The Council
is already leading the way when it comes to alternative fuelled vehicles but we need
to further encourage the uptake of these vehicles. We are drafting an Alternative Fuel
Strategy that will outline the Council’s future ambitions for the city for Ultra-Low Emission
Vehicles (ULEVs) and their supporting infrastructure. The strategy will outline how we
transition from fossil fuels to alternative fuelled vehicles.
The strategy outlines four objectives to achieve this:

1
3

To work in collaboration with
a range of stakeholders to
ensure that alternative fuel
infrastructure is both convenient
and accessible across the city.

To raise awareness of the
benefits of transitioning to
low emission alternative fuel
vehicles and their associated
infrastructure.

2
4

To be at the forefront of
implementing emerging
alternative fuel technologies to
allow innovation and growth
of lower emission vehicles to
prosper within Leeds.

Ensure that Leeds City Council
is an exemplar in the use of
alternative fuel vehicles within
its own fleet.

27

De-carbonising Transport
WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:
Re-mode how we travel - making it easier to walk, cycle and use public transport.
Reducing the need to travel - making it easier to access the same opportunities and
amenities without having to travel as far.
Support the uptake of alternative fuelled vehicles and associated infrastructure
through publication of our Alternative Fuelled Vehicle Strategy
Commit to all new infrastructure being carbon neutral and carbon negative where
possible
Continue to improve local environments through the planting of street trees,
contributing to our wider ambition to create new woodlands through the planting of
over 5.8 million trees
WE ARE GOING TO:

Page 648

Trial new technologies to make it easier to adopt low carbon choices such as on-street
electrical vehicle charging points
Work with partners to make it easier for everyone to access services closer to home.
Ensure low carbon mobility choices are available throughout Leeds, serving the routes
and locations people need.
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
How we can further incentivise people to use the low carbon public transport network
in partnership with the Combined Authority and bus operators.
A low carbon zone, this could be similar to the Ultra-Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) in
London, where the most polluting vehicles are subject to greatest charges based on
CO2 emissions.

28

An important goal of the City Council is to prioritise streets
for people, putting healthy streets at the heart of our
transport strategy. Streets provide an enormous opportunity
for transport to improve everyone’s quality of life and
broader experience of our city.

Creating healthier
streets, spaces
and communities
Page 649

Shared mobility and
personal mobility
Alternative fuelled
vehicles
Rail
Active travel
Infrastructure
Parking management
Public transport
priorities
Spatial planning and
place making
Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change

The streets of Leeds bind our city together – connecting
communities, businesses, families and friends. They are where
most journey’s start or finish and we believe it is important to
ensure change starts here. They can improve our health and
wellbeing, by reducing social isolation and loneliness as well as
promote physical activity such as walking and cycling. Healthy
streets provide everyone with better access to education,
services and employment opportunities as well as creating
an environment where businesses can thrive. A healthy street
environment, including clean air, will have far reaching benefits
across all our daily lives.

Prioritising healthy streets

We want to prioritise streets for people, enabling everyone to enjoy
and use their streets, connecting communities and enabling everyone to
lead more active and healthier lives. Our approach will build on the 20
minute neighborhood concept but will be tailored to meet the needs of
Leeds. Streets for people aim to reduce the impact of vehicle dominated
environments, adopting an integrated, holistic approach to our streets.
We can do this by assessing our streets to identify where they are
preforming well and where there are opportunities for improvement. We
can makes street for people by following three key guiding principles:

We want Leeds to be the most active big city in England. This
requires wide-ranging action, including inspiring people to be
active and targeting participation in sports and other activities
to specific geographic areas and groups. It means making
active travel the easiest and best option wherever possible,
with lots more walking and cycling due to good infrastructure.
Too often our streets are places for cars, not people. Cars
take up a lot of space relative to the number of people they
can move around. They also cause congestion and impact on
the people of Leeds, from air and noise pollution, to delaying
public transport and the movement of goods as well as
making streets unpleasant places to be. Road danger can be
caused by large numbers of vehicles moving at high speed, in
places where people want to be. By removing vehicles, we can
enhance local environments, creating green spaces, planting
more plants and trees, which is known to improve mental
health.
Creating a safe and attractive experience on Leeds streets
is important for everyone especially for certain groups who
can be disproportionately affected. Older people, the very
young, disabled people and those living on lower incomes
are often the most impacted by the negative impacts of a
car-dependent city. Through creating healthy streets and the
communities within them, we can make it easier for everyone
to live, work and enjoy their local areas.

29

Communities

Creating healthier streets, spaces and communities

CASE STUDY

The Recreations, Holbeck

Page 650

The Recreations area in
Holbeck is characterised
by back to back terrace
properties, limited
greenspace and suffers from
high volumes of vehicle
movements despite 73% of
local residents not owning
a car. The area is within the
23rd most deprived wards
nationally and is situated
within an existing air quality
management area.
Engagement with the local
community through house
to house surveys using a
survey of key assessment indicators of Healthy Streets
has identified a desire for improved natural spaces and
creation of spaces for social interaction.
The scheme will stop up several streets promoting walking
and cycling as the main modes of travel and allow for
easy access to green space including dedicated routes
in Holbeck Moor including links into City Connect 3.
This will be complimented with a reduction of traffic
speeds through a one-way traffic system. The scheme
has attracted further funding for improvements to
multi-games area and sport pitches on Holbeck Moor
contributing to wider targets of becoming the most active
big city in England.

WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:
Provide accessible, well designed space for walking and cycling, including developing local cycling and walking
infrastructure plans for all Leeds Communities.
Use street space more efficiently by tackling congestion and reducing traffic.
Ensure our streets are safer for everyone by working with partners to reduce crime and anti social-behaviour
Work with accessibility and inclusivity groups on the development of a street charter to reduce barriers to travel
Maintain the Outer Ring Road as the primary route for vehicle trips around the city in order to support the
transformation of our local streets.
WE ARE GOING TO:
Adopt Vision Zero approach to road safety, where all accidents are preventable and liability is shared between,
road users, engineers and road operators
Create and support an integrated, connected network for all modes, enabling longer trips to be undertaken
sustainably building on the 20 minute neighbourhood concept
Lobby for greater allocation of funding for these types of measures, which are currently more challenging to
fund
Monitor our Active Travel Neighbourhood trials to see if they encourage people to walk and cycle more but also
reduce rat-running
Review parking management measures across the Leeds district to include more spaces for cycles, car clubs and
Electric Vehicle charging
Tackle barriers to active travel including bike storage at home and access to training
Develop a local shared ownership model for transport within communities through the provision of car clubs and
bike sharing.
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
Different parking management measures to reduce vehicle dominated environments and incentives the uptake
of alternatively fuelled vehicles.

30

Family using local cycle infrastructure for everyday trips.

Page 651
31

A welcoming city
centre, which is
distinctive

Work is already underway to reduce the impact of
traffic across the city. We are investing now in a
transport infrastructure fit for the 21st century.

Transform the
City Centre

Page 652

Smart ticketing and
technology
Shared mobility and
personal mobility
Alternative fuelled
vehicles
Rail
Active travel
Infrastructure
Parking management
Public transport
priorities
Spatial planning and
place making
Freight
Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change
Park and ride

A cultural city centre
with a national and
international reputation
for diverse culture

Transport investment from the 1970s has created
a legacy where traffic dominates parts of our city,
with roads engineered for vehicle capacity rather
than streets that cater for people. Changing our
highway infrastructure to create a more people
friendly city centre will be challenging and take
major capital funding. Creating a more people
friendly, productive and accessible city centre will
also require transformational change in the way we
travel into and around the city centre.

A legible, accessible
and walkable city
centre

The West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund will enable
the creation of a world class gateway through the
closure of City Square to general traffic by 2022
and to create a rationalised & distributed road
hierarchy that increases local connectivity &
reduces city centre congestion. The delivery
of gateways will create new public spaces
for everyone to use and improve the public
realm.
Leeds city centre performs a key economic,
strategic and cultural role at the heart
of the Metropolitan District and the City
Region. The city centre is a hub for transport
journeys, an important destination for work,
shopping and leisure journeys being a major
regional commercial and retail centre, and the
location for a range of prestigious internationally
significant cultural facilities.

For the
city centre
we have

8

aspirations:

A well-connected
city centre, which aids
inclusive growth and
equality, and connects

A liveable and
compassionate city
centre

A quality environment,
which has a positive
impact on health and
wellbeing

Like other large cities in the UK, Leeds city centre
has assumed an increasingly important economic
role in recent years. Although the pandemic has
impacted this, it is still too soon to learn how much
this may have changed. It is effectively becoming
the city centre for the Leeds City Region as a whole,
with a growing concentration of private sector and
high skilled, knowledge intensive jobs. There is an
opportunity to nurture this economic growth through
a transport system that can move more people to a
denser and more productive city centre.

32

A business-friendly city centre which
is more productive and is attractive
for new businesses to invest and
existing businesses to expand.

A growing city centre where new
employment is created, with more
people travelling sustainably.

Transform the City Centre
At the heart of our ambition is a transport hub for Leeds, providing a gateway to Leeds via the national rail and
motorway networks, and forming the core of the local bus network.
The city centre’s environmental quality is vital to its economic success and making it a better place to live
in, work in and visit. Every opportunity needs to be taken to enhance streets and spaces in the city centre.
Changing our highway infrastructure to create a more people friendly city centre will enable more people to
access and benefit through improved accessibility.
Creating a more people friendly, productive and accessible city centre will also require transformational change
in the way we travel into and around the city centre.
Artist impression of Sovereign Street Footbridge.

WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:
Deliver transformational change through the delivery of our
new gateway locations on the Headrow, Park Row and the Corn
Exchange making it easier to travel for pedestrians, cyclists and
public transport users
Invest in the city centre as a national, regional and local transport
hub
WE ARE GOING TO:
Encourage and facilitate traffic to move around the city centre
rather than through it with the closure of City Square.

Page 653

Create a network of open and green spaces within our streets
that make the city centre more attractive supporting the Our
Spaces Strategy
Support the role of Leeds City Station, enhancing its role as a
regional transport hub and enabling for the integration of high
speed rail
Maintaining the Inner Ring Road to help facilitate the
transformation of the city centre whilst also ensuring we reduce
the physical barrier it places between communities, making it
easier for people to access the city centre.
Review our parking strategy including park and ride facilities.
Re-assess how we use our existing water and rail network to best
service the city especially in relation to freight.
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
A workplace parking levy, this could charge employers who
provide workplace parking, with monies raised being ring-fenced
to invest back into transport.

33

Better public transport

Public transport in Leeds largely consists of our rail and bus networks,
with each of them playing a separate role in how our transport
operates. We will support the development and expansion of the rail
network, making more stations more accessible with more a facilities.
We want Leeds to be brilliant for the bus with a bus network that
connects everyone and everything. The bus plays a unique role in the
life of Leeds being the most accessible and well used form of public
transport.

Enhance public
transport

Page 654

Smart ticketing and
Technology
Alternative fuelled
vehicles
Parking management
Public transport
priorities
Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change
Park and ride

We want to provide the widest and most dense accessible local bus
network complemented by a holistic park and ride offer to make Leeds a
city where you don’t need a car.
However, bus patronage has been declining in Leeds over the last 20
years. The reasons for the decline are varied but one of the major issues
is rising congestion leading to higher bus journey times and fares as well
as the relatively low costs of motoring.

More people travelling by bus in Leeds will have significant and
numerous benefits that will help achieve sustainable, healthy and
inclusive growth.
There is simply not enough space in cities for everyone to travel by
car. Buses are the most flexible, affordable and adaptable form of
passenger transport and just one bus can take over 30 cars off the
road.
Buses have the lowest carbon footprint per passenger of any form of
motorised transport and are leading the way in implementing new low
emission technology.
Buses are often the most affordable choice of travel and play an
important role in social cohesion, providing access to education, work
and healthcare, especially for those on low incomes or without access
to a car.
New technologies mean bus services can be more adaptive to changing
demand serving more people more efficiently and serving greater
areas.
People catching the bus achieve half the Government recommended
daily physical activity leading to health benefits. The experience of
using public transport also provides many opportunities for social
interactions that can help to tackle loneliness.

Between 18% and 23% of car users could be
encouraged to switch to buses if buses were quicker
and more reliable.
Reversing the decline will lead to more services being provided and will
help fund further improvements. Both of these will further attract more
passengers to use bus services and help us achieve the target to grow
the number of bus passengers by 130% over the next 10 years.

Buses are also one of the safest forms of transport in the UK.
The West Yorkshire Combined Authority has developed the West
Yorkshire Bus Strategy in partnership with the District Councils, including
Leeds City Council, as well as First West Yorkshire, Arriva and Transdev.
The purpose of this Bus Strategy is to set out what we want West
Yorkshire’s bus system to achieve between now and 2040.

KEY
FACTS
Bus versus other
public transport,
decline in
patronage.

-10%

63m

130%

79%

9%

97%

10% reduction
in patronage
since 2000

63 million trips
per year

130% target
increase in
people using the
bus by 2030

70% of homes
within 400m of
high frequency
service

9% mode share
of bus, most
of any non-car
mode

of homes within
400m of a bus
stop

34

Enhance public transport

CASE STUDY

WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:
Work with partners to secure the investment needed to deliver transformational
improvements to the rail network

Park And Ride – Case Study

Work in partnership with the Combined Authority and the operators to create the best
bus system which is an attractive and natural choice for everyone.

Park and ride is an important element in the Transport Strategy bringing a number
of noticeable benefits to the city region’s economy as it reduces the number of
cars entering and parking in the city centre. This addresses the current shortage
of car parking spaces in the city centre, helps reduce congestion and improves the
city’s air quality by providing a more sustainable transport option from the edge
of Leeds into the city centre. This further helps to meet specific air quality policy
objectives by reducing traffic flow levels on key corridors to and from Leeds City
Centre which have been identified as areas with key air quality issues.

Upgrade key bus corridors (including provision of additional bus priority measures) to
provide fast & reliable high frequency bus services.
Deliver City Centre Gateways to transform the public transport experience across the
city.
WE ARE GOING TO:

Existing and proposed park and ride facilities in Leeds

Develop our park and ride offer on key radial routes across the city.

Page 655

Leeds currently has two bus based park and ride sites in operation at Elland Road
and Temple Green. Both sites have been highly successful in reducing the number
of cars travelling into the city centre. The latest park and ride site proposed is
at Stourton catering for trips from the south east of the city. Building on the
success and popularity of the city’s two current park and ride sites, further work is
proposed to identify future sites

Upgrade all key bus corridors across the city to provide a core network of high
frequency bus services.
Promote demand responsive transport services to offer flexibility and connectivity
across the city in areas not well served by traditional bus services.
Work with the Combined Authority, bus operators and technology firms to encourage
service and product innovations.

Stourton

Create a well connected and seamless network of active travel and public transport
infrastructure and services with integrated ticketing and payment options.

Stourton park and ride will provide a third bus based park and ride facility for
Leeds, but the best facility yet. It will be the first to operate with electric buses
and use solar panel to generate electricity. The new park and ride site is located
approximately 4km south east of the city within close proximity to both the
M621 (Junction 7), A639 and A61. The facility will include approximately 1,200
car parking spaces, associated landscaping and infrastructure on site alongside
localised highways improvements.

WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
How different transport operating models could improve the public transport provision
in the city
How we can provide reasonably priced fares that further incentivise people to use the
public transport network in partnership with the Combined Authority.

35

Launch of Electric buses in Leeds.

Page 656
36

Adopting new technologies

We know that building new infrastructure is only part of the solution,
we also need to adapt the way we use the existing infrastructure and
innovate with the transport services which operate in the city.
To deliver the vision of a city where you don’t need a car, we have to
offer high quality, affordable alternatives for every journey people need
to make. Buses, trains and trams can deliver this on busy routes with
high demand, for example commuting to the city centre. For those less
frequent and dispersed journeys we need to encourage other solutions
which do not rely on the private car.

New Mobility
Solutions

Page 657

Smart ticketing and
technology
Shared mobility and
personal mobility
Alternative fuelled
vehicles
Rail
Active travel
infrastructure
Parking management
Public transport
priorities

We also would like to see people incentivised to use public transport
through simple, easy to understand and reasonably priced fares. At
present multiple service operators charge customers directly (taxis, bus
and rail) with some of these services supported by public subsidies,
for example concessionary travel for people once they reach pension
age, those on low incomes or fare caps for young people, which the
Combined Authority are bringing forward next year.
Promotion and delivery of alternative to private car ownership are
therefore fundamental to letting people make the choice to use the
right means of travel for different journeys.

Shared Mobility Solutions

There is potential to make major reductions in carbon emissions,
without impacting upon people’s mobility, by reducing the size of the
car fleet and using the vehicle miles that are driven more intensively
through sharing. This year has shown that there is an element of
subsidies in all forms of transport. We believe shared mobility solutions
should also subsidised.
Taxi’s and Private Hire already play a successful role in our city’s
mobility, improving accessibility and servicing the night economy.

The average CAR

IS ONLY USED 5% of time.
CAR OWNERSHIP (new car)

SHARED OWNERSHIP
1 year Metro Card
for rail and bus:

£1,250

Deprecation @33%:
Car Tax:

£135

Car Club Membership:
Approximatively (per year) £50

MOT:

Car Club trip

Insurance:

£806

Fuel costs:

£825

(2 per week):

(per year) £1,200

TOTAL COST: £2,500

DIFFERENCE:

£50

Maintenance (tyres & service): £489

TOTAL COST: £7,575

£5,075 SAVINGS PER YEAR

Paying for travel

Sources: Money Advice Service, RAC, Autocar, AA

To ensure that new mobility solutions transport services are easy for
the individual to use alongside the traditional public transport service
we need to have a payment system which provides a fair range of
options available to all. (Known in the transport field as Mobility As
A Service or MAAS, like London’s Oyster system but extended to all
transport providers). The West Yorkshire Combined Authority have
developed the M-Card and it’s app which offers multi-modal and
multi-operator tickets for rail and bus. This range of services could be
incentivised for individuals or providers where there is a social need to
ensure services are simple and reasonably priced.
Some cities around the world have gone as far as making public
transport free at point of use and have seen a large mode shift as a
result.

Mobility Solutions

Freight
Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change
Park and ride

Taxi & Private Hire

Demand Responsive
Transport

Car Clubs

37

£5,270

Bike hire

Micro Mobility e.g.
escooters

Freight

New Mobility Solutions

Smart systems

WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:

Technology is already transforming the way we travel in Leeds. We have already introduced
smart traffic signals which respond to travel demand. New technologies are already investigating ways of prioritising people and cyclists at crossings and interacting with cars directly. We need to ensure our city can use technologies to maximise efficiencies and prioritise
the modes of travel which need it most.

Consider new technologies and innovative approaches to delivery that can open
new opportunities for travel including shared mobility and micro mobility modes.
Continue our work with taxi and private hire vehicles to provide the best service
for Leeds

Autonomous Vehicles

Continue to support the West Yorkshire Combined Authority in the development
of the Demand Responsive Transport trial.

The technology for autonomous vehicles is advancing across the world. Making this technology work safely in a densely populated urban environment however is still a huge challenge. We need to be able to adapt to this technology as it develops within the framework
of the strategy, ensuring solutions are inclusive, healthy, low carbon and an efficient use of
roadspace.

WE ARE GOING TO:
Deliver mobility hubs across the city where several modes can be accessed in one
location integrating transport

Deliveries & Freight
Page 658

Ensure accessibility considered as a whole system across the council, with
transport acknowledged as just a single element alongside spatial planning and
technology

The growth in internet shopping and app-based food delivery have changed the way we
go about our everyday lives. It has also contributed to a 70% growth in road miles of vans
in the last 20 years. Deliveries and Freight can also cause severance especially in urban areas, where space is tight and large vehicles can dominate the environment. We need to look
differently at freight and how to better manage freight within urban areas, rationalise deliveries and ensure it is delivered using the lowest carbon modes. Freight is pivotal to Leeds’
economy and we need to ensure we are able to keep freight moving, ensuring it is able to
connect regionally, nationally and internationally. The majority of freight is moved by HGVs.
We need to encourage a move away from road based freight to lower carbon modes such
as rail. We can make better use of our existing network including canals and rivers, where
one barge can carry the equivalent load of 18 lorries, emitting significantly less carbon.

Define our Shared Transport Vision to include car clubs, bikes and scooters
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
How autonomous vehicles can play a future role in mobility within the city.
How we can support the better integration of freight services and local deliveries
to reduce van mileage in the city
Enhanced shared ownership models and how we can integrate shared transport
modes into our existing mobility services, ensuring they are affordable and offer
value for money

This year so far has shown that we need to have a pro-active approach to uncertainty and
an ability to quickly adapt to changes to the way we live our lives and how we take advantage of technological innovation. There is uncertainty concerning what people in the future
will want to do and what technology in the future will enable us to do. However, we need
to embrace this to realise our vision.

3

38

RAC Foundation – The implication of Internet Shopping Growth on the Van Fleet and Traffic Activity - 2017

Deliver a
Mass Transit
Network

Leeds, like any successful city centre, is restricted in the amount
that it can grow by a lack of transport capacity. As cities grow so
demand can generally only be accommodated by increases in public
transport usage, walking and cycling that offer high capacity and
low emissions travel.

Transport infrastructure investment that increases peak capacity to the
city centre can help to overcome this. Mass transit can fill the gap in
public transport provision between bus services and heavy rail, adding
capacity to the key corridors within the city region, making it easier for
more people to access more jobs.

The Leeds City Region HS2 Growth Strategy and the Strategic
Economic Plan set out the potential for almost 150,000 new Full-Time
Equivalent (FTE) jobs to be created across the City Region by the time
HS2 opens, including 25,000 additional FTEs in Leeds City Centre.
People need to travel to get to work and the additional jobs will create
extra pressures on the already heavily congested transport system.

A city region mass transit solution will deliver the right blend of
technology, priority and capacity to move high volumes of people in
the parts of our transport network where demand is greatest.

With the scale of growth forecast, by the time HS2 opens, the urban
communities in Leeds City Region will not be able to access the
employment opportunities because of insufficient urban transport
capacity. If transport capacity into the city centre during the peak
period is insufficient, this can constrain city centre employment,
restricting labour supply and constraining development.

Page 659

Smart ticketing and
technology
Alternative fuelled
vehicles
Active travel
infrastructure
Parking management
Public transport
priorities
Spatial planning and
place making
Community Engagement
and Behaviour Change
Park and ride

39

This is a crucial missing element of our transport investment pipeline
for corridors where heavy rail is not an option and the capacity of bus
network solutions is insufficient.
Without a network legacy we believe the scale of the benefits of a
new mass transit network, alongside the potential to adopt the latest
technologies presents an unparalleled opportunity for Leeds, the city
region, the north and the UK.

Deliver a Mass Transit Network

Key Components

CASE STUDY

We want to ensure that the right mass transit solution is delivered
that goes with the grain of the city and unlocks the benefits for the
people of Leeds at the earliest opportunity.

Mass Transit in the United Kingdom
There are several mass transit systems in the United Kingdom each of which provides different lessons which
are applicable to the development of a mass transit system in Leeds.

Edinburgh
The Edinburgh Tram faced significant delivery issues due to delays in construction,
cost overruns and reductions in the total budget over time. Delivery through the
city centre impacted on businesses on Princes Street, something to be carefully
considered in West Yorkshire. Lessons can be learnt on procurement, funding and
delivery contracts.

WE ARE GOING TO CONTINUE TO:
Through the Bus Alliance, continue to deliver the Connecting
Leeds and West Yorkshire-Plus Transport Fund investment
programmes, to help transform our bus offer in the short
term.
Work in partnership with the Combined Authority to develop
and deliver an advanced Mass Transit system as quickly as
possible.

Page 660

Despite the delivery issues, the service is now a success carrying over 7m passengers in 2019 and further
incremental extensions are being delivered to expand the network.

Manchester
The Manchester network is now the largest in the UK serving a population
of 2.7m, comparable in size to West Yorkshire. The network recently
carried over 40m passengers and connects several district centres and employment hubs. It started as one
line and through successive funding has grown to eight lines operating 120 vehicles. It is this scale of a
Transit Network that West Yorkshire has ambition to deliver, improving on the Manchester experience by
integrating with bus and rail services.

Nottingham
The Nottingham Tram began life in 1998 supported by Government funding. Since then
Nottingham City Council have used the Workplace Parking Levy to match fund additional
government support. For Phase 2 NCC raised £221m which was matched by Government
who provided an additional £432m. As NCC own the bus company the routes feed into the tram network
providing better coverage and less competition. The integrated system uses a common ticketing system
allowing for easy access and interchange, as a result the city has the highest rate of bus ridership outside
London.

40

WE ARE GOING TO:
Ensure that the right mass transit solution is delivered that
integrates instinctively with the city and unlocks the benefits
for the people of Leeds at the earliest opportunity.
Ensure that it integrates with our existing transport network,
creating an affordable, zero – carbon network
Work with partners to secure the investment needed to
deliver transformational improvements to the rail network to
support the Mass Transit network
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:
The further opportunities mass transit can offer for the city
including the opportunities for transit oriented development

Policy Areas
We believe there are 12 key policy areas that will help us achieve our overall vision, overarching themes and support the delivery of our big moves. We know that one size doesn’t fit all
across the city and that we need use these policy areas flexibly. We will be producing daughter strategies for some of these policy areas. This is what we mean by 12 policy areas and what
measures could be used to achieve our vision and targets:

Rail

Smart ticketing and technology

Page 661

Making the public transit network accessible is a long requested
feature by users/residents. LCC will continue to work with Operators,
WYCA and Transport for the North to seek a solution that provides
an easy to use method (such as that used in London). We are also
reviewing how public transport is funded.

Rail is key to Leeds and the decarbonisation of transport. We will
continue to support the WYCA who lead on rail policy whilst also
continuing to enable the development of new stations and improve
accessibility to all stations, including the provision of park and ride
spaces. We support the growth of rail and the provision of greater
network capacity. We will also support the delivery of HS2 to Leeds.

Shared mobility and personal mobility

Active travel infrastructure
We have been successful in delivering active travel infrastructure
throughout the city from dedicated cycle facilities to pedestrianisation
of streets. This means further delivery of dedicated cycle facilities,
active travel neighbourhoods, and improved crossing facilities.

We are looking to future mobility technologies and the change in
ownership behaviours through working with partners. This includes:
Shared Mobility – Including Car Clubs, demand responsive
transport, cycle hire scheme, app based mobility services

Micro-Mobility – We will continue to work with the DfT to bring an
e-scooter trial to Leeds

Parking management

Alternative fuelled vehicles

We currently manage car parking through the city but we can take
an active approach by charging for parking supported by reducing/
managing parking supply. This could include new controlled parking
zones and measures to support the uptake of alternative fuelled
vehicles.

Alternative fuelled vehicles and the network are a key element to
the decarbonisation of transport. We are developing an Alternative
Fuels Strategy which will detail a delivery plan to achieve our carbon
targets.

41

Public transport
priorities

Community Engagement and Behaviour Change
We are continuing to learn about how we can influence travel behaviour and will ensure
research and insight into behaviour change alongside an understanding of the impact
of how people feel about their environment are embedded in the overall transport
strategy.

We have seen the success of our public
transport infrastructure investment to date. We
will continue to deliver bus priority measures
and improved waiting facilities.

We want to work with and engage the people and businesses of Leeds to make a
conscious change in their everyday travel choices, to help shape a city where the
car is less dominant, whereby communities and workforces champion and buy into
sustainable transport options.
We want to build ways of working around a community led approach so that the
people who live and work in Leeds feel they are part of and can contribute to the
implementation of the strategy.

Spatial planning and
place making

Page 662

We need to travel because we need to access
facilities, whether that is employment, retail or
leisure. Through spatial planning of the city we
can make it easier for everyone to reach the
destination they want to without using a car.
We can enable development around transport
hubs, decreasing the number of interchanges
required, making it easier to access more using
the same networks.

Park and ride
Park and Ride has enabled the city to grow, and proven to be popular.
We will continue to investigate new opportunities for park and ride across the city.

Freight

Efficiently managing the network

We can influence freight in Leeds by:

Urban consolidation centres – lowering the
number of vehicles in the city centre

The maintenance and day to day management of our network enables us all to travel.
We will continue to maintain and manage the network but seek to use new technologies to ensure the network becomes better and more efficient.

Promote e-cargo from vans to e-bikes
Re-time and re-route

Promoting electric vans for local freight
deliveries

42

We are going to consider
We need to consider further measures in order to achieve our Climate Emergency pledge

We believe it is very important to enable a range of travel choices for different journeys to meet the mobility needs of our residents and businesses. A key part of our strategy is to enable
people to move around the city and travel to and from Leeds without the need to use a car. Therefore, alongside our Big Moves, we will incorporate activities to encourage and incentivise
people to travel by public transport, walking and cycling. Without these changes, we may not achieve our Vision, meaning we won’t meet our climate change targets; access to jobs,
education and other opportunities will be more difficult; and our health and wellbeing will be adversely affected.
We want to ensure those who are creating the most pollution pay the most, but also that everyone benefits from the introduction of any measures. We have therefore set out a series of
measures that we may need to consider further in order to achieve our targets. As part of this consultation, we want to hear what you think we should do next and which measures we need
to be considering. We have outline some measures we think we need consider further below:
WE MAY NEED TO CONSIDER:

IT IS FOR THESE REASONS THAT WE WILL:

Workplace Parking Levy:

Work with you to understand the barriers to change

Page 663

A charge for parking at workplaces where there are more than a certain number
of employees and parking is provided. Paid by the employer but can be passed
on to employees.

Work with businesses and form partnerships to help change the way we travel
Show you why making changes is so important to our city now and in the
future

Low Carbon Zone:

A daily use charge for vehicles that do not meet emissions standards for entry to
a specified zone.

Demonstrate that all that we are doing as a Council is supportive of our
policies

Parking Management measures

Enhancement of our existing parking management policies to incentivise the
uptake of electric vehicles and also encourage modal change to lower emitting
modes. This could mean expansion of controlled parking zones to incentivise
walking and cycling for short trips.
Incentivising public transport

How we can provide reasonably priced fares that further incentivise people to
use the public transport network in partnership with the Combined Authority.
Ensuring that public transport is an affordable choice for everyone.

43

Achieving the vision
We believe that we need to take a targeted but flexible approach, an approach which adapts to different opportunities and challenges across Leeds. The Transport Strategy targets are
derived from the Council wide pledge to become carbon neutral by 2030. Our planned low carbon interventions will accelerate further reduction in carbon emissions from transport but
we need to continue to do more. We cannot however achieve these targets on our own, we need support from individuals, businesses, regional and national government. Only with this
support will we be able to realise our vision.
We know the Climate Emergency is one of the greatest challenges we face. Even with ambitious targets for mode split and implementation of our big moves we still need to do more.
Making even the smallest of changes can make a difference to reduce carbon emissions and we are working hard to ensure we help make this happen. If we all made small change every day
this will make one larger change, together we can do this.

Targets

In order to achieve our pledge to become carbon neutral by 2030 as a city and deliver the strategic vision of being a city where you don’t need a car, we need to set targets for modal shift:

Bus

Page 664

+

Increase

130%

130%

+

100%

Rail

Increase
100%

Walking

+

Increase
33%

33%

+

400%

Cycling

Increase
400%

Car

-

30%

Decrease
30%

These are ambitious targets which will result in up to 43% decrease in carbon emissions from transport.
Our targets are based upon trips undertaken by Leeds residents and do not include trips made in Leeds by others living elsewhere. These targets do not include freight travel.

Distance Travelled

To support our mode split targets, we need to reduce the length of car trips made in the city by 30%. That is on average 900 car miles per annum. We need to reduce the distance travelled
by car to enable us to achieve our walking and cycling targets.

Vision Zero

We are taking a stand to end deaths and serious injuries by road traffic in Leeds by 2040. We know that incidents are preventable and Vision Zero shares responsibility for fatalities from
road users, to engineers to road operators. There are five focus areas: Safe Speeds, Safe Roads, Safe Vehicles, Safe Behaviours and post-collision response which we will focus on in order to
ensure that no-one is killed or seriously injured by road traffic. We will continue to work with partners to collectively work towards this target.

44

Monitoring
We will monitor, appraise and evaluate these expected outcomes on a regular basis to
ensure the strategy is successful and changes to our approach can be made if required.
Effective monitoring and evaluation will also allow us to better plan and prioritise the use
of our resources over the lifetime of the strategy.

RATIONALE
Why is government
intervening?

Monitoring, appraisal and evaluation are essential to ensuring the policies and proposals
of the strategy are likely to be achieved. They will inform planning and prioritisation of
resource use to ensure delivery of the strategy stays on track. Our process for monitoring
and evaluation is set out below.

What is the problem
that government is
trying to solve?

FEEDBACK

Mode split targets
2017

2030

778 million trips

How will we use these
results in future?

830 million trips

603,000 tonnes CO2

360,000 tonnes CO2 (-43%)

Page 665

1%

31

%

Bus +130%

25%

Cycling +400%

3%

Walking +33%

61%

Objective

19%

Evaluation

APPRAISAL

Research and analysis to
answer the questions:

Feedback

What are the options
for intervening?

Was it cost-effective?

Car -30%

MONITORING
Data collection to
answer the question:

Car

Cycle

Bus

Other

Walk

What metrics can
we use to measure
success?

EVALUATION

What was the impact,
on who, and why?

41%

Rail

What would success
from the intervention
look like?

Monitoring

Did the intervention
work as expected?

4%
2%

Rationale

OBJECTIVE

Appraisal

3%

Rail +100%

9%

1%

What have we
learnt?

What does the
evidence say about this
problem?

Did we do what we
said we would do?

How are our success
metrics changing over
time?

45

What is the evidence
on the likely
effectiveness and costeffectiveness of these
options?

Working Together
Engaging citizens and businesses

For the strategy to be successful we know there are a number of factors we need
to consider. We know the strategy will only be successful if we adopt a collaborate
approach working together, to achieve our vision.

KEY COMMITMENT:
We will engage with the citizens and businesses in Leeds to ensure
the transport strategy meets their needs.

Leadership

In 2016, we started our biggest-ever transport conversation in which over 8,000 people
told us what’s important to them and for Leeds. In response to this we worked with the
West Yorkshire Combined Authority and other partners to produce our Connecting Leeds
Strategy. We have continued to engage throughout the implementation of this strategy,
with a focus on clear and targeted communication, that we will continue to take forward as
part of this strategy.

KEY COMMITMENT:
Leeds City Council will guide the delivery of the transport strategy
aligning it to support wider policies around creating a prosperous,
liveable, healthy and sustainable Leeds. A city with inclusive
economy, health and wellbeing and which is to become carbon
neutral. We will lead by example.
#LeedsbyExample

As a result we will:

Page 666

Reach and engage as many Leeds residents, organisations and businesses in a
conversation about the future of transport in the City with a particular focus on diversity
and targeting hard to reach groups;
Gather evidence of the City’s views, opinions and ideas around all aspects of transport
in Leeds, to inform development and delivery of the strategy;

“Cities like Leeds have
the potential to make a
big difference and we
know as the Council,
that we can lead by
example to encourage
others to follow.”

Run an inclusive, responsive and interactive ‘Conversation’ process, throughout the
lifetime of the strategy; and where relevant link into other related and relevant ongoing
consultations.
A number of key activities will be employed to engage with a wide range of people and
communities across the City.
KEY ASK:

We ask the citizens, communities, visitors and businesses to continue to engage with
LCC to help inform the strategy, deliver our vision and work together to achieve
these targets.
We have established a Transport Expert Panel who have advised on the future Transport
investment in Leeds.

Cllr Blake.

KEY ASK:

We ask that the Transport Panel continue to support the development and delivery
of mobility solutions in Leeds.

46

Funding

As a result of the distribution of powers and responsibilities for transport collaborative
working will be of utmost importance going forward. Collaborative or partnership
working can offer opportunities to:

In addition to a wide distribution of powers and responsibilities in delivering transport, the
funding of transport improvements is also complex. Funding for the strategy will come
from a variety of sources from central government to local monies.

Deliver new, improved or more integrated services;
Make efficiency savings through sharing costs;

Unpredictable and short term funding streams, often focused solely on capital investment
and linked to competitive bidding processes will not enable us to get on and deliver the
key projects we need to transform our transport system. It is vitally important that we
have long term certainty over funding from regional and national government to be able
to deliver the big moves and achieve our vision. The West Yorkshire Devolution Deal
goes some way to providing greater certainty. The deal, which is currently going through
a statutory process before it can be implemented, will devolve a range of powers and
responsibilities to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, supporting the region to drive
economic growth and prosperity within its communities and across the north of England.

Develop a stronger, more united voice to bring about change and influence decision
making;
Share knowledge and information.
The Combined Authority leads on creating a Single Economic Framework for the
region to tackle inclusive growth, reduce carbon emissions and increase productivity
with the aim of improving the quality of life in the City Region. Within that context,
it also develops the local transport plan for West Yorkshire and sets local objectives
for transport. They work with bus and rail operators, Government and Transport for
the North with the aim of creating an efficient transport network that makes sense for
the passenger and makes it easier to get to work, do business and connect with each
other. They also operate the Metro network of bus stations, travel centres and public
transport information in West Yorkshire.

Page 667

KEY COMMITMENT:
We will continue to explore a range of funding opportunities as
they arise given that it is expected that specific funding sources and
priorities will change over time.

We work in partnership with the Combined Authority on a daily basis and will continue
to do in the development and delivery of policies and priorities. We believe that
through this continued partnership approach better integration and outcomes can be
delivered.

KEY ASKS:

We need central government to help fund smaller, more local measures within
communities.

KEY COMMITMENT:
We will work collaboratively and adopt an open and committed
approach to working with our partners in order to achieve our
vision.

Responsibilities, powers and collaborative working

Leeds City Council has a statutory responsibility to maintain and develop transport and
highways at a local level. However, many of the interventions identified within this strategy
will require the involvement of other organisations, including the Combined Authority ,
central government departments or associated delivery agencies.

Building stronger relationships will assist in managing and facilitating future growth,
whilst mitigating risks and contributing to greater resilience in the face of complex
future trends and challenges. It will also provide a platform for innovation.
The active participation of and joint working with a range of stakeholders will be
required to deliver our strategy as follows overleaf.

47

Central Government
DfT sets the national policy and
funding framework for transport
including rail, bus, aviation, road,
ferries, cycling and walking.
KEY ASK:

All elements of government policy need to
support the ambition of more journeys being
made by public transport, walking and cycling
where appropriate. There needs to be closer
coordination and alignment between separate
central government departmental policies. We ask
for support in encouraging uptake of alternatively
fuelled vehicles.

Page 668

HS2 Ltd
High Speed Two (HS2) Limited
is the company responsible
for developing and promoting
the UK’s new high speed rail
network. HS2 will provide a station
that will combine with the existing
Leeds station to create a facility that can accommodate
over 60 million passengers per year. To ensure a
seamless interchange between HS2 and the current
station, Neville Street will be pedestrianised and Dark
Arches transformed. We will continue to respond to
consultations and work with HS2 Ltd to ensure the
scheme maximises opportunities and benefits for the
city.

We need new developments to encourage sustainable travel
from inception, to create healthy streets and communities
where the first instinct is to walk or cycle to local amenities.
Developments which which integrate with existing transport
networks and support public transport investment.
KEY ASKS:

We ask all developers support our vision for Leeds
and help contribute to it and to continue to engage
with us to support well connected development.

Network Rail
Network Rail is also responsible
for rail infrastructure in the UK.
Network Rail seeks to work in
partnership with industry partners
and customers including Leeds City
Council to bring forward improvements.
KEY ASK:

We ask Network Rail to work with us and the
Combined Authority to bring forward the delivery
of three new stations in Leeds as well as further
improvements at Leeds Station. We ask that
Network Rail and train Operating Companies
prioritise de-carbonising rail travel through
electrification and new technologies.

KEY ASKS:

That the government commit to the delivery of the
eastern leg of HS2 to Leeds.

48

Transport for the North
Northern Powerhouse Rail is a
major strategic rail programme
that will transform connectivity
between the key economic centres
of the north. NPR is being led by
TfN which is carrying out detailed work
to make progress towards a single preferred concept
on each route. In addition, TfN is driving forward
delivery of the wider Strategic Transport Plan for the
north that includes major road and smart ticketing
projects that will impact Leeds. Leeds City Council will
therefore continue to liaise with TfN through WYCA on
how NPR and these other schemes can best serve the
needs of the city.
KEY ASKS:

We ask that TfN continues to work with LCC to
enable the delivery of Northern Powerhouse Rail.
That TfN continue to engage with LCC on policy
areas including integrated ticketing.

Page 669

Train Operators
The DfT is changing how our
railway network operates. Train
Operating Companies used
to run the trains and be the
consumer face of the rail industry.
This responsibility in the short term
has been handed back to the DfT.
KEY ASK:

We ask the DfT and any future operators to
continue to invest In new green rolling stock to
increase capacity into Leeds Station and reduce
overcrowding.

Bus Operators

Highways England
Highways England is the
government company that
operates, maintains and improves
England’s motorways and major
A roads. Their ambition is to ensure
our major roads are more dependable,
durable and most importantly are safe. Highways
England is tasked with delivering the Road Investment
Strategy. We will partner with Highways England to
ensure local motorways contribute effectively to our
transport network and to mitigate issues such as poor
air quality.
KEY ASK:

We ask that HE work with us to reduce negative
impacts of the Strategic Road Network on the
severance of our communities, air quality and
carbon emissions. air quality or carbon emissions.

49

Under the current system, bus
operators provide local bus
services. In Leeds, the West
Yorkshire Bus Alliance brings
together the Combined Authority
and bus operators Arriva, First and
Transdev to improve services, keep buses moving and
to develop a sustainable bus network. It also includes
smaller bus companies brought together through
the through Association of Bus Operators in West
Yorkshire. WYCA funds some socially necessary services
where operators will not provide these under free
market conditions.
KEY ASK:

We ask the bus operators to continue to work with
us to continue to improve bus services and vehicles
across the city.

Next Steps
Our strategy aims to address current challenges whilst working towards our much longer term aspirations and goals. For example, there are a number of immediate measures that are being
introduced or considered that aim to address issues associated with the Covid-19 pandemic. While these are being brought forward quickly and at scale, we need to ensure that they are
consistent with our longer term vision for Leeds and our proposals to deliver this strategy.
It is for this reason the Strategy will be implemented in stages over the next 20 years, with specific delivery plans for now, the near term and the longer term. This approach will allow us to
deliver benefits earlier including short term plans that respond to social distancing requirements and importantly support the urgent need for economic recovery. It will also enable us to
develop medium to longer term balanced interventions that transform mobility in Leeds and support its objectives to be the best city in the UK.

1

Phase 1:
Covid-19 Response (2020 – 2022)

Page 670

We will continue to implement new walking, cycling
and bus infrastructure both as part of our immediate
Covid-19 Response and planned programme of
works. We will also continue to develop and research
policy areas and develop a longer term action plan.

2

Phase 2:
Transition (2022 – 2027)

We will start to implement our longer term action
plan, building on our success so far and consult on
further measures we may need to take in order to
achieve our goal.

2020

3

Phase 3:
Transformation (2027 – 2040)

Transformational change will continue to occur. We
will be implementing a mass transit network which
connects into Leeds City Station, a national hub
home to HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail.

2030

2040

The feedback received on this draft will be carefully analysed and considered in the development of the final version of the strategy.
Our programme is as follows:

Public Consultation

Review of all consultation responses

Publication of new Transport Strategy

December – February

February – April

Early Summer 2021

50

Page 671

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Transport Policy,
Highways and Transportation

Lead person:
Paul Foster

Contact number:
01133787518

1. Title: Draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy
Is this a:
X Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 673

1

The draft Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy sets out our proposed vision for
mobility for Leeds, to be a city where you don’t need a car. It details our overarching
objectives of tackling climate change, delivering inclusive growth and improving
health and wellbeing and how we need transport to respond in order to achieve
these.
The strategy sets out the challenges and opportunities faced by transport as well as
the proposed six focus areas:









Decarbonising Transport – Reducing the need to travel, re-mode how
we travel away from private car use and encouraging the further uptake
of Alternative Fuelled vehicles and associate infrastructure.
Creating healthier streets and communities – ensuring walking and
cycling are the first choice for the shortest trips, creating places and
spaces where people want to spend time which are inclusive and
accessible to all.
Transform the city centre – continue to deliver and develop
transformational change in the city centre, from world- class gateways
to ensuring all modes are integrated, supporting Leeds role as a local,
regional and national transport hub.
Enhance public transport – build on the successes we have had in
recent years at improving the bus network and working with partners to
expand and enhance the offering in the future.
New mobility solutions – thinking about transport differently,
encouraging the use of shared transport, paying for transport differently
and the use of technologies to improve mobility in the city.
Deliver a mass transit network –delivering a low carbon mass transit in
Leeds, enhancing the transformational work already going on in the city
centre through partnership with the Combined Authority.

The strategy also acknowledges that further work is required if we are to achieve our
objectives and outlines future considerations.
This is a draft strategy for consultation and engagement in early 2021.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment,
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
EDCI Screening

Yes
X

Updated February 2011

Page 674

No
2

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

X
X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
A three month Transport conversation in the Autumn of 2016, generated 8,169
questionnaire responses, (along with feedback from 100 workshops, meetings and
presentations) demonstrating a keen interest in engaging with the city on issues of
transport, both now and in the longer term. The results of the Transport Conversation
show a potential differential impact on women, older people and disabled people;
potentially also on BME. The results indicated that almost all respondents felt it was
important for future transport strategy to ensure that everyone had access to the
transport system (98%) – accessibility and inclusion are key components of this
strategy.
Subsequently, the Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme was developed from
the Leeds Transport Conversation and has continued the extensive engagement with a
wide range of groups such as Voluntary Action Leeds, Child Friendly Leeds, BME Hub,
Disability Hub, LGBT Hub, Leeds Society for the Deaf and Blind, Physical and Sensory
Impairment (PSI) Network, Womens’ Live Leeds, Elderly Action groups and various
groups representing accessibility and usability.
EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 675

3

Ensuring that we continue to have the conversation on transport with everyone in Leeds
is a key objective. This consultation on the draft strategy will continue this discussion
ensuring all groups and their needs are considered going forward. Leeds Involving
People (LIP) are a key partner in ensuring that seldom heard groups are involved in
shaping the transport strategy for Leeds that’s inclusive and meets the needs of
individuals, communities and the city. Proposed consultation and engagement includes:
 Dedicated website and on-line questionnaire
 Promotion through equality hubs, access groups
 Online workshops on the strategy, especially with equality groups.
 Online promotion through social media.

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The previous Transport Conversation and subsequent engagement on the Leeds Public
Transport Investment Programme noted that transport has the potential to have a
differential impact on all equality groups, with particular regard to the following:





Gender-There are different transportation needs for all identities, with certain
groups more likely at risk of transport disadvantage.
Disability - Disabled people travel more frequently by bus than others, so public
transport plays a vital role in ensuring that they can participate in community life
and avoid social exclusion
Race - Differential access to the transport system and the effect of transport
policies, particularly for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic people are around
impacts on access to employment, education and training.
Age – both younger and older people are both reliant on public transport both
sharing concerns over security and reliance on availability of evening and
weekend services.

The draft strategy has been developed building on the outcomes of the previous
transport conversation and continued work undertaken in highways to engage with
equality groups in subsequent years. The draft strategy seeks to have a positive impact
on equality groups reducing the barriers often faced by transport, making a positive
impact on mobility in the city. This is a draft strategy enabling all equality groups to
participate further in shaping transport in Leeds ensuring everyone has the potential to be
positive impacted.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
The action we are taking as part of the upcoming consultation will offer a further
opportunities to engage and shape transport within Leeds. This will continue the
EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 676

4

conversation on transport enabling everyone to participate and shape the strategy with
particular attention taken to equality groups especially Gender, disability, race and age,
as identified above.
A further equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening will be undertaken
following the end of the consultation period to ensure the final Strategy meets the needs
of everyone.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Gary Bartlett
Chief Officer, Highways
and Transportation
7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the
screening document will need to be published.
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing
20/11/20
20/11/20

Date screening completed
Date sent to Equality Team
Date published
(To be completed by the Equality Team)

EDCI Screening

Updated February 2011

Page 677

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
Report author: Daniel Smith
Tel: 0113 378 5837
Report of Director of Resources and Housing
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16 December 2020
Subject: White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1.

Main issues

1.1

The Committee for Climate Change (CCC) have advised government that in order to
help achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions, the UK should plant at least
30,000 hectares per year up to 2050 to lock up the remaining residual atmospheric
carbon once we have achieved all other possible reductions in emissions. To
highlight the scale of this challenge, only 2,330 hectares were planted in England
during 2019-2020 with a total of 13,460 hectares across the whole UK.

1.2

The Northern Forest which includes the White Rose Forest was announced by
Government in 2018 as part of the Environment Bill and aims to plant more than 50
million trees in and around the cities of Leeds, Liverpool, Chester, Manchester,
Sheffield and Hull. As well as the storage and capture of vast amounts of carbon it
will provide immense health and environmental benefits for the 13 million people who
live across the area. It is estimated that the Northern Forest will provide social,
economic and environmental benefits of £2.5 billion.

1
Page 679

The Northern Forest
1.3

The White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds aims to significantly increase the existing
17% tree canopy cover across the District to 33% by 2050 in partnership with
business, residents, institutions, communities, landowners and farmers. It will build
on the substantial work that the Council already carries out around the planting and
management of trees as well as encouraging planting and protection of trees though
the planning process.

1.4

The strategy will support the original purpose of White Rose Forest which is to
create:
“A genuinely sustainable, well wooded landscape which will benefit the
people, economy and wildlife of the Leeds City Region”

1.5

The Government has just awarded the White Rose Forest, £3.7m to plant 218
hectares of trees (the equivalent of 400 football pitches) within the next planting
season as part of the new Trees for Climate programme.

1.6

Research by the University of Leeds determined that in order for new woodlands to
annually sequester an amount by 2050 that satisfies the national target proposed by
the CCC 328 hectares would need to be planted per year across the Leeds District.

1.7

As well as providing a contribution to carbon capture and storage, tree planting plays
an important part in improving biodiversity. Failure to address the recent significant
decline in biodiversity at a global and local scale could lead to threats to food supply
2
Page 680

due to the lack of pollinating insects – according to the State of Nature Report
compiled by scientists from 25 British Wildlife organisations insects and invertebrates
have halved since 1970.
1.8

The Council responded to its declaration of the Climate Emergency in 2019 by taking
the bold step of committing to planting 50 hectares of woodland every year until 2045
on its own land. This will add 1250 hectares which is an impressive 5.6 million trees
to the 1400 hectares of woodland that it already manages. A significant quantity of
these trees will be grown at the Council’s Arium nursery from seeds collected by the
community and commercially sourced.

1.9

As well as planting on parks and open spaces the Council is incorporating extensive
tree planting into many of its mainstream projects and programmes. The Flood
Alleviation Scheme 2 incorporates proposals to plant up to 2 million trees in the
upper Aire catchment as part of an extensive programme of natural flood
management.

1.10 In addition, the design of the East Leeds Orbital Road has been fully developed in
line with Green Streets principles with 5,000 trees already planted as part of the
enabling works. The improvements to public realm in the city centre through the Our
Spaces Strategy is also helping to green the city centre, whilst the £174m Leeds
Public Transport Investment Programme also incorporates Green Street principles
including substantial tree planting. The £100 million annual regeneration investment
in Leeds also provides significant opportunities to encourage developers to plant
trees which the council will continue to encourage and collaborate on.
2

Best Council Plan implications (see the latest version of the Best Council Plan)

2.1

The White Rose Forest strategy will help to deliver a number of council aims and
objectives contained in the Best Council Plan which sets out 8 priorities for the district
to reduce inequalities and tackle poverty. It will mainly address priorities around
Sustainable Infrastructure and the Child Friendly City.

3

Resource implications

3.1

The increased workload generated by the implementation of the strategy will be
absorbed into current work streams across Parks and Countryside and the
Sustainable Energy and Air Quality Team (SEAQ). Site and office based staff in
Parks and Countryside are already committed to the Woodland Creation Scheme
and will add sites to their programme put forward by the community. The SEAQ team
has dedicated resources to progress opportunities with businesses and institutions
and to implement a communications and engagement strategy. Workloads and
performance will be monitored and if demand outstrips available resources funding
for additional posts will be explored within emerging grant arrangements and through
the WRF Joint Venture.

3.2

The Council will draw upon dedicated resources from the WRF Joint Venture
including an existing project manager, a communications officer, a funding officer and
a landowner engagement manager who is working on the Landscapes for water
programme. Other posts are being explored through funding coming from the Trees4
Climate grant.
3
Page 681

Recommendations
Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:
a) Note the content and endorse the White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds.
b) Note that the Chief Officer, Sustainable Energy and Air Quality will be responsible for
progressing the implementation of the White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds.
c) Note that a professionally designed strategy document with the same content will be
completed after Executive Board in January 2021.
1

Purpose of this report
This report sets out proposals on how the council can lead an ambitious initiative to
increase tree planting throughout the district to capture and store carbon and improve
the lives of residents through the benefits trees bring. This will be through tree
planting on Council owned land and enabling and assisting partners and the wider
community to plant trees on other land through the area.

2

Background information

2.1

The Parks and Countryside Service manage the city’s open spaces, parks, woodland
and outdoor recreation and includes a Natural Environment team that manages 1400
ha of Council owned woodlands and tens of thousands of Trees Outside Woodlands
(e.g. street trees, parkland trees). As such a large proportion of their work is around
tree management and planting and therefore contributes positively to the quality of
the environment, carbon storage and capture. The service also engage with the
community through commercial sponsorship and organising volunteer days for staff.

2.2

Planning Services carry out a number of statutory functions both through policy and
development management, which includes managing Tree Preservation Orders, and
consideration of schemes where trees are integral to designs of new developments.

2.3

Many large scale regeneration schemes also include extensive tree planting. The
Council are also carrying out a major project to identify land it owns over and above
parks and open space which can be reserved for tree planting.

2.4

As well as reducing carbon the improvement of biodiversity is critical in the Climate
Emergency, The extent of the loss of biodiversity in the UK has been highlighted by
the 2013 State of Nature Report compiled by scientists from 25 British Wildlife
organisations. Since 1970 they found that:
•
•

Insects and invertebrates have halved
Butterflies declined by 76%

According to the RSPB there are 40 million less birds in the UK than there were in
1966.

4
Page 682

The 2016 State of Nature report compiled by scientists from 50 conservation
organisations stated that the UK has lost significantly more biodiversity over the long
term than the world average. Indeed it is ranked 29th lowest out of 218 countries
world-wide for depletion of biodiversity.
2.5

Tree planting in areas of low biodiversity will greatly increase the potential for the
generation of new habitats for wildlife throughout the District and increase levels of
wildlife into both the rural and urban landscape.

3

Main issues

3.1

The White Rose Forest (WRF) is the Community Forest covering West and North
Yorkshire. It is managed as a Local Authority joint venture agreement with Kirklees
Council becoming the accountable body in 2002, hosting the WRF Project Manager.
There are currently over 30 signatories to this agreement including Leeds and other
local authorities namely: Bradford, Calderdale, Craven, Harrogate, Kirklees, Selby,
Wakefield and York and the authorities of North Yorkshire. Each of these authorities
will produce their own WRF specific strategy which will then feed into the overall
WRF Plan which will be published in 2021. By being a part of the WRF the Council
has more effective access to funds and resources which flow through the community
forests and enjoys further resources provided by the WRF Joint Venture.

3.2

The White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds is attached at Appendix A and is split into
eight sections which are briefly described below:
•

Introduction – this outlines the context to the White Rose Forest and where it
fits as part of the wider Northern Forest. It also highlights the importance of
partnership working.

•

What are the benefits of trees?– the benefits of tree planting are wide ranging
and include carbon capture and storage which is particularly pertinent in the
Climate Emergency and is one of the main driving forces for planting. This is
closely allied to the need to improve biodiversity which tree planting can
contribute to. Trees will also be planted in river catchment areas to reduce
flooding as part of Natural Flood Management scheme. On a more human
scale trees also benefit people by contributing to physical and mental
wellbeing. Finally it also discusses the role that tree planting plays in providing
an attractive environment to business, helping to attract and retain
businesses.

•

Where are we going to plant trees and woodlands? In many cases
landowners will decide particular areas of their land on which they intend to
plant and will proceed with minimal input from the Council. There will be times
when the council will look to guide where tree planting should go which is
influenced by planning, constraints, WRF themes, communities identifying
land.
When looking at potential planting areas the Systematic Conservation
Planning Tool which is currently under development by Leeds University will
5
Page 683

be used to give an overall planting approach to an area. It combines different
data stored on map layers such as land ownership, biodiversity and open
space, areas of multiple deprivation and uses an algorithm to provide a map of
potential optimal planting sites.

Systematic Conservation Planning Tool

This will be used in combination with planning policy which provides guidance
as to where planting is required to maximise benefits. Core Strategy Policy G2
gives the aspiration to have a woodland within 500 metres of every resident
and to improve green infrastructure to form wildlife corridors.
Planting trees is subject to a variety of constraints including land ownership
and land use with proportions shown below of the proportion different types
throughout the District.

6
Page 684

Land use in Leeds

•

How do we protect trees – as well as planting more trees measures are in
place to protect trees from felling where they are not dead, dying or dangerous
which includes Tree Preservation Orders managed by the Council, the
developing Agriculture and Environment Bills and the Forestry Act.

•

How are we going to deliver – describes existing council resources which are
used to plan and plant trees on council owned land. The Parks and
Countryside Service have staff dedicated to planning planting sites,
community engagement including rangers who organise planting days,
business engagement and the Natural Environment team includes Forestry
and Natural Habitats Sections – the former maintain trees outside woodlands
and the latter manage woodlands.
The work of planning services and the use of planning policy and TPOs where
appropriate to protect and encourage the planting of trees and long term
status is outlined. The section also describes the sources of funding available
for tree planting and subsequent management. As well as donations it
describes the WRF Funders Group which will provide access to a range of
funding particular to a potential site. Finally broad level woodland management
design factors are described.

•

How are we going to tell people and get them involved? – describes how the
Council will engage with businesses, community and residents through
various tools such as social media, face to face meetings developing existing
7
Page 685

networks and attendance at events. The Council will also be re-introducing
tree wardens through the Leeds Park Forum which will mobilise volunteers in
the community to monitor trees in their area and organise planting. Faith
groups will also be engaged fully as care for the environment is embedded in
the ethos of many world religions.
•

What do we do next? – the actions which will take place after Executive Board
to ensure that all processes are in place to ensure the strategy is implemented
smoothly. An outline of performance management is highlighted.

•

Conclusion – section summarising the strategy

3.3

Scientists from the University of Leeds have used the CCC’s methodology to
calculate the increase in Leeds’ tree canopy cover that is required for Leeds to make
a contribution to the national tree planting effort in proportion to its greenhouse gas
emissions. The table below shows that Leeds has the highest contribution to
emissions of all the authorities in the White Rose Forest and has a canopy cover of
17% of its land area. As a District we need to create between 338 and 564 hectares
of new woodland each year from 2020 to 2050. According to Leeds University using
CCC methodology this represents an increase from the current 17% tree canopy
cover to 33% tree canopy cover in 30 years.

3.4

It is anticipated that the White Rose Forest Plan which will cover the whole forest
area will be completed in March 2021 by the WRF Joint Venture and will provide an
overall strategic approach to the identification of woodland and tree planting sites and

8
Page 686

implementation. It will combine the carbon targets of each local authority to give an
overall projected carbon saving.
3.5

The Council will work in partnership with businesses, institutions third sector
organisations and government departments to increase planting in the District to best
effect. This will take many forms and will be dependent on the nature of the partner
organisation and the attributes that it can bring to bear. Major landholding institutions
such as the NHS, universities, development companies and major rural landowning
companies will be approached to discuss how tree planting can be increased and
how the Council can bring additional benefits of community engagement and through
the WRF Joint Venture additional funds to schemes.

3.6

Along with the WRF Joint Venture the Council have been supporting and
commissioning work at the School of Earth & Environment at the University of Leeds
and the United Bank of Carbon which is a research organisation based at the
university. These include:
•

The Systematic Conservation Planning Tool – to assist in the identification of
areas of tree planting

•

The Carbon based approach to tree planting – to determine tree planting targets
across the WRF in response to carbon capture needs across the region.

•

Replacement tree strategy – evidence based approach to determining quantity
and size of trees to replace mature trees lost to development.

Outcomes from these studies have been included in the document and will be used
in its implementation.
4

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 The findings of the University of Leeds Carbon based tree planting strategy was
presented to the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee’s Food and Biodiversity
working group in October 2020 and a summary of the completed strategy was
presented to the same working group on 11 November 2020.
4.1.2 Planning Services have been consulted during the preparation of the strategy and
the document was presented to Planning Board in October 2020.
4.1.3 Asset Management have been consulted during the course of preparing the
document and a presentation was made to the Estate Management Group on 30
September 2020.
4.1.4 Given the importance of the work that Parks and Countryside carry out on the
Woodland Creation project officers from the service have been consulted regularly
with regards to processes, tree planting and all other existing services related to
trees.
9
Page 687

4.1.5 Officers from the WRF Project Team meeting have been consulted on the strategy as
it has developed which includes representation from Planning, Parks and
Countryside, Highways, Asset Management, Regeneration and Adults and Health.
4.1.6 Initial engagement with key stakeholders has commenced. Following the approval of
the strategy there will be wider engagement across all stakeholders.
4.1.7 The Council are planning to report back on the strategy annually and to update the
strategy in response to changing opportunities, challenges and priorities.
4.2

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 A screening report has been completed and is attached in Appendix B. Some details
from the report are expressed below:
4.2.2 Woodland and tree planting will be as accessible as possible within the constraints of
topography, location and funding. Wherever possible planting will include access via
hard surfaced paths.
4.2.3 The strategy will be produced in several different forms to ensure that all have
access to it:
•
•
•

4.3

Full version with all graphics and some technical language included
A text summary version in Plain English with main points outlined
A text and graphics version for those relying more on visual imagery for
understanding.

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The implementation of the White Rose Forest Strategy will contribute to the following
Best Council Plan objectives:
Sustainable Infrastructure
•
Improving the resilience of the city’s infrastructure and the natural
environment.
•
Reducing flooding and other risks from future climate change.
•
Promoting a more competitive, less wasteful, more resource efficient, low
carbon economy.
Child Friendly City
•
Improving social, emotional and mental health and wellbeing.
•
Enhancing the city now and for future generations.
It will also contribute to the delivery of the following strategies:
•

Health and Wellbeing – health benefits of trees.

•

Inclusive Growth Strategy – encouraging investment by a natural environment

10
Page 688

Climate Emergency
4.3.2 The Council has responded to the climate emergency by embedding carbon
reduction measures through its governance and decision making across all its
services. This was outlined in the report that the Director of Resources and Housing
took to Executive Board in January 2020. One of the measures proposed was to
increase tree planting across the District as they have the capacity to remove and
store carbon dioxide from the atmosphere.
4.3.3 The Director of Communities and Environment proposed an ambitious programme to
Executive Board on 7th January 2020 of planting 50 hectares of woodland per year
until 2045 on council owned land. The Woodland Creation project includes extensive
engagement with schools including a seed collection campaign with the seeds
including horse chestnuts being raised along with commercially sourced seeds at the
Arium which is the largest local authority plant nursery in the country.
4.3.4 One of the key drivers for completing the Strategy has been the urgency to address
carbon reduction through tree planting across the District, not just on council owned
land. By 2050 the additional woodland planting carried out by the Council and its
partners across the area will capture and store around 215,000 tonnes of carbon.
4.4

Resources procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The council has already committed £1.4m (£350k year on year for first five years) to
the Woodland Creation scheme which aims to plant 50 hectares of woodland on
Council Land each year from 2020 to 2045.
4.4.2 Funding for tree planting will be sought by the Council and other landowning
organisations through the WRF Funders Group hosted by the WRF Joint Venture.
This provides access to a host of woodland and tree planting grants which are
assessed and an appropriate funding package built up for each planting site. Other
funding sources include donations and resources such as voluntary work forces will
be managed by the Council.
4.4.3 Trees for planting on publicly owned land as part of the Woodland Creation project
will be sourced from the Arium which is growing on plants specifically for this project.
Any additional planting which the Council manages will involve the tender for plants
from commercial nurseries and in line with Corporate Procurement Rules any site
works required will be offered to in-house service providers before tendering is
considered.
4.4.4 The Chief Officer of Sustainable Energy and Air Quality will continue the role of
chairing the regional WRF group meetings between the Local Authority Chairs and
continue to liaise with the WRF Project Manager. She will steer and guide the
development of the strategy implementation.
4.5

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations set out in this
report and it is eligible for Call In.
11
Page 689

4.6.

Risk management

4.6.1 To achieve a step change in woodland planting the Council is dependent on a
number of key policy areas outside of the council’s control, for example, the provision
of grants which offset long term financial losses by farmers and landowners. The
terms of the Trees4Climate and Environment Land Management Scheme grants will
be critical in encouraging farmers and landowners to plant trees. The simplicity of the
new grants will be critical to attracting landowners to plant trees as a barrier in the
past to grant uptake has been the overly complicated grant regimes with onerous
compliance requirements.
4.6.2 If as hoped the applications for tree planting grants increases dramatically the ability
of grant making bodies to respond may be seriously curtailed leading to delays in
approvals with applicants losing enthusiasm.
4.6.3 The Council will use existing resources to implement the strategy however if demand
is high for assistance from the community and business, without additional grant
funding for extra resources it may undermine the level of ambition within the strategy.
4.6.4 When designing woodlands the importance of avoiding the creation of liabilities and
the correct management and consideration of legal charges on land has been
acknowledged in the strategy. To ensure compliance with government funding
requirements all woodland planting will be planned to align with the UK Forestry
Standard. Legal and land use advice will be sought from within the Council as
appropriate.
4.6.5 There may be insufficient land available for tree planting if there is unprecedented
demand to donate trees by organisations and individuals. Tree planting in the inner
city built up areas is compromised by a lack of space.
5.0

Conclusion

5.1

The Council will drive the increased tree and woodland planting throughout the
District. It has already made a firm commitment to rapidly increase planting on its
own land with a substantial capital investment. It now looks to encourage all sectors
of the district to support the ambition to increase tree planting. It has set out a
framework as to where the trees should be planted and the resources required to
achieve those aims.

5.2

There are funding decisions at a national level which will affect the level of planting
but the Council will work to maximise investment from both government grants and
other funding streams within the district by increasing communications and
engagement with all partners to encourage them to plant trees or provide financial
support.

6.

Recommendations
Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:a) Note the content and endorse the White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds.
12
Page 690

b) Note that the Chief Officer, Sustainable Energy and Air Quality will be responsible for
progressing the implementation of the White Rose Forest Strategy.
c) Note that a professionally designed strategy document with the same content will be
completed after Executive Board in January 2021.
Background documents
7.

None

13
Page 691

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 693

1

Foreword
“Last year, Leeds declared a climate and
biodiversity emergency. When we asked
residents how the city should rise to these
challenges of our time, almost all residents
agreed on proposals to increase and improve
our woodlands and green spaces.

Page 694

“This universal popularity of our wonderful
woodlands is testament to the vital roles these
spaces play. They are havens, both for local
wildlife and for local people. They are healers,
proven to benefit our physical and mental
wellbeing. And by capturing carbon and
mitigating flood risk, they help us prevent
global warming and protect us from some of
the climate emergency’s worst impacts. Many
of us have valued these spaces more than ever
this year. There’s never been a better time to
grow more of them.

“The White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds will
transform Leeds by increasing tree cover from
17% to 33% by 2050. This report outlines our
strategy for working in partnership with other
local authorities, academic institutions,
businesses, community and third sector
organisations, and residents to make this forest
a reality. By planting and protecting millions of
trees and ensuring that no household in Leeds
is further than 500 metres from green space
over the next 30 years, this strategy seeks to
improve the quality, quantity and access to our
woodlands. We can’t plant our way out of a
climate emergency—but delivering this
strategy successfully will enable Leeds to
become a carbon neutral city quicker than not
delivering it. That time makes a difference.

leading by example: we have already
committed to planting 5.8 million trees on
council land to contribute towards the Forest.
But we’ll need the continued support of and
engagement with the city to make this a reality.
Thankfully, we’ve had plenty of interest so far
from residents and businesses and our tree
planting volunteer days have been incredibly
popular. Our recently launched Woodland
Creation Scheme will continue to engage and
involve the public going forwards.

“Like all of our most ambitious plans, the White
Rose Forest strategy isn’t something that the
council can realise on its own. Landowners,
businesses and volunteers will all have an
important part to play. Of course, the council is

Councillor Lisa Mulherin

2

“I truly believe that this strategy represents an
unprecedented opportunity to create a city
that is healthier, happier and greener for
everyone in Leeds. I hope you enjoy reading it
in full.”

Executive Member for climate change,
transport and sustainable development
Leeds City Council

Figures

Contents
1. INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................5

1: THE NORTHERN FOREST ...................................................................................... 6
2: CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE. ...................................................................... 9

2. WHAT ARE THE BENEFITS OF TREES?.......................................................8

3: FLOOD ALLEVIATION THROUGH NATURAL FLOOD MANAGEMENT .................. 11

3. WHERE ARE WE GOING TO PLANT TREES AND WOODLANDS? .............13

4: SYSTEMATIC CONSERVATION PLANNING TOOL ................................................ 15

4. HOW DO WE PROTECT TREES? ..............................................................28

5: WOODLAND CREATION SCHEME LAND APPROVAL PROCESS. ........................... 17

5. HOW ARE WE GOING TO DELIVER? .......................................................32

6: STRATEGIC GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE ............................................................... 19
7: WOODLAND SITES ABOVE 2 HECTARES ............................................................. 20

6. HOW DO WE TELL PEOPLE AND GET THEM INVOLVED? .......................41

Page 695

8: TREE CANOPY COVER PERCENTAGE BY WARD .................................................. 22

7. WHAT DO WE DO NEXT?........................................................................45

9: LOW RISK PLANTING AREAS IN LEEDS LANDSCAPES FOR WATER ..................... 23

8. CONCLUSION ..........................................................................................49

10: LANDSCAPE FOR WATER CORRIDORS .............................................................. 24
11: WOODLANDS FOR WATER ............................................................................... 25
12: LAND USE IN LEEDS. ......................................................................................... 26
13: PROPOSED ROUTE OF HS2 ............................................................................... 27
14: COUNCIL SERVICES RELATED TO TREE PLANTING. ........................................... 34
15: WRF FUNDERS GROUP APPLICATION PROCESS ............................................... 35
16: DONATIONS STRATEGY.................................................................................... 37
17: MOBILISATION................................................................................................. 46
18: WRF GOVERNANCE ......................................................................................... 48

3

Page 696

4

Page 697

1. INTRODUCTION

5

The White Rose Forest is a community forest
and part of the Northern Forest—an ambitious
plan to plant 50 million trees by 2042 across
the North.
The Northern Forest is focused on planting
trees in and around the city regions of Leeds,
Liverpool, Manchester and Hull; areas which
currently have some of the lowest proportions
of tree canopy cover in the country.

Page 698

By expanding and creating new woodlands,
the project aims to make people in the North
happier and healthier, provide new habitats
for wildlife, lock up an estimated 8 million
tons of carbon, and bolster the economy by an
estimated £2 billion through increased
tourism, raised property values, job creation,
and reduced flood risk to 190,000 homes.
The Northern Forest is being led by the,
Community Forest Trust and four community
forests.
Tasked with delivering the Leeds City Region
and North Yorkshire’s share of the Northern
Forest, the White Rose Forest is an existing
joint venture between more than thirty local
authorities and partners. Around 9,434 (17%)
of the 55,170 hectares that make up the Leeds
District is currently covered by trees. The White
Rose Forest aims to increase this to 33%.
Figure 1: The Northern Forest
6

Given the obvious benefits of increasing the
quality, quantity and access to green space,
Leeds City Council intends to play a key
supporting role in the delivery of the forest,
particularly here in Leeds. Ensuring the success
of the White Rose Forest will support the three
pillars of the Best Council Plan: improving the
city’s health and wellbeing, promoting
inclusive economic growth, and tackling the
climate emergency. It will also contribute to
Leeds’s aspiration to be the most child friendly
city.

Page 699

Outlining how our city’s share of this goal will
be achieved is the purpose of this White Rose
Forest in Leeds strategy. This strategy outlines:
•
•
•
•
•
•

How increased tree canopy cover will
be achieved
How this work will be funded
Where trees are to be planted
The important role of communities and
organisations
The role that volunteers will play
Community
engagement
and
communications

Ours is an ambitious strategy and making it a
reality will require a truly citywide effort.
Having declared a climate emergency, the
council itself intends to lead by example. The
council has pledged to plant 1250 hectares of
trees on its own land by 2050—a fifth of which

has already been identified and will be planted
by 2025—and has so far committed £1.5
million to support its own tree planting.
However, the council does not have the
resource to deliver this strategy unilaterally.
We will work in partnership with landholders,
landowners, businesses, communities and
volunteers who will all have an important part
to play. Positively, we know from previous
consultation
that
Leeds
residents
overwhelmingly support tree planting. We will
seek to work jointly and collaboratively
wherever possible.
We will approach the city’s businesses and
institutions for support and appeal to their
corporate
social
responsibility
and
environmental objectives. Those wishing to
contribute to the White Rose Forest will be
able to provide land, sponsorship, or value-inkind donations that help make the forest
possible while improving the lives of
neighbouring communities.
Third sector and community organisations
interested in tree planting will also play a key
role. We will work with these groups to plant
and maintain trees as well as to deliver genuine
community engagement. The council will work
closely with groups and charities including the
Trust for Conservation Volunteers, Yorkshire
Wildlife Trust, Woodland Trust, Groundwork,
Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group, RSPB,
7

Aire Rivers Trust, Voluntary Action Leeds, and
community climate hubs.
The council will also continue to collaborate
with the University of Leeds on related
research projects, such as those linked to
improving the planning of tree planting.
Finally, when preparing this strategy we have
been mindful to ensure that this document
closely aligns with the principles of other
relevant regional and national policy visions
that are currently in development. These
include the joint venture’s own White Rose
Forest Plan and the government’s draft
England Tree Strategy and Environment Bill.
The council will refine our strategy as these
policy documents are finalised. We will
regularly engage and work closely with
national authorities including the Department
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
(DEFRA), Environment Agency, Forestry
Commission and Natural England and other
organisations such as the Woodland Trust.

Page 700

2. WHAT ARE THE BENEFITS OF
TREES?

8

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Figure 2: Carbon Capture and Storage.

This chapter summarises the many benefits of
planting trees from carbon capture and storage
to improving biodiversity as well as the positive
impact they can have on health and wellbeing

2.2 CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE
In response to the climate emergency there has
been an emerging effort to reduce carbon
emissions in all parts of the economy. One of
the key drivers of this strategy is to increase
tree planting in the District due to the capacity
of trees to capture and store carbon.

Page 701

As trees and plants grow they take carbon
dioxide from the air and store approximately
half of it in their trunks, branches, roots and
other biomass; the other half is released back
again as the plant respires. The overall removal
of carbon dioxide from the air is referred to as
carbon sequestration and over a period of
decades, carbon will accumulate in woodlands
to provide a long-term carbon store.
Commonly the amount of carbon taken up by a
woodland is quantified in terms of area
(typically one hectare) over a specified time
horizon (for example 30 years) can vary
between around 100 to 300 tonnes carbon
dioxide per hectare after 30 years dependent
upon site conditions. The recently published
England Tree Strategy also emphasises the
importance of trees and carbon capture.
9

The Committee for Climate Change (CCC) have
advised government that in order to help
achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions, the
UK should plant at least 30 000 hectares per
year up to 2050 to lock up the remaining
residual atmospheric carbon once we have
achieved all possible reductions in emissions:
To highlight the scale of this challenge, only
2,330 hectares were planted in England during
2019-2020 with a total of 13,460 hectares
across the whole UK.

Page 702

Scientists from the University of Leeds used the
CCC’s methodology to calculate the increase in
Leeds’s tree canopy cover that is required for
Leeds to make a contribution to this national
tree planting effort in proportion to its
greenhouse gas emissions. As a District ideally
we have to create between 338 and 564 ha of
new woodland each year from 2020 to 2050.
This represents an increase from the current
17% tree canopy cover to 33% tree canopy
cover in 30 years.
It is anticipated that the regional White Rose
Forest Plan will be completed and published in
the autumn of 2021. Figure 2 compares the
area and carbon emissions of Leeds with the
other authorities in the White Rose Forest
area.

2.3 BIODIVERSITY
Biodiversity is the ‘living’ part of the
environment. It is the wealth and variety of all
living things, including animals, fungi, plants
and
micro-organisms,
but
also
the
communities and habitats they form together.
It includes not only the variety that exists
between different species but also the
variation and differences between individuals
of the same species.
The species and habitats that make up global
biodiversity represent vital natural resources
because of the foodstuffs, medicines and
materials they provide and the genetic
resources they offer. Even more fundamental
is the role that living things play in regulating
the atmosphere and climate and in breakingdown and recycling waste The aesthetic and
spiritual value of the living world is also
important and there is wide acceptance of the
obligation to pass on to future generations the
natural wealth that we have inherited. In
addition, there is a moral argument to
conserve biodiversity for its own sake. As part
of the climate emergency it is recognised that
failure to address the recent decline in
biodiversity at a global and local scale will lead
to threats to food supply due to the lack of
pollinating insects.

10

At a national level the dramatic loss of
biodiversity throughout over recent years has
been highlighted in the 2016 State of Nature
report compiled by scientists from 50
conservation organisations who stated that the
UK has lost significantly more biodiversity over
the long term than the world average. It is
ranked 29th lowest out of 218 countries worldwide for depletion of biodiversity.
Tree planting is not the panacea for
biodiversity loss as there are other habitats
which can contribute more diversity however
in most cases it is a driver for increased
biodiversity.

2.4 HEALTH
It is generally accepted that trees in urban
environments as individual specimens, in
groups or as woodland can have an influence
over people’s mental and physical wellbeing
which is well evidenced in documents such as
Forest Research and at the University of
Washington. A recent study commissioned by
the Office for National Statistics (ONS) found
that in 2015, it is estimated there were 5,800
fewer respiratory hospital admissions, 1,300

Figure 3: Flood Alleviation through Natural Flood Management
fewer cardiovascular hospital admissions,
27,000 fewer life years lost and 1,900 fewer
premature deaths as a result of pollution
removal by plants. This resulted in an
estimated saving of over £1 billion of avoided
health costs in 2015 alone. The benefits of
open spaces in mental health is also
highlighted in the publication Thriving with
Nature published by the mental health
foundation. Accessible woodland can be used
by the community for all forms of recreation
and exercise including walking, running,
cycling, dog walking play and relaxation.

Page 703

CLIMATE CHANGE RESILIENCE
2.5 FLOOD ALLEVIATION

2.6 URBAN COOLING

Natural flood management involves the
slowing of floodwater and storage of water in
the catchment area of rivers to reduce flows
and flooding downstream. This is achieved by
natural interventions such as building small
scale leaky dams and planting trees. Planting
trees has demonstrable benefits in reducing
flooding risk which increases water infiltration,
reducing and slowing runoff on farmland. The
Council has partnered with the Environment
Agency and other organisations to carry out
natural flood management which includes tree
planting in the upper River Aire catchment.

Climate change will result in increased
temperatures especially in urban areas and
trees, parklands, gardens and green spaces
can lower temperatures significantly. Grassed
surfaces in tree shade can be 15-20°C cooler
than tarmac and the air temperature in tree
shade can be 4-7°C lower than in the sun.
Urban parks with dense vegetation are on
average 1°C cooler than built up areas during
the day.
11

2.7 ATTRACTING AND
BUSINESS INVESTMENT

RETAINING

One of the main driving forces for the original
creation of the WRF was to provide a “well
wooded landscape” in West Yorkshire to
support economic growth by attracting and
retaining business investment. Trees therefore
have a very important role in place making in
urban settings and adding value to investment
and development in recreating quality urban
spaces as a setting and attractor to investment.
The Aire Park development west of the city
centre being a prime example with a central
park being instrumental in drawing in housing
and office investment. The large annual
investment in the City which amounts to £100’s

millions every year will be leveraged to achieve
the outcomes envisaged in this strategy by
raising the profile of a strategic approach to
tree planting in which developers can play an
important part. The Council will continue to
advocate for extensive tree planting as part of
development schemes. The WRF will be able to
bring in extra funding to support non planning
related tree planting schemes and enable
community involvement and engagement in
schemes as appropriate.

Page 704

A report commissioned by Glasgow City
Council showed that as well as attracting more
talent, businesses located next to newly
regenerated green space showed better staff
retention and morale, specifically due to the
ameliorated environment. If workers can see a
natural environment from their workspace,
studies show that they report fewer ailments
and greater job satisfaction.
Woodland can also increase the value of
property. In the report - Microeconomic
Evidence for the Benefits of Investment in the

Environment 2 by Natural England, a property
close to a large public open space is on average
about 3.5% (£8,664.0) more expensive than a
similar property far from any publicly
accessible green space. Having a view over a
green or a blue space further increases
property price by £5,369.7 (2.0%).

2.8 NATURAL CAPITAL
The Office for National Statistics (ONS),
together with the Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra),
are developing natural capital accounts for the
UK to offer a comprehensive and consistent
framework to organise environmental
information so that the benefits of nature are
better recognised. Natural capital as a concept
is “the elements of nature that directly or
indirectly produce value to people, including
ecosystems, species, freshwater, land,
minerals, the air and oceans, as well as natural
processes and functions” (Natural Capital
Committee, 2017). The non-market benefits of

12

woodland exceed the market benefits of
timber by approximately 12 times; timber
represents £275.4 million out of £3.3 billion
total annual value of woodland in 2017
according to the ONS.

Page 705

3. WHERE ARE WE GOING TO PLANT
TREES AND WOODLANDS?

13

3.0 INTRODUCTION
This chapter describes the various factors
which will define where tree planting will be
carried out to increase benefits to the city. This
ranges from a tool developed by the University
of Leeds, the planning framework, constraints
and other factors. The challenges and process
behind planting trees on council land is also
described.
At a broad level there will be several
approaches to how areas of tree planting are
defined:

Page 706

Approach 1 - reactive
A landowner will identify an area of their own
land to plant on which they will progress with
little or minimal assistance from the Council or
partners. This will proceed regardless of council
ambitions but level of grant support may be
affected by its location. An Expression of
interest will be lodged with the WRF Funders
Group with the application measured against
WRF policies and themes.
Approach 2 - reactive
A community group or member of the public
comes forward with a proposal for a council
owned area on which they wish to plant. The
request will go through an appraisal process as
shown in the section 3.3 including services and

contribution to planning policy as below.
Appropriate assistance will be given to help
them achieve their ambitions.
The Systematic Conservation Planning Tool
(see section 3.1) will be used in the following
approaches:
Approach 3 proactive
Council carries out planning of tree planting as
part of a road scheme, flood alleviation scheme
or imposes a section 106 agreement or
biodiversity net gain on a developer. The
council will use the relevant planning policies
related to tree planting to assist where the
planting should be carried out and use Green
Street and Landscapes for Water guidance as
appropriate.
Approach 4 proactive
Council receives funding from a company,
individual who do not specify where the
funding is to be allocated. The Council will use
it for tree planting which will satisfy existing
priorities and planning policies combined with
the Conservation Planning Tool.
Approach 5 proactive
Tree planting is planned by a neighbourhood
planning group, a ward or a collection of wards.
The planning is initially guided by the
14

Conservation Planning Tool and by this
approach will be relevant to the council’s
proactive approach to tree planting in rural
areas which will be adopted in key areas such
as Natural Floodplain Management projects
and other identified areas. There will be a
communications campaign and local partners
will be drawn together to identify and engage
with landowners in a local area. The quality of
agricultural land will be a key factor in the
identification of areas to target for tree
planting.

3.1
SYSTEMATIC
PLANNING TOOL

CONSERVATION

The Council and partners will assume an area
based approach to planning tree planting
which will use the Systematic Conservation
Planning (SCP) tool developed by the University
of Leeds in partnership with the WRF and the
Council. The tool works by combining maps or
layers showing different socio economic and
physical features of the landscape and
combining these through a mathematical
algorithm to identify the optimal areas for
planting. The layers represent the following:

Page 707

a) The opportunity cost, or difficulty, in
terms of converting current land use to
woodland.
b) An index of social deprivation.
c) Carbon sequestration potential.
d) Existing natural areas and
biodiversity.
e) Existing urban form.

Figure 4: Systematic Conservation Planning Tool

15

The output will be used to guide the
prioritisation of woodland creation in the short
term but also for planning a long-term
woodland creation strategy for Leeds. Areas
will be identified for planting through a series
of maps which will demonstrate the most
beneficial areas to create woodland , and how
these areas should be linked up to produce an
optimal network of woodlands by 2050. The
potential planting areas will require further
feasibility work

Page 708

This approach helps to identify a spatial
network of woodland creation sites to achieve
multiple benefits to:
•
•
•
•

Meet 2050 carbon sequestration
targets;
Enhance and connect biodiversity;
Increase woodland provision in low
income areas; and
Assist with flood protection.

3.2 PLANTING TREES ON PRIVATE LAND
Organisations, businesses, rural landowners
who own land which they are willing to plant
on can of course carry this out without any
assistance. Constraints such as legal charges on
land, planning, underground and overhead
utilities will still apply and require due
diligence. Subject to demands on the Council

resources and the demands placed on it by
other landowners at the time the council is able
to assist woodland planning and planting in a
number of ways. Third sector organisations
may also be able to assist:
•

•

•

•
•

•
•
•
•

Simple design advice and drawing up of
plans dependent on the size of the
area.
Preparation of simple location plans
for submission to the White Rose
Forest Funding Group.
Guidance as to whether areas fall
within WRF themed areas such as
Landscape for Water, Green Streets
which will be beneficial for funding and
assistance.
Provide guidance only for any planning
issues.
Advise on how planting will fit in with
the overall strategy and contribute to
benefits.
Bring other partners to the scheme
which may provide additional benefits.
Provide advice on community
consultation.
Organisation
of
community
/
employee planting days.
Circulation of information on planting
plans and activities through the
council’s social media channels.
16

3.3 PLANTING TREES ON COUNCIL OWNED
LAND
The Council has examined its landholding with
a view to tree planting and has identified over
100 sites which have been assessed. The
decision making process to ensure a site is
suitable for woodland takes at least two
months. There are two designations of land
owned by the Council which affect how the
decision to plant takes place:
1. Land managed by Parks and
Countryside Service which has a
greenspace
planning
policy
protection: Tree planting on these
sites which comes from the Council
itself or from the community will be
considered using the established
process for the ongoing Woodland
Creation project shown on Figure 5.

Figure 5: Woodland Creation Scheme land approval process.

Page 709
17

2. Land with the Council’s wider estate and
land without greenspace planning policy
protection:
Sites for woodland planting will be put
forward by the Council or by the community
and will be considered for tree planting
against the following criteria:
•
•

•

Page 710

•
•
•
•

Council operational needs
Alternative
development
opportunities
–
e.g.
housing,
employment
Alternative recreational use for wellbeing – e.g. sports pitches, open space
Alternative
renewable
energy
opportunities
Beneficial
agricultural
use/food
production
Grazing or mowing land for agriculture
or l livestock
Suitability for tree planting, ground
conditions, planning allocation.

Once a site has been approved for tree planting
it will be passed to Parks and Countryside
where it will go through the process outlined
above.

3.4 PURCHASING LAND
Given the relative lack of sites for large scale
planting consideration will be given if grant or
private funding streams allow for the purchase
of suitable land for tree planting. At 2020 the
approximate price of a hectare of agricultural
land was £17,000. There are companies who
actively sell woodlands. Scope may also be
considered to approach land agents in rural
areas to identify land which could be available
to purchase.

3.5
REGENERATION
DEVELOPMENTS

AND

MAJOR

The Council will continue to collaborate and
work with developers on the £100 million
annual large scale development and
regeneration investment in Leeds and seek
ways to maximise woodland and tree planting
potential from these schemes in a coordinated
way.

3.6 PLANNING INFLUENCES
This section focuses on the policies of the
Council’s Local Plan, in particular those in the
adopted Core Strategy (2019) which relate to
the protection of current trees, the
identification of areas with low tree cover and
target areas for additional tree planting
18

(including areas of deprivation) which will help
identify where planting should take place.

LEEDS CORE STRATEGY
The Council’s Core Strategy is the main
strategic document within the Local Plan for
Leeds and sets out the strategic policy
framework for the district to 2028 and a
housing requirement to 2033. It comprises a
long-term spatial vision and strategic
objectives for the District which includes the
designation of land for specific land uses. The
planting of trees in the district is guided by the
core strategy (pages 108 – 116) which has
specific policies relating to green infrastructure
and woodland planting. The Strategy was
adopted in November 2016 and contains the
following relevant policies:
Policy G1: Enhancing and extending green
infrastructure
This policy highlights the importance of green
infrastructure which describes the network of
natural and semi-natural features in towns and
cities. These features range in scale, from
street trees, amenity open space through to
parks, rivers and woodlands. It states: Green
Infrastructure/corridor function of the land is
retained and improved, particularly in areas of
growth, (ii) where appropriate, the opportunity

is taken to extend Green Infrastructure by
linking green spaces or by filling in gaps in
Green Infrastructure corridors, including
extending these into Leeds City Centre. Street
trees and green roofs are particularly
encouraged

Page 711

Figure 6 presents improvements
required to the existing green
infrastructure corridors in the
city as green arrows which
shows the ‘flow’ of strategic GI
corridors running through Leeds.
The arrows reflect the ‘porous’
boundaries between the
strategic corridors and local
opportunities.

Figure 6: Strategic Green Infrastructure

19

Page 712

Policy G2: Creation of new tree cover
ln supporting the need and desire to
increase native and appropriate tree
cover, the Council will, on its own
initiative and through the development
process, including developer
contributions, work towards increasing
appropriate species of woodland cover
in the District. Delivery will involve
planting in both urban and rural areas,
and partnerships. Development in the
urban area of the City, including the City
Centre will include the planting of street
trees in appropriately designed pits to
increase the area of tree canopy cover.

Figure 7: Woodland sites above 2 hectares

The Woodland Trust’s Space for People
report has taken the Accessible Natural
Greenspace Standards model developed
by Natural England (which has been
adopted as Policy G3) and adapted it for
its Woodland Access Standard for access,
size and distance thresholds to the
following standards:
•

That no person should live more
than 500m from at least one area
of accessible woodland of no less
than 2ha in size. Figure 7 shows
publicly and privately owned
woodland over 2 hectares in size
20

•

and the 500 metre “catchment or
buffer” for these. The areas in pink
show those areas which do not
benefit from being within 500 metres
of an area of woodland and would be
considered for tree planting.
That there should also be at least one
area of accessible woodland of no less
than 20ha within 4km (8km round trip)
of people’s homes.

Neighbourhood Planning

Page 713

Neighbourhood Planning is community-led
planning which helps Parish and Town Councils
and Neighbourhood Forums to shape the
development of their areas. They allow local
communities to direct where new homes,
shops and offices are built and what they
should look like, identify and protect areas of
local green space and set out management
strategies for green infrastructure and wildlife
corridors.
Once
made
(adopted),
neighbourhood plans become part of the
statutory development plan for Leeds and
must be taken into consideration in
determining planning applications within the
area that the plan covers.
Neighbourhood planning in Leeds presents a
unique opportunity to work collaboratively
with local communities to identify sites for

planting trees at a neighbourhood scale in line
with the WRF Strategy. It is also an opportunity
to connect and inspire local opportunities to
help combat climate change more generally,
through involvement in an initiative in which
local people can positively engage. This can
also include involvement in Tree Wardens
which is a scheme shortly to be relaunched and
is similar to the tree council’s scheme here .
This method will also build on the consultation
which the Council has already carried out as
part of its Woodland Creation project.

improvement to address poverty
inequality. The twelve wards include:

Locality Working Programme

Initially the WRF Project Team will work with
the Communities Team to identify areas where
there are existing partnerships and
organisations who are keen to be involved and
work with them to identify areas suitable for
tree planting.

The Council’s Locality programme work in
Priority Areas of multiple deprivation and the
focus on tree planting can provide multiple
benefits including improving the environment,
contributing to health improvement and
strengthening community ties through
involvement in projects. The Communities
team will support the delivery of the WRF
strategy in priority neighbourhoods by helping
to identify partnerships and organisations keen
to get involved and work with them to identify
areas suitable for tree planting. This work will
help improve health outcomes in the most
disadvantaged areas of the city.
The Council has identified twelve priority wards
as the focus for targeted neighbourhood

21

Armley
Burmantofts
and
Richmond Hill
Temple
Newsam
Little London
and
Woodhouse

and

Bramley and Kirkstall
Stanningley
Gipton and Killingbeck
Harehills
and
Seacroft
Chapel
Hunslet and
Allerton
Riverside

Biodiversity Net Gain
Biodiversity Net Gain is “an approach to
development that leaves biodiversity in a
better state than before.” The Environment Bill
includes a requirement for all future schemes
including the development of land to deliver a
mandatory 10 % biodiversity net gain. This net
gain will be required to be maintained for a
period of at least 30 years. Where there is
insufficient space on a development the funds
will be used at targeted sites elsewhere which
will include tree planting.

Local Nature Recovery Strategies
The Environment Bill is creating a new system
of spatial strategies for nature called Local
Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS). These
could be an important new tool for identifying
suitable locations for tree planting. LNRS will
create a compulsory requirement for
responsible authorities to map the most
valuable existing habitat for nature, set out
proposals for creating or improving habitat and
agree priorities for nature's recovery. This is an
ongoing process and will provide opportunities
for planting trees once complete.

Figure 8: Tree Canopy Cover percentage by
ward

Page 714

Planting Trees in verges on new estates
Developers are currently compelled to place
trees on larger estate roads but not within
estates themselves. The WRF team will look to
seek ways of encouraging more tree planting
on new housing areas. Residents will be
encouraged to plant appropriately sized trees
in front gardens.

3.7 DEFICIT OF EXISTING TREE CANOPY
A further way to define areas of tree and
woodland planting across the district is to see
where there is a deficiency as shown in Figure
8 and address this through targeted campaigns
and allocation of resources. Tree cover varies
across the city
22

ranging from <10% in three inner city wards,
areas to the south and east which range from
10-15%, to wards immediately to the north of
the built up area including Roundhay and
Weetwood which reach 25 – 30% tree canopy
coverage. The wards to the north of the city
show a relatively low tree cover but this is
skewed by the presence of a large amount of
open farmland

Figure 9: Low Risk Planting Areas in Leeds

3.8 RURAL SITE IDENTIFICATION

Page 715

It is anticipated that in rural areas landowners
and farmers will come forward with areas to
plant, however subject to resources the
Council will target specific areas and engage
with community groups etc. The identification
of these areas will use the Forestry
Commission’s “low-risk areas for potential
woodland creation” map (Figure 9). Which
identifies areas which are less sensitive to
change and require different environmental
Impact Assessment processes and are more
likely to be accepted for woodland planting.
These areas have been termed Low Risk and a
map for woodland creation in England is
available on the Forestry Commission’s map
browser. Due to their less challenging
environmental constraints the council and
partners will focus their activities in these
areas.
23

Landscapes for water

Figure 10: Landscape for Water Corridors

This is one of the two central themes of the
WRF Plan which will drive planting in rural
areas and specific parts of urban areas as
shown in figure 10.
The main drivers are to:
• Plant along and near to water ways (riparian
woodland) to reduce flood risk/improve water
quality and includes natural flood management
principles

Page 716

• Promote recreation and access at a landscape
scale
The Guiding Principles for Creation of Clough
Woodlands provides details of planting
requirements in these areas.
To assist in defining areas to plant in rural areas
the Landscape for Water programme is divided
into three areas:
• Woodland for Water – figure 11 below shows
areas of land identified by the Environment
Agency which if planted would reduce water
flow into rivers
• Rivers
• Buffer area of 100 metres from rivers /
existing woodland.
24

The Council will work with partners such as
the Environment Agency and seek support
from National Farmers Union, Farmers
Tenants Association to assist in engagement.

Figure 11: Woodlands for Water

The Natural Flood Management element of this
programme has already commenced and
includes the Council working in partnership
with the Environment Agency, landowners,
tenants and the River Aire Trust are carrying
out the Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2
which follows these principles.

Page 717

As part of the programme the WRF, via the
Community Forest Trust, will be contracted by
the Environment Agency to employ a project
manager to manage and develop this coordinated approach.

3.9 CONSTRAINTS
Land Ownership
When the Council adopts a proactive approach
and targets an area for woodland creation a
determinant of where trees can be planted is
land ownership and the engagement of the
land owner.

25

Availability and Quality of Land

Figure 12: Land use in Leeds.

The availability of suitable land for tree
planting will determine the areas of the district
which can be planted. Figure 12 provided by
the Environment Agency shows the
distribution of land types which includes
agricultural, non-agricultural and urban
classifications.

Page 718

Agricultural land is divided into five
classifications using a grading system to assess
and compare the quality of land at national and
local levels. It assesses the potential for land to
support different agricultural uses, such as
growing crops for food and the range of crops
that can be grown. The location of the different
grades in Leeds is shown on agricultural land
classification maps. Non-agricultural land
includes water bodies and nature reserves.
There will be areas of land which will be
available for planting in urban areas but these
will be limited to smaller sites.
Generally the profitability of farming increases
with the grade of the land therefore, there is
currently less incentive for privately owned
agricultural land with higher grades to be
released for woodland planting.

26

Page 719

Land use

National Grid upgrade

The documents of the Local Plan (including the
Site Allocations Plan) determine the use of
some land though not all land is formally
allocated/designated. Large scale planting is
not limited to designated public open space
e.g. planting could be on farms. It is likely to be
focused on public open space in urban areas as
they are some of the few places which are open
and capable of accommodating larger scale
planting. Clearly smaller scale planting can be
done on more urban land such as streets and
small pockets of undeveloped land which are
too small to be designated as green space
(>0.2ha) or don’t function as green space.

Plans to upgrade the National Grid network in
the eastern side of the District will affect tree
planting
HS2
The HS2 route will pass through the south
eastern corner of the district as shown in Figure
13 and there is an area of “safeguarding” which
is protected land on which any form of activity
or development is prohibited during the 20
year construction period. Safeguarded land is
subject to change and an update in spring /
summer 2021 is expected.

Legal
Any planting on publicly owned land must be
mindful of liability issues though appropriate
species identification and careful positioning of
trees to avoid services and creation of a
nuisance. Legal constraints and charges on
publicly owned land for tree planting will be
researched as part of the design process for
each site.
On private land the Council or funding body
may advise on areas of law related to a planting
site which the applicant needs to be aware of.

Figure 13: – Proposed route of HS2

27

Page 720

4. HOW DO WE PROTECT TREES?

28

4.0 INTRODUCTION
It takes a long time for a tree to reach maturity
and for its amenity value and carbon capture
and storage capabilities to be optimised. In
recognition of the value of larger trees there is
legislation and local planning policies to help
minimise felling of trees which are described in
this chapter. However there are circumstances
when trees require felling which are also
defined along with the legislation which
controls this process.

4.1 TREE PROTECTION IN LEGISLATION
Page 721

National Planning Policy Framework
The NPPF requires that any development
resulting in the loss or deterioration of
irreplaceable habitats should be refused,
unless there are wholly exceptional reasons
and only if a suitable compensation strategy
exists.
Tree Preservation Orders
Trees enjoy a level of statutory protection by
the use of Tree Preservation Orders (TPO)
which are made by a local planning authority to
protect specific trees or a particular area,
group or woodland from deliberate damage
and destruction if those trees are important for
the amenity of the area. TPOs make the felling,

lopping, topping, uprooting or otherwise wilful
damaging of trees without the permission of
the local planning authority an offence.
Agriculture Bill

website here. In essence this includes the tree
survey of a development site, recording the
condition of all trees as a schedule and the
measures required to protect the retained
trees in the form of a constraints map during
development and construction of a site.

The Environment Land Management Scheme is
being introduced through the Bill to replace the
Common Agricultural Policy for income
support to farmers. It will also support tree
health
schemes
which
will
include
treatment/felling and restocking tree health
grants which is planned to be launched in 2024.

Leeds City Council Core Strategy – Policy G2
This policy states that: Development which
would result in harm to, or the loss of, Ancient
Woodland and Veteran Trees will be resisted

Environment Bill

Tree replacement strategy

The ‘Duty to Consult’ will be introduced which
will give the public the opportunity to
understand why a street tree is being felled and
express any concerns regarding this. The Bill
also introduces Forestry Enforcement
Measures which strengthens the Forestry
Commission’s power to deter illegal tree felling
across England, ensuring the Commission has
the powers to continue to protect and maintain
our forests.

The Council’s tree replacement strategy for
when trees are removed as part of
developments is currently being reviewed in
partnership with the University of Leeds. Tree
replacement criteria will now focus on the
carbon capture and storage qualities of a tree
and how this can be best replaced. The
following factors are being considered in the
strategy:

Protection of Trees on Construction sites
Trees on development sites and guidance is
provided through British Standard 5837: Trees
in Relation to design, demolition and
construction with guidance on the Council’s
29

4.2 COUNCIL PROTECTION

a. Size of tree removed: Trees with a
diameter greater than 50 cm (small
trees, e.g. Holly), 60 cm (medium trees,
e.g. Birch), and 100 cm (large trees, e.g.
Sycamore) are particularly valuable
and should have an assumption of
retention applied. Alternatively, the

Council may specify a bespoke number
of trees on a case by case basis.
b. Condition of tree removed (Category A
=Trees of high quality, expected life
expectancy – more than 40 years;
Category B = Trees of moderate
quality, at least 20 years life
expectancy; Category C = Trees of low
quality, life expectancy less than 10
years)

Page 722

c. Eventual size of replacement tree (all
replacements to be extra-heavy
standards – 14-16 centimetres girth) –
e.g. Large (e.g. sycamore); Medium
(e.g. silver birch); Small (e.g.
hawthorn).

4.3 MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT
Tree and woodland maintenance
A key and vital element of tree protection in a
wider sense is that the establishment and
maintenance of new trees is critical to their
ongoing success. This breaks down into the
maintenance of individual larger trees and
woodland planting of smaller saplings in
significant numbers.
Individual trees – these are larger trees with a
14 – 16cm girth and around 3 -4 metres high.
These require weed control of the area around

their bases and where possible watering.
Ideally the Council should not adopt trees in
the public realm until a 3 year establishment
period has elapsed. Funding should be included
in large tree planting for three years of
aftercare.
Woodland planting – most government grants
allow for three years of establishment which
includes keeping the area around newly
planted saplings free of weed growth. This is
critical and planting should not be undertaken
if this commitment is not included in costs. All
trees planted by the Council on its own land
allows provision for this. The removal of tree
shelters and rabbit protection will also take
place.
Maintenance of trees in the urban areas of
Leeds is carried out by the Forestry Team which
sits within Parks and Countryside Service.
Tree and woodland management
As with maintenance, management of trees
falls into two types – individual trees and
woodland.
Individual trees – in urban situations this will
include monitoring and carrying out duties
such as removing tree ties and grilles at the
base of the tree. In many instances this can be
carried out by tree wardens. The Council’s
Forestry team carry out risk assessment of
30

larger trees on council owned land as stated in
section 4.6.
Woodland – management includes the
thinning of trees when they reach 10 years old
to allow other trees to have sufficient space to
grow. . Whilst the main thrust of this strategy is
woodland creation, we must refer to the
importance of sustainable proactive woodland
management – it is this which will maximise
ecosystem services plus feed sustainable
products into the construction market which
will ensure longer term locking up of carbon.

4.4 COMMUNICATIONS
Through the Strategy’s communications and
engagement plan the protection of existing
trees will be a key message alongside the
planting of new trees.

4.5 DISEASES
The avoidance of tree diseases and pests is a
national issue and Guidance against tree
diseases and pests is provided by government.
The damage to trees, woods and forests from
insect pests and organisms such as bacteria
and fungi can be significant. The rapid increase
in movements of goods and people between
countries has increased the risk of spreading
pests and diseases which can travel hidden in

of any one genus, or 30% of any family
of trees.

plants, plant products, packaging, wood,
vehicles and luggage.
In 2020 the issues regarding diseases in trees in
the UK centred on:
•

•
•
•

Page 723

Hymenoschyphus
fraxineus
also
known as Ash dieback widespread
across the UK in Ash trees
Phytophthora ramorum - affecting
chestnut, beech and oak
Oak Processionary Moth – affecting
oak trees and affects human health
Dothistroma septosporum – red band
needle blight affects pines, including
Scot’s pine.

Avoidance of disease and pests measures will
include:
•

•

Source planting stock through
nurseries or suppliers that adhere to
national standards such as the Plant
Health Management Standard, or that
have their own biosecurity policy in
place that can be trusted.
Adherence to the 10-20-30 guideline
to reduce the risk of catastrophic tree
loss which suggests an urban tree
planting scheme should include no
more than 10% of any one species, 20%

• High usage (each year and after severe
storms)

4.6 TREE FELLING

•

Medium usage (every two years)

Reasons

•

Low usage (every five years)

It is important to note that there will always be
a need to fell trees in urban and rural
environments and on public and private land
for a number of reasons:
•
•
•

•

•

Trees which are dead and therefore
unstable and likely to drop branches.
Dying due to evidence of disease or old
age.
Dangerous – damaged due to a storm
or loss of a limb and could potentially
cause harm to a person or property.
Trees
causing
obstruction,
interference or a nuisance under
common law
Trees relating to building and
construction after planning permission
has been granted.

Council approach
The Council’s Forestry Services conducts safety
inspections on council owned land in areas as
below to determine whether trees require
felling or other treatment:

31

Further information on tree felling carried out
by the Council is found here.
Felling licences
To protect and sustain trees in woodlands, a
felling licence from the Forestry Commission is
normally required before growing trees can be
felled. There is a presumption against
permanent loss of woodland cover, in
particular ancient woodland. Most felling
licences that are issued will contain conditions
that require felled trees or areas of woodland
to be replaced by replanting or allowed to
regenerate. Further information on tree felling
licences is found here.

Page 724

5. HOW ARE WE GOING TO
DELIVER?

32

5.0 INTRODUCTION

5.1 EXISTING RESOURCES

This chapter describes:

The Council has three roles in the strategy
which are to:

•
•
•

Existing and planned resources
Funding sources
Design factors.

Page 725

Service / function

Parks and
Countryside

Planning Services
Housing Services
SEAQ

•
•

Fulfil its own commitments to the
Forest
Enable communities and businesses to
plant trees on their own land and
signpost to funding.

•

Engage
with
stakeholders
to
encourage
tree
planting
and
communicate the advantages and
benefits of tree planting to attract
donations and participation.

Tree planting already forms a part of the
Council’s service provision which is outlined on
Figure 14. The resourcing of this capability will
be closely monitored as the demand for
planting increases.

Delivery
Ranger support for community planting, tools , logistics; education regarding trees – seed collection scheme
Community engagement with community groups, companies
Maintenance staff , knowledge and management of open space
Forestry team – management of 1400 hectares of woodland in parks, schools, highways, felling and pruning.
Woodland creation team with GIS capability, nature conservation skills.
Two woodlands officers. Two joint Council / YWT officers
Arium plant nursery – over 100,000 saplings planted for WRF woodland planting schemes
Engagement with business for sponsorship and volunteer days
Management of Tree Preservation Orders
Planning GIS team hold relevant files (e.g. Bluesky) and are working on refining GIS intelligence to properly understand the
Council tree assets.
Planning Policy as it relates to tree planting, Development control and need to protect trees
Influencing design of planting in developments
Major landholding service with large areas of land around properties which could be opened up for tree planting
Project management, Communications and engagement through social media and other channels

33

Service / function
Highways
Flood control
Asset Management
and Regeneration
Corporate finance
Legal Services

Delivery
Maintenance of 61,000 trees on highways land. Green Streets initiative Road schemes including trees
Natural Flood Management - tree planting in the River Aire Catchment
Agricultural landholdings, property and land portfolio which could be used for tree planting. in place shaping and working with
developers to create GBI and tree planting opportunities e.g. Aire Park, ELE, Brownfield Land Programme
Management of income and expenditure. Grants, donations
Legal advice regarding contracts or land issues; Land searches and advice relating to Council and in some cases private land.

Figure 14: Council Services Related to Tree
Planting.

5.2 PROPOSED RESOURCES
White Rose Forest Joint Venture

Page 726

The Council will liaise closely with the WRF
Joint Venture team at Kirklees Council to
ensure consistency of approach and will call
upon resources provided by the team which
will currently include:
•
•

•
•

Project Manager – coordinates overall
planting programme across the WRF
Communications Manager – manage
website, co-ordinate good news stories
from across Partnership, promote
Trees for Yorkshire, Donations and
volunteering interest.
Geographical Information Systems
officer – recording planted areas and
support
Landscapes for Water Landowner
Engagement Manager – to support

Natural
Flood
programme.

management

The Joint Venture will also lead the following
regional groups which will support the work of
the Council and other authorities:
•
•
•

•
•

GIS Group – to provide spatial data for
Trees for Yorkshire reporting.
Funders’ Group – Assess schemes for
funding and allocate appropriate
grants.
Carbon Group – Develop methodology
for setting targets for expanding tree
cover and developing Carbon offer to
Landowners.
Landscapes for Water in the Aire
Catchment
Green Streets group.

34

Council White Rose Forest team
The Council will use all of the resources
outlined above to both protect trees, plant
trees and create/ maintain new woodland
Existing business and community engagement
will be built on by dedicated resources.
External funding will be sought for extra
resources to strengthen the team.

5.3 FUNDING
White Rose Forest Funders Group
All applications for funding tree planting
schemes of whatever size will be directed to
the WRF Funders Group, which comprises
representatives from all the funding
organisations involved with tree planting. All
partners involved with the WRF will direct
interested parties to this group. The process for
application and consideration is shown below
on figure 15:

Page 727
Figure 15: WRF Funders Group Application process
35

Trees4Climate
The WRF Joint Venture has successfully bid for
funds from the £640 million tree planting
funding that was announced by central
government in early 2020. Details are still
emerging and it is likely to provide generous
support for tree planting and associated works.
Trees for Yorkshire

Page 728

The WRF Joint Venture is planning to launch a
funding campaign known as Trees for Yorkshire
which will seek funding for the WRF and the
HEYwoods Community Forest (Hull and East
Riding of Yorkshire). Funds from this campaign
will flow to the WRF Joint Venture as
appropriate.
The funds raised will be
dispensed through the WRF Funders Group.
The name and branding for the campaign is
currently being developed.

Environmental Land Management Scheme –
From 2025
Following the UK’s departure from the EU the
replacement funding for the Common
Agricultural Policy was enacted by the
Agriculture Bill introduced on 16 January 2020.
This provided the legal framework for the
establishment of a new system of agricultural
assistance for farmers and land managers who
will be expected to deliver on a variety of
environmental matters including enhanced
landscapes and measures to minimise the
effects of climate change.
The Bill established a new system called the
Environmental Land Management System
(ELMS) based on paying public money for
“public goods” which are defined as
environmental benefits. With respect to
farming practices affecting the land the ELMS
will be paid for work that enhances the
environment. The introduction of the ELMS will
be phased as the existing direct payment from
the Common Agricultural Policy are phased out
over a seven year transition period.
The scheme will be piloted and then
introduced in 2025 to assist in three tiers:
•

Tier 1: Encouraging environmentally
sustainable farming

36

•

•

Tier 2: Locally targeted environmental
outcomes – including tree and hedge
planting
Tier 3: Landscape scale, land-use
change projects - includes woodland
creation

Donations
A web based approach to donations is being
developed. The Council will charge an agreed
amount per tree for planting and maintenance
per tree which includes:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

Community
engagement
and
education
Supply of cell grown sapling from The
Arium council nursery
Land checks, preparation and
cultivation
Protection measures (for the tree or
appropriate fencing)
Environmental
impact
assessments/notification
to
the
Forestry Commission
Handling, storage and delivery of trees
to site
Planting using gardening teams or
supervised volunteers and weed
suppression
Ongoing
maintenance
and
management for 20 years.

Figure 16: Donations strategy

Page 729
37

As well as monetary donations the Council will
accept volunteer time and/or land donations as
well which will be reflected in the award
system. There would also be an
acknowledgement of individual donations.
Corporate funding

Page 730

The Council has developed links with local
businesses through its work on environmental
project delivery and existing services provided
by Parks and Countryside. These will be
coordinated and further links made through
the communications and engagement strategy.
Part of the engagement with businesses is to
gain a further understanding on their corporate
giving strategies and how we can help them
achieve their carbon zero aspirations.
Since 2014 the cornerstone of funding for
woodland creation in Leeds has been Trees for
Cities who provide a conduit for companies to
channel financial contributions through to local
authorities who have land and require
resources for tree planting.

Other sources
There are other sources of funding available
which fall into two groups:
Funding to enable organisations to purchase
land to plant trees on or to purchase
woodlands.
•

•

Mortgages – certain building societies
offer mortgages to purchase land for
tree planting.

As part of our mobilisation we will explore
further ways for people to donate funds to
woodland creation, including but not limited
to:
•

Inclusion of tree planting in wills.

•

Corporate and Social Responsibility of
local businesses - provision of both
labour and possibly resources.

•

Donations at site via contactless
payment points.

Carbon trading
This is a scheme to encourage landowners to
invest in woodland creation and sign up to
woodland carbon credits. There is no
compensation for loss of income due to change
of land use.

Crowdfunding – the attraction of
funding for a specific scheme through
seeking support from members of the
public through the internet. A case
study being Brewdog.

Green Jobs Challenge Fund
The £40 million Green Recovery Challenge
Fund launched this year will bring forward
funding to help charities and environmental
38

organisations start work on projects across
England to restore nature and tackle climate
change. The fund will help conservation
organisations and their suppliers create up to
3,000 jobs and safeguard up to 2,000 others in
areas such as protecting species, finding
nature-based solutions to tackling climate
change, conservation rangers and connecting
people with the outdoors.
HS2 Funding
For Phase 1 and 2a of the HS2 project a
Woodland Fund has been established to
support the planting of woodlands within 25
miles of the line. It is expected that a similar
fund will become available for Phase 2b which
covers the route through Leeds. Currently
(2020) it is a £4 million fund which involves a
competitive process.

5.3 PLANTING DESIGN
Woodland and tree planting design

Page 731

Design of woodlands and tree planting
schemes will be carried out by the Council on
public
land,
consultants,
landowners
themselves, third sector organisations and
individuals. These design services will be either
self-financing, provided free or through
funding provided by the WRF Joint Venture. All
planting over two hectares will require an
Environmental Impact Assessment which
assess the level of impact that woodland
planting will have on environmental features of
a site. The Council provides general guidance
for the design of tree planting and
management which can be found here.
At a very general level the design of woodland
and tree planting schemes will be affected by:
In urban areas:
•
•
•
•
•

Underground services / overhead
power lines
Legal constraints and charges on the
land
Community
comments
and
requirements
Access
Species defined by the carbon based
tree planting strategy

•
•
•
•
•

Underlying
soil
and
drainage
conditions
Existing landscape and built features
Features of nature conservation
interest
Vulnerability of the planting to
vandalism
Future developments and road
schemes.

In rural areas (in addition to the above):
•
•
•

Landscape character
Agricultural operation requirements
Compliance with The UK Forestry
Standard (UKFS) -sustainable forest
design, planting and management. A
condition for the receipt of
government funding for tree planting
and woodland management.

Carbon based tree planting strategy – species
choice
Guidance on tree species will be taken from
this strategy which includes definition of four
woodland mixtures to represent a range of
species composition and management levels.
Some species which have known pests,
pathogens or other environmental factors will
not be used.

39

Green Streets®
A design tool for the council must use when
designing West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Schemes in urban areas is the Green Streets
approach. Its purpose is to integrate green
infrastructure into the designs of West
Yorkshire Transport Fund schemes and other
city region investments to achieve multiple
benefits of tree planting and good growth.
Creating woodland through wilding
Wilding is a relatively new concept and its
speed at creating woodland quickly is open to
debate. From a biodiversity viewpoint the
experience of the pilot project at Knepp Farm
in Sussex demonstrates that there is a dramatic
increase in biodiversity as a consequence of
reducing use of chemicals and the greatly
reduced intensity of farming practice. The
Council will engage with organisations such as
the National Farmers Union, farmers and
landowners to pursue this approach as
appropriate.
Ponds
Recent studies have shown that ponds can help
boost the total carbon captured from a
woodland site. Creation of ponds will be
considered at proposed woodland sites larger
than 1 hectare. Although there will clearly be
safety considerations where there is public
access.

Orchards
The inclusion of orchards in planting schemes
and on their own in appropriate locations is to
be encouraged as part of the strategy. The
Council will consider locations for orchards
proposed by communities on council owned
land.
Footpaths

Page 732

After areas of planting are identified the
Council’s Public Rights of Way team can advise
on recorded or claimed public paths and on
useful linkages to surrounding highways / and
the wider rights of way network. The team can
also provide advice on the possibility of
‘created` footpaths acquiring rights through
long term usage. Advice can also be given on
signing, access controls and duty of care.
Equality Considerations
There is currently unequal access to green
space in Leeds with some of the most
disadvantaged
wards
having
disproportionately less tree cover and easy
access to outdoor open space. We know that
access to nature can have significant
improvements to health by increasing outdoor
physical activity.

According to research by Defra, living in or near
to greener environments reduces mortality
rates and improves mental wellbeing. Tree
planting in disadvantaged areas where access
to nature is low therefore has the potential to
address the health inequalities that currently
exist and improve access to nature for all.
To ensure the WRF strategy includes input
from all areas of Leeds, the project team will
present at all Community Committees and
Equality Hubs. We will also reach out to third
sector and faith organisations to provide an
opportunity
for
feedback.
Existing
environmental work taking place by such
groups will be supported and encouraged.
Accessibility will also be a key consideration in
the planning and design of woodlands to
ensure that the community forest can be
enjoyed by as many as possible. This will be
achieved as far as the constraints on location
and funding allow. Woodlands will be made as
safe as possible by ensuring personal security is
considered at an early stage of design.

40

Page 733

6. HOW DO WE TELL PEOPLE AND
GET THEM INVOLVED?

41

6.1 INTRODUCTION
Achieving the aims of this strategy isn’t
something that the council can realise on its
own. Landholders, businesses, organisations,
communities, and schools will all have an
important part to play.

releases, digital newsletters, roadshows, and
marketing.
A brief summary of how we will seek to engage
with these key audiences is outlined below.

6.2 LANDOWNER ENGAGEMENT

Page 734

Our communications and engagement strategy
will complement, and avoid duplication of, the
communications activity of the regional White
Rose Forest Joint Venture or that of existing
council initiatives, such as the Woodland
Creation scheme and ‘Leeds By Example’
climate emergency initiative.

As this strategy has already stated, the White
Rose Forest cannot feasibly be planted solely
on land owned or managed by Leeds City
Council. Therefore the council will engage with
landowners and landholders across the city, big
and small, to identify and utilise additional tree
planting sites.

The council will regularly engage and
communicate with these key audiences. In
doing so, we aim to not only raise awareness of
the benefits of this strategy but also to secure
sponsorships and partnerships that unlock
additional resources and help make the Forest
a reality.

Currently, the council is working in partnership
with the Environment Agency to engage
landowners and landholders in the Aire Valley
as part of the Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2
natural flood management programme and
has recently appointed a project manager to
lead on this work. This work will identify best
practice and will inform broader engagement.

Whilst there are specific communications
objectives and targeted approaches for each of
the audiences below, a common underlying
thread to all of our engagement activity will be
to raise awareness of the many health,
economic, and health benefits of woodlands. A
range of communications channels will be used
including social media, stakeholder work, press

Once the council has identified priority areas
for tree planting based on the quantity and
suitability of land for successful tree planting,
landowners in these areas will be approached
directly by the council. Officers will explain the
opportunities and benefits of getting involved
in the White Rose Forest and how to do so.
42

Outside of these priority areas, a targeted
communications campaign aimed at local
farmers will make the environmental and
economic case for planting trees and
encourage them to get involved with the WRF.
This campaign will include promoting the
initiative at agricultural/country shows, at local
farming union events, in farming trade press,
and by engaging with the National Farmers
Union and Country Landowners Association.
Once landowners have expressed an interest in
getting involved by contacting a dedicated
email address, landowners will receive a
package of information detailing the support
available to deliver tree planting and properly
maintain trees on their land. The council and
joint WRF Joint Venture will provide continued
support to landowners to help ensure a
successful tree planting
After trees have been successfully planted, the
council will communicate regularly with
landowners via an e-newsletter to update
them on the progress of the White Rose Forest
and share tips and reminders for proper tree
maintenance.

6.3 BUSINESS/ORGANISATION
ENGAGEMENT
Businesses, organisations and institutions in
Leeds will be approached and invited to
support the White Rose Forest through
sponsorships, value-in-kind donations and/or
participating in corporate volunteer days to
plant trees.

Page 735

When engaging with businesses and
encouraging their involvement, the council will
highlight and explain how supporting the
Forest can support their own corporate social
responsibility, environmental and/or team
objectives.
This engagement work will include direct
communications to existing networks, hosting
‘business breakfast’ and seminar type events,
and attendance and promotion at existing
business events. A physical and digital
‘business pack’ will be developed as part of this
work.
We will also work with Doing Good Leeds to
ensure that they include tree planting
initiatives as a potential opportunity for
Employer Supported Volunteering.
We will also engage fully with environmental
organisations including the Woodland Trust to
assess opportunities for joint working.

After businesses and organisations have
contributed to the Forest once, they will be
encouraged to share their experiences and
celebrate their contributions with other
businesses in the city and their own networks,
helping to promote the Forest.
They will also receive regular communications
via an e-newsletter that will update them on
the continued progress of the White Rose
Forest as well as highlight additional
opportunities for getting involved.

6.4 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
Residents, community groups, schools and
charities will also have an important part to
play. The council will work with communities to
identify tree planting sites, promote volunteer
tree planting events, and to raise awareness of
the importance of protecting and maintaining
existing trees on private land.
As a community forest, one of this strategy’s
most important aims is to ensure that every
resident in our city can access quality, wooded
green space and is able to enjoy all of the
benefits that green spaces have been linked to.
Leeds residents know their localities best. The
council will encourage residents to use their
local knowledge to help bring the White Rose
Forest to their community by referring
43

potential tree planting sites in their area for the
council to explore and implement if feasible.
When residents were asked to indicate their
support for a council-backed volunteer scheme
to plant millions of trees as part of the 2019 Big
Leeds Climate Conversation, the proposal was
supported by 96% of residents. It was even
popular among those who said they do not
believe that the Earth is warming due to human
activity.
The council will implement this proposal and
will facilitate and promote a number of
volunteer tree-planting events every year
across Leeds. This will build upon the success of
tree planting events at Beeston Royds and the
Woodland Creation Scheme, which will work
with schools and community groups to plant 50
hectares of woodland every year.
In addition to facilitating council-run tree
planting events, the council will also support
and help amplify events organised by the
community. Many local groups are doing this
already. For example, 550 trees were recently
planted at Carr Manor Fields to celebrate the
550th birthday of Guru Nanak following a
successful crowdfunding campaign led by local
Sikh volunteers. The council will produce a
‘community pack’ that includes information,
tips and shareable assets to make organising a

community tree planting event as simple as
possible for local groups.
The council will also consider the reintroduction of voluntary tree wardens—
residents empowered to plant, look after and
advocate trees in their area. Tree wardens will
be organised into local groups that are
supported and managed by a council
coordinator.

Page 736

Finally, the council will also communicate the
importance of retaining and protecting existing
trees and promote best practice as part of a
campaign under the ‘Leeds By Example’
branding. This will encourage residents with
gardens to preserve any existing trees as
another way of contributing to the White Rose
Forest.

44

Page 737

7. WHAT DO WE DO NEXT?

45

After approval by the Council’s Executive Board
in December 2020 there will be a period of
mobilisation to review processes, allocation of
resources and programme management as
outlined in Figure 17. The Council will work
with the White Rose Forest Joint Venture
finalising
communications
approaches,
website design, monitoring and funding
processes. During this time key stakeholders
with a direct input into woodland planning and
planting will be engaged in detail to understand
how partnership opportunities can be
maximised.

Page 738

2022 – 2025
Strategy reviewed
stakeholders.

annually

with

Figure 17: Mobilisation.

key

2025
Review of targets and any changes as a
consequence of the introduction of the
Environmental land Management Scheme.
2030
Full strategy review.

46

On-going Performance management
The recording of tree planting and biodiversity
increase will be achieved by a variety of means
as outlined in the list below.
•

•

Page 739

•

•

•
•

Planting facilitated by Highways
Services, Flood Control, Planning
Services will be collected through
reporting back to the WRF Project
Group held monthly
Data on tree planting which is the
subject of funding applications to the
WRF Joint Venture will be placed on a
GIS system and figures outputted
annually
Parks and Countryside will provide
collected data through reporting back
to the White Rose Forest Project Group
held monthly
Applications for the felling of trees
protected by Tree Preservation Orders
will where possible be captured and
applied to the calculation
Felling licences will be obtained from
the Forestry Commission
For the measurement of biodiversity
improvement a dedicated project
officer at the WRF Joint Venture will
make a Biodiversity Net gain
assessment on projects that have

•

registered on the WRF Delivery
Pathway. This will be achieved by
calculating current level of Biodiversity
Units with an estimation of biodiversity
after 20 years.
Total annual tree planting will be
translated into carbon capture figures.

Every five years low level radar recording of the
canopy cover provided by “Blue Sky” will be
used to see how tree cover is increasing. This
has limitations as the technology only records
trees with a canopy of more than 3 metres.
Governance
The White Rose Forest governance structure is
shown in figure 18. The structure includes a
possible partnership board to be developed,
made up of representatives from business,
institutions and the community.

47

Figure 18: WRF Governance

Page 740
48

8. CONCLUSION
Page 741
49

This strategy sets out a broad framework that,
if successfully followed, could dramatically
increase tree planting and almost double tree
canopy cover in Leeds from 17% to 33%.
Increased rates of planting will help Leeds
tackle the climate emergency while also
supporting the wellbeing of residents.
Achieving the above targets would serve the
regional ambitions of the White Rose Forest,
which in turn supports the Northern Forest
plan to introduce 50 million trees across the
North of England.

Page 742

The current pandemic has shown the benefits
of natural spaces for health and wellbeing and
highlighted the need for access to be more
equitable. Given the obvious benefits of
increasing the quality, quantity and access to
green spaces, the Council intends to play a key
supporting role in the delivery of the forest in
our district. Ensuring the success of the White
Rose Forest will support the three pillars of the
Best Council Plan: improving the city’s health
and wellbeing, promoting inclusive economic
growth, and tackling the climate emergency. It
would also support local wildlife at a time when

many loved
threatened.

species

are

increasingly

Many local tree planting schemes will require
minimal input from the Council. Many
landowners will continue to identify areas of
land which they have earmarked for planting
and will proactively implement these schemes.
However, the Council cannot reliably achieve
its ambitious target without also taking an
active role. Therefore, the Council will work in
partnership with local communities to identify
and plant additional sites for woodland,
prioritising areas that maximise the social and
natural benefits of doing so. We will also work
in partnership with, and seek to avoid
duplicating the work of, the regional White
Rose Forest Joint Venture team.
A key element of this strategy will involve
communicating with businesses, communities
and landowners in Leeds to spread the word
about the Forest and to gain support,
sponsorship and volunteering. We will use
social media and existing networks to reach as
broad a range of people and organisations as
possible. It’s important that we relay the
importance of trees and get people actively
involved. We already engage with a lot of
communities and we will look to build on those

50

networks. The renewed Tree Warden scheme
will also help communities look after trees in
their local areas and be more engaged.
In addition to planting new trees, the Council
will also play an important role in protecting
trees that Leeds already benefits from through
effective management of trees on council land
and implementing national legislation and our
local policies. We will seek to avoid felling trees
wherever practical, and will replace felled trees
with a far greater number of planted trees.
Looking forward, we hope to engage and work
with environmental organisations, businesses
and stakeholders to develop this strategy and
create new opportunities for tree planting. This
strategy is intended to provide a broad
framework that is flexible enough to be
adapted for local needs.
The Council will review our implementation of
this strategy, the city’s priorities, national
policy and any new funding opportunities for
tree planting and maintenance in 2022.

GLOSSARY
Term

Definition

Biodiversity

Types and levels of biological variation across the urban and rural landscape. It is a scientific measure of the variety of species
and habitats and at a global scale is essential for human existence in underpinning food production, providing an air supply
and a flourishing rural environment
Percentage of total ground area covered by tree the extent of the tree’s branches and leaves
A heavy odourless colourless gas formed during respiration, by the decomposition of organic substances and the burning of
fossil fuels; absorbed from the air by plants in photosynthesis. A major greenhouse gas.
Balance between emitting carbon and absorbing carbon from the atmosphere.
As trees and plants grow they take carbon dioxide from the air and store approximately half of it in their trunks, branches,
roots and other biomass; the other half is released back again as the plant respires. The overall removal of carbon dioxide
from the air is referred to as carbon sequestration and over a period of decades, carbon will accumulate in woodlands to
provide a long-term carbon store.
Changes in the world's weather systems, in particular the world getting warmer and prone to more extreme weather events
as a result of human activity increasing the level of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere.
Department of Environment Food and Rural Affairs which includes Forestry Commission, Natural England, Environment
Agency and the Food and Environment Research Agency.
A computer program used for gathering, managing, and analysing data as layers of information using maps.

Canopy Cover
Carbon Dioxide
Carbon Neutral
Carbon Sequestration or
capture

Page 743

Climate Emergency
DEFRA
GIS – Geographical Information
System
Green Infrastructure
Green Streets
Habitats
Landscapes for Water
Natural Flood Management
Woodland Trust

A network of multi-functional green space and other green features, urban and rural, which can deliver quality of life and
environmental benefits for communities. It includes public open space, parks, and woods.
Collaboration between the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and the Yorkshire West Local Nature Partnership to
integrate green blue infrastructure into the designs of West Yorkshire Transport Fund (WYTF) schemes and other city region
investments to achieve multiple benefits and “good growth”. Promoted by White Rose Forest.
Areas of land that provide resources such as food, cover, and water and environmental conditions such as precipitation and
soil types that affect occupancy of individuals or populations of species, allowing those species to survive and reproduce.
A strategic approach to natural flood management in river catchment areas promoted by White Rose Forest Joint Venture
across Forest area including tree planting to reduce flood risk.
Natural processes such as tree planting, building small informal dams are used to reduce the risk of flooding and erosion.
The largest woodland conservation charity in the United Kingdom concerned with the creation, protection, and restoration
of native woodland heritage. It has planted over 43 million trees since 1972.
51

Page 744

52

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Resources and Housing
Lead person:
Daniel Smith

Service area:
Sustainable Energy and Air Quality
Contact number: 0113 378 5837

1. Title: White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds
Mr
Is this a:
x

Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The White Rose Forest Strategy for Leeds is an ambitious programme to
increase tree planting in the district by the Council and its public, private and
third sector partners in response to our carbon reduction targets and the other
benefits which planting trees provide. It sets out the context to the strategy,
the benefits of trees, where we are hoping to plant trees, what resources we
need to do this and how we will engage with the Leeds community
The White Rose Forest in Leeds forms part of the wider White Rose Forest
covering the Leeds City Region and North Yorkshire Council. The Forest also
forms part of the Northern Forest reaching from Liverpool to Hull which is
made up of three other community forests.

EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 745

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment,
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
X
X
X
X

X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 746

2

Consideration of the protected characteristics is summarised below:
Religion or Belief communities –. The teachings of many of the world’s religions
include caring for humanity and the environment/planet. Faith groups will be engaged to
see how woodland planting and care for trees can fully engage with the work of their
congregations. One recent scheme commemorates Guru Nanak who is the founder of
Sikhism and spoke about nature as ‘the divine presence’ and whose recent 550 birthday
commemoration included plans to plant 550 trees at Carr Manor donated by the Sikh
community. .
BAME – many of the BAME communities in Leeds live in areas such as Harehills,
Chapeltown and Beeston which have very limited tree cover as they are highly
urbanised. In City and Riverside there has been a lot of tree planting and good
engagement with local communities on environmental issues for example with the
Kurdish community so despite the challenges of finding large amounts of land suitable for
trees steps can be taken to increase tree cover and engage BAME communities both
where they live but also in wider tree planting across the whole city.
Disability and Carers – woodland and tree planting should be as accessible as possible
however this does present issues especially in rural areas. Wherever possible planting
will include access via hard surfaced paths. Balance will need to be made between
provision of facilities to enable access around the site with cost and the overall natural
nature of the local environment where it might not be appropriate to install large amounts
of hard landscaping. On larger sites access will be borne in mind including car parking,
bus routes and cycle networks.
Sex – no major identified impact – design of woodlands especially in urban areas to
acknowledge personal security issues, Secure by Design principles to be used.
Age – younger people will prefer play activities whereas older people may have age
related disability and thus access issues come to the fore including access to seating.
Ensuring all age groups can take part in tree planting is important.
Sexual Orientation and gender identity - Main identified issues are around promotion
and engagement of the programme with LGBT+ communities to encourage participation
which will be addressed.
Engagement re the strategy will be through the following equality hubs (mailing lists,
social media, Hub Representatives).
BAME – Voluntary Action Leeds
Women and Girls - Womens Live Leeds
Age - Leeds Older People
LGBT+, Disability, Religion or Belief, Carers – Communities Team
LCC News social media.
The strategy will be placed on notice boards, through ward members.
EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 747

3

Communications
Promotion of the strategy will be through the following equality hubs (mailing lists, social
media, Hub Representatives).
Screening – the strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis and groups will be engaged
once forward plan is organised. EIA will be refreshed on an annual basis.
The document will be produced in several different forms to ensure that all have access
to it:
 Full version with all graphics and some technical language included
 A text summary version in Plain English with main points outlined
 A text and graphics version for those relying more on visual imagery for
understanding.
Accessible version including Braille and BSL would be made available if required.
Ward Members and Community Committees will have detailed local knowledge of best
routes for consultation and engagement and ongoing communications.
Interpretation Boards will be erected on the larger sites. Methods will be explored for
providing translations which could include the scanning of a QR code with a link to a
translation site.
Prioritisation
There will be a mixed approach taking into account land availability including private land
made available), involvement of local third sector organisations, community feedback and
Member engagement.
The overall targets for tree planting will be assessed and annual targets agreed for
various wards on an annual basis. During the annual review Councillors will be engaged
to agree on target areas. Overall the rate of planting will be reliant on the resources that
the WRF project team have at their disposal and the level of grant aid.
Executive Board
The Woodland Creation Scheme which supports the Council’s response to the Climate
Emergency was presented to Executive Board in January 2020 by the Director of
Communities and Environment Countryside. The Director of Resources and Housing
presented a report to Executive Board in January 2020 which outlined the Council’s
response to the Climate Emergency and included the drafting of the White Rose Forest
Strategy.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
EDCI Screening
Template updated October 2012
4
Page 748

Possibility of having joint planting events with different communities. The neighbourhood
planning groups to identify planting sites which will bring different parts of the community
together.
The proposals raise the prospect of providing more accessible countryside options.
The engaging of faith communities in the response to the climate emergency.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
To ensure equality of access to woodland by all residents there will be an effort made to
focus activity on priority areas in line with the council’s values.
Engage fully with all groups through community committees, ward councillors and
third sector organisations, faith groups and Equality Hubs.
Analyse their wishes and requirements.
Explain constraints of finding appropriate tree planting sites and funding issues.
Ensuring that they understand the strategy through conducting presentations and
presenting the strategy in an easy to read format.
Ensure issues are included in relation to the design of woodland and tree planting
schemes. Where funding and location allows introduce hard surfaced paths.

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 749

5

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Chief Officer, Sustainable 01/12/20
Polly Cook
Energy and Air Quality
Team
7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the
screening document will need to be published.
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance
and will be published along with the relevant report.
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published).
Date screening completed

23/11/20

If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to
Corporate Governance
Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk)

07/12/20

EDCI Screening

07/12/20

Template updated October 2012

Page 750

6

Agenda Item 16
Report author: Martyn Long
Tel: 07712 124341
Report of Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16 December 2020
Subject: European Structural and Investment Funds Programme 2014-2020:
Enhanced Local Flexibility for the Unemployed Programme
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


In November 2019 the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) as the Managing
Authority for European Social Funding (ESF) issued the call for the Enhanced Local
Flexibility for the Unemployed Programme Round 3 as part of the wider ESIF 20142020 programme. The call was for an employability programme that supports job
seekers and inactive people (those not actively seeking work), including the longterm unemployed and individuals from groups which face particular labour market
disadvantage, to tackle the barriers to sustainable employment



On 29th May 2020, the Employment and Skills Service submitted a bid to deliver a
programme to support job seekers in Leeds with a focus on the most disadvantaged
jobseekers including: people from BAME groups; those aged over 50; and lone
parents. The Council has committed up to £3m match funding which is made up of
staff time dedicated to the programme.



It is expected that, if successful, the new programme will commence delivery in
January 2021 and will run for 3 years, therefore ending in December 2023. The
programme is anticipated to support over 4,000 residents across Leeds and deliver
over 2,500 job outcomes.



The Council expects to be notified of the outcome in December 2020. If successful,
the Council will then have 30 days to enter into a formal contract with DWP as the
Managing Authority.
Page 751

2. Best Council Plan implications (see the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The Best Council Plan 2019/20-2020/21, Tackling poverty and reducing
inequalities, sets out the Council’s ambition for Leeds to be the best city in the UK,
one that is compassionate and caring with a strong economy. In 2019/20 activities
contributing to these aims included supporting 5,414 residents into work and 6,921
to acquire new skills.



The programme will contribute to the delivery of the Best Council priorities of
Inclusive Growth and Health and Wellbeing, and the calls to action in the Leeds
Talent and Skills Plan and the Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy. Targeted support
will contribute to the achievement of Best Council Plan outcomes to ensure that all
residents can do well at all levels of learning, have the skills they need for life and to
earn enough to support themselves and their families.

3. Resource implications


In the current financial climate of reduced resources, the ESIF programme is a
significant source of external funding which contributes 50% towards the costs of
Council priority projects and programmes.



The ESF funding will bring in an additional investment pot to Leeds that would
otherwise not be available to support some of the city’s most vulnerable resident’s
move closer to the labour market and back into work or training.



All staffing with the exception of two admin posts will be existing LCC staff and
therefore there will be limited actual spend accrued as new.

Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:
a) Subject to a successful bid outcome, authorise and delegate Director of City
Development to enter into a formal contract with DWP as part of the Enhanced
Local Flexibilities for the Unemployed Programme.
b) Approve total expenditure of up to £6m by the Council, inclusive of £3m maximum
match funding to deliver the Enhanced Local Flexibilities for the Unemployed
Programme over the next three years, 2021-2023.
c) Exempt this decision from call in due to the reasons outlined in 4.5.1.
d) Note that the Head of Employment and Skills will be responsible for the
implementation, anticipated to commence January 2021 and end December 2023.

Page 752

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1 This report seeks authorisation to enter into a formal contract with DWP as part of the
Enhanced Local Flexibilities for the Unemployed Programme
1.2 This report also seeks authorisation to approve total expenditure of £6m and commit
£3m maximum of Council match-funding to deliver the Enhanced Local Flexibilities for
the Unemployed programme.

2.

Background information

2.1 The current European Structural and Investment Fund Programme (ESIF) commenced
in 2014 and is a seven year programme designed to support a range of economic
development, skills, environmental improvement and social inclusion activities. The
Leeds City Region was awarded one of the largest allocations in the country with a
total value of £304m.
2.2 The Leeds City Region ESIF Programme was launched in spring 2015. Executive
Board was presented with a report from the Director of City Development on 16 March
2016 which summarised the Council’s planned activity under ESIF either as the lead
applicant or a key delivery partner at that time.
2.3 There has been a series of Executive Board reports providing detailed updates on
the COVID-19 crisis and its impact in Leeds since lockdown first happened in March
2020. Included in these has been an overview of what action has been taken in
relation to business and the economy for the city.
2.4 Leeds entered lockdown from a period of strength, but like all cities it has been hit
hard by the crisis. COVID-19 has had an unprecedented impact on the economy
locally, nationally and internationally. On 11th August 2020 it was confirmed that the
UK economy had entered an official recession for the first time in 11 years, suffering
its biggest slump on record between April and June 2020, with GDP shrinking 19.8%
compared with the first three months of the year, as well as the Service sector
declining by 20% and production down 17%. Forecasts predict it may take between
2021 and 2024 to return to pre-crisis levels.
2.5 For October the provisional figures for the total number of people claiming Universal
Credit in Leeds local authority area is 70,127. This includes all Universal Credit
claimants whether they are in employment or not in employment. This is an increase of
98% since March 2020 and an increase of 1,135 claimants on the previous month.
2.6 The latest figures for the number of people claiming Universal Credit in Leeds that
were unemployed in September 2020 is 42,884, an increase of 81% since March
2020. It is likely that this number will be significantly higher as the impact of the end of
the Job Retention Scheme in October (now extended to March 2021) and the new
national restrictions impact on business further.
2.7 While Universal Credit claims have doubled across all wards, we are seeing rising
inequalities – lower earners are three times as likely to have lost their job or been
furloughed as high earners and are more than twice as likely to do jobs exposing them
to health risks. 15% of workers in sectors which have shut down because of the
coronavirus are from a BAME background, compared to 12% of all workers. 57% are
women, compared to a workforce average of 48%, and over 50% are under 35 years
old.

Page 753

2.8 We know that in Leeds we are seeing three broad areas of the workforce requiring
different levels of support: the newly unemployed; the new entrants to the labour
market (typically school, college and university leavers); and the long-term
unemployed or those not in education, employment or training.
2.9 We need to continue to work towards creating more secure, well-paid jobs that are less
vulnerable to changes in the labour market. Much of this work is already underway
through our well established Employment Hub Programme.
2.10 The Employment and Skills Service, through our Employment Hub leads on or
contributes as a Delivery Partner on a number of programmes through ESF funding.
These include:


Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) - in January 2019 the Council
commenced delivery to support young people (15-24) who are either NEET or who are
at risk of becoming NEET. This programme is delivered in partnership with the
Council’s Children’s and Families Directorate and the Prince’s Trust. Over 1,200 young
people will be supported throughout the 3 years of delivery.



Routeways - Also in January 2019 a further programme commenced to establish clear
links between education and business and promoting apprenticeships in schools as a
positive career progression. This programme aims to increase student contact with,
and understanding of, business in schools and Further Education resulting in more
young people entering and staying in the labour market. Throughout the duration of the
programme it is expected that 1,700 young people will be supported during delivery.



Enhanced Local Flexibility for the Unemployed Programme Round 2 (Employment
Hub). In July 2019 the Council commenced delivery to support Leeds residents aged
18+ who are unemployed or inactive including the long-term unemployed and
individuals from groups which face particular labour market disadvantage, to tackle the
barriers to sustainable employment. The programme is anticipated to support over
14,000 residents across Leeds and Bradford and deliver over 2,500 job outcomes.

2.11 The new programme will be aligned with this existing provision to create one single
service offer to residents, partners and referral sources.
3.

Main issues

3.1 The Enhanced Local Flexibility for the Unemployed Programme falls under the ESF
Investment Priority 1:1, Access to employment for jobseekers and inactive people. The
programme will focus on helping those who are at a disadvantage in the labour market;
helping individuals tackle barriers to work, and enter and sustain employment.
3.2 The Call identified the following groups as having a specific labour market
disadvantage:







people from ethnic minorities;
those aged over 50 years;
lone parents;
those with a disability and/or a health condition;
individuals who are long term jobless for over 2 years;
Individuals inactive in the economy.

3.3 Leeds City Region is the biggest city region economy in the country, with an annual
output of £69.6bn representing 5% of the English total. It hosts 126,000 businesses, 3

Page 754

million residents and a workforce of 1.4m. Nine Higher Education institutions and 14
Further Education Colleges are based in the City Region, which is home to a student
population of around 230,000.
3.4 As a city, Leeds is Britain’s second busiest for legal work and the third for financial
services. Our Digital sector is growing faster than anywhere in the UK and now
employs 30,000 people, an increase of 67% since 2015 and has been particularly
resilient. Leeds has a strong knowledge-rich employment base linked to the city’s
universities and teaching hospitals which are major innovation assets and the city
performs well in terms of business start-ups, with strong growth in medical
technologies, telecoms and creative industries. Boosting productivity remains a
challenge and although the city produces many highly skilled jobs, employment and
output growth has seen a rise in ‘lower productivity’ sectors such as consumerservices and this continues to impact on growth and productivity. There are significant
opportunities in emerging Green sectors. Recent modelling from the Local Government
Association shows Leeds will become a hotspot for new green jobs, generating the
highest estimated number of jobs in the low-carbon and renewable energy sector of all
the English Core Cities, with the city expected to see almost 34,000 jobs by 2050.
3.5 There has been a series of Executive Board reports providing detailed updates on the
COVID-19 crisis and its impact in Leeds since nationwide restrictions were first
introduced in in March 2020. Included in these has been an overview of what action
has been taken in relation to business and the economy for the city.
3.6 The Leeds Economic Recovery Framework was published in October, this sets out our
approach to recovery, centred on the need to:
• Respond. Where required, continue to take immediate actions to support
businesses, workers and the economy as we have done since lockdown in March
2020.
• Reset and Renew. Ensure we understand the challenges and opportunities that
we face in recovery and that we have a clear focus and direction on the projects
and partnerships that will address them.
• Build Resilience. Maintain a long term view of our aspirations to deliver inclusive
growth, address the climate emergency and be the best city for health and
wellbeing. Ensure that our decisions lead us towards these goals.
3.7 Since March we have been working with DWP and partners to increase capacity
across our programmes, adapting and expanding our training and reskilling
programmes to reflect the changes to labour market, pivoting to where new jobs will be
created. Since March we have helped over 2000 people into employment, with around
1700 currently being supported but there is still much more work to be done.
3.8 Our existing employment support services and skills programmes have been adapted
to ensure we can continue to support local residents with 80% of those supported into
work residing in the most disadvantaged communities with the highest out-of-work
benefit claimant rates. This new proposed programme will enable the Council to extend
its reach even further and target those at most disadvantage in the local labour market.
The programme will be aligned with other local and national programmes currently
Page 755

being procured to provide a coherent local offer and avoid duplication to make best use
of resources.
3.9 The match funding for the programme will be realised through allocating existing staff
from Employment and Skills and Citizens and Communities (Job shops).
3.10 The programme will provide a targeted but flexible programme of activity enabling
job seekers to move closer to the labour market. The programme will be managed by
Employment and Skills and delivered in Community Hubs and will see Jobshop staff
transition in to caseload delivery for 50% of their time.
3.11



The programme is expected to support over 4000 people across Leeds of which:
Over 1000 residents will go in to or become actively engaged in job search;
Over 160 residents will achieve basic skills.

4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The Leeds City Region ESIF Strategy was subject to wide consultation across the
city region during its development in 2013/14. Smaller stakeholder sounding groups
continue to be used to develop programmes under each thematic objective prior to
release. Leading up to the launch of calls for proposals, regional information
sessions were held, generally led by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority
(WYCA) and the relevant Managing Authority.
4.1.2 Implementation of the strategy is monitored by the Leeds City Region Enterprise
Partnership Board, the Leeds City Region Chief Executives’ and the Leaders’ Board
meetings. A Council cross-directorate ESIF officers’ group has been engaged in
the development of local programmes since 2014.
4.1.3 The Executive Member for Learning, Skills and Employment, and Deputy
Leader/Executive Member for Resources have been consulted on the issues in this
report.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The assessment of the Leeds City Region ESIF Strategy by central Government
incorporated consideration of a range of equality and diversity issues. Each
individual project has to address gender and diversity issues, and some projects will
have specific targets for participation of priority groups including women and BAME.
4.2.2 While open to all jobseekers over the age of 18, the programme is specifically
aimed at supporting groups identified as being disadvantaged in the labour market.
An EDCI screening was completed and is attached at annex 1, in November 2020
and the assessment confirmed that due consideration has been given to all equality
groups.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The programme contributes directly to specific the Best Council Plan priority to
support Inclusive Growth, and access to economic opportunities, supporting
Page 756

communities and raising aspirations, by providing skills programmes and
employment support. It also reflects the ambitions of the Leeds Talent and Skills
Plan and the Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy. Targeted support will contribute to
the achievement of Best Council Plan outcomes to ensure that all residents can do
well at all levels of learning, have the skills they need for life and to earn enough to
support themselves and their families.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 A key part of the Best Council Plan priority on ‘Sustainable Infrastructure’ is how we
tackle the risks of climate change. Following the council’s declaration of a climate
emergency in March 2019, due consideration has been given to the climate impact.
The delivery of this programme will have no adverse impact on the climate.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 In the current financial climate of reduced resources, the ESIF programme is a
significant source of external funding which contributes 50% towards the costs of
Council priority projects and programmes.
4.4.2 The ESF funding will bring in an additional investment pot to Leeds over three years
that would otherwise not be available to support some of the city’s most vulnerable
resident’s move closer to the labour market and back into work or training.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There is no access to information or other legal implications relating to these
proposals. The proposals contained within this report are normally subject to Call In.
However, we are requesting that Executive Board agree to exempt this decision
from call in as the timescales set by DWP/ESIF mean that if successful, we will
need to commence delivery of the programme on 1 January 2020, three days
before the call in period would expire. Therefore, if the decision was not exempt
from call in we would not be able to meet contractual requirements for the funding.
4.5.2 The appraisal, by DWP, of our bid was not time bound and we did not receive
confirmation that it was agreed in principle until the 16th November. We are subject
to final sign off through ESIF sub-committee at any time, to which we would receive
limited notification to sign the contract with DWP.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The Employment and Skills Service will lead on the delivery arrangements on
behalf of the Council and contract manage the programme. The service has
extensive experience and sufficient resources in place to successfully deliver a
project of this nature. The service has rigorous and robust contract management
and performance procedures in place to reduce and mitigate these risks.
4.6.2 On the 24 July 2018, HM Treasury announced a commitment to underwrite the
UK’s full allocation for structural and investment fund projects, such as funding
secured through the European Regional Development Fund, until the end of 2020.
This guarantee given by the Government was aimed at giving applicants continued
confidence to bid for and benefit from funding whatever the outcomes of the Brexit
negotiations, and ensure that UK organisations continue to benefit from funding
beyond the current transition arrangements.

Page 757

5

Conclusions

5.1 The Council has ambitious plans to promote and deliver inclusive economic growth,
connecting local residents to opportunity and improving their health and wellbeing.
5.2 This project will offer tailored preventative and remedial support to residents who are
disadvantaged in the labour market. Up to £4m will be invested to support around
4,000 people in Leeds to improve their skills and significantly increase their prospects
of moving into sustained employment.
5.3 The Council’s Employment and Skills Service will manage delivery in Leeds,
capitalising on established networks to source local referrals, deliver outcomes and
provide specialist support for participants. The project, will be aligned with existing
services and other ESIF provision including the Employment Hub, NEET and
Routeways contracts already delivered through Employment and Skills.
6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is asked to:
a)
Subject to a successful bid outcome, authorise and delegate Director of City
Development to enter into a formal contract with DWP as part of the Enhanced
Local Flexibilities for the Unemployed Programme.
b)
Approve total expenditure of up to £6m by the Council, inclusive of £3m
maximum match funding to deliver the Enhanced Local Flexibilities for the
Unemployed Programme over the next three years, 2021-2023.
c)

Exempt this decision from call in due to the reasons outlined in 4.5.1.

d)
Note that the Head of Employment and Skills will be responsible for the
implementation, anticipated to commence January 2021 and end December 2023.
7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 758

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: City Development

Service area: Employment and Skills

Lead person: Martyn Long

Contact number: 07712 214341

1. Title: European Structural and Investment Funds Programme 2014-2020: Enhanced
Local Flexibility for the Unemployed Programme round 3
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

x

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
This screening concerns the director of City Development requesting that Executive
Board agree to enter a formal contract with DWP if we are successful in winning a
funding bid for Enhanced Local Flexibilities for the Unemployed Round 3.
If successful the programme will incur expenditure of up to £6m by the Council, inclusive
of £3m match funding over the next three years, 2021- 2023;

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 759

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes

No
x
x
x
x
x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 760

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Martyn Long
Head of Employment and
November 2020
Skills
Date screening completed
7. Publishing

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 761

3

Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent:
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 762

4

Agenda Item 17
Report author: Val Waite
Tel: 0113 3788353

Report of Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16th December 2020
Subject: Business Case for rebuilding of the Vine
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Burmantofts and Richmond Hill, Kirkstall

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues
The purpose of this report is to outline the proposal to create new purpose-built premises
to re-house the “Vine” educational centre. The Vine provision is a commissioned service
providing adult education for young people aged 19-25 with complex special educational
needs who have an Education Health and Care Plan.
The Vine was moved into the Queenswood Education Centre in 2012 following the closure
of the Blenheim building and the West Leeds Learning Centre. The Queenswood
Education Centre has multiple occupants and whilst initial adaptations were made it was
never intended to be a permanent relocation of the Vine.
The numbers of young people needing such a service as the Vine are growing within the
city and expansion is needed.
The Queenswood Education centre is not well suited to the needs of learners with such
complex special educational needs. Further remediation work to the current building could
only be superficial and would not meet the needs of all the learners or allow for growth. It
has been the intention to house the Vine in modern, purpose built accommodation since
2016.
Page 763

A time-limited opportunity has arisen to create a purpose built facility on a spur of land on
the same building site as a new secondary school development. The spur of land is
owned by the council and has no commercial value but is sufficient for the building of
accommodation suitable for the Vine.
The proposal seeks capital investment in a new purpose built accommodation for a 19-25
provision and is a balance of cost avoidance and potential savings.
2. Best Council Plan Implications
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to meet the special educational needs of young
people with an Education Health and Care Plan until the age of 25. Desirable local
learning places is an efficient use of resources and reduces the risk of costly out of area
placement with private providers.
This proposal would establish high quality specialist places within the city for some of our
most vulnerable learners, actively contributing towards achievement of the Best Council
Plan outcomes of; “Be safe and feel safe”; “Enjoy happy healthy active lives”; “Do well at
all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life”.
The proposal would address the lack of sufficiency of educational places for learners aged
19-25 with complex special educational needs and meet the child friendly city aspirations
of “Helping young people into adulthood to develop life skills and be ready for work” and
“Improving social emotional and mental health and wellbeing”.

3. Resource Implications
Capital investment in a new purpose built accommodation for a 19-25 provision is a
balance of cost avoidance and potential savings. Appropriate accommodation will avoid
substantial uncontrolled costs that contribute to increasing pressure on the High Needs
Block. New accommodation will allow expansion of provision to a capacity of 60, creating
10 additional local learning places and potential savings through a reduction in future out
of area placements.
Building works for a new secondary school have already been approved. Potential time
limited, efficiency savings in build costs for the Vine provision have been identified on a
slip of land on the same site. The slip of land is not otherwise commercially viable and is
cost neutral. Once works on the school site are underway, it will become increasingly
costly and disruptive to access the site and will reduce or eliminate identified savings.
This site has the potential to deliver accommodation for learners with complex special
educational needs by late 2021 to early 2022 and access savings through reduction in out
of area placements from the academic year 2022-2023.
Other sites, on commercially viable land, are available with potential to deliver
accommodation available for occupation late 2022 to early 2023.This would defer savings
until the following academic year 2023-2024 and increase the risk of uncontrolled costs in
the interim.

Page 764

Planning permission would need to be granted prior to the commencement of any
construction works required. Once the feasibility stage is complete and, subject to the
proposal gaining approval to proceed to detailed design stage, budgets would be realigned
to reflect that all parties have agreed the final design and cost estimates, which would take
account of site investigations and survey information, in accordance with standard project
and risk management principles. The scheme would also be subject to relevant
stakeholder consultation.
Recommendations
Executive Board is asked to:
a) Approve the proposal for new purpose built premises to house a commissioned
service providing adult education for young people aged 19-25 with an Education
Health and Care Plan.
b) Note the current budget requirement to deliver the scheme of £10.8m, and approve
the proposal to delegate the approval of future design and cost reports in relation to
the project to the Director of Children & Families (and/or if appropriate, in
consultation with School Places Programme Board).
c) Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Inclusion.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to outline the proposal to create new purpose-built
premises to expand and re-house the “Vine” educational centre for young people
with complex special educational needs aged 19-25.

1.2

This report contains details of a proposal to meet the LA’s legal duties to provide
educational services for young people up to the age of 25 years with an education
health and care plan under the Children and Families Act 2014.

1.3

The report identifies a unique opportunity to create this purpose built facility on a
spur of land on the same building site as a current development for a new
secondary school thereby saving costs.

2.

Background information

2.1

In 2016 the decision was taken to transfer the Vine service for young people with
complex special educational needs from Leeds City Council to Leeds City College,
changing the Local Authority’s relationship with the service from provider to
commissioner.

2.2

As part of the 2016 decision to transfer, Leeds City College was granted a three
year lease on the Vine accommodation in the Queenswood Education Centre. This
lease was in place to allow a phased move from the current site into the purpose
built Beeston Centre. However, due to the rising demand in the city for provision for
learners with special educational needs and the increasing complexity of the needs
Page 765

of the learners at the Queenswood centre the transfer did not proceed as originally
intended.
2.3

Approximately 20% of the SILC population in Leeds require ongoing educational
support and services when they leave special school provision at the age of 19. At
the present time we are unable to meet all the complexity of needs within the city.
The current lack of accommodation and poor quality of facilities for this cohort is
contributing to increased out of area placement and increases in spend from the
High Needs Block of the Designated School Grant.

2.4

Through ongoing sufficiency planning and as part of a new secondary school
development, an opportunity for relocation of the Vine has been identified. A spur of
land on the same building site, is available and suitable. The spur of land has no
commercial value and is already owned by the council. This site provides a timelimited opportunity to create purpose-built accommodation to both improve the
quality and increase the places available to meet the specific needs of 60 young
people with the most complex needs.

2.5

Leeds City College are involved in the speculative design required for the cost
estimate, provided by City Development, and are happy to deliver the service from
the location. Leeds City College are confident that the accommodation described
will support the curriculum offer they have developed, which was graded as
outstanding in 2018 by Ofsted. The new premises promise to be an enriching and
appropriate environment for the young people in the service and for future learners.

3.

Main issues

3.1

The Local Authority has a statutory duty to meet the special educational needs of
young people with an Education Health and Care Plan until the age of 25. The Vine
provision is a commissioned service run by Leeds City College, providing adult
education for young people aged 19-25 with complex special educational needs
who have an Education Health and Care Plan.

3.2

The Vine was moved into the Queenswood Education Centre in 2012 following the
closure of the Blenheim building and the West Leeds Learning Centre. The
Queenswood Education Centre has multiple occupants and whilst initial adaptations
were made it was never intended to be a permanent relocation of the Vine.

3.3

The numbers of young people needing such a service as the Vine are growing
within the city and expansion is needed.

3.4

The Queenswood Education centre is not well suited to the needs of learners with
such complex special educational needs. Further remediation work to the current
building could only be superficial and would not meet the needs of all the learners
or allow for growth.

3.5

Our ambition to be child-friendly and inclusive is challenged by a lack of suitable
accommodation within Leeds for our most vulnerable learners whose educational
needs continue into adulthood up to the age of 25.

3.6

Out of area education for learners with complex needs placed with private providers
are high cost and do not necessarily result in positive outcomes. The lack of quality
Page 766

provision in Leeds for this cohort of learners limits the choice and control young
people and their families have and can lead to separation of young people from
their family and community with significant risk to long term, even life-long,
residential out of area placement.
3.7

It has been the intention to house the Vine in modern, purpose built accommodation
since 2016. An opportunity has now arisen to create a purpose built facility on a
spur of land on the same building site as a new secondary school development.
The spur of land owned by the council has no commercial value but is sufficient for
the building of accommodation suitable for the Vine.

3.8

This site provides time-limited efficiency savings in build costs to create purposebuilt accommodation to both improve the quality and increase the places available
to meet the specific needs of 60 young people with the most complex needs. Once
works on the school site are underway, it will become increasingly costly and
disruptive to access the site and reduce or eliminate any identified savings.

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The process in respect of the proposal has been managed in accordance with the
relevant legislation and with local good practice.
4.1.2 Consultation will be undertaken with Leeds City College, young people attending
the Vine, parents with a child attending the Vine, parent support groups, local
residents, ward members and other relevant stakeholders.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The EDCI screening form for the proposal is attached as an appendix to this report.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Local Authority has a statutory duty to meet the special educational needs of
young people with an Education Health and Care Plan until the age of 25. Desirable
local learning places is an efficient use of resources and reduces the risk of costly
out of area placement with private providers and supports the council value of
spending money wisely.
4.3.2 This proposal would establish high quality specialist places within the city for some
of our most vulnerable learners, actively contributing towards achievement of the
Best Council Plan outcomes of; “be safe and feel safe”; “Enjoy happy healthy active
lives”; “Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life”.
4.3.3 The proposal would address the lack of sufficiency of educational places for
learners aged 19-25 with complex special educational needs and meet the child
friendly city aspirations of “Helping young people into adulthood to develop life skills
and be ready for work” and “Improving social emotional and mental health and
wellbeing”.

Page 767

4.3.4 This proposal contributes to the aspiration for Leeds City Council to be the best
council and for Leeds to be the best city in which to grow up in. We want all children
and young people in the city to have access to a wide range of opportunities,
develop key life skills, and be supported on ambitious pathways to enable them to
thrive supporting the council’s ambition to produce a strong economy and a
compassionate city.
4.3.5

Climate Emergency

4.3.6 A modern, purpose built provision will enable more cost effective heating and
lighting to be installed, and by increasing the number of places within the City will
reduce travel to external places.
4.3.7 Any contractors for the proposed development will have demonstrated a robust
Waste Management Plan, be registered with The Considerate Constructors
Scheme, of which, the main consideration of the scheme falls into three categories:
The general public, the workforce and the environment. Contractors will also be
sympathetic to the Leeds Talent and Skills Plan by striving to employ local trades
thus reducing the impact of extended travel. Resources, procurement and value for
money
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The initial high level construction estimate is £10.8m for new purpose built
accommodation for 60 learners aged 19-25 with Education Health and Care Plans.
Out of area provision is costly. Current equivalent out of area placements average
50k per place per annum for a three day education placement. Individual placement
costs may be higher.
4.4.2 Providing places in Leeds allows improved accessibility to local and desirable
learning places and is an efficient use of resources.
4.4.3 Planning permission would need to be granted prior to the commencement of
construction works required. Once the feasibility stage is complete and subject to
the proposal gaining approval to proceed to detailed design stage, budgets would
be realigned to reflect that all parties have agreed the final design and cost
estimates, which would take account of site investigations and survey information,
in accordance with standard project and risk management principles. The scheme
would also be subject to relevant stakeholder consultation.
Sources of Funding
4.4.4 The annual cost of borrowing the £10.8m required to build will be £374k per annum
over the life of the new accommodation.
4.4.5 Cost avoidance and any revenue savings should be realised from the reduced
numbers of out of area independent placements. Leeds City College, as further
education provider, receives funding from other sources for the pupils at the
provision. The lease and rental feel previously agreed with Leeds City College was
nominal, to facilitate the move to other Leeds City College premises. A new
leasehold agreement, reflecting the improved accommodation in new build

Page 768

premises, increased capacity and additional facilities is expected to offset the
borrowing costs.
4.4.6 Any leasehold agreement will sit alongside a renegotiated specific service level
agreement with Leeds City College in respect of the Vine.
4.4.7 The current accommodation only allows capacity for five adult social care
placements on site. Adult Social Care colleges are interested in the potential
expansion in provision of day placements.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 We have legal duty under the Children and Families Act 2014 and the Education
Act 2011 to meet the needs of all learners with Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities up to the age of 20 and where there is an Education, Health and Care
Plan up to the age of 25.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 This proposal has been developed to allow learning places to be delivered for late
2021 to early 2022. A decision not to proceed at this stage may expose the council
to a risk of uncontrolled costs incurred providing suitable safe placements in private
out of area provision, until appropriate accommodation is built or sourced.
4.6.2 Demand for specialist learning places is rising. There is also a corporate risk
associated with failing to provide sufficient further education places for learners with
an Education Health and Care Plan in good quality buildings that meet the needs of
local communities.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

Our ambition is to be a compassionate city with a strong economy. As a vibrant and
successful city we aspire to be inclusive and to support and protect our most
vulnerable children and young people.

5.2

This proposal supports the local authority’s statutory duty to meet the further
education needs of young people aged 19-25 with complex special educational
needs who have an Education Heath and Care Plan.

5.3

The Vine accommodation situated at Queenswood Education Centre is not well
suited to the needs of learners with such complex special educational needs and
has been planned to be re-sited since 2016.

5.4

Further remediation work to the current building could only be superficial and would
not meet the needs of all the learners or allow for the increase in places that are
now needed.

5.5

The alternative to new premises for local provision is increasing private out of area
provision. This not only limits the choice and control of young people with complex
special educational needs and their families but can also lead to separation of
young people from their family and community with significant risk to long term,

Page 769

even life-long, residential out of area placement. This option is also financially costly
and has not been shown to improve outcomes.
5.6

New, purpose built premises are required to ensure the authority is able to meet its
legal obligation to provide specialist learning places for 2021 and beyond. There is
rapidly rising need, and insufficient suitable provision.

5.7

Building works for a new secondary school have already been approved. Potential
time limited, efficiency savings in build costs for re-siting and extending the Vine
provision have been identified on a slip of land on the same site. The slip of land is
not otherwise commercially viable and is cost neutral. Once works on the school
site are underway, it will become increasingly costly and disruptive to access the
site and will reduce or eliminate identified savings.

5.8

The proposal seeks capital investment in a new purpose built accommodation for a
19-25 provision and is a balance of cost avoidance and potential savings. The cost
avoidance case for a new purpose built premises was agreed as sound by the
Financial Planning Group on the 16th of November 2020. It is therefore
recommended that the proposal be approved.

6. Recommendations
6.1

Executive Board is asked to:
a) Approve the proposal for new purpose built premises to house a commissioned
service providing adult education for young people aged 19-25 with an Education
Health and Care Plan.
b) Note the current budget requirement to deliver the scheme of £10.8m, and approve
the proposal to delegate the approval of future design and cost reports in relation to
the project to the Director of Children & Families (and/or if appropriate, in
consultation with School Places Programme Board).
c) Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Head of Learning Inclusion.

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 770

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration (EDCI) screening
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being or has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Children and Families

Service area: Learning Inclusion

Lead person: Val Waite

Contact number: 0113 3788353

1. Title: Business Case for rebuilding of the Vine
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

X

Other

If other, please specify: New Adult Education Building
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The proposal for new Leeds City Council owned accommodation to house a
commissioned service providing an adult education service for young people aged 1925 with an Education Health and Care Plan: those continuing to make progress in
education, who have adult social care needs, many of whom are likely to have complex
continuing health care needs.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 771

1

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies and policies, service and functions affect service users,
employees or the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a
greater or lesser relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
X

No
X

X
X
X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 772

2

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
This has been considered as the build is for a specific cohort with protected
characteristics. Those included in the specification are experts, responding to feedback
from young people and their families.
Further consultation with key stakeholders about the proposed building will be undertaken
as part of planning permission.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)
The proposal to build new, purpose built accommodation is an action to achieve parity for
a specific group. Many young people in further education across the city have benefitted
from new premises suitable for their courses.
This specific group of young people, all of whom are disabled, have been housed in
unsuitable accommodation.
The preferred location for the new building is near a new secondary school. While
proximity does not convey understanding or friendship, it offers the opportunity for
community inclusion.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
Consult with the current provider, young people and families who use the service as well
as relevant other stakeholders across education, health and care to ensure the building is
fit for purpose.

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 773

3

5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:
Date to complete your impact assessment
Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)
6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Val Waite
Head of Learning Inclusion 02/12/2020
Date screening completed
12/11/2020
7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or
a Significant Operational Decision.
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision
making report:
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full
Council.
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and
Significant Operational Decisions.
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk for record.
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to
Date sent: 16/12/2020
Governance Services
For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

EDCI Screening

Template updated January 2014

Page 774

4

Agenda Item 18
Report author: Julie Longworth
Tel: 0113 3786386

Report of the Director of Children and Families
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16th December 2020
Subject: Leeds Practice Model, progress and next steps.

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
1. The purpose of this report is to review the progress made in developing the Leeds
Practice Model and to seek the Board’s support to further embed the model across the
Children and Families directorate and the wider children’s partnership.
2. The Leeds Practice Model was initially developed in 2017 by colleagues within the
Children and Families directorate, its driver was to further develop the provision of high
quality evidence based restorative practice to support children to remain safely and
appropriately with family so reducing the need for children to become looked after.
3. The model aims to bring services closer together using a single and commonly
understood approach and ethos of restorative practice alongside a shared method of
objective and collaborative analysis to better understand the needs of families and
identify the right service for the right family at the right time, the first time.
4. In this way professionals can be confident that families will get the right help sooner,
that the support will be owned and directed by families themselves, enabling them to
increase their own agency and improve parent’s confidence and skill, creating positive
and sustainable outcomes for their children and ultimately avoiding the need for
children to become looked after.
5. The Children and Families directorate is working closely with colleagues across the
wider children’s partnership in Leeds to enhance the offer of Trauma Informed support
recognising the success of evidence based trauma informed approaches in achieving
Page 775

positive outcomes for children and young people who have had adverse childhood
experiences. The Leeds Practice Model is central to these developments and has
acted as a catalyst and platform for these planned service developments.
6. The Early Help Review will focus on the need to develop integrated multi-disciplinary
trauma informed services recognising the benefits of this approach and the positive
outcomes to be achieved for children and families as well as efficiencies that can be
achieved through the increased integration of services.
7. The recently evaluated Leeds Practice Model will be used as a vehicle to implement
change in Early Help services and the wider multi-agency partnership, creating
opportunities to achieve economies of scale, improving the quality of practice, the
availability of evidence based support and increasing the engagement with children
and families.
8. The Leeds Practice Model builds on the existing innovation and partnership work within
the Children and Families directorate it supports the directorate’s Childrens and Young
Peoples Plan and importantly the ongoing ambition to make Leeds the best city for a
child to grow up in.
Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The Leeds Practice Model directly supports our ambitions for a child friendly city
using restorative family led decision making at its core and addressing our
obsession to reduce the need for children become looked after.



Early Help specialist and preventative services adhering to the Leeds Practice
Model actively and directly work to improve the health and well-being of families in
Leeds.



The Leeds Practice Model supports the ongoing development of safe, strong
communities.

Resource Implications


Further development of the Leeds Practice model will support the rationalisation
and streamlining of services in order to achieve a better experience and improved
outcomes for children and families as well as economy of scale and associated
financial savings.



The Leeds Practice Model is supporting the provision and ongoing development of
high quality evidenced based specialist and preventative services that continue to
attract additional funding into the directorate.

Recommendations
The Executive Board is recommended to:


Note the progress that has been made to date in developing the Leeds Practice
Model and endorse the proposed next steps to embed the model across
Children and Families Services and the wider multi-agency children’s
partnership in Leeds.

Page 776



Note the Deputy Director, Children & Families Social Work is responsible for
implementation.

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

To increase awareness and understanding of the Leeds Practice Model and its role
in improving the quality and reach of restorative evidenced based practices within
the Children and Families directorate and the wider children’s partnership.

1.2

To demonstrate the positive impacts and effectiveness of this work including the
cost benefits as evidenced through recent evaluation, and its implication for practice
all told across children and families services.

1.3

To share an outline proposal for the wider implementation of the model that will feed
into the Children and Families Early Help service review.

2.

Background information

2.1

This report updates on the progress in developing the Leeds Practice Model, initially
developed in 2017. This is a set of core principles for restorative practice with
families which aims to ensure interventions are strengths-based, and prioritise
relational working and collaboration with families

2.2

The report asks for the support of the Board to further incorporate the model across
the directorate and wider children’s partnership. It is hoped that the Leeds Practice
Model will be central to work around the integration and streamlining of services and
structures through the Early Help Service Review.

2.3

In 2016 a group of multi-disciplinary professionals from the Children and Families
directorate came together to explore how evidenced based intervention and
restorative practices could be further developed to best support children and
families in Leeds and in particular adolescents on the edge of care.

2.4

Through detailed analysis of the journey and characteristics of adolescents who had
entered into care in Leeds alongside that of their families and the nature of the
support services that had been offered to them it was clear that services were still at
times operating in silos, that some young people had long histories of involvement
with a myriad of different agencies and that there was limited examples of evidence
based approaches being used especially in the world of Early Help and prevention.

2.5

A hypothesis emerged for the need to bring services closer together, working with a
shared ethos of restorative practice and a common evidence based approach to
objective and collaborative analysis in order for agencies to better understand the
needs of the families and identify the right service for the right family at the right
time, the first time.

2.6

There was a shared view that working in this way would lead to families getting the
right help sooner, that support could be owned and directed by families themselves,
that they would be able to increase their own agency and improve their skills as
parents, creating positive and sustainable outcomes for their children and so
avoiding episodes of care.

2.7

To this end the Leeds Practice Model was developed, it builds on all aspects of
practice and what we know to be useful when assessing, implementing and
evaluating what we do.

Page 777

2.8

It does not necessarily represent anything new or unknown, rather it brings together
the findings from a range of evidence based practice and naturally aligns to working
restoratively with both families and colleagues.

2.9

The Leeds Practice Model contains three key elements: Rethink Formulation, Leeds
Practice Principles; and Outcome Focused Supervision The model places the family
at the central point of convergence of these three elements (see below); each
element is complementary and necessary to the other, and in turn they place
emphasis on creating effective relationships, staying focused and using evidence
based approaches.
(Fig.1 Leeds Practice Model)

2.10

As outlined in the diagram above the three key elements should always exist in the
context of continuous development and a multi-agency approach. If all the elements
are in place then we are creating conditions that are much more likely to provide
meaningful and effective help, support and care whist also fully utilising the family’s
strengths and skills in the creation, implementation and evaluation of plans.

2.11 This enables professionals to truly work with families in an explicit context of high
support and high challenge. The Leeds Practice Model is applicable when providing
any service for children, young people and their families, at any level of intervention
however the directorate has developed its use within three significant service areas:
1) Restorative Early Support Teams (RES teams) - multidisciplinary teams
based in the seven high need clusters bringing social work and family support
closer to schools and offering intensive early intervention to children and their
families.
2) Rethink Team - developing the Leeds Practice Model itself and the use of a
single formulation approach named Rethink. The team have used
Implementation Science and Practice to embed the Leeds Practice Model
through the provision of training, coaching, direct support, supervision and
consultation to several service areas (including RES teams and Futures). The
team provide ongoing Rethink Forums to the wider multi-agency children’s
partnership.
3) Futures team, a small multidisciplinary team supporting young people under
25yrs who have experienced the loss of an infant through care proceedings.
Page 778

Futures also utilises the Leeds Practice Model in its practice delivery and has
recently been internally evaluated.
2.12 The Rethink and Res teams have been the subject of recent external evaluation by
the University of Bedfordshire as part of the Department for Education Innovation
Programme (link). The Futures team has been internally evaluated by colleagues
from the directorates Capacity and Change service.
2.13 Both evaluations have demonstrated significant positive impacts on outcomes for
children and families as well as the quality of relationships and cost savings.
2.14 This report describes in more detail these positive evaluations and the value that
the Leeds Practice Model has brought and how it might be applied to shape and
support multi-agency transformational change as part of the Early Help service
review.
2.15 Further information can be found in our One Minute Guides:


Leeds Practice Model



Restorative Early Support Teams



Rethink Formulation

3.

Main issues

3.1

The development of the Leeds Practice Model and its application to service areas
and teams is truly innovative but has also proven to be a very positive and effective
approach which can demonstrate clear improvements in quality of relationships with
families which we know to be paramount when supporting families to effect positive
changes in their functioning and skills. The model, and in particular the development
of formulation and outcome focussed supervision has enabled pragmatic
restorative practice that has enhanced and further brought to life much of the
existing service knowledge and understanding of this.

3.2

Restorative Early Support Teams currently exist in 7 high needs areas in the city.
The recent external evaluation has shown a decrease over time in the need for
children from these areas to be looked after that has been calculated as a £406,446
saving per month. This is underpinned by measurable improvements in the issues
that brought families to the attention of the team in the first place eg improvements
in adult behaviours that impact safeguarding of 89%, improvements in families’
abilities to safeguard of 84%, improved engagement and alignment with family
plans of 81% and improvements in education focussed goals of 78%. The
evaluation recognised that the teams were focussing activity on parenting work,
improving relationships and promoting emotional health. Families reported 90-95%
satisfaction with the work of the RES teams and highlighted particular satisfaction
with communication, feeling valued and active collaborators in their care and
understanding of restorative practice and Leeds Practice Model process.

3.3

Partner agencies reported high satisfaction and appreciation of the approach and in
particular the modelling of the RES practitioners in working differently with families
that enabled higher confidence in them to use the model also.

3.4

An evaluated model of measuring social work skill within the RES Teams showed
higher than average skills in all domains as follows; collaboration, empathy,
purposefulness, clarity and child focus.
Page 779

3.5

Rethink is a single team of 6 multidisciplinary clinicians and practitioners drawn
from social work, mental health, paediatric nursing, health-visiting, and evidenced
based practice. They actively develop and support the implementation of the Leeds
Practice model using Implementation science and practice techniques and
approaches. These have been significant in the success of the roll out of the model
both broadly and specifically in particular teams such as RES and Futures but also
in the wider social care ecology.

3.6

Poor implementation is a recognised and significant feature as to why change and
innovation projects fail. Not paying attention to effective implementation risks lost
effort, lost time (and subsequently money) and poor adherence and positive uptake
of new ways of working. Research in implementation science and practice shows
that having an implementation team can positively impact the required change by
up to 80% in 3yrs, whilst not having a team will more likely mean only a 14% impact
in 17yrs.

3.7

The evaluation showed extremely high levels of satisfaction with the teams work in
Rethink Formulation forums (development and learning events) showing 90% in
increased understanding, 87% in increased confidence , 90% in broadened
perspectives and 96% in improved multiagency networking . This is mirrored in
Rethink Spaces (multidisciplinary family centred/oriented events) and in adjunct
support and development events.

3.8

As well as RES and Futures the team have already supported significant
implementation work using the Leeds Practice Model in Duty and Advice, Early Help
Hubs, Early Help Family support, a series of community events concerned with
antisocial behaviour in the East of Leeds, and also working with social workers to
better integrate formulation into the child and family assessment.

3.9

The team have developed an implementation process that can be tailored to any
particular service need and support teams through active coaching, action learning,
supervision and consultation. They have also recruited a number of Rethink
Champions to grow the Leeds Practice Model in individual service areas and most
recently have become involved in how to support our residential children’s homes.

3.10 Futures is a small multidisciplinary team of only 5 practitioners drawn from mental
health nursing social care and family support that specifically supports young
people under the age of 25yrs further to the loss of a child through care
proceedings. We know 70 % of young people in this age range who have already
experienced the loss of a child though proceedings are likely to present with a
further pregnancy either during or very soon after the first set of proceedings is
concluded and then repeat proceedings will ensue.
3.11 There is very little empirical evidence for this area of work but the Futures team
were very fortunate to be part of Research in Practice Action for Change project that
meant they worked for several months with 9 other local authorities on developing
and sharing learning from a range of service options concerned with reducing
recurrent proceedings. The team had input in this learning from leading academics
and pioneers in the field as well as access to experts in trauma informed practice,
complex grief and perinatal care , the work has been published here.
3.12 The team have contributed to very recent research coming out of Leeds Trinity
University concerned with support for young fathers and are embarking on further
evaluation with Homestart as partners in the ‘What Works Centre for Childrens
Social Care’s Practice in Need of evidence programme’. The team also received
The National Social Work Award 2019 for Creative and Innovative Practice.

Page 780

3.13 The team have been running since April 2018 with 3 clear service outcomes
1)Reducing repeat proceedings, 2)Improving life circumstance of young parents
who have experienced proceedings and 3) Improving the health and emotional
wellbeing of the same young parents.
3.14 The most recent internal evaluation was able to glean significant learning from the
work done and were able to demonstrate a reduction in the expected 70% recurrent
rate highlighted above to just 25% .This then could be calculated as an approximate
saving to the authority of £240,000 per year.
3.15 This group of young people can be typified by numerous, complex and enduring
challenges and adversities in their lives most predominantly presenting as anxiety,
depression and social isolation.
3.16 The Futures team were the able to work on what they describe as secure base
goals to achieve positive change eg. Stable housing and income, education
employment and training, access to GP and dentist and significantly contraception
advice and support.
3.17 The evaluation shows clear improvements in all these areas. Additionally the team
are able to offer emotional support and direct treatment to mental health issues and
routine outcome measures were able to show across the board improvements in
anxiety, depression and wellbeing.
3.18 Notably a self- report measure of wellbeing showed outstanding positive
improvement even when objective measures showed lower improvements in
anxiety and depression. This then correlates directly with overwhelmingly positive
feedback from the young people themselves that very clearly articulates and
expresses appreciation of the approach used (The Leeds Practice Model ) and an
even clearer assertion that Futures should work with young people earlier.
3.19 Futures is currently part funded by the CCG and works closely with Homestart to
support sustainable change after young people leave Futures.
3.20 The Potential of the Leeds Practice model. This evaluation work clearly
demonstrates the worth of the model in both early help and specialist targeted work.
Our working experience to date of how to support application of the model has been
borne out as effective in many different service delivery areas as already described.
3.21

Key themes that support its success can be identified as co-location,
multidisciplinary teams and a tenacious implementation approach involving
continuous coaching.

3.22 Early Help Service Review. As we consider what is required to meet the significant
financial challenges ahead we know that we need to rationalise and simplify our
approach to early help and preventative services. To date our ‘specialist
preventative’ provision has been specific and boundaried by referral criteria.
3.23 Similarly the provisions exist within different and various management structures,
have different referral routes and can have limited contact with one another unless
this is case driven, thus presenting several barriers to offering the right service to
the right family right time.
3.24 While some interventions will still require specificity and criteria to be effectively
targeted we know that there are many unspecific, complex and high need
situations and presentations at the edge of care that would benefit from an evidence
based, integrated multi-disciplinary approach.
.

Page 781

3.25 If we can bring substantive parts of this provision together through co location and
using the Leeds Practice Model within a single point of access approach we will
have an extremely strong and highly skilled workforce that will support the delivery
of a seamless, adaptive and inclusive offer to all children and families, and can
be entirely needs led.
3.26 This flexible approach would reduce the need for panels and share and grow skill
across the organisation and wider partnership enhancing the current service offer
from early help to children looked after are addressed .
.
3.27 Connection, collaboration and integration with wider provision in health and
mental health. Additionally and significantly, this approach also provides a clear
single platform and gateway to connect and collaborate both practically and
financially with partners in health and wellbeing provision all told to truly address the
notion of ‘Think family’ and holistic multidisciplinary working.
3.28 Partners in health are currently leading on the development of a trauma informed
approach in early help city wide and this new way of working and organising
ourselves in this way will align well with current outline proposal to attract funding in
this field as well as the premise for it to be a truly collaborative and integrated
approach across health, and social care partners.
4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The Leeds Practice Model has been developed through extensive consultation and
engagement with multi agency professionals, the voluntary and community sector
and most importantly with children and families. Consultation and engagement with
these key partners continues as the model is further rolled out and embedded in
different service areas.
4.1.2 The evaluation reports referenced in this report are being shared with the key
partners outlined above and will be considered as part of the Early Help Service
Review.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Leeds Practice Model is applicable to all aspects of practice and aims to
address issues of equality and diversity for individual children, families,
communities and the multi-agency workforce.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Leeds Practice Model is closely aligned to council polices and the Best Council
Plan, it supports in particular the Child Friendly Leeds priority, it supports the health
and well-being of children and families and the ongoing development of safe strong
communities.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 Climate emergency is a particular issue of concern for many children and families,
we have seen an increase in ‘Climate anxiety’ in children and young people. We
Page 782

know from listening to children and families that this anxiety can be somewhat
relieved when children are supported and encouraged to talk about their wishes and
feelings and enabled to take some personal action in their own lives no matter how
small to address their concerns about the environment. The Leeds Practice Model
is based on restorative practice and working ‘with’ children and families so that their
voices are heard and acted upon in relation to a range of issues including the
climate emergency.

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 This report and supporting documentation outlines that clear and significant savings
and cost avoidance can be achieved in terms of children looked after costs, through
adopting this way of working.
4.4.2 The Leeds Practice Model has been recognised as innovative practice nationally,
the Children and Families Directorate have been able to secure additional funding
to support its ongoing development; this is something that continues to be built
upon with at least one other funding bid currently being processed.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report is subject to call-in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 There are no specific risk issues.
5

Conclusions

5.1

The roll out and embedding of the Leeds Practice Model across all aspects of
Children and Families services will help create a unified and flexible work force able
to provide a consistent high quality evidence based response to a wide range of
presenting needs and across many different arenas so improving outcomes for
children and families and reducing the need for children and young people to
become looked after.

5.2

The Leeds Practice Model will be central to the work underway in the Early Help
Service Review, it will support the integration and streamlining of services and their
associated structures to improve the journey, experiences and outcomes of children
and families while making best use of existing professional resource.

5.3

The Leeds Practice Model will continue to act as a platform for ongoing multi
agency practice and service development, attracting additional investment into Early
Help and preventative family support services in Leeds and ensuring the provision
of the right service for the right family at the right time and at the earliest
opportunity.

6

Recommendations

6.1

Executive Board is recommended to:


Note the progress that has been made to date in developing the Leeds
Practice Model and endorse the proposed next steps to embed the model
Page 783

across Children and Families Services and the wider multi-agency children’s
partnership in Leeds.


Note the Deputy Director, Children & Families Social Work is responsible for
implementation.

7

Background documents1

7.1

None

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 784

Agenda Item 19
Report author: James Anderson
Tel: 0113 37 85960

Report of Director of Adults and Health and Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 16th December 2020
Subject: Disposal of land located on Windlesford Green, off Holmsley Lane,
Rothwell for Extra Care Housing delivery and final terms of Development
Agreement.
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): Rothwell

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)
Appendix number: 3

Summary
1. Main issues


Further to the approval of the Council House Growth Programme - Delivery of Extra
Care Housing report at 19th December 2018 Executive Board, this report sets out
proposals to sell land at Windlesford Green, off Holmsley Lane in Rothwell to the
approved consortium of Morgan Sindall Later Living (formerly known as Ashley
House Ltd/Morgan Ashley LLP) and Home Group to facilitate the development of
new Extra Care Housing.



The project will contribute to the Council’s strategic objective of delivering the Leeds
Vision for Extra Care Housing by working with partner organisations to construct
more than 1000 units of Extra Care Housing by 2028 to meet the growing demand
for this accommodation type and population forecasts.



The Extra Care Housing scheme to be developed on the Windlesford Green site is
expected to deliver 62 Extra Care Housing apartments containing communal
facilities open to the public. A planning application for the Windlesford Green
scheme was submitted on 20th November 2020. The scheme will deliver 100%
affordable rental units which significantly exceeds Affordable Housing Planning
Policy requirements of 15% for the Rothwell ward and the Council will have
nomination rights on 100% of these units for the first lettings, and 75% nomination
rights on subsequent lettings.
Page 785



In order to realise the development of the land for Extra Care accommodation it is
proposed that this site of surplus land be sold at less than best consideration.



Under terms of the Development Agreement to be exchanged with the Council, the
consortium which made up of Morgan Sindall Later Living (formerly known as
Ashley House Ltd/Morgan Ashley LLP) and Home Group will be granted a licence
to work on the site for the duration of the build programme. The land transfer will
only complete once the consortium can evidence that the completed Extra Care
scheme meets the specification included in the Development Agreement.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The Extra Care programme directly contributes to one of the Best Council Plan’s
2020/21 outcomes of enabling residents with care and support needs to have
greater choice and control.



The delivery of the Extra Care programme also contributes to the Housing priority
contained within the Best Council Plan 2020/21 by providing the right housing
options to support older and vulnerable residents to remain active and independent.

3. Resource Implications


Based on the minimum projected efficiency saving of £240.00 per week for an
individual with high support needs living in an Extra Care scheme, applied against
the Council exercising its 100% nomination rights for Windlesford Green, the
proposed scheme will generate an estimated system cost saving of approximately
£773,760 per annum when compared to the average cost of residential care (local
authority and independent sector provision).



This site is currently in the Council’s capital receipt list. The anticipated receipt has
been reduced to meet the expected receipt from the Extra Care scheme, rather
than from an open market disposal.

Recommendations
Further to and as a consequence of previous Key Decisions made by the Council on this
matter, Executive Board is recommended to:
(i) Approve the sale of the land at Windlesford Green to the consortium made up of
Morgan Sindall Later Living (formerly known as Ashley House Ltd/Ashley House
LLP) and Home Group at a less than best consideration and on the terms
detailed;
(ii) Note that the Director of City Development, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Resources, progresses with the disposal of the site;
(iii) Approve that a Development Agreement be exchanged with the consortium ;
(iv) Approve that any subsequent amendments to the terms of the disposal be
delegated to the Director of City Development to approve under the scheme of
officer delegation, in consultation with the Executive Member for Resources.

Page 786

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Board approval to dispose of a Council owned site
on Windlesford Green in Rothwell (see Plan No 17041/M in Appendix 1) to facilitate
the development of new Extra Care Housing in support of the Better Lives Programme
established by Adults and Health. Approval is sought to sell the land to the
recommended consortium of Morgan Sindall Later Living (formerly known as Ashley
House Ltd/Morgan Ashley LLP) and Home Group at the less than best consideration
identified in the attached exempt appendix.
1.2 The purpose of this report is also to recommend Members agree the final terms of the
Development Agreement with the consortium which sets out the requirements of the
Works and Services Specification and also gives a timetable for the development as
per the terms of the call off contract for the delivery of an Extra Care scheme at
Windlesford Green. Approval is sought for the Heads of Terms of the Development
Agreement as detailed in the report and to enter into said Development Agreement
with the consortium.
2.

Background information

2.1 This report follows approval by Executive Board on 17th July 2017 and 19th December
2018 on reports both entitled ‘Council House Growth Programme - Delivery of Extra
Care Housing’. Executive Board approved proposals for the delivery of Extra Care
Housing for older people across the city as part of the Council House Growth
Programme and to support the Better Lives Programme.
2.2 The resolutions at the above meetings, confirmed Executive Board’s support for sites
within Package 1 to be disposed of together with the possibility of disposal of sites at
less than best consideration in order to deliver Extra Care Housing with higher levels of
affordable housing than required under Planning Policy, along with delivering a wider
social value impact, most notably in section 4.6.3 of the December 2018 report. The
report stated that the four sites would attract higher offers for private residential
developments on the open market than for the proposed specialist residential care
use. Selling the land for specialist care use will therefore result in the Council not
achieving best consideration. However, by progressing the proposals for new extra
care housing as an alternative to other more expensive and less suitable options for
those needing care and support, the Council expects it can also make significant
financial savings.
2.3 Executive Board has previously considered similar recommendations based on the
standard approach taken by the Council to assess the valuation of schemes and has
approved the disposal of sites to various Registered Providers at less than best
consideration in pursuit of housing growth and in recognition of the strategic benefits
which will be achieved.
2.4 For the Windlesford Green scheme 100% of the scheme will be affordable rent. The
Council will have 100% nomination rights units for the first lettings, followed by 75%
nomination rights on subsequent re-lets for 60 years; delivering Extra Care Housing in
an area where there is a current undersupply; and an opportunity to create
employment and training opportunities. In all such cases, to comply with European
State Aid Directives, where the land has been sold at a less than best consideration,
Page 787

the terms of disposal would include restrictions to ensure that the site could only be
used for the provision of Extra Care Housing or “alternative affordable provision”
defined as “any alternative use of the Property to Extra Care Housing which is an
affordable use as approved by Homes England and LCC” after completion of the build
programme.
3.

Main issues
Appointment of an Extra Care Housing delivery partner

3.1 As part of the Better Lives Programme there has been a significant amount of research
undertaken by Adults and Health to determine how Leeds City Council should respond
to the predicted increase in the number of older people living longer with long term
health conditions whilst improving individual choice in terms of how they access care
and support. As set out in the Better Lives Programme Phase Three Report in
September 2016 which was endorsed by the Executive Board, the Council continues
to investigate opportunities to realign services to better fit the needs and aspirations of
older people in Leeds and a key element of this approach has been the delivery of
extra care housing as an alternative model to residential care under the auspices of
the Extra Care programme.
3.2 The programme has been split into two packages. In Package 1 the schemes will be
delivered and managed by an external provider with the Council having nomination
rights on all affordable rented units. Package 2 will be delivered directly by the Council
with all the units being let at affordable rent levels and managed by the Council.
3.3 Windlesford Green is one of the Council owned sites dedicated to the delivery of Extra
Care Housing by Executive Board in July 2017. In accordance with the procurement
strategy approved by Executive Board, the Council approached providers on the North
Yorkshire County Council (NYCC) Extra Care Housing framework to gauge their
interest in delivering the first four sites in Package 1 – Westerton Walk, Ardsley and
Robin Hood; Seacroft Crescent, Killingbeck and Seacroft; Windlesford Green,
Rothwell; and Farrar Lane, Adel and Wharfedale.
3.4 The NYCC Extra Care procurement framework was used in 2018 to appoint a provider
to design, build and operate Extra Care Housing on Windlesford Green, in addition to
the three other Package 1 sites. Bidders were required to submit a net purchase offer
for the Westerton Walk site and gross offers for the Seacroft Crescent, Windlesford
Green and Farrar Lane sites.
3.5 Following the conclusion of the procurement process, the Director of Resources and
Housing, in accordance with his delegated authority, approved the decision to enter
into a contract with the recommended consortium made up of Morgan Sindall Later
Living (formerly known as Ashley House Ltd/Morgan Ashley LLP) and Home Group for
the development of the Package 1 sites. Windlesford Green will be the third site to be
developed through this agreement.
3.6 At its meeting on 19th December 2018, Executive Board noted that responsibility for
negotiating the terms and consideration of the Package 1 sites was delegated to the
Director of City Development who would seek final approval of the final terms of
disposal from Executive Board. Approval was given on 18th September 2019 by
Executive Board to dispose of the Westerton Walk scheme at a less than best
consideration.
Page 788

The Windlesford Green site
3.7 The site is located off Holmsley Lane in Rothwell and is off a purpose access road
which also leads to the Aspire Rothwell Fulfilling Lives Service, which was constructed
in 2015 at the same time as the Holmsley Green supported living scheme for adults.
The proposed Extra Care scheme is on the site of the former Rothwell ATC East
building which measures approximately 0.71ha and was cleared in February 2016.
3.8 The site has been identified for Extra Care Housing due to high levels of demand for
such provision in the Outer South locality. The Council has undertaken a
comprehensive demand analysis of Extra Care Housing to identify the quantity and
type of specialist older people’s housing required across the city currently with
forecasts up to 2028. There is currently no provision of Extra Care Housing in the
Outer South Community Committee area where Windlesford Green is located.
3.9 A Development Agreement has been drafted and provisionally agreed between Leeds
City Council and the consortium to carry out the Windlesford Green development in
line with agreed plans and specifications, and is substantially on the main terms
detailed in the report. The Development Agreement is based on the one exchanged for
Westerton Walk which has worked well for both parties. This will ensure that the
consortium meets the requirements of the Works and Services Specifications and also
gives a timetable for the development as per the call off terms set out in Extra Care
Housing for Older People contract DN336766.
Socioeconomic benefits resulting from the delivery of the new extra care
accommodation
3.10 The Council have added a contractual requirement to the agreement with the
Consortium to ensure that 100% of the new development at Windlesford Green will be
affordable homes for rent. This level of affordable housing significantly exceeds the
minimum planning policy requirements of 15% for the Rothwell area.
3.11 Initial financial comparisons on the average cost of residential care (local authority
and independent sector provision) versus extra care (based on the actual tendered
cost of care package for Windlesford Green provided by the consortium) reveal that
Extra Care Housing, even with all care recipients having high care and support needs,
provides the opportunity to realise significant system cost savings. Further detail on
expected savings to the Council is provided in the ‘Resources and value for money’
section.
Land disposal
3.12 The subject site is shown on Plan Number 17041/M in Appendix 1, and would be
attractive on the open market for private residential developments, and would be likely
to attract a higher offer for this use rather than for the proposed specialist Extra Care
Housing uses. City Development has valued the site on an unrestricted basis.
3.13 Whilst selling the land for Extra Care Housing use will result in the Council not
achieving best consideration for the site in accordance with s123 of the Local
Government Act 1972, the socioeconomic benefits of delivering Extra Care Housing,
as set out in paragraphs 3.10 and 3.11, must be taken into consideration by Executive
Page 789

Board. Having considered the benefits of the schemes to be delivered, together with
the likely revenue savings that will be realised as set out in paragraph 4.44, Executive
Board is therefore recommended to approve this sale at a less than best consideration.
3.14 Under the procurement process in 2018, which was awarded under contact
DN336776, the consortium submitted a land offer for the scheme. The land offer was
confirmed again in October 2018 as part of a mini-tender process under contract
DN503285. Given that the Council will not be achieving best consideration, the
Council will be foregoing £640,000 for the disposal of the site. Full details of the offer
can be found in confidential appendix 3.
Heads of Terms
3.15 In addition to the details included in the table above the main terms that will be
incorporated into the Development Agreement comprise:
Tenure – All the units will be affordable and will be let at ‘Affordable Rent’ equivalent to
80% of the market rent.
Nomination Rights – the developer/purchaser will enter into a nominations agreement to
grant the Council the right to nominate tenants for a period of 60 years to 100% of all
new lettings and 75% of subsequent lettings of the affordable units.
Freehold Transfer – the freehold interest in the land will be transferred to the purchaser
following satisfactory completion of the development.
Payment – 10% of the purchase price will be paid upon the signing of the Development
Agreement with the remaining 90% payable upon satisfactory completion of the
development and transfer of the freehold interest.
Licences/easements – the developer will be granted all the necessary licences to
undertake the works.
Rights of Access – to allow access to the subject site rights of access will be granted over
the unadopted access road shown Plan Number 17041/N in Appendix 4.
Less than Best Consideration Implications
3.16 The Council is obliged, except in certain circumstances, to accept the highest offer
received to fulfil its legal obligation to achieve best consideration for the disposal of its
property assets under S123 of the Local Government Act 1972. Land and Property
Officers have assessed the market value of the subject site for its most economically
viable use of private residential housing. Selling the site for the proposed use of Extra
Care residential accommodation as detailed above would mean that the Council is
disposing of the property for a ‘less than best’ consideration. Adults and Health project
a cost saving of £773,760 per annum, based on 100% the scheme being affordable
rent with the 100% nomination rights.
3.17 Legal services have advised that Local authorities have a general statutory power
to dispose of land in any manner they wish, under section 123 of the Local
Government Act 1972. However, unless the government consents, usually the

Page 790

disposal must not be for less than the best consideration that can reasonably be
obtained.
3.18 It is government policy that authorities should dispose of surplus land wherever
possible. Generally it is expected that land should be sold for the best consideration
that can reasonably be obtained, but it is recognised that there may be circumstances
where an authority considers it appropriate to dispose of land at an under-value.
Consequently, the government has a power to give authorities consent to dispose of
land for less than the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained. Consents
can be given on a general basis, or for specific disposals.
3.19 The General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 allows local authorities to dispose of
any interest in land at less than the best consideration that can reasonably be
obtained subject to the following conditions:
(a)
the authority must be of the opinion that the disposal is likely to contribute to
the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of
their area or people living or working there; and
(b)
the difference between the less than best value of the land and the actual
consideration for the disposal must not exceed £2,000,000.
3.20 Section 31 of the Housing Act 1985 authorises the council to sell land for the
purpose of providing housing of any description at such price, or for such
consideration, or for such rent, as having regard to all the circumstances of the case is
the best that can reasonably be obtained, notwithstanding that a higher price,
consideration or rent might have been obtained if the land were sold, exchanged or
leased for the purpose of providing housing of another description or for a purpose
other than the provision of housing.
State Aid
3.21 As referred to in paragraph 3.3, the site was marketed on the North Yorkshire
County Council Extra Care Framework for Extra Care, for a restricted use, which
potentially reduces the value. A local authority may impose restrictions limiting value
provided that a private sector landowner in the same position as the Council would
have acted in the same way and that the Council imposes the same restriction
regardless of the identity of the purchaser.
Construction
3.22 Under the terms of the Development Agreement to be exchanged, the consortium
will be required to work under licence for the duration of the build programme. The
land transfer will complete once the consortium can evidence that the completed Extra
Care Housing scheme meets the specification included in the Development
Agreement.
3.23 A planning application was submitted by the consortium on 20th November 2020
following consultation with local ward members in October 2020. Consultation events
took place with local residents prior to the pandemic in late 2019.
3.24 Start on site is expected at the Windlesford Green scheme in April 2021, with
completion expected in October 2022.

Page 791

4

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 Consultation has taken place with the Rothwell Ward Members throughout the
duration of the project with regular briefing notes during the pre-tender and tender
period. Consultation has also taken place with Executive Member for Health,
Wellbeing and Adults, Executive Member for Resources and Executive Member for
Communities. Regular briefings will continue to take place for the duration of the
project.
4.1.2 Council officers and representatives from the consortium have met with Ward
Members during the design stage of the project. Most recently consultation took
place on 23rd October 2020 to discuss the final scheme design and usage
proposals. Throughout the project the feedback received has been positive and
both Ward Members support the development of an Extra Care Scheme on this
site.
4.1.3 A communications plan has been prepared and is now being implemented for the
scheme delivery. This details how the Council and the consortium engage with key
stakeholders, including Ward members and local residents, throughout all stages of
project delivery. It also describes the multiple consultation events held for local
residents which formed part of the statutory planning public consultation process.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The proposals for Extra Care Housing at Windlesford Green will deliver 47 one bed
apartments and 15 two bed apartments for older people with medium to high level
care needs.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Extra Care programme directly contributes to one of the Best Council Plan’s
2020/21 outcomes of enabling residents with care and support needs to have
choice and control.
4.3.2 The delivery of the Extra Care programme also contributes to the Housing priority
contained within the Best Council Plan 2020/21 by providing the right housing
options to support older and vulnerable residents to remain active and independent.
4.3.3 The programme supports the delivery of the Better Lives programme through:


Supporting the health and well-being of older people who wish to live
independently



Providing an alternative to residential care



Ensuring that older people have a wider choice of housing and care options
including the provision of person centred care and support

Page 792



Increasing the supply of specialist homes for older people that are for rent,
shared ownership and for sale.

Climate Emergency
4.3.4 The consortium has committed to delivering a scheme which offers low running
costs to tenants at the Windlesford Green site through energy efficient designs and
also ensures sustainable operation of the building by ensuring that the development
meets the Council’s core strategy policies EN1 (Climate Change – Carbon Dioxide)
and EN2 (sustainable design and construction).
4.3.5 A Travel Plan, which is aimed at promoting greener, cleaner travel choices and
reducing the reliance on the private car, has been produced for both developments.
The Travel Plan will be managed by a Travel Plan Co-ordinator who will carry out a
questionnaire survey of the residents travel patterns and preferences. A subsequent
action plan will be developed which aims to promote sustainable travel and reduce
the number of car-borne trips.
4.3.6 The consortium is committed to offering opportunities for local training and
employment and the engagement of local supply chain partners linked to the
programme. ‘Meet the Buyer’ events will be arranged, taking into account social
distancing measures, prior to start on site to encourage local suppliers and the
consortium has also committed to engaging with Leeds Building College regarding
training and apprenticeship opportunities.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 A multi-disciplinary cross directorate team has been established to deliver the
project. This includes representatives from the Council Housing Growth Team,
Housing Management, Adults and Health and City Development. The day to day
management of the project is led by the Director of Resources and Housing who is
working in partnership with the Director of Adults and Health.
4.4.2 If the site is sold the Council will cease to be responsible for the current and future
maintenance liabilities for it.
4.4.3 This site is currently in the Council’s capital receipt list. The anticipated receipt has
been reduced to meet the expected receipt from the Extra Care scheme, rather
than from an open market disposal.
4.4.4 Initial financial comparisons on the average cost of residential care (local authority
and independent sector provision) versus Extra Care Housing (based on the actual
tendered cost of care package provided by the consortium) reveal that Extra Care
Housing, even with all care recipients having high care and support needs, provides
the opportunity to realise significant system cost savings. Based on the minimum
projected efficiency saving of £240.00 per week for an individual with high support
needs is applied against 100% of the scheme being affordable rent and the Council
receiving 100% nomination rights for the Windlesford Green development, this
would generate an estimated system cost saving of approximately £773,760 per
annum.

Page 793

4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The site has been declared surplus to operational requirements and no operational
reason has been identified to justify its retention. In these circumstances, where
recommended, a disposal represents prudent and economic asset management,
obviating holding costs associated with managing the land.
4.5.2 The subject site is held by the Council under the Local Government Act 1972.
Under s123 of the Local Government Act 1972 the council may not dispose of land
for a consideration less than the best that can be reasonably obtained in the
market, except with the express consent of the Secretary of State. This disposal
would be permitted by the General Disposal Consent (England) 2003, which
permits disposal of any interest in land at less than best consideration where the
council considers it will help it to secure the promotion or improvement of the
economic social or environmental well-being of its area, subject to the condition that
the undervalue (i.e. the difference between the consideration obtained and the best
consideration that can reasonably be obtained) does not exceed £2million.
4.5.3 The recommendations in this report are linked to key decisions dated 21st
September 2016, 17th July 2017, 21st November 2018 and 19th December 2018
and therefore this will be a Significant Operational Decision as it is a direct
consequence of the previous Key Decisions taken. The report is subject to call-in.
4.5.4 The information in the confidential appendix of this report has been identified as
exempt because it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of
the council and the consortium.
4.5.5 The information contained in the confidential is exempt under Access to Information
Rule 10.4 (3) as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of
a particular person (including the authority holding that information). It is considered
that since this information was obtained through one to one negotiations for the
property/land then it is not in the public interest to disclose this information at this
point in time as this could affect the integrity of the disposal of the property/land. It
is considered that the public interest in maintaining the content of appendices as
exempt outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information as doing so would
prejudice the Council’s commercial position and that of third parties should they be
disclosed at this stage.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 The risks associated with the proposed land disposals are outlined in the attached
confidential appendix.
4.6.2 The risks associated with the proposed development have been identified, and
mitigating actions put in place, prior to LCC entering into the Development
Agreement:


The site not being used for its intended purpose – A covenant will be
included in the land transfer to ensure that the developments will be used for
Extra Care Housing or “alternative affordable provision” defined as “any
alternative use of the Property to Extra Care Housing which is an affordable
use as approved by Homes England and LCC” after completion of the build
programme.
Page 794

5



The agreed specification is not met – The land transfer can only complete
once the consortium can evidence that the completed Extra Care schemes
meet the specifications included in the Development Agreement.



Poor Contract Management – this will be mitigated through monthly
performance meetings with the consortium.



Damage to the Council’s Reputation – this has be mitigated through a robust
communications plan which the Council have developed in conjunction with
the consortium to ensure that local residents, ward members and other key
stakeholders are fully engaged at pre-planning stage, through to the
construction period.

Conclusions

5.1 The project will contribute to the Council’s strategic objective of delivering the Leeds
Vision for Extra Care Housing by working with partner organisations to construct more
than 1,000 units of Extra Care Housing by 2028 to meet the growing demand for this
accommodation type and population forecasts.
5.2 To realise the development of the Windlesford Green site for Extra Care Housing
accommodation it is proposed that the surplus site be sold at a less than best
consideration, as detailed in the attached confidential appendix.
5.3 The site has been identified for Extra Care Housing due to high levels of demand for
such provision in the Outer South locality. Adults and Health have undertaken a
comprehensive demand analysis of Extra Care Housing to identify the quantity and
type of specialist older people’s housing required across the city currently with
forecasts up to 2028.
5.4 Executive Board has previously considered similar recommendations for the sale of
land to Registered Providers at a less than best consideration for the building of
affordable housing. This has been in pursuit of housing growth and in recognition of
the strategic benefits which will be achieved by the proposed developments. The
benefits of the proposed scheme on the subject land include 100% affordable rented
units with full nomination rights for the first lettings, followed by 75% nomination rights
on subsequent lettings for a period of 60 years; delivering Extra Care Housing in an
area where there is a current undersupply; and an opportunity to create employment
and training opportunities. In all such cases the terms of disposal would include
restrictions to ensure that the site could only be used for the provision of Extra Care
Housing.
5.5 The Council have added a contractual requirement to the Development Agreement to
ensure that 100% of the new development at Windlesford Green would be affordable
homes for rent. This level of affordable housing significantly exceeds the minimum
planning policy requirements of 15% for the Rothwell area.

Page 795

6

Recommendations

6.1 Further to and as a consequence of previous Key Decisions made by the Council on
this matter, Executive Board is recommended to:
(i) Approve the sale of the land at Windlesford Green to the consortium made up of
Morgan Sindall Later Living (formerly known as Ashley House Ltd/Morgan Ashley LLP)
and Home Group at a less than best consideration and on the terms detailed;
(ii) Note that the Director of City Development, in consultation with the Executive
Member for Resources, progresses with the disposal of the site;
(iii) Approve that a Development Agreement be exchanged with the consortium;
(iv) Approve that any subsequent amendments to the terms of the disposal be
delegated to the Director of City Development to approve under the scheme of officer
delegation, in consultation with the Executive Member for Resources;
7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

8

Appendices

8.1 Appendix 1 – Windlesford Green purchase boundary
8.2 Appendix 2 - Windlesford Green EIA Screening
8.3 Confidential Appendix 3 – Windlesford Green land offer
8.4 Appendix 4 – Windlesford Green Rothwell Access

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 796

Appendix 1 – Windlesford Green
purchase boundary

Originator: James Anderson
Tel: 0113 37 85960

Page 797

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion
and Integration Screening

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration.
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions.
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:
 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration.
 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has
already been considered, and
 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.
Directorate: Adults and Health
Lead person: James Anderson

Service area: Better Lives
Contact number: 0113 37 85960

1. Title: Executive Board – Disposal of land located on Windlesford Green, off
Holmsley Lane, Rothwell for Extra Care Housing delivery
Is this a:
Strategy / Policy

Service / Function

x

Other

If other, please specify: The outcome of marketing a site for sale with a
recommendation that it is sold at a price below the unrestricted market value for the
provision of specialist accommodation for working age adults with learning and
physical disabilities.
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening
The EDCI screening relates to an Executive Board report outlining the result of the
proposal to dispose of the land at Windlesford Green, Rothwell for the provision of
Extra Care Housing for older people
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or
the wider community – city wide or more local. These will also have a greater/lesser
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender
EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 799

1

reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment,
residential location or family background and education or skills levels).
Questions
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different
equality characteristics?
Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the
policy or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by
whom?
Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment
practices?
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and
harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

Yes
x

No

x
x
x

x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7
If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity,
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration within your proposal please go to section 5.
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality,
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)
As part of the Better Lives Programme, comprehensive supply and demand modelling
has been undertaken by Adults & Health which projects an increase in the demand for
Extra Care Housing and a corresponding shortfall in supply across the majority of wards
in the city.
In terms of unmet need the development would represent an effective response to a
A detailed demand analysis exercise including extra care was carried out to identify the
quantity and type of specialist older people’s housing required across the city until 2028.
This revealed a shortfall of extra care housing whilst predicting that the demand for
EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 800

2

residential care will decrease as the aspirations of people to live well in older age
increases. Furthermore, the data shows a shortfall of 180 homes in the Outer South
Committee where the Windlesford Green site is located. This highlights the significant
lack of suitable accommodation in the locality for older people who have care and
support needs as well as a housing need in that locality. The extra care scheme will offer
the following:
 On-site access to 24/7 emergency or unplanned care which is an additional
feature that separates it from other forms of retirement living.
 Help to alleviate social isolation through access to shared facilities, dining
and activities.
 Allow people to use their personal budgets in order to make their own
alternative arrangements for the provision of planned care.
 Accessible and flexible accommodation designed, or capable of being
adapted, to support the delivery of personal social and health care services.
 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups,
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening
The proposals reflect differences in need in relation to existing and predicted supply
across the city’s neighbourhoods. The proposals seek to facilitate an increase in supply
to meet current and predicted localised gaps in provision across the city. No diversion of
resources from other equality provision is anticipated, since funding is likely either to
come via dedicated, specialist routes, or benefit from commercial sector investment.
 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
As part of the planning process, the impact of the proposed development on existing
communities and neighbourhoods and on the potential new tenants will be considered.
The delivery of new Extra Care Housing will also provide additional employment and
training opportunities for local people managed via the construction contract and will
contribute to the regeneration of brownfield land in the city.
5. If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

N/A

Date to complete your impact assessment

N/A

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

N/A

6. Governance, ownership and approval
EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 801

3

Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name
Job title
Date
Anna Clifford
Programme Manager
26th October 2020
Better Lives
7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the
screening document will need to be published.
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance
and will be published along with the relevant report.
A copy of all other screenings should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published).
Date screening completed

26th October 2020

If relates to a Key Decision
Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk)

EDCI Screening

Template updated October 2012

Page 802

4

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)

Document is Restricted

Page 803

This page is intentionally left blank

WINDLESFORD GREEN
ROTHWELL
PY
MO
NT
LEEDS,
LS26
DR
IV
2

1

W

1

MO
BR
4

C
AY

¯

Y MEW
S

6

OGILB

E

15

HA
4

SE

4

11
9

E
TO

N

11

AV
EN
U

5

2

2

9

1

FE
N

1

2

OSE
FE NT ON CL

3

6

1

24

10

2

15
23

4

M
PY

O

N

T

G

RO

VE

10

1
5

3
9

7

Holmsley Green
16
13 2

13 0

HOLM SLEY

LANE

LB

59.6m

10 7

60.2m
10 9

60.9m

2

11 3
11 9

12 9

1

1
7

3
10

19

17
5

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020 Ordnance Survey LA100019567
0 5 10

20

30

40
Metres

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data
to third parties in any form.
Produced by Land Records, City Development, Leeds City Council
Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\17000 - 17100\17041N Windlesford Green Rothwell ACCESS.mxd

Page 805

PREP BY

J Sohanpall

DATE SAVED:

18/11/2020

OS No:

SE3529

SCALE

1:1,250

PLAN No

17041/N

This page is intentionally left blank

